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1. Introductie

24 is een populaire dramaserie, te zien op de Nederlandse televisie. Deze Amerikaanse serie draait om het leven van Jack Bauer, een lid van de antiterreur eenheid CTU (Counter Terrorist Unit). Hij bestrijdt in dienst van de overheid allerlei vormen van terrorisme. Ieder seizoen 24 toont een dag uit het leven van Jack Bauer, waarbij iedere aflevering een uur van deze dag voorstelt. Een seizoen bestaat dan ook uit 24 afleveringen. 

24 wordt in de verschillende landen waar de serie wordt uitgezonden goed ontvangen. Zowel in de Verenigde Staten als landen waar de serie naar toe is geëxporteerd, wordt de serie goed bekeken en zijn critici veelal lovend. De serie is dan ook al bekroond met verschillende televisieprijzen. Het programma wordt vaak bejubeld vanwege de technologische en artistieke prestaties en het bijbehorende vakmanschap, met name op het gebied van montage en camerawerk. Tevens worden de verschillende verhaallijnen en het overkoepelende plot in de serie veelvuldig geprezen (Digg, 2010; IMDB, 2010). Toch zijn er niet alleen positieve critici die hun waardering geven over de serie. 


24 is naast alle lovende kritieken, namelijk tevens onderwerp van verschillende negatieve waarderingen. Met name omtrent de morele inhoud van de serie, hebben verschillende critici zich negatief uitgelaten. De verschillende meningen omtrent de inhoud van het programma, positief en negatief, kunnen voornamelijk worden herleid tot twee componenten: realisme en moraal. Beide soorten waarderingen kennen naast een positieve variant, tevens een negatieve variant. Binnen de component realisme richten de positieve en negatieve variant zich beiden op een andere dimensie van realisme. Waar de eerste (positieve) dimensie van realisme met name de ‘real time’ vertelling betreft, is de tweede dimensie van realisme (die negatieve uitingen bevat) vervlochten met de morele component van geuite waarderingen omtrent 24. 

De eerste component die binnen de waarderingen een rol speelt is het realisme, en dan met name de ‘real time’ vertelling van de serie. Deze ‘real time’ vertelling wordt door verschillende critici geprezen. De gekozen vorm van vertelling zou volgens verschillende critici het realisme van de serie vergroten. De ‘real time’ vertelling in de serie houdt in dat de vertoonde tijd vrijwel gelijk is aan de gesuggereerde tijd in het verhaal van de serie (Planetzone, 2010). Hierdoor vinden de verhaallijnen en gebeurtenissen in 24 plaats in een tijdsbestek dat nagenoeg gelijk is aan het tijdsbestek van de tijd die in de vertelling wordt gerepresenteerd. De tijd waarbinnen in de serie gebeurtenissen plaatsvinden is dus praktisch gelijk aan de tijd die de kijker te zien krijgt. Dit komt door het feit dat een heel seizoen slechts een dag uit het leven van hoofdpersoon Jack Bauer bevat, waarbij elke aflevering één uur representeert. Daar elke aflevering 45 minuten duurt, liggen de vertelde tijd en de afgespeelde tijd van de serie dicht bij elkaar. Dit unieke element van de serie (er bestaan vrijwel geen andere series die een dergelijke manier van verteltijd toepassen) wordt door verschillende critici genoemd als belangrijkste factor voor het de grote mate aan realisme en spanning die de serie volgens deze critici bevat. De beleving van de gebeurtenissen in praktisch dezelfde afstand van tijd als binnen de serie gesuggereerd wordt, verschaft de kijker volgens deze critici een grote dosis aan inleving en spanningservaring (Trouw, 2010; Planetzone, 2010). Deze inleving en spanningservaring komen voort uit de vergelijking die binnen de serie ontstaat tussen de werkelijkheid en het verbeelde in de serie (Van Zoonen, 2003; Fiske, 1987), door het gelijklopen van echte en gesuggereerde tijd. Door dit gelijklopen van tijd naderen werkelijkheid en fictie elkaar binnen de ervaring van de kijker. Hierdoor bevindt de kijker zich meer middenin het plot en ervaart hij de gebeurtenissen in grotere mate op een zelfde manier als bij de hoofdpersoon het geval is (Trouw, 2010; Planetzone, 2010). 


Desalniettemin zijn er ook critici die een tweede dimensie van realisme van de serie benadrukken en binnen deze dimensie verschillende niet-realistische aspecten veronderstellen. Deze dimensie van realisme is opgebouwd uit de verschillende morele gebeurtenissen, beslissingen en handelingen die de serie bevat. Waar de morele verbeelding door critici niet realistisch wordt geacht, vindt dus een vervlechting plaats tussen de realistische component van meningen en de morele component. Verschillende critici beschouwen de activiteiten en handelingen van hoofdpersonages omtrent morele vraagstukken als onwerkelijk. Met name de manier waarop de antiterreur eenheid, of Counter Terrorist Unit (CTU) zoals de eenheid binnen de serie wordt genoemd, te werk gaat, zou in werkelijkheid niet mogelijk zijn of grotere gevolgen hebben dan in de serie het geval is. De eenheid, en dan met name hoofdpersoon Jack Bauer, zou zich te vaak schuldig maken aan allerlei vormen van schending van mensenrechten om uiteindelijk bepaalde doelen te verwezenlijken. Bauer’s verschillende handelingen en activiteiten zouden te veel bestaan uit allerlei immorele praktijken. Hij zou te graag en te veel martelen, om hiermee informatie te krijgen bij verdachten. Wanneer er weinig tijd is en Jack Bauer heeft informatie nodig, zou hij geen enkel middel schuwen. Zo bevat seizoen vijf 67 scènes waarin wordt gemarteld. Dit betekent dat Jack Bauer elke aflevering of elk uur, twee tot drie keer iemand elektrocuteert of een vinger bij iemand breekt (Hanks, 2008). In de serie wordt duidelijk dat Bauer deze immorele handelingen immer verricht voor uiteindelijk een hoger doel. Hij ziet deze handelingen als noodzaak om uiteindelijk een groter belang, bijvoorbeeld om de natie te redden, te dienen. Deze keuzes worden dus verbeeld als uiteindelijk moreel goede keuzes (Hanks, 2008). De verbeelding van dergelijke morele handelingen wordt door verschillende critici niet realistisch geacht. Een regering zou volgens hen dergelijk gedrag nooit toelaten, zonder dat er veroordelingen zouden plaatsvinden voor de betreffende agenten. Echter, in 24 zou bij de hoofdpersonen de opvatting heersen dat dit gedrag in bepaalde situaties toelaatbaar is. Bovendien zou dergelijk gedrag nooit veroordeeld worden in de serie, door hogere instanties als de regering of het gerechtshof (Hanks, 2008; Medianed, 2009; De Telegraaf, 2009).

De door critici aangehaalde verbeelde (im)moraliteit binnen deze verschillende vormen van gedrag toont tevens de tweede component van waarderingen over 24, namelijk de morele component. De aanwezige (im)moraliteit in de serie zou volgens bepaalde critici namelijk bovendien een probleem vormen voor verschillende groepen die de serie aanhangen. Verschillende stemmen hebben zich dan ook al bezorgd getoond over de moraliteit in 24. Zelfs het Amerikaanse leger heeft zich in dit debat gemengd. De producenten van de serie werden door een hoge legerofficier gevraagd te stoppen met het verbeelden van onethisch gedrag, vanwege het feit dat soldaten in oorlogsgebieden te veel geïnspireerd zouden raken door Jack Bauer (Hanks, 2008). Daarnaast wordt de schending van mensenrechten door verschillende stemmen niet gewaardeerd. Zo stellen verschillende critici (waaronder afgevaardigden van mensenrechtenorganisaties) dat iemand doden voor het goede doel absoluut niet moreel geaccepteerd kan zijn. Een dergelijke verbeelding van deze moraal zou nadelige gevolgen hebben voor kijkers van de serie (Hanks, 2008; Trouw, 2010; De Telegraaf, 2009; Hoogstraten, 2007).


Niet voor niets start de eerste aflevering van één van de meest recente seizoenen dan ook met Jack Bauer in de rechtszaal. Hij moet zich voor zijn vermeende martelingen verdedigen tegenover het hof. Kennelijk heeft 24 zich iets aangetrokken van alle kritiek, al is Bauer na een paar vragen van de rechter alweer met spoed voor natiebelang elders nodig en ontvangt hij een dagvaarding. Zo ontloopt hij vooralsnog een veroordeling voor zijn ‘immorele daden’ (MediaNed, 2009).

Toch kan de morele component binnen 24, net als het realisme van de serie, ook worden beschouwd als het element dat de serie aantrekkelijk maakt om naar te kijken. De morele keuzes en dilemma’s waarvoor onder meer Jack Bauer komt te staan, spreken verschillende kijkers aan. Deze morele vraagstukken zetten de kijker aan het denken en maken daardoor een grotere inleving binnen de verhaallijn mogelijk (Fiske, 1987; Gerbner, 1998). Ook vergroot dit soort morele dilemma’s de spanning binnen een televisieserie. De kijker kan meegesleept worden binnen de verschillende gevolgen die bepaalde gemaakte keuzes van de hoofdpersonen met zich meebrengen. Het narratief van de serie laat de kijker zich verplaatsen binnen de verbeelde gebeurtenissen (Fiske, 1987; Berger, 1992). Bovendien zijn juist zaken die een serie over een bepaalde grens laten gaan, elementen die het programma interessant maken voor kijkers om naar te kijken. Zij zijn dan ook op zoek naar elementen die een serie onderscheiden van andere series, die in bepaalde situaties afwijken van de heersende norm. Wanneer in een bepaalde serie een grens wordt overschreden, kunnen kijkers hierdoor meer gefascineerd zijn van de vertoonde gebeurtenissen. Gedrag dat buiten bepaalde normen en waarden valt, is juist het gedrag dat opvalt en dat iets voor kijkers interessant maakt om naar te kijken (Trouw, 2010, Planetzone, 2010; Hoogstraten, 2007).


De vraag is nu echter, waarom een dergelijke morele commotie omtrent 24, als in de voorgaande alinea’s is uiteengezet, kan ontstaan. Dit vraagstuk kan gerelateerd worden aan de vaak veronderstelde invloed van televisie op haar publiek. Aan de ene kant zijn er stemmen te horen die benadrukken dat kijkers in negatief opzicht worden beïnvloed: ze zouden agressiever of dommer worden (Gerbner et al., 1994; Belson, 1978). Aan de andere kant zijn er critici die stellen dat televisie juist mensen helpt bij identiteitsconstructie en over wat goed en slecht is (Krcmar & Vieira, Jr, 2005; Slade, 2000). Dit debat lijkt dus al te veronderstellen dat televisie een bepaalde invloed heeft op haar kijkers. Critici veronderstellen dan ook een bepaalde invloed van 24, omdat ze er vanuit gaan dat televisie daadwerkelijk iets doet met haar kijkers. Er bestaan in de wetenschap bovendien verschillende aannames dat televisie inderdaad een bepaalde invloed heeft op kijkers, al is men het er niet over eens wat deze invloed precies inhoudt en in welke mate deze bestaat (Gerbner et al., 1994; Gerbner & Gross, 1976; Krcmar & Vieira, Jr, 2005; Belson, 1978; Giles, 2003; Croteau & Hoynes, 2003). De invloed van televisie is dus een veelvuldig gedebatteerd thema. Een gangbare veronderstelling binnen het debat over de invloed van televisie is dat het medium wel degelijk een bepaalde invloed heeft. In het geval van morele inhoud van televisie zullen we er daarom vanuit kunnen gaan dat een verbeelde moraal als in 24 in elk geval een bepaalde impact op haar publiek zal hebben. Om deze reden is het van belang een dergelijke morele verbeelding binnen een populaire dramaserie als 24 te onderzoeken. Binnen dit onderzoek zal bijvoorbeeld duidelijk worden of het gedrag van Jack als immoreel gezien kan worden, zoals door verschillende critici wordt gesuggereerd. Of daarbij van werkelijk imiterend gedrag sprake is, zoals het Amerikaanse leger veronderstelde, blijft echter de vraag. Deze vraag zal na dit onderzoek echter onbeantwoord blijven. Wanneer dergelijk gedrag werkelijk door verschillende militairen geïmiteerd zou worden, wordt na een onderzoek naar de moraal in de serie in elk geval wel duidelijk wat voor soort gedrag dit dan betreft. De werkelijke omvang en vorm van de invloed van dit verbeelde gedrag is niet waar dit onderzoek zich op richt. Er kan worden aangenomen dat kijkers van 24 zich binnen hun moraliteit en morele verbeelding tot op zekere hoogte laten leiden door de inhoud van de serie. De morele invloed die 24 op deze manier heeft, verschaft een onderzoek naar de moraal van het programma haar maatschappelijke relevantie. Dit onderzoek naar 24 zal zich dan ook richten op het morele aspect, oftewel de inhoud van de serie die laat zien wat goed en slecht is en wat als ‘normaal’ gezien kan worden. 

Vaak wordt verondersteld dat deze vertoning van moraal gepaard gaat met emotie en andersom (Oakley, 1993; Nussbaum, 1998; Cooper, 1999). Zo wordt emotie vaak gezien als en belangrijk element binnen moreel handelen. Wanneer bijvoorbeeld een persoon iemand kwetst en hierbij lacht, wordt dit over het algemeen als gemeen en immoreel gedrag beschouwd. Wanneer dit kwetsen echter niet opzettelijk is, en iemand vertoont de emoties van ongemak, zal dit gedrag als niet immoreel worden beschouwd. Toch is deze vervlechting van moraal en emotie nog weinig onderzocht en is het onduidelijk hoe deze twee begrippen zich tot elkaar verhouden. Door middel van het onderzoeken van 24, een populaire dramaserie op de Nederlandse televisie, kan deze vervlechting nader worden onderzocht. Doordat dit onderzoek een belangrijke toevoeging levert aan de geringe hoeveelheid literatuur omtrent de vervlechting van emotie en moraal binnen populaire televisie, draagt het voor een belangrijk deel bij aan het wetenschappelijk belang. De kennis en theorie die uit dit onderzoek voortvloeit kan zo een belangrijke toevoeging zijn voor de huidige inhoudsstudies van (populaire) televisie.


Om te onderzoeken in hoeverre er binnen de invloed van populaire televisie tevens sprake is van een vervlechting van emotie en moraal, zullen de morele keuzes binnen de populaire dramaserie 24 nader worden onderzocht. Interessant voor de samenhang van emotie en moraal is dan te onderzoeken hoe de keuzes tot immoreel handelen, oftewel de morele keuzes van Jack Bauer en van andere personages in 24 tot stand komen. Hierbij spelen motivaties en achterliggende gedachten een belangrijke rol. Van belang te achterhalen binnen deze context is wat de rol van emotie is binnen de opbouw van morele keuzes. 

Het onderzoek zal dus trachten te achterhalen wat precies een rol speelt binnen morele keuzes van de karakters van 24 en hoe emotie hierin terugkomt. Is emotie werkelijk vervlochten met morele keuzes in 24, zoals vaak over televisie wordt verondersteld? De onderzoeksvraag luidt dan als volgt:  
Hoe komen morele keuzes van de personages in seizoen vier van de populaire dramaserie 24 tot stand en in hoeverre speelt emotie binnen deze keuzes een rol?
Om bovenstaande onderzoeksvraag te kunnen beantwoorden zijn de volgende deelvragen geformuleerd:

1. Wat zijn moraal en emotie en hoe verhouden deze concepten zich tot elkaar?

Een belangrijk element binnen dit onderzoek is de samenhang van de concepten moraal en emotie. Omdat dit onderzoek zich gedeeltelijk richt op deze vervlechting, is zal deze deelvraag binnen het theoretisch raamwerk (hoofdstuk 2) al gedeeltelijk worden beantwoord. Vervolgens zal aan de hand van de analyse deze vraag verder worden beantwoord.  

2. Voor welke morele keuzes komen de personages van 24 in seizoen vier te staan?
Door middel van deze beschrijvende deelvraag wordt het duidelijk welke morele keuzes terugkomen binnen 24. Dit is allereerst noodzakelijk te onderzoeken, omdat eerst duidelijk moet worden welke morele keuzes bestaan, alvorens onderzocht kan worden welke factoren een rol spelen binnen deze keuzes. Deze vraag zal worden beantwoord aan de hand van de resultaten die voortvloeien uit de analyse. 

3. Wat zijn factoren die een rol spelen bij de morele keuzes die personages van 24 in seizoen vier maken?
Nadat duidelijk is welke morele keuzes terugkomen in 24, kan worden onderzocht welke factoren een rol spelen binnen het tot stand komen van deze keuzes. Ook deze vraag zal worden beantwoord aan de hand van de resultaten van de analyse. Tevens speelt het concept moraal uit het theoretisch raamwerk binnen dit antwoord een rol. Tezamen met de volgende deelvraag zal het antwoord op deze vraag vervolgens bijdragen aan het antwoord op de hoofdvraag van het onderzoek. 

4. In hoeverre herleiden de factoren die een rol spelen bij de morele keuzes van personages in seizoen vier van 24 zich tot het concept emotie?
Ten slotte zullen aan de hand van het antwoord op deze deelvraag de gevonden factoren uit de vorige deelvraag worden gekoppeld aan het concept emotie. Het antwoord op deze deelvraag toont of er sprake is van een vervlechting van emotie en moraal in 24 en hoe deze vervlechting exact is vormgegeven. 

Om bovenstaande deelvragen en onderzoeksvraag te beantwoorden is gekozen voor een kwalitatieve vorm van inhoudsanalyse, namelijk een narratieve analyse (Wester & Weijers, 2006). Binnen deze analyse zullen de afleveringen van seizoen vier van 24 worden onderzocht. Op welke manier de analyse exact is vormgegeven, zal in hoofdstuk 3 (methoden) verder worden toegelicht. Allereerst zullen in het volgende hoofdstuk (theoretisch raamwerk) relevante, bestaande theorieën en eerder gepubliceerde onderzoeksresultaten uiteengezet worden. Op deze manier kan het onderwerp van onderzoek allereerst ingekaderd worden in een model van al bestaande relevante theorie en empirische resultaten.
2. Theoretisch raamwerk

Om morele keuzes binnen 24 te kunnen onderzoeken zullen allereerst de verschillende theoretische concepten uit de onderzoeksvraag helder dienen te zijn. Daarom zullen deze concepten binnen dit theoretisch raamwerk worden uiteengezet. De te behandelen concepten zijn ‘televisiedrama’, ‘morele inhoud televisieverhalen‘, ‘moraal’ en ‘emotie’. Door middel van een formulering van de verschillende relevante theorieën en bestaande onderzoeksresultaten omtrent de concepten, zal duidelijk worden wat zij inhouden en wat er in de wetenschap reeds over bekend is.


Televisiedrama is hierbij het overkoepelende concept, het genre van 24. Verschillende theorie omtrent het genre, haar eigenschappen en de rol die het in de samenleving inneemt, zullen binnen de betreffende paragraaf worden uiteengezet.   Op deze manier kan in de methode en analyse rekening gehouden worden met de verschillende eigenschappen en facetten van het genre van 24. 

Vervolgens zal het concept ‘morele inhoud televisieverhalen’ worden uiteengezet. Binnen deze subparagraaf zullen verschillende bestaande onderzoeken omtrent moraal in populair televisiedrama worden besproken. Er zal in deze paragraaf een vergelijking worden geschetst tussen de te onderzoeken moraal in 24 en de onderzochte moraal in de eerder onderzochte series. 

Wanneer de bestaande moraal in vergelijkbare series als 24 is uiteengezet, kan worden besproken wat moraal zelf nu eigenlijk inhoudt. Verschillende facetten en eigenschappen van het concept zullen worden belicht. Hetzelfde geldt voor het concept emotie dat na de uiteenzetting van moraal zal worden beschreven. Er zal immers onderzoek worden gedaan naar de manier waarop deze twee concepten binnen het onderzoeksobject aanwezig zijn. Bestaande literatuur omtrent de concepten moraal en emotie zal daarom dienen te worden benoemd en omschreven, alvorens deze concepten kunnen worden onderzocht. Het is namelijk van belang dat duidelijk is wat deze concepten inhouden en wat in de loop der tijd de theorieën zijn die over deze concepten zijn ontwikkeld. Verschillende theoretische inzichten en opvattingen omtrent emotie en moraal, zullen hierbij dus worden gedefinieerd en uiteengezet. 
2.1. Televisiedrama
Het eerste concept binnen dit theoretisch raamwerk is ‘televisiedrama’. Het medium televisie neemt een gestandaardiseerde positie in binnen onze maatschappij (Van Zoonen, 2003). De meeste huishoudens in Nederland beschikken over een televisie en televisie kijken is dan ook een belangrijke activiteit binnen de vrije tijd, gezien de gemiddelde kijktijd van 184 minuten per persoon in 2009 in Nederland (Stichting Kijk Onderzoek, 2010). Vanwege de gestandaardiseerde positie van televisie binnen de maatschappij en de daaropvolgende veronderstelling dat vrijwel iedereen weet wat televisie inhoudt (Van Zoonen, 2003), zal dit theoretisch raamwerk niet verder ingaan op de definitie van het medium. Verschillend bestaand onderzoek naar (televisie)genre en de functie van het medium als verhalenverteller, zal binnen dit theoretisch raamwerk echter wel worden besproken. De bestaande onderzoeksresultaten tonen de relevantie van een inhoudsanalyse van een populaire dramaserie, zoals binnen dit onderzoek centraal staat. Allereerst zal hierbij het betreffende televisiegenre van 24 worden besproken. Om het genre van 24 uiteen te kunnen zetten, zal echter eerst helderheid verkregen dienen te worden in wat een (televisie)genre precies inhoudt. 

Genre is een uit de Franse taal afkomstige term, die stijl of soort betekent (Van Zoonen, 2002). Het is een term die gebruikt wordt voor de classificatie van werken in verschillende branches, als muziek, kunst, film, theater, alsmede televisie. Voorbeelden van genres binnen televisie zijn onder meer nieuws, drama, comedy, soap en talkshow (Van Zoonen, 2002). 


Het benoemen van genres is begonnen in de wereld van de film. Producenten, publiek en critici begonnen daar met het indelen van films binnen bepaalde classificaties. Nog voordat studies naar genre bestonden, werden uitgebrachte films al betiteld als bijvoorbeeld een ‘western’ of een ‘oorlogsfilm’. Dit benoemen van films werd gedaan om potentiële consumenten te informeren over het verhaal en soort entertainment dat de film te bieden had. Door het verbinden van een bepaald genre aan een film, wist het publiek wat het kon verwachten. Het was namelijk al bekend met de verschillende genreconventies en kon op deze manier bepalen of de film interessant zou zijn om te bekijken (Biltereyst & Meers, 2004). 

In een later stadium, vanaf de jaren vijftig, wanneer ook televisie haar intrede begon te maken, ontstonden verschillende studies naar het begrip genre. Hierbij werd in eerste instantie met name aandacht besteed aan het tekstuele karakter van genre. Genre werd uiteengezet in termen van de inhoud van verschillende mediateksten. Verschillende genres en subgenres werden geformuleerd op basis van structuur, vertelling, thematiek, verhaal en personages. Deze formulering vond plaats op basis van bepaalde gemeenschappelijke kenmerken die verschillende mediateksten moesten hebben om tot een bepaald genre te kunnen behoren. Studies omtrent genres richtten zich met name op specifieke codes die binnen een bepaald genre van toepassing waren. Definities kwamen op deze manier tot stand aan de hand van verschillende inhoudelijke kenmerken, als hierboven al benoemd. Op deze manier kon onder meer worden vastgesteld welke films en televisieprogramma’s bij elkaar hoorden en welke bijvoorbeeld niet. Zo werd bijvoorbeeld binnen televisie het genre ‘nieuwsprogramma’ aangeduid met onder meer het kenmerk van één of twee presentatoren achter een bureau, zich direct richtend tot het publiek (Biltereyst & Meers, 2004; Van Zoonen, 2002). 


Vervolgens, toen de theorievorming omtrent genre nog meer werd uitgebreid, doken er meer theorieën op over het concept. Door middel van de opkomst van de ‘cultural studies’ stromingen van onderzoek ging men meer kijken naar de receptie van de genres. Omdat door middel van tekstueel gericht onderzoek geen duidelijke definitie van genre ontstond, begon men zich te richten op andere elementen die binnen een genre van belang waren. Men kwam tot de conclusie dat tekstuele eigenschappen ontoereikend waren om het concept van genre voldoende te begrijpen. Duidelijk werd namelijk dat genres niet alleen gevormd werden door inhoudelijke kenmerken van de mediatekst, maar dat tevens de industrie en het publiek hier een belangrijk aandeel in hadden. Zo ontstond het idee van een driehoek, bestaand uit auteur, genre en publiek. Deze driehoek moest een completere definitie bieden van de verschillende elementen waar een genre uit bestaat. Het gehele concept van een genre zou door het benoemen van de rol van auteur, genre en publiek duidelijker uiteengezet kunnen worden. Makers zouden namelijk een mediatekst een bepaald genre meegeven om het gewenste publiek te bereiken, het publiek dat een dergelijk genre waardeert. Het publiek zou op haar beurt slechts genres uit het media-aanbod selecteren die het wenst te zien. Doordat zender en ontvanger zich op deze manier op elkaar afstemmen, zou er een spanning ontstaan tussen de voorspelbaarheid van een genre en de vernieuwing daarbinnen (Biltereyst & Meers, 2004). Deze combinatie van spanning en voorspelbaarheid zou genres volgens Biltereyst en Meers (2004) boeiend maken voor een publiek. 

Volgens Fiske (1987) ontstaat deze wisselwerking binnen genre, tussen maker en kijker, doordat televisieprogramma’s codes bevatten die de link vormen tussen producent, mediatekst en publiek. Deze codes zorgen ervoor dat een mediatekst deel uitmaakt van een netwerk van betekenissen die samen onze waargenomen wereld vormen. Doordat de kijker deze codes binnen een bepaald genre kent en herkent en er betekenis aan kan geven, kan hij geleid worden door een film of televisieprogramma. Het herkennen van deze codes kan volgens Van Zoonen (2002) bovendien leiden tot vermaak en een beter begrip van de vertoonde inhoud. 


Verschillende auteurs onderschrijven dus naast het belang van inhoudselementen binnen genres tevens het belang van de maker van teksten en de ontvanger ervan. Binnen de driehoekstheorie omtrent genre is het concept daarom door Ryall (1975: 28 In: Biltereyst & Meers, 2004: 8) geformuleerd als ‘patronen of structuren die individuele films overschrijven en die zowel de productie van de industrie en de filmmaker, als de receptie door het publiek en de filmcritici leiden’. Ryall legt daarbij de nadruk op het multidimensionale karakter van genre: het gaat volgens hem zowel om de verwachtingen van de kijkers als die van de industrie en filmcritici. Ook voor televisieprogramma’s is dit multidimensionale karakter van genre van toepassing. Genres geven de kijker en industrie (bijvoorbeeld televisiezenders die programma’s kopen) bepaalde verwachtingen over wat zij te zien krijgen. Toch is de classificatie van genres binnen televisie (tevens wat betreft verschillende verwachtingen) minder eenduidig. Televisie kent namelijk een grotere variatie in het aantal genres en subgenres, waardoor er meer genres zijn en deze tevens complexer en meer divers zijn. Het is daarom moeilijker voor kijkers en de industrie om het uitgebreide aantal diverse genreconventies te kennen en te herkennen, en te voorspellen wat voor soort inhoud er verwacht kan worden. Dit zal in de volgende alinea verder worden verduidelijkt. De theorie van de driehoek van maker, publiek en genre staat in elk geval nog steeds centraal binnen hedendaagse theorieën omtrent genre van film en televisie. Meer recent is men daarbij gaan kijken naar de sociaal-culturele rol van genres, het commerciële en industriële element en de rol van genres voor de industrie (Biltereyst & Meers, 2004). Binnen de driehoek die deel uitmaakt van de totstandkoming van een genre, zal dit onderzoek zich slechts richten op het genre zelf, ofwel de inhoudelijke component van genre. Dit onderzoek is namelijk gericht op de moraal en emotie binnen de inhoud van 24. Deze concepten zullen slechts onderzocht kunnen worden door een onderzoek naar de inhoud van de mediatekst 24. Om deze reden zullen de productie- en receptie-component van het genre van 24 buiten beschouwing worden gelaten. 

Wanneer we ons verder richten op dit genre van 24, en dus met name kijken naar televisiegenres, valt op dat het aantal verschillende televisiegenres enorm is. Televisie kent sinds zijn oorsprong halverwege de twintigste eeuw eigenlijk een immer toegenomen aantal soorten genres. Deze genres zijn nimmer stabiel of statisch, maar eerder dynamisch en veranderlijk.  Waar het begin van het televisietijdperk nog gekenmerkt werd door vast te omschrijven genres als nieuws, drama en komedie hebben deze genres zich later ontwikkeld tot menggenres of hybride genres. Zo is het genre drama uitgegroeid tot een verzameling subgenres die ieder als een eigen soort drama te typeren vallen. Toch zijn verschillende vormen van drama vaak moeilijk te classificeren als één bepaald soort drama. Verschillende series vertonen namelijk zowel eigenschappen van het ene subgenre als dat van een ander (Creeber, 2004; Van Zoonen, 2002; Biltereyst & Meers, 2004). 
2.1.1. Het genre van 24
De serie 24 kan bijvoorbeeld worden getypeerd als een dramaserie binnen het subgenre populair televisiedrama. Populair televisiedrama wordt gekenmerkt door een zestal eigenschappen. Dit zijn: het fictieve karakter van populair televisiedrama, de aanwezigheid van round characters, een story die bestaat uit korte en lange verhaallijnen, verteld door middel van een bepaald plot en de vertoning van aangrijpende gebeurtenissen. Vermeld dient te worden dat het subgenre populair televisiedrama daarbij nog wel uiteenlopende soorten televisiedrama herbergt. Dit is het gevolg van het feit dat verschillende soorten dramaseries op televisie goed worden bekeken. Onder populair televisiedrama vallen namelijk ook dramaseries als bijvoorbeeld Gooische Vrouwen en Gilmour Girls, duidelijk andere typen drama als 24. Toch is het lastig om een specifieker subgenre toe te kennen aan 24. Dit komt omdat 24 eigenschappen vertoont die kenmerkend zijn voor verschillende soorten drama. Zo vertoont de serie bijvoorbeeld kenmerken van een misdaadserie, maar bevat het ook eigenschappen die kenmerkend zijn voor een actieserie (Creeber, 2004). Zo is er in de serie sprake van bepaalde misdaadpersonages die door de hoofdpersoon trachten te worden opgespeurd, en kenmerkt een frequent aantal voorkomende scènes zich door vuurgevechten en geweld. Toch geven bijvoorbeeld de stijl van vertelling en de soorten gebeurtenissen de serie een bepaalde eigenheid die het moeilijk maakt om het programma onder te brengen binnen één van deze genres. Om deze reden zal 24 binnen dit onderzoek verder beschouwd worden als een serie binnen het genre populair televisiedrama. 

De eigenschap die allereerst bepalend is voor de inhoud van populair televisiedrama in een serie als 24, is het feit dat er binnen dit genre sprake is van fictie. Dat wil zeggen dat alles in de serie uitgedacht en uitgeschreven is en niet de onvoorspelbare en onnatuurlijke aard van de werkelijkheid bevat. Dit betekent dat alle elementen die te zien zijn in de serie een bepaald doel hebben. Niets is toevallig geplaatst. Elke gebeurtenis, elk karakter is uitvoerig uitgedacht door daarvoor aangestelde scenarioschrijvers (Creeber, 2004).

Een andere eigenschap van populair televisiedrama is de aanwezigheid van round characters boven die van flat characters. Round characters zijn personages die zich binnen het verloop van het verhaal ontwikkelen, die wat betreft hun persoonlijke eigenschappen gaandeweg veranderen. Flat characters zijn daarentegen relatief statisch en ongecompliceerder en veranderen niet of amper gedurende een verhaal (Pringle, 1987). 24 kenmerkt zich door de aanwezigheid van voornamelijk round characters, oftewel veranderlijke personages. Concreet betekent dit dat bijvoorbeeld Jack Bauer, de hoofdpersoon, een ander mens is aan het eind van het seizoen ten opzichte van het begin van het seizoen. Binnen het onderzoek zal nader blijken of dit in 24 inderdaad het geval is. 


Vervolgens kenmerkt populair drama zich door een story die bestaat uit korte en lange verhaallijnen (Creeber, 2004). De term story betekent het verhaal van de serie en alle verbeelde gebeurtenissen vallen daarom onder de story. Binnen de story draait het zowel om gebeurtenissen die te zien zijn als waarover slechts door de verteller of personages wordt gesproken. Vaak wordt de term gerelateerd en in verband gebracht met de term plot, oftewel de vertelwijze van de story of verhaal. Deze term zal in de volgende alinea nader worden toelicht. Binnen de story gaat het om alle elementen en gebeurtenissen waar de serie om draait of die een rol spelen binnen het verhaal (Bordwell & Thompson, 2004). 24 kent net als andere populaire televisiedramaseries zowel lange als korte verhaallijnen die deel uitmaken van de story. Een lange verhaallijn in 24 is altijd de verhaallijn die door het hele seizoen loopt en waar het seizoen min of meer om draait. De verhaallijnen van 24, veelal handelend om terroristische dreigingen, zijn in de meeste gevallen complex en kennen vaak onverwachte wendingen. Naast de grotere verhaallijnen, bevat 24 tevens kleinere verhaallijnen die uiteindelijk bijdragen aan de grotere story. Hieronder vallen bijvoorbeeld ontwikkelingen rond bepaalde verdachten, terroristen of andere dreigingen. Toch speelt ook het privéleven van hoofdpersoon Jack Bauer binnen deze kleinere verhaallijnen een rol. Met name de relatie met zijn vrouw en dochter zijn hiervan voorbeelden die in de serie vaak de aandacht krijgen (IMDB, 2010; FOX, 2010). 

Het plot, of de vertelwijze van de story (Bordwell & Thompson, 2004), verloopt binnen 24 via een praktisch gelijktijdige vertelling. Het plot kan gezien worden als de manier waarop de story wordt verteld. Het plot bestaat daarom naast gebeurtenissen uit de story uit elementen die door de makers van de serie of film zijn toegevoegd. Hierbij kunnen bepaalde gebeurtenissen versneld zijn verteld of zelfs zijn weggelaten. Andere kunnen uitvoeriger worden belicht. Tevens horen toegevoegde spanningselementen als muziek tot het plot. Het plot is dan ook de keuze van vertelling van de verschillende gebeurtenissen uit de story (Bordwell & Thompson, 2004). In 24 ligt de tijd van het plot, de verteltijd, vrijwel gelijk aan de tijd van de story, de verhaaltijd (Kreunen, 2005). Dat wil zeggen dat de gebeurtenissen in tegenwoordige tijd worden vertoond. De gebeurtenissen zijn in volgorde van plaatsvinden te zien en er wordt geen gebruik gemaakt van vooruitblikken of flashbacks. Dit is in het geval van een plot met ingelaste vertelling of een voorspellende vertelsituatie wel het geval (Kreunen, 2005). Naast de tegenwoordige tijd van vertoning van de gebeurtenissen binnen 24, vinden de gebeurtenissen voor de kijker vrijwel in hetzelfde tijdsbestek plaats als in de serie gesuggereerd wordt (plot-story) (Bordwell & Thompson, 2004; Kreunen, 2005). Dit komt door het element dat elke aflevering van 24 een uur uit het leven van Jack Bauer laat zien, waar elke aflevering zelf ook daadwerkelijk een uur duurt. Hierdoor liggen plot en story in 24 dus praktisch gelijk aan elkaar. Slechts op de punten van toegevoegde spanningselementen, zoals muziek, en de genoemde gebeurtenissen in het verhaal die buiten het tijdsbestek van het plot vallen, en daarom voor de kijker niet te letterlijk waar te nemen zijn, verschillen plot en story in 24 van elkaar. 

Ten slotte kenmerkt populair televisiedrama zich door aangrijpende gebeurtenissen. Drama als genre betekent dat kijkers zichzelf kunnen verplaatsen binnen de gebeurtenissen in de serie, doordat zij zich kunnen identificeren met de personages (Fiske, 1987; Creeber, 2004). Zij herkennen menselijke eigenschappen en belevingen in de personages die zij in werkelijkheid zelf ook zouden kunnen ervaren. Gevoelens, reacties of denkprocessen zijn in dit geval voor kijkers herkenbaar, realistisch en voorstelbaar. In het geval van 24 zal de genoemde identificatie met name optreden met hoofdpersoon Jack Bauer, aangezien dit degene is om wiens leven de serie heen is gebouwd. De aangrijpende gebeurtenissen in de serie die een rol spelen bij de identificatie bestaan uit gebeurtenissen die Jack Bauer ervaart en die hem sturen in zijn acties en gedrag binnen zijn werk voor de antiterreur eenheid. De morele keuze, waar verschillende personages in de serie geregeld tegenover komen te staan en waar dit onderzoek zich met name op zal richten, speelt binnen deze gebeurtenissen een belangrijke rol. Karakters maken vaak keuzes die tragische gevolgen hebben, maar uiteindelijk een groter doel moeten dienen. Zo wordt persoonlijk leed bij een ander vaak toegestaan, wanneer dit uiteindelijk bijvoorbeeld de veiligheid van de natie garandeert. Hoofdpersoon Jack Bauer is nog wel het beste voorbeeld van het vertonen van immorele keuzes voor het belang van een groter doel. In 24 is vaak te zien hoe hij verschillende verdachten martelt of dreigt te martelen om informatie te verkrijgen. Zo dient hij zijn verdachten vaak een speciale injectie met een drug toe die een hevige pijn veroorzaakt. Hij handelt hierbij buiten de wet om en kiest ervoor om immoreel te handelen, wanneer hij denkt dat dit uiteindelijk het beste resultaat oplevert. Een andere motivatie is dat hij in veel gevallen niet gelooft in het traditionele rechtssysteem waarin een verdachte bij arrestatie advocaten in kan schakelen en eeuwig kan zwijgen (Hanks, 2008). Op een bepaalde manier zal de serie deze keuzes waarschijnlijk als ‘goed’ verbeelden, om de identificatie van de kijker met de hoofdpersoon mogelijk te blijven maken. Dit zal in de analyse verder duidelijk worden. 
2.1.2. Populair televisiedrama als verhalenverteller
Aangrijpende gebeurtenissen die kenmerkend zijn voor de inhoud van populair televisiedrama, zoals hierboven omschreven, kan tevens een bepaalde opschudding in de samenleving op gang brengen. Zoals in de introductie van dit onderzoek (hoofdstuk 1) al duidelijk werd, heeft de verbeelde moraal in 24 geleid tot commotie bij verschillende groeperingen in de samenleving. Deze commotie kan ontstaan doordat verschillende critici veronderstellen dat televisie een bepaalde invloed heeft op haar publiek (Gerbner et al., 1994; Gerbner & Gross, 1976; Krcmar & Vieira, Jr, 2005; Belson, 1978; Giles, 2003; Croteau & Hoynes, 2003). Televisie doet volgens deze critici iets met het publiek. In lijn met deze veronderstelling omschrijft Gerbner (1998) televisie als één van de belangrijkste vertellers van verhalen die als voorbeeld dienen van hoe men zich op deze wereld kan gedragen. De meeste mensen hebben hun merendeel aan kennis niet vergaard door werkelijke ervaringen, maar juist door verhalen die hen verteld zijn (Gerbner, 1998; Johnson, 1993). Veel van die verhalen worden in de huidige maatschappij overgedragen door het medium televisie. Deze verhalen geven mensen bepaalde kennis of het idee te beschikken over bepaalde kennis. Mensen die een televisieprogramma kijken laten zich in bepaalde mate in hun gedrag dan ook leiden door zaken die op televisie te zien zijn, doordat zij aan de hand van de verhalen op televisie betekenis geven aan hun eigen leven en een beeld vormen van hoe de wereld in elkaar zit (Gerbner, 1998). Gerbner (1998) onderscheidt binnen deze verhalen drie verschillende varianten: verhalen die vertellen hoe dingen werken, verhalen die de realiteit bevestigen en verhalen die ons waarden en te maken keuzes voorleggen. 

Allereerst laat televisie ons volgen Gerbner (1998) zien hoe dingen in de wereld werken of in elkaar zitten. Dynamische elementen van het dagelijks leven zijn volgens hem vaak verborgen binnen de alledaagse werkelijkheid, maar worden door verhalen op televisie uiteengezet en uitgelegd. Verhalen op televisie geven volgens Gerbner (1998) een diepere kijk in de verschillende vormen van dynamiek in het menselijk leven. Ze geven als het ware een kijkje achter de schermen en laten ons zo zien hoe de wereld en het leven werkt (Gerbner, 1998). Zo geeft 24 haar kijkers een beeld van hoe een antiterreur eenheid te werk gaat en hoe hierbij verschillende morele grenzen worden opgezocht. Kijkers van 24 weten of denken te weten door middel van het kijken naar de serie hoe verschillende individuen binnen een Amerikaanse antiterreur eenheid te werk gaan. De verbeelde moraliteit in de serie vormt hiermee een indicatie voor hoe mensen denken dat een dergelijke wereld als van de antiterreur organisaties in elkaar zit. Het onderzoek naar de moraliteit van 24 zal zich echter niet voornamelijk op dit soort verhalen richten, maar meer op de keuzes die binnen de serie worden gemaakt, hetgeen een ander, later te behandelen soort verhalen betreft. De verhalen van hoe dingen in de wereld in elkaar zitten kunnen hierbij echter wel worden geanalyseerd. Deze zouden namelijk van betekenis kunnen zijn binnen het uiteindelijke proces van de morele keuze.

Ten tweede toont televisie ons verhalen die de realiteit bevestigen en hierop voortbouwen. Dit soort verhalen vertelt hoe dingen in de wereld zijn. Deze verhalen bestaan uit legendes over vroeger, nieuwsverhalen en wetenschappelijke informatie. De verhalen bevestigen feiten en regels binnen een maatschappij en bouwen dus voort op verschillende bestaande werkelijkheden in plaats van ze te ondermijnen (Gerbner, 1998). 24 maakt in haar verhaal niet veelvuldig gebruik van bestaande feiten, verhalen uit de historie of andere in werkelijkheid bestaande informatie. De verhalen en politieke ontwikkelingen binnen de serie, alsmede de landen die hierin een rol spelen (behalve de Verenigde Staten) zijn met name fictief. Er wordt weinig voortgebouwd op bestaande verhalen uit de werkelijkheid, behalve dan eventueel de terroristische gebeurtenissen van elf september 2001 (FOX, 2010; IMDB, 2010). Het onderzoek naar de morele keuzes binnen 24 richt zich dan ook niet op dit soort verhalen. Wel spelen deze verhalen, net als de eerste soort verhalen, een rol binnen dergelijke keuzes. Dit zal binnen de volgende soort verhalen duidelijk worden.

De laatste vorm van verhalen bestaat namelijk uit waarden en voorgelegde keuzes die kunnen worden overgebracht. Deze verhalen leggen hun ontvangers verschillende keuzes voor binnen de gestelde manieren hoe de wereld in elkaar zit en welke regels van toepassing zijn. Dus wanneer de eerste en tweede vorm van verhalen een bepaalde realiteit hebben geschept die voor de ontvanger van de verhalen duidelijk is, laten de verhalen van keuzes ons bepaalde waarden en keuzes zien die we zouden moeten maken binnen de gegeven situaties (Gerbner, 1998). Een dergelijk verband tussen de verschillende verhalen zou aan de hand van het volgende simpele voorbeeld uiting kunnen krijgen: Wanneer iemand wordt bestolen, is de ander slachtoffer van het verlies van eigendom. Hierdoor kan iemand verdriet ervaren (verhaal van hoe de wereld werkt). In de wet is vastgelegd dat stelen een strafbaar misdrijf is. Als straf voor stelen kan iemand veroordeeld worden tot een celstraf (verhaal van hoe dingen in de wereld zijn). Om voorgaande redenen is stelen slecht. Wanneer iemand in geldnood verkeert, zal hij er niet voor moeten kiezen iemand te bestelen (verhaal van waarden en keuze). Te zien is dat de verhalen van keuzen en waarden opvolgend zijn aan de andere twee soorten verhalen. 


Binnen de verhalen van keuzen en waarden komen morele keuzes die centraal staan binnen dit onderzoek tot uiting. Dit soort verhalen zal geanalyseerd worden om de morele keuzes binnen 24 te onderzoeken. Er zal hierbij gekeken worden welke van de eerste twee verhalen worden aangereikt om tot een bepaalde morele keuze te komen. Verschillende factoren die binnen de verhalen van hoe de wereld werkt en hoe dingen in de werkelijkheid zijn, spelen waarschijnlijk een belangrijke rol in dit morele keuzeproces. Daarom is het van belang dat ook deze verhalen nadrukkelijk worden geanalyseerd.


Gerbner (1998) heeft ons kortom laten zien dat televisieverhalen hun publiek kennis aanreiken omtrent moraal. Dit doen zij door middel van het tonen hoe dingen in de wereld werken, in elkaar zitten, maar hierbij ook door bepaalde keuzes voor te leggen. Een interessante vraag is nu hoe de moraal die televisieverhalen ons laten zien, dan exact is vormgegeven. Wat voor moraal is er nu werkelijk op televisie te vinden? Met andere woorden: Wat is er in de wetenschap reeds bekend over moraal in televisieverhalen?
2.2. Morele inhoud televisieverhalen
Binnen het kader van onderzoek naar morele inhoud van televisieverhalen hebben al verschillende auteurs hun bijdrage geleverd aan deze kwestie. Aan de hand van zowel kwantitatieve als kwalitatieve inhoudsanalyse hebben zij de inhoud van televisie op uiteenlopende kenmerken onderzocht. 

Een auteur die de inhoud van televisie op dergelijke onderwerpen heeft onderzocht is Chesebro (2003). Hij laat in zijn werk zien hoe over een periode van vijfentwintig jaar normen en waarden terugkomen binnen populaire dramaseries op prime-time televisie in de Verenigde Staten. Door middel van een kwantitatieve inhoudsanalyse, aan de hand van verschillende systematische analyseschema’s heeft Chesebro (2003) normen en waarden binnen verschillende soorten populair drama, vertoond in de periode 1974-1999, onderzocht. Door middel van een uitgebreide operationalisatie van verschillende karakteristieken, classificaties en de rol van normen en waarden binnen deze series, was hij in staat om de vertoonde moraal binnen de series in kaart te brengen. Chesebro (2003) stelt dat prime time televisie niet slechts gemaakt is als entertainment om te ontkomen aan de dagelijkse realiteit. Hij stelt dat producenten wel degelijk opzettelijk verschillende waarden aan prime time series toevoegen. Dit zou volgens hem ook expliciet door de producenten worden toegegeven. Producenten zouden de verbeelding van bepaalde waarden belangrijker vinden dan andere en deze daarom explicieter in de serie terug laten komen. Zo zouden bepaalde waarden wenselijker dan andere worden verbeeld en hiermee prioriteiten worden gesteld in door het publiek na te leven waarden. Binnen zijn analyse laat Chesebro (2003) zien hoe verschillende normen en waarden worden gepresenteerd in verschillende decennia van televisie-uitzending. Waar bijvoorbeeld de jaren ’70 kenmerkend waren voor de vertoning van individualistische waarden als oplossing voor verschillende problemen, waren eind jaren ’80 en begin jaren ’90 met name autoriteit en idealisme twee sleutelelementen voor de vertoonde morele dilemma’s en oplossingen voor problemen. In het laatste kwart van de vorige eeuw liet prime-time televisie volgens Chesebro (2003) dus met name een voortdurende verandering zien van vertoonde normen en waarden. Deze verandering heeft volgens hem gevolgen gehad voor het nationaal besef binnen de samenleving. De immer veranderende normen en waarden zouden er voor gezorgd hebben dat er geen constant besef of gevoel ontstond van een eenduidige natie. Er was volgens Chesebro (2003) geen sprake van een constante levensstijl, bepaalde terugkerende symbolieken binnen de samenleving of idealen die op lange termijn gehandhaafd bleven. 


24 is tevens een televisieserie die deel uitmaakt van veranderende soorten normen en waarden die op (Amerikaanse) televisie worden vertoond. Zo had het belangrijkste onderwerp van 24, terrorismebestrijding, naar alle waarschijnlijkheid bijvoorbeeld niet vòòr elf september 2001 kunnen bestaan. De terroristische aanslagen die door Al Qaida op verschillende belangrijke gebouwen in de Verenigde Staten werden gepleegd, genereerde een binnenlandse terreurdreiging die tot dan toe voor de meeste Amerikanen onbekend was. Vanwege de grote impact van elf september zou een serie met een dergelijke dreiging van terreur als onderwerp gaan aanslaan bij het publiek, omdat normen en waarden rondom terrorisme waren komen te veranderen. Het was nu een realistisch gegeven geworden dat antiterreur noodzakelijk was binnen een land als de Verenigde Staten. 24 probeert binnen dit thema niet zozeer het actuele Midden-Oosten als bron van terrorisme aan te wijzen, maar creëert in haar inhoud een eigen waarheid. Zo worden er fictieve staten gebruikt om bronnen van terrorisme aan te duiden. 24 maakt dus voor een gedeelte deel uit van de veranderende normen en waarden op televisie, maar doet dit op een eigenzinnige manier. Het publiek herkent op deze manier de problemen en thema´s, zonder dat daarbij een stereotypering of generalisatie tegenover bepaalde naties optreedt (FOX, 2010; IMDB, 2010). 

Dubose (2010) heeft op een andere manier de inhoud van televisie onderzocht. Hij laat in zijn kwalitatieve onderzoek naar de inhoud van de serie House zien hoe de serie in plaats van een ziekenhuisserie gezien kan worden als een superheldenserie. Hoofdpersoon House vertoont in de serie volgens Dubose (2010) echter niet in eerste plaats het gedrag van een superheld. Hij vertoont allerlei vormen van immoreel gedrag. Zo bedreigt hij patiënten, gebruikt hij drugs, accepteert hij geen gezag van hogere autoriteiten en breekt hij met allerlei medische procedures. Toch is House volgens Dubose (2010) de dokter die de kijker zou willen hebben. Dit komt doordat hij volgens Dubose extreem goed is in zijn werk. Hij weet de problemen op te lossen door juist onorthodox te werk te gaan. Hij ziet een uitdaging in allerlei raadselachtige ziekteverschijnselen en weet deze vaak op te lossen door het toepassen van zijn eigenzinnige medische behandelwijzen. 

House is hiermee een niet traditionele superheld. Door zijn exceptionele gedrag kunnen kijkers zich volgens Dubose (2010) moeilijk identificeren met de hoofdpersoon. Toch kunnen ze hem waarderen als held. Dit is volgens Dubose (2010) een moderne maatschappelijke verschuiving weg van traditionele concepties van regels en autoriteit. House is hiermee tevens een voorbeeld van de verschuivende normen en waarden binnen de inhoud van (Amerikaanse) populaire televisie, eerder benadrukt door Chesebro (2003). Waar eind vorige eeuw populaire televisie zich kenmerkte door de verbeelding van autoriteit als oplossing voor morele dilemma´s en problemen (Chesebro, 2003), wordt bij House juist afstand genomen van het belang van autoriteit als uitkomst binnen morele vraagstukken. Hoofpersoon House past immers onorthodoxe middelen toe, waarbij hij verschillende autoriteiten en gedragscodes negeert en vermijdt. House is hierbij zogezegd een anti-held, die ondanks zijn immorele gedrag, kan worden gewaardeerd door het publiek, zonder dat hierbij een werkelijke identificatie plaatsvindt. Het voorbeeld van House laat zien hoe een verbeelde immoraliteit voor een publiek aantrekkelijk kan overkomen. Het exceptionele gedrag van House is namelijk precies wat de serie voor kijkers zo interessant maakt. Tevens laat het voorbeeld zien dat niet alleen moreel goede personages door het publiek gewaardeerd kunnen worden (Dubose, 2010). 

Het onderzoek van Dubose (2010) is in zekere zin vergelijkbaar met het onderzoek naar de morele keuzes binnen 24. Net als in House is er namelijk in 24 sprake van een hoofdpersonage of held die door  immorele handelingen een hoger doel probeert te dienen. Jack Bauer lijkt zich binnen zijn gedrag bovendien net als House niets aan te trekken van allerlei regels en formaliteiten. Beide helden houden er een totaal eigenzinnige handelswijze aan over. Blijkbaar valt een personage dat zich in bepaalde mate onorthodox gedraagt in zekere zin in de smaak bij de kijker, gezien de populariteit van beide series. Er zal binnen dit onderzoek later bekeken worden of de uitkomsten van de totstandkoming van morele keuzes van Jack Bauer inderdaad overeenkomsten vertonen met de moraal die in House wordt vertoond. 

Ook Rowlands (2006) laat in zijn werk zien hoe (im)moraliteit bij personages binnen populaire televisieseries gewaardeerd kan worden door het publiek. Hij heeft in zijn werk verschillende televisieseries geanalyseerd, waaronder The Sopranos, Sex and the City en 24. In zijn analyse van The Sopranos beschrijft hij hoe hoofdrolspeler Tony een mix is van zowel morele vormen van gedrag als immorele vormen van gedrag, en hierbij ondanks de hoeveelheid immorele gedragsvormen, sympathie opwekt bij de kijker. Rowlands (2006) laat op deze manier zien dat Tony, net als House en Jack Bauer, ondanks de vertoning van immorele handelingen, bij het publiek als held kan overkomen. Er lijkt dus bij het publiek van populaire televisie een sympathie te bestaan voor personages die wat betreft moraliteit niet direct als correct of ideaal getypeerd zouden worden. 

Een dergelijke sympathie van de kijker voor immorele gedragsvormen als in  The Sopranos en bijvoorbeeld House het geval is zou, gezien de functie van televisie als verhalenverteller, een nadelige invloed kunnen hebben op de kijker. Populair televisiedrama is dan ook vaak het middelpunt van morele paniek rondom de inhoud ervan (Krijnen & Meijer, 2005). Echter, Krijnen en Meijer (2005) laten in hun onderzoek zien dat ‘prime-time’ televisie op het gebied van fatsoenlijkheid, beschaving en familie, drie op televisie vaak als immoreel beschouwde onderwerpen, in de meeste gevallen moreel positief worden verbeeld. 


Slade (2000) heeft in het kader van morele inhoud binnen populaire televisie onderzocht welke betekenis deze inhoud voor kijkers kan hebben. Binnen dit onderzoek blijkt dat deze betekenis die kijkers aan morele inhoud geven complexer werkt dan onder meer door Rowlands (2006) en andere critici eerder werd gesteld. Slade (2000) heeft zich in haar onderzoek echter wel slechts gericht op soap series als vorm van populaire televisie. In haar onderzoek heeft zij trachten uiteen te zetten welke rol morele inhoud in soaps speelt binnen de morele betekenisgeving van jonge televisiekijkers. De resultaten uit het onderzoek laten zien hoe soap series kunnen bijdragen aan de manier waarop jonge kijkers van deze series betekenis geven aan morele kwesties. Het artikel laat op deze manier zien hoe televisie helpt bij het construeren van de maatschappelijke moraal en toont op deze manier de relevantie van dit onderzoek. Slade (2000) laat in haar onderzoek zien dat kinderen de inhoud van soap series gebruiken om morele discussies op gang te brengen en aan zowel de inhoud als deze discussies morele betekenissen te ontlenen. Deze series zijn namelijk voor hen een deel van hun wereld. Zij vertonen gebeurtenissen die een belangrijk aandeel hebben in het betekenis geven aan verschillende facetten van hun leven. 


Verschillende auteurs hebben zich dus beziggehouden met de morele inhoud van televisieverhalen en de betekenisgeving van deze inhoud door het publiek. Nu duidelijk is hoe in verschillende televisieverhalen moraal is verbeeld en hoe kijkers betekenis kunnen geven aan deze verbeelde moraal, blijft echter de vraag wat het concept nu zelf precies inhoudt en wat we eronder kunnen verstaan. 

2.3. Moraal

Moraal is een begrip dat al door verschillende auteurs is getracht te definiëren. Toch blijkt het vaak moeilijk om duidelijk in woorden uit te drukken wat de term exact behelst. Moraal blijkt een abstract begrip waarvan iedereen wel weet wat het precies inhoudt, maar moeilijk kan uitleggen wat het precies is. Het is een concept dat is verankerd in de menselijke geest, vergelijkbaar als bijvoorbeeld grammatica van de gesproken moedertaal. Grammatica wordt net als moraal dagelijks gebruikt en men weet precies hoe men het moet gebruiken. Er wordt daarbij echter weinig tot niet over nagedacht hoe het proces van grammatica precies in zijn werk gaat. Het is een onbewust geestelijk proces. Het terughalen en in woorden brengen van het proces en de verschillende stappen die zijn gemaakt, kan hierdoor moeilijker zijn (Gert, 2005). 

Moraal wordt binnen het moderne debat omtrent het begrip met name gerelateerd aan ‘goed’ gedrag, ofwel gedrag dat ‘goed’ is voor de mensheid. Het gaat hier over de zoektocht naar de criteria voor goed handelen. Daarnaast gaat het  om deugden die een moreel goed karakter zou moeten bezitten (Smith & Haakonssen, 2002). Hierdoor handelt het begrip zich vaak om zaken die ‘goed’ en ‘slecht’ zijn en zaken die men in het leven wel en niet acht te doen. 


De moderne filosofische visie omtrent moraal is dan ook volgens Gert (2005) dat moraal als een soort gids fungeert die personen leidt in wat zij wel en niet moeten doen. Personen die bepaalde morele waarden aanleren of aannemen kunnen deze als een dergelijke gids gebruiken in hun gedrag. Deze functie van moraal als gids kan volgens Gert (2005) slechts werken wanneer alle personen die aan een bepaalde maatschappij deelnemen deze moraal hebben aangenomen of aangeleerd. 


Het volgen van een morele gids betekent daarbij volgens Rachels (1993) het afwegen van verschillende belangen tegenover elkaar. Verschillende belangen zijn volgens hem namelijk in het leven in strijd met elkaar. Hierdoor ontstaan er problemen en conflicten. Om personen binnen een dergelijke strijd van belangen moreel juiste en gefundeerde keuzes te kunnen laten maken, hebben zij morele richtlijnen nodig. De conflicterende belangen en problemen vormen volgens Rachels (1993) de basis van het belang van moraal binnen een samenleving. Wanneer deze conflicten niet zouden bestaan, zou er volgens hem ook geen behoefte zijn aan bepaalde morele richtlijnen. Gert (2005) haalt in dit verband bovendien de ideeën van Hobbes aan, wanneer hij stelt dat moreel goede eigenschappen bijvoorbeeld worden geprezen, vanwege het onheil dat met moreel gedrag zou worden vermeden. 

Om de verschillende belangen van alle partijen zo eerlijk mogelijk te dienen om op deze manier conflicten en onheil te voorkomen, moeten morele keuzes volgens Rachels (1993) uitvoerig zijn onderbouwd. Hierbij dienen de verschillende kanten van het morele thema, ofwel de belangen, duidelijk in ogenschouw te zijn genomen. Morele keuzes mogen niet partijdig zijn. Alleen wanneer een morele keuze op een dergelijke wijze wordt gemaakt, kunnen de verschillende partijen in harmonie met elkaar leven. Zo haalt Gert (2005) het gedachtegoed van Friedrich Nietzsche aan, waarin hij stelt dat moraal er is om de kwetsbaren te beschermen tegen degenen die het op hen hebben gemunt. Hij haalt daarbij echter wederom ook het veel oudere werk van Hobbes aan, waarin deze filosoof stelt dat iedereen kwetsbaar is en moraal dus voor iedereen geldt.

Gert (2005) stelt dat moraal het best kan worden gezien als een door rationele personen voortgebrachte gids om het gedrag van anderen en eventueel zichzelf te leiden. De definitie waarin moraal wordt gezien als een leidraad van hoe men zich zou moeten gedragen voldoet volgens Gert (2005) echter niet voor de totale betekenis van het begrip. Wel is het volgens hem een correcte constatering dat moraal over gedrag gaat. Dit is namelijk een juiste en belangrijke eigenschap van moraal. Binnen zijn totale definitie van moraal combineert Gert (2005) eerdere constateringen en stellingen van belangrijke auteurs op het gebied van moraal, alsmede zijn eigen ondervindingen omtrent het concept. Moraal is volgens hem een “informeel publiek systeem, geldend voor alle rationele personen, dat gedrag leidt dat betrekking heeft op anderen, bevat wat gemeenschappelijk bekend staat als morele regels, idealen en moreel goede eigenschappen, en als doel heeft het verminderen van kwaad en toegebrachte schade aan personen” (Gert, 2005: 13).


Daarnaast bevat moraal volgens Gert (2005) bovendien twee kenmerken die noodzakelijk zijn om het doel ervan te bereiken. Dit zijn het kenmerk dat alle betrokkenen binnen morele oordelen en handelingen weten wat moraliteit inhoudt en dat het voor alle betrokkenen logisch is om moraliteit als gids voor hun gedrag te gebruiken. Met andere woorden: alle rationele personen zijn onderhevig aan moraal, eenvoudigweg doordat het rationele wezens zijn die hun handelingen kunnen controleren. 

Kijkend naar de definitie van Gert (2005) en de noodzakelijke kenmerken van moraal, kan worden geconcludeerd dat moraal een alomtegenwoordig systeem is dat door de verschillende betrokkene rationele personen moet worden erkend voordat het zijn doel kan bereiken. Voor de analyse van 24 betekent dit dat morele keuzes in de serie onderscheiden moeten worden aan de hand van gedrag dat andere personen betrekt en relateert aan morele regels die voor iedereen binnen de maatschappij bekend en herkenbaar zijn.

Een morele regel die in 24 verschillende malen lijkt terug te komen, wordt door Gert (2005) beschreven als de veel gebruikte slogan dat het doel niet de middelen rechtvaardigt. Dus wanneer het resultaat tot een betere situatie leidt, rechtvaardigt dit niet bepaalde moreel onacceptabele handelingen. Een goed einde is volgens Gert (2005) nooit een voldoende reden om te bepalen of sommige maatregelen moreel kunnen worden verantwoord. In het geval van 24, waarin de morele keuzes worden onderzocht, zal nader worden bekeken hoe verschillende (im)morele handelingen worden verantwoord. Er zal hierbij bekeken worden of er sprake is van het verantwoorden van handelingen in het kader van een moreel ‘goed’ einde.  

Naast de nadruk op de definitie en facetten van moraal, hebben verschillende auteurs in de loop der tijd hun visie gegeven over de functie van moraal en de rol die het concept inneemt in de samenleving.
2.3.1. Functie moraal in samenleving
Verschillende opvattingen over deze rol en functie van moraal zijn dan ook door verscheidene wetenschappers geformuleerd. Het debat over moraal dat op deze manier tot stand gekomen is, heeft betrekking op verschillende facetten. Deze facetten lopen uiteen van de culturele rol van moraal tot de rol die moraal inneemt binnen het dagelijks leven. De belangrijkste facetten en de bijbehorende opvattingen zullen binnen dit theoretisch kader worden besproken. 

Zo verwijst Gert (2005) nogmaals naar het gedachtegoed van Hobbes, waarin hij stelt dat moraliteit zich alleen richt op het gedrag van mensen in gevallen dat dit gedrag op anderen betrekking heeft. Moraal verbiedt volgens hem gedrag dat anderen schaadt en moedigt gedrag dat andere mensen helpt aan. Dit zijn volgens hem de enige facetten waarop moraliteit betrekking heeft.  


Moeller (2009) gaat in zijn visie over moraal nog een stapje verder en stelt dat moraal een concept is dat alleen in uitzonderlijke situaties door individuen toegepast wordt. Hij stelt dat moraal geen deel uitmaakt van het alledaagse leven. Volgens hem komt moraal alleen ter sprake in buitengewone situaties, situaties waarin een crisis of conflict kan ontstaan. Op dat soort momenten, en louter op deze momenten, komt volgens hem de morele keuze ter sprake. Moraal is dus volgens Moeller (2009) niet een onderdeel van de alledaagse bezigheid, maar meer een bron van kennis die in bepaalde situaties dient te worden aangeboord. De vraag is nu echter of deze bron van kennis per cultuur totaal verschillend is of dat moraal wat betreft verschillende culturen tevens een bepaalde samenhang kent. Rachels (1993) redeneert dat er voor een deel in ieder geval sprake is van een bepaalde wereldmoraal. 

 Volgens Rachels (1993) bestaan er namelijk wereldwijd verschillende universele waarden of regels die volgens de heersende moraal dienen worden nageleefd. Dit zijn onder meer: anderen geen pijn doen, de waarheid vertellen, het zorg dragen voor kinderen en het zich houden aan beloften. Dit soort universele regels is volgens Rachels nodig voor een maatschappij om te bestaan. Bovendien noemt Gert (2005) verschillende morele idealen en deugden, waaronder het voorkomen en verlichten van pijn en het tonen van sympathie en eerlijkheid. Toch lijken deze universele regels door verschillende culturen anders te kunnen worden opgevat. Voor de regel om anderen geen pijn te doen wordt in verschillende culturen onder bepaalde voorwaarden namelijk een uitzondering gemaakt. Zo zou in een streng gelovige samenleving bepaald gedrag met geweld bestraft kunnen worden, waar dit gedrag in andere samenlevingen als heel normaal wordt gezien en wordt geaccepteerd. Het lijkt er dus op dat universele morele waarden in verschillende samenlevingen anders worden geïnterpreteerd of anders worden nageleefd.  

Om deze reden moet volgens Rachels (1993) dan ook duidelijk onderscheid worden gemaakt tussen verschillende culturen. Elke cultuur heeft volgens Rachels (1993) naast de universele waarden namelijk ook eigen morele codes en standaarden. Moraal betekent binnen elke cultuur dan ook iets anders. Een heersende moraal kan volgens bepaalde critici dan ook alleen begrepen worden binnen de context van de betreffende cultuur. Deze opvatting dat moraal voor elke cultuur iets anders betekent en daarom ook anders dient te worden geïnterpreteerd, wordt cultureel relativisme genoemd. 

Volgens Rachels (1993) moet er echter worden opgepast met het toepassen van de cultureel relativistische opvatting. Een dergelijke opvatting kan er namelijk voor zorgen dat bepaalde immorele handelingen worden toegerekend aan culturele verschillen. Wanneer namelijk wordt gesuggereerd dat alles te herleiden is tot culturele verschillen, zou bijvoorbeeld het stenigen van een vrouw, wanneer zij is vreemdgegaan (iets dat in bepaalde culturen als normaal wordt beschouwd), daarmee geacccepteerd kunnen worden. Men zou dit soort gebeurtenissen dan goed kunnen keuren, met als argument dat elke cultuur zijn eigen moraal kent en deze alleen begrepen kan worden in de context van de betreffende cultuur. Een dergelijke gebeurtenis zal dan niet gezien worden als een verkeerde handeling, maar als iets cultureel divers. Hier moet volgens Rachels (1993) dan ook voor worden opgepast. De cultureel relativistische opvatting kan volgens hem daarom niet blindelings in alle gevallen worden toegepast. 


Nu duidelijk is welke rol moraal speelt binnen dit theoretisch raamwerk, wat het concept precies inhoudt en op welke manier het is gerelateerd aan televisie-inhoud kan het laatste concept, emotie, worden uiteengezet.
2.4. Emotie
Zoals in de introductie (hoofdstuk 1) al duidelijk is geworden, wordt vaak verondersteld dat moraal gepaard gaat met emotie en andersom. Emotie wordt bijvoorbeeld veelvuldig gezien als een element binnen moreel handelen (Nussbaum, 1998). Het vertonen van bijvoorbeeld de emotie vreugde terwijl iemand anders opzettelijk wordt gekwetst kan, zoals in hoofdstuk 1 beschreven, als immoreel worden beschouwd. Emotie en moraal kunnen op deze manier een samenhang vertonen.

In dit onderzoek wordt onderzocht welke factoren een rol spelen binnen morele keuzes van de karakters in 24. Omdat emotie een belangrijke factor is in het aansturen van gedrag (Frijda, Manstead & Bem, 2000), wordt emotie binnen dit theoretisch raamwerk als concept uiteengezet. 

Emotie is door verschillende auteurs vaak in verband gebracht met het begrip ‘verstand’. Het verband dat tussen beide begrippen is gelegd kan volgens Philippot en Feldman (2004) het best worden gezien als de metafoor meester en slaaf. Hierbij wordt verstand beschouwd als de duidelijk controlerende meester en emotie als de gevaarlijke, impulsieve slaaf, veilig onderdrukt. Duidelijk was dat emoties ingeperkt of getemperd dienden te worden. Toch is men het er nooit precies over eens geworden hoe het begrip emotie te definiëren. Verschillende telkens nieuw opduikende theorieën hebben meermaals de definitie van het begrip doen veranderen. De metafoor van meester en slaaf weerspiegelt eigenlijk nog het best de huidige filosofische kijk op de rol van emotie. Deze kijk op emotie kenmerkt zich namelijk door twee te herkennen elementen van deze metafoor. Allereerst is dit de inferieure positie die emotie binnen deze visie kent. Handelen naar emotie wordt beschouwd als iets minder intelligents en gevaarlijker dan handelen naar verstand. Binnen laatstgenoemde manier van handelen worden emoties dus tevens gecontroleerd. Ten tweede worden emotie en verstand veelal als twee van elkaar losstaande conflicterende verschijnselen binnen de menselijke geest gezien. Vrijwel iedere filosoof die zijn werk heeft gewijd aan emotie heeft hierbij deze scheiding tussen verstand en emotie gehandhaafd (Philippot en Feldman, 2004). Kennelijk is men het er over eens dat de twee concepten onverenigbaar zijn en dat verstand in veel gevallen de beste oplossingen of manieren van handelen biedt. 


Toch heeft emotie volgens Frijda (1988) een duidelijk te onderscheiden functie binnen menselijk handelen. Emoties zijn er volgens hem om belangen te bevredigen. Dit doen zij door ‘de relevantie van gebeurtenissen te bewaken en door in overeenstemming hiermee gedrag te moduleren of te instigeren’ (Frijda, 1988: 494). Emotie is dus een middel om ervaringen van gebeurtenissen op te slaan, hier gedrag op af te stemmen en is daardoor dus bepalend voor de keuzes die iemand maakt. Op dit punt is emotie vervlochten met moraal. Morele keuzes worden namelijk op een zelfde manier door middel van eerder plaatsgevonden waarnemingen, gevormd. Emotie en moraal zijn echter twee verschillende factoren die een rol spelen binnen een te maken keuze. Toch worden beide concepten wel door elkaar beïnvloed. Op basis van eerder ervaren gebeurtenissen en de toegekende relevantie, alsmede het subjectieve gevoel hierbij, zal bepaald worden wat goed en slecht gevonden wordt en welke morele keuze hiermee samenhangt. Eerdere ervaringen zullen hierbij niet alleen bestaan uit bepaalde gebeurtenissen en bijbehorende emoties, maar tevens uit de normen en waarden die iemand door middel van culturele vorming heeft meegekregen (Frijda et al., 2000; Frijda, 1988).


Maar wat houdt een emotionele ervaring nu precies in? Volgens Frijda (1988) is een emotie een aparte vorm van bewustzijn. Emotie gaat volgens hem over een subjectief gevoel dat iemand kan hebben. Meerdere aspecten spelen binnen een emotionele beleving nog een rol, maar de kern van emotie wordt gevormd door dit subjectieve gevoel dat emotie behelst (Frijda, 1988). Ekman (2008) onderscheidt hierbij zeven verschillende emoties: woede, verdriet, afschuw, minachting, vrees, verrassing en plezier. 


Naast de definitie van emotie en de wijze waarop emotie gedrag beïnvloedt, laat Ekman (2008) in zijn onderzoek zien hoe emoties gekoppeld zijn aan verschillende gelaatstrekken. Hij laat zien dat mensen vaak moeite hebben om verschillende gelaatstrekken aan een juiste emotie te verbinden en dat er op het gebied van het herkennen van emoties vaak misverstanden kunnen ontstaan. De verschillende zeven emoties van Ekman (2008), kenmerken zich volgens hem ieder door bijbehorende gelaatstreken. De theorie uit het werk van Ekman (2008) zal binnen dit onderzoek van belang zijn, omdat tijdens het onderzoek onder meer een bepaalde interpretatie van emoties in de serie 24 zal plaatsvinden. Het is van belang dat binnen het onderscheiden van eventuele emoties als factor voor morele keuzes, de juiste emoties worden onderscheiden. Daarbij is het niet altijd even eenvoudig om emoties bij personen te kunnen aflezen. 

Emoties worden volgens Philippot en Feldman (2004) in het dagelijks leven namelijk veelal onderdrukt. Het tonen van bepaalde emoties kan immers ongemakkelijk zijn, voor degene zelf, dan wel de omgeving van de persoon. Woede en afkeer zijn voorbeelden van bepaalde emoties waarvan uiting in het dagelijks leven voor problemen kan zorgen (Philippot & Feldman, 2004). Gezien het feit dat in dit onderzoek drama wordt onderzocht, zou het moeilijk te achterhalen zijn welke emoties door personages van 24 zouden worden onderdrukt. Televisiedrama is waarschijnlijk vooral gericht op het vertonen van verschillende emoties, in plaats van het vertonen van onderdrukte emoties. Zoals in het concept televisiedrama (paragraaf 2.1) al duidelijk werd, vervult televisie de functie van verhalenverteller en laat het medium op deze manier bijvoorbeeld zien hoe emoties werken. 24 draagt dus tevens bij aan het vertellen van verhalen over de werking van emoties. Verborgen emoties zullen hierbij moeilijker te visualiseren en waar te nemen zijn. Daarom zal dit onderzoek zich slechts richten op door de karakters vertoonde emoties. 

Naast het verbergen van emoties, kunnen bepaalde emoties echter ook door personages of personen worden overdreven. Wanneer bijvoorbeeld een compliment wordt gegeven, kan een bepaald enthousiasme binnen de uiting worden vergroot om hiermee sympathieker over te komen of iemand anders te stimuleren. Een ander voorbeeld van het uitvergroten van emoties is het medeleven dat iemand kan tonen voor een bekende, maar ook bijvoorbeeld voor een fictief persoon in een film, waarvan de uitgebeelde situatie bijvoorbeeld tot tranen leidt. Er zijn dus verschillende manieren of motivaties voor het reguleren van bepaalde emoties. Volgens Philippot en Feldman (2004) betekent dit reguleren van emoties het beïnvloeden van aanwezige emoties en de manier waarop deze worden ervaren en geuit. Individuen doen dus iets met hun aanwezige emoties. Afhankelijk of de emotie op een bepaald moment wordt gewaardeerd, of wordt afgekeurd, als gepast of ongepast wordt gezien, of als effectief of ineffectief wordt beschouwd, zal worden overwogen worden om de te uiten emotie aan te passen. 


Emotie was het laatste concept binnen het theoretisch raamwerk. Nu alle theoretische concepten binnen dit onderzoek uiteengezet zijn, zal in het volgende hoofdstuk de methode van dit onderzoek worden beschreven. Hierin zal worden besproken hoe het onderzoek exact zal worden vormgegeven. De gekozen analyse zal worden uiteengezet en vervolgens stapsgewijs worden toegelicht. Ook zal de dataverzameling in dit hoofdstuk worden besproken. 
3. Methoden
Binnen dit onderzoek staat de vraag centraal hoe morele keuzes tot stand komen in 24 en in hoeverre emotie binnen deze keuze een rol speelt. Er is hierbij sprake van een explorerend onderzoek. Er is namelijk nog weinig onderzoek gedaan naar de vervlechting van emotie en moraal in populair televisiedrama. Tevens kan het onderzoek gezien worden als een onderzoek naar betekenissen binnen televisie-inhoud. Moraal en emotie zijn namelijk complexe, dynamische concepten die enkel door middel van het waarnemen van betekenissen van de inhoud van televisie te onderscheiden. Bij deze concepten is er sprake van een diepere betekenis binnen het mediaproduct. Kwantitatief onderzoek, met behulp van bijvoorbeeld een coderingsschema, zou in dit onderzoek niet veel uitkomst bieden, omdat deze methode gericht is op eenvoudig te meten, kwantitatieve concepten. Omdat er sprake is van het onderzoeken van dynamische, complexe betekenissen, is als methode voor een kwalitatieve onderzoeksvariant gekozen. Met het open karakter van kwalitatief onderzoek zal daarbij bovendien een meer betrouwbare samenstelling aan data verzameld kunnen worden, dan met het gesloten karakter van een kwantitatieve onderzoeksmethode. Waar kwantitatief onderzoek zich in de dataverzameling namelijk beperkt tot vooraf gestelde criteria, kan dataverzameling via een kwalitatieve variant het onderzoek nog verschillende richtingen opsturen en zo heldere nieuwe inzichten bieden. Daarnaast is er nog weinig onderzoek gedaan naar de samenhang van moraal en emotie in televisieseries. Het onderzoek hiernaar zal daarom explorerend van aard zijn. Voor de uitvoering van explorerend onderzoek is vervolgens kwalitatief onderzoek het meest geschikt (Wester & Pleijter, 2006). 24 kan ten slotte gezien worden als een cultureel product. Volgens Wester en Pleijter (2006) zijn culturele producten één van de belangrijkste onderzoeksobjecten waarbij bij uitstek gebruik wordt gemaakt van kwalitatief onderzoek. 


Omdat er binnen dit onderzoek sprake is van een analyse van de inhoud van een mediaproduct, is binnen dit onderzoek vervolgens gekozen voor een inhoudsanalyse. Deze methode zal bestaan uit drie stappen, verwoord door Wester en Pleijter (2006), namelijk: registreren, interpreteren en selecteren van de gewenste en voor het onderzoek relevante informatie uit de inhoud van 24. Binnen dit onderzoek zal dit informatie zijn omtrent morele keuzes en de motivaties, achtergronden en emoties achter deze keuzes. 


Voor de uit te voeren inhoudsanalyse van 24 is vervolgens gekozen voor een narratieve analyse (Wester & Weijers, 2006). Er is gekozen voor juist deze variant van inhoudsanalyse, vanwege het feit dat de inhoud van populair televisiedrama bestaat uit de verbeelding van verhalen. Televisie als verhalenverteller toont de kijker hoe verschillende dingen in het leven werken (Gerbner, 1998) (zie paragraaf 2.1.2). Zo geeft televisie ons een bepaald beeld hoe moraal en emotie in het leven functioneren. In dit geval zal door middel van een narratieve analyse dus onderzocht worden hoe 24 laat zien hoe emotie en moraal in elkaar zitten en hoe deze concepten volgens de serie in het leven werken. Om dit te achterhalen zullen de verschillende verhaallijnen uit de serie en de bijbehorende gebeurtenissen uiteen worden gezet. Met name de narratieve analyse van Wester en Weijers (2006) maakt gebruik van deze verhaallijnen en gebeurtenissen. Bovendien is de deze narratieve analyse speciaal ontwikkeld om onderliggende waarden binnen televisie-inhoud te onderzoeken. Omdat moraal en emotie als onderliggende waarden kunnen worden gezien die door televisie als verhalenverteller worden verbeeld (Gerbner, 1998), leent de narratieve analyse zich bij uitstek voor dit onderzoek. 

Om de factoren die een rol spelen binnen morele keuzes van de personages in 24 te onderzoeken, zal seizoen vier van de serie worden geanalyseerd. Er is gekozen voor seizoen vier, omdat dit seizoen praktisch in het midden ligt van alle uitgezonden seizoenen. Het seizoen kan op deze manier gezien worden als een soort gemiddeld seizoen. Omdat het niet één van de eerste seizoenen betreft en ook niet één van de meest recente, zal het seizoen een goede representatie zijn van alle uitgezonden seizoenen van 24. Het zal namelijk elementen van zowel het begin van de serie bevatten als elementen die een rol spelen in de laatste seizoenen. Bovendien is seizoen vier een seizoen waar nog niet veel onderzoek naar is gedaan. De meeste onderzoeken hebben zich tot nu toe gericht op de eerste seizoenen. Omdat seizoen vier daarbij nog relatief nieuw is en tevens weinig onderzocht, zal een onderzoek naar de inhoud van dit seizoen in grotere mate kunnen bijdragen aan nieuwe wetenschappelijke inzichten dan een onderzoek naar de inhoud van overige seizoenen dit zou kunnen doen. Om zo veel mogelijk de aansluitende verhaallijnen en ontwikkelingen van personages te analyseren, is er vervolgens voor gekozen alle 24 afleveringen van het seizoen te analyseren. De keuze om het gehele seizoen te analyseren, komt voort uit het feit dat een seizoen 24 één gesloten verhaal is, waarbij het analyseren van slechts een bepaald deel geen compleet beeld zal kunnen geven. 

Zoals eerder vermeld is binnen de analyse van de afleveringen van 24 gekozen voor een narratieve analyse. Deze analyse zal zijn vorm krijgen naar aanleiding van het WOW-analyseschema van Wester en Weijers (2006). Het WOW-analyseschema bestaat uit vier verschillende fasen, namelijk: het transcriberen van elke te analyseren aflevering en het in kaart brengen van de te analyseren inhoud, het formuleren van verschillende verhaallijnen als onderdeel van de story, een diepere analyse van de inhoud van de verschillende verhaallijnen en een vergelijking van de geanalyseerde verhaallijnen. Deze verschillende fasen bestaan ieder uit verschillende stappen. Op deze manier bestaat het totale WOW-analyseschema uit 22 stappen (Wester & Weijers, 2006). Deze stappen zullen echter niet allen worden uitgevoerd. Slechts de belangrijkste stappen uit iedere fase, die van toepassing zijn voor het onderzoek naar 24, zullen worden toegepast.

De eerste fase bestaat uit het transcriberen van de verschillende te analyseren afleveringen van 24 en het in kaart brengen van de te analyseren inhoud. Deze fase bestaat uit zeven verschillende stappen. Stap één bestaat hierbij uit het transcriberen zelf. Transcriberen betekent het uitschrijven van de gesproken inhoud in de serie, in het kader van de betreffende context (bijvoorbeeld een locatie of relevante gebeurtenis) (Wester & Weijers, 2006). Dit transcriberen zal binnen de analyse van morele keuzes in 24 echter niet meer nodig zijn. Transcripten zullen namelijk worden verzameld via de website http://www.twiztv.com. Hierop zijn de transcripten van 24 van het hele seizoen te vinden. Stap twee, het in kaart brengen van de te analyseren inhoud, bestaat uit het vastleggen van de verschillende grote verhaallijnen. Binnen deze stap zullen tevens de karakters worden beschreven. Stap drie bestaat vervolgens uit het rangschikken van de onderscheiden getranscribeerde grote verhaallijnen en karakters. Delen uit de transcripten die van belang zijn voor de analyse en bij elkaar horen, worden hierbij gebundeld. Op deze manier kan het daaropvolgende analyseproces eenvoudiger verlopen. Stap vier en vijf betreffen het vastleggen alle eigenschappen van de verschillende karakters, zoals geslacht, leeftijd, sociale achtergrond en ras, maar ook persoonlijke eigenschappen die relevant zijn voor het verhaal, zoals slim of agressief (Wester & Weijers, 2006). Deze stappen zullen echter niet geheel worden uitgevoerd, maar waar voor het onderzoek relevant, worden verwerkt in stap twee. Stap zes is daarbij wel belangrijk. Binnen deze stap worden de verschillende nadrukkelijk geuite concrete en abstracte doelen van de handelingen van personages beschreven. Bovendien, en met name binnen dit onderzoek van belang, worden in deze stap de verschillende morele keuzes en handelingen omschreven. Morele keuzes zullen hierbij worden gedefinieerd als keuzes die gedrag betreffen dat betrekking heeft op anderen, en gemeenschappelijk bekende morele regels, idealen of andere eigenschappen bevatten (Gert, 2005). Keuzes zijn dus pas morele keuzes wanneer zij op andere personen betrekking hebben en als er sprake is van algemene morele waarden die voor iedereen bekend zijn (Gert, 2005) (zie paragraaf 2.3).Motieven die binnen deze keuzes en handelingen een rol spelen worden tevens binnen deze stap geformuleerd. Zo worden factoren die een rol spelen binnen bepaalde morele keuzes in deze stap uiteengezet. Daarnaast worden in deze stap de emoties die per morele keuze, handeling of dilemma in de serie te zien zijn, beschreven. Emoties zullen hierbij aan de hand van gelaatsuitdrukkingen worden onderscheiden. Er zal hier onderscheid worden gemaakt tussen de zeven verschillende door Ekman (2008) vastgestelde basisemoties, namelijk: woede, verdriet, afschuw, minachting, vrees, verrassing en plezier (zie paragraaf 2.4). De verschillende morele keuzes en de motieven voor deze keuzes, evenals de vertoonde emoties, worden binnen deze stap dus al voor het eerst geformuleerd. Ten slotte worden in stap zeven de verschillende, nadrukkelijk geuite vertoonde normen en waarden in kaart gebracht (Wester & Weijers, 2006). Deze normen en waarden relateren aan moraal, en zijn dus belangrijk om binnen het onderzoek te formuleren. 

De tweede fase van het WOW-analyseschema wordt gevormd door het verder in kaart brengen en analyseren van het in de eerste fase gevonden materiaal. Deze fase is opgebouwd uit vijf verschillende stappen. Deze stappen richten zich echter met name op de narratieve opbouw van de verhaallijnen en zijn hierdoor in mindere mate van toepassing op dit onderzoek. Slechts de gevonden relevante inhoud uit de eerste fase zal daarom in deze fase verder worden uiteengezet en in kaart worden gebracht. Omdat dit onderzoek alleen geïnteresseerd is in de morele keuzes en deze al in de eerste fase zijn uiteengezet, zullen de stappen van de tweede fase van de WOW-analyse hierbij minder uitgebreid worden toegepast. 

De derde fase van het WOW-analyseschema betreft een diepere analyse van de verschillende onderscheiden verhaallijnen en morele keuzes en bestaat uit acht stappen (Wester & Weijers, 2006). De relevante, betreffende verhaallijnen zullen in deze fase uitvoeriger worden onderzocht, waardoor duidelijk zal worden hoe de aanwezige morele keuzes tot stand zijn gekomen. Verschillende factoren en morele belangen, alsmede normen en waarden die binnen morele keuzes een rol spelen, worden tijdens deze fase nadrukkelijker in kaart gebracht. Deze fase richt zich binnen de uitgebreider omschreven elementen met name op de verbanden die bestaan binnen het gevonden materiaal. Zo zal in deze fase bijvoorbeeld het verband tussen de morele keuzes en aanwezige emoties worden gelegd. Er zal bekeken worden of de verschillene morele keuzes zijn vervlochten met emotie, zoals gesteld door Frijda et al. (2000) (zie paragaaf 2.4). Stap één van derde fase van het WOW-analyseschema bestaat daarbij uit het herkennen van tegenstellingen die een rol spelen in de ontwikkeling van verschillende handelingen door personages. Hier gaat het om problemen, keuzes of beslissingen van belangrijke personages. Het kan hierbij zowel gaan om tegenstellingen tussen verschillende karakters als tegenstellingen binnen hetzelfde karakter. In dit onderzoek zal het met name gaan om tegenstellingen binnen de (morele) keuzes van personages. Tegenstellingen die hier op betrekking hebben zullen binnen deze stap worden onderscheiden. Daarnaast zullen in deze stap de tegenstellingen die kunnen bestaan tussen morele keuzes en vertoonde emoties beschreven worden. Stap twee bestaat uit het heroverzien van de verschillende vertoonde normen en waarden. Hierbij zal bekeken worden of verschillende normen en waarden bij elkaar horen of deel uitmaken van meer algemene normen en waarden. Omdat de morele keuzes binnen dit onderzoek een centrale rol spelen, is het van belang de verschillende vertoonde normen en waarden uitvoerig in kaart te brengen. De derde stap van fase drie bestaat uit het zoeken van verbanden tussen de eerder gevonden normen en waarden en tegenstellingen die een rol in de verhaallijn spelen. Het gaat hierbij om nageleefde normen en waarden die in de verhaallijn onder druk komen te staan (bijvoorbeeld door tegengestelde normen en waarden). Binnen de vierde stap wordt in één zin de moraal van de verhaallijn(en) verwoord. Op deze manier wordt, aan de hand van wat de serie duidelijk wil maken, in kaart gebracht of bepaalde morele keuzes door de serie als wenselijk of niet wenselijk worden verbeeld. Het draait in het onderzoek echter slechts om de morele keuzes zelf, dus zal deze stap wellicht niet voor alle verhaallijnen worden uitgevoerd. Stap vijf van de derde fase van het WOW-analyseschema bestaat uit het categoriseren van verschillende bij elkaar horende tegenstellingen, gevonden in de voorgaande vier stappen. Verschillende tegenstellingen kunnen worden samengenomen, waardoor er beter algemene uitspraken gedaan kunnen worden over welke elementen van bijvoorbeeld morele keuzes en emoties tegengesteld aan elkaar zijn. Stap zes bestaat vervolgens uit het formuleren van algemeen gevonden tegenstellingen. Dit formuleren gaat op basis van het nog verder categoriseren van de bij elkaar horende tegenstellingen. Er dienen hierbij, indien mogelijk, nog algemenere categorieën trachten te worden gemaakt. In de zevende stap worden vervolgens verbanden gelegd tussen de verschillende algemeen geformuleerde tegenstellingen. Algemene tegenstellingen die in relatie met elkaar zijn kunnen bijvoorbeeld zijn ‘pacifistisch/gewelddadig’ en ‘rationeel/emotioneel’. Dan zou pacifistisch bijvoorbeeld vaak samen kunnen gaan met rationeel en emotioneel bijvoorbeeld vaak met gewelddadig. In de zevende en laatste stap van de derde fase zal de moraal van het verhaal aan de hand van alle bevindingen in deze fase, in een paar zinnen worden omschreven (Wester & Weijers, 2006). Of deze stap werkelijk een toevoeging vormt voor het onderzoek zal later worden bekeken. Er zal dan tevens worden besloten om deze stap wel of niet uit te voeren.   

 De vierde en laatste fase bestaat uit een vergelijking van de verschillende verhaallijnen en alle bijbehorende gevonden verbanden en tegenstellingen per verhaallijn. De fase bestaat uit twee stappen. Eigenlijk worden hierin alle verbanden gelegd tussen al het gevonden materiaal. Overeenkomsten en gemeenschappelijke kenmerken zullen in deze stappen worden gezocht om de ‘gemene deler(s)’ in de totale geanalyseerde inhoud te kunnen formuleren (Wester & Weijers, 2006). De eerste stap bestaat uit het zoeken naar overeenkomsten tussen de verschillende tegenstellingen van de verhaallijnen. Er zal worden gekeken of er voor de hele serie, dus alle verhaallijnen, overeenkomsten bestaan in de gemeenschappelijke tegenstellingen van de verhaallijnen. Alle tegenstellingen worden hier dus over een nog groter geheel vergeleken. Er wordt bekeken of er over dit totale geheel een algemene strekking of tendens valt te formuleren. De tweede stap bestaat juist uit het vergelijken van de verschillende eigenschappen, doelen, motieven, keuzes en normen en waarden van de personages. Hierbij zullen de verschillen en overeenkomsten worden beschreven. Ook de manier waarop de verschillende tegenstellingen en problemen in de verhaallijnen worden verbeeld, speelt hier een rol. Door middel van een beschrijving van deze verschillende elementen wordt de dramatische structuur van de serie omschreven (Wester & Weijers, 2006). Of deze laatste stap werkelijk van toepassing is op het onderzoek naar de morele keuzes in 24, zal hierbij later echter nog moeten blijken. Met name de verschillen en overeenkomsten op het gebied van motieven, keuzes en normen en waarden van personages, met daarbij de verbeelde emoties, zullen in deze stap van belang zijn om te vergelijken. 

Om de uitvoering van de WOW-analyse een bepaalde structuur mee te geven, is tevens een schema opgesteld dat tijdens de analyse zelf zal worden gebruikt om de morele keuzes en het tot stand komen daarvan, alsmede de gerelateerde emoties, waar te nemen en te registreren. Dit schema is te vinden in bijlage 1 van dit onderzoeksverslag. 
4. Resultaten

Dit onderzoek heeft zich gericht op de morele keuzes binnen seizoen vier van de populaire dramaserie 24. Door middel van een narratieve analyse in de vorm van een WOW-analyse van Wester en Weijers (2006) is onderzocht hoe de verschillende morele keuzes in 24 tot stand komen en hoe deze keuzes en de factoren hierbinnen zich herleiden tot emotie.


Uit deze analyse zijn verschillende resultaten voortgevloeid. De verschillende morele keuzes in 24 zijn hierbij in kaart gebracht. De aanwezige morele keuzes vielen op te delen in twee overkoepelende thema’s: ‘doel heiligt middelen’ en ‘individueel belang versus groter belang’. Binnen deze thema’s was het thema ‘doel heiligt middelen’ het meest dominante en meest voorkomende thema. Dit thema viel dan ook nog op te delen in vijf verschillende subthema’s. Beide hoofdthema’s bevatten zowel keuzes van de ‘goede’ personages als de ‘slechte’ personages. Toch vielen er in 24 meer keuzes van de ‘goede’ personages waar te nemen dan van de ‘slechte’. Bepaalde subthema’s bestaan dan ook alleen uit de morele keuzes van ‘goede’ personages. Daarnaast blijkt ook dat de ‘slechte’ personages aanzienlijk minder emoties vertoonden in hun keuzes dan de ‘goede’. Zij lijken op een minder menselijke manier te zijn neergezet in de serie en vertoonden daardoor ook minder zwakten en onzekerheden. Zoals verwacht waren daarbij hun keuzes immoreler van aard, en was het vaak lastiger om te onderscheiden hoe hun verschillende keuzes tot stand waren gekomen en welke factoren hierin een rol speelden. Hoewel dit bij de keuzes van de ‘goede’ personages ook niet altijd expliciet werd vermeld, was dit in deze gevallen eenvoudiger uit de betreffende verhaallijnen waar te nemen. 

4.1. Doel heiligt middelen
Het eerste voorkomende thema van morele keuzes in seizoen vier van 24 is ‘doel heiligt middelen’. Er bleken in 24 voortdurend keuzes te worden gemaakt waarbij een bepaald doel de genomen middelen moest verantwoorden. Deze morele keuzes dienden in de betreffende gevallen dan dit hogere doel. Bovendien werd het doel gebruikt om de vaak immorele, middelen tegenover zichzelf en tegenover anderen te kunnen verantwoorden. Daarbij gold het doel vaak al als motivatie om dergelijke keuzes in eerste instantie te maken. De gebruikte middelen en dus de betreffende gemaakte keuzes zijn in deze context als (im)moreel gedefinieerd, vanwege het feit dat het keuzes zijn die betrekking hebben op bepaalde andere individuen (Gert, 2005) (zie paragraaf 2.3). Tevens zijn het keuzes die relateren aan algemeen geldende morele regels die voor iedereen bekend en herkenbaar zijn (Gert, 2005). Bovendien wordt door Gert (2005) de morele regel dat het doel de middelen niet rechtvaardigt, gehanteerd. Volgens hem kan een beter resultaat nooit immorele middelen rechtvaardigen. Bij ‘doel heiligt de middelen’ draait het dus om een al langer bekend thema in de literatuur omtrent moraal (zie paragraaf 2.3). 


Er viel binnen de morele keuze ‘doel heiligt middelen’ een vijftal subthema’s te onderscheiden. Deze subthema’s zijn: ‘bedreiging en marteling’, ‘pleging van een aanslag’ ‘liegen voor een groter doel’, ‘negeren van bevelen en protocollen van autoriteiten’ en ‘het uitschakelen van (gevaarlijke) individuen’. 

4.1.1 Bedreiging en marteling

‘Bedreiging en marteling’ betreft verschillende handelingen van personages, waarbij andere personages op uiteenlopende manieren onder druk worden gezet. Het bedreigen of martelen van personen valt te beschouwen als een morele keuze, omdat er sprake is van gedrag dat betrekking heeft op anderen en er tevens sprake is van een algemeen heersende morele regel, namelijk anderen geen pijn doen (Gert, 2005; Rachels, 1993) (zie paragraaf 2.3). Met deze morele regel wordt binnen de keuze om te martelen of te bedreigen gebroken, omdat iemand martelen of bedreigen betekent dat diegene zowel lichamelijk als geestelijk wordt gekwetst. De keuze om te bedreigen en te martelen kwam bij zowel de ‘goede’ als de ‘slechte’ personages voor, maar was bij de eerste groep het meest frequent waar te nemen. Hier leek marteling een alom geaccepteerde handeling in de werkzaamheden van de CTU-agenten. Opvallend was dat de ‘slechte’ personages in hun keuzes om te bedreigen en te martelen aanzienlijk minder emoties vertoonden dan de ‘goede’ personages. Laatstgenoemde groep vertoonde in veel gevallen de emotie woede. 

De personages in 24 kozen er op verschillende momenten voor om een ander bewust lichamelijk of geestelijk te kwetsen. De keuze om iemand anders bewust pijn te doen, werd in deze gevallen gemaakt om een bepaald doel te bereiken. Dit maakte het martelen of bedreigen een geaccepteerde handeling in het gedrag van personages. Om deze reden is het thema ‘bedreiging en marteling’ als subthema van het thema ‘doel heiligt middelen’ onder te verdelen. In de analyse van het subthema was te zien hoe verschillende personages in 24 de keuze maakten om anderen te pijnigen en dreigen te pijnigen of vermoorden, om zo informatie te verkrijgen. Ook kon hierbij gedreigd worden andere individuen dan de bedreigde persoon in kwestie te pijnigen of te vermoorden. Dit kon bijvoorbeeld door te dreigen iemands familielid, vriend of partner te vermoorden of pijn te doen. Bovendien kon het onder druk zetten plaatsvinden door te dreigen dat iemand zijn geliefden nooit meer terug zou zien, indien diegene niet zou meewerken aan het verstrekken van informatie. Personages kozen er op deze momenten bewust voor om iemand voor het hogere doel te bedreigen, al dan niet met behulp van pijniging. Deze keuze werd dan ook meermaals verantwoord door dit hogere doel dat zij voor ogen stonden. Zo kon voor de ‘goede’ personages te verkrijgen informatie er toe leiden dat terroristische aanslagen voorkomen konden worden. Daarnaast kon informatie bij de ‘slechte’ personages bijvoorbeeld gebruikt worden om terroristische doelen te bereiken. Beide soorten personages bedreigden of martelden dus met een bepaald doel dat de handeling rechtvaardigde.


Bedreiging en marteling’ was, zoals genoemd, een handeling die zowel bij ‘goede personages’ (personages werkend voor de antiterreureenheid CTU en andere personages die de terroristen tegenwerkten) als ‘slechte personages’ (terroristen of personages die samenspanden met terroristen) waar te nemen viel. Toch was de handeling het vaakst te constateren bij de ‘goede personages’. Martelen en het onder druk zetten van verdachten door bedreigingen werd door verschillende eenheden van CTU veelvuldig toegepast om bepalende informatie over terroristische doelen die zij niet zomaar zouden vrijgeven, uit verdachten te krijgen. Vaak lieten verdachten namelijk uit zichzelf niet veel los, maar was men er zeker van dat een verdachte wel essentiële informatie zou achterhouden. Daarbij was er in deze gevallen weinig tijd om achter de informatie te komen, omdat de volgende terroristische acties alweer op het punt stonden plaats te vinden. De verdachte was dan het enige aanknopingspunt in de zaak. Om deze reden vond men het daarom noodzakelijk om een verdachte te ‘breken’ door middel van ernstige bedreiging (op basis van diverse leugens), het toedienen van ‘pijninjecties’ of geblinddoekte desoriëntatie door middel van allerlei op hoog volume afgespeelde geluiden. Wanneer martelen niet tot een resultaat zou leiden, ging men in bepaalde gevallen over tot een beloning voor te verstrekken informatie door de verdachten. Deze beloning betrof dan veelal een speciale verklaring door de president getekend, waarin de verdachte en zijn of haar familie bescherming en vrijstelling van aanklachten gegarandeerd werd. Informatie die de verdachte verstrekte zou daarbij wel moeten leiden tot het vinden van bepaalde terroristen of het voorkomen van plaats te vinden aanslagen. Een dergelijke verklaring in het verschiet maakte dat verdachten in veel gevallen alsnog wilden meewerken en de gewenste informatie verstrekten. Met name het belang van een goede situatie voor het gezin of de familieleden van de verdachte speelde hierbij een belangrijke rol. In één van de gevallen waarin veiligheid en vrijstelling van aanklachten door de president aan de verdachte was verstrekt en beloofd, werd deze alsnog teruggetrokken, terwijl de informatie van de verdachte wel tot het gewenste en afgesproken resultaat had geleid. De president en CTU hielden in dit geval niet hun woord en kozen ervoor om de verdachte zijn afgesproken rechten te ontnemen. 

Factoren binnen de morele keuzes om verdachten in te verlenen rechten tekort te komen, te martelen of op andere manieren onder druk te zetten, betroffen dus vaak een dreigende terroristische ramp, een tijdgebrek en het niet meewerken van verdachte personen. Martelen werd vanwege deze factoren binnen CTU gezien als een reguliere activiteit in de werkzaamheden van veel agenten en werd bij de instantie door het merendeel van de werknemers volkomen geaccepteerd. Het doel om terroristische aanslagen te voorkomen rechtvaardigde voor CTU het martelen van verschillende verdachten. Zelfs familieleden werden voor dit doel op bepaalde momenten opgeofferd. Zo viel waar te nemen dat minister van defensie James Heller opdroeg zijn zoon (die informatie leek achter te houden) meerdere malen te laten martelen. In aflevering zes is te zien hoe hij het laten martelen van zijn zoon verantwoordt door middel van de plicht die hij naar eigen zeggen tegenover zijn land dient te vervullen: 
	Heller: Agent Manning, I am authorizing you to do whatever you feel is necessary to get this information out of my son.
Richard: Dad…
Heller: I love you, son. But I have a duty to my country.
Richard: You can’t be serious.
[Heller goes towards the door.]
Richard: Dad!

(James Heller en Richard Heller, afl. 6)



Eén van de ‘goede’ personages die het meest frequent zelf martelingen uitvoerde, was Jack Bauer. Hij deed dit vaak tijdens zijn werkzaamheden op locatie, buiten de muren van CTU om. De beslissing om te martelen was vaak een ingeving die Jack ter plekke kreeg, zonder dat daar toestemming voor werd gegeven vanuit de autoriteiten of CTU. Dit was bij het onder druk zetten en martelen binnen het kantoor van CTU wel altijd het geval. Hier moest de leidinggevende toestemming geven tot een dergelijke manier van onder druk zetten. Een voorbeeld van Jack Bauer die iemand ter plekke besluit te martelen is de situatie waarin Jack Paul Raines ziet als verdachte en bij hem thuis is om hem te ondervragen. Dit martelen gebeurt onder toeziend oog van Audrey, Jack’s vriendin en tevens voormalig echtgenote van Paul. Zij is het niet eens met de marteling en tracht Jack te stoppen. Maar Jack is overtuigd van de schuld van Paul en laat stroomstoten op Paul los om hem aan het praten te krijgen. Hij verantwoordt zijn keuze om te martelen met het het feit dat Paul een belangrijke verdachte is die niet meewerkt en Jack weinig tijd heeft:

	Audrey: Jack. I don’t think that Paul would be a traitor to this country.
Jack: Right now Paul is a prime suspect, and he’s not cooperating with me and I don’t have time to do this any other way. I need to know for sure.
(Jack Bauer en Audrey Heller, afl. 11)



Op bepaalde momenten vertoonden ook de ‘slechte’ personages de keuze om te martelen en te bedreigen. Er werd op verschillende momenten gekozen om op deze manier een ander bewust pijn te doen om een bepaald doel te verwezenlijken.  Dit element van een ander bewust pijnigen maakt de keuze van de ‘slechte’ personages om te martelen en te bedreigen een morele keuze. Een morele keuze is binnen dit onderzoek namelijk gedefinieerd als een keuze die betrekking heeft op anderen en gemeenschappelijk bekende morele regels, idealen of andere eigenschappen bevat. De regel om een ander geen pijn te doen is één van deze morele regels (Gert, 2005) (zie paragraaf 2.3). Bovendien vindt er bij de keuze om te martelen en te bedreigen een overweging van verschillende belangen plaats, hetgeen volgens Rachels (1993) als element van moraal kan worden gezien (zie paragraaf 2.3). De belangen van het doel om te martelen of te bedreigen worden binnen deze keuze boven de belangen van het slachtoffer verkozen. De morele keuze om te martelen en te bedreigen werd door de ‘slechte’ personages aanzienlijk minder vaak gemaakt dan door de ‘goede’ personages. 

Ook de motieven om te martelen verschilden bij de ‘slechte’ personages van de ‘goede’ personages. Waar de ‘goede’ personages voornamelijk martelden en bedreigden om informatie te verkrijgen met als uiteindelijk doel terroristische daden te voorkomen, martelden en bedreigden ‘slechte’ personages veelal om allerlei zaken, die juist een terroristisch doel konden beschermen of hielpen te behalen, zoals toegang en middelen. Beide soorten personages maakten hun morele keuzes om te martelen en bedreigen dus voor een vergelijkbaar doel, al waren deze doelen totaal tegengesteld aan elkaar. De morele keuze om andere individuen bewust (lichamelijk en geestelijk) pijn te doen vond bij de terroristen in de meeste gevallen plaats door bedreiging of het op andere manieren onder druk zetten van andere individuen. Zij deden dit met als doel het verkrijgen van informatie over de vorderingen van CTU bij het opsporen en voorkomen van terroristische gevaren. Zij wilden dan weten welke aanknopingspunten CTU had omtrent hun activiteiten, om zo een bepaalde tactiek te kunnen uitzetten. Deze tactiek zou hen dan kunnen helpen in het uiteindelijk bereiken van hun terroristische doel(en). In andere gevallen werden personen met de dood of de dood van geliefden bedreigd om de terroristen toegang te verlenen tot bepaalde middelen of om een ontsnappingsroute te verschaffen. Door middel van deze toegang kon de terrorist dan uit de handen blijven van CTU of in staat worden gesteld om een terroristisch doel te kunnen ondersteunen. Beide situaties konden vervolgens er toe leiden dat een terroristisch doel werd behaald. Het uit handen blijven van CTU verminderde namelijk het risico dat er essentiële informatie over de terroristische activiteiten in handen van de antiterreureenheid zou komen (iets dat door middel van druk met bijvoorbeeld marteling zou kunnen plaatsvinden). Daarbij leidt het verkrijgen van middelen tot opties voor het behalen van een terroristisch doel, zoals de aanslag op het presidentsvliegtuig (in de volgende subparagraaf nader te behandelen). Iedere keuze die werd gemaakt een ander pijn te doen werd verantwoord door middel van het grotere terroristische doel dat door het martelende of bedreigende individu werd nagestreefd. 

Achteraf dient echter gesteld te worden dat de verschillende subdoelen van de ‘slechte’ personages in de meeste gevallen uit de betreffende contexten moesten worden waargenomen. Waar de ‘goede’ personages vaak expliciet de verantwoording van hun keuzes in gesproken tekst naar voren brachten, werd deze verantwoording door de ‘slechte’ personages vrijwel nooit genoemd. Uit de betreffende verhaallijnen en gebeurtenissen moest dan blijken hoe de morele keuze tot stand was gekomen. 

Binnen de morele keuzes om te martelen en te bedreigen, vertoonden de verschillende karakters bepaalde subjectieve gevoelens, door Frijda (1988) uitgelegd als emoties (zie paragraaf 2.4). Van de zeven door Ekman (2008) onderscheiden emoties (woede, verdriet, afschuw, minachting, vrees, verrassing en plezier) (zie paragraaf 2.4) vertoonden de ‘goede’ personages in hun keuzes om te bedreigen en te martelen voornamelijk de emotie woede. In bepaalde gevallen was men dan daadwerkelijk woedend op een verdachte, door het zich persoonlijk aantrekken van de gruwelheden die hij of zij had begaan, maar vaak leek deze woede door agenten opzettelijk te worden opgeroepen om het verhoor en de marteling meer impact te laten hebben. Op deze manier werden emoties dus gebruikt en toegepast voor een gewenst resultaat. Er was hierbij sprake van het opzettelijk overdrijven van emoties, zoals door Philippot en Feldman (2004) al omschreven (zie paragraaf 2.4). Bij de ‘slechte’ personages was het opvallend dat tijdens het martelen en bedreigen in bepaalde gevallen geen emoties werden vertoond. Er was om deze reden weinig onzekerheid of mededogen waar te nemen in de martelingen en bedreigingen die de personages op anderen uitvoerden. Waar door bijvoorbeeld Frijda, Manstead en Bem (2000) (zie paragraaf 2.4) emotie als belangrijke aanstuurder van gedrag wordt beschreven, lijkt dit element bij de terroristen te ontbreken. Emotie en moraal lijken bij de terroristen niet te zijn verlochten met elkaar. Morele keuzes vonden namelijk zonder vertoonde emoties plaats. Volgens Frijda et al. (2000) worden morele keuzes in vrijwel alle gevallen beïnvloed door een bepaald subjectief gevoel, ofwel een emotie. Deze emoties die volgens Frijda (1988) de betekenis van eerdere ervaringen bewaken en vervolgens gedrag aansturen, leken bij de terroristen geen rol te spelen in de keuzes die zij maakten. Hun morele richtlijnen en waarden leken op dit punt geenszins verbonden te zijn aan emotie, iets dat door verschillende auteurs wel als natuurlijk wordt beschouwd (Frijda, 1988; Frijda et al., 2000). De ‘slechte’ personages ontbeerden op deze manier algemeen kermerkende menselijke trekken en maakten daardoor een koele en meedogenloze indruk. Enige identificatie van de kijker met deze personages lijkt hierdoor onwaarschijnlijk. Een emotie die net als bij de martelingen en bedreigingen van de ‘goede’ personages wel in bepaalde gevallen waar te nemen viel, was woede. Het leek er echter wederom op dat personages in deze gevallen niet echt boos waren, maar een bepaalde woede overdreven om meer indruk te maken op het betreffende individu dat gemarteld of bedreigd werd (Philippot & Feldman, 2004) (zie paragraaf 2.4). Op deze manier konden zij meer druk leggen op deze persoon, waardoor hij of zij beter te manipuleren was naar de wensen van het dwingende personage. 

4.1.2. Plegen van een aanslag
Een ander thema binnen het hoofdthema ‘doel heiligt middelen’ is ‘het plegen van een aanslag’. Dit thema komt maar enkele keren binnen het hele seizoen van 24 voor, maar vormt telkens de kern van de verschillende verhaallijnen in de serie. Het thema is in de resultaten als morele keuze opgenomen, omdat er sprake is van een keuze die handelt over leven en dood van anderen (Gert, 2005) (zie paragraaf 2.3). De morele keuzes binnen dit thema zijn bepalend voor de doelen en activiteiten van zowel de ‘goede’ personages als de ‘slechte’ personages. Het plegen van een aanslag vormt namelijk het constante hoofddoel van de ‘slechte’ personages, terwijl het voorkomen van dit doel eigenlijk het immer aanwezige hoofddoel van de ‘goede’ personages inhoudt. Hierbij bestaan de ‘slechte’ personages uit de terroristen en de individuen die de terroristen ondersteunen, waarbij de ‘goede’ personages bestaan uit de mensen werkend voor CTU en de Amerikaanse autoriteiten (zoals het ministerie van Defensie dat vaak terugkomt). De terroristen achten het in hun aanslagen acceptabel dat er verschillende slachtoffers zullen sterven door middel van hun aanslagen, omdat er een hoger doel wordt gediend. Zij hebben verschillende, hierna te benoemen, politieke redenen die het leed en de dood van Amerikaanse burgers rechtvaardigen. Hun keuze heeft daarmee zowel betrekking op anderen, als dat er algemeen bekende morele regels (de afkeuring van moord en het aanbrengen van leed bij anderen) in hun keuze worden overtreden. Er wordt bovendien in de morele keuze om een aanslag te plegen een afweging gemaakt tussen de verschillende belangen van personen (Rachels, 1993) (zie paragraaf 2.3). De terroristen achten hun belangen om wraak te nemen op volgens hen politiek onjuist gedrag waardevoller dan de belangen van de Amerikaanse burgers om in vrijheid en veiligheid te kunnen leven. Ten slotte viel waar te nemen dat de morele keuze van het plegen van een aanslag vrijwel altijd zonder vertoonde emoties gepaard ging. 

De morele keuze van ‘het plegen van een aanslag’ komt binnen seizoen vier van 24 een vijftal keren voor. De verschillende aanslagen zijn: het laten ontsporen van een trein, het onder geweld ontvoeren en ‘berechten’ van de minister van Defensie James Heller, het creëren van een nucleaire ramp, de aanslag op Air Force One (het Amerikaanse presidentsvliegtuig) en het stelen van een kernkop om deze middels een raket af te vuren op Los Angeles. De verschillende aanslagen hangen voor een deel met elkaar samen en vormen elke keer opnieuw de basis van de verschillende verhaallijnen waarin CTU de terroristische aanslagen tracht te voorkomen. Elke nieuwe gebeurtenis en vondst leveren weer nieuwe aanknopingspunten op om een volgende aanslag trachten te voorkomen. Zo laten de terroristen een trein ontsporen om een bepaald apparaat in handen te krijgen dat hen in staat stelt om een nucleaire ramp te ontketenen. Ook de aanslag op Air Force One staat in een relatie tot een andere aanslag. Door middel van het neerhalen van Air Force One krijgen de terroristen namelijk de locatie van een de kernkop in handen die ze later zullen stelen. 


Zoals al duidelijk is geworden zijn de morele keuzes om een aanslag te plegen slechts gemaakt door de ‘slechte’ personages, de terroristen. Zij handelden hierbij, zoal ook al eerder geïndiceerd, uit politieke overwegingen. Politieke redenenen rechtvaardigden voor hen de keuze om anderen leed aan te doen. Verschillende belangen zijn, zoals eerder gesteld, door de terroristen hierbij tegenover elkaar afgewogen. Hierbij werden de belangen om de Amerikaanse wanpolitiek te bestraffen doorslaggevender geacht dan de belangen van de Amerikaanse burgers. De verantwoording van de keuze en het leed dat anderen na een afweging van belangen werd aangedaan, toont nogmaals de morele kern van deze keuze (Rachels, 1993) (zie paragraaf 2.3). Marwan, het brein achter de verschillende aanslagen, heeft op verschillende momenten in bepaalde afleveringen nog eens duidelijk gemaakt wat het motief en de achterliggende redenen waren voor de verschillende aanslagen die hij heeft georganiseerd. In deze voorbeelden werd duidelijk dat de aanslagen voortkwamen uit een bepaalde haat jegens de manier waarop de Verenigde Staten buiten hun grenzen om opereerden. De terroristen vonden dat de Verenigde Staten met hun imperialistische politiek op een respectloze manier verschillende mensenrechten schenden en dat het Amerikaanse volk hier te passief tegenover staat en dit allemaal toelaat. Dit maakte de keuze voor hen om een aanslag te plegen een moreel goede keuze. In een videoboodschap die Marwan heeft opgenomen om na de aanslagen aan het Amerikaanse volk te vertonen, geeft hij een toelichting op zijn daden: 
	Marwan: People of America, you wake up today to a different world. One of your own nuclear weapons has been used against you. It’ll be days and weeks before you can measure the damage we’ve caused, but as you count your dead, remember why this has happened to you. You have no understanding for the causes of the people you strike down or the nations you conquer. You choose to meddle in their affairs without respect. You follow your government unquestioning toward your own slaughter. Today you pay the price for that ignorance. Unless you renounce your policies of imperialism and intervention in these activities, this attack will be followed by another and another after that.
(Marwan, afl. 21).



Een andere gebeurtenis waarin de motieven van de terroristen voor hun aanslagen duidelijker worden, is wanneer de ontvoerde James Heller door de terroristen eigenhandig wordt berecht. In een uitzending, live uitgezonden over het internet over de hele wereld, willen de terroristen de minister van Defensie berechten voor de ‘oorlogsmisdaden’ gepleegd door hem en de Verenigde Staten. De minister zal voor het oog van de hele wereld voor zijn misdaden geëxecuteerd worden. In een pleidooi geeft de betreffende terrorist zijn toelichting op het berechten van Heller: 
	Omar: James Heller, you have been brought before this court of law to stand trial as a war criminal. You will prove to the people of the world that these crimes against humanity are the direct results of the policies initiated by you and your capacity. (…) Under your orders, the death squads of America continued their imperial crusade against the true believers and pure followers. There is no place in the world where your evil has not scoured the sacred land of the true world. Your imperilling legacy has devoured the lives of the innocent. Finally, we hold you responsible for the blasphemy, for disregarding holly lands and shrines, and for spilling the blood of our brothers.
(Omar, afl. 6).


Te constateren valt dat de terroristen door middel van de aanslagen gerechtigheid willen krijgen door wraak te nemen op de Amerikanen. Verschillende politieke acties van de Verenigde Staten en de passiviteit van het volk daartegenover, worden door de terroristen bestraft. 


De morele keuze om een aanslag te plegen ging eigenlijk nooit gepaard met vertoonde emoties. Terroristische acties werden uitgevoerd zonder dat daarbij subjectieve gevoelens van de gezichten vielen af te lezen. Ook de hierboven beschreven preken waarin de motieven werden geuit, verliepen zonder te herkennen emoties. De terroristen werden blijkbaar geenszins gestuurd of beïnvloed door emoties, waar emotie volgens Frijda et al. (2000), zoals al eerder gesteld, een natuurlijke rol speelt binnen morele keuzes (zie paragraaf 2.4). De terroristen vertoonden bovendien eigenlijk nimmer, in praktisch geen enkele handeling, emoties die hun kwetsbaar maakten, waaronder vrees of verdriet. Slechts enkele keren werden deze emoties door een terrorist tijdens zijn acties getoond. Waar de meeste terroristen een Arabisch uiterlijk hadden, was in het geval van deze emoties de terrorist echter een ingehuurde persoon van Amerikaanse afkomst. Te concluderen valt dus dat slechts de Arabische terroristen, die de belangrijkste rol van de bedreiging in de serie vormen, weinig emoties vertonen. Ze zijn in de serie neergezet als koelbloedige, meedogenloze moordenaars, waarbij de kijker zich moeilijk kan voorstellen wat er in de hoofden van hen omgaat. De terroristen vertonen namelijk geen emoties, waar het publiek zich in kan verplaatsen, of betekenis aan kan geven. Bovendien blijft op deze manier vaak onduidelijk waarom en hoe de immorele keuzes tot stand zijn gekomen. Deze keuzes blijven daarom moeilijk voorstelbaar en herkenbaar. 

Morele keuzes lijken door de terroristen dus alleen op basis van ratio te worden gemaakt. Waar Frijda et al. (2000) stellen dat moraal en emotie op het gebied van keuzes met elkaar vervlochten zijn en samen invloed uitoefenen op de keuze (zie paragraaf 2.4), lijkt dit bij de terroristen nauwelijks het geval. Emotie lijkt namelijk geen rol te spelen in hun morele keuzes. Frijda et al. (2000) stellen juist dat de aanwezigheid van subjectieve gevoelens op basis van eerdere ervaringen, en de beschikbare morele kennis of het verstand samen leiden tot een bepaalde morele keuze (zie paragraaf 2.4). Omdat er bij de terroristen nauwelijks sprake lijkt van een dergelijke vervlechting van morele keuzes en emoties, en dit bij de ‘goede’ personages meer het geval lijkt te zijn, oogt het gedrag van de ‘goede’ personages menselijker en herkenbaarder. De keuzes van ‘goede’ personages zijn daardoor beter te begrijpen en voor te stellen dan die van de terroristen. 

4.1.3. Liegen voor een groter doel

Binnen het hoofdthema ‘doel heiligt middelen’ is naast ‘martelen en bedreiging’ en ‘het plegen van een aanslag’ tevens ‘liegen voor een groter doel’ een subthema dat kon worden waargenomen binnen de morele keuzes van personages in seizoen vier van 24. Liegen kan gezien worden als een morele keuze, omdat het breekt met de algemeen geldende morele regel dat men de waarheid dient te vertellen (Rachels, 1993; Gert, 2005) (zie paragraaf 2.3). Daarnaast is liegen een vorm van gedrag die betrekking heeft op anderen. Volgens Hobbes, aangehaald door Gert (2005), heeft moraal alleen betrekking op gedrag dat anderen betreft. Aan deze voorwaarde voor het behoren tot een moreel thema voldoet het liegen voor een groter doel. De keuze om tegen iemand te liegen is om de hierboven genoemde redenen een morele overweging, die binnen dit subthema in alle gevallen werd verantwoord door middel van een groter doel. Morele keuzes zijn in de methoden (zie hoofdstuk 3) immers gedefenieerd als keuzes die gedrag betreffen dat betrekking heeft op anderen, en gemeenschappelijk bekende morele regels, idealen of andere eigenscahppen bevatten. Keuzes konden pas als morele keuzes konden waargenomen wanneer zij op andere personen betrekking hadden en wanneer er sprake was van algemene morele waarden die voor iedereen bekend zijn (Gert 2005) (zie paragraaf 2.3). 


Het doel van deze morele keuze was voor de betreffende personages dermate belangrijk om na te streven, dat zij de immorele keuze maakten om te liegen. Zij kozen er dan voor om de waarheid te verzwijgen of te verdraaien. Hierbij was er dan slechts sprake van een mondelinge overdracht. Degene die werd belogen merkte hierbij niet dat hij of zij slachtoffer was van een immorele handeling. Bij de andere subthema’s, ‘het plegen van een aanslag’ en ‘bedreiging en marteling’, was men hiervan wel bewust, vanwege het directe verbale of nonverbale geweld dat op hem of haar werd toegepast. De morele keuze om te liegen heeft dus minder directe impact dan de andere subthema’s binnen ‘doel heiligt middelen’. 


Het liegen voor een groter doel werd in de meeste gevallen gedaan door de ‘slechte personages’, ofwel de terroristen. Zij waren binnen dit subthema het meest dominant vertegenwoordigd. Het doel waarmee zij logen betrof, zoal al eerder duidelijk is geworden, in de meeste gevallen een terroristisch doel. Een dergelijk doel kon, zoals in de vorige paragraaf al viel constateren, bijvoorbeeld een ontvoering of een raketaanval zijn. Voor de ‘goede’ personages bestaat vaak het doel om deze terroristische doelen te voorkomen. Toch waren de doelen bij het ‘liegen voor een groter doel’ niet altijd eenvoudigweg te herleiden tot de hoofddoelen, zoals hierboven omschreven. In veel gevallen werd in eerste instantie gelogen voor een kleiner doel. Op deze manier kon uiteindelijk het hoofddoel gediend worden. Er werd in bepaalde gevallen echter ook gelogen voor doelen die niet direct tot de hoofddoelen van terrorisme en antiterrorisme te herleiden vielen. 


Liegen voor een groter doel gebeurde, zoals hierboven al duidelijk werd, door zowel de ‘goede’ als de ‘slechte’ personages, al was de laatstgenoemde groep hierin het grootst vertegenwoordigd. Er kon door beide groepen gelogen worden tegen zowel bondgenoten als tegen vijanden. 
Aan het liegen tegen vijanden lag dan vaak het eerder besproken grotere doel ten grondslag (voor de terroristen een aanslag en voor de antiterreureenheden het voorkomen van een aanslag). Zo kon er dan bijvoorbeeld gelogen worden om een missie te beschermen of in stand te houden. Het vertellen van de waarheid zou in deze gevallen het doel van de missie in gevaar kunnen brengen. Zo was er een aantal keren sprake van een Amerikaans burger die in opdracht werkte van de terroristen en ervoor koos om tegen zijn collega’s te liegen om via zijn werk (als bijvoorbeeld vliegenier) de middelen in handen te krijgen die de terroristen konden helpen hun aanslag voor te bereiden. Ook werd er in bepaalde gevallen bijvoorbeeld een andere identiteit aangenomen om niet op te vallen en het doel in gevaar te brengen. Zo deed één van de terroristen zich een keer voor als een agent van de FBI en kon zij op deze manier informatie verwerven over de manier waarop CTU bezig was de terroristen op te sporen. Tevens werd door ´goede´ personages op bepaalde momenten gelogen tegen vijanden. Zo werden verschillende terroristen geregeld door agenten van CTU misleid om hen op deze manier te kunnen inrekenen. Een voorbeeld hiervan is wanneer een gevangen genomen verdachte besluit mee te werken aan een scenario waarin zij tegenover de terroristen moet acteren dat zij Jack Bauer als gevangene in bezit heeft en hem wil uitleveren aan leider Marwan. Op deze manier tracht CTU achter de verblijfplaats van Marwan te komen. Hierdoor wordt er een scène opgevoerd voor de terroristen en wordt er verschillende keren gelogen om de terroristen te pakken te krijgen en verdere aanslagen te voorkomen. 


Naast het liegen tegenover vijanden, werd er ook gelogen tegenover bondgenoten. Bij het liegen tegenover bondgenoten speelden er vaak andere motieven dan bij het liegen tegenover vijanden. Deze motieven bestonden bijvoorbeeld uit het liegen ter bescherming van een familielid of partner, om een conflict uit de weg te gaan, of om iemand tot iets over te halen dat kon bijdragen aan het bereiken van een doel. Zo was er meerdere malen sprake van een Amerikaanse burger die in opdracht werkte van de terroristen en ervoor koos om tegen zijn vriendin of vrouw te liegen over zijn activiteiten. Hij was dan bang dat zij hem zou aangeven en zo zijn werkzaamheden en het terroristische doel in gevaar zou brengen. Daarnaast was er de verhaallijn omtrent een gezin dat alles had gepland om een essentiële rol te vervullen binnen een terroristische aanslag. Wanneer de zoon dreigt opgeofferd te worden, omdat zijn vader hem niet meer vertrouwt, besluit de moeder van het gezin voor haar zoon te kiezen, boven de terroristische doelen. Ze besluit daarom met hem te vluchten, en hierover te liegen tegen haar man. Hier wordt dus de liefde voor het kind boven het belang van het slagen van de terroristische aanslag gesteld. Ten slotte liegen de Amerikaanse autoriteiten over een missie tegen de Chinese ambassade, omdat de waarheid een conflict zou kunnen opleveren met China, hetgeen de nationale veiligheid in gevaar zou kunnen brengen. 


Tussen het liegen van de ´goede´ personages en de ´slechte´ personages vielen wat betreft de vertoning van emoties geen duidelijk herkenbare verschillen aan te wijzen. Daar waar emotie volgens Frijda et al. (2000) (zie paragraaf 2.4) gezien wordt als een belangrijke aanstuurder van gedrag, vertoonden zowel de ‘goede’ als ‘slechte’ personages weinig tot geen emoties binnen hun morele keuze om te liegen. Hoewel volgens Frijda (1988) emoties een belangijke rol vervullen in het bewaken van ervaringen en zo een rol spelen in (moreel) handelen, leken deze bij de verschillende personages die logen voor een groter doel, niet aanwezig. Tevens is het hierbij mogelijk dat de emoties bij deze morele keuzes wel aanwezig waren, maar veilig werden onderdrukt, zoals door Philippot en Feldman (2004) (zie paragraaf 2.4) het verband tussen emotie en verstand is uiteengezet: verstand en emotie als metafoor voor meester en slaaf. Emotie zou hier de inferieure positie van slaaf innemen als onstuimig en gevaarlijk. Verstand als meester zou deze emotie onderdrukken en zo de controle en rust kunnen handhaven. De huidige filosofische kijk op emotie zou volgens Philippot en Feldman (2004) deze omschreven metafoor weerspiegelen. Bovendien vindt er in het dagelijks leven volgens de auteurs tevens in de meeste gevallen al een onderdrukking van emoties plaats. Dit is het geval, omdat het tonen van emoties in verschillende gevallen ongemakkelijk kan zijn. Mogelijk tracht men binnen de inhoud van 24 een dergelijke onderdrukking van emoties te verbeelden. Of er is eenvoudigweg sprake van een afwezigheid van emoties binnen de gemaakte morele keuzes. Omdat het hier gaat om de inhoud van een fictieve serie, waarin slechts de verbeelde elementen zijn uitgeschreven en opgevoerd, zal dit moeilijk zijn te achterhalen. 


Toch leek er in bepaalde gevallen sprake te zijn van aanwezige emoties, zonder dat deze van de gezichtsuitdrukkingen van de personages waren af te lezen. Zo leek er in bepaalde gevallen te worden gelogen uit vrees voor gevolgen van het vertellen van de waarheid, maar was deze emotie niet verder duidelijk in iemands gezicht terug te zien. Woede was een emotie die wel op bepaalde momenten tijdens het liegen waar te nemen was, al was dit slechts enkele keren het geval. Bovendien werden de keuzes om te liegen door de personages nooit echt in woorden toegelicht, maar viel de keuze eerder te herleiden aan de hand van ontwikkelingen in de verhaallijn. Omdat de motieven en factoren binnen de keuzes om te liegen nooit echt expliciet werden geuit, zijn hier geen citaten van opgenomen binnen dit subthema. Concluderend kan gesteld worden dat viel waar te nemen dat beide groepen op bepaalde momenten logen voor een groter doel of voor een subdoel dat uiteindelijk zou bijdragen aan een groter doel. Beide groepen kozen er dus niet voor om te liegen uit persoonlijke belangen, maar opereerden voornamelijk vanuit het grotere belang.
4.1.4. Negeren van protocollen en bevelen van autoriteiten

Een andere variant van de morele keuze ‘doel heiligt middelen’ is ‘negeren van protocollen en bevelen van autoriteiten’. Deze keuze behelst het volgen van eigen keuzes die stuiten tegen voorgeschreven werkwijzen van bovenaf en bevelen die worden gegeven. Het draait hier met name om werkzaamheden binnen een organisatie, in dit geval CTU, waarbij een werknemer zijn werkzaamheden niet volgt zoals zijn werkgever deze heeft voorgeschreven, maar hierbij zijn eigen werkwijzen en oplossingen kiest en uitvoert. Er is bij het negeren van protocollen en bevelen van autoriteiten sprake van een morele keuze, omdat dergelijke protocollen en werkwijzen van bovenaf gezien kunnen worden als een gids voor gedrag, en op deze manier dienen als moraal voor de betreffende personen. De protocollen en werkwijzen waarvan werknemers weten dat ze zich daaraan moeten houden, stellen namelijk welk gedrag goed is, en geaccepteerd. Door middel van deze gids van gedrag wordt hen aangereikt wat men wel en niet acht te doen, hoe men hoort en niet hoort te opereren in het werkveld. Zaken die men acht na te leven en die worden gesteld als goed gedrag kunnen immers worden gezien als moraal. Volgens Gert (2005) is een belangrijke eigenschap van moraal namelijk dat er sprake is van een leidraad van hoe men zich zou moeten gedragen. Moraal kan volgens hem namelijk voor een deel worden gezien als een door rationele personen voortgebrachte gids om het gedrag van anderen en eventueel zichzelf te leiden (zie paragraaf 2.3). Omdat er in de keuze van het ‘negeren van protocollen en bevelen van autoriteiten’ sprake is van een breuk met deze gids van morele regels, kan dit subthema gezien worden als een morele keuze. 

De morele keuze van het ‘negeren van protocollen en bevelen van autoriteiten’ werd eigenlijk praktisch alleen door Jack Bauer gemaakt. Jack Bauer vervulde in de serie de rol van held die telkens met eigen oplossingen kwam, waar de autoriteiten een missie al hadden opgegeven en wilden afblazen. Ook werkwijzen die van bovenaf worden opgedragen en uiteindelijk tot een niet goed resultaat leken te leiden, werden door Jack in veel gevallen anders uitgevoerd. Hierdoor werd dan uiteindelijk alsnog het doel behaald. Hierbij handelt Jack dus in veel gevallen buiten protocollen om en negeert hij bevelen van bovenaf. Hij gaat hierbij zogezegd ‘buiten het boekje’. Jack maakt deze morele keuzes, omdat hij sterk overtuigd is van een oplossing die de hogere autoriteiten niet toestaan en hij het niet eens is met de bevelen. Ook kan een aanwezige regelgeving zijn oplossingen vaak in de weg staan. De nationale veiligheid of het landsbelang wordt volgens hem zo veel mogelijk gediend wanneer hij zijn eigen methodes toepast. De morele keuze om zaken van bovenaf te negeren komt dus in dit geval tot stand door een bepaalde kennis en overtuiging dat deze kennis de juiste is. Jack accepteert in deze keuzes vaak het leed van enkelen om het leed van velen te voorkomen. Dit wordt door Jack verantwoord onder het mom van een groter belang, zoals de nationale veiligheid of de bescherming van de Amerikaanse overheid. De door Jack gehanteerde werkwijze hield in veel gevallen een onorthodoxe manier van handelen in die bijvoorbeeld bestond uit het bedreigen of mishandelen van een eigen collega of het op eigen initiatief, in het geheim martelen van een verdachte. Zo kiest hij in verschillende gevallen ervoor om een verdachte waar volgens CTU nog niet genoeg bewijzen tegen zijn, onder druk te zetten met middelen die CTU op dat moment niet kan toestaan. Ook besluit hij in verschillende gevallen collega’s te belemmeren in hun werk en hierbij zelfs aan te vallen, omdat hij denkt dat hun werkwijze niet juist is. Hij heeft dan een bepaalde visie en gelooft in deze visie, waarbij de collega’s niet willen volgen en Jack zich genoodzaakt voelt om hen te forceren. 


Een voorbeeld is het moment waarbij Jack er van overtuigd is dat er binnen een aantal minuten een aanslag gepleegd zal gaan worden. Jack wordt echter niet toegelaten tot de verdachte en vraagt een collega om hulp: 

	Jack: This is urgent. I need him to get me clearance so that I can interrogate the suspect in the train bombing. Driscoll won’t let me anywhere near him. I believe he’s got information about a secondary hit, a larger one. Supposed to take place this morning at eight O’clock. 

(Jack Bauer, afl. 1).


Vervolgens besluit hij een aantal bewakers uit te schakelen, de cel binnen te stormen en zijn eigen werkwijze los te laten op de verdachte. Zijn werkgever maant hem van buiten de cel dat hij moet ophouden en veel te ver gaat, maar dit negeert hij en vervolgt zijn handelingen. Hij bedreigt de verdachte met een pistool en vraagt hem wat er om acht uur staat te gebeuren. De verdachte reageert niet, waarna Jack een kogel afvuurt één van zijn knieschijven. Vervolgens houdt hij zijn pistool gericht op zijn andere knie, en vraagt hem wie het doelwit is van de volgende aanslag. De verdachte antwoordt vervolgens dat de minister van Defensie het doelwit is en dit blijkt daarna inderdaad het geval. Jack heeft in dit geval ervoor gekozen om een immorele handeling te verrichten op de verdachte, door hem ernstig lichamelijk pijn te doen, in het kader van de nationale veiligheid. Het hogere belang van de nationale veiligheid verantwoordt in deze situatie zijn immorele daad. Omdat er sprake is van een hoger doel dat de handeling rechtvaardigt valt dit subthema onder het overkoepelende thema ‘doel heiligt middelen’. 

Een ander voorbeeld waarin Jack tegen de protocollen en bevelen van CTU zijn eigen werkwijze hanteert, is het moment dat hij met een andere agent samen in het werkveld een opdracht moet vervullen. Wanneer Jack met agent Ronnie ter assistentie mee gaat om een belangrijke getuige van het station op te halen en in veiligheid te brengen, wordt afgesproken dat Ronnie de leiding heeft. Wanneer de twee op het station arriveren, blijkt de getuige al in verkeerde handen te zijn gevallen. Ronnie wil de ontvoerder van de getuige in hechtenis nemen, om hem te ondervragen, maar Jack gelooft hier niet in en stelt een betere handelswijze voor: 
	Ronnie: There he is. You get the gate, I’ll get the kid out of the car.

Jack: Wait!
Ronnie: Wait for what?
Jack: This isn’t the right play.
Ronnie: What are you talking about?
Jack: If we follow this guy, maybe he’ll lead us to Heller.
Ronnie: Or maybe he won’t, but you know he’ll kill the kid, Jack.
Jack: Right now this hostile’s our best chance to find Secretary Heller.
Ronnie: We’ll break him back at CTU.
Jack: You don’t know if we can break him in time.
Ronnie: This is not a Field Ops call, Jack. We need authorization.
Jack: I can’t take the chance with Driscoll resisting me.
Ronnie: I told you not to go against me, Jack.
Jack: Ronnie, please.
(Jack Bauer en Ronnie, afl. 2)


Vervolgens, wanneer Ronnie CTU wil bellen voor autorisatie, blokkeert Jack Ronnie door hem vast te houden. Jack is bang dat zijn werkgever hem na een telefoongesprek weer dwars zal liggen in zijn gewenste werkwijze. Er ontstaat een schermutseling, die Ronnie wint. Ronnie houdt Jack onder schot en ketent hem met handboeien vast. Uiteindelijk bereikt Jack op deze manier niet zijn gewenste resultaat, en kan de dader met de jongen ontvluchten. Hij blijkt in dit geval achteraf echter wel gelijk te hebben gehad, wanneer hij het spoor van de dader met de jongen alsnog kan traceren en op deze manier bij de ontvoerde Heller kan komen. 


De verschillende keuzes van Jack om protocollen en bevelen van bovenaf te negeren, worden voornamelijk in het begin van het seizoen niet gewaardeerd door de hogere autoriteiten. Jack wordt op een bepaald moment zelfs geboycot door zijn werkgever en vervolgt vanaf dit moment op eigen initiatief zijn werkzaamheden. Hij wordt hierbij niet meer gesteund door CTU en de autoriteiten. Ze brengen zelfs het bevel uit om hem te laten arresteren. Bepaalde loyale collega’s willen hem echter nog wel helpen in zijn werkzaamheden. Dit moet op een geheime manier plaatsvinden, omdat collega’s door hem te helpen tevens hun eigen belangen op het spel zetten. Eén van deze collega’s wordt op een gegeven moment zelfs ontslagen, wanneer haar werkgever erachter is gekomen dat ze met Jack samenwerkt. 


In een later stadium binnen de verhaallijnen van het seizoen, zien de autoriteiten de waarde van de eigenzinnige acties van Jack ten slotte in en wordt hij weer geaccepteerd en ondersteund door CTU. Het negeren van protocollen en het op eigen initiatief opstellen van allerlei handelswijzen wordt vanaf dit moment door de meeste autoriteiten zelfs gesteund en gewaardeerd. Door het steunen van deze acties ontstaat op bepaalde momenten echter nog wel een onenigheid tussen bepaalde autoriteiten. De waarnemend president keurt in bepaalde gevallen namelijk dergelijke handelingen buiten het protocol af, waar deze eerder waren goedgekeurd door andere autoriteiten. Op een bepaald moment wil hij Jack Bauer zelfs laten arresteren en hiermee een belangrijke missie tegen de terroristen in gevaar brengen. Uiteindelijk trekt de president dit bevel wel weer terug, onder druk van adviseurs. 


De vraag is nu in hoeverre Jack in zijn morele keuzes van het negeren van protocollen en bevelen van bovenaf, gestuurd en beïnvloed wordt door emoties, door Frijda (1988) gedefinieerd als subjectieve gevoelens of de ervaring van een aparte vorm van bewustzijn. Keuzes worden volgens Frijda  et al. (2000) immers in alle gevallen voor een deel gestuurd door emoties. Emoties zijn volgens de auteurs namelijk de gevoelens die eerdere ervaringen opslaan en bewaken en op deze manier personen beinvloeden in vervolgkeuzes die zij moeten maken (zie paragraaf 2.4). 


Van de zeven door Ekman (2008) onderscheiden emoties, lijkt Jack in zijn morele keuze tot het negeren van protocollen en bevelen van bovenaf, voornamelijk de emotie woede te vertonen. Jack’s keuzes voor een eigen weg gebeuren in de meeste gevallen namelijk in situaties van paniek en haast. Dit komt door het feit dat er vaak weinig tijd of ruimte is, omdat Jack door verschillende autoriteiten wordt tegengewerkt. De paniek en stress waarmee deze keuzes dus vaak gepaard gaan, heeft er waarschijnlijk voor gezorgd dat Jack op deze momenten voornamelijk de emotie woede weet te vertonen. Deze emotie leidt in de verschillende gevallen voor hem waarschijnlijk tot een sneller resultaat in het intimideren van anderen en is nodig om de situatie de baas te kunnen zijn. Hier is dus sprake van het tonen van emoties voor het bereiken van een bepaald resultaat. 


Een andere emotie die bij Jack in bepaalde gevallen te constateren viel, was vrees. Deze emotie kwam in de gevallen voor waarbij Jack keuzes maakte die verband hielden met het redden van minister Heller en zijn vriendin Audrey. Waarschijnlijk bestond er bij Jack de vrees dat hij zijn vriendin niet meer levend zou kunnen redden. Om deze reden was er dan vrees op zijn gezicht af te lezen. 


In Jack’s morele keuzes om bevelen en protocollen van bovenaf te negeren lijken emoties al met al een zekere rol van betekenis te spelen. Zoals Frijda et al. (2000) al hadden geconstateerd dat een morele keuze een bepaalde emotionele lading bevat (zie paragraaf 2.4), lijkt er bij deze morele keuze inderdaad sprake van een vervlechting van moraal en emotie. Jack vertoont in zijn morele keuzes verschillende emoties. In zijn keuzes wat goed en wat slecht is, wordt hij dus wel degelijk gestuurd door bepaalde subjectieve gevoelens. Zoals Nussbaum (1998) al heeft verondersteld dat emotie een aanstuurder is binnen moreel handelen, is dat bij deze morele keuze, gemaakt, door een ‘goed’ personage inderdaad het geval. Bovendien is de door Frijda et al. (2000) gestelde vervlechting van emotie en moraal binnen het maken van morele keuzes in dit geval van toepassing (zie paragraaf 2.4). 
4.1.5. het uitschakelen van (gevaarlijke) individuen

De laatste vorm van morele keuzes die binnen het thema ‘doel heiligt middelen’ was waar te nemen, is ‘het uitschakelen van gevaarlijke individuen’. Men koos er hier voor om een andere persoon bewusteloos te maken of van het leven te beroven om op deze manier een bepaald doel of subdoel te bewerkstelligen. Omdat er sprake is van gedrag dat op deze manier op anderen betrekking heeft, kan het uitschakelen van individuen beschouwd worden als een morele keuze (Gert, 2005) (zie paragraaf 2.3). Tevens kan er gesteld worden dat er bij het uitschakelen van een individu sprake is van een algemeen geldende regel die van toepassing is, namelijk het geen pijn doen van anderen (Rachels, 1993). Binnen de keuze om een ander uit te schakelen wordt gebroken met deze morele regel. Bovendien wordt er door de betreffende personages een keuze gemaakt over of bepaalde individuen dienen te leven of te sterven. Er wordt hierbij overwogen of het doel de middelen van het doden van een ander rechtvaardigt. Het nemen van besluiten over leven en dood handelt over een moreel vraagstuk (Gert, 2005). Ten slotte is er bij het uitschakelen van een ander individu sprake van een afweging van belangen, hetgeen volgens Rachels (1993) ook een belangrijk element vormt van moraal. Moraal biedt volgens deze auteur namelijk richtlijnen om te kiezen uit conflicterende belangen (zie paragraaf 2.3). Binnen de morele keuze om een ander uit te schakelen is tevens sprake van deze conflicterende belangen. Belangen van een bepaald doel dat is gesteld worden in dit geval namelijk verkozen boven de individuele belangen van het uit te schakelen individu. Om deze reden kan dus tevens gesteld worden dat er binnen de keuze van het ‘uitschakelen van (gevaarlijke) individuen’ sprake is van een morele keuze. 


De morele keuze om een individu uit te schakelen ging in de meeste gevallen gepaard met vuurgeweld. In één van de gevallen werd iemand door middel van een vergiftiging om het leven gebracht. In de meeste gevallen is er bij het uitschakelen van individuen echter sprake van het gebruik van een vuurwapen. In verschillende gevallen was het van belang dat een individu levend in hechtenis werd genomen. In deze gevallen werd daarom geen dodelijk geweld gebruikt, maar werden verdovingsschoten of gerichte schoten toegepast. 


De morele keuze van het ‘uitschakelen van (gevaarlijke) individuen’ is een keuze die zowel door ‘goede’ als door ‘slechte’ personages binnen 24 werd gemaakt. Het doel van de verschillende uitschakelingen was vaak een subdoel dat bijdroeg aan het uiteindelijke grotere doel. Bij de ‘slechte’ personages, in dit geval altijd de terroristen, was dit grotere doel, zoals al eerder benoemd, het slagen van een terroristische aanslag. De ‘goede’ personages bestonden hierbij altijd uit de agenten van CTU. Voor hen hield het grotere doel het voorkomen van aanslagen in. Zij maakten de keuze om verschillende terroristische individuen uit te schakelen, die zij tegenkwamen in een missie om bijvoorbeeld een terroristische leider of verdachte op te pakken. Tijdens het arriveren op een locatie werden zij dan beschoten of aangevallen door verschillende terroristen. In deze gevallen moesten zij uit zelfverdediging terugschieten. In sommige gevallen was dit echter niet het geval en had een aanvallende strategie puur het doel om zo snel mogelijk bij de leider te komen. De agenten begonnen in deze gevallen zelf als eerste met schieten. Ook kon besloten worden individuen uit te schakelen met het doel dat de uitgeschakelde individuen geen andere terroristen konden waarschuwen. Hierdoor konden de agenten dan ongemerkt ergens naar binnen dringen. De verschillende uitschakelingen hadden in veel gevallen de dood van de uitgeschakelde individuen tot het gevolg. In bepaalde gevallen werd er echter voor gekozen, zoals al eerder beschreven, geen dodelijk geweld te gebruiken. Dit was dan vaak het geval wanneer een levende verdachte nog tactische of strategische waarde zou hebben. Zo stelt Jack Bauer, vlak voordat CTU de terroristische leider Marwan wil gaan oppakken:
	Jack: Capturing Marwan alive is our only chance of stopping this warhead from hitting its target. We are not to use lethal force, even in self defense, am I clear? 
(Jack Bauer, afl. 24).


Ook was men in bepaalde gevallen bang dat het doden van individuen te veel publiciteit zou krijgen en dat bepaalde autoriteiten als gevolg wraak zouden nemen op de Verenigde Staten. Op deze manier kon de nationale veiligheid in gevaar worden gebracht. In deze gevallen werden dan bijvoorbeeld verdovingsschoten toegepast. Er werd in geen geval een keuze gemaakt niet te doden uit morele overwegingen. 

Net als bij de ‘goede’ personages bestonden uitschakelingen van de ‘slechte’ personages allereerst vaak uit vuurgevechten met vijandelijke individuen. Deze uitschakelingen vonden op een vergelijkbare manier plaats als bij de ‘goede personages’. Motieven voor deze uitschakelingen waren voornamelijk het levend uit handen blijven van de agenten of het redden van hun leider. Ook kon het gaan om de bescherming van essentiële informatie omtrent terroristische activiteiten. Deze activiteiten konden dan, indien de informatie in handen kwam van CTU,  in gevaar worden gebracht. 


De ‘slechte’ personages, ofwel de terroristen, schakelden daarbij echter ook vaak individuen uit om meer uitgebreide en uiteenlopende redenen. Deze redenen dienden net als bij de eerder genoemde vuurgevechten het grotere doel dat zij voor ogen hadden (het beschermen en volbrengen van terroristische aanslagen), maar waren vaak ingewikkelder van aard. Waar bij de vuurgevechten namelijk slechts vijandige individuen werden uitgeschakeld, schakelden terroristen tevens geregeld individuen uit die in eerste instantie bij hen hoorden. De reden hiervoor was dat deze individuen te veel wisten en men bang was dat zij opgepakt zouden worden. Op deze manier zouden ze onder druk van verhoren namelijk kunnen bezwijken en daarmee belangrijke informatie kunnen prijsgeven. In sommige van deze gevallen had een individu zelf van tevoren door dat hij vermoord dreigde te worden en besloot hij zichzelf te redden door degene die hem wilde vermoorden voor te zijn. Dit ging in deze gevallen dan gepaard met het loslaten van de terroristische idealen. Men verloor op deze momenten de toewijding aan het terroristische doel en nam zijn toevlucht. Naast het vermoorden van eigen mensen, werden in verschillende gevallen ook andere individuen die te veel wisten, vermoord of werd opdracht gegeven hen te vermoorden. In deze gevallen ging het dan om personen die buiten de terroristische cellen vielen, maar die bijvoorbeeld bepaalde informatie hadden opgevangen en achterdochtig waren geworden. Vaak ging het hierbij om familieleden en partners van personen die betrokken waren bij de terroristische activiteiten. 


De terroristen leken in hun uitschakelingen van individuen eenvoudiger om te springen met de levens van individuen. Waar de agenten van CTU in de meeste gevallen puur uit noodzaak leken te doden, gebruikten de terroristen het doden van anderen in een bepaalde willekeur. Het maakte hen in de meeste gevallen niet uit of er een leven werd opgeofferd. Wanneer bijvoorbeeld het doden van anderen de agenten van CTU zou kunnen intimideren en daarmee misschien iets te behalen viel, werd dit middel eenvoudigweg toegepast. De terroristen leken verschillende malen zonder enige morele grenzen te opereren. In veel gevallen was dan ook het doel van dit willekeurig doden niet precies duidelijk. In deze gevallen leken zij puur te willen laten zien tot het creëren van welke misère zij in staat waren. 


In het uitschakelen van individuen werd bij zowel de ‘goede’ als de ‘slechte’ personages de morele keuze nooit echt toegelicht. Wel waren achterliggende redenen voor keuzes vaak te herleiden naar aanleiding van de verhaallijnen. Om deze reden zijn in dit subthema dan ook verder geen delen van transcripten opgenomen. 


De morele keuze van ‘uitschakelen van (gevaarlijke) individuen’ vond in de meeste gevallen bovendien plaats zonder de vertoning van bepaalde emoties. Subjectieve gevoelens, zoals Frijda (1988) emoties eerder heeft omschreven (zie paragraaf 2.4), waren op geen moment van de gezichten van de betreffende personages af te lezen. Geen van de zeven door Ekman (2008) onderscheiden emoties, was daarom tijdens de betreffende morele keuze waar te nemen. De verschillende personages die ervoor kozen om een ander uit te schakelen, leken te operereren op basis van slechts rationele factoren. Waar Nussbaum (1998) en Frijda (1988) hebben vastgesteld dat emotie een belangrijke aanstuurder is binnen (moreel) gedrag (zie paragraaf 2.4), leek dit bij zowel de ‘goede’ als de ‘slechte’ personages, wanneer zij een ander uitschakelen, geen rol te spelen. Het lijkt erop dat de verschillende individuen puur op basis van verstand en ratio hun keuze om bijvoorbeeld een ander neer te schieten, verantwoordden. De ‘goede’ personages werden echter over het algemeen wel degelijk op een gevoelige, menselijke manier neergezet, door middel van het tonen van verschillende verhaallijnen uit het privé-leven en bijbehorende gevoelens en gedachten. Binnen het uitschakelen van individuen waren bij hen daarentegen echter dus geen emoties waar te nemen. 

De ‘slechte’ personages vertoonden in hun gedrag in praktisch geen enkel geval enige emotionele trekken. In één bepaalde uitzondering wanneer een bepaalde terrorist erachter komt dat hij zelf het slachtoffer zal worden van moord, valt de emotie vrees waar te nemen. Het draait hier echter om een individu dat zich later tegen de terroristen keert en tevens op andere gebieden verschillende emoties vertoont. Dit laaste is het geval vanwege de bij uitzondering verbeelde achtergrondsituatie die in dit geval door de serie van een ‘slecht’ personage is geschetst. Opvallend was dat personages die minder toegewijd waren aan de terroristische idealen, emoties vertoonden. In deze gevallen ging het dan om iemand die door anderen werd geforceerd mee te werken aan terroristische doelen of een Amerikaanse staatsburger die later was bekeerd tot de terroristen. De niet-Amerikaanse, Arabisch uiitziende terroristen die alles over hadden voor hun doel, vertoonden geen emoties en kwamen koelbloedig over in hun immorele keuzes. Zij waren minder gevoelig en menselijk neergezet. 
4.2. Individueel versus groter belang

Het tweede hoofdthema van morele keuzes gemaakt in seizoen vier van 24 is ‘individueel versus groter belang’. De keuzes binnen dit thema betreffen de afwegingen van personages tussen hun eigen belang of het belang van een ander individu, en een groter belang, zoals het landsbelang. Er wordt bij de verschillende betreffende keuzes tussen deze twee belangen gekozen. In bepaalde gevallen kiezen de personages voor het landsbelang in plaats van het eigenbelang, of kiezen ze voor de belangen van een ander individu boven het belang van de nationale veiligheid. Een ander voorbeeld is wanneer er gekozen wordt voor een doelstelling boven de belangen van een bepaald individu. Het afwegen van verschillende belangen maakt dat er bij de morele keuze ‘individueel versus groter belang’ sprake is van een morele keuze. Moraal gaat volgens Rachels (1993) immers over dit afwegen van belangen. Deze belangen kunnen bijvoorbeeld zijn de individuele belangen tegenover politieke belangen. Daarbij is binnen de afweging van belangen sprake van een keuze die betrekking heeft op anderen. Wanneer bijvoorbeeld het individuele belang boven het landsbelang wordt verkozen heeft deze keuze gevolgen voor andere individuen die afhankelijk zijn van bijvoorbeeld de nationale veiligheid. Deze keuze zou dus betrekking hebben op anderen, volgens Gert (2005) een belangrijke voorwaarde voor een morele keuze (zie paragraaf 2.3). Bovendien draait het in de keuze tussen verschillende belangen om het naleven wat men goed acht; het draait om een keuze waarin wordt beslist wat een juiste handelswijze is binnen verschillende dilemma’s. Een keuze waarin nagestreefd wordt wat goed is, kan gezien worden als een morele keuze (Smith & Haakonssen, 2002) (zie paragraaf 2.3). 


De keuze van het individuele belang versus het grotere belang viel zowel waar te nemen bij de ‘goede’ personages als de ‘slechte’. Voor de ‘goede’ personages betekende het grotere belang veelal het belang van de nationale veiligheid, of het landsbelang. Opvallend is dat door de ‘goede’ personages praktisch altijd het grotere belang werd gekozen boven het individuele belang. Dit gold niet alleen voor de eigenbelangen die secundair werden gesteld aan het grotere belang, maar ook voor de individuele belangen van anderen. Zo besloot Jack Bauer dat het redden van het leven van een verdachte prioriteit had boven het redden van het leven van de ex-man van zijn vriendin die in levensgevaar op de intensive care lag, als gevolg van het redden van het leven van Bauer. Hij eiste dat de verdachte, die over essentiële informatie omtrent de terroristische activiteiten beschikte, als eerst werd geholpen. Als gevolg van deze keuze overleed de andere man, de man die zijn leven had gered. Een ander voorbeeld, waarbij de individuele belangen van anderen moesten wijken voor het landsbelang, was waar te nemen binnen het verdrukken van persoonlijk leed voor het landsbelang. Meerdere personen bij CTU werden gemaand hun individuele leed opzij te zetten en hun werkzaamheden bij CTU voor het landsbelang te vervolgen. Zo moest een analist van CTU, Edgar, van Driscoll zijn gevoelens opzij zetten, omdat zijn werkzaamheden hard nodig waren: 
	Driscoll: Where are the latest timing estimates on the remaining nuclear plants?
Edgar: Right here.
Driscoll: These are from 40 minutes ago. They update every 15 minutes.
Edgar: I’m sorry, Ms. Driscoll. I’ve been a little upset about my mother.
Driscoll: You’re gonna have to put your emotions on hold a little longer, Edgar. We’re in the middle of a crisis.

(Edgar Stiles en Erin Driscoll, afl. 10)



Tevens was meerdere malen te zien dat mensen werkzaam voor CTU zelf hun leed opzij besloten te zetten om hun werkzaamheden te vervolgen. Zij vonden het landsbelang in deze gevallen dermate belangrijk, dat ze hun persoonlijk leed wilden wegstoppen om het land te dienen. Zo discussieert Erin Driscoll, leidinggevende bij CTU (met verdriet in haar gezicht), met minister Heller, nadat ze haar dochter heeft verloren: 
	Heller: Erin, you do not need to be here.
Driscoll: Where should I be, sir? We’re still in crisis mode. Habib Marwan is still out there and we have no idea how many other cells he might be trying to activate.
Heller: For God’s sakes, Erin.
Driscoll: Our systems are in a transition state that require my constant attention. I’m not in denial about my daughter’s death, nor am I in shock. I can perform my duties until you find a suitable replacement for me.

(James Heller en Erin Driscoll, afl. 12)



Het landsbelang dat vaak wordt gekozen boven individuele belangen komt bovendien terug in de keuze die vaak wordt gemaakt om één of enkele levens op te offeren voor het landsbelang en het trachten te redden van veel meer levens. Zo besluit de president de levens van minister Heller en zijn dochter te willen opofferen om te voorkomen dat Amerika publiekelijk op internet wordt vernederd door middel van een berechting van hun (door de terroristen) gesuggeerde misdaden. De president is gewillig om twee levens op te geven om deze vernedering te voorkomen. Een ander voorbeeld waarin individuele belangen ondergeschikt worden gesteld aan het landsbelang is de keuze tussen het vinden van een verdachte en het levend terugvinden van een agent. Een leidinggevende boven CTU stelt namelijk op een bepaald moment dat de prioriteit ligt bij het vinden van een belangrijke verdachte, boven het levend terugkrijgen van agent Bauer. Hij vindt het leven van agent Bauer in dit geval ondergeschikt aan het vinden van de verdachte. Dit laatste zou namelijk van waarde kunnen zijn voor de nationale veiligheid en het landsbelang. Een ander voorbeeld is de moeder van Edgar die verstrikt zit in een gebied waar zij onder druk van een kernramp geëvacueerd dient te worden. Deze evacuatie zal echter moeilijk gaan, omdat zij slecht ter been is. Hij vraagt hulp aan iemand van het ministerie van Defensie om haar te redden, maar dit verzoek wordt afgewezen:
	Edgar: Ms. Raines? Did you talk to them?
Audrey: Yes. Edgar, I’m sorry. They can’t get your mother.
Edgar: Why not? They’re five miles off the highway. It wouldn’t take that much time.
Audrey: They know where she is.
Edgar: Then what’s the problem?
Audrey: Thousands of people are stuck in the interstate traffic and it’s taking the combined efforts of the police and the National Guard to get them moving.
Edgar: So who cares about one old woman?
Audrey: They’ve gotta throw their resources into saving the maximum number of lives.
(Edgar Stiles en Audrey Heller, afl. 9)


Een ander voorbeeld waarin een individueel belang opzij wordt gezet voor het landsbelang is wanneer leidinggevende Driscoll inziet dat Jack goed werk levert en zo bijdraagt aan het landsbelang. Zij ziet dat het boycotten van hem alleen maar nadelig is voor het landsbelang en besluit haar ego opzij te zetten door hem weer te op te nemen in het team van CTU. Zij kon in eerste instantie niet accepteren dat hij op verschillende momenten zijn eigen werkwijze koos en bevelen en protocollen die zij hem opdroeg in de wind sloeg. Om deze reden had ze hem uit het team verbannen. Hier komt ze dus later weer op terug. 

Te zien is dus dat de verschillende ‘goede’ personages de morele keuze voor het landsbelang boven het individuele belang maken om uiteindelijk de nationale veiligheid te waarborgen. Op deze manier wordt dus het leed en schade binnen de samenleving getracht te voorkomen. Een morele keuze heeft volgens Gert (2005) precies dat doel. De door hem gestelde defnitie van moraal luidde immers: “een informeel publiek systeem, geldend voor alle rationele personen (…) en als doel heeft het verminderen van kwaad en toegebrachte schade aan personen” (Gert, 2005: 13) (zie paragraaf 2.3). Het feit dat de motivatie van de keuze van het landsbelang boven het individuele belang, bestaat uit het bestrijden van terrorisme (kwaad) voor bescherming van de nationale veiligheid (voorkomen van toegebrachte schade aan personen), bevestigt nogmaals de morele kern van deze keuze.

Op slechts bepaalde momenten werd in 24 echter ook gekozen voor het individuele belang boven het grotere belang. Dit was dan niet het geval binnen CTU, maar vaak in de hogere politiek. De waarnemend president was bijvoorbeeld (zoals eerder al behandeld) op een bepaald moment gepikeerd over een bepaalde beslissing die achter zijn rug was genomen (maar uiteindelijk wel de juiste bleek te zijn) en wilde daarom zijn stem laten gelden door betreffende personen op hun plek te wijzen. Zo liet hij uit woede arrestaties verrichten en probeerde hij anderen duidelijk te laten zien dat hij de beslissende macht had. Uiteindelijk draait hij de arrestaties nog wel terug, maar is inmiddels wel door zijn toedoen een belangrijke missie om terroristisch leider Marwan te pakken, mislukt. 

De keuze tussen individueel belang en een groter belang is een keuze die bij ‘slechte’ personages aanzienlijk minder voorkwam dan bij de ‘goede’ personages. Wat opviel is dat binnen deze keuze, in tegenstelling tot de keuze van de ‘goede’ personages, men hier ongeveer net zo vaak koos voor het individuele belang boven het grotere belang als andersom. Bij de ‘goede’ personages was de keuze voor het grotere belang juist veel groter vertegenwoordigd. De keuze van zelfopoffering, waarbij duidelijk altijd gekozen wordt voor het grotere belang is hier echter overigens nog niet in opgenomen en zal als subthema in de hierna te volgen subparagraaf worden behandeld. Het grotere belang binnen de keuze boven het individuele belang, bestond voor de ‘slechte’ personages in alle gevallen uit het terroristische doel, het slagen van de aanslagen. Men koos er in deze gevallen bijvoorbeeld voor om niet eerlijk te zijn tegen zijn privé-partner, om het terroristische doel te beschermen. Het terroristische doel werd in dit geval dus verkozen boven de relatie. Dit uitte zich in bedrog tegenover de partner, voor het belang van de te plegen aanslagen. Wanneer in een bepaald geval de partner echter wantrouwig werd, koos zij zelf ook voor het grotere belang boven haar relatie (in dit geval het landsbelang). Te zien was dat zij haar partner dan aangaf bij CTU. 

Opvallend is dat op de momenten dat men daarentegen kiest voor het individuele belang boven het grotere belang, dit slechts doet op de momenten dat er persoonlijk gevaar dreigt voor het betreffende personage. Slechts op momenten dat eigen belangen of het eigen leven in gevaar zijn, besluiten personages voor zichzelf te kiezen. Zo is het meerdere keren voorgekomen dat wanneer een terroristische eenheid werd opgepakt, hij of zij in ruil voor bescherming en vrijstelling van aanklachten, bepalende informatie wilde vrijgeven die CTU zou helpen terroristische aanslagen te voorkomen. Het redden van de eigen belangen was nu ineens belangrijker dan het grotere belang, het laten slagen van de terroristische aanslagen. Een ander voorbeeld is wanneer een terrorist merkt dat hij zijn leven niet meer veilig is, omdat een andere terrorist de opdracht heeft gekregen hem uit de weg te ruimen. In deze gevallen dreigt de betreffende terrorist te worden opgepakt en wil zijn leider dit voorkomen door hem voor de arrestatie al van het leven te beroven. Een arrestatie zou namelijk kunnen leiden tot het vrijgeven van essentiele informatie. In verschillende gevallen kiest de met het leven bedreigde terrorist er dan voor om zichzelf te beschermen en degene die hem wil vermoorden voor te zijn en uit te schakelen. Ook hier is sprake van een plotselinge verandering van prioriteit van belangen. 


Opvallend is vervolgens dat wanneer laatstgenoemde keuze van individueel belang boven groter belang door ‘slechte’ personages wordt gemaakt, verschillende emoties, ofwel subjectieve gevoelens (Frijda, 1988) worden vertoond. Plotseling, wanneer terroristen niet meer zo zeker en toegewijd zijn aan hun terroristische activiteiten, komen zij ineens menselijker over door het vertonen van drie van de zeven door Ekman (2008) onderscheiden emoties (zie paragraaf 2.4): vrees, woede en verdriet. Bij de overige keuzes waren nauwelijks emoties waar te nemen. Het lijkt erop dat wanneer de terroristen zijn overgestapt naar de ‘goede’ kant, zij ineens wel menselijk zijn neergezet in de serie door de vertoning van verschillende emoties. Plotseling lijkt emotie ineens een rol te spelen in hun morele handelingen. Zoals Frijda et al. (2000) al hadden uiteengezet hoe emotie de relevantie van gebeurtenissen bewaakt en zo vervolgens helpt moreel gedrag aan te sturen, lijkt dit bij de terroristen die zijn overgestapt tevens het geval. Emotie en moraal lijkt op deze momenten bij hen plots te zijn vervlochten met elkaar. De personages lijken hun puur rationele aard te zijn verloren. Ze kunnen hun aanwezige emoties niet langer onderdrukken en de metafoor van meester en slaaf voor hun verstand en emotie, zoals deze is omschreven door (Philippot en Feldman, 2004), lijkt voor hen in deze gevallen niet meer op te gaan. Emotie blijkt bij hen op deze momenten ineens een aanstuurder van gedrag te zijn, zoals Nussbuam (1998) en Frijda (1988) het concept al hadden omschreven (zie paragraaf 2.4). De rol die emotie in hun moreel handelen inneemt, is dus alleen van toepassing op de ‘slechte’ personages die hun toewijding aan het terroristische doel zijn verloren. De serie lijkt dus alleen menselijke eigenschappen toe te kennen aan personages aan de ‘goede’ kant. Toch dient hierbij vermeld te worden dat de emotie woede ook al in bepaalde gevallen viel waar te nemen wanneer door de terroristen het grotere belang werd verkozen boven het individuele belang. De emotie was alleen minder sterk waar te nemen dan de emoties bij de keuzes van het individuele belang boven het grotere belang. 


Bij de keuzes van het grotere belang boven het individuele belang, gemaakt door de ‘goede’ personages, is woede een emotie die expliciet frequent voorkwam. Het viel op dat men vaak boos leek wanneer er gekozen werd voor het grotere belang. Een andere door Ekman (2008) onderscheiden emotie die verschillende malen viel waar te nemen, was verdriet. Kennelijk bracht de keuze om een individueel belang opzij te zetten voor het landsbelang een bepaalde persoonlijke weerstand met zich mee bij de betreffende personages. Waar emoties volgens Philippot en Feldman (2004) in de moderne filosofische kijk op het concept, vaak worden onderdrukt (zie paragraaf 2.4), leek dit de ‘goede’ personages op deze momenten niet te lukken. Ditzelfde gold overigens ook voor de keuzes voor individuele belangen, gezien het feit hier in de verschillende gevallen ook woede waar te nemen viel. Emotie leek bij de ‘goede’ personages een aanwezige rol te spelen binnen hun moreel handelen. Deze bevinding is in lijn met de theorie van Frijda (1988), waarin wordt gesteld dat emotie door middel van het bewaken van de relevantie van gebeurtenissen morele keuzes aanstuurt. Zoals ook Nussbaum (1998) heeft gesteld dat emotie een aanstuurder is van gedrag en dus moreel handelen, lijkt dit bij de ‘goede’ personages tevens het geval te zijn. Een morele keuze is in dit kader dus afhankelijk van aan de ene kant morele waarden en aan de andere kant aanwezige emoties. 
4.2.1. Zelfopoffering

Een te onderscheiden vorm binnen de keuze van het grotere belang boven het eigen individuele belang, is zelfopoffering. In deze keuze gaat om het opgeven van eigen belangen om het grotere belang te dienen. Dit kan zowel door het opofferen van het eigen leven als dat van de reputatie of bepaalde individuele wensen of verlangens. Het grotere belang kan wederom weer bestaan uit het landsbelang of de nationale veiligheid. Ook is het mogelijk dat dit belang bestaat uit een bepaalde doelstelling die men voor ogen heeft, zoals de terroristen het slagen van hun aanslagen als doel voor ogen hebben. Er is hierbij sprake van een morele keuze, omdat men kiest voor het goede boven het eigenbelang. Men probeert na te streven wat goed is; er is sprake van een bepaalde aanpassing van gedrag om het ‘goede’ te volgen. De betreffende individuen zien hun grotere doel namelijk als het ‘goede’. Het nastreven van het ‘goede’ kan vervolgens gezien worden als een kenmerk van moraal (Smith & Haakonssen, 2002) (zie paragraaf 2.3). Bovendien is er in de keuze tot zelfopoffering sprake van een afweging van belangen. Eigenbelangen worden immers opgegeven voor een groter belang. Volgens Rachels (1993) vormt het afwegen van belangen een belangrijk onderdeel van moraal (zie paragraaf 2.3). Om deze reden valt de keuze tot zelfopoffering dus tevens te beschouwen als een morele keuze. Ten slotte valt te stellen dat de keuze tot zelfopoffering in de meeste gevallen betrekking heeft op anderen. Wanneer eigenbelangen worden opgegeven voor een groter belang, betekent dit dat andere individuen met deze keuze gemoeid zijn. Iemand die zichzelf opoffert, doet dit altijd voor anderen. Andere individuen gebruiken deze keuze in hun voordeel of profiteren van deze keuze. Volgens Gert (2005) is de eigenschap dat een keuze betrekking heeft op anderen, noodzakelijk om tot een morele keuze te behoren (zie paragraaf 2.3). Aan deze voorwaarde wordt binnen de keuze tot zelfopoffering dus voldaan. 

De keuze van zelfopoffering was zowel waar te nemen bij de ‘goede’ personages als de ‘slechte’. Voor de ‘goede’ personages betekende zelfopoffering in bepaalde gevallen het redden van het leven van een ander door bijvoorbeeld zelf een kogel op te vangen. In dit geval werd er dan gekozen voor het belang van iemand anders boven de belangen van zichzelf. Ook in andere soorten gevallen werd er voor dit belang gekozen, bijvoorbeeld wanneer er medelijden bestond met het leed van iemand anders die daardoor met zijn werk in de problemen kwam. Een collega deed dan net of zij verantwoordelijk was voor de mindere werkzaamheden, om zo de ander problemen te besparen. Hier werden dus zelfbelangen opzij gezet uit medelijden met een ander individu. Het afwegen van belangen dat volgens Rachels (1993) een belangrijk onderdeel vormt van moraal (zie paragraaf 2.3), is in deze keuzes dus duidelijk terug te zien. 


Ook uit liefde voor een ander wordt op verschillende momenten de keuze van zelfopoffering gemaakt. Wanneer bijvoorbeeld een meisje ziet hoe haar geliefde wordt mishandeld, offert zij zichzelf op om de marteling te stoppen. Te zien valt dus dat in deze verschillende keuzes van zelfopoffering voor een persoon, de keuzes betrekking hebben op anderen. De verschillende personen maken namelijk een keuze ten gunste van een andere persoon. Zoals al eerder gesteld, heeft Gert (2005) het element dat een keuze betrekking heeft op een ander, omschreven als noodzakelijke voorwaarde voor moraal (zie paragraaf 2.3). 


Bovendien offerden ‘goede’ personages zich verschillende malen op, omwille van de nationale veiligheid. Wanneer zij bijvoorbeeld waren gevangen genomen door de terroristen en werden gemarteld om informatie los te laten, lieten zij deze martelingen liever vervolgen dan dat zij belangrijke informatie zouden lekken. Niet elk individu offerde zichzelf in deze situatie overigens op. In bepaalde gevallen ‘braken’ personages en konden zij niet langer zwijgen. 


De ‘slechte’ personages offerden hun leven in verschillende gevallen ook op voor hun grotere belang, het slagen van de terroristische aanslagen. Wanneer voor hen duidelijk was dat zij gearresteerd en ondervraagd zouden worden, kozen zij er verschillende malen voor om een einde te maken aan hun leven om zo geen gevaar te vormen voor de terroristische operatie. Een gevangenneming zou er namelijk toe kunnen leiden dat zij onder druk essentiële informatie zouden kunnen blootgeven. Dan wilden zij liever sterven voor hun doel. Wederom is in de vorm van zelfopoffering voor een groter belang het afwegen van belangen waar te nemen, door Rachels (1993) omschreven als kenmerkende eigenschap van moraal (zie paragraaf 2.3). De terroristen en ‘goede’ personages die zichzelf opofferen voor het grotere belang, zetten namelijk hun eigen belangen hiervoor opzij, ten gunste van dit grotere belang. 

Zelfopoffering ging eigenlijk slechts gepaard met bepaalde emoties wanneer deze keuze door een ‘goed’ personage werd gemaakt. De vertoonde subjectieve gevoelens, zoals Frijda (1988) het concept heeft omschreven (zie paragraaf 2.4), waren verdriet en vrees. Wanneer ‘slechte’ personages zichzelf opofferden waren er nauwelijks emoties waar te nemen. Wederom is hier te constateren dat binnen een ingrijpende keuze als zelfopoffering, alleen de ‘goede’ personages op een menselijke manier zijn neergezet. Zelfs wanneer het eigen leven wordt opgeofferd, vertonen de terroristen geen menselijke zwakheden, zoals vrees of verdriet. 


Waar bij de ‘goede’ personages sprake is van een vervlechting van moraal en emotie, lijkt emotie bij de ‘slechte’ personages geen rol te spelen in hun moreel handelen. De ‘goede’ personages komen hierdoor menselijk over, waar de ‘slechte’ personages kil en onmenselijk over komen. Terwijl Frijda et al. (2000) hebben omschreven dat elke morele keuze wordt gevormd door zowel morele waarden als meespelende emoties, lijken de ‘slechte’ personages op dit terrein af te wijken van de natuurlijke vorm van gedrag. Emotie lijkt bij hen geen aanstuurder te zijn van gedrag, iets dat normaal gesproken bij mensen volgens Nussbaum (1998) wel het geval is. Toch zou het ook het geval kunnen zijn dat de ‘slechte’ personages in hun moreel handelen de aanwezige emoties verdrukken. Dit is volgens Philippot en Feldman (2004) immers een eigenschap van de moderne filosofische kijk op emotie. Binnen deze visie heeft verstand de overhand en wordt emotie veilig onderdrukt (zie paragraaf 2.4). Dit punt valt wat betreft de ‘slechte’ personages echter moeilijk te onderzoeken, gezien het feit dat in de fictieve serie 24 sprake is van acteurs die hun handelingen en emotionele gemoedstoestand geacteerd opvoeren.

Zelfopoffering als subthema van het thema ‘individueel versus groter belang’ was het laatste thema binnen dit resultatenhoofdstuk. Nu alle resultaten in kaart zijn gebracht en zijn uitgeschreven, zal in het volgende hoofdstuk de conclusie worden verwoord. Binnen deze conclusie zal antwoord worden gegeven op de hoofdvraag en daarmee de kern van de uitkomst van dit onderzoek worden behandeld. Bovendien zullen in dit hoofdstuk de beperkingen van het onderzoek en aanbevelingen voor vervolgonderzoek worden behandeld. 
5. Conclusie
In dit onderzoek is onderzocht hoe moraal in de populaire dramaserie 24 werd verbeeld en hoe dit concept relateerde aan emotie. De centrale onderzoeksvraag luidde: Hoe komen de morele keuzes in seizoen vier van de populaire dramaserie 24 tot stand en in hoeverre speelt emoties binnen deze keuzes een rol? Aan de hand van een narratieve analyse van Wester en Weijers (2006) is getracht een antwoord te vinden op deze hoofdvraag. Uit de gevonden resultaten zijn verschillende elementen aan het licht gekomen die samen dit antwoord vormen. Er bleek een aantal verschillende thema’s te onderscheiden binnen de morele keuzes die door de personages in 24 werden gemaakt. In grote lijnen vielen alle morele keuzes hierbij met name te herleiden tot de twee overkoepelende thema’s: ‘doel heiligt middelen’ en ‘individueel belang versus groter belang’. 


Het overkoepelende thema ‘doel heiligt middelen’ was hierbij de meest voorkomende variant binnen de gemaakte morele keuze. Verschillende (im)morele handelingen werden bij deze keuze verantwoord door middel van een hoger doel dat het individu voor ogen stond. Dit hogere doel moest op deze manier de middelen rechtvaardigen. De doelen van de ‘slechte’ personages en die van de ‘goede’ personages stonden in de verschillende keuzes in de meeste gevallen lijnrecht tegenover elkaar. Waar de ‘slechte’ personages vaak het doel voor ogen hadden om een terroristische aanslag te laten slagen of beschermen, hadden de ‘goede’ personages juist het doel om deze terroristische activiteiten te dwarsbomen en te voorkomen. 


Binnen de keuzes horend bij het thema ‘individueel belang versus groter belang’ was niet echt een bepaalde tendens te herkennen in de manier waarop de keuze tot stand kwam en uiting kreeg. Zowel het individuele belang als het grotere belang werd een gevarieerd aantal keren boven het andere verkozen. Dit gold zowel voor de ‘goede’ als de ‘slechte’ personages. De ‘goede’ personages handelden bij al hun morele keuzes in naam van het landsbelang. Voor de ‘slechte’ personages gold politieke haat en afkeer tegenover Amerika als drijfveer voor hun morele keuzes. Slechts in de gevallen dat er gekozen werd voor het individuele belang boven het landsbelang, liet men het algemene belang bij uitzondering varen. In deze gevallen hadden individuele belangen en wensen de overhand en werd het grotere belang verwaarloosd. 


Wat opviel in de verschillende morele keuzes van beide groepen personages was dat het aantal morele keuzes dat werd gemaakt door de ‘goede’ personages aanzienlijk groter was dan het aantal morele keuzes dat werd gemaakt door de ‘slechte’ personages. Ook werd in de verschillende keuzes van de ‘goede’ personages in grotere mate duidelijk hoe een keuze tot stand was gekomen. Bij keuzes gemaakt door de ‘slechte’ personages bleven de achtergronden en factoren voor het maken van een keuze vaak onduidelijk. Bovendien was waar te nemen dat de keuzes van de ‘slechte’ personages vaak immoreler van aard waren dan de keuzes van de ‘goede’ personages. De ‘slechte’ personages gingen in hun immorele handelingen verder dan de ‘goede’ personages en leken daarbij zich niet te laten beperken door morele waarden. Waar de ‘goede’ personages bijvoorbeeld in verschillende missies nog proberen om het doden van individuen te voorkomen, leken de ‘slechte’ personages willekeurig beslissingen te nemen over het leven en dood van anderen. Zij leken in hun acties niet gehinderd te worden door bepaalde morele grenzen. Daarnaast vertoonden de ‘goede’ personages aanzienlijk meer emoties in hun morele keuzes dan de ‘slechte’ personages. De ‘goede’ personages kregen hierdoor een menselijke uitstraling, waar de ‘slechte’ personages als kil en meedogenloos overkwamen. Dit maakte hun keuzes, die vrijwel altijd al als immoreel te beschouwen vielen, nog slechter en onmenselijker. Omdat in 24 de slechte personages met name van Arabische afkomst waren of leken te zijn, vond in de serie een soort polarisering plaats tussen de goedheid van de Amerikaanse/westerse personages, die in hun keuzes wel menselijkheid vertoonden, en de slechtheid van Arabische/niet-westerse personages, die verschillende elementen van menselijkheid leken te ontberen. 


De vraag is echter, wat deze verschillende uitkomsten en conclusies uit de gevonden resultaten nu precies betekenen. Wat vaststaat is dat de inhoud van de serie, zoals door critici al eerder gesteld, inderdaad gevuld is met verschillende immorele handelingen en acties. Wanneer we dit gegeven koppelen aan de eerder gestelde rol van televisie als verhalenverteller, zou dit kunnen betekenen dat 24 inderdaad als immoreel voorbeeld zou kunnen dienen voor haar kijkers. Hoewel verschillende wetenschappers het er namelijk niet over eens zijn wat de invloed van televisie inhoudt, is men het er wel degelijk over eens dat televisie een bepaalde invloed heeft. Verschillende critici hebben in dit kader dan ook gesteld dat 24 een gevaar vormt voor de samenleving door middel van de immoraliteit die de serie verbeeldt. Immorele handelingen en gebeurtenissen zouden als voorbeeld dienen voor verschillende groepen die de serie aanhangen. De morele paniek die de serie op deze manier heeft veroorzaakt viel te verklaren aan de hand van de rol van televisie als verhalenverteller, uiteengezet door Gerbner (1998). Hij stelt dat televisie ons een belangrijke vorm van kennis verschaft over hoe de wereld in elkaar zit en hoe we ons moeten gedragen. Een werkelijk immorele inhoud van een populaire dramaserie als 24 zou daarom wel degelijk een bepaalde impact kunnen hebben op de samenleving. Of deze impact echt zo groot is dat militairen die serie aanhangen gedrag uit de serie zouden imiteren, blijft onbekend. Dit is dan ook niet de vraag waar dit onderzoek een antwoord op heeft trachten te zoeken. 


Wanneer we inderdaad mogen aannemen dat het programma wel degelijk een bepaalde impact heeft op haar publiek, is het nu de vraag of deze impact inderdaad zorgelijk is, zoals door verschillende critici werd gesteld. In andere woorden: is de inhoud 24 werkelijk zo immoreel als is verondersteld en kan het zorgwekkend genoemd worden wanneer deze inhoud van aanzienlijke invloed zou zijn op haar publiek? 


Al met al kan gesteld worden dat, ondanks de vertoning van verschillende immorele handelingen, 24 inhoudelijk niet beschouwd kan worden als immoreel voorbeeld voor haar publiek. De personages in de serie vertonen weliswaar verschillende immorele handelingen. Toch zullen kijkers zich voornamelijk identificeren met de ‘goede’ personages. Dit gezien het feit dat de ‘goede’ personages door middel van de verbeelding van emoties en zwakheden op een menselijke manier zijn verbeeld. De ‘slechte’ personages zullen door het ontberen van deze eigenschappen minder waardering en herkenning krijgen bij kijkers. Bij hen heeft de kijker zelden door wat hen tot een bepaalde keuze drijft of wat er in hun hoofd omgaat. 


De ‘goede’ personages, waarmee kijkers zich dus voornamelijk zullen identificeren, vertonen echter wel degelijk verschillende immorele handelingen. Echter, hun uiteindelijke bedoelingen en de achtergrond van de keuze kan in vrijwel elk geval als moreel goed worden beschouwd. De serie verbeeldt de immorele handelingen op een dergelijke manier, dat het duidelijk wordt dat het personage als het ware geen andere keuze heeft, wanneer hij het beste wil doen voor het goede of grotere belang. De keuze voor het grotere belang helpt in de verschillende gevallen uiteindelijk zo veel mogelijk mensen boven slechts één of enkele individuen.


Vanwege de vervlechting van moraal en emotie die slechts bij moreel goede keuzes te herkennen valt, kan de morele inhoud van 24 dus als niet zorgelijk worden beschouwd. Doordat deze vervlechting immers slechts plaatsvindt bij de keuzes van de ‘goede’ personages, en deze keuzes uiteindelijk als moreel ‘goed’ kunnen worden gezien, kan 24 niet bestempeld worden als een immoreel voorbeeld voor gedrag. 
Echter dient hierbij te worden opgemerkt dat naast de directe morele inhoud er een bepaald verbeeld element binnen de serie bestaat dat wel als zorgelijk zou kunnen worden beschouwd, vanwege de impact die het zou kunnen hebben op kijkers. De eerder genoemde polarisering die in de serie wordt verbeeld tussen Arabische personages en westerse personages betreft deze kwestie. De consequente verbeelding in de serie van mensen met een Arabisch uiterlijk als ‘slecht’, tegenover de westerse personages als ‘goed’, kan er immers voor zorgen dat kijkers in hun eigen leven dezelfde associatie zullen oproepen bij personen. Doordat televisie hen namelijk betekenis helpt geven aan elementen in hun eigen leven, zouden zij in dit geval de betekenis van ‘slecht’ kunnen toekennnen aan Arabisch uitziende personen in hun eigen realiteit. Bovendien zouden zij de scheiding die de serie maakt tussen westers ‘goed’ en Arabisch ‘slecht’ kunnen gebruiken in de manier waarop zij naar de wereld kijken. Dit punt van zorg handelt zich dus niet zozeer over eventuele consequenties van de direct verbeelde moraal binnen 24, maar vooral van de karakterisering van groepen personages in de serie. Toch is het een noemenswaardig punt dat wel degelijk aandacht verdient in de uitkomst van dit onderzoek. Een dergelijke verbeelding en daaropvolgende betekenisgeving bij kijkers, kan namelijk een tendens van polaristatie teweeg brengen tussen verschillende bevolkingsgroepen in de samenleving. Bevolkingsgroepen kunnen hierdoor verder van elkaar verwijderd raken, waardoor haat en conflicten kunnen ontstaan. De door 24 verbeelde polarisering tussen de twee groepen personages dient daarom zeker als zorgelijk te worden beschouwd. 

Voor de directe morele inhoud van de serie daarentegen, viel dus te constateren dat er geen aanleiding is tot zorgen. De vervlechting van emotie en moraal bij slechts de ‘goede’ personages en hun uiteindelijk moreel ‘goede’ bedoelingen, maken dat de verbeelde moraal in 24 niet als zorgelijk kan worden beschouwd. Zoals in paragraaf 2.2 al is gesteld, lijkt er wat betreft de morele inhoud in populair televisiedrama een trend te bestaan, waarbij sprake is van een immoreel ogende superheld, die uiteindelijk keuzes maakt die als moreel goed kunnen worden beschouwd (House, The Sopranos en dus 24, zie paragraaf 2.2). Jack Bauer als belangrijkste ‘goede’ personage, kiest namelijk net als House en Tony Soprano voor allerlei eigenzinnige, onorthodoxe en immorele handelingen om uiteindelijk op deze manier het goede te dienen. De verbeelding van dergelijke handelingen kan dus uiteindelijk door het publiek als moreel goed worden gewaardeerd, omdat de bedoelingen en de achtergronden in de verschillende gevallen een moreel goede kern bevatten. Het gaat hier om superhelden die eigenzinnige keuzes maken, die misschien niemand anders zou maken, maar uiteindelijk wel door de kijker gewaardeerd worden, vanwege de goede afloop. De verschuiving van normen en waarden in populaire televisie, zoals Chesebro (2003) al had waargenomen, wordt in de inhoud van onder meer series als 24, The Sopranos en House op deze manier bevestigd. Autoriteit neemt niet meer de centrale positie in voor de oplossingen van problemen. Er is nu sprake van superhelden die buiten het gezag van autoriteiten hun eigen (onorthodoxe) middelen toepassen en op deze manier het goede doel dienen. Het publiek kan door het uiteindelijk goede doel en de menselijk verbeelde elementen emotie en moraal, zich identificeren met deze superhelden en hen waarderen. 

Concluderend kan gesteld worden dat er in populair televisiedrama als 24 dus sprake is van een aanwezige vervlechting tussen emotie en moraal die het mogelijk maakt de kijker zich met de karakters te laten identificeren. De rol van televisie als verhalenverteller laat mensen op deze manier zien hoe moraal en emotie met elkaar verbonden zijn. Het geeft een voorbeeld van de manier waarop morele keuzes tot stand komen. Kijkers zullen zich op deze manier kunnen realiseren dat het binnen moraal moeilijk kan zijn om in eerste instantie altijd meteen de correcte kant te kiezen. Soms zal het nodig zijn eerst ‘buiten het boekje’ te gaan om uiteindelijk het moreel goede te dienen. Bovendien kunnen kijkers constateren dat emoties een bepaalde rol spelen binnen moreel handelen. Doordat ‘slechte’ personages dit ontberen, zullen zij bovendien kunnen interpreteren dat emotieloos moreel handelen als slecht of abnormaal kan worden beschouwd. 


Nu het eind van de conclusie en daarmee het onderzoekstraject is bereikt, dient nog vermeldt te worden dat het onderzoek naar moraal en emotie in 24 verschillende beperkingen kende. Vervolgonderzoek zou in kunnen spelen op de beperkingen en tekortkomingen van dit onderzoek. Daarom zullen in de volgende subparagraaf deze punten en aanbevelingen tot vervolgonderzoek uiteen worden gezet. 
5.1. Discussie en aanbevelingen

Allereerst kan gesteld worden dat het onderzoek naar 24 zich slechts richt op één van de vele bestaande populaire dramaseries op de Nederlandse televisie. Uitspraken omtrent verbeelde moraal en emotie binnen populair televisiedrama kunnen hierdoor slechts worden gedaan op basis van één serie. Omdat daarbij overige bestaande studies naar emotie en moraal binnen populair televisiedrama eigenlijk niet voor handen zijn, zou men hier in de toekomst meer onderzoek naar kunnen doen. Wanneer er meer literatuur voor handen komt over moraal en emotie binnen populair televisiedrama, zouden er beter gefundeerde uitspraken gedaan kunnen worden over de vervlechting van deze concepten op dit gebied. Aan de hand van verschillende onderzoeksresultaten, zou men theorieën kunnen vormen worden die vervolgens binnen andere populaire dramaseries getoetst kunnen worden. Op deze manier kan er een theoretisch raamwerk ontstaan dat zich specifiek toespitst op de verbeelding van moraal en emotie binnen populair televisiedrama. 

Een tweede beperking van dit onderzoek kwam tot uitting in het registreren van de verschillende morele keuzes. Er bestond in verschillende gevallen namelijk een beperking binnen het waarnemen van de achtergronden van morele keuzes. Met name de morele keuzes gemaakt door de ‘slechte’ personages werden in veel gevallen niet in gesproken tekst verantwoord. In deze gevallen moest dan uit de betreffende verhalende context worden geïnterpreteerd hoe deze keuze werd verantwoord. Om deze reden zijn dan ook bij verschillende keuzes, gemaakt door de ‘slechte’ personages, geen transcripten in de resultaten opgenomen. Het niet exact in woorden kunnen opnemen van de motivatie van een morele keuze had tot gevolg dat bij het waarnemen van de keuzes in verschillende gevallen de interpretatie van de onderzoeker diende te worden geraadpleegd. Dit maakt het onderzoek minder betrouwbaar, omdat de resultaten en de formulering van de resultaten op deze manier onderhevig is aan een meer dan gemiddelde interpretatiegevoeligheid. 

Ten slotte dient als beperking van het onderzoek vermeld te worden dat de geformuleerde conclusie slechts uitspraken heeft kunnen doen op basis van de inhoud van populair televisiedrama als in 24. Waar de relevantie van dit onderzoek zich toch met name richt op de functie van televisie als verhalenverteller, en dus de betekenis van inhoud voor de kijker, konden hier slechts uitspraken gedaan worden aan de hand van inhoudelijke elementen van 24. Vervolgonderzoek zou de interpretatie en de betekenis die kijkers geven aan de verbeelde moraal en emotie in een populaire dramaserie als 24 verder kunnen onderzoeken. Op deze manier kunnen dan werkelijk gefundeerde uitspraken gedaan worden over de manieren waarop kijkers betekenis kunnen geven aan de betreffende concepten en de vervlechting daartussen. 
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Nawoord
Ondanks de kritische aandachtspunten die binnen dit onderzoek bestonden en waar bij een volgend onderzoek op gelet dient te worden, kijk ik met tevredenheid terug op het verloop van dit onderzoek. Aan het begin van het traject kwam het onderzoek nog wat moeilijk op gang, vanwege de overige verplichtingen die destijds voor andere studieonderdelen nog moesten worden nagekomen. Dit was met name het geval tijdens het opstellen van het onderzoeksvoorstel. 


Echter, toen eenmaal aan de werkelijke thesis begonnen kon worden, verliep het allemaal wat vloeiender. Met name het voortbrengen van het theoretisch raamwerk is voortvarend gegaan. Ook het opstellen van de resultaten verliep goed volgens schema. Achteraf waren de resultaten echter niet optimaal geformuleerd en moest hier nog veel aan gewijzigd worden. Tijdens de zomer is het wijzigen van de verschillende verbeterpunten vervolgens soepel verlopen. Ik ben dan ook verheugd mijn thesis op deze manier te kunnen afronden.


Al met al kan ik tevreden terugkijken op mijn onderzoekstraject. Met steun van familieleden en vrienden, kan ik zeggen dat ik een ruim half jaar vol toewijding mijn onderzoek heb weten af te ronden. Het was erg interessant om de concepten emotie en moraal binnen een populaire dramaserie als 24 te onderzoeken. Dit onderzoek heeft mij dan ook verschillende vaardigheden en een rijke hoeveelheid kennis bijgebracht omtrent deze concepten en de rol die populair drama kan spelen in het verbeelden hiervan. Ik wil ten slotte iedereen die mij heeft ondersteund en heeft geholpen bij mijn thesis nogmaals bedanken, en dan in het bijzonder mijn thesis begeleider dr. Tonny Krijnen.

Bijlage 1: Analyseschema
	Aflevering
	

	Morele keuze 1

	Betreffende karakter: 
	

	

	Factoren tot stand komen morele keuze:
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	Waar te nemen emoties binnen morele keuze: 
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	Verband emoties-morele keuze:

	

	Overige bevindingen: 

	


Bijlage 2: Transcripten

24



Episode 4X01: 7:00 A.M. - 8:00 A.M.
Original Air Date: 01/09/2005

TM & © 2005 Twentieth Century Fox Film Corporation.
Transcript by Nina Meyers - Posted on TWIZ TV.COM





The following takes place between 7:00 A.M. and 8:00 A.M.

Woman: Help me. I can’t move. I can’t move. Oh, my God.

------------------------

Chloe: Sarah, save what you’re doing and log out. I need you on something now.

Sarah: What is it?

Chloe: I just heard from one of our sources. There’s a high probability that someone from our FBI watch list was spotted in Los Angeles yesterday.

Sarah: Tomas Sherak. Who is he?

Chloe: He’s done work with several terrorist cells outside Istanbul. Suspected of coordinating several suicide bombers last summer.

Sarah: Istanbul? There was some chatter this morning about a possible attack by a group out of Turkey. Here it is, from Ankara.

Chloe: What was the target?

Sarah: East coast. New York or D.C. But the time window passed.

Chloe: Passed?

Sarah: The targeted time is for 8:00 A.M. It’s already past 10 on the east coast.

Chloe: What if they got the target wrong and it’s west coast time?

Sarah: I’d say it’ll go down within the hour.

Chloe: Tell Curtis. I’ll take this to Driscoll.

Sarah: I can take it to her.

Chloe: Why?

Sarah: I thought you wanted to keep working it up.

Chloe: You know, you’re really transparent, Sarah. Stop trying to be Driscoll’s pet. She doesn’t like it.

Driscoll: Have you had voice confirmation from anyone on the train?

Guy: No. The signal’s just confirmed the bomb. We’re trying to get in contact now. It’s in a remote area but local police are heading to the scene.

Driscoll: All right. We have discretionary authority out at Point Mugu. Have them direct one of their patrol aircraft over the area. Put the pilot in contact with our people.

Guy: Should we monitor emergency services?

Driscoll: No. County will cover that. A truck loaded with C4 just reeled a train in Santa Clarita. Free up some of your people. Division’s gonna send over data.

Chloe: That could be related to what we just found downstairs.

Driscoll: What’d you find?

Chloe: Two things. First, there was intelligence indicating the possibility of an attack at eight O’clock this morning.

Driscoll: The bombing was at 7:00. That’s in an hour of your Intel. What’s the second thing?

Chloe: A Turkish national on the FBI watch list by the name of Tomas Sherak was last seen in the city. He could be related to the bombing.

Driscoll: OK. Open up channels with Division, start investigating this bombing. And work up what you have on Sherak. We’ll brief you in a few minutes.

Chloe: What about the Defense Department meeting that’s in a half hour?

Driscoll: Who’s Secretary Heller sending?

Chloe: Jack Bauer.

Driscoll: Jack? Are you sure?

Chloe: Yeah, he hasn’t been back… well, since you fired him.

------------------------

Audrey: Is it gonna be uncomfortable?

Jack: What?

Audrey: Going back to CTU. Seeing Driscoll again.

Jack: I don’t blame her for her decision.

Audrey: How can that be? She forced you out of CTU.

Jack: She didn’t want an ex-junkie on her staff. It’s not unreasonable.

Audrey: You weren’t a junkie. You were doing your job.

Jack: I was addicted to heroin. It didn’t matter why.

Audrey: Do you miss your old job?

Jack: I could have joined other agencies if I still wanted to do field work. But I didn’t. I wanted something different from my life. It might not seem like a lot to you, but for me, to be able to have this kind of a connection with somebody… I couldn’t do that before.

Audrey: I’m glad you can now. We better go.

Jack: Yeah.

Audrey: Secretary Heller’s gonna be at the lobby in five minutes.

Jack: Secretary Heller?

Audrey: Yeah. I called him ‘Dad’ once in a press conference, so I decided then and there to use his title all the time.

Jack: Audrey. Your father’s a very perceptive man. I would like to tell him about us before he finds out on his own.

Audrey: Look, my dad is kinda old fashioned. Even though Paul and I are separated, he… he still considers us married.

Jack: I understand that. And I don’t want your father to draw the wrong conclusion and think that I had anything to do with the breakup between you and Paul.

Audrey: Yeah, but you didn’t. Please, Jack. Let’s just give it a little more time. I’m gonna tell you something. I don’t want you to panic. I’m falling in love with you. Look, I don’t want you to say anything. And I don’t need you to feel the same way. I just wanted you to know.

Jack: I will see you downstairs.

Audrey: Yes.

------------------------

Curtis: All right. This is what we have: a known terrorist named Tomas Sherak. Made assurance into the country undetected. We believe there’s a likelihood Sherak helped organized a train attack in Santa Clarita. If he did, he’s gonna get out of the country as fast as he can.

Driscoll: Which means we have a small window of opportunity here. Who’s covering airports and costumes?

Edgar: I am. I missioned a mandate to LAX, Long Beach and Ontario.

Chloe: As usual, Edgar, we can’t hear you. Also, where’s your laptop in case you need to pull data?

Edgar: I’m sorry, I’ll speak up. And I don’t need my laptop. I have everything memorized. What I was saying is that I’ve contacted all the airports and added extra layers of security.

Driscoll: Do we have any local contacts for Sherak?

Sarah: We’re looking into those now.

Driscoll: All right. Promote everything we receive up to Division. Let’s find Sherak before he leaves the city. Let’s go.

Chloe: Excuse me Ms. Driscoll; don’t you think it’s a mistake to assume that Sherak is on his way out of Los Angeles?

Driscoll: No.

Chloe: But the timing and the Intel doesn’t quite match. It said 8:00 A.M. and the train bombing happened around 7:00.

Driscoll: Just focus on finding Sherak.

------------------------

Navi: Yes?

Sherak: It’s Tomas.

Navi: Did Dar get the briefcase?

Sherak: Yes. He’s on his way to you now.

Navi: Good. You did well, Tomas.

Sherak: What about Maurice?

Navi: He’s waiting for you. He has everything you need.

Dina: Behrooz, are you eating with us?

Behrooz: I’ll be right down, Mom.

Navi: I’m concerned about him.

Dina: Concerned? Why?

Navi: I think he’s still seeing this American girl, Debbie.

Dina: You said you’d talk to him.

Navi: I did. I told him he was no longer allowed to have contact with her.

Dina: And he agreed, right?

Navi: Yes. But I think he’s still seeing her behind our backs.

Dina: I’ll speak to him.

Navi: No. I’ll take care of it.

Dina: Behrooz, we’re seating down to eat. Behrooz?

Behrooz: I’m on the phone!

Dina: Get off and come down now.

Navi: Who is he talking to?

Dina: I don’t know.

Behrooz: Sorry.

Navi: Who were you on the phone with?

Behrooz: My friend Scott.

Navi: You were talking to that American girl.

Behrooz: No, I told you. I don’t see her anymore.

Navi: Don’t lie to me, Behrooz! I hear your phone calls at night. I read your e-mails. 
Behrooz: You read my e-mails? That’s my business!

Dina: Don’t you raise your voice to your father.

Navi: While you live under my roof, there is no such thing as your business. No more communications with that girl, do you understand me? Don’t look at her, you’re talking to me.

Behrooz: Yes, Sir.

News reporter on TV: …where a horrible tragedy struck just a short time ago. An early morning commuter train collided with a pickup truck that was apparently crossing the tracks. Reports are coming in that most of the passengers were severely injured. Casualty estimates is high as 30. NTSP agents have arrived on the scene and are investigating the cause. At this time the authorities are not saying whether this was an accident or a targeted attack. But as you can see, there has been…

Navi: So far, everything is on schedule.

Dina: Have you spoken to Tomas?

Navi: Yes. The briefcase is on its way to us now. When he gets here, you’ll take it to the warehouse.

Behrooz: Why doesn’t Dar take it there directly?

Navi: He doesn’t need to know where our people are working. That’s the safest way.

Dina: Behrooz, if your father seems severe, it’s because our job here is a difficult one. If we are to succeed, it’s important that we are of a single mind.

Behrooz: I understand.

Navi: What we will accomplish today will change the world. We’re fortunate that our family has been chosen to do this. We cannot fail.

Behrooz: Yes, father.

------------------------

Melanie: Good morning, Jennifer. What are you doing here so early?

Andrew: I’m not here early.

Melanie: You’ve been here all night?

Andrew: Yeah.

Melanie: What are you working on?

Andrew: Nothing right now. I’m just stealing some software from a domain in Microsoft.

Melanie: You’re gonna get caught one of these days.

Andrew: Hey, Melanie. Don’t tell anybody, or I’ll have to kill you. What the hell is this? Whoa. Melanie, come look at this.

Melanie: Looks like someone’s trying to corrupt the internet.

Andrew: Yeah. But it hasn’t started propagating yet. They’re just placing the nodes. Look at this. This thing can take every system in the world.

Melanie: You’ve gotta tell somebody.

Andrew: If I call the Feds from here they’ll trace the call. They’ll know I was stealing code.

Melanie: Do it from a payphone.

Andrew: Yeah.

------------------------

Heller: No, I’m up to speed on the train bombing. How many confirmed dead?

Al: 32.

Heller: I didn’t know that.

Al: Call Carl.

Heller: I will. Thanks, Al. 32 dead.

Jack: What’s the initial assessment?

Heller: An act of terrorism. When you get to CTU, I want you to find out all the details and call me.

Jack: Yes, Sir.

Heller: And listen, I don’t want anyone except the two of you to know about this meeting with Richard.

Audrey: Of course.

Heller: I tried to get a hold of you last night. Where were you?

Audrey: I had dinner with a friend.

Heller: Oh. Anyone I know?

Audrey: No.

Heller: Jack.

Jack: Sir. I’ll call you when I get to CTU.

------------------------

Edgar: Yeah. I’ll get her. Hold on.

Chloe: O’Brien.

Edgar: Chloe, it’s Edgar Stiles.

Chloe: Edgar, you don’t need to use your last name, you’ve been here over a month. What is it?

Edgar: OK, uh… I got someone on the line who says he’s a friend of yours and needs to talk to you.

Chloe: Who, Edgar?

Edgar: His name’s Andrew Paige.

Chloe: Fine, put him through.

Edgar: OK.

Andrew: Hello?

Chloe: Andrew, you know I can’t take personal calls here.

Andrew: It’s not personal. I found something on the net I think you should know about.

Chloe: What?

Andrew: There’s a fake net table in several large purport matters that was loaded this morning.

Chloe: How would you know that?

Andrew: I was trying to download some software and I noticed it.

Chloe: And by ‘download’ I assume you mean ‘steal’, otherwise you wouldn’t have even seen the net table.

Andrew: OK, fine. But I hacked deeper and I found all kinds of stuff.

Chloe: What kind of stuff?

Andrew: I think someone’s positioning codes for a major internet attack. The thing is that not all the code remarks are in English.

Chloe: What language were they in?

Andrew: I don’t know. Looked Middle-Eastern. Like Arabic or Turkish, maybe.

Driscoll: You found something?

Curtis: Yeah. Sarah was working on the list of known contacts for Sherak.

Sarah: This is in Flanksenone. Maurice Landstrass. He has a dry cleaners in Studio city. We dug into the records and found his business is owned by a holding company based out of Ankara, Turkey.

Driscoll: All right. Give this to Ronnie. Tell him to get over there and see what he can find.

Chloe: Excuse me, Ms. Driscoll.

Driscoll: What is it, Chloe?

Chloe: I just got a call from an old classmate, Andrew Paige. He noticed that a number of high profile internet nodes had been compromised. I think this could be related to our present threat.

Driscoll: What makes you say that?

Chloe: A computer network virus was launched this morning from a server somewhere in Turkey. That’s where Sherak is from. Should I start working it up?

Driscoll: No. The bombing and Sherak are all we should be dealing with now. Go pass it to the FBI.

------------------------

Sarah: Excuse me, Sir. Can I help you?

Jack: Yes. I have a scheduled meeting with Erin Driscoll.

Chloe: Jack. It’s OK, Sarah. This is Jack Bauer.

Sarah: Oh, Mr. Bauer. I’m sorry.

Jack: No, it’s fine. Chloe, how have you been?

Chloe: Not perfect, but OK, I guess. How are Kim and Chase?

Jack: Good. They just got a house in Valencia. Kim’s taking care of Angela and Chase is working for a private security company.

Chloe: That’s interesting. I mean, I’m interested; I just have to set up a protocol.

Jack: Yeah.

Curtis: Jack.

Jack: Curtis. Is everything ready for our meeting?

Curtis: Almost. But I should tell you, it’ll probably get cut short today.

Jack: The train bombing at Santa Clarita?

Curtis: Among other things.

Jack: What other things?

Curtis: I don’t wanna bore you with it.

Ronnie: We’re out.

Curtis: OK, we’ll have you in voice 3, data 4. Alright, Ronnie, this is Jack Bauer. Jack, Ronnie Lobell.

Jack: Nice to meet you.

Ronnie: Hey, Jack.

Curtis: Ronnie’s got your old job, Head of Field Ops.

Jack: Yeah, I know. How’s it going?

Ronnie: It’s busy. Nice meeting you.

Jack: Look, would you rather reschedule this?

Curtis: No, that won’t be necessary. Erin’ll be freed up in a couple of minutes. I’ll tell you what, why don’t you use this station making your calls? It won’t be long.

Jack: OK.

Curtis: OK.

Jack: Thank you.

------------------------

Audrey: I don’t know, Max. Let me find out. One of the representatives from Van Hamburg. He wants to know how long you will push back today.

Heller: Don’t change anything with Van Hamburg.

Audrey: We’ll stick to the original schedule. OK, Max, yeah. We’ll see you then.

Heller: Have you spoken with your brother?

Audrey: No. I don’t think he even knows I’m coming with you today.

Heller: That’s probably best that he doesn’t.

Audrey: Alright. I’ll stay in the car. Dad, look, even if Richard does go to that protest in Lockheed, it’s not the end of the world. It’s not a page one story.

Heller: That’s not the point. It’s an embarrassment to me, and to the President.

Audrey: What are you gonna say to him?

Heller: I have no idea.

Audrey: The thing that gets to me is he doesn’t even know the first thing about the politics of all this. He’s just doing it to rebel against you. 

Heller: When did I become the enemy? What did I do?

Audrey: Nothing. Richard’s acting like a spoilt child. He’s gonna have to grow up someday.

[Audrey’s phone rings. She answers it.]

Audrey: Audrey Raines.

Woman: The President calling for Secretary Heller.

Audrey: Yeah. It’s the President’s office.

Heller: Heller here.

Woman: Please hold for the President.

Keeler: James.

Heller: Yes, Mr. President?

Keeler: James, I’m thinking of raising the terror alert.

Heller: Because of the train bombing out here?

Keeler: No, not just that. Langley’s picked up some chatter. We also have Intel on some watch listed individuals who’ve gotten into the country.

Heller: Well, my instinct is to wait until the NTSP ways in on the bombing. In the meantime, we can increase our state of readiness.

Keeler: All right. I’ll take that into consideration. I’m meeting with the Secretary of State, the Director Shaye in a few minutes. I’ll see if they feel the same about it.

Heller: Yes, Mr. President.

------------------------

Jack: Thank you. Hello, Erin.

Driscoll: Hello, Jack.

Jack: I’m sorry Secretary Heller couldn’t be here today.

Driscoll: It’s just as well. As I’m sure you were told, we have a protocol in progress. So, why don’t we just go over the items and get it over with?

Jack: It’s fine with me.

Driscoll: I’ll be direct with you, Jack. I didn’t like the budget your boss proposed.

Jack: What’s the problem?

Driscoll: Well, as Department of Defense, he’s asking for 85 percent of all interagency moneys, which leaves very little for CTU.

Jack: If you want a bigger piece of the pie, you’re gonna have to justify it.

Driscoll: I have a proposal for you.

Jack: You wanna use satellite surveillance for all the traffic at the harbor?

Driscoll: Yes. Problem?

Jack: Yes. It’s insufficient. You need to maintain bodies on the ground.

Driscoll: Too expensive.

Jack: Not if you utilize intelligence from the other agencies. Look, I am not gonna have Secretary Heller sign off on a budget that doesn’t make sense.

Driscoll: I’ll talk to Heller about it myself.

Jack: No, you’ll talk to me. We’re not doing this twice.

[Intercom rings]

Guy: Erin, Ronnie’s just arrived at Landstrass’ cleaners.

Driscoll: Where is the feed?

Guy: It’ll be on channel one as soon as he sets the hidden camera.

Driscoll: Excuse me, Jack.

Ronnie: So, here we go. Stand down until I give the order. Aaron, go around the back. Sean, you go take the side. Hello?

Landstrass: May I help you?

Ronnie: Are you Mr. Landstrass? 

Landstrass: Do I know you?

Ronnie: My name’s Ronnie Lobell. I’m with Los Angeles CTU. I need to ask you a few questions. What do you know about a man named Tomas Sherak?

Landstrass: I don’t know this name.

Ronnie: Really? ‘Cause we have records of you contacting him in the last two days.

Landstrass: It wasn’t me. I run a legitimate business here.

Ronnie: I never said your business wasn’t legitimate, Sir.

Landstrass: Look, you just can’t walk in here and harass me.

Jack: He’s hiding something.

Ronnie: Sir, I’m not harassing you. I need to ask you a few questions.

Driscoll: It’s being handled, Jack.

Jack: Erin, listen to me, the store is open for business but the blinds are closed, there’s no other employees, this guy is way too nervous. Trust me, he’s hiding something.

Driscoll: Ronnie, turn your back on Landstrass for a moment, please.

Ronnie: It says here you open at 6:00 A.M. Have you been here the entire time?

Landstrass: Yes. What’s this about?

Jack: Right there. Did you see that?

Driscoll: Yeah.

Jack: Tell him to look for something on his right.

Driscoll: Ronnie, on Landstrass’ right. See if there’s anywhere Sherak can be hiding.

Ronnie: Do you mind if I take a look behind that counter?

Landstrass: Yes, I do mind. Look, this is my store and I want you to walk out now.

Ronnie: Sir, I’m not walking out of here until I take a look at that counter.

Landstrass: Look, you just can’t walk in here…

Ronnie: Back door! It’s Sherak. We’ve got him.

Driscoll: Great job.

------------------------

Audrey: Remember dad, we’re on tight schedule today.

Heller: Richard?

Richard: Dad.

[Audrey’s phone rings]

Audrey: Hello?

Jack: Hey, it’s me.

Audrey: Hey. Aren’t you supposed to be in your meeting with Driscoll?

Jack: Yeah, she had to step away. Listen, CTU’s just picked up a prime suspect in the train bombing. They’re bringing him in for questioning now.

Audrey: Yeah. My father’s dealing with Richard.

Jack: That’s all right. I’ll brief him later. I just wanted to let you know.

Audrey: All right. That’s… that’s good news.

Jack: Yeah. Yeah, I think so.

Audrey: All right. Umm… I’ll talk to you later.

Jack: Wait, wait. 

Audrey: What is it?

Jack: Look, about earlier… I don’t want you to think that that made me uncomfortable. It’s just that since Teri died, I never thought I…

Audrey: Jack, it’s all right. I understand.

Jack: No. No, you don’t. I just want you to know that… I’m falling in love with you too.

Audrey: Wow, umm… You caught me off-guard.

Jack: Yeah, I’m sorry about that. Look, Driscoll’s coming back. I gotta go.

Audrey: Then go.

Jack: OK. I’ll talk to you when I get a break.

Audrey: All right.

Jack: What’s happening with the suspect?

Driscoll: Ronnie’s bringing him in.

Jack: Who is he?

Driscoll: Fortunately for you, Jack, it’s our problem, not yours.

Jack: Right.

------------------------

Richard: I’m going, dad. And there’s nothing you can do to stop me. How many cars do you need to get places?

Heller: I didn’t come here to argue about the environment, Richard.

Richard: I didn’t ask you to come at all.

Heller: I do not want you to attend or to speak at that rally at Lockheed this afternoon.

Richard: You don’t have any leverage over what I do anymore. You haven’t since I stopped taking your money.

Heller: Can’t you ever think of anything besides yourself? If you do this, it will humiliate the President, and it will be dangerous to national security.

Richard: What could be more dangerous than 25,000 missile delivery systems?

Heller: Spare me your 6 grade Michael Moor logic. The world is a little bit more complicated than that, Richard. We do not live in a Utopia. America has enemies.

Richard: Enemies who were our friends a year ago. And in another year it’ll change again unless people stop supporting your psychotic need to control the world.

Heller: Psychotic need? We serve our country. We serve the cause of freedom. What do you do?

Richard: Why don’t you just go back to your little motorcade and drive somewhere where people actually buy the lies you’re selling?

Heller: OK, look, look. We don’t have to do this, OK? We do not have to.

Richard: Fine, dad. What do you wanna do?

Heller: Do not disrespect me. I am your father.

------------------------

Kalil: What did you find on the internet?

Melanie: It was my friend, not me.

Kalil: What’s his name?

Melanie: Andrew.

Kalil: Andrew what?

Melanie: Andrew Paige.

Kalil: Who did you tell?

Melanie: I swear, we didn’t tell anyone. I don’t know…

Kalil: Don’t lie to me.

Melanie: I just walked out.

Kalil: Don’t lie to me!

Melanie: I’m not lying.

Kalil: Where is Andrew Paige now?

Melanie: I was just doing my work. I don’t…

------------------------

Driscoll: You can use station 5. Chloe’s opened up a socket for you. You’ll be able to access through records volumes. Look at this budget numbers.

Jack: OK, fine. I know this guy.

Driscoll: Sherak?

Jack: We were tracking him when I was here. We knew him as Jann Bolek. We linked him to over a thousand complicated bombings in Europe in the late nineties.

Driscoll: Unfortunately, we weren’t able to stop him from today’s attack, but we did catch him. And Jack, I’m sorry I was abrupt before. You helped us with the takedown. Thank you.

Jack: Erin, listen to me. This doesn’t make sense. I know this guy’s file. He’s a major handler. He wouldn’t risk exposing himself here in the United States for a train bombing; it’s not big enough.

Driscoll: I’ll take that into consideration when we interrogate him. Give my best to Secretary Heller.

Jack: Chloe.

Chloe: What?

Jack: The original data that you pulled up on Sherak, was there any indication of a secondary strike?

Chloe: No. Everything supports that he was here for the train bombing. But there was a time discrepancy.

Jack: What do you mean?

Chloe: There was some high probability chatter indicating an attack at 8:00 a.m. The train bombing happened at 7:00.

Jack: They didn’t give a window? They actually called for a specific time?

Chloe: Yeah, but the Intel was off by an hour. Driscoll thought it was close enough. You can’t do that.

Jack: What’s your logon ID for Interpol overnights?

Chloe: I’m not comfortable doing this.

Jack: Chloe, please.

Chloe: You’re in.

Jack: This is the source?

Chloe: Yes. That’s in decipher.

Jack: Calls for an eight O’clock strike unless target deviates. That doesn’t make sense. Trains don’t deviate; they’re on fixed courses, schedule.

Chloe: Sometimes when Interpol’s breaking codes in communicates they won’t use the exact wording. What are you thinking, Jack?

Jack: Sherak didn’t come here for the train bombing. Something’s gonna happen at 8:00 O’clock.

Chloe: That’s 10 minutes from now.

------------------------

Audrey: No, Paul. I don’t wanna wait. I’m gonna call my lawyer as soon as we get back to D.C. and we’re gonna get this divorce process moving.

Paul: What’s the hurry? We said we’d take a year apart, see what happens.

Audrey: Yeah, but it’s almost been a year. I don’t wanna wait any longer. Hang on. Look, I gotta take this call. I’ll call you when I get back to D.C.

Paul: Yeah. Bye.

Audrey: All right. Bye. Jack.

Jack: Hey. I need to speak with your father.

Audrey: He’s still in with Richard. He doesn’t wanna be interrupted.

Jack: This is urgent. I need him to get me clearance so that I can interrogate the suspect in the train bombing. Driscoll won’t let me anywhere near him. I believe he’s got information about a secondary hit, a larger one. Supposed to take place this morning at eight O’clock.

Audrey: What? It’s almost eight now.

Jack: I know. That’s why I need to speak with him.

Audrey: All right. Hang on.

Richard: I’m gonna speak at that rally this afternoon, dad. And it’s not because I hate you. It’s ‘cause it’s something I believe in.

Heller: Did it ever occur to you that these people are using you? Don’t you realize they’re letting you speak for one reason, and one reason only? Because you are my son!

Richard: Well, I wish I weren’t.

Heller: What is it, Audrey?

Audrey: I’m sorry. It’s Jack. It’s urgent.

Heller: Excuse me, Richard.

Richard: What could be more important than intimidating me? I know you were hiding in the car.

Audrey: Richard, why are you doing this to dad? Can’t you just back off?

Richard: I’m not doing anything to him.

Audrey: You know if you go to that protest at Lockheed it’s gonna hurt him.

Richard: Whatever it takes to stop what he’s doing.

Heller: Jack, if I step on Driscoll’s toes and it doesn’t pay off, all of a sudden I have a ton of political fallout to deal with.

Jack: Sir, I understand that, but I wouldn’t be asking you this if I didn’t believe there was an imminent threat to national security that I could help avert.

Heller: Share your concerns with Driscoll. Let CTU handle this.

Jack: Sir, there isn’t time.

Audrey: It’s the President.

Heller: Jack, it’s the President. I gotta go.

Jack: Yes, Sir. Dammit.

------------------------

Ronnie: How long have you been in Los Angeles? Who are you working with? We don’t have time for this. OK, you listen to me. Unless you start giving me some answers right now, you’re gonna end up in a hole for the next 30 years. Who are you working with? Why did you bomb that train? How far can I push this guy?

Driscoll: We have to find out who he’s working with. We should go as far as we have to. Maybe we should bring Johnson in.

Guard: Sorry, Sir. This area’s off limits.

Jack: Oh, I’m looking for Erin Driscoll.

Driscoll: Jack! Jack, what are you doing? Call security, now!

Jack: What is happening at eight O’clock?

Driscoll: Jack!

Ronnie: Son of a bitch, he’s jammed the codes.

Jack: I am not messing with you. You are gonna tell me; what is happening at eight O’clock?

Driscoll: Jack, holster your weapon! Jack! I said, holster your weapon!

[Jack shoots Sherak I the leg.]

Driscoll: Call medical!

Jack: What is your primary objective?

Driscoll: I’ll order security to shoot you if I have to.

Ronnie: Get that door open!

Jack: What is your primary objective?

Sherak: Secretary of Defense.

Driscoll: Heller.

Jack: Secretary Heller?

Sherak: Yes.

Jack: Secretary Heller’s the target. Call Secret Service now!

Driscoll: Call now! Get a team on the way.

Sarah: Get me Secret Service now.

Heller: Yeah, I’ll hold. The President wants us back in D.C. tonight.

[Audrey’s phone rings. She ignores it.]

Heller: What meetings can we eject?

Audrey: Not Van Hamburg. The media’s expecting you there. Maybe we could skip Paragon and handle that with the teleconference next week.

Jack: Come on, pick up the phone!

Heller: Tell the President we’ll rearrange our schedule and fly back this afternoon.

[Audrey answers the phone.]

Audrey: Yeah?

Jack: Audrey, it’s Jack. Are you still at Richard’s?

Audrey: Yeah.

Jack: You need to get your father out of there now. The bombing this morning was diversionary. Your father is the real target. You’ve gotta get out of there now.

Audrey: Target?

Jack: Audrey?

Audrey: Oh, my God.

[A rocket grenade sails past Audrey’s face and hits a Secret Service vehicle.]

Jack: Audrey?

[A van pulls up and gunmen fire at the Secret Service agents. The masked men abduct Audrey and Heller into the van.]

Audrey: Jack, no! Jack! Jack!

Jack: Audrey!

Heller: Let her go!

Audrey: Jack! No! 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Chloe: Excuse me, Ms. Driscoll.

Driscoll: What is it, Chloe?

Chloe: There was intelligence indicating the possibility of an attack at eight O’clock this morning. A Turkish national on the FBI watch list by the name of Tomas Sherak was last seen in the city.

------------------------

Sherak: It’s Tomas.

Navi: Did Dar get the briefcase?

Sherak: Yes. He’s on his way to you now.

Navi: So far, everything is on schedule. The briefcase is on its way to us now. When he gets here, you’ll take it to the warehouse. What we will accomplish today will change the world. We’re fortunate that our family has been chosen to do this.

------------------------

Andrew: I found something on the net I think you should know about.

Chloe: What?

Andrew: I think someone’s positioning codes for a major internet attack. The thing is that not all the code remarks are in English.

Chloe: What language were they in?

Andrew: Arabic or Turkish, maybe.

Kalil: What did you find on the internet?

Melanie: It was my friend, not me.

Kalil: What’s his name?

Melanie: Andrew Paige.

------------------------

Audrey: Is it gonna be uncomfortable?

Jack: What?

Audrey: Going back to CTU. Seeing Driscoll again.

Jack: I don’t blame her for her decision.

Audrey: She forced you out of CTU.

Jack: I could have joined other agencies if I still wanted to do field work. But I didn’t. I know this guy.

Driscoll: Fortunately for you, Jack, it’s our problem, not yours.

Jack: Erin, listen to me. This doesn’t make sense. He wouldn’t risk exposing himself here in the United States for a train bombing; it’s not big enough.

Driscoll: I’ll take that into consideration when we interrogate him.

Jack: I am not messing with you. You are gonna tell me; what is happening at eight O’clock?

Driscoll: Jack!

Jack: What is your primary objective?

Sherak: Secretary of Defense.

Driscoll: Heller.

------------------------

Heller: Did it ever occur to you that these people are using you? Don’t you realize they’re letting you speak for one reason? Because you are my son!

------------------------

Jack: Audrey, it’s Jack. Are you still at Richard’s?

Audrey: Yeah.

Jack: You need to get your father out of there now. Your father is the real target.

Audrey: Oh, my God.

Audrey: Jack!

Jack: Audrey? Audrey!

------------------------

The following takes place between 8:00 A.M. and 9:00 A.M.

Officer: Richard Heller?

Richard: They took my father and my sister.

------------------------

Jack: I don’t care; it’s been over five minutes. You need to widen your perimeter. You’re not listening to me. I’m not interested in local law enforcement; I want Secret Service swarming that area, now. Good. Get back to me.

Driscoll: Everyone. Everyone, please listen up. Secretary of Defense Heller was abducted a few minutes ago along with his senior policy analyst, Audrey Raines. Heller was at his son Richard’s house when he was taken. LAPD is bringing Richard in for questioning. This is a top priority situation. I want all interagency protocols activated immediately.

Sarah: Move off that page. You have to link up to the Secret Service Channel.

Edgar: It’s not that simple. We’re locked down for a few minutes.

Sarah: Why?

Edgar: They’re sequestering the rest of the cabinet.

Sarah: Driscoll’s not gonna wanna hear that. She wants us to activate those protocols.

Edgar: What do you want me to do?

Sarah: I want you to break through those channels. Hack in if you have to.

Curtis: Chloe, I need you to move everything from the train bombing to the secondary server.

Chloe: I did that already.

Curtis: Good. Then re-key the databases so the kidnapping and the bombing are synced up as well.

Chloe: I did that too.

Curtis: What haven’t you done?

Chloe: I haven’t opened a pipe to the Criminal Investigation Division yet.

Curtis: Do it.

Chloe: I’m on my way to.

Jack: Yeah, I’m looking at it. They’ve widen the perimeter. Do you have an ID on any possible transportation?

Guy: I’m working on it. The only problem we have is…

Jack: I’m gonna have to get back to you. Erin, I need to speak to you.

Driscoll: You’re done here, Jack.

Jack: Just listen to me.

Driscoll: I’m detaining you.

Jack: Erin, just listen to me. Secretary Heller is my responsibility. Now, I need you to reinstate me on a provisional basis, until I get him back.

Driscoll: You don’t give me orders, Jack. I’m detaining you until an investigator from Division can take your statement. I’m gonna recommend that you’ll be arrested for torturing a suspect and rendering him useless for questioning.

Jack: You weren’t getting anywhere with him. Because of me Sherak told you everything he knows.

Driscoll: You better hope so. Would you please escort Mr. Bauer to a vacant office until Division gets here?

Jack: I’m fine. You’re making a mistake.

Edgar: Excuse me.

Driscoll: What?

Edgar: President Keeler.

Driscoll: What about him?

Edgar: He wants to talk to you.

Driscoll: All right.

[She picks up the phone.]

Driscoll: This is Erin Driscoll.

Woman: Please hold for the President.

Keeler: What can you tell me about the attack on the Secretary?

Driscoll: We know that he was taken along with his daughter approximately ten minutes ago.

Keeler: But you haven’t had any contact yet with the kidnappers. 

Driscoll: No, Sir, we have not.

Keeler: How is it the Secret Service wasn’t able to protect them?

Driscoll: It’s my understanding that he broke a schedule to visit his son. Somehow the kidnappers had access to that information. We’re looking into that now.

Keeler: All right. We’re gonna go to an elevated level of security. I want you to take the appropriate measures.

Driscoll: I understand.

Keeler: Get them back, Erin.

Driscoll: We’re doing everything we can, Sir.

------------------------

Andrew’s Mom: Hello?

Andrew: Mom?

Andrew’s Mom: Hi, sweetie. I wasn’t expecting you…

Andrew: Mom, listen, you gotta get out of the house right now.

Andrew’s Mom: What are you talking about?

Andrew: Someone’s looking for me and they might come for you next.

Andrew’s Mom: What kind of trouble are you in?

Andrew: I don’t know. I found something on the internet. Now these people are after me.

Andrew’s Mom: Andrew, you are being paranoid.

Andrew: Mom, they killed Melanie. They killed everybody in the office.

Andrew’s Mom: What?

Andrew: They shot her. Mom, I’m really scared.

Andrew’s Mom: My God. I’m gonna call the police.

Andrew: Just get out of there. Get to one of your friends’ house and stay there. Go. Go now!

Andrew’s Mom: Andrew.

------------------------

Chloe: I told him Driscoll wanted me to question you.

Jack: What’s going on, Chloe? What are you doing?

Chloe: I’ll probably get in trouble for coming to you with this, but I don’t care. We may have a way to find Heller.

Jack: I’m being detained. Why are you telling me?

Chloe: Because I don’t think Driscoll’s handling this the right way and I don’t trust her. I trust you.

Jack: Sit down.

Chloe: A good friend of mine called about 40 minutes ago, someone I went to school with. I know him. He wouldn’t have come to me unless it was something serious.

Jack: What is it?

Chloe: He noticed some dangerous computer code was planted on the internet this morning.

Jack: How is that connected to Heller?

Chloe: Because it originated in Turkey, just like everything else that happened today – Sherak, the train bombing.

Jack: Where is your friend now?

News reporter on TV at Union Station: LAPD has swarmed off the area, and you can see them taking Secretary Heller’s son away from the scene now. That’s being done for his own protection, according to the police sources. Those same sources tell us that at least five Secret Service agents were shot and killed in the kidnapping.

[Andrew’s phone rings]

Andrew: Hello?

Chloe: Andrew, it’s me.

Andrew: What did you do, Chloe? Who did you tell?

Chloe: What do you mean?

Andrew: Everyone’s dead, and now they’re trying to kill me.

Chloe: Andrew, talk to me. Who’s dead? What happened?

Andrew: Everyone’s dead. They’re dead. After I called you, I went back to my office. There was a guy there, torturing Melanie. He wanted to know who hacked into their system. And then he shot her.

Jack: Who shot her?

Andrew: Who’s this?

Jack: My name is Jack Bauer. I work for Secretary of Defense Heller. Andrew, we need your help.

Andrew: what?

Jack: Secretary Heller was kidnapped less than half an hour ago. I believe the same people that kidnapped him are the ones that are chasing you now.

Andrew: But I don’t know anything.

Jack: Son, you’ve been targeted for a reason. You know more than you think.

Andrew: What do I do?

Jack: Where are you?

Andrew: I’m in Union Station. I’m getting out of town.

Jack: Don’t. You stay put. The best thing you can do right now is let me bring you in.

Andrew: Chloe, what should I do?

Chloe: You can trust Jack.

Andrew: OK. I’ll be next to track 3, the bottom of the ramp.

Jack: Andrew, what are you wearing?

Andrew: Blue jeans, brown jacket and a black bag.

Jack: OK, you stay put. I’ll be there in about 30 minutes.

Andrew: OK.

Chloe: This is all my fault. I shouldn’t have let Driscoll talk me into handing it over to the FBI.

Jack: She did what?

Chloe: She told me to give it to the FBI.

------------------------

[Kalil phones Navi.]

Navi: Yes?

Kalil: I found the person who stumbled onto our server.

Navi: Is he with you now?

Kalil: No. I’ll have him shortly.

Navi: Find out who he’s talked to.

Kalil: Of course.

Navi: And then kill him.

Kalil: Yeah.

------------------------

Dina: Is everything in there?

Navi: Yes. Where’s Behrooz?

Dina: Upstairs, checking traffic online.

Navi: It’s almost time for him to go.

Dina: Are you sure you don’t want me to take the briefcase to Omar?

Navi: The plan is in place. I don’t want to deviate. Why?

Dina: This is the key to everything we’re doing today. It’s a lot to entrust to a teenager.

Navi: I told you. Our whereabouts have to be accounted for today. Besides, it’s because he’s a teenager that he won’t arouse suspicion.

Dina: You’re right.

Navi: Don’t worry, Dina. We prepared well for today. The train, the kidnapping – It’s all gone as expected. I spoke with Omar. He’s happy.

Dina: And he knows Behrooz is the one who will deliver the device?

Navi: Yes, he knows. Behrooz will be fine.

------------------------

Curtis: OK, people. We’re looking to find a connection between the train bombing at Santa Clarita and Heller’s abduction. Sarah?

Sarah: NTSP has given us a full passenger list. I’m processing those names now.

Driscoll: What about Heller’s son? Is it possible he had something to do with this?

Curtis: We’re not counting anything out at this point. He’s being brought here for questioning now.

Jack: Erin, I need to speak with you. Privately, please.

Driscoll: You’re testing me, Jack?

Jack: Erin, please.

Driscoll: Curtis will hand out assignment protocols to each department. I want status reports every 15 minutes.

Jack: I have information that you ignored that appears to be connected not only to the bombing but the kidnapping of Secretary Heller.

Driscoll: What information?

Jack: A computer programmer by the name of Andrew Paige accidentally came across a possible internet strike earlier this morning.

Driscoll: I know. It was passed on to the FBI.

Jack: Yes, against CTU protocol. You abandoned an active investigation by a CTU agent during a terrorist strike. I just got confirmation from the LAPD that Andrew Paige’s coworkers were all found dead less than 20 minutes ago.

Driscoll: I’ll coordinate with FBI and we’ll take over the investigation.

Jack: No, you won’t. I just talked to the kid. I’m the only one who knows where he is. You want that kid picked up? You’re gonna have to reinstate me.

Driscoll: I’m having you locked up for impeding my investigation.

Jack: You do that and I’ll tell the President that you had Sherak in custody over a half an hour before Secretary Heller was even kidnapped, and you couldn’t break him. I did.

Driscoll: You’re threatening me, Jack?

Jack: I am asking you to let me help rescue Secretary Heller.

Driscoll: This is how it’s gonna work: I’ll reinstate your commission on a temporary basis until Heller is safe. You will not make any unilateral decisions. You will work as an auxiliary agent under the authority of Ronnie Lobell. And then I’ll hand you over to Division.

------------------------

Audrey: What are they gonna do to us?

Heller: I don’t know, but if they wanted me dead, they would have killed me at Richard’s house. Richard… God.

Audrey: He was still in the house. I don’t think they went in there.

Heller: Listen to me, honey. No matter what happens to me, they have no reason to hurt you.

Audrey: They don’t need a reason.

Heller: And I don’t want you to give them one. Do what they say. Whatever happens to me, don’t provoke them. If they threat me, if they hurt me, even if they kill me… Do what they say.

Omar: I only asked for Heller.

Omar’s Henchman: I didn’t wanna kill her without your permission.

[The henchman nodes for Audrey to be killed.]

Audrey: Dad! Dad, no! Dad! Dad!

Heller: Leave her alone! Don’t you touch her!

Omar’s Henchman: Omar, yes or no?

Heller: Do not do this! Leave her alone!

Omar: Not yet. We may be able to use her. Take them away.

Audrey: Dad…

------------------------

Jack: I’m going with Ronnie over to the train station to pick up Andrew now.

Chloe: Has Driscoll cleared you for field work?

Jack: Yeah.

Chloe: That’s unlike her. I hope you didn’t tell her I gave you the information. I’m not in the mood for a confrontation.

Jack: I didn’t. Have we heard anything from any of the Secret service agents that’s survived the kidnapping?

Chloe: There’s only one so far. He’s in surgery.

Jack: Any other witnesses?

Chloe: The son, Richard. They’re bringing him in now.

Jack: OK. Get back to me as soon as you’ve got anything on Secretary Heller or Audrey.

Chloe: Sure. Bad luck about Audrey being there when her dad got kidnapped.

Jack: Yeah. I’m going to my car to get my things.

Ronnie: So let me understand this; Bauer illegally shoots a suspect, and now you’re gonna let him back in the field.

Driscoll: He’ll only give us the location if I let him work on it.

Ronnie: He can’t hold back information, Erin. It’s not his privilege.

Driscoll: We don’t have time to interrogate him. It’s a simple job, Ronnie. You pick up the subject, and you bring him in.

Ronnie: Bauer has not been in the field for a year and a half, OK? That has consequences. It’s my ass that’s on the line.

Driscoll: Which is why I need you to keep him on a tight leash. It’s not optional – it’s an order.

Ronnie: Fine.

------------------------

Behrooz: I’m ready to go.

Dina: This is a simple task, Behrooz. But these are the ones where mistakes can be made. Drive carefully. If there is anyone in the area who looks suspicious, drive away and call us. Understood?

Behrooz: Yes.

[The phone rings.]

Dina: Hello?

Debbie: Mrs. Araz, this is Debbie.

Dina: Yes, Debbie. What can I do for you?

Debbie: Can I please talk to Behrooz?

Dina: Let me see if he’s here. Hold on.

Dina: What does she want?

Behrooz: I don’t know. Debbie?

Debbie: I’ve left like 10 messages on your cell phone. Why haven’t you called me back?

Behrooz: I’m sorry. I’ve been busy.

Debbie: Doing what?

Behrooz: Working for my father.

Debbie: I don’t believe you. Look, Behrooz, if you’re seeing someone else at least have the decency to tell me.

Behrooz: I’m not seeing anyone else.

Debbie: Then why are you avoiding me?

Behrooz: I’m not. Look, Debbie, this isn’t the right time to do this.

Debbie: See? That’s what I’m talking about. You’re still avoiding me.

Behrooz: I’m not.

Debbie: Then why can’t we talk now?

Behrooz: Because I can’t. I’ve gotta go.

[Behrooz hangs up the phone.]

Debbie: Behrooz!

Dina: Behrooz. That’s not the right way to deal with this situation. This girl needs to know it’s over and that there will be no more phone calls.

Behrooz: I’ll take care of it later. I don’t wanna be late getting this to Omar.

------------------------

Curtis: You sent Jack Bauer on the field?

Driscoll: He’ll be with Ronnie.

Curtis: Yeah, but why?

Driscoll: He knows our procedures, and he may have information about Heller that will be useful.

[Chloe enters.]

Driscoll: What is it, Chloe?

Chloe: Curtis, you wanted me to let you know when Richard Heller had arrived. He’s on his way to holding.

Curtis: All right, thanks. Do you want me to choreograph jurisdictions?

Driscoll: No, I’ll do it. Find out what the son knows. Chloe, I’d like to talk to you. Has it occurred to you that we might be farther along if you trusted me half as much as you trust Jack Bauer?

Chloe: You know what, Ms. Driscoll? I’m really not in the mood to play the part of the scared student at the principal’s office. I came to you with important information that my friend Andrew gave to me, and you chose to not respond to it.

Driscoll: When you came to me with the original information we were looking for sherak, were we not?

Chloe: Yes.

Driscoll: He was our most important lead at the time, wasn’t he?

Chloe: I guess.

Driscoll: Then my question to you is: once we had Sherak in custody, if you felt that your internet lead was still valuable, why didn’t you reprise it?

Chloe: You’re right. I felt more comfortable going to Jack.

Driscoll: Well, at least that’s honest. You can go back to work now.

------------------------

Jack: Check that, please.

Ronnie: For the record, Jack, I think Driscoll made a mistake by letting you come along.

Jack: All right.

Ronnie: And just so we’re clear; I give the orders.

Jack: I’m fine with that. Look, what happened earlier in holding with Sherak – I had Intel. I didn’t have time to do it any other way. I’m sorry.

Ronnie: Apology accepted. But if you try to exceed my authority again, I will stop you cold.

------------------------

Jack: OK, fine. Then talk to Marcie. Have her isolate all the death threats Heller’s received over the last six months. I want phone calls, Emails, mail, everything sent over to CTU for analysis. No, for the time being, I’m working with them. Yeah. OK, good. Thanks.

Ronnie: Has Heller been getting a lot of death threats lately?

Jack: No more than anyone else in the cabinet.

Ronnie: So what’s it’s like working in D.C.?

Jack: For the most part, we solve problems in theory that will never come into play. You wouldn’t be interested.

Ronnie: Then why do it?

Jack: I’ve got my reasons.

Ronnie: Hey, man… I’m just trying to make some conversation. I read your file. It must have really burned you up when Driscoll fired you.

Jack: She did me a favor. I wanted to get my life back. I wouldn’t have been able to do that if I was still doing field work.

Ronnie: So how’s the master plan going? Do you have a life yet?

Jack: Yeah. Yeah, I got a life. 

------------------------

Heller: We’ll be fine, honey. We’re still on U.S. soil.

Audrey: It’s not gonna help us if this is some sort of a suicide mission.

Heller: You said Jack tried to warn you about this before they grabbed us.

Audrey: Yeah, that’s right.

Heller: That means he must have a reliable source, which means our chances are good. Audrey, sit down. I am your father. Do you trust me?

Audrey: Of course I do.

Heller: Then listen. You cannot allow a negative thought to enter your head now. They will find us. We will be rescued. Say it.

Audrey: Please, dad, don’t.

Heller: We will be rescued. Say it, honey.

Audrey: We will be rescued.

Heller: We will be rescued.

Henchman: Take off your clothes.

Heller: You first.

Henchman: Take off your clothes.

Heller: Go to hell.

Audrey: Stop. Stop it. Dad…

------------------------

Man: Who is it? 

Behrooz: It’s Behrooz.

Henchman: Behrooz. Good job, Behrooz.

Behrooz: Debbie, what are you doing here?

Debbie: I followed you.

Behrooz: Why?

Debbie: Because I didn’t believe you. I thought you were seeing someone else.

Behrooz: Look around. Does it look like I’m seeing anybody else? Debbie, you shouldn’t be here. I’m here doing business for my father. He doesn’t like me socializing when I’m working for him.

Debbie: OK. I get it. But it doesn’t explain why you stopped calling me.

Behrooz: It’s my parents. They’ve got a problem with me seeing someone who’s…

Debbie: Not Muslim?

Behrooz: Yeah.

Debbie: And that’s it? Whatever they say you do.

Behrooz: No.

Debbie: Then what’s going on between us, Behrooz? Do you wanna be with me or not?

Behrooz: I do, but…

Debbie: But what?

Behrooz: Debbie, I wanna straighten things out, OK? But I can’t do it now. We’ll get together later. Debbie, please.

------------------------

Curtis: Is everything ready in Richard Heller’s holding cell?

Sarah: Just about. They brought in the equipment and they’re starting to hook him up.

Curtis: Then let’s do it.

Sarah: Does Driscoll know that you’re subjecting the Secretary of Defense’s son to a lie detector?

Curtis: Yeah.

Sarah: Is he a suspect?

Curtis: Not exactly. But he’s objecting to his own father. I wouldn’t wanna rule anything out. You wanna be in the room on this?

Driscoll: No. I’ll observe through the one-way.

Richard: What are you doing to me? What are you doing?

Curtis: I just wanna make sure you’re telling us the truth.

Richard: Why would I lie to you? My father and my sister have just been kidnapped!

Curtis: Please sit back, Richard, or I’ll have to sedate you.

Richard: You can’t do this to me. My father is the Secretary of Defense.

Curtis: I understand. But according to my information, you were about to unleash personal attacks on your father and the President at a rally at Lockheed.

Richard: Are you insane? This is America. I can say what I want in public. How dare you treat me like a criminal?

Curtis: No one’s treating you like a criminal.

Richard: You wanna do something constructive? Why don’t you go find my father and my sister?

Curtis: We intend to.

Richard: Yeah, by treating me like I’m guilty or something!

Curtis: Richard, right now you’re the only witness to your father and your sister’s kidnapping. We need your help.

Richard: Then why don’t you get these things off of me and start talking to me like a normal human being?

Curtis: You don’t have anything to hide, do you?

Richard: No.

Driscoll: How’s the polygraph?

Sarah: 100%.

------------------------

Behrooz: Father.

Navi: How did everything go?

Behrooz: It went fine.

Navi: Omar said one of his men saw you with someone outside the compound. A young woman.

Behrooz: I was going to tell you.

Navi: Who was it?

Behrooz: Debbie.

Navi: Where is she now?

Behrooz: She didn’t see anything.

Navi: She saw you outside the compound. That’s enough.

Behrooz: No.

Navi: We’ve spent years planning for this, waiting for this day to come. Now it’s here, and you’ve compromised everything.

Behrooz: She didn’t see anything, I made sure of it.

Navi: We’ll see how much she knows. Call her and tell her to come here.

Behrooz: Father, please don’t do this. It’s not necessary.

Navi: I decide what’s necessary, not you.

Behrooz: What are you going to do to her?

Navi: Since when do you question me? How long have we lived in this country preparing for this day? How long?

Behrooz: Four years.

Navi: Almost five. That’s how much time can be erased by a simple mistake. Call her, now.

Behrooz: Yes, Sir.

------------------------

Tim Philson: Tim Philson, MTA.

Ronnie: Ronnie Lobell, CTU. Head of Field Ops. Where’s track 3?

Tim Philson: The east entrance. If you want, I can have my guys lock it down.

Ronnie: No, no. Don’t draw attention to anything yet.

Tim Philson: The platform’s just at the end.

[Andrew’s phone rings.]

Andrew: Hello?

Chloe: Andrew, it’s me.

Andrew: Where are these guys?

Chloe: They’re on site. They should be there any minute.

Andrew: All right. Tell them to hurry up.

Chloe: It doesn’t work that way. Just stay where you are and I’ll talk to you when they bring you in.

Andrew: OK.

Kalil: Andrew.

Andrew: Yeah. Umm… are you Jack Bauer?

Kalil: Yes. Come on. Let’s go.

Andrew: Where are we going?

Kalil: I’ll explain later. It’s not safe here. Let’s go. Just around the corner.

Ronnie: Are you sure he said the bottom of the ramp?

Jack: Yeah.

[Jack calls Andrew’s cell phone. Andrew answers it.]

Andrew: Hello?

Jack: Andrew.

Andrew: Who’s this?

Jack: It’s Jack Bauer. Where are you? Andrew?

Andrew: I can’t really… talk.

Kalil: Let’s go.

Jack: Andrew? Andrew? Son of a bitch! They got to him before we did.

Ronnie: How did they know where he was gonna be?

Jack: I don’t know!

Andrew: Who are you?

Kalil: I’m the man that’s going to kill you if you don’t follow my instructions.

Jack: Tim, come on. Alert your MTA’s, tell them we’ve got a Caucasian male, early 20’s, wearing a brown jacket, caring a black bag, may have been taken from this station against his will. Tell your men not to engage the target. I want a visual and a location, that’s it, now.

------------------------

Andrew: Where are you taking me?

Marks: This is Marks. I’ve got the target sighted.

Tim: What’s your twenty?

Marks: I’m on the train platform. Target is on the eastern periphery, second level parking lot.

Kalil: Open the door.

Marks: They’re getting into a dark blue Lexus.

Ronnie: What’s the fastest way?

Tim: Straight out the back.

Ronnie: Tell your men to stay out of sight.

Tim: Marks, stay on the guy. Make sure he doesn’t see you.

Kalil: Lay down.

Ronnie: There he is. You get the gate, I’ll get the kid out of the car.

Jack: Wait!

Ronnie: Wait for what?

Jack: This isn’t the right play.

Ronnie: What are you talking about?

Jack: If we follow this guy, maybe he’ll lead us to Heller.

Ronnie: Or maybe he won’t, but you know he’ll kill the kid, Jack.

Jack: Right now this hostile’s our best chance to find Secretary Heller.

Ronnie: We’ll break him back at CTU.

Jack: You don’t know if we can break him in time.

Ronnie: This is not a Field Ops call, Jack. We need authorization.

Jack: I can’t take the chance with Driscoll resisting me.

Ronnie: I told you not to go against me, Jack.

Jack: Ronnie, please.

Ronnie: Get up. Interlace your hands behind your head.

Jack: You’re making a mistake.

Ronnie: Shut up.

[Ronnie handcuffs Jack to a railing.]

MTA Officer: He’s in the parking lot. What do you want me to do?

Ronnie: This is agent Lobell. I’m moving in now. Let the front car go ahead and lock in the hostile.

[Ronnie approaches the car, and Kalil shoots him.]

Jack: Ronnie. Ronnie, where have you been hit? Can you move? Ronnie. Give me the keys to the cuffs. Please, Ronnie, he’s our only lead. I’ve gotta stop him. Come on.

[Ronnie hands the keys over to Jack and he frees himself.]

------------------------

Curtis: Tell me what happened, Richard.

Richard: Father and I were talking, and my sister came in with a phone call for him.

Curtis: So he was in the room in the call?

Richard: No. He and Audrey went outside.

Curtis: Go on.

Richard: And then I heard an explosion and I looked out the window and I see them both being grabbed.

Curtis: And they didn’t come in and get you?

Edgar: Excuse me, I know you told me not to interrupt, but we need you on the floor.

Driscoll: What’s going on?

Edgar: A web cast signal’s being pushed on to servers all over the place.

Driscoll: A web cast of what?

Edgar: Secretary of Defense Heller. The terrorists are broadcasting this all over the internet. Call Curtis.

Sarah: Curtis, we need you on the floor.

------------------------

Jack: There you are, you son of a bitch.

------------------------

Omar: We speak for the men, women and children who have had no voice until now, who have been victimized by the genocidal policies of the United Stated that James Heller has advanced. But the time has come for the victims to demand justice.

Driscoll: Edgar, isolate Secretary Heller.

Omar: Our soldiers have taken the terrorist James Heller into custody. In three hours Heller will be tried for war crimes against humanity. If he is proven guilty, he will be executed in a curvant with our laws. Because we have nothing to hide, the world would have full access to these proceedings.


____________________
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Previously on 24:

Andrew: Who’s this?

Jack: Andrew, my name is Jack Bauer. I work for Secretary of Defense Heller. Secretary Heller was kidnapped less than half an hour ago. I believe the same people that kidnapped him are the ones that are chasing you now. The safest thing for you to do right now is let me bring you in.

------------------------

Kalil: I found the person who stumbled onto our server.

Navi: Is he with you now?

Kalil: No. I’ll have him shortly.

Navi: Find out who he’s talked to.

------------------------

Andrew: Who are you?

Kalil: I’m the man that’s going to kill you if you don’t follow my instructions.

------------------------

Dina: This is a simple task, Behrooz. But these are the ones where mistakes can be made.

------------------------

Behrooz: Debbie, what are you doing here?

Debbie: I followed you.

------------------------

Navi: Omar saw you with someone outside the compound.

Behrooz: She didn’t see anything, I made sure of it.

Navi: We’ve spent years planning for this, waiting for this day to come. Now it’s here, and you’ve compromised everything.

------------------------

Driscoll: It’s a simple job, Ronnie. You pick up the subject, and you bring him in.

Ronnie: Bauer has not been in the field for a year and a half, OK?

Driscoll: Which is why I need you to keep him on a tight leash.

------------------------

Ronnie: For the record, Jack, I think Driscoll made a mistake by letting you come along.

------------------------

Ronnie: You get the gate, I’ll get the kid out of the car.

------------------------

Richard: My father is the Secretary of Defense.

Curtis: Richard, right now you’re the only witness to your father and your sister’s kidnapping. We need your help. You don’t have anything to hide, do you?

------------------------

Heller: We’ll be fine, honey. We’re still on U.S. soil.

Audrey: What are they gonna do to us?

Heller: I don’t know, but if they wanted me dead, they would have killed me at Richard’s house.

------------------------

Omar: Our soldiers have taken the terrorist James Heller into custody. In three hours Heller will be tried for war crimes against humanity. If he is proven guilty, he will be executed in a curvet with our laws.

The following takes place between 9:00 A.M. and 10:00 A.M.

Keeler: As you are all aware, the Secretary of Defense and his daughter have been kidnapped by a terrorist cell. The terrorists have announced that they will put Jim on trial for war crimes, then execute him. All of it broadcasted to the world. Make no mistake; this country is under attack. Foreign terrorists are operating on our soil. And intelligence indicates that the kidnapping may be some kind of trigger; a first step in a series of larger attacks. Mark, what kind of protective actions are being taken?

Mark: We changed all the codes and protocols the Secretary has knowledge of. Also, the other cabinet members have been sequestered.

Keeler: All right. Melissa, where are we with trying to keep these people from broadcasting this?

Melissa: The media outlets will all cooperate and not air it, but the terrorists have announced that they will use the internet. And we cannot control that. They’re using technology that makes their feed untraceable, and we can’t shut down the internet without disabling the command and control functions of the government in the economy.

Mark: Mr. President, the only way to stop this is at the source. We have to find the terrorists and rescue Secretary Heller.

Keeler: Erin, where is CTU on this?

Driscoll: We have search teams out in force and we’re working a few active leads, Sir.

Keeler: Anything promising?

Driscoll: We’ll know very shortly, Mr. President.

Keeler: Keep us closely posted. Ladies and gentlemen, nothing takes priority over finding the people who have Jim Heller and stopping them. Thank you.

------------------------

Driscoll: Where are we with Heller’s son?

Curtis: We’re still trying to find out what he knows.

Driscoll: If he had anything to do with his father’s abduction, we need to know. Get on it.

Chloe: Well, try his emergency frequency.

Driscoll: What’s going on? Where’s Ronnie and Bauer with the witness?

Chloe: We don’t know.

Driscoll: What?

Chloe: I just got off the phone with transit police. The hostile intercepted Andrew Paige at the station. We can’t reach Ronnie or Jack.

Driscoll: What do you mean, you can’t reach them?

Chloe: They’re not answering their phones and there’s been a report of a shooting at the station. I’m checking for an update right now.

Driscoll: Get recent pictures of Andrew Paige and get them to our people on the ground. Also, set up a security grid around the station.

Sarah: My system’s already logged on to the station. I can get it faster.

Driscoll: All right, fine. You do tactical with me. Let’s go, Edgar.

[The phone at Edgar’s workstation rings.]

Edgar: Edgar Stiles.

Jack: It’s Jack. Let me speak to Erin.

Edgar: Ms. Driscoll, Jack Bauer’s on line 1.

[Erin picks up the phone.]

Driscoll: Where are you? Why have you and Ronnie not been in contact?

Jack: Erin, Ronnie’s been killed.

Driscoll: What are you talking about?

Jack: He was shot by a hostile who kidnapped Andrew Paige.

Driscoll: Where are you now?

Jack: I’m in transit. I’m tracking them. But he doesn’t know it.

Driscoll: Give me your location. I’ll send backup to apprehend him.

Jack: Erin, I don’t think that’s the right call. I believe that if I follow them, they’re gonna lead me to Secretary Heller and the men who kidnapped him.

Driscoll: Listen to me. The terrorists have just announced that they are going to try and execute Heller in less than three hours. Bring the man in now!

Jack: Right now this is our best chance of finding him by then.

Driscoll: Jack, we had a deal!

Jack: Erin, you’re breaking up. Listen, have SWAT and rescue teams standing by. I’ll call you as soon as the hostile reaches his destination.

[Jack hangs up the call.]

Driscoll: That call - do you have a location?

Edgar: No, it had a block on it.

Driscoll: I’ve just been informed that Ronnie Lobell has been killed in the line of duty. The killer was a hostile connected to Heller’s abduction. At this point, Jack Bauer is no longer cooperating with this investigation. All departments need to be working on the location and capture of Jack Bauer and the hostile that he’s tracking down. Sarah, I need you to reconfigure the grid and to include roots away from the station. I want all ground teams on this.
[Chloe calls the MTA.]

Guy: MTA downtown.

Chloe: This is Chloe O’Brien from CTU. Do you have any new information about the kid who was abducted from your station?

Guy: No. We told you everything had a few minutes ago.

Chloe: What about surveillance cams? I can access them if you give me the port codes.

Guy: We’re looking at them right now, Ms. O’Brien. There’s nothing.

Chloe: Thanks.

[Chloe hangs up. Sarah calls her.]

Chloe: Yes?

Sarah: What are you doing there? I need you to help me with this grid.

Chloe: What kind of help do you need?

Sarah: The northeast quadrant has passed coding, and I don’t…

Chloe: Pilot-0-1.

Sarah: What?

Chloe: That’s the log in.

Sarah: Chloe, could you just get back here?

Chloe: My friend Andrew, who I promised would be OK, do you mind if I try to find him?

------------------------

[Kalil calls Omar.]

Omar: Yes?

Kalil: I have the programmer.

Omar: Good. We need to know what he told CTU as soon as possible. Proceed as planned.

Kalil: Understood. There was a problem at the train station.

Omar: What happened?

Kalil: A Federal agent interfered, I killed him.

Omar: Are you being pursued?

Kalil: No. If anyone had left the station after me, they would have caught up to me now.

Omar: Unless they don’t want you to know they’re there. Take precautions. Make sure that you are not being followed. Go.

[Kalil quickly exits the freeway. Jack hangs an illegal u-turn, putting him in the wrong direction out the freeway entrance.]

Jack: Move!

------------------------

Audrey: Dad. Are you OK? Did the hurt you?

Heller: No. They just wanted me present while they broadcast an announcement. They’re gonna put me on trial.

Audrey: For what?

Heller: Crimes against humanity.

Audrey: That’s ridiculous. When?

Heller: Less than three hours.

Audrey: Dad, I’m sure that Jack and the President are doing everything they can to find us. Maybe they’ll get here before than.

Heller: I can deal with anything these bastards have got for me. I wish you hadn’t come this morning, that’s all.

Omar: This is a list of the offences you are being charged with. Sign it.

Heller: I’m a senior member of the United States government. I’m not signing it.

Omar: Then you will die, Mr. Secretary. Pick up the document and sign it.

[Omar’s henchman threatens to kill Audrey.]

Audrey: No!

Heller: Let her go! Leave her alone, you son of a bitch! Come on, leave her alone!

Omar: Kill her!

Heller: All right, all right. I’ll sign it.

Omar: Pick up the document. Pick it up.

[Heller picks up the document and signs it.]

------------------------

Driscoll: Where are we on finding Bauer?

Curtis: So far, nowhere.

Driscoll: That’s unacceptable.

Curtis: There are a lot of places he could be. We’re working up everything we can.

Driscoll: What else are you doing to find Heller?

Curtis: After I’m done here, I’m gonna go and find out what the on Richard knows. Sarah’s working on the forensics from the kidnapping.

[The phone at Sarah’s workstation rings.]

Driscoll: Have you gotten anything new yet?

Sarah: No.

Driscoll: Great. What else?

[Sarah picks up the phone.]

Sarah: Sarah Gavin.

Edger: I tried to trace the origin of the terrorists’ web cast.

Driscoll: And?

Edger: The code’s been braded and I can’t get into their system files.

Driscoll: In other word, nothing.

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, it’s the President.

Driscoll: Make something happen. Yes, Mr. President?

Keeler: I understand you lost one of your field ops operatives.

Driscoll: Yes, we did.

Keeler: Did the engagement yield any witnesses or prisoners?

Driscoll: Not yet, but there’s some hope.

Keeler: Tell me.

Driscoll: Jack Bauer who, as you know, used to work here is currently in the field, trailing a suspect.

Keeler: Trailing him? Why doesn’t he bring him in?

Driscoll: We’re in the process of doing that, Sir.

Keeler: Erin, are we going to be able to save Jim and his daughter before this “trial” starts?

Driscoll: I certainly hope so, Sir. Mr. President, I have to ask you something now as we may not have time later.

Keeler: What is it?

Driscoll: We may find ourselves in a situation where we have Heller’s location, but can’t extract him safely. If that’s the case, would you authorize, in advance, an all-out assault?

Keeler: The assumption being that the Secretary would not survive.

Driscoll: Correct.

Keeler: We’ll cross that bridge if the scenario presents itself.

Driscoll: Yes, Sir.

Keeler: Goodbye, Erin.

------------------------

[Curtis’ cell phone rings. He answers it.]

Curtis: Manning.

Marianne: Hey, Curtis. It’s Marianne. Look, I know you’re busy with the Heller kidnapping.

Curtis: Yes, I am.

Marianne: My friend Ilene said you’re calling all level 5 consultants today because you’re overloaded there.

Curtis: We got in some personnel because of a crisis.

Marianne: She said you struck my name from the list. Why?

Curtis: You don’t meet the criteria, Marianne.

Marianne: Don’t give me that, Curtis. I have the qualifications, and I have the clearance. Why’d you exclude me?

Curtis: All right, you want it straight? I don’t think we work very well together.

Marianne: Why? Because we slept together a few times and you stopped calling me?

Curtis: I stopped calling you because I realized you were using me to get ahead in your career.

Marianne: That’s you interpretation, Curtis. You didn’t seem to have a problem with it at the time.

Curtis: I’m not gonna have this conversation.

Marianne: Fine. I’ll have a word with Erin Driscoll.

Curtis: Marianne--

Marianne: Consulting at CTU would be a huge opportunity for me, Curtis. And I’m not gonna let you get in the way because you’re uncomfortable.

[Marianne hangs up.]

Sarah: Where should I post those FBI bulletins?

Curtis: Exit 3. 

------------------------

[Jack calls Chloe. She answers.]

Chloe: O’Brien.

Jack: Chloe, it’s me. Can you talk?

Chloe: Jack, what the hell happened with Andrew?

Jack: Someone got to him before we could pick him up. Did you tell anyone at CTU where we were supposed to meet him?

Chloe: No. What are you doing, Jack? Driscoll just announced you’re operating outside her authority.

Jack: I don’t have a choice. She’s not handling it the right way.

Chloe: What if you’re wrong?

Jack: I’m not. This is the best chance we have of finding Secretary Heller.

Chloe: Jack, if anything happens to Andrew…

Jack: Chloe, I’m doing the best I can, but right now our first priority is to find these terrorists.

Chloe: So why are you calling me?

Jack: The hostile’s headed towards the canyons. I’m gonna need satellite surveillance to help me track him without being seen.

Chloe: You want me to steal satellite bandwidth from CTU without anyone knowing?

Jack: Yes.

Chloe: Where are you?

Jack: I’m on Orchid Road. Just going to the 14 about 4 miles east of Valencia.

Chloe: OK. Caltrans has traffic cams in the area, but you will need satellite coverage once he gets closer to the canyons.

Jack: Call me back as soon as you’ve got the coverage. I’ll keep a private channel open.

Chloe: I will.

Edger: Who was that?

Chloe: It was personal.

Sarah: Something wrong?

Edger: I’m not sure. Chloe’s acting kinda strange.

Sarah: That’s nothing new.

------------------------

Curtis: Hey. What do you need?

Driscoll: I just got off the phone with Marianne Taylor.

Curtis: Erin, whatever she told you, it’s coming from a very disturbed place.

Driscoll: That may be. But she’s as qualified as any of the others you’ve brought in today.

Curtis: I’m not comfortable working with her. That should be enough for you.

Driscoll: Normally, it would be. However, she mentioned that your pillow talk included a synopsis of the new data miming protocols.

Curtis: That’s a lie. If she got that information it was from someone else. Now she’s using it against me.

Driscoll: She knows details about the new UVX system. That’s classified information. She can force us into a section 1 security reboot and drag us through a six month investigation.

Curtis: I don’t believe this.

Driscoll: I asked her to com in. Deal with it. Do you have the results for Secretary Heller’s son yet?

Curtis: Yeah. The polygraph makes clear he didn’t have any knowing involvement with his father’s kidnapping.

Driscoll: But?

Curtis: He’s still insisting he didn’t tell anyone he’s father’s coming to his house this morning. The polygraph was inconclusive on that point.

Driscoll: Do you think he’s lying?

Curtis: It’s possible. Richard was the only one who knew where his father will be this morning. He may have told someone about it.

Driscoll: Why would Richard protect somebody who’s betrayed him?

Curtis: He felt he’s too arrogant to believe that’s what happened.

Driscoll: It’ll take days to go through his phone records. I want you to see if you can get the name out of him another way.

Curtis: What do you mean?

Driscoll: You know what I mean.

Curtis: Erin, we’re not even sure he’s guilty of anything.

Driscoll: This is how we’ll find out. Get started.

------------------------

Behrooz: Did father talk to you? About Debbie?

Dina: What about her?

Behrooz: When dad told me to take the briefcase to Omar, Debbie followed me. She didn’t know where I was going, she just wanted to talk.

Dina: Debbie saw the warehouse where we’re holding Heller?

Behrooz: Yes. But there wasn’t anything I could do about it.

Dina: You could have broken up with her a month ago, like your father and I told you to.

Behrooz: I know I made a mistake, but father found out she was with me and now he wants me to get her over here. You know what that means. If he thinks there’s the slightest chance she could expose what we’re doing…

Dina: I didn’t realize you felt so strongly about her.

Behrooz: She’s not going to mess anything up, I swear to you.

Dina: What do you want me to do?

Behrooz: Talk to him. He’ll listen to you. Please.

Dina: OK. Your father is on his way to a meeting. I’ll try to reach him.

Behrooz: Thanks, mom.

------------------------

Richard: When can I get out of here?

Curtis: This is Darren.

Richard: What the hell are you doing? Get your hands off me!

Curtis: Who else knew your father would be at your house this morning?

Richard: I told you, no one.

[Darren gets a syringe out of his briefcase.]

Richard: What are you, crazy?

Curtis: It’s worsening your retransmitted level. Makes every nerve within your body feels like it’s on fire.

Richard: You’re bluffing. I know you can’t get away with this.

Curtis: By the time you’re released, the mark on your arm will be gone. It’ll be just your word against mine.

Richard: My father’s the Secretary of Defense, for God’s sake!

Curtis: I thought you hated him. Now he’s “dear old dad”?

Richard: Help me! Stop! Please! Help me! Help…!

Curtis: Stop.

[Curtis goes out to the observation room where Driscoll has been watching.]

Curtis: I can’t do that. I’m not Darren work on Richard Heller.

Driscoll: Why not?

Curtis: Maybe he’s protecting a friend. But he doesn’t know anything about the involvement of the terrorists. It’s an inappropriate use of force.

Driscoll: I gave you an order.

Curtis: Then give it to me in writing, Erin.

Driscoll: What are you suggesting, Curtis? That we release him?

Curtis: No. I’ve seen good results with sensory disorientation. Cut off his sight. It’s non-invasive.

Driscoll: Fine. Try it.

------------------------

[Dina calls Navi as he is entering a restaurant.]

Navi: Yes?

Dina: I just spoke with Behrooz. He told me about the problem with his girlfriend. He’s really upset, Navi.

Navi: That’s not concerns me. He has feelings for this girl despite what he told us. Now she’s seen the warehouse.

Dina: I know. It’s very troubling.

Navi: I told him to get her over to the house so we can question her. Did he make her come?

Dina: No. He asked me to talk to you instead. [Whispers to Behrooz]: Go upstairs.

Navi: What are we going to do?

Behrooz: Are you talking to father?

Dina [to Navi]: I’ll talk to you soon.

Navi: You’ll take care of this?

Dina: Yes.

Navi: Thank you.

Behrooz: What did he say? Do I still have to call Debbie and get her over here?

Dina: No.

Behrooz: Thank you.

------------------------

Kalil [to Andrew]: I’m gonna pull over soon and we’re gonna talk, OK? Good. There’s some things I need you to know. Today is not about me, or you. It’s about something bigger. What I need to know with certainty is that whatever you saw on the internet will not interfere with what we have planned. You have to convince me of that.

------------------------

[Jack’s phone rings. It is Chloe.]

Jack: Yeah?

Chloe: It’s gonna be a while on the satellite. Ever since Heller was taken, the load is through the roof.

Jack: How much longer?

Chloe: I’m not sure yet. What is your current position exactly? I need it to update the request.

Jack: The suspect pulled over just past Mile murk at 31.

Chloe: What did he get off for? There’s nothing there.

Jack: I don’t know. Chloe, I gotta go. Get back to me as soon as you’ve got the satellite coverage. 

[Kalil’s men start beating up Andrew.]

Henchman: Get up.

Andrew: Stop.

Chloe: Jack, I’m watching this.

Jack: How?

Chloe: On Caltrans traffic cam. You gotta stop this.

Jack: If I intercede right now we lose our opportunity to find Secretary Heller.

Kalil: What did you tell CTU?

Andrew: That someone was preparing to distribute some kind of positioning code on the internet.

Kalil: What else?

Andrew: I tried to dig deeper, but everything was in some kind of Arabic. I couldn’t read it.

Kalil: That’s all you told CTU?

Andrew: Yes, I promise.

Kalil: Are you sure?

Chloe: Jack, stop them. Just stop them.

Andrew: That’s all I know, I swear, I promise. Please, just don’t hurt me anymore. Please.

[Kalil calls Omar.]

Kalil: I talked to the programmer. I don’t think there’s a problem. He didn’t tell CTU enough to be able to stop us.

Omar: Are you sure?

Kalil: Yes. He only got a brief glimpse of the code. He was never logged onto our server.

Omar: I need you here. Get back on the road. Have them see what else they can find out, and then get rid of the body.

Kalil: I will see you soon.

[Back at CTU, Sarah comes up to Chloe.]

Sarah: Chloe, have you opened a secure pipe to Division?

Chloe: Ask Edgar.

Sarah: I did. He’s busy.

Chloe: Well, I’m busy too.

Sarah: Why are you always so impatient with everybody?

Chloe: Not everybody, just you. Now please go away.

Sarah: Bitch.

Chloe: Jack, what’s happening? 

Jack: The hostile’s moving. I’ve gotta follow him.

Chloe: Jack, you can’t leave Andrew there, they’ll kill him. Jack. Jack, please. Jack?

[Kalil drives off. Chloe watches as the other two men prepare to kill Andrew. Jack quickly shoots both of them.]

Chloe: Jack? Jack?

Jack: Yeah.

Chloe: Is Andrew alive?

Jack: Yes. Dispatch an ambulance to this location. Get me the damn satellite coverage.

Chloe: That’s right. Just off the road, next to the 31 mile marker. Please get there as fast as you can.

[Chloe goes to the bathroom to break down in tears.]

Curtis: What’s wrong?

------------------------

Heller: When the trial begins you may have an opportunity to escape. You have to take it even if it’s dangerous.

Audrey: Maybe we’ll have a chance before then.

Heller: They’re never going to take their eyes off of me. It has to be when their attention is on the trial.

Audrey: I don’t wanna get out of here without you.

Heller: Forget about me. You have to take every chance. Promise me.

Audrey: Dad, I… I can’t.

Heller: Yes, you can. You can. I want you to live your life, a full life. I want you to have a family. That’s all I care about. You’re my baby.

Audrey: I can’t do it.

Heller: Yes, you can. You can do it. Come on now.

------------------------

[Jack calls Chloe.]

Sarah: Chloe, you want me to get that?

Chloe: No. O’Brien.

Jack: Chloe, it’s me.

Chloe: I was just looking at the CHP dispatch report. Andrew is in really bad shape. I will never forgive you, do you hear me?

Jack: Chloe, I understand how you feel, but you’ve gotta think through this clearly. We have terrorists on U.S. soil. They’ve bombed a train, and they’ve kidnapped the Secretary of Defense. Right now our only chance is to follow this hostile and hope that he leads us to Secretary Heller.

Chloe: No, I’m not listening to you anymore. This is over. I’m going to Driscoll.

Jack: No, you won’t, Chloe, ‘cause you know I’m right.

Chloe: No, I don’t.

Jack: Chloe, if you didn’t believe in what I was doing, you’d have turned me in already.

Chloe: I hate that this is happening.

Jack: So do I. Chloe, I can’t do this without you. I need your help to stop them. Chloe.

Chloe: What?

Jack: Are you with me?

Chloe: Yeah. I’ll call you as soon as I have the satellite.

Jack: Thank you.

Chloe: Yeah.

------------------------

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, this is Marianne Taylor.

Driscoll: Thank you. Miss Taylor.

Marianne: I’m very excited to have this opportunity to help you here. Hello, Curtis.

Curtis: Marianne.

Driscoll: Curtis, take Marianne to an empty station. Get her started on the data sorts.

Curtis: Let’s go. You’ll be working over here.

Marianne: You know, Curtis, I didn’t wanna go over your head, but you left me no choice.

Curtis: Is that so?

Marianne: I’ll let it go if you will.

Curtis: Get to work, Marianne.

[Curtis walks to Chloe’s desk.]

Curtis: Is there a problem?

Chloe: No, why?

Curtis: What are you working on?

Chloe: A Division protocol manifest.

Curtis: I need you to build a firewall around station 4.

Chloe: Who’s that?

Curtis: Her name’s Marianne. I just wanna make sure she doesn’t stray outside the area for her assignment.

[The phone at Chloe’s workstation rings.]

Chloe: Fine. O’Brien.

Jack: Chloe, what’s going on?

Chloe: I don’t think I can do this, Jack.

Jack: Why? What’s the matter?

Chloe: Curtis has me spread too thin, and I’ve gotta get you a satellite under an overloaded system. I need more time.

Jack: We don’t have more time. In five minutes we’re gonna be coming up on Route 11. It’s a two-lane road. We’re gonna be the only cars for miles. There’s no way I can follow him without being seen.

Chloe: All right. I think I know a way to speed this up. I’ll get back to you.

[Edgar calls Chloe.]

Edgar: Chloe, the satellite subsystem’s stuck, and Driscoll wants these updates right now.

Chloe: OK, I’ll be right there. I hope Driscoll doesn’t get too upset. She really overreacts sometimes. Oh, this happened to me a few days ago. You can retrieve all your files through the auto backup in the server room.

Edgar: Good idea.

[Chloe calls Jack.]

Jack: Yeah?

Chloe: All right, I managed to steal your block in time, but there’s no continues coverage in the area you’re in. I’ll have to order reposition.

Jack: Fine, then do it. Hold on. It looks like we’re catching a break. He’s pulling into a gas station.

Chloe: I hope he stays there a while, ‘cause this is gonna take some time.

Jack: Get back to me as soon as you got it.

Chloe: OK, I will.

------------------------

Marianne: You’re Edgar, right?

Edgar: Yeah.

Marianne: Hi, I’m Marianne Taylor. Erin Driscoll asked me to come in and help on data logistics.

Edgar: Yeah, I heard something about that. Hi.

Marianne: So, umm… can you do me a favor?

Edger: A favor?

Marianne: Yeah. You know, everyone’s really busy and I just feel like I’d be more useful if I had an overall on what’s going on today.

Edger: The Secretary of Defense has been kidnapped.

Marianne: I know that. I mean tactically.

Edger: I really don’t have time for this. I’m a little busy.

Marianne: Why don’t you just give me the main points, OK?

Edger: All right, uh… we think Jack Bauer’s following one of the terrorists.

Marianne: We think?

Edger: Yeah, it’s a little loose right now. He’s off on his own doing this, and we can’t find him.

Marianne: I thought Bauer didn’t even work here anymore.

Edger: He doesn’t. Driscoll gave him authority to do just one thing.

Marianne: All right. Thanks, Edgar. 

------------------------

Curtis: Richard. How long do you think it’s been?

Richard: What?

Curtis: How long do you think you’ve been sitting here like this?

Richard: 3, 4 hours.

Curtis: It’s been less than 30 minutes. Time is the first thing you lose track of in sensory disorientation, and that only gets worse.

Richard: This isn’t legal. You can’t keep me here.

Curtis: You’ll be here until you tell me what I need to know.

Richard: I told you everything I know.

Curtis: Your father was kidnapped by terrorists. Our polygraph analysis tells us you’re hiding something that might help us find him. Just tell me what it is and all this stops.

Richard: I’m not going to do this.

Curtis: If you don’t care enough about your father to tell me what I need to know, I’ll get it out of you this way.

Richard: You’re not gonna do this! Please! No! Stop it! Stop it!

------------------------

[Jack calls Chloe.]

Chloe: O’Brien.

Jack: What’s your time frame on the repositioning? He’s gonna be back on the road any minute.

Chloe: My request is still in the cue.

Jack: Chloe, we’ve gotta get that satellite coverage up and running now.

Chloe: There’s nothing I can do. You’re gonna have to find a way to keep him from coming back on the road. It’s gonna take a long as it takes.

Jack: Just hurry.

Chloe: OK, I will.

------------------------

Behrooz: Why is Debbie here? What did you do?

Dina: I called her and asked her to come over.

Behrooz: You said that you would help me. That you’d talk to father.

Dina: Your father’s right. We need to find out who she told about this morning.

Behrooz: I told you she didn’t see anything!

[Doorbell rings.]

Dina: Then there shouldn’t be any problem.

Behrooz: What did you say to her?

Dina: I told her I was concerned about the two of you and that I wanted to help.

Behrooz: Mom.

Dina: Behrooz, you know what’s at stake. You do as you’re told, understand?

[Dina opens the door.]

Dina: Debbie. Thank you for coming.

Debbie: Sure. Hi.

Behrooz: Hey.

Dina: Come in. Debbie, please. Make yourself comfortable in the living room. I’ll make tea.

Debbie: Hi.

Behrooz: Hey.

Debbie: I’m glad your mom called. If she and your dad have problems with us being together, we should talk about it.

Behrooz: Debbie…

Debbie: What’s wrong?

Behrooz: You don’t understand. You shouldn’t have come here.

Debbie: Why do you always say things like that?

------------------------

[Jack calls Chloe.]

Chloe: O’Brien.

Jack: Chloe, what’s your bottom line, am I gonna have satellite coverage over the next minute or two?

Chloe: I’m sorry, Jack. It’s gonna take at least another five.

Jack: That’s too long.

Chloe: It’s the best I can do.

Jack: Dammit. I’m gonna have to figure out a way to keep this guy here. Keep working on it.

Chloe: OK.

[Jack takes out a handgun and dons a mask. He pretends he’s there to rob the store. Kalil is one of the customers caught in the holdup.]

Jack: Everybody put your hands up now! You, don’t move!


____________________
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Previously on 24:

Omar: In three hours Heller will be tried for war crimes against humanity. If he is proven guilty, he will be executed in a curvet with our laws.

------------------------

Heller: When the trial begins you may have an opportunity to escape. You have to take it even if it’s dangerous.

------------------------

Behrooz: When dad told me to take the briefcase to Omar, Debbie followed me.

Dina: Debbie saw the warehouse where we’re holding Heller?

Behrooz: Yes. But father found out she was with me and now he wants me to get her over here. You know what that means.

Dina: Debbie. Thank you for coming.

Debbie: Sure.

------------------------

Curtis: I need you to build a firewall around station 4.

Chloe: Who’s that?

Curtis: Her name’s Marianne. I just wanna make sure she doesn’t stray outside the area for her assignment.

Chloe: Fine.

------------------------

Driscoll: Listen to me. The terrorists have just announced that they are going to try and execute Heller in less than three hours. Bring the man in now!

Jack: I don’t think that’s the right call. I believe that if I follow them, they’re gonna lead me to Secretary Heller and the men who kidnapped him.

Driscoll: Jack Bauer is no longer cooperating with this investigation. All departments need to be working on the location and capture of Jack Bauer and the hostile that he’s tracking down.

------------------------

Jack: Right now our first priority is to find these terrorists. I’m gonna need satellite surveillance to help me track him without being seen.

Chloe: You want me to steal satellite bandwidth from CTU without anyone knowing?

Jack: Yes.

------------------------

Jack: Am I gonna have satellite coverage over the next minute or two?

Chloe: I’m sorry, Jack. It’s gonna take at least another five.

Jack: I’m gonna have to figure out a way to keep this guy here. Keep working on it.

------------------------

Jack: Everybody put your hands up now! You, don’t move!

------------------------

The following takes place between 10:00 A.M. and 11:00 A.M.

Jack: Slowly move back to the corner. Everybody just stay calm. I’ll be out of here before you know it. You, hop up on the counter, and black out that camera. Anybody else working in the back? Put your hands up. Move over there with the others, now!

------------------------

Guy [on phone]: Do you have any ID’s on the other two?

Driscoll: I don’t know yet. If I did, I’d tell you.

Guy: I’ll keep you updated.

Driscoll: Thank you. Yeah. Please do. Briefing in 5 minutes. County just reported that Andrew Paige was taken into their ER in critical condition.

Curtis: Paige? The programmer Jack went to pick up?

Driscoll: That’s not all. The bodies of two unidentified Middle Eastern men were found at the site. Gunshot wounds.

Curtis: Bauer must have done that to save the kid. Where did they find all that?

Driscoll: Moorpark. It’s getting out of control. We had to lose an agent, and now one of our only witnesses has been disabled.

Curtis: What about the hostile and Bauer?

Driscoll: Still at large.

Curtis: Erin, we have less than three hours before Heller’s executed in front of the country. Maybe we shouldn’t concentrate everything on Bauer, pursue other leads.

Driscoll: Except for Heller’s son we have no other leads. I want all tactical teams working on finding Bauer and the hostile.

Curtis: You got it.

------------------------

Jack: Keep moving back towards the corner. Move! Everybody, get down on the ground. Lady, get down on the floor!

Guy: Take it easy.

Jack: Shut up! You wanna get through this, Lady? You listen to me, you understand? Get down on the floor now. I want your wallets and your cell phones. Make it quick. Where’s your cell phone?

Kalil: I don’t have one.

Jack: Where’s your cell phone? What’s this? Are you some kind of cop?

Kalil: No.

Jack: What do you need this for?

Kalil: Protection.

Jack: I get my money, no one gets hurt, do I make myself clear? You in the cap, what’s your name?

Guy: Doug.

Jack: Doug, give me your keys. Which one of these opens the front door? Which one?

Doug: The brash one.

Jack: Hi, I’m sorry. We’ve got an electrical problem with the store. We’re closed right now.

Woman: I just need a pack of cigarettes.

Jack: I’m sorry. You’re gonna have to go to the gas station across the street. Thank you.

[Jack calls Chloe.]

Chloe: O’Brien.

Jack: The satellite up yet?

Chloe: No, I have to reposition without Driscoll noticing. Where are you?

Jack: I’m on Mercury mart. I had to stage a robbery to keep the hostile in place. 

Chloe: What?

Jack: It was the only way I could stop him from getting back on the road. How much longer?

Chloe: It’s gonna take ten minutes.

Jack: Son of a bitch. Chloe, please hurry.

Chloe: I’ll get back to you.

Curtis: Chloe. Driscoll summons a briefing.

Chloe: I’ll be there in a couple of minutes.

Curtis: Chloe, now.

Marianne: Where are you going?

Curtis: To a briefing.

Marianne: Should I be in there?

Curtis: No.

Marianne: Hi. I’m Marianne. I’m helping out today.

Chloe: OK.

Marianne: And you are?

Curtis: This is Chloe O’Brien, our senior sys-tech. She doesn’t have the time to chat either, Marianne.

Marianne: It’s nice to meet you, Chloe.

Driscoll: As some of you know, about an hour ago a hostile abducted a witness in this case, Andrew Paige.

Sarah: Do we have any idea where this hostile is now?

Driscoll: No, but we have general direction of travel. County Emergency Services just called this in. His best route of escape is the freeway. He’ll likely dump his vehicle and try to hijack another one. This is Andrew Paige. He was apparently tortured and about to be killed, when it seems Jack Bauer intervened. Assuming this took place in the last half hour, and that the hostile was continuing east, he’s somewhere in the north-eastern corridor of Ventura County.

Curtis: We’ll coordinate with Caltrans, CHP and Ventura Sheriff to set up the watch points. I want every available resource on this. Edgar, take the lead in satellite positioning.

Driscoll: Sarah, you’ll coordinate with NSA. That’s all. Thank you. Chloe. I’m sorry about Andrew. I know he was a friend of yours. They said there’s a good chance he’ll come through.

Chloe: Thanks.

Driscoll: And Chloe? There’s nothing you could have done.

[Driscoll goes over to Sarah.]

Driscoll: I want you to put a pipe onto Chloe’s system.

Sarah: What for?

Driscoll: She knew about Andrew Paige.

Sarah: How do you know that?

Driscoll: Her reactions. Which means she’s been in touch with Jack Bauer.

Sarah: Well, I’ll need her access code.

------------------------

Jack: Doug, get over here now! Open the safe. That’s it?

Doug: Yeah. Why don’t you take it and leave? I won’t say anything to the police.

Jack: When does the armor truck make its pickup?

Doug: At 12:30. What, you wanna rob the armor truck too?

Jack: Shut up. Get back in the corner. Move!

Kalil [whispers]: He’s gonna keep us here another two hours. We have to do something to stop him.

------------------------

[Omar tries to reach Kalil on his cell phone.]

Omar: Dammit. Something is wrong. Kalil is not answering his phone.

Henchman: Maybe he’s out of range.

Omar: No, not for this long. Check with our people in the area. Find out if anything has happened to him. Kalil may not be here in time. We’ll have to start booting up the routers without him. Take care of it.

Heller: Let my daughter go. You don’t need her.

Omar: She has already been useful.

Heller: Please. I’ll do whatever you want.

Omar: I know you will. That’s why we are keeping her.

Heller: I don’t care if you kill me, but if you kill her even your own people will see you as a barbaric pig. This is what your religion teaches you?

Audrey: Dad, dad, calm down. Are you all right?

Heller: I’m fine.

Audrey: Where’s your medication? Your nitroglycerin, where is it?

Heller: I left it in the car.

Audrey: My father has a heart condition. He needs his medication.

------------------------

Driscoll: Any indication Chloe’s been in contact with Bauer?

Sarah: No.

Driscoll: Keep watching.

[Chloe calls Edgar.]

Edgar: This is Edgar Stiles.

Chloe: Edgar, it’s Chloe.

Edgar: Why are you calling me?

Chloe: I need to talk to you in private. Meet me in archives.

Edgar: When?

Chloe: Now.

Edgar: Why do we meet like this? I’m busy.

Chloe: Edgar, I need you to help me.

Edgar: Help you with what?

Chloe: Sarah piped into my system.

Edgar: Why would she do that?

Chloe: Driscoll must have asked her to, otherwise she wouldn’t have had access.

Edgar: Well, if Driscoll’s spying on you, I’m sure she got a good reason. I’m not getting involved.

Chloe: I’ve been in contact with Jack Bauer.

Edgar: What?

Chloe: That’s right. Now you’re involved, so you’re either gonna help me, or you’re gonna turn me in.

Edgar: I’m turning you in.

Chloe: Jack can find Heller if he’s allowed to follow the hostile, but Driscoll won’t let him.

Edgar: That’s her call.

Chloe: She is wrong.

Edgar: That’s your opinion. This decision is not ours to make.

Chloe: How about if you do it as a favor to me? How many times have I helped you since you started here? A lot. What about the first two weeks where I had to do all the work for you because you were too nervous? You owe me.

Edgar: You’re asking me to do something that can get me fired.

Chloe: Not if I say I ordered you to do it. Remember, I outrank you. I’ll take the hit.

Edgar: What do I have to do?

Chloe: I need to reposition a satellite for Jack, and I need to do it now. Since Sarah’s piped into my system, we have to use yours.

Edgar: OK.

Chloe: Send it to archives 3, and transfer my calls there.

------------------------

Heller: I wanna know who’s in charge here. I wanna speak to the man who was just in here.

Guard: You’ll speak to him later.

Heller: No, now! I am the Secretary of Defense of the United States of America. You will listen to me.

Audrey: Dad, don’t make it worse.

Heller: What do you mean, worse? What can be worse than waiting around here to be murdered by a bunch of lawless, godless thugs?

Audrey: Dad, calm down.

Heller: I don’t wanna calm down. Don’t tell me to calm down.

Audrey: What’s the point? We’re here, OK? The best thing we can do is keep our heads and hope that someone comes and rescue--

Heller: Hope? Hope that we get rescued? We have to do something! We have to take ah--

Audrey: What is it? Dad, what is it? What’s happening? Dad, look, just try to breathe. Take deep breaths. Help me’ please. I think he’s having a heart attack. Dad, look, you’ve gotta lie down. Lie down. Dad, are you listening to me? It’s OK, he’s coming.

Guard: Step back.

Audrey: Hurry.

Guard: Step away from him.

Audrey: We need to lie him down. Hurry. He’s gotta…

Guard: Step away.

[Heller jumps the guard from behind.]

Heller: Come on, get out of here!

[Audrey is surprised, but manages to grab a hammer and slam the guard in the stomach. She grabs his gun. They run out of the cell, and Heller shoots two more guards.]

Heller: Are you still with me?

Audrey: Yeah.

[Heller and Audrey are captured by Omar.]

Heller: Go back, go back.

Omar: Put your weapon down, slowly. Both of you, hands on your head. If another one of my men dies, your daughter will be killed.

------------------------

Jack: When the armor truck pulls up, how many man come inside?

Doug: Two. One stays by the door, and one picks up the money.

Jack: They park in the front or the back?

Doug: In the front, by the street.

Jack: Come on, let’s go. Everybody up! We’re moving to the back of the store. Now!

Doug: It’s right over there.

Guy: How long will you keep us here?

Jack: Shut up! Let’s go!

[Kalil tries to spray Jack with a can of bug spray he picked up from one of the sheves, but Jack takes him down.] 

Jack: You try that again, and I will kill you, you understand me? Get up. Now! Move to the back of the store.

[A police cruiser pulls into the parking lot.]

Jack: Dammit. Everybody in the freezer, now! [To Doug]Not you. Move! Anybody makes a sound, I kill all of you.

Officer Bill: Doug, you’re in there?

Jack: Make him go away.

Doug: Sorry, I didn’t hear you. I was I the back room.

Officer Bill: How come you’re closed?

Doug: I’m taking inventory.

Officer Bill: In the middle of the day?

Doug: Yeah.

Officer Bill: OK then. Are you sure everything’s all right?

Doug: Yeah, fine.

Officer Bill: You don’t look fine, Doug.

Doug: I’m just a little tired. Thanks, Bill.

Officer Bill: Do you mind if I use the head?

Doug: It’s broken.

Officer Bill: Something’s wrong here. Now, are you gona tell me what it is or do you want me to come and see for myself?

[Jack comes out with his gun drawn. The officer reaches for his gun.]

Jack: Don’t even think about it. Step inside, now. Move! Go at the counter. Doug, lock the door. Give me the keys. Go over there. Give me his gun and his radio. Move, come on. Take out his cuffs. Officer, put your hands behind your back. Cuff him. Go back to the freezer. Let’s go.

------------------------

News reporter on TV: At this time, we have no more information regarding the kidnapping of Secretary of Defense James Heller and his daughter Audrey other than the image you are now seeing.

Dina: My husband and I realized we’ve been unfair to you. We’ve treated you a badly as we have been treated ourselves by certain ignorant people.

Debbie: Well, it was pretty obvious you didn’t approve of us going out. [Whispers to Behrooz as Dina gets up and shuts the TV off.] Is that OK to say?

Behrooz: Yeah, that’s OK.

Dina: Well, we hope you’ll accept our apology.

Debbie: That means a lot to me.

Dina: That’s said, there’s something else I want to discuss with you.

Debbie: What’s that?

Dina: This morning you followed Behrooz to his father’s warehouse.

Debbie: Oh… Umm, I thought Behrooz was seeing someone else. I got jealous.

Dina: Oh, I understand, but Mr. Araz moved his inventory there because he’s been robbed a few times, and we’ve been trying to keep that place secret so it doesn’t happen again.

Debbie: I promise I won’t tell anyone where it is.

Dina: Good. And you haven’t told anyone yet?

Debbie: No. I haven’t talked to anyone but Behrooz today.

Dina: Well, then that’s settled.

Debbie: Thank you for inviting me here, Mrs, Araz.

Dina: It’s my pleasure. Has Behrooz ever shown you pictures from when he was a child?

Debbie: No.

Dina: Show her, Behrooz. Have a look at these. [Dina hands Debbie a photo album.] I’ll be right back.

Debbie: Oh, my God. That’s not you.

Behrooz: It is.

Debbie: You were so cute.

[Dina goes to the kitchen to call Navi, who’s at a restaurant.]

Navi: Thank you, Hanna.

Hanna: You’re welcome. Have you been following this, [referring to the news] Mr. Araz?

Navi: Yes. It’s horrible.

Hanna: It’s so difficult for the rest of us when people from home do these unspeakable things.

Navi: I agree.

[Navi’s cell phone rings. He answers it.]

Navi: Yes?

Dina: The girl didn’t tell anyone.

Navi: Are you sure?

Dina: Yes.

Navi: Good. When will you be taking care of that?

Dina: Soon.

Navi: Have Behrooz do it. He created this problem. He should be responsible for solving it himself.

Dina: I agree. I’ll call you when it’s done.

Navi: Thank you. 

------------------------

Dispatch: 2-Charles-9, this is station 4. There’s a 2-11 at 2221 Mill Road. Two males seen leaving bank with shotguns. Respond code 3. 2-Charles-9, do you copy?

Jack: Stand back from the door. Stand back. [To officer Bill] You. Are you Unit 9?

Dispatch: 2-Charles-9, do you copy? 2-Charles-9, respond.

Officer Bill: Yeah.

Jack: You tell them you’re on your way. One wrong word, and I will kill you. Now!

Officer Bill: 2-Charles-9…

Doug: Help! We’re being robbed!

Dispatch: 2-Charles-9, we have help on the way.

Jack: Get up, now!

Kalil: You have time to let us go before the cops get here.

Jack: Shut up. [To officer Bill] These people are your responsibility. You better start talking to them.

------------------------

Driscoll: Sarah, has Chloe had any contact with Bauer yet?

Sarah: No.

Driscoll: What about the work she’s doing? Could it be on his behalf?

Sarah: No, I’ve been watching her system.

Driscoll: Chloe is not stupid. Assume she’s taking measures to protect herself. Maybe she’s co-apt with help from someone else inside.

Sarah: I’m not quite sure how much of my time you want me to devote to this, Ms. Driscoll.

Driscoll: I expect you to be able to walk and chew gum at the same time, Sarah. Chloe’s loyal to Bauer. There’s a good chance she’s helping him. Find out how.

Sarah: What are you doing? It looks like the satellite screen.

Edgar: It was. I mean, it is.

Sarah: Satellite for what?

Edgar: I’m trying to find Bauer, remember?

Sarah: Division’s already doing that.

Edgar: I’m just going over what they’re doing. Sometimes they miss data.

Sarah: Do they know that you’re doing that?

Edgar: Yeah, they know what I’m doing. Here, call them if you don’t believe me.

Sarah: Relax, Edgar. I don’t have to call anybody. Do what you have to do.

Edgar: I will.

Sarah: Do me a favor. There’s a chance that Jack might try to contact Chloe. If you see or hear anything, call me, OK?

Edgar: Why would Jack try to contact Chloe?

Sarah: He just might. Let me know.

Edgar: Sure.

[Chloe calls Edgar.]

Edgar: Edgar Stiles.

Chloe: Edgar, what did she want?

Edgar: She wants to nail you to the wall and take a piece out of me too. Remember our deal: If you get caught, you don’t take me with you. And if I get caught, you say you ordered me to do this.

Chloe: You don’t have to repeat the deal. I’m the one who came up with it. Did you reposition the satellite yet?

Edgar: I’m working on it. Leave me alone.

------------------------

Driscoll: No, let them stay in the field. We’ll use our op unit for that.

[Phone rings.]

Driscoll: Hang on, Ed. Yes, what is it?

Woman: Ms. Driscoll, your daughter’s on line 2.

Driscoll: I’m busy. Tell her I’ll call her back.

Woman: She says it’s important.

Driscoll: Fine. Ed, I’m gonna have to get back to you.

Ed: All right.

Driscoll: OK. Bye. Maya?

Maya: I need you to come home.

Driscoll: What’s wrong?

Maya: I’m having a bad day.

Driscoll: Sweetheart, have you been taking your medication?

Maya: No.

Driscoll: If you don’t take it, you’re going to feel bad. Now, you know that.

Maya: It numbs me. I don’t like it.

Driscoll: Do you like feeling like this better?

Maya: Come home.

Driscoll: I can’t, Maya.

Maya: Why not?

Driscoll: Listen to me. I want you to take the pills, and I’ll call you back as soon as I can.

Maya: You promise?

Driscoll: Of course I promise. What are you gonna do?

Maya: I’ll take my pills.

Driscoll: Good.

Maya: Do you love me?

Driscoll: You know I do.

Maya: Then why don’t you say it?

Driscoll: I love you, Maya, OK? I do.

Maya: OK.

Driscoll: All right. Bye. 

------------------------

Dina: Behrooz, can I see you for a moment?

Behrooz: Yes. I’ll be right back.

Dina: I talked to your father. We both agree you have to be the one who will take care of this.

[Dina opens a drawer to reveal a gun.]

Behrooz: But she didn’t tell anyone.

Dina: And unfortunate that’s the case, but he still saw the warehouse, and she will tell the authorities about it if she’s ever brought in for questioning.

[Dina hands him the gun.]

Behrooz: This I riskier than letting her live. If she disappears, her mother will call the police.

Dina: By the time this day is over, the police will be too busy to look for a runaway girl. Now, take it. Don’t make me bring your father into this. Just take her to the basement and do it. Don’t think about it. Get it over with.

------------------------

Debbie: Behrooz.

Behrooz: Hey.

Debbie: Everything OK?

Behrooz: Yeah.

Debbie: I wanna make a copy of this one. Can I take it home and scan it?

Behrooz: Sure. We need to get out of here.

Debbie: What?

Behrooz: You’re in danger.

Debbie: Are you kidding? From whom?

Behrooz: Don’t ask questions, just come with me.

Debbie: What?

Behrooz: Trust me.

Debbie: Behrooz…

Behrooz: Trust me, Debbie. We’re OK, come on.

Debbie: I can’t.

Behrooz: Why not? What’s wrong?

Debbie: I don’t know.

Behrooz: What’s wrong? Answer me, Debbie, what’s wrong?

[Debbie collapses, gasping for air.]

Behrooz: Come on, Debbie. What’s wrong? Get up, Debbie, we need to go. Come on.

Debbie: Please help me.

Behrooz: Come on, Debbie. What’s wrong? Debbie, come on. Come on. Debbie, what’s wrong?

[Behrooz looks to his mother with tears in his eyes.]

Behrooz: What did you do to her?

Dina: I didn’t expect you to be able to do it.

Behrooz: Debbie… Debbie… Come on, Debbie… Debbie!

Dina: Give me the gun. Give me the gun. Hey! I am so disappointed than you. 

------------------------

[Police cars arrive at the convenience store.]

[The phone at the store rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Sergeant McGrath: This is Sergeant Dennis McGrath. You know you’re surrounded.

Jack: You should know that I’ve got hostages, and I will kill them if you try to use tear gas and send your men in.

Sergeant McGrath: Let’s not kill any of them, OK? Who do you have in there?

Jack: The owner, two men and a woman.

Sergeant McGrath: What about Officer Dawson?

Jack: Yeah, I got him too.

Sergeant McGrath: You only need one hostage to protect yourself. Keep Officer Dawson and let the others go.

Jack: I need to think about that.

[Chloe calls Jack.]

Jack: Yeah?

Chloe: I’ve got satellite coverage.

Jack: OK, good. The suspect will be free in about five minutes. He’ll be traveling on foot, on route 11.

Chloe: I’ll find him.

Jack: One of you is coming with me. [Points to Kalil] You. Come here. Put your hands up against the rack. Now! Everybody else to the back of the cooler. Move! [to Kalil] Open the door. Lock the door with the chain. Now, I will let you go as soon as we are clear, but if you try to be a hero again, I will kill you, do you understand me?

Kalil: I understand.

Jack: Good. Let’s go. Which car is yours?

Kalil: The blue Lexus.

Jack: Unlock the door. Move. Tell those officers to put their weapons down and take five steps back!

Officer: OK, calm down. We’re gonna try to help you through this.

Jack: Tell them to do it now!

Officer: OK. Drop your weapons and move back.

Jack: Step back!

Officer: Do what he says. Step back. Step back.

Jack: Move to the car. Open the door. Open the driver’s door. If you try to follow me, I will hoot him. On my count, get in. One, two, three. Move. Go, go!

Officer: Call in a roadblock. Suspect driving east on route 11. One hostage.

Jack: Move the rearview mirror to the right, so I can see out the back. There.

Kalil: When do you let me go?

Jack: When I feel like it.

Kalil: Who are you?

Jack: What do you mean?

Kalil: You don’t seem like the kind of guy that needs to rob a Mercury mart.

Jack: That Mercury mart was a money drop. There was supposed to be 18 grand in that safe.

Kalil: How do you know that?

Jack: We’re done sharing. I’m not gonna forget your face and I’ve got your driver’s license. You talk to the police, it’s not gonna be hard to find you, do you understand me?

Kalil: I won’t tell them a thing.

Jack: OK. Pull over. Now! Get out of the car. Move! Start running. Now!

[Jack calls Chloe.]

Chloe: O’Brien.

Jack: You got him?

Chloe: Yeah.

Jack: Good work. Now download his position to my PDA, and stay reachable.

Chloe: I will.

------------------------

Sarah: That right. Can you repeat that? Hold on a second. Ms. Driscoll?

Driscoll: Yes, Sarah, what is it?

Sarah: You have a phone call from a man who says he’s your neighbor. A George Kliakove? He says it’s about your daughter.

Driscoll: What line?

Sarah: 6.

Driscoll: George, it’s Erin.

George: Erin, there’s been another incident with Maya.

Driscoll: What’s happened?

George: She came into the backyard where Evan was playing, and she started creaming at him again.

Driscoll: Is Evan OK?

George: Yes. Fortunately, I was home. This is the end, Erin. I’ve gotta protect my boy.

Driscoll: Did you call the police, George?

George: Yes, I did. They’re on their way.

Driscoll: Where’s Maya now?

George: She went back to your house.

Driscoll: I’m very sorry, George. This will not happen again

George: It can’t, Erin.

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, is everything all right?

Driscoll: No, it’s not.

Sarah: Is there anything I can do to help?

Driscoll: Yes. I need you to call LAPD and find out who they dispatched to pick up my daughter. She has a medical condition. She suffers from schizophrenia. There was an incident with one of my neighbors.

Sarah: What would you like me to do once I find out who they dispatched?

Driscoll: Tell the officers to cancel the call. I’ll take care of it personally.

Sarah: Yeah, I don’t think that’s possible. Once a call’s in progress, don’t they have to follow through?

Driscoll: CTU has preemptive privilege over local.

Sarah: Yes, but that’s only in a national security situation.

Driscoll: Sarah, I’m asking you to do something. Should I ask someone else?

Sarah: No. I’ll do it.

Driscoll: Send a unit over to my house. One medic, one field agent. Bring Maya back to our clinic.

Sarah: Yes, Ma’am.

Driscoll: Thank you.

Curtis: Yeah, I got it. Thanks. I found Jack Bauer.

Driscoll: Where is he?

Curtis: In Sols. He’s still tracking the hostile, only now he’s using satellite.

Driscoll: How do you know that?

Curtis: DOD just called to complain that someone over here was stealing bandwidth. I took a look at the imagery and found him.

Driscoll: All right. Bring them both in. Who logged onto that satellite?

Curtis: Chloe.

Driscoll: Chloe, why are you logged onto an active DOD satellite? All right, you’re done here.

Chloe: Whatever. I was gonna quit anyway.

Driscoll: You’re not being fired; you’re being arrested. Call security. Edgar. Lock up her systems, and take control over all her file.

Edgar: Yes, Ma’am.

Driscoll: I want you to call Jack Bauer, now.

[Chloe calls Jack.]

Jack: Yeah?

Chloe: Driscoll wants to talk to you.

Jack: What are you talking about?

Driscoll: Hello, Jack.

Jack: Erin. Look, I’ve got some information for you. The hostile’s name is Kalil Hassan.

Driscoll: Stand down, Jack. It’s over.

Jack: Erin, right now Hassan is free. He’s looking for a car and a phone. Once he has those things he’s gonna lead us straight to Secretary Heller, I promise.

Driscoll: You can’t know that for sure.

Jack: What have you got to lose? You’ve got him on satellite. Just bombard the area with the receptor beckon.

Driscoll: Send a team to pick up the hostile.

Jack: Dammit, Erin, if you do that, everything I’ve done over the last two hours will mean nothing!

Driscoll: I’m glad you finally figured that out.

Jack: Erin!

Driscoll: Take Ms. O’Brien into holding.

Agent: Ma’am.

Driscoll: Edgar, you have it up on satellite?

Edgar: Yeah. The hostile’s flagging down a car.

------------------------

Driver: You need some help?

Kalil: Yeah, I just uh…

[Kalil beats up the man, takes his wallet and cell phone and gets in the truck.]

------------------------

Driscoll: Give me the feed down here. Sarah, what’s the load on the cell tower on that area?

Sarah: About 40 to 50 calls.

Driscoll: Have personnel on every call. Record every call. Let’s see if he contacts someone.

------------------------

[Kalil call Omar.]

Omar: Yes?

Kalil: Omar, it’s me.

Omar: Where have you been? We’ve been worried.

Kalil: Everything’s fine. I’ll explain later.

Omar: Where are you?

Kalil: I’ll be there within the hour. Is the broadcast on schedule?

Omar: Yes. We’re about to prepare Heller. Hurry.

------------------------

Marianne: Edgar.

Edgar: Not now.

Marianne: Yes. Now. How do you feel about what’s happening to Chloe?

Edgar: What do you mean?

Marianne: She’s not just gonna lose her job, she may go to prison.

Edgar: What do you care about others?

Marianne: I’ve heard the conversation you had earlier. I know you were working with her behind Driscoll’s back.

Edgar: What do you want?

Marianne: I wanna make sure I have your attention whenever I need it.

Sarah: Thank, Robin. Ms. Driscoll, we got the call.

Driscoll: Put it on speaker. Cue it from the top of the call.

Kalil: Omar, it’s me.

Omar: Where have you been? We’ve been worried.

Kalil: Everything’s fine. I’ll explain later.

Omar: Where are you?

Kalil: I’ll be there within the hour. Is the broadcast on schedule?

Omar: Yes. We’re about to prepare Heller. Hurry.

Curtis: Looks like Jack was right.

Driscoll: Tell the team to stand down. We’ll keep tracking Hassan by satellite.

------------------------

[As Jack drives away, he is stopped by a blockade of police cars.]

Jack: Son of a bitch. Dammit.

Officers: Get out of the car! Get out of the car and put your hands in the air! Step out of the vehicle now! Get out of the car now! Put your hand up and step out of the vehicle!

[Jack exits with his hands raised.]

Officers: Step away from the car! Take two steps forward! On your knees! Put your palms down! Put your chest right on the ground! Keep your hands down! All the way down!

[Jack lays face down on the ground as the cops approach to apprehend him.]


____________________
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Previously on 24:

Heller: I am the Secretary of Defense of the United States of America. You will listen to me.

Omar: Put down your weapon. If another one of my men dies, your daughter will be killed.

------------------------

Behrooz: We need to get out of here.

Debbie: What?

Behrooz: You’re in danger.

Debbie: From whom?

Behrooz: Don’t ask questions, just come with me.

Debbie: Please help me.

Behrooz: Debbie. What’s wrong? Debbie. Debbie, what’s wrong? Debbie. What did you do to her?

------------------------

Chloe: O’Brian.

Jack: The satellite up yet?

Chloe: No, I have to reposition without Driscoll noticing. Where are you?

Jack: I’m on Mercury mart. I had to stage a robbery to keep the hostile in place. Tell those officers to put their guns down and stand back!

------------------------

Chloe: Edgar, I need you to help me.

Edgar: Help you with what?

Chloe: I’ve been in contact with Jack Bauer.

Edgar: What?

Chloe: That’s right. Now you’re involved, so you’re either gonna help me, or you’re gonna turn me in.

Edgar: You’re asking me to do something that can get me fired.

Marianne: I know you were working with her behind Driscoll’s back.

Edgar: What do you want?

Marianne: I wanna make sure I have your attention whenever I need it.

------------------------

Driscoll: Chloe, why are you logged onto an active DOD satellite? All right, you’re done here.

Chloe: I was gonna quit anyway.

Driscoll: I want you to call Jack Bauer, now.

Chloe: Driscoll wants to talk to you.

Driscoll: Stand down, Jack. It’s over.

Jack: Erin, right now Hassan is free. He’s looking for a car and a phone. Once he has those things he’s gonna lead us straight to Secretary Heller, I promise.

[As Jack drives away, he is stopped by a blockade of police cars.]

Jack: Son of a bitch.

Officers: Get out of the car! Get your hands up and step out of the vehicle! Step forward! On your knees!

------------------------

The following takes place between 11:00 A.M. and 12:00 P.M.

Driscoll: Do we still have a sat visual on Kalil Hassan?

Edgar: West of the 14 on Route 11. Average speed: 62 miles per hour.

Driscoll: All right. I want traffic workups, block road schedules. We can’t let anything to delay or prevent him from reaching his destination. We need the tactical teams to launch now. Give them Jack’s location.

Curtis: I’m coordinating with Division. You want me to bring him back?

Driscoll: Yes. We’ll run point.

Curtis: All right.

Marianne: Curtis, I can pull up those tactical teams for you if you want.

Curtis: No, you can’t. That requires a level 3 channel. You don’t have that kinda clearance.

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, I have a Sergeant Paulson from the Sheriff’s Department on line 1. He says it’s important.

Driscoll: Sergeant Paulson, this is Erin Driscoll at CTU.

Sergeant Paulson: Yeah, I have a man named Jack Bauer in custody. He claims he works with you. Is that true?

Driscoll: Yes, it is.

Sergeant Paulson: He just robbed a convenience store near Route 11. He claims it was part of some undercover operation to delay a suspect until satellite coverage could be established.

Driscoll: That’s also true, Sergeant.

Sergeant Paulson: Well, it might be nice if you communicate with us a little better.

Driscoll: Well, there were some national security issues involved, and I’m so sorry for any inconvenience. May I please speak to Mr. Bauer?

Sergeant Paulson: All right. Uncuff him.

Jack: Thank you. Tell me that you didn’t arrest Hassan.

Driscoll: No. He’s stolen a vehicle and we’re still tracking him by satellite. He intercepted a phone call that indicated he’s headed for the site where Secretary Heller’s being held.

Jack: You’re gonna need someone coordinating things on the ground. That should be me. Erin, listen to me. We can get Heller and Audrey out of there but we need to work together, and we need to start that now. We have to find Heller before this trial starts.

Curtis: That’s the right move, Erin. He’s our only option.

Driscoll: All right, you’re in, but you coordinate through me. And Jack, make this work.

Jack: I will. Please advise Sergeant Paulson of the new chain of command.

Driscoll: Fine.

Sergeant Paulson: Yeah?

Driscoll: In my capacity as Director of CTU, I’m vesting Jack Bauer with the authority to command and control this part of the ground operation. Consider him in charge.

Sergeant Paulson: Yes, Ma’am.

Driscoll: Thank you.

Sergeant Paulson: Sounds like you’re the new boss. Tell me what you need.

Jack: The vehicle the hostile is driving was stolen. I need you to make sure there’s no APB on it. If there is one, I need you to get CHP to cancel it.

Sergeant Paulson: Get on it.

Officer: Yes, sir.

Jack: I also left my CTU vehicle over at the convenience mart.

Sergeant Paulson: I’ll have it brought right over.

Jack: Thank you.

Officer: Cancel APB… 

------------------------

Edgar: Hassan’s making another phone call.

Driscoll: Bring it up. Patch it through to Jack.

[Jack’s phone rings. He answers it.]

Jack: Bauer.

Edgar: Jack, it’s Edgar Stiles. Hassan’s making another phone call. I’m patching it to you.

Jack: OK.

Omar: Yes?

Kalil: It’s Kalil. I’m on my way.

Omar: How much longer?

Kalil: About a half an hour.

Omar: The broadcast must begin on time. Any problems?

Kalil: Nothing I couldn’t handle. How are you coming with the servers?

Omar: Douman and Faress are managing, but I’m sure they could use your help.

Kalil: I’ll be there soon.

Omar: All right.

Kalil: Did Heller sign the confession?

Omar: Yes. He didn’t want to, but we used his daughter.

Kalil: Did you kill her?

Omar: Not yet.

Jack: Sergeant Paulson, what’s the ETA on my vehicle?

Sergeant Paulson: Any second, Agent Bauer.

Kalil: I’ll see you soon.

Curtis: Play it back.

[Jack’s vehicle arrives.]

Jack: Tell your men to stay on channel 3.

Sergeant Paulson: Got it.

------------------------

[Audrey and Heller are chained back to back.]

Audrey: Dad. You did what anyone else would have done in your position.

Heller: I embarrass my country.

Audrey: You signed a piece of paper. All lies. Everyone will know that you that signed it under duress.

Heller: It’s more than a piece of paper. This trial is gonna be a spectacle broadcast all over the world designed to humiliate and degrade this country.

Audrey: Dad, there’s still time.

Heller: There’s no sense in deluding ourselves. There’s less than an hour. We’re gonna do anything we have to do, and now.

Audrey: We have done everything that we can.

Heller: Not quite.

Audrey: What do you mean?

Heller: What if I’m not alive? They can’t put me on trial. If I’m dead, their goals go right out the window, and they’ll be viewed as nothing more that communist asses.

Audrey: Dad…

Heller: Listen to me. Even if I say what they want me to say, are they gonna let me go? They’re gonna put me in front of a camera, humiliate me, and then they’re gonna kill me with the whole world watching.

Audrey: There are people on the outside looking for us. You cannot give up.

Heller: I have to do something while I still can. And I need you to help me.

Audrey: Help you?

Heller: The chain between your handcuffs. See if you can get it up and around my neck.

Audrey: No. No. No.

Heller: I can’t do it myself. I don’t have any leverage, but you can pull from back there.

Audrey: No, dad.

Heller: I’m counting on you, pull it out! Give it a try!

Audrey: Stop it! Stop it! Stop it! I won’t do that. There’s a gas pipe. If we could break it…

Heller: No. Break that, you die too.

Audrey: Do you think that they are gonna let me out of here alive? Do you? They’re gonna kill me too. Dad… together we can do this. We can do it, OK? Please.

Heller: Let’s try it.

Audrey: There. That’s good. You’re ready?

Heller: Yeah.

[They manage to knock the faucet off so that gas leaks into their cell.]

Audrey: I love you.

Heller: I love you too, honey.

------------------------

Curtis: I want a full analysis on both these forces.

Sarah: OK. I’ll have it done in ten minutes.

Curtis: OK, good.

Marianne: Edgar.

Edgar: What, Marianne?

Marianne: What’s a level 3 channel?

Edgar: It’s a logon that gets into older systems: Tactical, District and Division.

Marianne: I want it.

Edgar: What do you mean?

Marianne: I want clearance for a level 3 channel.

Edgar: I can’t give it to you, only Driscoll can authorize that.

Marianne: I don’t care who authorizes it. I want it.

Edgar: Look, just because you overheard that conversation between Chloe and me, doesn’t mean I’m your bitch.

[Marianne calls Driscoll.]

Edgar: I’m done being scared of you.

Marianne: Ms. Driscoll, it’s Marianne.

Driscoll: Yes, Marianne, what is it?

Marianne: I have some further information for you regarding Chloe circumventing her authority.

Driscoll: I’m listening.

Marianne: I don’t think she was acting alone.

Driscoll: Who was she working with?

[Edgar nodes his head “no” so Marianne doesn’t tell Driscoll anything.]

Marianne: I’m not sure, but I found an electronic eco on her call log, and every time she spoke to Jack there was someone else on the line too.

Driscoll: That’s an automated behavior on our system. It doesn’t mean anyone else was on the line. Is that the extent of your suspicions?

Marianne: Yes. I’m sorry to have bothered you.

Edgar: You’re sick.

Marianne: You’re gonna go to Driscoll, and you’re gonna tell her that you’re overloaded and you need some help. And then you’re gonna ask her to issue me a level 3 channel clearance.

------------------------

Jack: Unit 3, this is Bauer, do you copy?

Officer: Copy.

Jack: Back off another 200 yards. We can’t afford to be spotted here.

Guy: Roger that.

[Jack’s phone rings.]

Driscoll: Jack, you’re there?

Jack: Yeah.

Driscoll: The Marines have assembled and are leaving base.

Jack: OK. Have Chloe collate the satellite images. Make sure they stay in sink.

Driscoll: Chloe is in a holding room, Jack. She’s being suspended.

Jack: We could use her help here.

Driscoll: Things are under control. I’ll have Curtis collate the images.

Jack: Erin, Chloe was just doing what I asked her to.

Driscoll: The point is she was supposed to be working for me.

Jack: I understand that, but--

Driscoll: Jack. It’s one thing for you to disobey me in the field, but for someone who works for me here at CTU to betray me… I can’t reactivate her. It’s a nostrum. Anything else?

Jack: No, nothing else.

------------------------

Driscoll: We have a situation here.

Chloe: I realize that. I can do the math as well as anyone.

Driscoll: The math?

Chloe: Protocols were violated. Someone has to take the bullet. Jack’s indispensable right now and I’m not.

Driscoll: It took a lot of guts for you to do what you did.

Chloe: I trusted Jack.

Driscoll: A lot of people around here trust Jack. It doesn’t mean they’re gonna risk their careers for him. I have a suggestion. I’m gonna leave this room, call at Min. They’ll fax over some resignation papers and you’ll sign them. 

Chloe: And then what?

Driscoll: And then nothing.

Chloe: I walk out?

Driscoll: You walk out.

Chloe: No jail, no sanctions?

Driscoll: That’s right. Though if you need a letter of recommendation for your next job, you probably should get it from Jack, not me.

Chloe: Right.

Driscoll: It sounds like a plan?

Chloe: Yes. 

------------------------

Dina: For God’s sake, pull yourself together.

Behrooz: She didn’t know anything. You didn’t have to kill her.

Dina: Yes, I did, because you didn’t have the courage to kill her yourself.

Behrooz: Courage? To poison a girl who did no harm to you at all?

Dina: Your father’s home.

[Dina takes the gun.]

Behrooz: What are you doing? She’s already dead.

Dina: If your father doesn’t see a bullet wound, he’ll ask questions. Do you want him to know that you tried to help your girlfriend escape? Do you want him to know that you failed him again? Move away.

[Dina shoots Debbie’s dead body.]

Dina: Take it. [Refers to the gun.] Take it. Behrooz, take it! Take it!

[Dina hands Behrooz the gun.]

Dina: This has to stop, Behrooz. You are my son and I love you, but I cannot let you destroy everything, everything we’ve worked so hard to achieve.

[Navi enters the house. He sees Debbie’s body on the floor.]

Navi: I know this was difficult for you, but it was necessary.

Dina: You’ll dispose of the body tonight after dark. Meanwhile, move her car. Park it somewhere where it won’t be seen, then come straight back here. Navi.

[Debbie’s cell phone rings with a loud song. Behrooz sees that Debbie’s mother is calling but does not answer.] 

------------------------

Marianne: What?

Edgar: You got your level 3 channel clearance?

Marianne: Yes, I did.

Edgar: So we’re done, right? I mean, I don’t think I should have to keep doing things for you. What’s this about anyway? Why do you need a level 3 clearance?

Marianne: Look, you may be happy tapping on the keyboard for the rest of your life, but I’m not. If I get an opportunity to get ahead, I intend to use it. 

------------------------

Chloe: That’s mine. I’ll be right back. I’m more insulted that you thought I wouldn’t notice and by the fact that you were spying on me.

Sarah: Driscoll ordered me to do it.

Chloe: Next time, do it right, using Newman filter so the subject doesn’t see red lights flashing everywhere. Amateur. Bye, Edgar.

Edgar: Could you cover for me for just a second? Chloe! Can you guys give me a moment please? I’m really sorry this happened.

Chloe: Don’t worry, Edgar. I didn’t use names. Driscoll doesn’t know you were helping me.

Edgar: She doesn’t?

Chloe: I’m the one who got you into this. I’m not gonna sell you out.

Edgar: Thank you.

Chloe: You’re a geek, Edgar. But you’re a good guy. Stay that way.

Edgar: I don’t really have a choice.

Chloe: I guess not. Good luck today. You’re gonna need it.

------------------------

Driscoll: Sarah, assuming he continues driving west, what are our potential target areas?

Sarah: Well, within the time frame he mentioned, Hassan will reach one of four residential communities and two industrial areas.

Driscoll: Data mime those areas. See if you can find any suspicious activity in the last six months. Citizen complains, known associates, everything.

Sarah: You got it.

Edgar: Jack, the hostile stopped in an intersection.

Jack: OK, I got him.

[Kalil gets stopped by three men who make racial comments to him in reference to the capture of Heller.]

Guy #1: Yo, Muhammad. That’s your name, right? You did what they call all your people?

Kalil: I’m just trying to get home.

Guy #2: It would be nice if all of you went home.

Jack: Erin, three men have approached Hassan’s vehicle.

Driscoll: Edgar, can you enhance this?

Edgar: Hang on.

Kalil: I don’t want any trouble.

Guy #1: Too late, Muhammad.

[A police car pulls up.]

Guy #3: Say nothing, you got it?

Officer: You three, stay right there.

Jack: Dammit, the police gotta stay clear of this. I ordered the cancellation on the APB of the truck. Make sure that that happened.

Driscoll: It did. It may not have gotten out yet to all the local CHP branches.

Jack: If they detain Hassan, this thing is over. He’ll never lead u back to Heller. Put me through to CHP.

Driscoll: Sarah.

Dispatch: Highway patrol.

Sarah: This is CTU. I have a priority call for local dispatch.

Officer: Wanna move this vehicle please?

Guy: Yes, sir.

Officer: Step out of the truck please, sir. What’s going on here?

Guy #1: Just working some things up between him and I, that’s all.

Officer: Is that right?

Guy #1: Yes, sir.

Officer: You three, stand by your car and wait.

Jack: Come on. We’re gonna lose him. Get me CHP now!

Officer: You wanna tell me what’s going on here?

Kalil: There’s really no problem, officer. They’re just upset about what happened this morning.

Officer: I’m sorry about that, sir.

Kalil: May I go now?

Officer: Just bare with me one minute. Why don’t you go ahead and call this in?

Officer #2: Copy that.

Sarah: Jack, I have local CHP dispatch.

Jack: Patch them through.

Officer: CHP, this is Officer Calvin.

Jack: Officer, I canceled an APB on a yellow pickup truck, license plate number 4-Los Angeles-Independent-945 (4LAI945). Did you get that?

Officer: Yeah, I see that the system didn’t get word of the cancellation here, though.

Jack: One of your officers is questioning the driver of that vehicle. It is impaired of that that driver won’t be detained any longer.

Officer: We’ll get you on your way as soon as possible. This is just routine. Don’t let those guys get to you, they’re just punks.

Kalil: Yeah, I understand.

Officer: I think everybody’s been a bit jumpy today with everything that’s going on. Thanks for your patience. We’ll be another minute.

Dispatch: 62-14, come in.

Officer #2: LA-62-14 copy.

Dispatch: 62-14, that’s a 10-22 on the 2-15.

Officer #2: Roger that.

Dispatch: 10-4.

Officer #2: We’re all clear.

Officer: Have a nice day, sir.

Kalil: Thank you, sir.

[Kalil notices he is freed immediately.]

Jack: He’s moving.

Edgar: He’s making another call.

Driscoll: Pipe it through to Jack.

Edgar: Jack, Kalil’s making another call.

[Omar’s phone rings.]

Omar: This is set up? Then let’s do a test. [Answers the phone.] Yes?

Kalil: We may have a problem.

Omar: I’m listening.

Kalil: The police just ran the plates of the vehicle I’m driving.

Omar: And?

Kalil: They let me go.

Driscoll: Jack, are you getting this?

Jack: Yeah.

Omar: So, what is the problem?

Kalil: This is a stolen car.

Omar: Maybe the owner hasn’t reported it yet.

Kalil: Or maybe I’m getting help from people who wanna make sure I get where I’m going.

Omar: Do not jump to conclusions.

Kalil: A police officer was approaching me, his hand on his gun, then he got a call, suddenly there’s no problem. We can’t take any chances.

Jack: I’m moving in. He’s not gonna lead us to the site. The best we can do right now is try and take him alive and break him. All units, move in. I repeat, move in. OK, I’ve got a visual. Set up a roadblock at mile marker 15.

Kalil: It has been an honor working with you, Omar.

Omar: The honor has been mine, Kalil.

Jack: Come on.

Kalil [in Arabic]: Allah who acbar.

Omar [in Arabic]: Allah acbar.

[Jack speeds to catch up with Kalil, but Kalil purposefully drives head-on into an oncoming truck.]

Jack: No! 

Edgar: Oh, God, he just drove head-on into another vehicle.

Curtis: He was our only lead.

[The car explodes into a ball of flames.]

------------------------

Curtis: Edgar, were you able to trace the call?

[Edgar nodes for “no”.]

Curtis: OK. We’re gonna switch gears since we’ve lost our only lead. Kalil Hassan committed suicide en route to Heller’s location.

Sarah: Have we uncovered anything on him that might help identify where Heller is?

Curtis: That’s too soon to tell. They’re still putting out the fire from the crash.

Driscoll: How much time do we have before this trial begins to broadcast?

Sarah: Sometime in the next 10, 15 minutes.

[The Phone at Sarah’s workstation rings.]

Sarah: Sarah Gavin.

Jack: It’s me.

Sarah: It’s Jack.

Driscoll: Put him on speaker.

Sarah: Go ahead, Jack, you’re on speaker.

Jack: I’m sifting through the records now, but there’s not much intact. Hassan said he was 30 minutes from his destination 20 minutes before he stopped. Do we have a maximum perimeter?

Driscoll: Edgar?

Edgar: We’re looking at a radius of 60 miles.

Curtis: We’re dispatching choppers and fixing crafts to survey the area.

Jack: No, that’s gonna take too long. Use the satellite. Get back to thermal scan.

Edgar: That won’t work.

Driscoll: Why?

Edgar: That area has a high concentration of electric power transmitters. The satellite won’t be able to distinguish between them and the servers.

Jack: Those transmitters have been in place for years. If we take a scan, we can lay it against the previous grid pattern. That way we can identify any new thermal activity.

Curtis: We can start the scan immediately.

Driscoll: Do it. Jack, we’re using the satellite to check the thermals. Keep the line open.

Jack: Hurry.

Agent: Ms. Driscoll, the clinic wanted me to tell you that your daughter has arrived.

Driscoll: Thank you.

Curtis: All right. Everyone reset your systems. Let’s get back on track.

Driscoll: I have to take care of something for a few minutes. Check in with Division. They’re expecting an update.

Curtis: Yeah. Everything all right?

Driscoll: Yeah, just a little problem with my daughter Maya. I had to bring her down to the clinic.

Curtis: Is she OK?

Driscoll: She’s fine. Call Division.

[Driscoll heads towards the clinic.]

Curtis: What are you working on?

Marianne: Personnel allocation tables and tactical generals for the assault teams.

Curtis: I notice every time I look over you’re talking to Edgar. What’s that all about?

Marianne: Just trying to learn the ropes, Curtis.

Curtis: Today is not the day to make career moves on people, Marianne. The only thing you should be thinking about is how to help us stop Heller from being publicly executed.

Marianne: Come on, Curtis, give me some credit.

Curtis: Save it. I know how you think. Just leave everybody alone and help us get through today.

Driscoll: Mark, thank you so much for helping me out. They said Maya’s arrived.

Mark: She’s in the exam area. We’re about to do a workup.

Driscoll: She’s been on Thorazine. She stopped taking it.

Mark: How long ago?

Driscoll: Based on what happened this morning, at least a few days.

Mark: What happened?

Driscoll: She was fixating one of my neighbor’s kids.

Mark: What did she do?

Driscoll: She walks into their yard, gets verbally abusive.

Mark: We’ll take good care of her.

Driscoll: Thank you.

Mark: Sure.

Driscoll: Maya.

Maya: Mom, I’m so happy to see you. I was going crazy at home.

Driscoll: What happened with Evan? Why did you go over there?

Maya: I know you said not to, but he was throwing things against the fence.

Driscoll: Maya, he plays with the ball. He’s 7 years old, sweetheart.

Maya: I don’t care how old he is. He should know better. Are you gonna talk to his dad about this?

Driscoll: Come here. Look at me. You’re not thinking clearly, honey. You gotta put it out of your mind. Dr. Kale is gonna help, and you’re gonna feel better very soon.

Maya: Why don’t we go home right now?

Driscoll: We can’t, honey.

Maya: Why not?

Driscoll: There’s a little trouble here in LA, and I have to take care of it.

Maya: Are you gonna be OK?

Driscoll: Yes, I’m gonna be OK, and you’re gonna be OK.

Maya: I love you so much.

Driscoll: I love you too, honey.

Maya: I love you.

Driscoll: It’s gonna be OK. It’s OK. It’s OK.

------------------------

Navi: Yes?

Omar: Kalil is dead.

Navi: Dead? How?

Omar: He was being followed here. He martyred himself.

Navi: What about the servers? Have they been re-conformed for the broadcast?

Omar: Douman is doing his best. I think we’ll be all right.

Navi: If you need help, I can come.

Omar: No, no, no, no. It is too risky.

Navi: If the servers don’t work correctly, we’re in trouble. This trial is only the beginning.

Omar: I know that a well as you, my friend. But there’s no need to worry. Everything will go as planned. You’ve checked out the briefcase?

Gelfand: It’s fine.

Omar: I was afraid it might be damaged in the train crash.

Gelfand: The case is very strong. There’s no problem.

Omar: Good. Then you can get started. Gas. I smell gas. Heller.

[Omar finds Heller and Audrey passed out in the cell.]

Omar: Take them out now! Come on! Hurry! Let’s go. Take them out! Come on! Put them down. Put them down now. Hurry! Open the door! Now! Come on! Do whatever it takes to revive him. Keep trying.

[The guards revive Audrey and Heller.]

Audrey: I know you.

Gelfand: She recognized me. She has to be killed.

Omar: She will. In good time. Go do your job. Go.

------------------------

Driscoll: Jack, it’s Erin.

Jack: Yeah?

Driscoll: They got the results for the thermal scan. One site matches the criteria.

Jack: Where?

Driscoll: An old industrial park around 3 miles from you.

Jack: Give me the exact address.

Edgar: Philfaservator, south of Rock. 

Jack: OK, I’ll set up the staging area. Where is the Marine strike force?

Driscoll: 20 minutes away. This trial starts any minute, Jack.

Jack: I know. I’ll get back to you as soon as I’m on site. Meanwhile, have someone download the schematics of the building. Send them over to my screen.

Driscoll: Edgar’s on it.

------------------------

Keeler: Take the rest of these up later.

Woman: Yes, Mr. President.

Keeler: What is it, Robert?

Robert: CTU thinks it’s identified the location where the terrorists are holding Secretary Heller and his daughter.

Keeler: Where?

Robert: A compound in the Santa Clarita valley. But there is a problem. The teams dispatched to the site may not get there in time to prevent the broadcast, and even if they do, there is a good chance the Secretary will be killed in any rescue attempt. 

Keeler: Well, we have no choice but to hope and pray that you’re wrong.

Robert: We do have a choice. The Secretary’s death would be tragic, but his execution on American soil broadcast to the world would be far worse. It would be a complete and utter humiliation for the country, perhaps the worst in our history.

Keeler: I’m well aware of that, Robert. But unless you have some solution, I’m missing the point of this conversation.

Robert: The solution is we make a preemptive strike. Assuming we locate the site in time, we destroy it.

Keeler: We kill our own Secretary of Defense.

Robert: To prevent our enemies from making a public spectacle of his death. He’s going to be killed anyway.

Keeler: Jim Heller is a good friend. A loyal public servant. You expect me to kill him to save face?

Robert: Not yours, sir, the country’s. If we look impotent in this situation, we’ll only encourage more attacks. And if I may say so, sir, having known Jim Heller many years myself, if he were here he’d be the first to endorse this plan.

Keeler: The public will never accept it.

Robert: All the public will know is the Secretary died during a course of a rescue attempt, which is certainly more palatable than letting him be executed with the whole world watching. 

------------------------

[Navi and Behrooz start wrapping up Debbie’s body. Navi hears a car door closes outside and looks out the window.]

Navi: It’s a woman. I don’t know her.

Behrooz: Oh, my God.

Navi: Who is she?

Behrooz: It’s Debbie’s mom.

Navi: Go back. Stay there until she leaves.

Behrooz: What are you gonna do?

Navi: Go.

[The doorbell rings. Navi signals Dina to open the door.]

Navi: It’s the girl’s mother.

Dina: What?

[Dina opens the door.]

Karen: Mrs. Araz?

Dina: Yes?

Karen: I’m Karen Pendleton, Debbie’s mother.

Dina: Good to meet you. Call me Dina.

Karen: It’s good to meet you. My husband and I are very fond of Behrooz. He’s one of the few boys who seem to know the meaning of “please” and “thank you”. I’m looking for Debbie. 

Dina: This is my husband, Navi. This is Debbie’s mother.

Navi: Oh, she’s a very lovely girl.

Karen: Thank you. We just got a call from our dermatologist’s office. She missed her appointment this morning. Is she here?

Dina: We haven’t seen her since yesterday.

Karen: She left a message saying she was on her way to see Behrooz.

Dina: There must be a misunderstanding.

Navi: Perhaps she stopped off--

Karen: No, she wouldn’t have stopped off anywhere. She knew she had this appointment. It’ll take weeks to reschedule and… is Behrooz here?

Dina: He’s studying.

Karen: Well, maybe he knows where she is?

Dina: I doubt it. He hasn’t left his room all morning. School is very important to him.

[Debbie’s cell phone rings.]

Karen: That’s her phone. I know the ring.

Navi: Many, many phones sound alike, Mrs. Pendleton.

Karen: No, she downloaded that ring specially. It’s one of her favorite songs. No, that’s definitely her phone.

Behrooz: Mrs. Pendleton, it was my phone. Debbie and I downloaded the same ring when we started going out.

Karen: Oh. Do you know where she is?

Behrooz: She said she had a doctor’s appointment to go to this morning, and we’re supposed to go to the movies later.

Karen: I’m sorry about this. I’m just worried. Well, if you do see her, if she calls, will you have her call me?

Dina: Yes, of course.

Navi: Of course. 

[Karen leaves.]

Navi: I told you not to interfere.

Behrooz: It was her phone. I shut it off.

Dina: He took care of it, Navi. She went away because she believed him.

Navi: Let’s hope so. Get in the car. Follow her. Make sure she doesn’t go to the police.

Dina: All right.

------------------------

Jack: I’m less than two minutes out. Have you worked up the rescue approach?

Curtis: We’re running up scenarios now, based on the schematics.

Jack: What are the probabilities of finding the Secretary and his daughter in the compound?

Curtis: Our analysts looked at everything. The data’s fuzzy but our best guess is that they’re in the west end of the building.

Jack: Together or separate?

Curtis: We don’t know that, Jack.

Jack: OK, we’re gonna have to activate a team split; one for the Secretary, one for his daughter.

Curtis: We discussed that, Jack. But it was rejected.

Jack: What are you talking about?

Curtis: It comes directly from the President. Once we go in strong, there’ll be very little time to secure the hostages. Our only priority is to get Heller.

Jack: Curtis, that doesn’t make sense.

Curtis: I don’t like it any more than you do, Jack, but those are the orders. Jack, they’re about to begin the broadcast.

Jack: I’m almost there. 

------------------------

Omar: We are about to embark on a process of justice that will forever change the world. Our people will finally be liberated from the tangle of corruption that has been chocking them for centuries. No longer will justice be the propagandas tool of the power elite. It will once again become the instrument of the people, delivered to true believers, whose courage to use the sward has made this day not only possible, but inevitable.

Robert: Mr. President, we have taken the liberty of having a laser-guided missile programmed and prepped. All that remains for you is to give the order.

Keeler: How long between my order and impact?

Robert: The fighters are in the air; need to get in range, no more than 10 minutes.

Keeler: Do it. Let Driscoll know.

------------------------

Guy: It’s already been authorized, Ma’am.

Driscoll: Yes, I understand.

Jack: Yeah?

Edgar: Jack, I have Ms. Driscoll for you.

Driscoll: What’s your position?

Jack: Erin, I’m on site.

Driscoll: Jack, stand down.

Jack: What are you talking about?

Driscoll: The Marines won’t get there on time. The President wants to take out the building with a missile strike.

Jack: With the Secretary and his daughter inside?

Driscoll: Yes.

Jack: Let me speak to the President.

Driscoll: Jack, I’ve been trying to get through to him myself. I’m sorry. You’re gonna have to clear the area. Jack, don’t go in the alone. Jack, talk to me. The air strike’s already been ordered. Get out of there.

[Jack ignores Driscoll and makes his way to the warehouse.]


____________________
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Previously on 24:

Dina: For God’s sake, pull yourself together.

Behrooz: You didn’t have to kill her.

Dina: Yes, I did, because you didn’t have the courage to kill her yourself.

Behrooz: Courage? To poison a girl who did no harm to you at all?

------------------------

Dina: This is my husband, Navi. This is Debbie’s mother.

Karen: Is she here?

Dina: We haven’t seen her since yesterday.

Navi: Get in the car. Follow her. Make sure she doesn’t go to the police.

------------------------

Driscoll: Chloe, you’re done here.

Edgar: Chloe!

Chloe: Don’t worry, Edgar. Driscoll doesn’t know you were helping me.

Edgar: She doesn’t?

Chloe: I’m the one who got you into this. I’m not gonna sell you out.

------------------------

Curtis: You’ll be here until you tell me what I need to know. Richard, your father was kidnapped by terrorists. Our polygraph analysis tells us you’re hiding something that might help us find him.

------------------------

Audrey: There are people on the outside looking for us. You cannot give up.

Heller: I have to do something while I still can. This trial is gonna be a spectacle broadcast all over the world designed to humiliate and degrade this country.

Audrey: There’s a gas pipe.

------------------------

Omar: You’ve checked out the briefcase?

Gelfand: It’s fine.

Omar: I was afraid it might be damaged in the train crash.

Gelfand: The case is very strong.

------------------------

Omar: Come on! Take them out! Now! Come on! Hurry! Open the door, now!

Audrey: I know you.

Gelfand: She recognized me. She has to be killed.

------------------------

Jack: Erin, I’m on site.

Driscoll: Jack, stand down.

Jack: What are you talking about?

Driscoll: The Marines won’t get there on time. The President wants to take out the building with a missile strike.

Jack: With the Secretary and his daughter inside?

Driscoll: Yes. I’m sorry. You’re gonna have to clear the area. Jack, don’t go in the alone. Jack, clear the area. The building is going to be destroyed.

------------------------

The following takes place between 12:00 P.M. and 1:00 P.M.

[Omar begins Heller’s trial.]

Omar: James Heller, you have been brought before this court of law to stand trial as a war criminal. You will prove to the people of the world that these crimes against humanity are the direct results of the policies initiated by you and your capacity.

[Jack takes down the guards at the compound as he makes his way inside.]

Omar: Since the true extent of your evil legacy is immeasurable, we have done our best to document those acts which have been witnessed directly by the chosen followers. Under your orders, the death squads of America continued their imperial crusade against the true believers and pure followers.

Keeler: How much longer until the fighters are ready to launch their missile?

Robert: Commanding control is locking on target now.

Woman: Mr. President, I have Erin Driscoll on line 3.

Driscoll: Mr. President, I’m calling to ask you to consider aborting the missile strike.

Keeler: Based on what?

Driscoll: We are attempting a rescue operation.

Keeler: I was told that the Marines strike force was still ten to twenty minute away.

Driscoll: They are, sir. Jack Bauer went in by himself.

Keeler: The terrorists proved they’re just moments away from executing the Secretary of Defense in front of the world, and I cannot allow that to happen.

Driscoll: I understand, sir. But if Jack can affect the rescue before that happens?

Keeler: In that case, I’ll abort the missile strike. But he’s running out of time.

Driscoll: How long does he have, sir?

Keeler: Seven minutes.

------------------------

[Jack captures a guard.]

Jack: Try and make a sound, I’ll blow you’re head off.

[Jack takes out his PDA with a map of the complex.]

Jack: This is a map of the complex. Where are they holding the Secretary of Defense? I’m either gonna kill you now, or you’re gonna tell me where they’re staging the trial. Point now. Where’s the Secretary?

[The guard points to the location.]

------------------------

Omar: There is no place in the world where your evil has not scoured the sacred land of the true world. Your imperiling legacy has devoured the lives of the innocent.

Driscoll: Jack.

Jack: Yeah?

Driscoll: The President won’t call off the missile strike.

Jack: How much time do I have?

Driscoll: Less than six minutes.

Jack: Did you get a read from the thermal scan on how many hostiles inside?

Driscoll: We estimate sixteen. Jack.

Jack: I’m not turning back, Erin.

Driscoll: Understood. Good luck.

------------------------

[Audrey pleads a guard to help her father. Jack hears her screaming.]

Audrey: Stop this, please. Just stop this, please, you’ve gotta stop this. My father hasn’t done anything to hurt you. He’s an innocent man, please! Please, he’s an innocent man… please. Listen to me, please. Please, don’t. No, wait, please, you’ve gotta stop it! Listen!

[Jack finds Audrey in a cell.]

Jack: Audrey. Behind you.

Audrey: Oh, my God. Jack.

Jack: Are you all right? Did they hurt you?

Audrey: I’m OK. You’ve got to stop them.

Jack: I will.

Audrey: Get my father first. Go.

Jack: Take this.

[Jack gives Audrey a knife.]

Jack: Press the button on the handle.

[Audrey presses the button and the knife opens.]

Jack: Use that if you have to. I’ll be back for you, I promise.

Audrey: Jack…

[Audrey cries.]

------------------------

[Jack goes to where the trial is being filmed and is able to signal Heller.]

Omar: Finally, we hold you responsible for the blasphemy, for disregarding holly lands and shrines, and for spilling the blood of our brothers. James Heller, your guilt of these charges is not a matter of dispute. I have here a full confession that you have signed. So now it is time for your sentence to be read, and for the execution of that sentence to be carried out. James Heller, for the eyes of God, I sentence you to death. Carry it out. Immediately.

[Just as the executioner is about to shoot him, Heller topples his chair over and Jack shoots the men. Omar escapes. Watching from the webcast, President Keeler calls off the bombers.]

Keeler: Call off the missile. Call it off.

Robert: Abort. Abort. Please confirm.

Driscoll: He’s doing it.

[Jack unties Heller and hands him a gun.]

Jack: There's one in the pipe, safety's off. We gotta get Audrey.

Heller: Down the hall.

Curtis: It’s been aborted. The strike’s been called off.

Driscoll: Where are the Marines?

Sarah: They haven’t crossed the perimeter. I’ll get an update at ETA.

[Jack and Heller go to look for Audrey.

Jack: We’re clear.

[Audrey is no longer in her cell.]

Jack: She was here. We gotta go. Move! Move!

[Jack and Heller make their way outside and hide behind a car, which is splattered with machine gunfire from the guards. They fire back.]

Jack: There are two shooters at your 11 O’clock! You’re ready?

Heller: Ready!

Jack: Go!

Heller: Give me a clip.

[Jack gets hit in the vest.]

Heller: Jack!

Jack: It went out my vest. It’s all right. Keep firing!

[After a few seconds, Jack gets up and resumes firing at the shooters.]

Jack: I’m out!

Heller: I’m out too.

[Suddenly, a U.S. Marine Cobra helicopter appears overhead. Marines rappel from the chopper and surround the terrorists.]

Jack: It’s the Marines, stay down. The Secretary, stay down. Just stay down until this area’s secure.

[Omar emerges from the building with Audrey at gunpoint.]

Audrey: Jack!

Jack: Stand down!

Omar: Stand back or I’ll kill her!

Jack: Stand down!

Omar: Stand back or I’ll kill her!

Jack: Put your gun down!

Omar: Stand back!

Jack: Drop it now!

Omar: I’ll kill her! I will kill her! Do it! Do it!

Jack: OK. Just relax. Audrey, stay calm. Just relax. This is over. You are surrounded.

Omar: You’re right. But first you’ll watch her die.

[Audrey stabs Omar in the leg with the knife Jack gave her. Then Jack throws his knife into Omar’s shoulder. Omar falls back, releasing Audrey, and the Marines shoot him. Audrey runs to her father’s arms, but looks lovingly at Jack from a distance.]

------------------------

Heller: Yes, sir. The President sends along his gratitude.

Jack: I’m just glad you both are all right.

Heller: It’s been a while since you’ve been in the field, Jack. Looks like you haven’t skipped a beat. Audrey and I owe you our lives.

Jack: Thank you, sir. I’ve arranged transportation for us back to CTU. I’d like you and Audrey to be debriefed there.

Heller: Just as long as we don’t lose any time in finding out who these terrorists are and where they’re coming from.

Jack: As soon as we get back there, I’ll set up a live feed with the office in Washington. You won’t miss a step. Those soldiers there are waiting to take us back to CTU.

Heller: Thanks, Jack.

Jack: How’s she doing?

Medic: A doctor needs to check out some of these contusions, and she’s dehydrated.

Jack: Thank you. You should go.

Audrey: Where?

Jack: I’m taking you and your father back to CTU.

Audrey: Jack, when I was inside, I recognized one of the men.

Jack: Who?

Audrey: I don’t know. I can’t place him, but I know that I saw him before today.

Jack: They’re gonna correlate a photo file of all the casualties. As soon as they’ve got that, you can make your ID.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Excuse me. This is Bauer.

Woman: Agent Bauer, this is CTU. I’ve got Paul Raines on the line. He’d like to speak to his wife. Is she with you?

Jack: Hold on one second. It’s Paul. He wants to speak with you.

[Jack hands Audrey the phone.]

Audrey: Paul.

Paul: Audrey. Are you OK?

Audrey: Yeah, I’m fine.

Paul: Thank God.

Audrey: Where are you?

Paul: As soon as I heard about you and your father, I got on a plane.

Audrey: You’re in LA?

Paul: Yeah, I’m at CTU. Audrey?

Audrey: Yeah.

Paul: See you soon.

Audrey: I’ll see you soon.

[Audrey hangs up.]

Jack: We need to go. You’re all right?

Audrey: Mm-hm.

Jack: OK.

[Heller notices Audrey take Jack’s hand.]

------------------------

Driscoll: Make sure Edgar gets this.

Woman: Got it.

Driscoll: Found anything?

Curtis: I’m still trying to connect up with the feed from the rescue site. Division’s using up most of our bandwidth.

Driscoll: Call over there and tell them to multiplex. We need to start going through the debrief.

Curtis: Now that Heller’s safe, we’re no longer in first position.

Marianne: Ms. Driscoll. I took care of it.

Curtis: What’s that?

Marianne: A list of pass codes for the FBI fiber. You can use their feed.

Driscoll: How did you get that?

Marianne: I used to consult there. I still have friends. And since I saw the load on the running table I knew we’d be running into a traffic jam.

Driscoll: Good. Install it. Start cataloging whatever’s there. Anything that flags, put it up to me.

Curtis: Yeah.

Marianne: You know, if you let me, Curtis, I can help you a whole lot more. Honestly, I don’t know why you have a problem with me. ‘Cause I’m ambitious? OK, I’m ambitious. Aren’t you?

Curtis: I don’t sleep with people to get ahead in my career.

Marianne: Neither do I. I slept with you because I was attracted to you. I still am. Deal with it.

------------------------

[Navi watches a news report about Heller’s rescue.]

News Reporter on TV: White House spokesman has just confirmed that the interrupted video transmission was caused by a raid mounted by the Marines and the Counter Terrorist Unit who rescued Secretary of Defense James Heller moments ago.

Man: You’re watching this?

Navi: Yes, I’m watching. Of course I’m watching. God willing, our good fortune will continue for the rest of the day. Thank you.

Behrooz: What are you talking about? It’s over. They found Omar. The government stopped the trial.

Navi: Yes, I know.

Behrooz: Then how can you ay this is all good fortune? Everything we’ve worked for is ruined. You made me kill someone I cared about all for nothing.

Navi: No, not for nothing, Behrooz. The trial was only our first step.

Behrooz: I don’t understand.

Navi: There were certain things that your mother and I decided to keep from you.

Behrooz: What things?

Navi: This. I’m busy.

Behrooz: You forced me to kill my girlfriend because of this trial. You owe me an explanation.

Navi: I don’t owe you anything!

[Doorbell rings.]

Navi: See who it is. See who it is.

Behrooz: It’s Tariq.

[Navi goes to open the door.]

Behrooz: Why is he here?

Navi: Tariq.

[Navi and Tariq embrace.]

Navi: Behrooz, you remember Tariq?

Tariq: Of course he does.

[Tariq embraces Behrooz.]

Navi: I just poke with Moar. He assured me that everything I still on chedule.

Tariq: That’s right.

Behrooz: What are you doing here?

Tariq: Your mother told Marwan you took care of the American girl.

Behrooz: Yeah.

Tariq: Then you’ll need help getting rid of the body.

Behrooz: I don’t need help, I can do it myself.

Navi: I’m sure you can, Behrooz. But we can’t afford any more mistakes. Show Tariq where the body is. Go.

------------------------

[As another agent feeds video to CTU, Curtis collects a digital gallery of all the bodies and gear found at the compound.]

Agent: OK, agent Manning. This is the last of the bodies. You should see them now.

Curtis: All right, we got it. What’s next?

Agent: Here’s some of the terrorist gear we collected out of the warehouse.

Curtis: Wait a second… stop. Go back.

Agent: You need me to retransmit?

Curtis: No. On the ground in front of you; give me a shot on the briefcase.

Agent: This?

Curtis: Yeah. Can you open it?

Agent: It’s empty.

Curtis: Are there any identifying marks on it?

Agent: I see a kind of logo engraved near the lock.

Curtis: I wanna see it. Zoom in.

[A logo with the letters “MF” is on the lock.]

Curtis: Make sure to get someone to transport it back here.

Agent: Will do.

Curtis: Sarah, I need you to do a corporate logo search. We may have found a link between the train crash and Heller’s abduction. I’m sending it to you now.

Sarah: OK. We’ll pick this up later.

Agent: Sure.

[Jack enters CTU with Audrey.]

Audrey: The man I recognized at the warehouse? I wanna make that ID.

Jack: As soon as you’ve been checked up by the clinic. I’ll get the photos ready.

Agent: Excuse me, Miss Raines, this way please.

Jack: It’s all right, go ahead.

[Audrey sees her husband Paul.]

Paul [on the phone]: But I need you to handle this. No, I need to be able to trust that you’ll be able to take care of it. Right.

Heller: OK, good. Excuse us.

[Heller pulls Audrey aside.]

Jack: I’m gonna need to use your station. Have Driscoll send me over pass codes for the onsite feed.

Sarah: OK.

Jack: Thanks.

Heller: Does he know? About you and Jack.

Audrey: How long have you known?

Heller: Not until today. Although I’m surprised that I hadn’t figured it out till now.

Audrey: It’s not what you think. Paul and I were over before Jack and I started seeing each other.

Heller: Except Paul doesn’t think it’s over. The last time I spoke with him, he thought he had a second chance.

Audrey: Yeah, well, that’s more about fixing his wounded pride than fixing this relationship.

Heller: So he doesn’t know about it?

Audrey: Not yet. I’ll take care of it.

Agent: Miss Raines, right through here. 

Driscoll: Sarah said you may have found a thread connecting the train bombing to Heller’s abduction.

Curtis: Yeah. About an hour ago NTSP reported a passenger was killed, but not as a result of the crash. He was shot at close range.

Driscoll: Who is he?

Curtis: We’re still trying to find out. He had no ID. His face and prints don’t show up on any database. Whoever killed him stole something he had chained to his wrist. I think it may have been this.

[Curtis shows Driscoll a photo of the briefcase.]

Curtis: A witness on the train saw a man with a briefcase handcuffed. Take a look at the damage. It could have been sustained during the crash. We just recovered this where Heller was being held.

Driscoll: What are you telling me? That the train bombing was a cover for the theft of this briefcase? What was in it?

Curtis: It was empty. But we traced the corporate logo on the briefcase to McLennen Forster.

Driscoll: The defense contractor?

Curtis: Yeah.

Driscoll: Have you contacted them?

Curtis: I just got off the phone with their CEO. He’s stronghold. He said before he disclosed anything, we need special clearance from the Department of Defense.

Driscoll: The Secretary should be able to get us whatever clearances we need from DOD. Let’s get a print out of all this.

Curtis: Yeah. 

------------------------

News Reporter on TV: Our top story – only moments ago a second broadcast showing Secretary of Defense James Heller was put on the internet. This image was captured from that broadcast. The transmission then ceased. At this time we have no confirmed reports on why the broadcast was…

[Dina returns back home after tailing Debbie’s mother.]

Dina: The girl’s mother went home. Even if she calls the police, it will be too late. I heard the news in the car. Everything was accomplished?

Navi: Yes. The trial was cut short, but it served its purpose.

Dina: When they searched the warehouse, will they figure out what we’re doing?

Navi: It doesn’t matter. It’s too late for them to stop it.

Dina: If everything is working on schedule, why do you look so troubled? Where’s Behrooz?

Navi: He went to burry the girl.

Dina: But his car is still in the driveway.

Navi: He didn’t take the car.

Dina: I don’t understand.

Navi: He went with Tariq.

Dina: Tariq was here? My God, he’s going to kill my son. He’s going to kill my son. Oh, my God. He’s going to kill our son.

Navi: Yes.

Dina: I told Marwan that Behrooz took care of the girl.

Navi: Marwan must not have been satisfied. He must have decided that Behrooz was a liability.

Dina: Why’d you let this happen? How could you let him kill our son?

Navi: What could I do? What could I do?!

Dina: He’s our son! Our flesh and blood!

Navi: Dina, listen to me.

Dina: How could you let them kill our son?

Navi: Behrooz stopped being our son a long time ago.

Dina: How can you ay that?

Navi: Because it’s true. Living here has changed him. He’s been like a stranger to us. He proved it to me today that he no longer believes in our cause. Maybe… he never did.

Dina: Behrooz, Behrooz… Oh, my God.

[Dina cries.]

------------------------

Driscoll: Secretary Heller would like to say a few words to you.

Heller: I’m incredibly privileged to have the finest people on the world behind me: all of you. It’s gonna take a lot more than a few words to express my feelings but for now from the bottom of my heart, thank you.

Driscoll: Secretary Heller, Curtis Manning, head of tactical.

Heller: Curtis.

Curtis: An honor, sir.

Heller: Please, sit down. Erin, my daughter and I owe you our lives. Sounds like you had to make some tough calls, but you made the right ones. I’ll see to it that you get full recognition for a job exceptionally well done.

[Driscoll eyes Jack, as if expecting him to educate Heller on what really happened. Jack says nothing.]

Driscoll: Thank you, sir.

Heller: Now, before we start the debriefing, I’d like to visit my son. Where is he?

Driscoll: We’re actually holding Richard here, sir.

Heller: Why is that?

Driscoll: When we brought Richard in, we gave him a polygraph. It indicated that he was possibly withholding information from us.

Heller: About my kidnapping? My son and I have wildly different political views, but I can’t believe that he was involved.

Driscoll: We don’t think he had knowing participation, but we believe he shared knowledge of your whereabouts this morning with someone, and he refuses to divulge that information, or their identity.

Heller: And what are you doing about that?

Driscoll: We discussed a number of options. You have to understand the circumstances…

Heller: Stop BSing me. What did you do to him?

Curtis: There’s a technique that’s noninvasive called sensory disorientation.

Heller: You subjected my son to SDT?

Curtis: Yes, sir, we did. But it was stopped the moment you were rescued.

Heller: Jack, did you know about this?

Jack: No, sir.

Heller: I wanna see my son now.

Driscoll: Of course. Curtis.

Heller: Erin, I realize you’ve been under a lot of pressure these past few hours, but you better have cause for this.

[Curtis takes Heller to see Richard.]

Driscoll: Jack. I appreciate you not involving the secretary in the differences you and I had on this operation.

Jack: We both did what we thought was right, Erin.

Driscoll: I’d like to put the past behind us, Jack. I could use your help.

Jack: What do you need?

Driscoll: I’d like you to function in Ronnie’s position as Head of Field Ops until we avert this crisis.

Jack: Whatever I can do to help.

Driscoll: Let me make one thing clear; Ronnie was under my command and you will be too.

Jack: Understood. The photos from the warehouse, are they ready for Audrey Raines to see?

Driscoll: I believe so. I’ll have Edgar put them to your workstation.

Jack: OK. Thank you.

------------------------

Richard: Dad!

[Richard hugs his father.]

Richard: They said you were OK and Audrey too. Thank God. I said some awful things before. I was afraid I’d never get a chance to apologize.

Heller: I said some pretty harsh things myself. But no matter what we said, you’re still my son, and I will always love you.

Richard: Me too, dad.

Heller: They said they were using some interrogation techniques.

Richard: Totally out of line. I’m gonna sue them blind.

Heller: I think it’ll be a little more affective if you let me deal with it. I promise you, if they were out of line, heads will roll.

Richard: What do you mean, “If”?

Heller: Why did they think you were holding something back from them?

Richard: I don’t know.

Heller: Richard, if you know something that would shed some light on what happened to me…

Richard: Wait, you don’t think I would tell them if I thought it was relevant?

Heller: So there is something?

Richard: Now you’re giving me the third degree?

Heller: Son, do you have any idea what your sister just went through? If you know anything that would help us find the people behind this, tell me now.

Richard: Dad, I’m glad you’re alive, I really am, but I am not going to tell these people things about my private life that they don’t need to know.

Heller: That you don’t think they need to know. Richard, these people were trying to save our lives!

Richard: These people can’t be trusted! What they did to me is proof.

Heller: Agent Manning, could you come in here please?

[Curtis comes inside the interrogation room.]

Heller: Agent Manning, I am authorizing you to do whatever you feel is necessary to get this information out of my son.

Richard: Dad…

Heller: I love you, son. But I have a duty to my country.

Richard: You can’t be serious.

[Heller goes towards the door.]

Richard: Dad! 

------------------------

[Tariq drives Behrooz to a spot in the Chatsworth Mountains.]

Tariq: Bring the shovels from the back.

[As Tariq is removing Debbie’s body from the trunk, Behrooz sees him grab a pistol. He realizes that Tariq may be there to kill him.]

Tariq: Come on, help me.

------------------------

[Paul comes to see Audrey at the clinic.]

Paul: They said it was OK to come in.

Audrey: Hi, Paul.

Paul: Oh, my God, I was so worried. Are you hurt?

Audrey: No, it’s just some cuts and scrapes, nothing serious.

Paul: Are you sure?

Audrey: Yeah. Really, I’m OK, Paul. They’ve OK’d me for my debriefing.

Paul: On the flight over I couldn’t stop thinking about us. How when we separated we said that we’d both take time to figure out what we wanted, and now I know.

Audrey: Paul…

Paul: I want us to be together again. I’m ready to work it out. I’ll make our marriage the first priority. Just give us a chance.

Audrey: I’m sorry, Paul. That’s not what I want.

Paul: Audrey… I am a fool for bringing this up now. You can’t make decisions about our relationship when you’re in this state.

Audrey: Paul… I’m seeing someone.

Paul: Well, how long has this been going on?

Audrey: Six months.

Paul: You love him or…?

Audrey: Yes.

[Jack comes in to let Audrey know that the photos are ready.]

Jack: Audrey. I’m sorry, excuse me. I’ll come back later.

Audrey: No, umm… Paul, this is Jack Bauer.

Jack: Nice to meet you.

Paul: You’re the one who saved Audrey’s life. Thank you.

Jack: You’re welcome. Those photos are ready for you to look at.

Audrey: OK. Umm, Paul, we’ll talk later?

Paul: Yeah.

[Paul walks out, leaving Jack and Audrey alone.]

Jack: You’re all right?

Audrey: Yeah.

Jack: You’re ready to go?

Audrey: Not yet.

[Audrey cries and Jack kisses her.]

Audrey: Now I am.

------------------------

[Audrey goes through photos of the slain terrorists.]

Audrey: No. No.

Jack: You’re absolutely certain you saw this guy before the compound?

Audrey: Positive. I could tell that he recognized me.

Jack: OK.

Audrey: No. No.

Jack: That’s all of them.

Audrey: He must have gotten out before the rescue.

Jack: OK, but we should go through the pictures again just to make sure.

Audrey: I will, but there are only two men here who aren’t Middle Eastern, and neither one of them are him.

Jack: What?

Audrey: I just remembered where I saw him before.

Jack: Where?

Audrey: There was a heritage foundation dinner about two months ago at the Hyatt downtown here.

Jack: Do you remember his name?

Audrey: No, but I know someone at the foundation. Maybe I can get the guest list.

Jack: OK, good.

Woman: Agent Bauer, Driscoll wants you in the conference. The call is starting in a few minutes.

Jack: OK, fine. I need you to get a hold of the Hyatt hotel security department. Get access to their archival video surveillance. Audrey will give you a time and a date, set up per amative and keep Driscoll informed. I’ll be right back.

[From another room, Paul sees Jack place his hand on Audrey’s shoulder. He becomes suspicious.]

------------------------

[As they dig a grave, Behrooz sees the gun inside Tariq’s pants.]

Behrooz: It’s hot.

[Behrooz knocks Tariq down with his shovel.]

Behrooz: You brought me here to kill me. Why?

[Tariq tries to shoot Behrooz, but Behrooz hits him with the shovel again.]

Behrooz: Why are you doing this? I did everything they told me to do.

Tariq: You know why.

Behrooz: I took care of the girl! Marwan knows!

Tariq: It’s not Marwan wants you dead.

Behrooz: Then who want me dead? Who?

[Behrooz hits Tariq with his shovel again.]

Behrooz: Who wants me dead? I wanna know. Tell me!

Tariq: Your father.

Behrooz: No! No! No! No! No!

[Fueled by anger and despair, Behrooz hits Tariq with the shovel over and over until he kills him. Behrooz drives off in Tariq’s car.]

------------------------

[Richard is being tortured in the interrogation room.]

Richard: Please! No! No! No!

------------------------

Driscoll: Mr. Reese, I’m Erin Driscoll, Director of CTU Los Angeles. My colleagues Curtis Manning and Sarah Gavin are also present. Also Jack Bauer, the special advisor to Secretary Heller.

Reese: Ms. Driscoll, I hope you understand we at McLennen Forster couldn’t give you details about that case until we received the appropriate permission from DOD.

Driscoll: Understood, Mr. Reese. May we please begin? What was your courier transporting?

Reese: It’s a device we developed under the nuclear fragmentary commission’s emergency management program. It’s a Dobson type override.

Driscoll: What exactly does this override do?

Reese: It’s a combination of hardware and software that can remotely take control of the nuclear power facilities.

Jack: Under what circumstances would the override be used?

Reese: The government wanted to be able to control the plants’ nuclear pile in the event of a disaster that necessitated evacuation.

Jack: And the person in possession of this program? Can they do the opposite with it? Create a disaster in a plant, a meltdown?

Reese: Theoretically, yes. But merely having possession of the override wouldn’t be enough. There are safeguards in place.

Jack: What kind of safeguards?

Reese: Anyone who’s trying to use the override would have to hack through the reactor’s firewall. That would take massive computer power, which NRC could see coming a mile away.

Jack: Is it possible that NRC could miss this due to unusually heavy traffic on the internet?

Reese: I don’t follow.

Jack: Well, less than an hour ago millions of computers around the world were streaming the trial of the Secretary of Defense. Is it possible that this trial was just some kind of a Trojan horse to disguise a massive attack on nuclear power plants’ firewalls?

Reese: That might be possible.

Driscoll: How many nuclear power plants in this country would be vulnerable?

Reese: All of them

Jack: How many is that?

Reese: At this time, the United States has 104 nuclear power plants online.

Driscoll: We have to assume that they’ve used this override to take over the plants. Get me NRC now. Go find Secretary Heller.

Jack: Thank you, Mr. Reese.

Driscoll: Set up an all department briefing.

Curtis: Get me NRC now. Pipe it through here.

Driscoll: I want all personnel in the conference area.

------------------------

Marianne: Edgar, can you monitor my allocation tables for a few minutes?

Edgar: Sure.

[Marianne, who has secretly listened in on the conversation about the nuclear power plant threat, goes to an area away from the main bullpen. She dials a man from a secure cell phone.]

Man: Yes?

Marianne: It’s me.

Man: You’re on a secure line?

Marianne: Yes. I would have checked in sooner. This was the first chance I got.

Man: All right. Go on.

Marianne: They found out about the override.


____________________
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Previously on 24:

Jack: Stand down!

Omar: Stand back or I’ll kill her!

Jack: Stand down!

Omar: Stand back or I’ll kill her!

Jack: Put your gun down!

Omar: Stand back!

Jack: Drop it now!

Omar: I’ll kill her! I will kill her! 

------------------------

Audrey: Jack, when I was inside, I recognized one of the men.

Jack: Who?

Audrey: I don’t know. I can’t place him, but I know that I saw him before today.

------------------------

Heller: Why did they think you were holding something back from them?

Richard: I will not tell these people things about my private life that they don’t need to know.

Heller: That you don’t think they need to know.

------------------------

Behrooz: What are you doing here?

Tariq: Your mother told Marwan you took care of the American girl.

Behrooz: Yeah.

Tariq: Then you’ll need help getting rid of the body.

Dina: He’s going to kill our son.

Navi: Yes.

Behrooz: I took care of the girl! Marwan knows!

Tariq: It’s not Marwan wants you dead.

Behrooz: Who want me dead? Who?

Tariq: Your father.

------------------------

Driscoll: Thank you so much for helping me out. They said Maya’s arrived.

Mark: She’s in the exam area. I’m about to do her workup.

Driscoll: She suffers from schizophrenia.

------------------------

Paul: I want us to be together again.

Audrey: I’m sorry, Paul. I’m seeing someone. Paul, this is Jack Bauer.

Jack: Nice to meet you.

------------------------

Driscoll: What was your courier transporting?

Reese: It’s a Dobson type override.

Driscoll: What exactly does this override do?

Reese: It’s a combination of hardware and software that can remotely take control of the nuclear power facilities.

Jack: And the person in possession of this program? Can they do the opposite with it? Create a disaster in a plant, a meltdown?

Reese: Theoretically, yes.

Driscoll: How many nuclear power plants in this country would be vulnerable?

Reese: All of them.

------------------------

Man: Yes?

Marianne: It’s me. They found out about the override.

------------------------

The following takes place between 1:00 P.M. and 2:00 P.M.

[To save time, Jack wants to go by himself to “Felsted Security”, the company that handled the dinner where Audrey first spotted the man from the compound.]

Audrey: Jack, did you get the surveillance footage from the Hyatt security?

Jack: No. The heritage dinner that you attended was monitored by a private company, “Felsted Security”. I just got off the phone with them. They’ve got the video tapes on file, but unfortunately, they’re working off a close system. I’ve gotta go there, pick up the tapes, bring them back here for you to ID. Where are you on the guest list?

Audrey: I’m having it sent here.

Jack: Dammit, we’re running out of time.

Audrey: What do you mean? Is it that urgent?

Jack: Yes. As it turns out, your kidnapping was just a cover for a much larger attack. The terrorists used the broadcast of the trial to overload the internet, and divert all of our attention away from what they were really trying to do. I need a full tactical for my vehicle.

Man: Yes, sir.

Audrey: Which is what?

Jack: They’re in possession of a stolen device called an override. With that, they’ve gained control of 104 nuclear power plants across this country. The override device maintains heat levels within the reactors. Affectively, they can melt down every one of those plants.

Man: Here you go.

Audrey: My God.

Jack: Thank you.

Jack: The man you saw when you were being held captive – right now he’s our only lead.

Audrey: Then let me come to “Felsted Security” with you and make the ID there. It will be quicker.

Jack: Audrey, I can’t. After what you’ve been through today, I’m not gonna put you at risk.

Audrey: You just said our nation’s nuclear power plants will melt down if we don’t find that override, Jack. We can’t afford to waste any more time.

Jack: Come with me.

Curtis: There are 104 nuclear power stations in the United States. We’ve just learned the terrorists are trying to covert all 104 nuclear cores into weapons.

Driscoll: Give us the worst case casualty scenarios, Curtis.

Curtis: This graphic represents a single meltdown scenario. Edgar, break it down for us.

Edgar: If we can rest control of the override, it will shut down the entire cooler system in the core amounts for the containment building. In the first three hours, the population within a ten mile radius will receive the highest doses of radiation. Those people will die within two days.

Curtis: Now, the smallest of these 104 cities represent 75 thousand people. Multiply that by a 104, we’re looking at 7.8 million casualties, and that’s conservative. The environmental impact will also be catastrophic. Thirty miles in all directions of each plant will be uninhabitable for at least five years.

Marianne: Don’t these plants have multiple security systems to prevent this kind of breach?

Curtis: They do. But the override’s already deactivated them.

Driscoll: And if we don’t succeed, how long before these cores start to melt down?

Curtis: Projects in the first radiation shock waves in approximately three hours.

Driscoll: All right, I want everyone here from comm. and logistics to work on getting a handle on the software. The rest of you will handle support and conjunction with NRC personnel. Let’s get to work.

Jack: Erin, we’re leaving now.

Heller: Where are you going, Jack?

Jack: Audrey’s given us a significant lead. We need to follow it up.

Heller: What kind of lead?

Audrey: When we were being held I recognized someone. He was an American. I saw him at a function here in LA a couple of months ago.

Jack: We’re going to view the surveillance tapes of the function at a private security company not far from here.

Heller: I don’t want her going out now. Why can’t you access the tapes here?

Jack: Sir, I wish we could. But they’re off-line. They would have to record over four and a half hours of material for us to view. We don’t have that time.

Audrey: Jack told me that these people retrains are nuclear power plants as weapons. We have to follow this lead, and we have to follow it now.

Jack: Sir, Audrey is the only person who can make this ID.

Heller: If anything happens, Jack, I will hold you personally responsible.

Jack: I understand.

Audrey: How far are we from this facility?

Jack: Not far, Burbank.

[Paul stops Audrey.]

Paul: Audrey.

Audrey: Paul.

Jack: I’ll get the team set up.

Paul: We need to talk.

Audrey: We’ll have to do it when I get back.

Paul: Back? From where?

Audrey: We’re following up on something.

Paul: You…

Audrey: Paul, please, can we just do this later?

Jack: How many on your team?

Man: Four of us.

Jack: Set up a weapons package. I’ll meet you in the motor-pool.

Man: Done.

Paul: Look, I don’t know about all of this, but I know about you and him, and I am not OK with it.

Audrey: Paul, you and I are not together any more.

Paul: I thought we were trying to work things out.

Audrey: Yeah, I tried that. But you kept putting it off, so I gave up. We haven’t been together for over nine months. We’re not trying to work out anything any more.

Jack: Mr. Rains, I’m sorry to interrupt…

Paul: She is my wife.

Audrey: Paul, please. Excuse me.

Paul: She’s my wife. Don’t you forget that.

Jack: Yeah. Let’s go.

Audrey: Jack, I’m sorry.

Jack: It’s fine.

------------------------

[Marianne goes over to Sarah.]

Marianne: Hey. I just received these files from DOD, and I need to give them to Jack Bauer.

Sarah: Well, you can’t. Jack just left.

Marianne: Oh. Well, um… can I forward them to him?

Sarah: No, he went with Audrey Raines to “Felsted Security” to look at some archive footage.

Marianne: OK. Well, I guess I can just hold on to them for him.

Sarah: Yeah, that’ll be fine.

[Marianne looks up the location of Felsted on her computer.]

------------------------

Heller: Paul.

Paul: Jim, we need to talk.

Heller: Come here.

Paul: Do you know about Audrey and Jack Bauer?

Heller: Not until an hour ago.

Paul: Well, I gotta tell you, carrying it on right under your nose, it’s pretty unprofessional, don’t you think?

Heller: Look, I understand your feelings about this. But you and Audrey had been separated for almost a year. Paul, I’m sorry. She’s a big girl. She can do what she wants.

Paul: What she’s doing… she’s breaking my heart.

------------------------

[Sarah catches Marianne in the back area.]

Sarah: Marianne.

Marianne: Sarah.

Sarah: What are you doing back here?

Marianne: Um… Edgar asked me to do a manual reboot of hub 5.

Sarah: I can do that for him.

Marianne: No, no. It’s fine. I got it.

Sarah: OK.

[Sarah leaves. Marianne secretly phones her contact – a man named Powell.]

Powell: Yes?

Marianne: Bauer and Audrey Raines left here about five minutes ago.

Powell: Where’d they go?

Marianne: “Felsted Security”. 357 White Oak Boulevard. It’s in Burbank.

Powell: All right, good. You’re going to need to set things up on your end.

Marianne: What are you talking about? I should be done here.

Powell: No. When Jack Bauer and Audrey Rained are killed, CTU is going to know that someone inside leaked their location.

Marianne: All right. What do I do?

Powell: Divert suspicion.

Marianne: Fine.

------------------------

[Navi watches a news report about Heller’s rescue.]

News Reporter on TV: I’m standing live in an area just outside the perimeter. Unfortunately, the Pentagon is not commenting at this time, but what we do know is that at 12:10 P.M. Secretary Heller and his daughter Audrey Rains were successfully rescued. The number of fatalities is unknown, but sources say there might have been a total of 20 terrorists inside the building at the time. It appears there are no survivors among them.

Navi: Yes?

Marwan: Any lost data?

Navi: It looks like all the critical instructions were uploaded before the assault.

Marwan: Good, then we’re all set?

Navi: Yes. The override has taken control of the nuclear power plants.

Dina: What about Behrooz? What about our son?

Navi: We have to be strong now. We’ll mourn him when this is over.

[Navi leaves the room. Dina’s cell phone rings.]

Dina: Hello?

Behrooz: Mom?

Dina: Behrooz? Are you all right?

Behrooz: Tariq tried to kill me. He was going to shoot me. I had to defend myself.

Dina: What did you do?

Behrooz: I killed him. You can’t let father know.

Dina: Why not?

Behrooz: Because father’s the one who told Tariq to do it. He wants me dead because I messed up with Debbie.

Dina: Behrooz, that’s not possible. Your father would never want to hurt you.

Behrooz: It’s true. Mom, I don’t know what to do. You have to help me.

Dina: Where are you now?

Behrooz: I’m near the metroling station on Lawson in Chatsworth.

Dina: Are you using Tariq’s car?

Behrooz: Yes.

Dina: Hide it. I’ll pick you up there in a half hour.

Behrooz: Hurry.

[Navi enters the room.]

Navi: Who was on the phone?

Dina: It was nothing important.

Navi: Liar.

[Navi grabs Dina.]

Navi: What did Behrooz do?

Dina: No, what did you do? Did you give the order?

Navi: Behrooz was not committed. It was just a matter of time before he turned against us.

Dina: You ordered Tariq to kill him. To kill our own son.

[Dina slaps Navi over and over.]

Dina: No! No! No! You sick…

[Navi pushes Dina against the wall.]

Navi: Where’s Tariq?!

Dina: Behrooz killed him.

Navi: That’s imposible.

Dina: Because you think he’s weak? He’s not.

Navi: Nothing, nothing will stand in the way of what needs to be done. Not him, not you. Where is he now?

Dina: Why? What are you going to do? You’re hurting me.

Navi: I will do more than that. Now, you listen to me, woman. You will do exactly as you told him. You will pick him up in a half an hour.

------------------------

[Audrey and Jack are on the way to “Felsted Security”.]

Jack: What did you say to Paul?

Audrey: That I’m filing for divorce as soon as I get back to DC.

Jack: Are you sure that’s what you want?

Audrey: Yes.

Jack: OK.

------------------------

Sarah: Do you have something?

Edgar: It looks like the hubs and the override device hasn’t completely taken control of all the reactors. I’m just trying to get some response.

Sarah: What can I do?

Edgar: Nothing. Just stay off hub 5. I need it.

Sarah: I thought hub 5 was on for a reboot.

Edgar: No. Curtis, come here.

[Sarah confronts Marianne about her lie.]

Sarah: Can I talk to you for a minute?

Marianne: Actually, I’m kinda busy.

Sarah: You lied to me about doing a reboot for Edgar.

Marianne: Yes, I did.

Sarah: Why?

Marianne: Sarah, I had a personal call to make, and I knew it would be inappropriate at the time of a crisis. I didn’t want anyone to know.

Sarah: Then why did you do it in here? Why didn’t you just go outside?

Marianne: I was trying to make it look like I’m working, OK? I’m sorry, it won’t happen again.

------------------------

[Navi drives Dina to the train station. Navi’s phone rings.]

Navi: It’s Marwan. Yes?

Marwan: Has Tariq taken care of your son?

Navi: I haven’t spoken with Tariq yet. But I’m sure if there was a problem, he would have called.

Marwan: The fact that I’m even talking to you about this is a problem. The next two hours are crucial. I can’t be distracted by this.

Navi: I understand. I promise I will personally oversee the situation to make sure it is resolved.

Marwan: Fix this, Navi.

Navi: Of course.

Dina: What is Marwan going to say if he finds out Behrooz killed Tariq?

Navi: Tariq is expendable, like we all are. Marwan understand that. All he cares about is that Behrooz is silenced.

Dina: I will not be able to look at you after today without thinking about what we did to him. 

------------------------

Edgar: I think I got it.

Sarah: What?

Edgar: The Dobson override. I think I got a piece of the code.

Curtis: What does that mean?

Edgar: This is really it. I can turn off the override and stop the remaining plants from melting down.

Curtis: What do you need?

Edgar: To get into the software cornel. But the NRC will never let me. It’s too dangerous.

Curtis: Why?

Edgar: If I tinker in there and screw up, I can start a chain reaction.

Curtis: All right, Edgar. I’m gonna need you to present this to Heller. He can order NRC to let you in.

Edgar: Present to Heller?

Curtis: Yeah, he’s in the situation room. What?

Edgar: I shouldn’t do this, Curtis.

Curtis: Why not?

Edgar: I get feign. I feel very noxious, I have low blood sugar.

Curtis: It’s just Driscoll and Heller.

Edgar: Driscoll’s in there too?

Curtis: You’ll be fine.

[Curtis makes Edgar present the situation to Heller and Driscoll.]

Curtis: Excuse me, Mr. Secretary. I’m gonna have to interrupt you.

Heller: What is it?

Curtis: This is Edgar Stiles, our Chief Analyst. He is requesting access to the cornels of the power plants.

Heller: My understanding is that no one is to manipulate those cornels while the plants are on-line.

Edgar: Yes, but there is a way to do it if you’re careful. I’d have to stay away from the pre-compiled headers while I was putting a software lock on the Dobson override code. But the chances of causing a load imbalance…

Heller: I don’t understand one thing you’re talking about. Just tell me what the downside is if the cornels are disrupted because of your manipulation.

Edgar: If I make a mistake, I can accelerate a core meltdown on some of the reactors. This is probably a bad idea. Maybe we shouldn’t do it.

Heller: But if you’re successful, you can regain control of the reactors?

Edgar: Yes.

Driscoll: Edgar, what we need to know is can you do this without making a mistake?

Edgar: Yeah, I can do it.

Heller: You’re not filling me with confidence, Edgar.

Edgar: Look, I’m just a little nervous, but if I say I can do it, I can do it.

------------------------

[Navi is still driving Dina to the train station.]

Dina: He’ll run away the moment he’ll see you.

Navi: He won’t see me. You’ll be the only one in the car when you pick him up.

[Dina’s phone rings.]

Dina: It’s Behrooz.

Navi: Answer him.

Dina: Hello?

Behrooz: Are you almost here?

Dina: Yes.

Behrooz: What did you tell dad?

Dina: I didn’t, I just left. He was busy working.

Behrooz: What are we going to do? Wherever we go, he’ll find us.

Dina: No, he won’t. I know a safe place.

Behrooz: I didn’t understand until today what it would feel like doing these things. They’re wrong, mom. And I see it now.

Dina: Don’t think about that any more. You’ll be safe now.

Behrooz: But I am thinking about it. Maybe I should go to the police and tell them everything I know.

Dina: We’ll talk about it when I get there.

Behrooz: OK.

Navi: You did well.

------------------------

[Navi pulls over and gives Dina the keys. He gets in another car with a set of henchmen.]

Dina: Who are they?

Navi: Don’t worry about it. Just make sure you take the second exit at Angeles Crests.

Dina: He’s going to ask me why I’m stopping.

Navi: Let him ask.

Dina: What do I tell him?

Navi: Don’t tell him anything. We’ll meet you there.

------------------------

Curtis: Erin. We’re making good progress.

Driscoll: Tell me.

Curtis: We’ve been able to take 87 power plants off-line. They’re safe.

Driscoll: What about the other 17?

Curtis: Well, it’s how we’d be able to use the override to block a shutdown. But everything we’re trying is being repelled.

Driscoll: What are we doing to get around it?

Curtis: Believe me, Erin, we’re trying everything. If there’s a way, we’ll find it. I’ll keep you posted.

[Driscoll stops into the clinic to see Maya, who is anxious.]

Driscoll: Sweetheart.

Maya: Mom…

Driscoll: How are you feeling?

Maya: Not good. I don’t like these doctors, I want Doctor Aronowitz.

Driscoll: You can’t see him today. You can’t see him today.

Maya: Why not?

Driscoll: Because I can’t leave here, and I want you close by.

Maya: Then stay here with me.

[They hug.]

Driscoll: I’ll be back in a few minutes, I promise. But you have to do something for me, OK? I need you to do something. Look at me. Maya, look at me. You need to cooperate with the doctors. OK?

Maya: OK. OK.

Driscoll: OK. Come here. I’ll be back. I promise.

[Driscoll leaves the clinic.]

Nurse: Take these, please.

[The nurse hands Maya some pills.]

------------------------

Curtis: Your son was in sensory disorientation for a total of two and a half hours.

Heller: What did he say when you took him off it?

Curtis: Nothing.

Heller: You tortured my son for almost three hours and ended up yielding nothing?

Curtis: You gave the order, sir.

[Curtis and Heller get into the interrogation room where Richard is.]

Heller: Give us a moment, please.

Man: Yes, sir.

Heller: I’m sorry this had to happen, Richard, but we had to make sure that you weren’t withholding anything from us.

Richard: I hate you. I never wanna see you again.

Heller: Please understand that I am responsible for the lives of millions of people.

Richard: You torture me, and now you want me to forgive you? It just confirms everything I always knew about you. Am I free to leave?

Heller: Yes. 

------------------------

[Jack and Audrey are still in the car. Audrey’s phone rings.]

Audrey: Yeah, Paul?

Paul: Audrey, do you have a minute?

Audrey: Sure. What’s going on?

Paul: I just talked to your dad, and he said something to me that I’ve been thinking about a lot. He said that you’re a big girl, and I think I’ve been treating you like a child.

Audrey: I don’t think that, Paul.

Paul: Well, whether it comes off that way or not, I need to respect your choices, respect who you are, and… I’ve been so stupid about all of this. I’ve lost sight of the things I love about you.

Audrey: Look, uh… I hear what you’re saying, but I… I don’t… I don’t really know how to respond to that.

Paul: Well, you don’t have to. I just want you to know that I’ve been wrong about a lot of things, and I’m… just before you make any big decisions, decisions that you’re entitled to make, let some time go by. Is that fair of me to ask?

Audrey: Yeah. Yeah, that’s fair.

Paul: OK, well, I’ll… I’ll see you later.

Audrey: Yeah, see you later.

Jack: How far out are we?

Man: A few miles away, sir.

Jack: OK.

------------------------

[Dina picks up Behrooz.]

Behrooz: Where are we gonna go?

Dina: Out of the city.

Behrooz: Why did father want to kill me? I’m his son!

Dina: Stop, Behrooz. You can’t think about that now. Get in.

Behrooz: We killed two people today. I can’t do this. I’m freaking out.

[Dina picks up Behrooz. She sees an oncoming train.]

Dina: Get in the train.

Behrooz: What?

Dina: Your father’s following us.

Behrooz: What?

Dina: It was the only way I could save you. Now, dammit, Behrooz, get out. Go. Go! Obey Me!

[Suddenly, shots fire and the windshield shatters. Dina is hit in the arm.]

Behrooz: Mom! Mom!

Dina: Oh, God!

[Behrooz climbs back into the car and drives from the passenger side.]

Navi: Go.

[Navi and his men follow, but Behrooz eludes them in traffic.] 

------------------------

[Navi goes to see Marwan.]

Marwan: This has taken care of?

Navi: No. There is a problem. My wife and Behrooz have betrayed us.

Marwan: Where are they now?

Navi: I don’t know. But Dina’s been wounded. She’ll have to get medical attention.

Marwan: So you come to me, asking me for help with this mess?

Navi: I can’t do it alone, Marwan. I’m ashamed of myself. Allow me to make this right.

Marwan: What would you need?

Navi: To monitor local hospitals. I’ll also need drivers, as well as access to police frequencies.

Marwan: You think she’ll go to the police?

Navi: No, no. But they may pick her up, if they find out she’s been shot.

Marwan: I told you. I can’t be distracted by this right now. [To the man sitting next to them] Give him what he needs. Make sure the woman and child are captured before they can do us harm.

Navi: Thank you. Thank you.

Marwan: No matter what happen today, you will answer to this.

Navi: I understand.

------------------------

[Jack and Audrey arrive at “Felsted Security”.]

Marcy: Has she seen the tapes yet?

Jack: No, we just got here.

Marcy: Well, good. I’ll start putting the guest list together.

Jack: How long is it gonna take you to create the database?

Marcy: It shouldn’t be long. Once we’ve identified him, we’ll be able to run him through.

Jack: OK.

Marcy: I’m working on it right now. I’ll let you know the second it’s done.

Jack: OK, Marcy. Thanks. Our office just got a copy of the guest list from the dinner where you saw this guy. Once you make an ID on the surveillance tape, we’ll be able to send it through a database and find out who it is.

Audrey: OK.

Jack: I’m carrying.

Man: Clear.

[Jack’s phone rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Marianne: Jack, this is Marianne Taylor at CTU.

Jack: What is it, Marianne?

Marianne: Curtis wanted me to tell you that as soon as Audrey recognizes somebody from the surveillance video, he wants it sent directly to my system. I’m on 6-0-Casper.

Jack: Why didn’t he tell me himself?

Marianne: They’re still trying to shut down all the remaining power plants, and everybody else is still working on that.

Jack: Are they gonna be able to control them in time?

Marianne: I don’t know.

Jack: OK. Keep me informed.

Audrey: What is it?

Jack: We don’t have a lot of time.

------------------------

Doctor: She seems to be doing better now. She’s sleeping.

Driscoll: That’s very good news.

[Driscoll sees on Maya’s charts that she was given Haldol.]

Driscoll: Did you give her Haldol?

Doctor: Mm-hm. Why?

Driscoll: She’s allergic to it, it’s in her file.

[Driscoll runs up to Maya.]

Doctor: The date on this is old. This is the wrong file.

Driscoll: Maya! Maya! She’s unconscious! Maya.

Doctor: Mary, we have a code! I need 25 cc’s of epinephrine!

[The doctor attempts to revive Maya. Driscoll is terrified.]

Driscoll: How could you’ve got the wrong file?

Doctor: Excuse me, please step out. I need that syringe now!

Mary: Doctor, 25 cc’s.

[Sarah comes in to tell Driscoll that Heller is looking for her.]

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, Secretary Heller…

Nurse: Are we charging? Let’s go, Mary.

Doctor: Mary, make sure I get a crash cart.

Driscoll: What is it, Sarah? Sarah?

Sarah: Secretary Heller needs you.

Driscoll: For what?

Sarah: He’s going on-line with the President in a few minutes, and he wants to know about our progress on the reactors.

Driscoll: Um… tell him that Edgar’s still trying to get control of the system cornel, and that we’ll know more in 15 minutes.

Sarah: If we do stop the meltdown, he wants to know if there’s gonna be any system contamination.

Driscoll: I know there won’t be any contamination. It’ll take 36 hours to reboot the reactors. Is there anything else?

Sarah: No, that’s all.

Driscoll: All right, go.

------------------------

[Jack and Audrey scan the surveillance footage from the dinner event.]

Gary: We had security cameras running on only two areas; one was covering the main ballroom and one was in the entrance.

Jack: OK, put them both up. The ballroom angle’s too wide. Let’s just go with the entrance.

Gary: All right.

Audrey: What time is that?

Gary: 6:39.

Audrey: No, that’s too early. I met him when I arrived, around 9:00, 9:15.

Gary: All right.

Audrey: Wait, stop. Can you back this up a few frames?

Gary: Sure.

Audrey: Wait, wait. Stop there. I think that’s him. Can you enhance him right here?

Gary: Yeah.

Jack: That image won’t process. We need to make it clear.

Gary: Let me see if I can get that for you.

[Jack notices on Felsted’s security camera that their guard is not at his post.]

Jack: Who’s supposed to be at that desk?

Gary: Oh, that’s Mitchell. He probably went out for another smoke.

Jack: The back door’s wide open. No one’s there.

[Jack radios for the CTU agents that accompanied him.]

Jack: Craig, do you copy? Craig? Rick? How many ways into this area of the building?

Gary: Two.

Jack: Put them up. Rick?

[Jack sees their dead bodies on the monitor. Then there are gunshots outside. Suddenly, the door blasts open and two men come in firing.]

Jack: Get down!

[The tech gets hit.]

Jack: Are you OK?

Audrey: Yeah.

[Jack sees the wounded Gary lying on the ground.]

Jack: Dammit. I’m gonna call for help, OK? But first I need to know where’s the surveillance tape is? Where is the source?

Gary: The main ser… servers.

Jack: How do I access it?

Gary: On the flash memory.

Jack: Watch the security monitors. Do you have sticks? Gary, do you have sticks?

Gary: In my… pocket.

[Jack takes the sticks out of Gary’s pocket. He copies the data from the main servers into the stick.]

Jack: OK.

[Jack sees that Gary’s dying. He tries to revive him.]

Jack: Stay with me. He’s gone.

[They see more men coming toward them.]

Audrey: Jack, they’re coming.

Jack: They’re trying to seal us off.

Audrey: Shouldn’t we call CTU?

Jack: No. CTU’s gotta be compromised, that’s the only way they’d know we were here. We gotta get out of here.

[Jack grabs the sticks, and he and Audrey make their way through the building.]

Jack: Move. Go! Go! Go. Go, go.

[Jack grabs a gun from one of the bodies and gives it to Audrey for backup.]

Jack: There’s one other pipe, safety’s off.

Audrey: Jack…

Jack: You can do this. We’ll cover each other.

[Jack calls someone on his cell phone.]

Audrey: I thought you said CTU’s been compromised.

Jack: It has been.

Audrey: Then who are you calling?

Jack: The only person I can trust right now.

------------------------

[Heller briefs President Keeler on the situation.]

Keeler: And if there are 17 nuclear power plants about to melt down, I need to update an evacuation strategy.

Heller: I agree, sir. I’ve already laid the groundwork with the National Guard. They’re preparing to go into individual communities and effect a civil defense evacuation upon your command.

Keeler: And you say our worst case scenario gives up approximately three hours? 

Heller: That’s correct, sir.

Keeler: Erin, what are our chances of shutting down the remaining 17?

Driscoll: At this time, I would say it’s less than 50 percent. But we’re trying something now that might improve those chances.

Keeler: When will you know more?

Driscoll: In the next 15 minutes.

Keeler: All right. Keep me updated.

Driscoll: Yes, Mr. President.

Heller: Let’s find out from Jack and Audrey if they’ve come up with anything on their end.

Curtis: Yes, sir.

Driscoll: Mr. Secretary, I can have a room prepared for you to rest if you like. You’ve been under a great deal of stress in the past few hours.

Heller: Yeah. No, I don’t think I can rest, but uh… thanks anyway. Erin.

Driscoll: Yes, sir?

Heller: I understand your daughter’s down in the clinic.

Driscoll: Yes, but it won’t interfere with my work.

Heller: I’m sure of that. I was just wondering if everything was OK.

Driscoll: It’s something we’ve lived with since she was six years old. There are good days and bad days. Today’s a bad one.

Heller: I’m sorry.

------------------------

Jack: OK, go right.

[Jack sees someone approaching them.]

Jack: Come here.

[Jack shoots the man.]

Jack: Go. Move, come on.

[They get to the parking garage.]

Jack: We’re clear.

[The door of the garage opens, and three men enter.]

Jack: Move. Move!

[Jack and Audrey hide. More men come inside. Jack starts shooting at them.]

Jack: OK. We’re gonna get through this, but you gotta listen to me. I need to get that guy’s weapon. I need you to provide cover. Save your ammunition. Space out your shots. You’re ready?

Audrey: Mm-hm.

Jack: OK.

[Jack runs, and Audrey starts shooting the men. Jack gets the guy’s gun, ad start shooting at the men too.]

Jack: Audrey, get down!

Audrey: I’m out!

Jack: Stay down!

[Jack runs back to Audrey.]

Jack: I’m empty.

Audrey: What?

Jack: I’m empty!

[The men approach, looking for Jack and Audrey. Suddenly, Tony Almeida appears and shoots the rest of the henchmen.]

Tony: Jack!

Jack: Tony!

Tony: You’re OK?

Jack: Yeah, we’re all right. Move. Move! 

[The three run out of the building.]

------------------------

[Heller and Driscoll watch as Edgar goes through the code to break the Override on the reactors.]

Driscoll: Edgar’s just started the final sequence.

Heller: Has he gained the cornel yet?

Driscoll: Yes. This is where we can’t make a mistake. If he does, he’ll accelerate the meltdowns instead of stopping them.

Edgar: Sarah, look up the up course for the load-A registered condition.

Sarah: F-F-0-9.

Edgar: No, not the jump-A. I need the load-A. Dammit. Move. That’s it. A-B-A-1. I think I got it.

Heller: What do you mean, “you think”?

Edgar: I’d like to review it again before I send it, please.

Driscoll: How long will that take?

Edgar: Ten minutes.

Driscoll: We don’t have time. You have to do it now.

Edgar: Let me just check the headers.

Curtis: Now, Edgar. 

[Edgar sends it.]

Edgar: I did the best I could, sir. I hope it works.

Heller: So do I.

[Everyone at CTU wait to see what happens.]

Heller: There’s no response.

Edgar: Come on.

[One by one, the reactors are turned off.]

Sarah: There they go.

Heller: Congratulations, Edgar.

Edgar: Thank you, sir.

[Of the seventeen, six are still immune to the kill sequence.]

Edgar: No, don’t tell me that.

Driscoll: Edgar, what’s going on? Why are some of the reactors still not shutting down? Edgar, talk to me.

Edgar: Six of the reactors are immune to the kill sequence. The Dobson override’s already taken over their system.

Driscoll: All six are gonna melt down?

Edgar: Their shutdown codes have been completely corrupted.

Heller: Contact Bauer. Either he finds the people responsible for planning the override, or we’re looking at a nuclear holocaust.


____________________
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Previously on 24:

Dina: You killed Tariq?

Behrooz: You can’t let father know. He wants me dead because I messed up with Debbie.

Dina: You ordered Tariq to kill him. To kill our own son.

Navi: Nothing will stand in the way of what needs to be done. Not him, not you.

Dina: Your father’s following us.

Behrooz: What?

Dina: It was the only way I could save you.

[Shots fire and Dina is hit in the arm.]

Behrooz: Mom!

------------------------

Edgar: I think I got it. This is really it. I can turn off the override and stop the remaining plants from melting down. I did the best I could, sir. I hope it works.

Heller: So do I.

Driscoll: Edgar, what’s going on? Why are some of the reactors still not shutting down?

Edgar: Six of the reactors are immune to the kill sequence.

Heller: Contact Bauer. Either he finds the people responsible for planning the override, or we’re looking at a nuclear holocaust.

------------------------

Marianne: Bauer and Audrey Raines left here about five minutes ago.

Powell: Where’d they go?

Marianne: “Felsted Security”.

Powell: You’re going to need to set things up on your end. When Jack Bauer and Audrey Raines are killed, CTU is going to know that someone inside leaked their location. Divert suspicion.

Marianne: Fine.

------------------------

Jack: The override device maintains heat levels within the reactors. They can melt down every one of those power plants. The man you saw when you were being held captive – right now he’s our only lead.

Audrey: Stop there. I think that’s him.

Jack: They’re trying to seal us off.

Audrey: Shouldn’t we call CTU?

Jack: No. CTU’s gotta be compromised, that’s the only way they’d know we were here.

Audrey: Then who are you calling?

Jack: The only person I can trust right now. I’m empty. Tony!

------------------------

The following takes place between 2:00 P.M. and 3:00 P.M.

Driscoll: Is there any chance this is a mistake? That the remaining six nuclear reactors are just taking longer to shut down?

Curtis: No. Edgar rechecked it. Those plants are firming the grip of the override which had been sealed off. We can’t get in.

Heller: Did you send the list of the six affected cities to the President?

Curtis: Yes, sir.

Heller: What about evacuation procedures?

Curtis: We’ve already alerted the National Guard. We’re just waiting to see how the President wants us to proceed.

Edgar: Ms. Driscoll, the President’s ready.

Driscoll: OK, put him on. Mr. President.

Keeler: I understand we’ve been able to shut down 98 nuclear power plants.

Heller: Yes, sir. But as of now, it appears that our shutdown order will not be affective with the six remaining reactors.

Keeler: “Not going to be affective”? What exactly does that mean?

Heller: I’m afraid it means that we could have six nuclear disasters on our hands.

Keeler: What are the casualty projections if all six plants melt down?

Curtis: 50 thousand deaths in the first 24 hours. The longer indictments in the long - millions, and that’s not taking into account the resulting cancers and birth defects.

Keeler: Why were we able to shut down the other power plants but not these six?

Driscoll: Because they are still being controlled by the terrorists, sir.

Keeler: You mean, because of the override device they stole today.

Driscoll: Exactly. We have to find the override device itself. It’s a prototype. The terrorists have the only one in the world.

Keeler: All right. Let’s find it. I’m going to order the evacuation of those six cities. Jim, keep me posted.

Heller: Yes, Mr. President.

[Heller’s cell phone rings.]

Driscoll: All right. Let’s get back to work.

[Heller takes the call.]

Heller: Yeah?

Jack: Mr. Secretary, it’s Jack. Don’t let anyone know you’re talking to me. We got a problem.

Heller: I understand, Marcy. Let me see what I can do. I have to take this call.

Driscoll: Yes, sir.

[Heller leaves the conference room.]

Heller: What’s going on?

Jack: First off, sir, I want you to know that Audrey and I are safe, but there was an attempt made on our life at “Felsted Security”.

Heller: What?

Jack: A group of assassins well-armed, well-trained took out our entire security detail. You’re gonna need to send a forensic unit over there to identify the bodies, but I don’t want anyone at CTU to know.

Heller: Why not?

Jack: Because I think someone over at CTU has complicit the attack.

Heller: How do you know that?

Jack: Sir, CTU is the only agency that knew where we were. No one else had that information.

Heller: Is one of Erin’s people working with the terrorists?

Jack: Yes, I think so. I just don’t know who. But it’s clear that they didn’t want Audrey to make the ID of the man she saw when you guys were both being held.

Heller: I’m sending a Secret Service detail to pick you two up.

Jack: Sir, please don’t do that. That’s not the right thing to do here.

Heller: Why not?

Jack: I don’t want anyone to know where we are. That way I know we will be safe.

Heller: How do you want me to handle this?

Jack: Remember the sequence we developed for the Melbourne situation?

Heller: Yes.

Jack: Try that. I think it’ll work.

Heller: OK.

Jack: sir, I’ve gotta go. I’ll get back to you as soon as I know we’re safe.

Heller: Jack, take care of Audrey.

Jack: Yes, sir, I will.

[Audrey is visibly upset about the second attempt on her life.]

Jack: Are you OK?

Audrey: I’m almost getting used to this.

Jack: Yeah. Tony, is it possible that we could have been followed?

Tony: No, we’re clear.

Audrey: Where are we going?

Jack: We need to lay low for a while.

Tony: What kind of communication do you need?

Jack: A wi-fi and a hard line.

Tony: All right. We’ll go back to my place.

Jack: OK. Thank you, Tony.

Tony: Wait until you see it before you thank me.

Jack: No, I mean, for picking us up, for saving our lives. I’m sure you’re wondering what’s going on.

Tony: Not really, no.

Jack: Something wrong?

Tony: What could be wrong? I’m not in the Federal prison any more, thanks to you and President Palmer. Michelle left me, I… you know what? Never mind. Why don’t you tell me what this is all about?

Jack: You heard about Audrey and her father this morning?

Tony: Yeah.

Jack: We were at “Felsted Security” so Audrey can make an ID of a man she saw during the kidnapping.

Tony: I don’t get it. Why?

Jack: The Secretary’s kidnapping was just a cover. The terrorists’ main objective is to gain control of American power plants from coast to coast. The man that Audrey saw – that’s our only lead.

Tony: I thought you weren’t in the field any more, Jack.

Jack: I’m not. The Secretary is my responsibility. I got caught up in it.

Tony: Yeah, well, listen to me very carefully: I don’t wanna get caught up in it. So you do whatever you need to do at my place. I’m staying out of it, all right?

Jack: Understood.

------------------------

[President Keeler addresses the nation.]

Keeler: Today continues to be a challenge to the strength of the American spirit. We have a condition in six cities across the United States, in which nuclear power facilities may become unstable. While we work to regain control over these facilities, I’m also asking our National Guard to assist local authorities to affect an immediate evacuation of those six cities. This evacuation is only being issued for all persons living or working within a specific radius…

Curtis: The President didn’t mention the fact that there isn’t enough time left for complete evacuation. If those reactors melt down, there’ll be at least 50 thousand dead per city.

Driscoll: We still have time to try and find a way to prevent that.

Curtis: I can tell you now, Erin, the chances of doing that from here are very low. We have to find the people who have the override device.

------------------------

[Navi is talking on the phone with one of his men.]

Navi: What about the hospitals north of there? All right. Keep checking.

Man: I called Dina’s sister. There’s no answer.

Navi: All right. I’ll take care of it. You and Raphy, go check the station again.

Man: OK.

Marwan: The Americans have been able to shut down most of the reactors.

Navi: How many are under our control?

Marwan: Six. More than enough to break their will. But I’m gonna have to manage the override personally. Make sure those six melt down on schedule.

Navi: Is there anything I can do?

Marwan: Yes. Take care of your mess.

Navi: Don’t worry, Marwan. I give you my word: my wife and son will be dead by the end of this day.

------------------------

[Behrooz drives nervously.]

Behrooz: We have to get you to a hospital.

Dina: No. Your father knows I’ve been shot. He’ll be looking for us in all the hospitals.

Behrooz: Well, we’re going to have to take a chance. Mom, you’re hurt.

Dina: I’ll be OK.

Behrooz: You won’t. You need to get to a doctor. I’m not afraid of father.

Dina: You should be.

Behrooz: He tried to kill me, and then he did this to you. He’s not my father anymore. Mom, please.

Dina: All right. Drop me off at an emergency room, but then you’ll have to drive away.

Behrooz: No. Whatever happens, we’re staying together.

------------------------

Marianne: Jackie, I’m running a filter for Driscoll. Could you babysit it for a sec? I’ll be right back.

Jackie: Sure.

Marianne: Thanks.

[Marianne sneaks into the restroom and phones Powell.]

Powell: Yes, Marianne?

Marianne: I couldn’t take your call. I was in a meeting.

Powell: Jack Bauer and Audrey Raines are still alive.

Marianne: My information was accurate.

Powell: Yes. Their location was correct, but they survived the attack. They’re headed back to CTU?

Marianne: I haven’t heard anything.

Powell: Bauer didn’t call in?

Marianne: Not that I’m aware of.

Powell: That doesn’t make sense.

Marianne: Actually, it makes perfect sense. Bauer knows there’s been a security breach, and you can bet he’s told someone here. I gotta get out.

Powell: No, you have to stay in till we take care of Bauer and the woman.

Marianne: What about me? I am not gonna spend the rest of my life in jail.

Powell: You’ll be taken care of. You know that. Don’t go.

[Sarah enters the restroom.]

Sarah: There you are.

Marianne: What do you need?

Sarah: Division’s waiting for those projections.

Marianne: Well, they’re ready to be sent.

Sarah: Then send them.

------------------------

[Heller’s assistant, Scott Borman, arrives at CTU.]

Heller: Yeah?

Curtis: Sir, your assistant, Scott Borman, just arrived. Shall I send him in?

Heller: Yes.

Scott: Mr. Secretary, it’s good to see you safe and sound, sir.

Heller: Thanks, Scott. Sit down.

Scott: Is there a problem, sir?

Heller: There’s a big problem. Someone inside CTU is leaking information to someone on the outside.

Scott: What do you need me to do?

Heller: I need you to go to Erin Driscoll. Tell her that Jack Bauer is no longer at “Felsted Security”, and that he’s watching surveillance videos at the old CTU substation in Torrance.

Scott: Anything about when Jack will call in?

Heller: When they identify the man that Audrey saw.

Scott: I take it Jack and Audrey are nowhere near the CTU substation.

Heller: Right. We’re trying to flush out the mole.

Scott: Then you’ll need me to put a DOD com sat up all around this place.

Heller: If anyone sends out a communication containing the information you planted, that’s the spy.

Scott: Yes, sir.

Heller: Let’s go. 

------------------------

[Tony brings Jack and Audrey to his house.]

Tony: Watch your step. The dog next door likes our yard.

[They get inside the house.]

Tony: Here we are. Home sweet home.

Jack (to Audrey): Just stay here.

[Jack checks the house. Tony’s “friend” Jen gets out of a room and Jack pulls his gun out on her.]

Jen: Oh, God! Who the hell are you?

Tony: Hey, Jack, it’s OK. This is my friend Jen.

Jen: Tell him to play with his guns outside.

Jack: I’m sorry. Excuse me. I’m sorry.

Tony: What are you doing here anyway? I thought that you were working.

Jen: I’m going in late.

Tony: This is Jack and his friend Audrey. This is Jen.

Jack: Hi.

Jen: I saw you on TV today. You’re the daughter of the Secretary of Defense. You and your old man were kidnapped this morning.

Audrey: Yeah.

Jen: What’s going on?

Tony: I’m helping them out with something.

Jen: Could you be a little more specific?

Jack: We need to use Tony’s computer.

Jen: What, they don’t have computers where you work?

Tony: Listen, we have a situation here, all right? They need to lay low for a little bit. We can’t let anybody know they’re here, all right?

Jen: Whatever. I’m leaving anyway.

Jack: Tony.

Tony: Jen, you can’t go anywhere.

Jen: Why not?

Tony: We can’t leave until Jack and Audrey take off. We can’t take a chance.

Jen: What kind of chance? I work at a bar.

Jack: I’m sorry, Jen. We’re not gonna be long.

Jen: Look, stay as long as you want. I have a job. He doesn’t.

Audrey: Jen, can I talk to you for a second? Please.

Tony: I’m sorry.

Jack: No, she seems real sweet.

Audrey: Look, we were fighting for our lives a few minutes ago, and if it hadn’t been for Tony, we would have been dead. Now, I’ve been through a lot today, and I’m sure when this is all over, your boss will understand.

Jen: And if he doesn’t?

Audrey: I can have him killed.

Jen: Knock yourself out.

Audrey: Thank you. How are you guys making out?

Jack: Good. I just have to convert this so I can read it. Hopefully, you can make an ID from the surveillance video.

Tony: I have some software for that. I’m gonna dig it out.

Jack: Thanks.

Audrey: You told me about Tony, but I didn’t know that Michelle left him.

Jack: Yeah, a few months after he got out of prison.

Audrey: I thought he went to prison because of her. He saved her life and she paid him back by leaving him?

Jack: That’s how Tony sees it too. It didn’t happen exactly like that. When Tony got out of prison, he was angry. He couldn’t get a job. Personally, I don’t think he wanted one. He started drinking. He pushed her away.

Audrey: What is she doing now?

Jack: A Deputy Director over at Division.

Audrey: I hope he can help us.

Jack: If he can, he will.

Tony: All right, here we go.

Jack: You got it, Tony?

Tony: Yeah, right here.

[Tony hands Jack a CD.]

Jack: Thanks.

[Jack inserts the CD inside the drive.]

Jack: We’re in.

------------------------

Heller: Start the ball rolling with Driscoll?

Scott: Yeah. I’m headed into her briefing now.

Heller: She’s not gonna be happy when she finds out we’re using her to flush out the mole.

Scott: I’m surprised you felt we need to keep her in the dark about this one.

Heller: As long as there’s a leak at CTU, we keep everyone in the dark.

Driscoll: Make sure that you’re on-line and that your databases are unlocked. As soon as Jack sends in the image, I need you to be able to move as quickly as possible to make this ID, OK?

Sarah: I don’t understand why Jack’s doing this at the old substation.

Driscoll: Apparently, he has technical reasons. I didn’t speak with him directly.

Sarah: Who did?

Scott: I did. He also asked that his whereabouts be kept strictly internal until he contacts us.

Driscoll: All right. Let’s go.

[After hearing this, Marianne goes back to her desk. She pulls out a digital voice recorder out of her purse.]

Marianne (into a digital voice recorder): Old CTU substation in Torrance.

[Marianne plugs the device into her system and types some commands on the keyboard.]

------------------------

Audrey: I remember this lady. We saw him around here. There he is.

Jack: Are you sure that’s him?

Audrey: Yeah.

Jack: I’m gonna route this to the DC office.

[Jack picks up the phone to call his office at the Department of Defense in Washington.]

Jen: Oh, my God, I was there last Friday…

Jack: Tony, she’s on the phone. Get her for making calls.

[Tony goes inside Jen’s room.]

Jen: What, I can’t go to work, now I can’t talk on the phone?

Tony: Just give me the phone.

Jen: Go to hell!

Tony: Give me the damn phone!

Jen: Fine!

[Tony comes out with the phone and hands it over to Jack.]

Tony: Go ahead.

Jack: Thanks.

[Jack calls his office at the Department of Defense in Washington.]

Marcy: This is Marcy.

Jack: Marcy, it’s Jack. I’m sending you the image we need ID’d.

Marcy: We’re ready to receive.

Jack: OK.

------------------------

Heller: You’re positive this came from her system?

Scott: Yeah. The voice has been digitalized and scrambled, but we were able to clean it up enough to make echo word “CTU substation”.

Heller: Where’s security?

Scott: On their way.

Heller: Thanks, Scott.

[Heller comes up to Driscoll’s office.]

Driscoll: Yes, Mr. Secretary?

Heller: Erin, I’m sorry to report there’s been a breach in CTU.

Driscoll: What?

Heller: The information Scott gave you about Jack is false.

Driscoll: What do you mean, false?

Heller: Jack and Audrey were ambushed at “Felsted Security”. They survived the attack. But it’s clear that someone in this office gave them up.

Driscoll: With all due respect, sir, you knew about this and you didn’t tell me?

Heller: Being left out of the loop is not something you should be concerned about.

Driscoll: I assume you’re telling me now because your sting operation yielded a result.

Heller: Yes, it did. Read that.

Driscoll: Where is she?

Heller: She’s about to be taken into custody. Join me.

[Driscoll and Heller go downstairs to arrest the spy in front of everyone at CTU.]

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, what’s going on?

Driscoll: Go with these men.

Sarah: What for?

Heller: You’re under arrest, Gavin.

Driscoll: You’ve been passing classified information.

Sarah: What? What are you talking about?

Driscoll: Take her to holding.

Guard: This way.

Sarah: Holding? Ms. Driscoll. What are you doing? Ms. Driscoll, I haven’t done anything. Ms. Driscoll, this is a mistake. What is happening? Can you tell me what’s going on? I didn’t do anything. Please!

Driscoll: Get back to work. 

------------------------

[Borman orders Edgar and Marianne to send him all of Sarah’s files.]

Scott: I don’t care how you divide up her files. I just want everything off her system, and then sent to me. And enter new pass codes.

Edgar: We can’t just do this under your authority.

Curtis: Edgar. It’s OK.

Edgar: But he works with DOD, not CTU.

Curtis: Yeah, well, he’s the one who found the mole. And Heller wants to have him joined over. Finish up here and get back to station 2. The program resetter for the reactors has almost finished compiling.

Edgar: Can I see this?

Marianne: Sure.

Edgar: What makes you so sure Sarah’s the mole?

Scott: She was sending out encoded information about Jack Bauer.

Edgar: I don’t think she would compromise Bauer or the investigation.

Marianne: That’s how she was able to fool everybody, Edgar. She’s the last person you’d expect to do it.

Scott: All right. Just give me those files.

Edgar: It’s right here. 2:22 P.M. message sent. “Old CTU substation in Torrance.” Did doesn’t seem weird to you that she would leave it on her system like this?

Marianne: She didn’t just leave it, it was encrypted.

Edgar: Yeah, with a Bainbridge algorithm. Come on, it’s so old school it’s like saying, “please decode me.”

Marianne: Let’s face it, Sarah wasn’t the sharpest.

------------------------

[In the holding room, Driscoll tries to interrogate Sarah, but she insists that she was set up.]

Sarah: Please, Ms. Driscoll. I promise you there’s been some kind of mistake.

Driscoll: How could there be a mistake? Your system was isolated. The massage was sent from it, while you were there.

Sarah: Somebody set me up. It’s the only explanation I can think of.

Driscoll: Tell me how that’s possible.

Sarah: Someone backed into my system through a subnet, planted something.

Driscoll: That’s the first thing we checked. None of them were compromised. Let’s stop playing games. Thousands of people’s lives are at stake. Where are the people who control the override?

Sarah: I don’t know. That’s what I was working on.

Driscoll: Who did you send the message about Jack to?

Sarah: I didn’t. Ms. Driscoll, I would never betray our country or endanger people’s lives. You know that.

Driscoll: Is it the same contact who coordinated the attempt on Jack and Audrey’s life at “Felsted Security”?

Sarah: I don’t know. It’s wasn’t me.

Driscoll: I learned my lesson today with Sherak, and I am no longer gonna air on the side of caution in these interrogations, do you get my meaning?

Sarah: I don’t know what to say.

[Torture specialist Eric Richards comes in with his tools.]

Sarah: Eric, no. Please, don’t do this. Eric. Ms. Driscoll.

[Eric tasers Sarah.]

Sarah: Please stop.

Driscoll: If you want it to stop, you tell me where the Dobson override is, and who has it.

Sarah: I swear I don’t know anything.

[Driscoll signals Eric to taser Sarah again.]

Sarah: Wait. There’s gotta be an explanation for this. You gotta give me some time to think.

[Eric tasers Sarah again.]

Driscoll: Talk to me, Sarah. Talk to me.

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, I’m not a spy. I’m not. Please, believe me.

[Driscoll walks out of the interrogation room, leaving Sarah with Eric, who keeps torturing her.]

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, please.

Driscoll: I’m concerned.

Heller: You think you can break her in time?

Driscoll: I can break her in time, if she’s guilty.

Heller: According to Scott, there is no way that this could be a mistake.

Driscoll: I agree, it’s hard evidence. But I’ve known Sarah for eight months, and she doesn’t fit the profile.

Heller: How do you wanna handle it?

Driscoll: I’ll watch for a few more minutes, then I’ll go back in.

Heller: I’ll brief Jack.

Sarah: Eric, please. Please. Eric. No! 

------------------------

Audrey: What are you doing?

Jack: Just checking the surveillance from later that night to see who he was talking to.

Audrey: Did you find anything?

Jack: No, not yet.

Tony: Anybody want a beer?

Audrey: I could use one.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Heller: We found our mole.

Jack: Who is it?

Heller: Sarah Gavin. Works in com.

Jack: Was she working alone?

Heller: As far as we know.

Jack: OK, I’ll call Marcy, tell her the CTU channels are open. We’ll tart sharing data.

Heller: How’s Audrey doing?

Jack: She’s good. She’s resting.

[Tony watches TV. He pours himself some beer.]

Jack: Sir, I think now would be a good time to send someone to have her picked up. We’re at 21408 Kipling, north Hollywood.

Heller: What’s there?

Jack: A friend.

Heller: I’ll send the Secret Service.

Jack: Thank you, sir.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: Your father’s sending someone to pick you up, take you back to CTU.

Audrey: OK.

[Jack shuts the TV off.]

Tony: Don’t you think you’ve made me miss enough TV today, Jack?

Jack: Why did you never call me?

Tony: For what?

Jack: I’ve been there. I can help.

Tony: I’m considered a traitor to this country. My wife left me. So how are you gonna help me, huh, Jack?

Jack: Yeah.

Tony: Look, I owed you for getting me out of prison. But today I repaid that debt. To tell you the truth, all you do is remind me of a past I’m trying to forget. So why don’t you do me a favor? Do what you need to do here, and let’s leave it at that. All right?

Jack: Yeah.

[Jack turns the TV back on for Tony.] 

------------------------

[Dina is treated at a hospital.]

Doctor Martinez: So how did this happen?

Dina: I was working in the yard, and backed into a nail that sticks out of our gate.

Doctor Martinez: This looks like a gunshot wound.

Dina: I’m afraid it was nothing that exciting, doctor.

Behrooz: It was my fault. I was supposed to fix that gate last week.

Doctor Martinez: All right. You’re gonna need a tetanus shot.

Dina: Thank you, doctor.

Doctor Martinez: Yeah. I’ll be right back.

[The doctor leaves the room.]

Dina: Go watch him.

[Behrooz sees the doctor say something to a nurse.]

Dina: What’s going on?

Behrooz: He said something to the nurse.

Dina: Did he make a phone call?

Behrooz: Not that I could see.

Dina: Did she?

Behrooz: No.

Dina: Good.

Behrooz: Maybe it wouldn’t be so bad if they call the police. At least the police can protect us from father.

Dina: It would be bad, to go to jail for the rest of our lives. That’s what will happen.

Behrooz: So where are we going to go after we leave here?

Dina: We can get out of the city and stay somewhere for a couple of days. I can arrange for us to get out of the country.

[Behrooz hugs his mother.]

------------------------

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Marcy: Jack, it’s Marcy. We got a match.

Jack: Who is it?

Marcy: His name is Henry Powell. I posted everything on the secure site.

Jack: Hold on a second.

[Jack enters the secure site using Tony’s computer.]

Jack: OK, I got it.

Marcy: He’s a computer consultant. He used to work for “McLennen Forster”.

Jack: Wait a second, “McLennen Forster”? They’re the Defense contractors that designed the override device controlling the power plants.

Marcy: Yeah, well, he’s not there anymore, but he freelances for them, and he’s definitely still in LA.

Jack: How do you know that?

Marcy: Because he’s trying to leave the city. We just found out he’s scheduled a chopper to meet him in Van Nuys in 15 minutes.

Jack: I thought all air traffic had been grounded.

Marcy: It is. He must have some well-connected friend. He got a special clearance.

Jack: Son of a bitch. Where in Van Nuys?

Marcy: A helipad at the match mart building.

Jack: OK, I’m gonna want you to ground his flight, but not until I get there. I don’t want him to see me coming.

[Tony looks out the window and sees Secret Service arrive to pick Audrey up.]

Tony: Jack, they’re here.

Marcy: Can you make it in time?

Jack: I’m gonna try.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack (to Audrey): Get your things. We gotta go.

[Jack goes outside.]

Davis: Agent Davis, Secret Service.

Jack: Jack Bauer. You’re gonna take the Secretary’s daughter straight back to CTU.

Davis: Those are our orders.

Jack: OK. You got a car for me?

Davis: It’s right over there.

[Davis hands Jack the keys to the car.]

Jack: Thank you. Audrey. They’re ready.

[Audrey comes out.]

Jack: This is Agent Davis. He’s gonna take care of you.

Audrey: OK.

[Audrey kisses Jack.]

Audrey: Be careful.

Jack: I will. You too.

[Audrey gets inside the car. Jack calls CTU.]

Agent: CTU, Peters.

Jack: This is Jack. Let me speak to Erin Driscoll.

Agent: Right away.

[Jack gets back inside Tony’s house.]

Driscoll: Jack, I just got the file on Henry Powell. I’m going through it now.

Jack: He’s trying to leave the city. I’ve gotta get over to Van Nuys.

Driscoll: you want air backup?

Jack: No, I wanna keep a low profile. I don’t wanna spook him.

Driscoll: As soon as I can get you a ground package is 30 minutes.

Jack: That’s gonna be too long.

Driscoll: When is this flight due to take off?

Jack: Less than 15 minutes.

Driscoll: What do you wanna do, Jack?

Jack: He’s most likely on his own. I’m gonna have to try and handle this myself.

Driscoll: All right. I’ll send a team anyway.

Jack: I’ll be in touch.

[Jack hangs up.]

Tony: What are you gonna try and handle by yourself?

Jack: Don’t worry about it, it’s covered.

Tony: Jack, it’d be pretty stupid of me to let you die right after I risked my life trying to save you. Could you use my help?

Jack: Yeah.

Tony: All right. Let’s go.

[Jack and Tony leave. Jen sees this.]

------------------------

[Edgar asks Curtis about Sarah.]

Edgar: Curtis.

Curtis: Yeah, Edgar?

Edgar: Has Sarah confessed to anything yet?

Curtis: No.

Edgar: What are they doing to her?

Curtis: Don’t worry about it, just get back to work, all right?

[Edgar goes back to his desk, eyeing Marianne warily. Marianne goes over to Curtis.]

Marianne: Curtis, what did Edgar want?

Curtis: What do you care?

Marianne: You should let him know we need his full attention.

Curtis: Get back to your station.

[Marianne goes back to her station.]

------------------------

[The doctor tends to Dina’s wound. He has a syringe ready to be injected.]

Dina: What is that?

Doctor Martinez: Just something to numb the arm so that I can close the wound.

Dina: OK.

[The doctor injects the contents of the syringe into Dina’s arm.]

Doctor Martinez: I really wish you’d let me admit you. This wound is serious. There’s a chance of an infection in it.

[Behrooz notices a hospital security guard talking to a nurse.]

Dina: No, doctor, please. Do whatever you can and we’ll leave. 

[Behrooz goes over towards the door.]

Dina: Behrooz, where are you going?

Behrooz: I’ll be right back, mom.

[Behrooz looks outside and sees a police car.]

Behrooz: Mom, the police are here.

Dina: Did you call the police?

Doctor Martinez: This is a gunshot wound.

Dina: I told you it wasn’t.

Doctor Martinez: Then why are you acting so strangely?

[Behrooz pushes the doctor aside, and helps his mother out of the ward. He grabs medical supplies on his way out.]

Behrooz: Let’s go.

Doctor Martinez: You shouldn’t leave! You need treatment. Susan! Susan! Yes, get security.

Behrooz: Wait.

[Behrooz covers up Dina’s wound with her jacket.]

Behrooz: Let’s go. Come on. Come on.

[Behrooz and Dina quickly get in their car and speed away. The police are too late to stop them.]

------------------------

[Edgar tells Marianne that he finally has bumped up her security clearance.]

Edgar: Marianne?

Marianne: What is it, Edgar?

Edgar: About an hour ago you asked me to bump up your security clearance. I was a little busy with the override, but I finally got it for you.

Marianne: Great. Thanks. What?

Edgar: You’ll need to pick a password. I set up the screen on server 5.

[Edgar gives Marianne a screen for her to enter her new password.]

Edgar: There you go. You need to use the same password as the one that unlocks your system files.

Marianne: OK.

[As Marianne types, the password appears on Edgar’s system and he is able to access her files. Marianne becomes suspicious when Edgar keeps looking over at her. Edgar sees the message Marianne recorded about Jack’s whereabouts. She confronts him.]

Marianne: Edgar. Why do you keep looking at me?

Edgar: I don’t keep looking at you.

Marianne: Let’s go outside. I wanna talk to you in private.

Edgar: I don’t wanna talk to you in private. I have a lot of work to do.

Marianne: It is getting incredibly tedious, Edgar, to have to remind you repeatedly that I could step into Driscoll’s office any moment and have you fired.

[Curtis walks by. Edgar goes over to him.]

Edgar: Curtis. I need to talk to you.

Curtis: What is it?

Edgar: I need you to walk with me to Driscoll’s office.

Curtis: Walk with you?

Edgar: Please, Curtis.

Curtis: Let’s go.

[Marianne watches nervously as Edgar accompanies Curtis to Driscoll’s office. Driscoll’s talking to Scott.]

Driscoll: If Sarah’s guilty…

Curtis: I’m sorry to interrupt.

Driscoll: What is it?

Edgar: You got the wrong person. Sarah’s not guilty of anything.

Driscoll: How do you know?

Edgar: Because I’ve just sneaked into Marianne’s system. She used Sarah’s to communicate outside of CTU. Made it look like Sarah was the one.

Scott: That’s not possible. Sarah’s workstation was isolated from the subnet.

Edgar: She didn’t use the subnet.

Scott: How’d she get through?

Edgar: She used a plain ac power line.

Scott: What?

Edgar: That’s the last place anybody would ever look. Plus, it has plenty of bandwidth to carry the signal.

Curtis: Where is she?

[Curtis goes outside of Driscoll’s office to look for Marianne.]

Curtis: She’s gonna leave the building. Lock down the exit!

[Curtis chases after Marianne as she leaves the building. In the parking lot, he places her under arrest.]

Curtis: You’re under arrest.

[Curtis throws Marianne’s purse to another agent.]

Curtis: Examine her contents.

[Curtis throws Marianne’s car keys to another agent.]

Curtis: Impound her car. Strip and search it. I got her.

[As the agent puts the key in the door, Marianne’s car explodes in a fireball. Marianne is knocked unconscious on the ground.]

------------------------

[Powell reaches his helicopter.]

Pilot: Mr. Powell?

Powell: Yeah. Let’s go.

Pilot: I’m sorry, sir. We can’t.

Powell: What?

Pilot: The flight’s been grounded.

Powell: No, “McLennen Forster” has special ordinates. The paper work was sent.

Pilot: I know, but the order was superseded.

Powell: By whom?

Pilot: The Department of Defense.

[Powell pulls out a gun and forces the pilot to take him up.]

Powell: You’re going to fly me out of here.

Pilot: Please, sir.

Powell: Now! Get in.

[The pilot and Powell get inside the helicopter.]

Pilot: All right. Where are we going?

Powell: Just get us in the air and fly east.

[Jack and Tony arrive at the helipad as the rotors fire up.]

Jack: There it is.

[Jack and Tony surround the chopper with their guns raised.]

Tony: Do not take off! Do not take off!

Powell: Get us in the air!

Pilot: Hey. Hey.

Powell: Let’s go! Let’s go!

Pilot: Hey. Come on.

Tony: Shut it down!

Powell: I said now!

Tony: Put your hands up and don’t shoot.

Powell: Come on. Move! Hurry up!

[Jack opens the helicopter’s door, and comes up behind Powell.]

Jack: Drop the weapon now! Now!

[Powell drops his weapon.]

Tony: Step out. Shut down the engine. Get out. Now.

Jack: Get out of the helicopter. Move! Move!

[Jack throws Powell on the ground.]

Jack: Let me see your hands. Now! Get up! Move!

Powell: Where are you taking me? I haven’t done anything.

Jack: Put your hands on the roof of the truck.

Powell: The people I know, they’ll pay you.

[Jack searches Powell for weapons.]

Jack: Shut up!

[Jack takes Powell’s cell phone of out his pocket.]

Jack: I got his cell phone. Bring me the bag. Put your hands behind your back.

------------------------

[Audrey gets to CTU. She hugs her father.]

------------------------

[Sarah is taken out of the interrogation room.]

------------------------

[Tony brings Jack Powell’s bag. Jack searches it.]

Powell: Who are you guys? The police? FBI?

Tony: Actually, I’m currently unemployed.

Powell: I’ll make it worth your while.

Jack: Put him in the back.

Tony: Come on.

[Suddenly, a shot rings out and Powell is hit in the chest by a sniper hiding on a nearby rooftop. Tony checks Powell’s pulse.]

Tony: He’s dead, Jack.

Jack: Dammit!


____________________
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Previously on 24:

Marwan: The Americans have been able to shut down most of the reactors. I’m gonna have to manage the override personally. Make sure those six melt down on schedule.

Navi: Is there anything I can do?

Marwan: Take care of your mess.

Navi: I give you my word: my wife and son will be dead by the end of this day.

------------------------

Behrooz: I’m not afraid of father.

Dina: You should be.

Behrooz: He tried to kill me, and then he did this to you.

------------------------

Powell: You’re going to need to set things up on your end.

Marianne: All right. What do I do?

Powell: Divert suspicion.

------------------------

Heller: Someone inside CTU is leaking information to someone on the outside.

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, what’s going on?

Heller: You’re under arrest, Gavin.

Sarah: For what?

Driscoll: You’ve been passing classified information. Thousands of people’s lives are at stake. Where are the people who control the override?

Sarah: I swear I don’t know anything.

------------------------

Jack: Yeah?

Driscoll: They got a match, Jack. His name is Henry Powell. He’s a computer consultant that used to work for “McLennen Forster”.

Jack: They’re the Defense contractors that designed the override device controlling the power plants.

------------------------

Powell: You’re going to fly me out of here.

Jack: Drop the weapon now! Now! Put him in the back.

Tony: He’s dead, Jack.

Jack: Dammit!

------------------------

Edgar: You got the wrong person. Sarah’s not guilty of anything. It’s Marianne Taylor.

Curtis: You’re under arrest.

------------------------

The following takes place between 3:00 P.M. and 4:00 P.M.

[Curtis goes up to Driscoll’s office.]

Agent: Excuse me, Curtis?

Curtis: Not now.

Driscoll (over phone): Coordinate that with NRC, and copy me on 6-0-B. Fine.

[Driscoll hangs up.]

Curtis: I warned you about her.

Driscoll: What are you talking bout?

Curtis: Marianne Taylor. I told you she was trouble and it was a mistake to let her work here.

Driscoll: No. You told me that you were uncomfortable working with her. You didn’t tell me you were having a relationship with a corporate spy.

Curtis: How could I have possibly known that, Erin? Don’t play that card with me.

Driscoll: Fine, then don’t walk in here with that “I told you so” attitude. Because now we both have to deal with this.

Curtis: You mean Division.

Driscoll: That’s right. They’re gonna want a complete timeline – everything from how Marianne got to the front door down to the highest security files that she was able to access in a very short period of time.

Curtis: Can we have a conversation off the book?

Driscoll: Go ahead.

Curtis: There’s no point in neither of us compromising on authority in the eyes of Division, agreed or disagreed?

Driscoll: Agreed.

Curtis: Marianne did an excellent job in establishing her credentials. All we need to do is leave out some of the details on how she managed to leverage her way in here.

Driscoll: I don’t like anyone holding something over me.

Curtis: Neither do I.

Driscoll: How long will it take you to adjust her files?

Curtis: Two minutes.

Driscoll: I’ll call Division in five. 

------------------------

[President Keeler grills Heller about Marianne.]

Keeler: Explain to me how this mole Marianne Taylor was able to infiltrate CTU.

Heller: We’re still investigating, Mr. President.

Keeler: Who does she work for?

Heller: We don’t know.

Keeler: Find out.

Heller: We will, as soon as he regains consciousness. She’s being treated here in the clinic.

Keeler: Treated for what?

Heller: An attempt on her life.

Keeler: Who tried to kill her?

Heller: We don’t know that either, but whoever it was, they’re more than likely connected with the theft of the override.

Keeler: Jim, we need to find that override now. What’s the latest from the NRC?

Heller: They just reported the San Gabriel island reactor’s about to go critical.

Keeler: What’s the timeframe?

Heller: A meltdown within the hour. We started evacuating the San Gabriel zone. The population affected is less than a hundred thousand; hopefully most of them are already on the move.

Keeler: All right. Expedite the process as much as you can.

Heller: Yes, sir. 

------------------------

[Jack calls CTU.]

Driscoll: Jack.

Jack: Erin, Powell’s dead. He was hit by a sniper as soon as we took him into custody.

Driscoll: Did you get anything from him before he was killed?

Jack: No, but I managed to get the last ten calls he made off his cell phone. He called two numbers repeatedly. Through caller ID, we traced one of them to Marianne Taylor.

Driscoll: Powell’s working with Marianne?

Jack: Apparently.

Driscoll: What about this other number?

Jack: Hold on. I’m gonna need you to trace it through CTU.

Driscoll: OK. Go ahead.

Jack: 8185550539.

Driscoll: I’ll get back to you as soon as I’ve got an ID.

Jack: I’ll be standing by.

[Jack hangs up.] 

Driscoll: Edgar, I need you to run a locate on this number.

Edgar: It’s a cellular account.

Driscoll: Can you trace the location?

Edgar: I need to ping the number.

Driscoll: How?

Edgar: It has to ring at least four times before I can triangulate the coordinates. Jamison can have me set up in a couple of minutes.

------------------------

[Navi goes to the home of Farrah, Dina’s sister. He knocks on the door.]

Farrah: Who is it?

Navi: Navi.

Farrah: Navi?

[Farrah opens the door.]

Farrah: What are you doing here?

Navi: I’m looking for Dina.

Farrah: Dina’s not here. Why would she be?

Navi: She hasn’t called you in the last hour?

Farrah: No. What’s going on, Navi?

Navi: Why are you blocking the door?

Farrah: I’m not.

Navi: Let me in.

Farrah: I told you, she’s not here.

Navi: You’re lying. You’re hiding her.

Farrah: No, I’m not!

[Navi barges into the house.]

Farrah: Navi, no! You have no right to come in here like this! She’s not here. Look.

[Navi looks for Dina.]

Farrah: That is my bedroom. You can’t go in there!

[Navi opens the bedroom’s door. A man emerges from the bedroom.]

Man: What the hell’s going on here?

Farrah: Nothing. It’s OK. Navi, please. Please go.

Man: Look, pal, this is none of your business, all right? So why don’t you hike in on out of here?

Farrah: Please, don’t interfere.

Man: You can either walk out of here, or I’m gonna throw you out. I said go!

[Navi pulls out a gun on the man.]

Farrah: No, Navi, please, No! Navi, don’t. Please.

Navi: Get back inside.

[The man gets back inside the bedroom.]

Farrah: Navi. Don’t tell my husband, I beg of you.

Navi: You disgust me.

Farrah: Navi…

[Navi walks out. He calls one of his men.]

Navi: Dina’s not here. What about the hospitals?

Man: Nothing so far.

Navi: Keep looking.

------------------------

[Dina and Behrooz hide out in a hotel room. Dina’s cell phone rings.]

Dina: Is it your father?

Behrooz: I can’t tell.

Dina: Don’t answer it.

[At CTU, Edgar traces the phone number.]

Edgar: We got it.

Driscoll: Where?

Edgar: A hotel in Chatsworth.

Driscoll: Download the coordinates to Jack’s PDA.

Tony: Here’s the backup.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Driscoll: We traced the call to a location. We’re sending it to you now.

Jack: Hold on a second. OK, I got it. We’re less than ten minutes out.

Driscoll: I’ll have a tactical team emplaced by the time you get there.

Jack: Thank you.

[Jack hangs up. He goes over to talk to someone.]

Jack: His body’s over there by my car. He was taken out by a sniper from the north roof. I want you to take your photographs, get the body back to CTU as fast as possible. Come on, Tony. We gotta go.

Tony: Wait, Jack. Look, uh… I think I’m done here today.

Jack: What are you talking about?

Tony: CTU backup’s here. You don’t need me anymore.

Jack: I need you to see this through with me.

Tony: I appreciate the sentiment, Jack, but you don’t have to prop up my ego.

Jack: Tony, this isn’t about you. If we don’t find the override device within an hour, we’re gonna have six major nuclear disasters. So, please, get in the car. Let’s go.

[Jack and Tony get in the car and drive.]

------------------------

[Dina is feverish and holds a bloody towel to her gunshot wound.]

Behrooz: Mom, we’ve got to get you some help.

Dina: I’m OK.

Behrooz: I’m sorry. This is my fault.

Dina: Your father shot me, not you.

Behrooz: Because you were trying to stop him from killing me.

Dina: Everything that’s happened today, what we’ve all been fighting to achieve… it’s more important to him than anything or anyone.

Behrooz: But not to you. Mom? I need to get you something for the pain.

Dina: I’ll be fine. I just need to rest.

Behrooz: I can get it from Naseem.

Dina: No.

Behrooz: The hospital he works at is right near here. I’ll be right back.

Dina: Naseem doesn’t know why we were really living here.

Behrooz: Mom, he’s your brother. I’ll tell him you need it and nothing else. I promise. I’ll be right back.

Dina: Just hurry.

Behrooz: I will.

[Behrooz heads to the hospital.]

------------------------

Driscoll: Mr. Secretary. We have a meltdown. San Gabriel island reactor’s just gone critical. Core material is now airborne.

Heller: I thought we had more time.

Agent: Ms. Driscoll, I have Derek Rosner, the engineer of San Gabriel Island, on with the NRC. One of the generators exploded, cooped their com lines, so the feed is unstable. We may only have a few seconds.

Driscoll: Patch us in.

Edgar: What’s going on?

Driscoll: We had a meltdown in San Gabriel Island.

Rosner: All attempts to contain the core failed. Right now my men are trying to bypass the reactor tread. That’s not working either.

Driscoll: Mr. Rosner, this is Erin Driscoll from CTU. Can you hear me?

Rosner: Yes, ma’am, I can.

Driscoll: I’m here with Secretary of Defense James Heller. What are your radiation levels?

Rosner: We’re at, uh… 500 gram right now. That’s 10,000 times the dose of an X-ray. At this room the radiation will continue getting stronger, and we’ll spill into the atmosphere until the core has exhausted itself.

Heller: Son, you’ve done everything you can. Now, get the hell out of there.

Rosner: That won’t make any difference, sir. We’ve already been exposed.

[The feed shuts down.]

Agent: We lost it.

------------------------

Heller: Have we analyzed the radiation wave’s movement?

Curtis: We’re still waiting for NGS to get the weather side front refreshed.

Heller: Get on the phone and have them expedite.

Curtis: I will as soon as I’m done re-reading these evacuation instructions.

Heller: Can’t someone else do that?

Curtis: No, sir. Short manpower.

[Heller opens up the TV.]

News Reporter on TV: Our government spokesman has just confirmed that a nuclear reactor at San Gabriel Island is in full meltdown. Emergency personnel are onsite attempting to rescue workers exposed to radiation.

Edgar: You’re not listening to me. I’ve been trying to get through to a number at the San Gabriel evacuation zone for ten minutes. I need you to link me into access at the emergency bandwidth and I need you to do it now.

Man: All right. Stand by.

Edgar: Thank you.

News Reporter on TV: Now, if you are on the road or awaiting instructions about an evacuation in your neighborhood, here are some items you and your family might need: a flashlight, extra batteries…

Edgar’s Mom: Hello?

Edgar: Mom.

Edgar’s Mom: Oh, hello, Edgar.

Edgar: Have you seen the news?

Edgar’s Mom: Yes, I’m watching it now.

Edgar: Then why aren’t evacuated by now? What are you still doing home?

Edgar’s Mom: You know I don’t have a car.

Edgar: Where’s Margaret?

Edgar’s Mom: Well, I’ve tried to get hold of her, but the lines are all busy. I’m surprised you got through.

Edgar: What about one of your neighbors? Can’t you get a ride from one of them?

Edgar’s Mom: No, by the time I got outside, they were all gone.

Edgar: Mom, listen to me. I’m gonna make some calls. I’m gonna get someone there to help you, OK? I want you to sit by the phone and wait for my call. Can you do that?

Edgar’s Mom: Yes. I… I don’t really have a choice.

Edgar: I’ll call you back, OK?

Edgar’s Mom: OK, honey. Bye.

------------------------

Man: No, we delegated that whole situation to margin groups, sir.

Heller: I’m not interested in who got it wrong. We don’t have the luxury of miscommunication. I’m assigning someone from my office to coordinate between the State Police and the National Guard. Set up a conference call in ten minutes. Thank you all.

[Audrey comes in the conference room.]

Heller: Are you OK?

Audrey: Yeah. How are you holding up?

Heller: Considering the situation we’re in, I’m doing fine. The truth of the matter is, we do not have the manpower to handle this mess.

Audrey: Tell me what I can do.

Heller: I’ve prioritized evacuation protocol, but I need someone to keep the State Police and the National Guard from bumping into each other.

Audrey: All right. I’ll… I’ll stop the Guard at the 75th mile marker and let the police take over from there. We’ll maximize room for civilian traffic.

Heller: I wish we had some other way to get those people out of there.

Audrey: There’s no one else to route them.

Heller: Jack has got to find the override before the rest of these reactors go critical.

------------------------

[Jack and Tony pull up to the hotel, where other agents are waiting.]

Castle: Hey, Jack. Good to have you in the field again.

Jack: Thanks, Lee. You remember Tony Almeida?

Castle: Yeah. I don’t know what he’s doing here, though.

Jack: I want him here.

Castle: He’s not authorized to be in the field.

Jack: I’m going through that door first. I want him there to back me up.

Castle: Fine. Get another vest.

Jack: You got a visual on the suspects?

Castle: We’ve got a fiber-optic camera inside the room. According to the manager, we’re grabbing a mid-40’s female and a teenage male, possibly mother and son. Both Middle Eastern.

Jack: OK. We need the suspects alive. They’re no good to us dead.

Castle: I’ve been briefed.

Jack: Let’s go.

[]

Agent: Agent Castle, we got a visual on the woman.

Tony: What about the kid?

Agent: I haven’t seen him yet.

[Jack looks at his watch.]

Jack: We gotta go. Now.

[The agents approach the room.]

Jack: Are you ready?

Tony: Go.

[Jack and the agents raid the room.]

Jack: Don’t move!

[Dina draws a gun to her own temple.]

Jack: Drop the weapon!

[Jack grabs the gun before Dina can kill herself. Castle holds Dina down, pressing on her wound.]

Castle: Where is the override? Tell me who’s got it. Tell me. Now!

Jack: Agent Castle!

Tony: Castle, stand down!

Jack: Agent Castle!

Tony: Please, stand down!

[Tony pulls Castle off.]

Castle: We gotta get her to talk.

Tony: She’s gonna go into shock before she dies. Just relax.

Jack: Agent Castle, step outside. Now! I want her prints and photographs sent over to CTU immediately.

Castle: He has no right to give me orders.

Jack: Hey. Come here. He did the right thing. That woman was willing to kill herself. She’d die before she gave us anything to reforce.

Castle: We need to get her to talk before the other reactors go critical.

Jack: And we will.

Castle: What’d you have in mind?

[Jack calls CTU.]

Jack: We need to find some leverage.

Agent: CTU.

Jack: Yeah, it’s Jack. Put me through to Erin.

Tony (to Dina): Come on. Let me see your arm.

Driscoll: Driscoll.

Jack: Erin, we’ve got a suspect. I’m sending you fingerprints and photographs. I need you to run a profile and send me all relevant databases and electronic communications.

Driscoll: Got it.

Jack: Thank you. 

[Jack hangs up and turns to Castle.]

Jack: Hey. I understand your concerns about Almeida. But for me, please, just give him a break.

Castle: OK, Jack.

Tony: Jack!

Jack: Thanks.

[Jack comes back inside the room.]

Jack: Yeah?

Tony: This is a bullet wound. Probably a couple of hours old.

------------------------

[Behrooz goes to Lindauer Memorial Hospital to see his Uncle Naseem.]

News Reporter on TV: As the evacuation appears now to be in a full swing with major delays on…

Behrooz: Excuse me.

News Reporter on TV: A Nuclear Emergency Team has just emerged from the plant, which we can see over here in our sky cam. They seem to be doing some kind of…

Naseem: Behrooz.

Behrooz: Uncle Naseem.

Naseem: Are you all right?

Behrooz: Yeah, I think so.

Naseem: Yeah, it’s a disaster, what’s happening today. Everyone’s panicked about radiation poisoning. They all want araldite pills and we’re almost out. Is that why you’re here?

Behrooz: No. I need pain medication. It’s for my mother. She couldn’t reach her doctor by phone, so she wanted me to get it from you.

Naseem: What’s wrong with her?

Behrooz: It’s her back. She can barely walk.

Naseem: She needs a prescription.

Behrooz: I… I told you. She couldn’t reach her doctor.

Naseem: I’ll see what I can do, OK? Just have a seat.

[Naseem goes into an office and dials Navi.]

Navi: Yes?

Naseem: Navi, it’s Naseem.

Navi: Hello, Naseem. How are you?

Naseem: I’m well, but Behrooz just showed up at the hospital. He seems disturbed.

Navi: Is Dina there too?

Naseem: No. He says he needs pain medication for her, that there’s something wrong with her back, but he’s acting very strange.

Navi: I’m sorry you have to be involved in this, Naseem.

Naseem: Involved in what? What’s going on?

Navi: Behrooz may be taking drugs. It’s been getting worse.

Naseem: I’m sorry.

Navi: Me too.

Naseem: What do you want me to do?

Navi: Keep Behrooz there until I can come for him.

Naseem: How long will you be?

Navi: 15 minutes.

Naseem: I’ll do my best, but…

Navi: Please, Naseem. Don’t let him leave until I get there.

------------------------

News Reporter on TV: The government is asking people to remain calm…

Edgar: Excuse me, Miss Raines, I’m Edgar Stiles. Sorry.

Audrey (over the phone): We’ve got a major noncompliance problem. I’ve got 25 percent of the evacuees who aren’t going where they’re being told to go, and another 25 percent that don’t even know that they’re in the evac zone. However you need to do it, make sure it gets done. (To Edgar) I’m sorry. What is it?

Edgar: It’s my mother.

Audrey: Your mother?

Edgar: She lives in the San Gabriel Island. She’s in a wheelchair. She doesn’t drive. She missed her call to evacuate. Now I don’t know what to do.

Audrey: Maybe someone from the National Guard can get her.

Edgar: I already spoke to the area commander and he said he couldn’t spear anyone.

Audrey: I’m sorry, I’m not sure what I can do.

Edgar: Here’s his number. I thought maybe if you called him yourself… Look, I hate asking for special treatment, that’s not something I would normally do, but she’s my mother.

Audrey: I can’t make any promises.

Edgar: Just promise me you’ll try, OK?

Audrey: All right. 

------------------------

Tony: I want you to give her something for the pain, but make sure she stays lucid, you understand?

[Jack pulls up Dina and Navi’s records on a laptop.]

Tony: Did you find out who she is yet?

Jack: Yeah. Her name is Dina Araz. She immigrated to the United States five years ago, became a citizen two years ago. Married to Navi Araz. He’s also a nationalized citizen. Owns an electronics store in Carson. They have one son, Behrooz, 17. A junior at the local high school. None of them have criminal records.

Tony: Did they pop up on any watch lists?

Jack: No. They must have slipped under the radar. Let’s send some teams over to the house and the store, see what we can find.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Driscoll: Jack, it’s Driscoll. Homeland Security has…

Jack: Hold on, Erin. I can barely hear you.

[Jack goes outside the room. Tony follows.]

Jack: Go ahead.

Driscoll: After the attack this morning Homeland Security has been archiving select communications in the LA area. They pulled up a call that may explain how Dina Araz got shot.

Jack: Erin, I’m gonna put you on speaker phone. Hold on a second. You’re on.

Driscoll: This conversation happened about two hours ago between the mother and the son.

[Driscoll plays the recorded conversation between Dina and Behrooz.]

Behrooz: He wants me dead because I messed up with Debbie.

Dina: Behrooz, that’s not possible. Your father would never want to hurt you.

Behrooz: It’s true. Tariq told me everything.

Dina: He was lying.

Behrooz: No, he wasn’t. Mom, I don’t know what to do. You have to help me.

Dina: Where are you now?

Behrooz: I’m near the metroling station on Lawson in Chatsworth.

Dina: Are you using Tariq’s car?

Behrooz: Yes.

Dina: Hide it. I’ll pick you up there in a half hour.

Behrooz: Hurry.

Driscoll: That’s it. Let me know the minute you get something from her.

Jack: Yeah.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: We got our leverage.

[Jack comes back inside the room.]

Jack: How long have you been planning this operation? Two years? Five years? Ten? All this planning for one day. You do realize if all the reactors melt down hundreds of thousands of people will die.

Dina: Every war has casualties.

Jack: These people don’t know about your war. These people are innocent.

Dina: No one is innocent.

Jack: You really believe that?

Dina: As strongly as you believe in what you believe. But I won’t waste your time or mine trying to explain something you can never understand.

Jack: Maybe I understand more than you think.

Dina: I doubt it.

Jack: I know that something happened today that challenged your commitment to your war. You weren’t willing to let your son become a casualty. That’s why you were shot, protecting him from his father. I understand that. I know what it’s like to watch your child be threatened and feel helpless to do anything about it. Right now Behrooz is out there alone, and you and I know he’s not gonna last very long. His father will find him… and kill him. There is another option. If you were to help us find the override device, we will protect your son.

Dina: So he can spend the rest of his life in prison?

Jack: No, so he can walk away from all of this, immune from prosecution.

Dina: How?

Jack: Mrs. Araz, your son is a minor. He’s 17 years old. I can get him a legal and binding pardon signed by the President of the United States.

Dina: You don’t have the authority to do this.

Jack: I can reach the President. If you provide us with the information that allows us to find the override device in time, I am confident that the President will sign that pardon. And this offer expires the second another reactor melts down, do you understand me? You don’t have a lot of time. I would think about this.

Dina: Show me this document, and I’ll help you find what you want. 

------------------------

[Jack explains the situation to Keeler over the phone.]

Keeler: Can we rule out this boy’s involvement with the terrorist action?

Jack: No, sir. It’s likely he knew of his parents plans. He probably helped them.

Keeler: Jack, you’re asking me to grant clemency to a terrorist.

Jack: Mr. President, I’m sorry, but I don’t think we have a choice. In all of my professional experience, I believe that we have to give into this woman’s demands.

Keeler: Have you tried negotiating with her?

Jack: We don’t have time. In approximately two hours, five nuclear reactor are gonna go critical unless we find the override device. She is our only link.

Keeler: Well, I’m uncomfortable with this, but I trust your judgment. I’ll release the letter.

Jack: Thank you, Mr. President.

[Jack hangs up.]

Keeler (to aide): Make sure that document is non-binding.

------------------------

Audrey (over the phone): Yes, I understand. I’ll get back to you.

Edgar: Ms. Raines? Did you talk to them?

Audrey: Yes. Edgar, I’m sorry. They can’t get your mother.

Edgar: Why not? They’re five miles off the highway. It wouldn’t take that much time.

Audrey: They know where she is.

Edgar: Then what’s the problem?

Audrey: Thousands of people are stuck in the interstate traffic and it’s taking the combined efforts of the police and the National Guard to get them moving.

Edgar: So who cares about one old woman?

Audrey: They’ve gotta throw their resources into saving the maximum number of lives.

Edgar: If my mother were rich or a politician, they’d find a way to save her.

[Edgar dials the phone.]

Woman: DOD, Communication Department.

Edgar: This is Edgar Stiles. I need another switch in station to that number. Do you need it again?

Woman: No, I’ve got it from before.

Edgar: Thank you.

Woman: Go ahead.

Edgar: Mom.

Edgar’s mom: Hello, honey.

Edgar: Mom, I’ve been trying everything. I can’t get anyone out there to help you. I’ve done everything I could, I did.

Edgar’s mom: I’m sure you did, honey. It’s OK.

Edgar: It’s not OK. The fallout’s coming toward you. It’s 15 miles away.

Edgar’s mom: I know. I’m watching it on the news. And I know what to do.

Edgar: Mom, there’s nothing you can do. You can’t stuff towels under the door.

Edgar’s mom: That’s not what I’m talking about doing, Edgar.

Edgar: What do you mean?

Edgar’s mom: They’ve been talking about radiation poisoning on the news. That’s not something I wanna go through, especially since there’s only one way it can end. Honey, I wanna end things on my terms, as opposed to all that pain and suffering.

Edgar: Mom.

Edgar’s mom: It’s the right thing to do. It’s the only thing, you know that.

Edgar: No, I don’t.

Edgar’s mom: You have been a wonderful son, Edgar. You’ve been a gift to me and your father. It’s OK. I’m going to a better place and I’ll see you there, but not for a long time. You’ve got a lot ahead of you, great things.

Edgar: Maybe I can get someone to you. I’ll keep trying.

Edgar’s mom: You’ve got a very important job to do there. A lot of people are counting on you. So… I’m gonna hang up now, and I want you to know how very very much I love you.

Edgar: Mom.

[Edgar’s mom hangs up.]

Edgar: Mom.

[Edgar gets up to leave CTU.]

Driscoll: Edgar, where are you going? Edgar!

Edgar: I have to get out of here.

Driscoll: What are you talking about?

Edgar: My mother. She lives next to the San Gabriel Island nuclear plant. She wasn’t able to evacuate in time.

Driscoll: We still have five other nuclear reactors that are on the verge of melting down. I need you at your station.

Edgar: I don’t care what you need!

Driscoll: You better start caring. You have a choice right now. Obey orders, or end up in a jail cell.

Edgar: You’ll arrest me for trying to save my mother’s life?

Driscoll: Edgar, what you’re saying is true. There’s nothing you can do for your mother. But there are thousands of other people whose lives you can save, and suppose your mother were here right now, what would make her proud? What do you think she’d want you to do?

Edgar: She’d want me to help.

Driscoll: Then don’t you think you should? 

[Edgar returns to his workstation.]

------------------------

Agent: We’re ready to go. We’re just setting up the com files.

[Jack brings Dina a faxed pardon from the President.]

Jack: This is a pardon for your son, signed by the President.

Dina: This is acceptable.

Jack: Where is he?

Dina: He’s at Lindauer Memorial Hospital. It’s not far.

Castle: Set up a perimeter around Lindauer Memorial.

Jack: I want you to call him, tell him we’re coming to pick him up. Give me the phone. We have to record the call.

[Dina calls Behrooz.] 

Behrooz: Hello?

Dina: It’s me. Where are you?

Behrooz: Waiting for Naseem. I don’t know why it’s taking so long.

Dina: Don’t worry about that now. Things have changed.

Behrooz: What do you mean?

Dina: Listen carefully, Behrooz. Government agents found me. I’m with them now. Behrooz, they know everything.

Naseem: Behrooz, just a few more minutes, OK?

Dina: But it’s all right. Everything is going to be all right. I made a deal.

Behrooz: What are you talking about?

Dina: You’re going to be OK. You won’t be arrested or even named in any of this.

Behrooz: I don’t understand.

Dina: I’m going to help them stop your father.

Behrooz: You are?

Dina: Yes.

Behrooz: You said that I would be OK, but what about you?

Dina: We’ll talk about that later. Right now these men are coming to pick you up. I want you to go with them.

Behrooz: Are they making you say this?

Dina: No.

Behrooz: I don’t know who these people are. I want to be sure that they’re not forcing you to say this.

Dina: I’ll come with them. You’ll know that when you see me, OK?

Behrooz: I’ll meet you outside.

Jack: No. Tell him to go to the emergency room. I want him to stay where it’s crowded.

Dina: Did you hear that?

Behrooz: Yes.

Dina: I’ll see you in a few minutes, Behrooz.

Behrooz: OK.

Tony: We’re transferring the suspect. They want him sent over to protective court right away.

Castle: Copy that.

Jack: Let’s go.

[Jack, Tony and Castle take Dina with them to the hospital.]

------------------------

Behrooz: Uncle Naseem. I have to go.

Naseem: What about the pain medication?

Behrooz: My mom’s got one from someone else, but thanks for trying.

Naseem: Behrooz! I can’t let you go.

Behrooz: Why not?

Naseem: I spoke to your father.

Behrooz: What?

Naseem: He told me you need help.

Behrooz: You don’t know what you’re talking about.

Naseem: Hey, hey, hey. I gave your father my word.

Behrooz: My father is a terrorist. He’s involved in what’s happened today.

Naseem: Stop talking nonsense.

Behrooz: I swear it’s true.

Naseem: You’re talking nonsense!

Behrooz: No, I’m not! He’s behind the kidnapping this morning and the reactors melting down. We’re all involved - My mother and me. We’ve killed people.

Naseem: Your father will be furious when he hears this.

Behrooz: Father’s coming here? No!

[Behrooz runs out.]

Naseem: Behrooz!

[Naseem chases Behrooz. As he is fleeing the hospital, Behrooz runs right into Navi. Naseem comes up behind Behrooz.]

Naseem: I tried to stop him.

[Navi shoots Naseem dead. Navi grabs his son and drags him into the stairwell.]

Behrooz: You broke my heart, Behrooz. You broke my heart.

[Navi presses a gun to Behrooz’s forehead.]

Behrooz: If you kill me, mother will tell them everything.

Navi: Tell who?

Behrooz: The police. She’s with them.

Navi: I don’t believe you.

Behrooz: It’s the truth. She wants me to be safe, and if you kill me, she will ruin everything you’re doing.

Navi: No!

Behrooz: If you don’t believe me, look outside. They’re coming to pick me up.

------------------------

[Navi runs with Behrooz down the stairwell.]

Behrooz: Help!

Navi: Shut up!

[Jack, Tony and Dina pull up next to the hospital.]

Jack: Tony, did you notify security?

Tony: No.

Dina: Something is wrong.

Jack: Set up a level 3 cordon around the hospital.

Castle: You got it.

Dina: I’m going with you.

Jack: No, you’re not!

[Jack gets out of the car and runs inside the hospital.]

Jack: What’s going on here?

Security Guard: There’s been a shooting.

Jack: Who?

Security Guard: One of the pharmacists. Who are you?

Jack: My name is Jack Bauer. I work at the Counter Terrorist Unit. We’ve been tracking the man who did the shooting. Where is he?

Security Guard: Someone just radioed in from the C wing. Saw a Middle Eastern man running. He has a hostage.

Jack: A 17-year-old boy?

Security Guard: I think so.

Jack: What are the possible exits from that wing?

Security Guard: From where he was spotted, he’s pretty much caught at the end of an east parking garage. We got men headed there now.

Jack: You tell your supervisor to tell his men to back off. No one makes contact with him, do you understand me?

Security Guard: All right.

[Jack calls Tony.]

Tony: Hang on a second.

Castle: All right. Have your men on both sides…

[Tony takes the call.]

Tony: Yeah?

Jack: Tony, it’s Jack. Navi Araz is here. He’s already killed his wife’s brother.

Tony: What about the boy?

Jack: I don’t know. We’re gonna have to lock down all the exits. I think he’s headed for the parking garage. I need you to meet me on the east side of the building with backup.

Tony: Copy that. We’re going to the east side of the building. We need backup teams there right away.

[Jack waits for the elevator. It is taking too long. He goes down the stairwell.]

Jack: Dammit.

[Tony gets inside the car and drives it.]

Dina: What’s happening?

Tony: We’re still looking for your son.

Dina: There’s more. Tell me.

Tony: Mrs. Araz, we’re gonna find your son, all right?

[Navi takes Behrooz into the parking garage.]

Behrooz: I hate you. I’ve always hated you. The only reason I never said so was because I was afraid of you. But I’m not afraid of you anymore!

Navi: Get in.

Behrooz: Go to hell.

[Navi slaps Behrooz.]

Navi: Get in!

[Navi throws Behrooz into the car and drives. Tony pulls into the garage as Jack comes down the stairwell into the same lot.]

Tony: Jack, we’re in the garage now. We’ve secured the exit.

Jack: I’m almost there. Can you get an ID?

Tony: No, nothing yet.

[Jack sees Navi driving toward him and he fires at the car’s tires. Navi smashes into Jack, who crashes onto the windshield. Jack rolls off and keeps firing at the car, popping one of its tires. Navi gets out of the car with Behrooz at gunpoint.]

Jack: Let me see your hands! Put your hands where I can see them now!

Navi: Careful!

Jack: Drop the gun!

Navi: You’ll hit the boy!

Jack: Let the boy go! We can work this out. I will put my gun down if you give me the boy. All I want is the boy!

Navi: Stand down!

Jack: Put the gun down!

Navi: Stand down!

Jack: Put the gun…

[Tony arrives, and Dina sees her son.]

Jack: Tony, stop the car.

Dina: Behrooz!

Behrooz: Mom!

[Navi takes Behrooz into a door.]

Jack: Keep her in the car. Let’s seal all the exits of the basement. He’s got nowhere to go but down. Set up a link with CTU now!

Tony: Copy that. Call CTU. We need backup here. Mrs. Araz, calm down. We’ll get your son, all right? Calm down.

------------------------

[Jack talks with Driscoll over the phone.]

Driscoll: We’ve uploaded the plans to you from the building department. There are only three exits from the hospital’s basement.

Jack: We’ve got all entrances and exits covered. He’s trapped down there.

Tony: Let’s try to open up a negotiation.

Dina: My husband won’t negotiate.

Tony: Why is that?

Dina: He doesn’t need to. He has to assume I have agreed to help you in return for my son’s safety.

Tony: Well, he can’t stay down there with him forever.

Dina: He won’t. In two hours, all the reactors will have gone critical. After that, it won’t matter what I tell you, and he can kill my son. I am only helping you to save his life. I believe in our cause, and if you can’t save my son, I am happy to see the reactors melt down.

Jack (to Driscoll): Did you get that? 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Driscoll: San Gabriel island reactor’s just gone critical. Core material is now airborne.

Heller: I thought we had more time.

Rosner: At this room the radiation will continue getting stronger, and we’ll spill into the atmosphere until the core has exhausted itself.

Heller: Son, you’ve done everything you can. Now, get the hell out of there.

Rosner: Evacuating won’t make any difference, sir. We’ve already been exposed.

Heller: Jack has got to find the override before the rest of these reactors go critical.

------------------------

Paul: I know about you and him, and I am not OK with it.

Audrey: Paul, you and I are not together any more.

Paul: I thought we were trying to work things out.

Audrey: I tried that. But you kept putting it off.

Jack: What did you say to Paul?

Audrey: That I’m filing for divorce.

------------------------

Sarah: Somebody set me up.

Driscoll: Thousands of people’s lives are at stake. Where are the people who control the override? Talk to me, Sarah.

Sarah: I’m not a spy.

------------------------

Jack: Erin, Powell’s dead. He was hit by a sniper as soon as we took him into custody.

Driscoll: Did you find anything from him before he was killed?

Jack: No, but I managed to get the last ten calls he made off his cell phone. He called two numbers repeatedly. We traced one of them to Marianne Taylor.

Curtis: You’re under arrest.

------------------------

Jack: Don’t move! Drop the weapon!

Dina: Listen carefully, Behrooz. Government agents found me. I made a deal.

Behrooz: I don’t understand.

Dina: You’re going to be OK. I’m going to help them stop your father.

------------------------

Behrooz: You broke my heart.

Behrooz: If you kill me, mother will tell them everything. If you don’t believe me, look outside. They’re coming to pick me up.

Jack: Drop the gun!

Navi: You’ll hit the boy!

Dina: Behrooz!

Behrooz: Mom!

Jack: Let’s seal all the exits of the basement. He’s got nowhere to go but down. Set up a link with CTU now!

Dina: If you can’t save my son, I am happy to see the reactors melt down.

Jack (to Driscoll): Did you get that?

------------------------

The following takes place between 4:00 P.M. and 5:00 P.M.

[Jack briefs Heller, Driscoll and Audrey over the phone on the situation.]

Driscoll: Driscoll.

Jack: Erin, it’s Jack. Araz is on the move. We’re getting ready to move into the hospital now.

[Navi drags Behrooz through the tunnels to a hospital laundry room.]

Behrooz: Dad, you’re chocking me.

Heller: Jack, it’s Jim. Bring us up to speed.

Jack: We have a hostage situation involving one of the men that was involved in the terrorist attack this morning.

Driscoll: We’re pulling up his ID now. His name is Navi Araz. He was granted American citizenship five years ago.

Heller: Who’s the hostage?

Jack: His 17 year-old son, Behrooz. He broke ranks, now his father sees him as a liability. Araz knows we have his wife in custody. He’s worried that if he kills the boy, she’ll betray him by cooperating with us.

Audrey: What does she say?

Driscoll: She’s agreed to help us find the override to stop the nuclear meltdowns if we rescue her son.

Heller: So the father will stall, keep the kid alive until the reactors blow.

Jack: That’s right, sir.

Heller: We’ve already lost one in California, Jack. Can we trust this woman to help us?

Jack: I think right now she’ll do everything she can to protect her son.

Heller: OK, Jack. Whatever you need, you’ve got. Just get that kid.

Jack: Yes, sir. Erin, I’m gonna need a thermal satellite scan of the building. We’re looking for two heat sources in close proximity in remote areas of the basement.

Driscoll: I’ll call you back as soon as we have something.

Jack: Yeah.

[Jack hangs up.]

Dina: You’re running out of time. Save my son.

Jack: Bring her with us. We’re gonna need her.

[In the laundry room, Navi slaps Behrooz.]

Navi: I said get on the floor.

[Behrooz does as his father asks.]

Navi: You’re not my son.

Behrooz: Why? Because I don’t wanna kill innocent people?

Navi: Because you’re weak, and you stand for nothing! I always saw you something more and now… I don’t even recognize you.

Behrooz: Will that make it easier for you to kill me?

[Navi calls Marwan.]

Navi: Yes, it’s me.

Marwan: Did you find your son?

Navi: Yes.

Marwan: I he dead?

Navi: Not yet.

Marwan: Is there a problem, Navi?

Navi: Government agents have arrested Dina and surrounded the building that I’m in. I need the boy for leverage, but I’m not sure how much longer I can hold them off.

Marwan: Has Dina told them anything?

Navi: I don’t think so. She won’t, as long as I don’t kill the boy. How much more time do you need till you melt down the remaining nuclear power plants?

Marwan: One hour, maybe two.

Navi: Why? Why so long?

Marwan: The Americans have programs trying to prevent the meltdown. That means we have to manipulate each plant individually, and that takes time.

Navi: I’ll hold them off as long as I can.

Marwan: I know you will.

------------------------

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Driscoll: Jack, I think we found Araz and his son.

Jack: Where?

Driscoll: We have two thermal readings in the north wing of this basement.

Jack: What’s there?

Driscoll: Laundry room.

Jack: How many ways in?

Driscoll: Just one, but according to the blueprints there’s a laundry chute.

Jack: Is it accessible?

Driscoll: From the third floor. It looks big enough to get a man in.

Jack: OK, we’re on our way. We got him.

Tony: Where are they?

Jack: The laundry room. This is Bauer. I need two teams to the north wing. Set up a hard perimeter. We’re moving to the third floor. I need a baseline and a rappelling harness.

Castle: Copy that.

Jack: Lee, get me Dina Araz. We’re putting her into play.

Castle: Got it.

------------------------

Driscoll: Where are the latest timing estimates on the remaining nuclear plants?

Edgar: Right here.

Driscoll: These are from 40 minutes ago. They update every 15 minutes.

Edgar: I’m sorry, Ms. Driscoll. I’ve been a little upset about my mother.

Driscoll: You’re gonna have to put your emotions on hold a little longer, Edgar. We’re in the middle of a crisis.

Edgar: My mother just died, Ms. Driscoll. I can’t put that on hold.

Driscoll: I’m sorry. That was callas of me. But I’m really depending on you now, Edgar. Please come through for me.

Edgar: I’ll get you those figures as soon as we’re done here.

Driscoll: Thank you.

Heller: All right. Bring me up to speed.

Driscoll: We’re trying to hold off the meltdown process of five nuclear power plants.

Heller: How is that going?

Edgar: Our programmers are trying to fight off the override. They can slow it down, but they won’t be able to stop it.

Heller: Which means we still have to find the override.

Edgar: Yes.

Driscoll: Jack has a suspect cornered in a local medical facility, and we’re fairly certain this man he’s perusing is one of the key architects in today’s events.

Heller: Can we take him alive?

Driscoll: I don’t know.

Heller: What about Marianne Taylor?

Driscoll: I sent Curtis to interrogate her.

------------------------

Marianne: I wanna call my lawyer.

Curtis: Really?

Marianne: I do have rights.

Curtis: Yeah? Henry Powell had rights too.

Marianne: I don’t know any Henry Powell.

Curtis: The one who helped the terrorists obtain the override. He’s right here. Wanna say hello? Bring him in.

[Curtis wheels the dead body of Powell into the interrogation room.]

Marianne: Are you sick? You sick bastard.

Curtis: CTU didn’t kill him.

Marianne: Well, then who did?

Curtis: The same people who planted the bomb under your car. Whoever they are, they’ve caught up with you. If I let you go you’d be dead in 15 minutes. Get him out of here.

[Powell’s body is taken out of the interrogation room.]

Curtis: Your only chance to survive is to tell us what you know.

Marianne: I want a deal.

Curtis: You get to live, that’s your deal.

Marianne: All right.

Curtis: Who did you and Powell work for?

Marianne: I don’t know, I only dealt with him.

Curtis: Why did he send you to CTU?

Marianne: To cover his tracks, in case it became necessary.

Curtis: And after Audrey Raines saw him at the warehouse, it became necessary?

Marianne: Yes.

Curtis: Did Powell work directly for the terrorists, or for someone else associated with the terrorists?

Marianne: I told you, I don’t know.

Curtis: I need names. People who can get us to the override.

Marianne: I don’t have any names. I can get them for you.

Curtis: How?

Marianne: Powell kept a file on his computer, at his office downtown. It was a… an insurance policy. In case either of us ever needed a bargaining chip.

Curtis: Give me the address and the access code.

Marianne: It can’t be accessed externally. It requires thumbprint identification – either his or mine. And since he’s dead, it’ll have to be mine.

------------------------

Tony: All right, are you set?

Jack: Yeah. We think we found them.

Dina: Where?

Jack: The basement, in the laundry room. Our satellite picked up two thermal images.

Dina: That means Behrooz is still alive.

Jack: Yes. I’m gonna need you to distract your husband.

Tony: I’m gonna take you down to the basement. In one minute we’re gonna have you call your husband. We’re gonna need you to keep him on the line as long as possible.

Dina: All right.

Tony: Let’s go.

Jack: OK. Are you ready?

Castle: Ready.

[Jack rappels upside down into the laundry chute, trying not to make any noise. When he’s halfway down, he radios Tony to have Dina make the call.]

Jack: OK. Keep going. Four feet. Three feet. Stop.

Tony: All right. Come here.

[Tony looks at his watch.]

Tony: OK. Make the call. Now, remember, keep him on as long as you can.

[Dina makes the call.]

Navi: Yes?

Dina: It’s Dina.

Navi: Where are you?

Dina: Still in the hospital.

Navi: What have you told them?

Dina: Nothing. And I’ll keep my mouth shut if you’ll release our son.

Navi: You know I can’t do that.

Dina: Then at least promise me you won’t kill him. Navi, please. He’s our son.

Navi: You turned him against me. Our sacrifice is nothing compared to the martyrs who have given all they have for our cause. No. He can still be of service. 

Dina: Is he still alive?

Navi: Yes. And he’ll remain alive as long as you remain silent. How am I to do this alone? We planned this mission together, we fought it out as if of one mind. You betrayed me. Don’t tell me that!

Jack: I have a visual on the suspect. The boy is still alive. I’m ready to proceed. Go.

[Jack lands in the laundry room from the chute.]

Navi: Your conspiracy with him is over. I won’t allow you to continue it right in front of me. The boy is all I have. The only thing that keeps them from storming through that door. Of course it’s true. But in the end… in the end you’ll find that the martyrs…

Jack: Slowly retract the rig. I’m in position.

Navi: And you will suffer even worse than them. You’re gonna have to live knowing that everyone important in your life to is dead – your son, your brother. Yes, I killed your brother too.

[As the rappelling rig is retracted up into the chute, it clangs on the metal duct. Navi hears this and goes out to investigate.]

Navi: Don’t move.

[Jack knocks the gun from Navi’s hand, but Navi fights back. Jack is forced to head butt him to get him off.]

Jack: Get up slowly. Put your hands on your head.

Tony: Stay with her.

Jack: Put your hands on your…

Tony: Hostile’s engaged, I repeat, hostile’s engaged.

[Behrooz grabs Navi’s gun.]

Jack: I don’t wanna have to kill you, but I will. Now, get up. Slowly. Interlock your fingers.

[Navi is hit by a bullet in the back. Behrooz fired Navi’s gun.]

Jack: It’s OK, son. Put the gun down. It’s over. It’s over.

[Tony barges into the room.]

Tony: Drop the gun! Drop the gun!

Jack: Please, son, put the gun down.

[Behrooz puts the gun down.]

Tony: Hands on your head. Turn around.

[Jack checks Navi’s pulse, but Navi is dead.]

Jack: Dammit.

[Dina is brought in and she sees her son is alive.]

Dina: Behrooz, are you all right?

Behrooz: I killed him. I did it. I killed father.

Jack: Your son is safe. He’s alive. We did what you asked. Now, where is the override device?

Dina: I don’t know that, but I can give you an address where much of the work behind today’s attack was done.

Jack: That’s not the deal we made!

Dina: That’s all I know. I can only tell you what I know.

Jack: What’s the address?

Dina: 24878 Alvord Street.

Tony: What’s there?

Dina: It was a drop-off. The place we used to get our final assignments. It was the last place we saw the men who were going to take position of the override.

Jack: When was that?

Dina: Yesterday.

Jack: Send in an advance team. Tell them to set up a hard perimeter. No on goes in there until we get there.

Castle: You got it.

Tony: What about these two?

Jack: Until we know she’s not lying, they come with us.

------------------------

[Curtis briefs the team about Marianne’s claims.]

Heller: So does Marianne Taylor claims she has to access the files personally?

Curtis: Yes.

Heller: And do you believe her?

Curtis: I’m not sure. The polygraph indicates that she’s telling the truth. In my opinion, she may be a sociopath.

Heller: Are you a psychologist?

Curtis: No, but I have had dealings with her before.

Heller: Dealings that might affect your judgment?

Curtis: No.

Heller: Well, we have to check it out. The question is how?

Driscoll: I can square an operative from the cyber unit and a security team.

Heller: What do you think?

Audrey: I think Curtis should go.

Driscoll: I need Curtis here.

Audrey: The information computer file may be important. Someone with experience needs to examine it first hand.

Heller: I agree. Send Curtis with a security team and you’ll have to figure out how to do without him till he gets back.

Driscoll: Yes, sir.

Curtis: I don’t like this.

Driscoll: Neither do I, but those are the orders. Get it done and get back here as quickly as you can.

Curtis: OK.

[Driscoll goes to see Sarah, who is recovering in the clinic.]

Driscoll: Are you OK? Anything you need?

Sarah: I’m fine.

Driscoll: You understand, Sarah, I had no choice. You were identified as a threat to security and I acted accordingly.

Sarah: I would have hoped you had more faith in me.

Driscoll: Personally, I do. But the evidence was brought to me by the Secretary of Defense and I couldn’t very well ignore it.

Sarah: So what happens now?

Driscoll: You can go home and rest. No one will blame you if you did. But if you’re up to it, I could use you on the floor. The San Gabriel Island reactor went into meltdown less than an hour ago. The five remaining plats are critical. I need my best people in play.

Sarah: I’ll go back to work.

Driscoll: Thank you, Sarah.

------------------------

Marianne: It shouldn’t be too complicated. The building’s security is light. I have a key card that’ll get us into Powell’s office.

Curtis: How long is it gonna take?

Marianne: Five minutes to get up to his office, another five to download the data.

Curtis: We’re looking at a 15-minute operation total?

Marianne: Approximately.

Curtis: If I think you’re stalling, taking longer than you should… I will take action, you got that? Raise your leg. Don’t make me do it for you.

[Marianne raises her leg. Curtis places a tracking chip on Marianne’s ankle.]

Marianne: Curtis, I’m not gonna run.

Curtis: Then you won’t mind wearing it.

Marianne: Can I put my foot down now?

Curtis: Yes.

Marianne: Look, I realize that after today you have a hard time trusting me, but if we’re gonna pull this off you’re gonna have to…

Curtis: I don’t have to do anything except retrieve the data your boyfriend hid, and put you in jail for treason.

Marianne: Is that what you really want?

Curtis: Without a doubt.

Marianne: Curtis…

[Marianne places her hand on Curtis’ shoulder.]

Curtis: Get your hand off me.

------------------------

Audrey: I spoke with Mike at the local DOD office. He wants to know who you wanna bring in to help manage with their load.

Heller: Things are too unstable for me to leave here. I have to keep my eye in tactical.

Audrey: Well, I checked with their logs and they’re gonna need someone pretty soon.

Heller: How are you holding up?

Audrey: I can’t handle it, if that’s what you mean. Dad, it’ll be fine.

Heller: Why don’t you head over there then?

Audrey: OK. I’ll call you from there.

------------------------

[Sarah returns to her workstation.]

Edgar: Sarah, you’re back.

Sarah: Yeah.

Edgar: I heard some rumors about what they were doing…

Sarah: I’ll be all right. Just bring me up to speed.

Edgar: Sure. We’re still trying to find the override. It’s the only way we’re gonna stop the remaining plants from melting down.

Sarah: What have we gotten out of Marianne so far? 

Edgar: She claims she has access to a computer that has data on it about the override.

Sarah: In which computer is this?

Edgar: She’s taking Curtis over to it now. 

Sarah: They let her out of the building?

Edgar: Yeah. He’s got a security team with him.

Sarah: And we trust her because…?

Edgar: She’s trying to cut a deal. Curtis can take care of her. We need to mobilize tactical to support Jack.

------------------------

[Jack and Tony arrive at the address that Dina provided, meeting up with the CTU backup team.]

Solars: Agent Bauer. Agent Solars.

Jack: Agent Almeida. You set your perimeter yet?

Solars: Anything inside four blocks isn’t going anywhere.

Tony: Any activity?

Solars: Not that we’ve seen.

Jack: OK, I wanna keep this as surgical as possible. You, me and Almeida will be leading the searching team. Remember, maintain backup. Are you ready?

Tony: Yeah.

Jack: Go.

[Jack, Tony and Solars raid the house which is empty.]

Jack: We’re clear!

Tony: Dina must have been lying.

Jack: I don’t think so. She wants to save her son.

Tony: Well, they must have cleared the place out.

Jack: Bring in a forensics team now. I want this place torn apart for fingerprints.

Solars: Yes, sir.

Jack: Tony.

Tony: What is it?

[Jack finds a hidden basement that contains schematics of the nuclear power plants, passenger manifests from the train that was bombed and surveillance photos of Heller and Audrey. Jack is in the background of one of these photos.]

Tony: Go.

Jack: Clear. It’s the train from the attack this morning.

Tony: So that’s how the terrorists got a hold of the override. Jack? They planned the kidnapping here.

Jack: Yeah.

------------------------

Sarah: Edgar, the location Jack is searching didn’t show up on any agency watch list.

Edgar: Then you won’t have a hell of a time here.

Sarah: Why?

Edgar: The building’s owned by a company that’s owned by another company that’s owned by an LOC.

Sarah: Wait. Hold on. “Galaxy Financial”? I’ve heard that name before.

------------------------

Jack: No, Hal. I want you to put that in a separate file. We’ll handle the kidnapping and the train bombing another day. Right now I only want things that are pertinent to helping us the override device.

Hal: OK, I’ll have it up on the system when you get here.

Jack: OK, thanks.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: Tony, I need to talk to you.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: I’m sorry. Just give me a minute.

[Jack takes the call.]

Jack: Yeah?

Sarah: Jack, this is Sarah from CTU. Listen, I got something on that address you gave to Edgar.

Jack: What is it?

Sarah: The ownership of the building is complicated, but I recognized on of the shell corporations on the latter.

Jack: Which one?

Sarah: “Galaxy Financial”.

Jack: I’ve never heard of it.

Sarah: Neither did I until this afternoon. When Paul Raines came in I was the one who ran his clearance.

Jack: Paul Raines? What does he have to do with the company?

Sarah: he’s a general partner in “Galaxy Financial”.

Jack: You’re telling me that Audrey’s husband owns the building that was used by the terrorists to plan this morning’s attacks?

Sarah: According to this, yes.

Jack: Where’s Audrey now?

Sarah: She’s on her way over to DOD.

Jack: Patch her through to me.

[Sarah calls Audrey.]

Audrey: Yeah?

Sarah: Miss Raines, this is Sarah from CTU. I’ve got Jack. Hold, please.

Audrey: All right.

[Sarah patches Jack’s call to Audrey.]

Sarah: You’re on. Go ahead.

Jack: Audrey, it’s me.

Audrey: Hey. Did you find anything at the address?

Jack: Yeah. The building was used by the terrorists to plan this morning’s attacks.

Audrey: Jack, that’s a great find.

Jack: Yeah, there’s something else.

Audrey: What?

Jack: The company that owns the building – it’s called “Galaxy Financial Services”. Have you ever heard of them?

Audrey: No. Should I have?

Jack: Your husband’s a chief financial officer.

Audrey: What?

Jack: I need to find Paul. I need to speak to him now.

Audrey: Paul had nothing to do with the kidnapping.

Jack: Maybe, maybe not, but his name’s all over the paperwork for the building, and because of his relationship to you and your father, he’s gonna have to explain that.

Audrey: Jack, I don’t know where he is. He left CTU without saying anything.

Jack: Can you reach him?

Audrey: Well, yeah, I have his cell phone number.

Jack: OK. I want you to call him. I want you to keep it personal. I don’t want you to tell him what I know. I just want you to tell me where he is. Audrey, five power plants could still melt down. If Paul has any information that can help us stop that from happening, we have to follow through with it. You know that.

Audrey: All right.

Jack: Please, get back to me as soon as you can.

Audrey: OK, I will.

[Jack hangs up. Audrey calls Paul, who is about to check out of his hotel.]

Paul: Hello?

Audrey: Hey. Paul, it’s Audrey.

Paul: I wasn’t expecting to hear from you.

Audrey: I know. I’ve just… look, Paul, I didn’t like the way we left things between us.

Paul: I didn’t care for it much either. Look, uh… I’m glad you called, but, uh… I’m about to check out.

Audrey: Where are you going?

Paul: What difference does it make?

Audrey: Look, Paul, I was thinking about what you said about how… we’ve got so much going on for us.

Paul: I thought you wanted a divorce.

Audrey: Yeah, I thought so too, but after… you now, Paul, today was the first time that we’ve seen each other in months and… I don’t know, maybe it took a while for it to sink in. Maybe you’re right. Maybe there is something there.

Paul: Audrey, you know this is what I want more than anything.

Audrey: Then let me come over. I don’t wanna have the most important conversation of my life over the phone.

Paul: OK. I’m at the “West Moore” hotel, room 408.

Audrey: All right. I’ll be there soon.

Paul: Good. I’ll wait for you.

------------------------

[Jack orders a full forensic search of the building.]

Jack: OK. No one goes back down there until the forensic team gets here. When they do, I want that place torn apart. I want fingerprints, trace DNA samples, fiber samples, everything, you understand?

Solars: I understand.

Jack: OK.

[Jack goes over to Tony.]

Jack: Hey.

Tony: Hey.

Jack: I need to follow up a lead on my own. I need you to do me a favor. I need you to take Dina Araz and her son back to CTU and head up the interrogation.

Tony: Wait a second, Jack. They’d never let me set my foot in CTU even if I wanted to.

Jack: Just listen to me. You’re the only one I can trust to do this. Over the last two hours I watched my friend come back to life.

Tony: It’s not that simple, Jack.

Jack: If I press hard enough, I can get you reinstated but I need to know now: is that what you want?

Tony: I don’t know.

Jack: Maybe I was wrong.

[Jack starts to walk away.]

Jack: You saved the life of the daughter of the Secretary of Defense, who happens to be my boss, you do know that, right?

Tony: Jack. Thanks. I’ll do it.

Jack: Lee. Agent Almeida will be driving your car.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Audrey: All right, Jack. I spoke with Paul. He’s at the “West Moore” downtown, room 408. I’m heading over there now.

Jack: No, Audrey, you need to let us handle this. We don’t know Paul’s connection to the attack yet. He could be dangerous.

Audrey: Jack, I don’t think we have a choice. He was on his way out the door. I had to make something up just to keep him there.

Jack: Fine, I can get there instead.

Audrey: Jack, I’m only a couple of minutes away and he knows that. He’s not gonna stick around if I don’t show up.

Jack: Audrey, I know you’re trying to help but I don’t feel comfortable with you going in that room alone.

Audrey: Jack, it’s the only thing that he won’t suspect. He’s been wanting to talk about the marriage all day long. Look, I’ll keep him there until you get there.

Jack: No, it’s not an option.

Audrey: Jack, just get there as soon as you can, please.

[Audrey hangs up.]

Jack: Audrey. Audrey!

------------------------

[Driscoll and Heller discuss about Tony’s reinstatement.]

Heller: Erin, I just got off the phone with Jack. He wants me to approve Tony Almeida’s reinstatement. Do you have a problem with that?

Driscoll: Considering what Almeida has done for us today, I do not have a problem with that.

Heller: Good.

Driscoll: Sir, you said you spoke with Jack. How long ago was that?

Heller: 10, 15 minutes ago. Why?

Driscoll: We have some new information. I’d like to share it with you. We found a curious connection to the terrorists.

Heller: What kinda connection?

Driscoll: Paul Raines.

Heller: My daughter’s husband?

Driscoll: One of his companies is listed as the owner of the building Jack just searched.

Heller: The building the terrorists planned the attack from today?

Driscoll: That’s the one.

Heller: Is anybody going to pick him up?

Driscoll: We have teams on the way to the hotel where he’s staying, but he was about to leave and the only way to keep him there was under a false pretence.

Heller: “A false pretence”? What’s that supposed to mean?

Driscoll: Jack called to tell us that Audrey’s meeting Paul in his room. Jack’s on his way over there.

Heller: What?

Driscoll: She’s gonna try and keep him there until our backup teams could take over.

Heller: Unacceptable. How could you let this happen?

Driscoll: This wasn’t my decision. This was her choice. Jack did everything he could to stop her.

Heller: When did you find out about this?

Driscoll: About five minutes ago.

Heller: That’s when you should have told me.

------------------------

[En route to Powell’s office, Curtis is briefed by CTU on Paul.]

Agent (over the phone): You want me to look into it?

Curtis (over the phone): Yeah. Find out.

[Curtis hangs up.]

Curtis: Tell me everything you know about Paul Raines.

Marianne: Why?

Curtis: What’s the connection to all this?

Marianne: How should I know? Look, Curtis, I wish I knew something that you could use. Believe me, I’m quite clear it’s my only way out of this, but I don’t know any more about Paul Raines than you do.

Curtis: How much longer?

Driver: We’re about five minutes out.

Curtis: Raines’ part in all of this is being investigated as we speak. If your name turns up linked to the kidnap in any way--

Marianne: It won’t. I am gonna do everything I can to find something on Powell’s computer that’ll help you. Maybe something about Paul Raines would be on there.

------------------------

[As she arrives at the hotel, Audrey’s cell phone rings.]

Audrey: Yeah?

Heller: What’s this I hear about you going to see Paul by yourself?

Audrey: It’s the only way to keep him here.

Heller: If Paul was involved in out kidnapping--

Audrey: Look, Paul would never hurt me.

Heller: There is strong evidence that suggest that he was involved, which means he is dangerous.

Audrey: Look, I don’t believe he is.

Heller: You don’t know what he is, Audrey.

Audrey: I lived with him for eight years. I know him.

Heller: Yeah, I thought I knew him too. Audrey, I forbid you to do this.

Audrey: Dad, I’m sorry. I’m already here.

[Audrey hangs up on Heller.]

------------------------

[Tony enters CTU with Dina and Behrooz.]

Driscoll: Mr. Almeida.

Tony: That’s right.

Driscoll: Erin Driscoll, Director of CTU.

Tony: How are you? This is Mrs. Araz and her son, Behrooz. Mr. Araz is in need of medical attention right away.

Driscoll (to guard): Have them taken care of, then prepare them for interrogation.

Dina: We’ve told you everything we know.

Driscoll: We’ll see.

[The guard takes Dina and Behrooz with him.]

Driscoll: You’re gonna need these.

[Driscoll gives Tony a badge and a gun.]

Tony: Ms. Driscoll, I’m sure you’re aware of my history here.

Driscoll: Not an issue. Jack Bauer and Secretary Heller both vouched for you. That’s enough for me.

Tony: All right. Thank you. Jack thought it’d be a good idea if I headed up the interrogation.

Driscoll: That makes sense. You’ve had the chance to observe them first hand. If there’s anything you need, let me know.

[Driscoll walks away from Tony and asks goes over to Sarah.]

Driscoll: The man I was just talking to is Tony Almeida. I want you to keep an eye on him. Let me know if he goes off-protocol. I’m particularly interested in--

Sarah: In any communication between him and Jack Bauer or Secretary Heller.

Driscoll: That’s right.

Sarah: I’m beginning to see how things work around here, Ms. Driscoll.

Driscoll: How do things work around here?

Sarah: You couldn’t care less about me being falsely accused and tortured. You’re beginning to feel squeezed out and you need allies. That’s why you were so nice to me before.

Driscoll: We’re facing a crisis today, Sarah, and our first priority is to deal with this successfully. Is that a problem for you?

Sarah: Not at all, but after what I went through today, if you want my help, I need something too.

Driscoll: And what’s that?

Sarah: I want my arrest expunged. Not explained by an official letter in my file – expunged. And I want a promotion – two pay grades.

Driscoll: Done.

------------------------

[Audrey arrives at Paul’s room. She knocks on the door and Paul opens it.]

Paul: Come on in. I’m glad you came. Can I get you something?

Audrey: Sure.

Paul: I had them send up your favorite champagne. To tell you the truth, I wasn’t sure you’d really come.

Audrey: Why wouldn’t I?

Paul: You were so adamant before about ending things, it turns around as just a little surprising, that’s all.

Audrey: How about you? I hardly hear from you for about six months, and then you see me with another man and suddenly you’re pouring “Dom Parinion”.

Paul: It shows what a fool I am for not realizing what I had. It also shows that I still have feelings for you. And you must have some for me too, otherwise you wouldn’t be here, right? I would hate to think you were playing some kind of game with me.

Audrey: I don’t play games, Paul.

Paul: Good. To new beginnings.

Audrey: New beginnings.

------------------------

[As he speeds to the hotel, Jack calls Driscoll.]

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll, it’s Jack on line 3.

Driscoll: Jack.

Jack: Are the backup teams at the “West Moore” yet?

Driscoll: No. They’re caught up in traffic.

Jack: I’m still a couple miles out. If your teams get there first, tell them not to waste time coordinating with hotel security. I want them in that room as soon as possible.

Driscoll: Why not put some fiber-optics in place first, get a better position on Raines?

Jack: ‘Cause if Paul’s involved, he’s gonna be nervous. I don’t want anything to possibly tip him off before we’re ready to enter that room. I don’t want Audrey in any more danger than she already is.

Driscoll: OK. I’ll pass it along to tactical.

Jack: Has Curtis had a chance to question Marianne about Paul yet?

Driscoll: She said she doesn’t know anything about him, but they’re about to get in some computer files that may help us find the override.

Jack: OK. Thanks, Erin.

[Jack hangs up.]

------------------------

[Marianne and Curtis arrive at Powell’s office with their backup.]

Marianne: It’s right down this hall and to the left.

Curtis: Stay alert. This place may not be as empty as it seems.

Marianne: What, you think this is some kinda trap?

Curtis: Yes, I do.

Marianne: Like you said, Curtis, this is my only chance to stay alive. I’m not gonna blow it, so relax, OK?

[Marianne inserts her key card and the door to Powell’s office opens. The agents sweep the room.]

Agent: It’s all clear.

[Marianne and Curtis enter the office. The agents stay outside to guard it. Marianne enters her thumbprint into the computer.]

Marianne: It’s gonna take one moment. Here it is. All I have to do is reformat, and then we can download the data and get out of here.

[Marianne becomes alarmed when it asks for a second password.]

Marianne: Oh.

Curtis: What?

Marianne: The file has a second password encryption.

Curtis: Do you know it?

Marianne: I think so. But it’s strange.

[Marianne enters the second password. Suddenly, three armed men enter the room after killing the other agents.]

Man: Hand away from the gun. Take it away.

Marianne: The files are still secure. I… I didn’t give them anything. I…

[The men shoot Marianne anyway.]

Man: Now put the gun down. Put it down.

[Curtis puts his gun down on the table.]

Forbes: Your name is Curtis Manning. You work for CTU. You’re gonna tell me how far along you are on your investigation.

Curtis: What investigation?

Forbes: Of the override. Have they discovered where it is yet?

Curtis: You’re an American and you’re working with the terrorists? Who are you?

Forbes: I’m gonna ask you one more time; what does CTU know about the override?

[Curtis doesn’t answer.]

Forbes: Fine.

[The men knock Curtis unconscious.]

------------------------

Paul: Or I could move to Washington. I could turn west-coast operations over to Ben Simon. Audrey.

Audrey: Yes, I heard you. Turn west-coast operations over to Ben Simon.

Paul: What do you think?

Audrey: I don’t know. I guess you’ll have to decide whether or not you thought he’s capable of running…

Paul: No… not what do you think of Ben Simon, what do you think of me moving back east?

Audrey: Oh, um… Well, I… I don’t know.

Paul: I feel like I’m doing all the work here. You said you wanted to talk, but you’re not talking.

Audrey: These things take time, Paul.

Paul: Well, maybe… talking isn’t what we should be doing. Why are you looking at me like that? You’re my wife, for God’s sake!

Audrey: You can’t believe that I come over here to sleep with you.

Paul: OK, you didn’t come over here to sleep with me, you didn’t come over to talk with me. Why did you come?

Audrey: I just… I thought that maybe we could spend a little time together, it would be nice.

Paul: On a day like this?! All hell’s breaking loose, you thought it’d be nice for us to spend some time together? I guess I really wasn’t thinking when you called, was I? What are you doing here? What’s really going on? What are you, are you spying on me?

Audrey: Are you doing something worth spying on?

Paul: What is that supposed to mean?

Audrey: I just… I think I should go.

Paul: I think you should stay!

[Paul becomes violent.]

Audrey: Please, just let me…

Paul: No!

Audrey: No, please, let me…

Paul: No!

Audrey: Let go of me, please. Let me just…

[Jack barges in with his gun at the ready.]

Jack: Get your hands off of her!

Paul: You set me up!

Jack: Audrey, get behind me. Put your hands on your head now. Now!

Paul: What do you want?

Jack: I want answers.

Paul: Well, I’m not talking to you.

[Jack punches Paul.] 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Navi: You’re not my son.

Behrooz: Why? Because I don’t wanna kill innocent people?

Navi: Because you’re weak, and you stand for nothing!

------------------------

Marwan: Is there a problem, Navi?

Navi: Government agents have arrested Dina and surrounded the building that I’m in. How much more time do you need till you melt down the remaining nuclear power plants?

Marwan: One hour, maybe two.

------------------------

Jack: I don’t wanna have to kill you, but I will. I have the suspect in custody. I need assistance.

------------------------

Jack: I need you to take Dina Araz and her son back to CTU and head up the interrogation.

Tony: Whoa, whoa, whoa. Wait a second, Jack. They’d never let me set my foot in CTU even if I wanted to.

Jack: If I press hard enough, I can get you reinstated but I need to know now: is that what you want?

Tony: Ms. Driscoll, I’m sure you’re aware of my history here.

Driscoll: Not an issue. Jack Bauer and Secretary Heller both vouched for you. That’s enough for me.

------------------------

Curtis: Did Powell work directly for the terrorists?

Marianne: I told you, I don’t know.

Curtis: I need names. People who can get us to the override. This place may not be as empty as it seems.

Marianne: What, you think this is some kinda trap?

Curtis: Yes, I do.

Marianne: I didn’t give them anything. I…

Forbes: What does CTU know about the override?

------------------------

Jack: Audrey, it’s me.

Audrey: Hey. Did you find anything at the address?

Jack: Yeah. The company that owns the building – it’s called “Galaxy Financial Services”. Have you ever heard of them?

Audrey: No. Should I have?

Jack: Your husband’s a chief financial officer.

------------------------

Paul: What are you doing here? What’s really going on? What are you, are you spying on me?

Audrey: Are you doing something worth spying on?

Paul: What is that supposed to mean?

Jack: Get your hands off of her!

Paul: You set me up!

Jack: Put your hands on your head now!

Paul: What do you want?

Jack: I want some answers.

------------------------

The following takes place between 5:00 P.M. and 6:00 P.M.

Jack: I think it would be better if you left the room while I question your husband. You can wait just outside with the backup team.

Audrey: What are you gonna do to him?

Jack: Whatever I have to.

Audrey: I’m staying.

Jack: Fine.

[Jack goes to wake the unconscious Paul up.]

Jack: Look at me, Paul. Look at me.

Paul: I’ve got nothing to say to you.

Jack: Here’s what you need to know, Paul: there are five nuclear power plants ready to melt down. All I care about right now is making sure that that doesn’t happen. Your name is on a lease in a building in Chatsworth that was used by the terrorists to plan today’s attack. That makes you a prime suspect. I’m gonna treat you like one, do you understand that?

Paul: My name is on at least 50 different leases. I own ten different corporations. I don’t know anything about some building in Chatsworth.

Jack: I don’t believe you. The lease of that building was notarized. There’s documentation of your ID. CTU verified your signature. Paul, you need to start talking to me now.

Paul: I’ve got nothing to say to you.

[Jack isn’t sure of the truth, and he cuts the electrical cord from a lamp to shock Paul. Audrey is horrified.]

Audrey: Jack. I don’t think that Paul would be a traitor to this country.

Jack: Right now Paul is a prime suspect, and he’s not cooperating with me and I don’t have time to do this any other way. I need to know for sure.

[Jack goes over to Paul.]

Jack: Paul. This is the last chance you’ve got to talk to me before I have to hurt you. Tell me about 24878 Alvord Street in Chatsworth. Why’s your name on the lease?

Audrey: Jack, please…

Jack: Audrey, don’t interfere! If you need to step outside of this room, do it. Why is your name on the lease?

Paul: You’re bluffing.

[Jack shock Paul with the electrical cord.]

Jack: I need that information, Paul. I need it now. Come on, Paul, just tell me what’s your connection to the terrorists. 

Audrey: Jack, please don’t.

[Jack shock Paul with the electrical cord again.]

Paul: I don’t… I don’t know the specific building you’re talking about. I… I can find out.

Jack: How?

Paul: The corporate records are still in my laptop. If… If that address is under my name, then… then it’ll come up. Maybe there’s someone else involved I don’t know about.

Jack: What’s your user ID and login number?

Paul: It… It’ll be much quicker if I just do it. Please.

Jack: You want me to believe that you’re not involved in this, Paul? You better show me who is.

[Jack frees Paul.]

------------------------

[Marwan arrives at the Rockland Building where Powell’s office is located.]

Ali: I’m sorry I had to call you here, Marwan, but I had no choice. CTU is trying to disable the override using a dreen-filled mode tool. They’ve already shut down over 90 reactors.

Marwan: I always knew they’d stop some of them. The important thing is that one of the reactors has melted down. As long as the override has control of the other five, I can do the rest from here.

Ali: Everything is ready for you upstairs.

Marwan: Will anyone in that office be suspicious?

Ali: I reported a system failure. If anyone asks, tell them you’re from IT, restoring my hard drive. My desk is in the last row, three from the end, C-8-6. The override is well-disguised inside the desk. Here is the key.

Marwan: Good.

Ali: How much time will you need?

Marwan: 45 minutes to melt down the remaining reactors.

Ali: I am here if you need anything.

Marwan: Where’s the CTU agent?

Ali: Forbes is questioning him now.

------------------------

[In an abandoned floor of the building, Curtis is unconscious after being tortured.]

Forbes: He’s out. He’s not gonna tell us anything. What does Marwan want us to do with him?

Ali: Finish him off, then get rid of the body.

Forbes: Take care of it.

Henchman #1: He came with a woman and two other agents. Where are their bodies?

Henchman #2: They’re in the van.

[The men unchain Curtis’s limp body and carry him. Curtis was only faking, and kills them with his bare hands. He takes their guns and walks out into the building. The doors are all locked by security codes.]

------------------------

[Paul uncovers his computer files on “Galaxy Financial Services”.]

Paul: Yeah, here it is. “Galaxy Financial Services”.

Jack: What kind of a company is it?

Paul: It’s um… a failing service. It was about to dissolve, and then someone came in with an offer to buy 51 percent of the shares. Some 800,000 grand, something like that. Yeah, “Harris Barnes, Director”.

Jack: Who is Harris Barnes?

Paul: I, uh… don’t remember.

Jack: What do you mean, you don’t remember?

Paul: I’m involved with over 30 companies. I don’t deal directly with most of them.

Jack: Explain to me, Paul, how your name got on the lease.

Paul: I don’t know.

Jack: You expect me to believe that you entered into a business deal worth hundreds of thousands of dollars with someone that you’ve never met?

Paul: My attorney handles most of the…

Jack: Paul, I don’t believe you!

Audrey: Jack, it’s possible. Paul has put together a lot of deals through his attorneys.

[Jack calls CTU.]

Sarah: This is Sarah.

Jack: Hey, it’s me. I need you to run a name for me.

Sarah: Go ahead.

Jack: Harris Barnes. He’s the Director of a Californian corporation “Galaxy Financial Services”.

Sarah: What am I looking for?

Jack: Where he lives, his business, anything we could possibly connect with any terrorist activity.

Sarah: All right, give me a minute.

Jack: I’ll be here.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: She’s calling me right back. Excuse me.

[Jack leaves the room.]

Paul: Your boyfriend is just a thug with a badge.

Audrey: Paul, why is your name on that lease?

Paul: Unbelievable. An hour ago I was sitting here feeling sorry for myself that you didn’t want me back. And now… you think I’m a terrorist. You think I had something to do with you and your father’s kidnapping?

Audrey: I don’t know what to believe anymore.

[Jack comes back inside the room. His cell phone rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Sarah: OK, I ran down the name Harris Barnes and a lot of data came up, but it was inconsistent, so I went into the IRS records and found out that Harris Barnes did end up here on their logs until two years ago.

Jack: So it’s an alias?

Sarah: As far as I can tell, it’s a watched ID. It devours a social security number and credit card history. Interpol back-traced the name and provided a list of four nationals who’ve used it in the past.

Jack: Who used it most recently?

Sarah: A man named Habib Marwan.

Jack: We need to find him.

Sarah: I think we already have.

Jack: What do you mean?

Sarah: Marwan used the name Harris Barnes to lease more office space here in LA. It turns out the same address was given to us an hour ago by Marianne Taylor. She and Curtis are there now.

Jack: What’s the address?

Sarah: It’s the 29th floor at the Rockland building downtown.

Jack: OK. I’m on my way. As soon as Curtis calls, you patch him through to me.

Sarah: You got it. You think Marwan’s there?

Jack: Right now it’s our only lead. If he is, that’s where the override is. I’ll get back to you.

------------------------

[Driscoll and Sarah watch Tony interrogate Dina.]

Tony: I want you to tell me who’s still out there. I want the name of anyone who could help us find that override to stop the plans from melting down.

Dina: My husband kept all of this from me. I only helped.

Tony: That’s a bunch of crap! Now, we know you were just as involved as your husband. Listen, we’re quite aware that the only reason you’re helping us is because of your son. But believe me, it’s not too late for us to change our minds about how we treat him.

Dina: There are a few men whose names I heard Navi mention. They might know what you want. But I don’t know how to find them.

Tony: All right. Why don’t you start by writing their names down?

[Tony gives Dina a pen and a piece of paper. Still watching from the observation room, Sarah briefs Driscoll on the situation.]

Sarah: As far as we can tell, this Habib Marwan’s been controlling the override.

Driscoll: Jack’s on his way there now?

Sarah: Yes.

Driscoll: Curtis and his team are already at that building.

Sarah: I know, but we haven’t been able to reach him or his team members. He’s not answering his cell.

Driscoll: How far is Jack?

Sarah: About 15 minutes out.

Driscoll: Keep trying Curtis. Tell him Jack’s on the way. We have to coordinate the two and find that override.

Sarah: OK.

[Sarah leaves the observation room. Through an earpiece, Driscoll instructs Tony.]

Driscoll: Tony, ask her about a man named Habib Marwan.

Tony: Who’s Habib Marwan?

Dina: I heard Navi speak of him a few times. He’s an engineer. Beyond that, I don’t know.

[At the observation room the intercom rings.]

Nurse: Ms. Driscoll?

Driscoll: Yes?

Nurse: This is Nurse Carlson in the clinic. There’s a problem with your daughter, Maya. I think you should get down here as soon as you can.

Driscoll: I’ll be right there.

Nurse: Thank you.

------------------------

[Sarah tries to reach Curtis on his cell phone again. At the office building, Ali sees Curtis’ cell phone ring but doesn’t answer it.]

Forbes: The CTU agent’s phone. What should we do?

Ali: Nothing. Let them wonder where he is. By the time they realize what’s happened it’ll be too late. Find out if Adam and Jason have disposed of the body. They should have been back by now.

Forbes: All right.

[Forbes leaves to check up on his henchmen. Ali watches a news report on TV.]

News Reporter on TV: We’re speaking of radiation. Can you tell us a bit more about that?

Guy on TV: Well, that’s right, that’s right. The government spokesman confirmed…

[Forbes finds his gunmen dead, and he calls Ali.]

News Reporter on TV: How well is the evacuation moving?

[Ali’s phone rings.]

Ali: Yeah?

Forbes: Ali, Adam and Jason are dead.

Ali: Did the agent escape?

Forbes: No. I checked the door. It’s still armed. He’s still on this floor.

Ali: Find him.

Forbes: Yeah.

[Ali calls to notify Marwan.]

Marwan: Yes?

Ali: The CTU agent is loose on this floor.

Marwan: How did he escape?

Ali: He killed two of our men.

Marwan: Does he know the override is in the building?

Ali: I don’t think so, and he can’t get to it. We have the exits covered.

Marwan: Disconnect all the hard lines. He can’t be allowed to contact CTU.

Ali: I will.

[Curtis watches as Ali pulls the phone lines from the wall.]

------------------------

[At the clinic, Maya is fighting with the doctor.]

Doctor: Maya.

Maya: No, no! You can’t keep me here!

Doctor: Maya. Maya.

Maya: No.

Doctor: Please, we just wanna help you feel better.

Maya: You better get out of my face!

[Driscoll arrives at the clinic.]

Driscoll: Maya!

Maya: What took you so long?

Driscoll: I thought she was given a sedative.

Doctor: We did. She’s fighting it.

Driscoll: Give me a few minutes with her.

Doctor: Sure. Ruth.

[The doctor and the nurse leave.]

Driscoll: Come on. Honey. I brought you here so that you could be near me, isn’t that what you wanted?

Maya: I want for us to go home.

Driscoll: Maya, we will, honey, but we can’t just yet. Honey.

[Maya starts tearing up medical reports.]

Maya: I don’t like these people here.

Driscoll: Maya. Maya. That’s not gonna make you feel better.

Maya: I do feel better.

Driscoll: Sweetheart, I need you to…

Maya: No! Get out! You’re such an important person. Why don’t you take care of your important business?

Driscoll: Maya…

Maya: Doctor. Doctor. Doctor!

Doctor: Yes, Maya?

[Maya hugs the doctor as he approaches her.]

Maya: I’m sorry. I’m sorry. I was misbehaving. But I promise to be good if you’ll just get that (point to Driscoll) out of here.

Driscoll: I’m going. I’m going.

Maya: Bye.

Driscoll: I’ll be in my office if you need me.

[Driscoll leaves the clinic.]

Doctor: Come on, Maya.

------------------------

[On his way to the Rockland building, Sarah informs Jack over the phone about Curtis. Paul and Audrey are also in the car.]

Jack: Curtis’ phone is ringing and he’s not answering it?

Sarah: Right. It rang several times before I got his message. If he had turned it off, it would have gone to voicemail immediately.

Jack: He’s in trouble. Where are the field teams?

Sarah: Castle and his men will be there in two minutes. I can have them set up a staging area along the perimeter and stand-by for your command.

Jack: What’s the probability that Marwan’s even in the facility?

Sarah: We don’t know yet.

Jack: Where are they staging?

Sarah: They’ll be waiting for you in a parking lot at the northwest corner of Wilshire and Grand, one block away.

Jack: OK.

[Jack hangs up.]

Paul: Your people found Marwan yet?

Jack: No.

Paul: Audrey, you… you have to know that I would never be involved in anything that could bring you harm.

Audrey: Of all the people this Marwan could have approached to do business and he chose you, it’s a hell of a coincidence, Paul.

Jack: It might not just be a coincidence. They might have wanted Paul for more than just the corporate shell.

Audrey: He chose Paul because he was my husband?

Jack: That would put them on degree of separation from your father.

Paul: So this Marwan used me to get to Audrey’s father.

Jack: It’s a possibility.

Paul: Well, I had no idea where Audrey or her father would be today. The information they used to stage the kidnapping couldn’t have come from me.

Jack: They would have used your relationship with her father for something else, maybe to plan something for the future, a contingency plan.

Paul: I’ve been careless. I’m sorry.

[Paul apologizes to Audrey, devastated by what he may have done. Audrey touches Paul’s shoulder tenderly. Jack notices the moment between them.]

------------------------

[Tony briefs Driscoll on his findings.]

Tony: All right. So far every name Dina has given us has checked out as a mid-level cell member.

Driscoll: But what’s interesting is that Marwan, who she claims to have never met, is connected to everyone on this list. It looks like all roads lead to him.

Tony: This must be his operation, which means she definitely knows more than she’s telling us.

Driscoll: What do you wanna do to make her talk?

Tony: I just need you to give me a little bit of rope.

Driscoll: Do it.

[Tony enters the interrogation room.]

Tony: Why don’t you tell me about Habib Marwan?

Dina: I already told you.

Tony: No. You told me you never met him.

Dina: I haven’t.

Tony: Danny, could you come in here, please?

[Danny comes in the interrogation room.]

Tony: I’m gonna need all video and audio monitoring this room disconnected. Thank you.

Dina: I’m not a stupid woman. What are you trying to prove with this?

Tony: I’m not trying to prove anything. I just don’t want what about to say to be recorded.

[Danny disconnects the video and audio in the interrogation room.]

Dina: I don’t believe you.

[Tony grabs Dina.]

Tony: Open the door!

[Tony physically pushes Dina into the observation room.]

Tony: Everybody out. Get out, now! Everyone, Erin.

[Dina witnesses all the techies and Erin Driscoll as they leave the room. Tony takes Dina back to the interrogation room and pusher her against the wall.]

Tony: Unless you tell me the whole truth right now, that deal you made to save your son is over and he goes to prison for murder and treason!

Dina: You can’t do that. The President signed an agreement.

Tony: If that deal gets in the way of protecting this country, you think the President’s gonna stand behind it? He’s gonna tear it up, and your son goes to prison for the rest of his life. And I’ll tell you a little something about prison and based on the conditions of his confinement I’ll tell you right now – I give Behrooz about three months before he commits suicide. And by the way, I’m gonna make it my personal mission to make sure you’ll never hear word-one about what happens to him. Ever.

[Tony lets go of Dina and starts to leave.]

Dina: Wait. Habib Marwan is the man our cell reported to in the Unites States.

Tony: You aid your cell. How many other cells reported to him?

Dina: I don’t know.

Tony: But there are others.

Dina: Yes.

Tony: How many?

Dina: I told you, I don’t know. The cells are not in contact with one another. Marwan thought it was safer that way.

Tony: What about the override? Is it in his possession right now?

Dina: Definitely.

Tony: Definitely? Why definitely?

Dina: Your programmers are trying to interfere with the meltdown sequence. Marwan is the only one capable of stopping them.

Tony: And he’s trying to do this by controlling it directly?

Dina: Exactly.

Tony: Where? Where?!

Dina: Somewhere in downtown.

Tony: The Rockland building?

Dina: Yes.

[Tony calls to notify Jack.]

Sarah: Sarah Gavin.

Tony: Sarah, get me Jack Bauer on the phone.

Sarah: You got it.

[Tony leaves the interrogation room.]

Tony: Place her back in holding. Erin, Dina just confirmed Marwan’s got the override. He’s at the Rockland building.

Driscoll: Everyone, listen up! The address where Curtis is and where Jack Bauer is heading is the location of the override. I want every station to focus on this location. I want field teams ready. Rework your assault tactics on the building factoring in this new information.

[Sarah has Jack on the phone.]

Jack: Let me speak to Tony.

Sarah: Hold on a second. Tony, I’ve got Jack.

Tony: Jack?

Jack: Yeah.

Tony: We have confirmation Habib Marwan’s controlling the override. He’s at the address you’re headed to.

Jack: What about Curtis?

Tony: No, we haven’t been able to reach him yet.

Jack: Have you changed the assault profiles?

Tony: We’re working on it. Look, Marwan’s gird of this. He can’t know we’re coming, or he’ll take off with the override. Also, we’re running out of time. We have about 20 minutes before these plants start to melt down.

Jack: OK. Tell Castle to prep for a low-profile assault. Tell him I’m on my way.

Tony: Copy that. Get me Castle.

------------------------

[Marwan comes down to the floor where Ali is because he is worried about Curtis’s disappearance.]

Marwan: Ali.

Ali: Go.

Marwan: Have you found him yet?

Ali: Marwan, it was not necessary for you to come down.

Marwan: Not necessary?

Ali: We will find him.

Marwan: If I’m captured, it’ll end everything we’ve been working for.

Ali: We control the floor. He can’t get far.

Marwan: Don’t tell me what he can’t do. He’s already killed two of our men.

[Ali’s cell phone rings.]

Ali: What is it, Forbes?

[Marwan takes the phone from Ali.]

Marwan: Tell me you’ve got him.

Forbes: No, I’m sorry, Marwan. He may have gotten away.

Marwan: How is that possible? Ali says the floor is locked off.

Forbes: I know. We’re still searching. But we’ve gotta deal with ventilation, air ducks, ceiling space.

Marwan: I don’t care how you get him as long as he’s contained. I need 30 minutes. Can you make that happen?

Forbes: I can make it happen.

[Marwan hangs up.]

Marwan: 30 minutes.

[Curtis comes upon Forbes from behind. Curtis takes Forbes’ gun and phone.]

Curtis: Who’s Marwan? Who is he? Does he have the override?

[Curtis throws Forbes against the wall.]

Curtis: Does he have the override?

Forbes: Yes.

Curtis: Where is he? Where is he?

Forbes: One flight up. I don’t have access to the floor.

[Curtis knocks Forbes unconscious. He then calls Sarah with the phone.]

Sarah: CTU, Sarah Gain.

Curtis: Sarah, it’s Curtis. Where’s Driscoll?

Sarah: Curtis, where have you been? We’ve been trying to reach you.

Curtis: I’m still in the Rockland building. Sarah, listen. Marianne’s dead. I’m sure our backup teams are dead too. The override is here.

Sarah: Jack’s on his way to you now.

------------------------

[Jack arrives at the Rockland Building.]

Castle: Jack.

Jack: I need you to put together a security detail for Paul and Audrey Raines now.

Castle: I’ll take care of it.

Jack: I want you to stay here with these men until I get back.

Audrey: Are you going in?

Jack: Yeah.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Wait a second. This is Bauer.

Curtis: Jack, it’s Manning.

Jack: Where are you?

Curtis: Still in the building, 29th floor. Where are you?

Jack: I’m at a staging area about a block away. Have you secured the override device?

Curtis: No, but it’s here on an upper floor. A man named Marwan is in control.

Jack: I know. CTU worked up a partial profile. What’s your mobility?

Curtis: I’m demitted. They’re still looking for me. But I took an access card off one of the hostiles.

Jack: How do we meet?

Curtis: Take the main elevator. There’s only one guard posted there. I’ll take care of him.

Jack: I’m on my way.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: We’ve got Marwan boxed in. I want you to send in your team, reinforce the perimeter. I want men on the first floor in case this thing goes hot.

Castle: Got it.

[Jack prepares to go in.]

Jack (to Audrey): I’ll be right back.

[Jack gets inside the car.]

Jack (to driver): Go, go.

------------------------

[Driscoll briefs Heller on the raid.]

Driscoll: That was our field agent from the Rockland building. Your daughter’s with him now. She’s safe.

Heller: I don’t want her anywhere near harm’s way.

Driscoll: She won’t be, sir.

[Via videophone, Heller and Driscoll apprise the President of the situation.]

Keeler: I understand we’re closing in on the override.

Heller: We hope so, sir. We believe we found where the terrorists have it.

Keeler: Which is where?

Heller: In an office building in LA.

Driscoll: We believe the terrorists are either associated with one of the tenants or they’ve created a corporation and hiding behind it.

Keeler: How is CTU proceeding?

Driscoll: We have teams converging. Once we find the override, we have to use it to reprogram the reactors manually.

Keeler: Will there be enough time to reprogram?

Driscoll: Our people will be ready, sir, once we find it.

Keeler: All right. I don’t have to remind both of you of the consequences if we fail.

Heller: Everyone here understands what’s at stake, sir.

[Keeler shuts of the video feed. The intercom rings.]

Woman: Excuse me, Ms. Driscoll. Doctor Sanford’s on line 2.

Driscoll: Excuse me, sir.

Heller: I’ll meet you on the floor.

[Heller leaves the conference room. Erin takes the call from the doctor.]

Driscoll: Yes, Doctor?

Doctor Sanford: I’m sorry to bother you, but Maya’s acting out again.

Driscoll: What is she doing?

Doctor Sanford: She’s being abusive to my staff. She’s broken a few things. She doesn’t settle down. I’m gonna have to move her to a private hospital. We’re just not equipped to handle a patient like Maya.

Driscoll: All right. Don’t do anything. I’ll be right there.

[Driscoll heads toward the clinic.]

Driscoll: Sarah.

Sarah: Excuse me.

Driscoll: Is Edgar still online with NRC?

Sarah: Yes.

Driscoll: Find any alternate ways to stop the meltdowns?

Sarah: Not without the override, no.

Driscoll: What’s happening at the Rockland building?

Sarah: Castle just called in. His teams are spread out on the perimeter.

Driscoll: What about Curtis?

Sarah: He’s about to meet up with Jack inside the building.

Driscoll: Where are you monitoring?

Sarah: Station 3.

Driscoll: All right. I’ll be there in a few minutes. Make sure everything’s ready in comm if Jack and Curtis get their hands on the override.

Sarah: OK.

[At the clinic, Maya is out of control.]

Maya: You’re a cruel person, do you know that?

Nurse: Maya. Maya, please. This is a restricted area. You have to stay in your bed.

Maya: Stay in my bed? What am I, a baby?

[Driscoll arrives at the clinic.]

Driscoll: Maya!

Maya: What do you want, mother?

Driscoll: Don’t! Please, don’t treat these people disrespectfully.

Maya: Please, don’t tell me what to do!

Driscoll: I’ll stop telling you what to do when you stop behaving like a child.

Maya: What?

Driscoll: You heard me. There are other people in this world besides you, and they have problems too. Now, are you gonna get a grip on yourself or am I gonna have to call security and have them restrain you?

Maya: You’re pathetic, you know that?

Driscoll: I will not allow you to talk to me like this! I will not!

Maya: What are you gonna do about it?

[Maya starts to cry.]

Maya: I… I just wanna get out of here, Mommy.

Driscoll: And I will take you home, but I have something I have to finish first.

Maya: No…

Driscoll: OK? Are we clear?

Maya: Yeah.

Driscoll: Good. That’s my girl.

[Driscoll leaves the clinic.]

------------------------

[Jack and a team of agents ride the elevator up and meet Curtis.]

Jack: We’ve got a man down. Take the wall.

[Jack sees Curtis.]

Jack: Are you OK?

Curtis: Yeah. I overheard a phone conversation between Marwan and one of his men. We have less than 15 minutes.

Castle: How many are still alive?

Curtis: I’m not sure, but at least four.

Jack: Have your men secure the floor. Curtis and I are going after the override. Which way?

Curtis: This way.

Castle: What about backup?

Jack: No backup. We can’t let Marwan know we’re coming. What’s upstairs?

Curtis: IDS status systems. My guess is Marwan’s cell inserted a sleeper into the company.

Jack: He must have used their servers to download the virus into the nuclear power plants.

Curtis: By putting it back on IDS hardware.

Jack: Yeah. Take the door.

Curtis: All right. Clear.

[Jack and Curtis go up the stairs to IDS. A woman gets out of the office. They warn her.]

Jack: Step away from the door, Ma’am.

Curtis: I need you to exit the building. It’s an emergency.

Jack: You’re ready?

Curtis: Yeah.

Jack: Let’s go.

[Jack and Curtis enter the office to find a sea of cubicles and workers. They have no idea which one is Marwan.]

Curtis: Did we get a description on him?

Jack: No.

Curtis: He could be anyone.

------------------------

[Jack and Curtis attempt to blend in on the busy floor as they search for Marwan. Jack sees a likely suspect and motions to Curtis. They move in. The phone in the man’s workstation rings. The guy is merely playing solitaire on his computer.]

Man: What’s up? What’s going on?

[Jack sees this and signals Curtis not to move in on him. Outside, a CTU agent spots Ali.]

Agent: Hold it!

[Ali sees the CTU agents on his floor and he rushes out. He quickly calls Marwan.]

Marwan: Yes?

Ali: Marwan, it’s Ali. We’ve been discovered.

[The agents run after Ali and fire. Marwan hears the gunshots over the phone.]

Marwan: Ali?

Solarz: Make sure all the exits are covered on the work floors.

Castle: Roger that. Last man down.

[Marwan grabs his gun, and looks around suspiciously. Jack notices this, and he approaches Marwan’s desk.

Jack: Curtis.

[Marwan sees this and fires his gun in the air. The office workers scream and flee. Marwan runs out.]

Jack: Stay down!

Curtis: Stay down! Stay down! Get out of the way! Stay where you are!

Jack: Stay down!

Curtis: I got the suspect!

Jack: You got him?

Curtis: No! 

[Curtis notices the override.]

Curtis: Jack, I have the override!

Jack: Secure it! Call CTU now! Now!

[Jack notices Marwan running off.]

Jack: I got him!

[Jack takes off after Marwan. Curtis calls CTU.]

Driscoll: Driscoll.

Curtis: Erin, it’s Curtis. I have the override. Put Edgar on.

Driscoll: Edgar! Line 1, it’s Curtis. He has the override.

Edgar: This is Edgar Stiles. Is the override logged in?

Curtis: Yes.

Edgar: Send it to channel 11.

Curtis: I can’t.

Edgar: What do you mean, “You can’t”?

Curtis: All the fields are right-protected.

Edgar: That’s not supposed to be. If you are directly plugged into the override, you should be able to do anything you want.

Curtis: I’m telling you, it’s locked up. What do you want me to do?

Agent: Ms. Driscoll, the clinic just called.

Driscoll: Tell them they’re gonna have to wait.

Agent: They said it was…

Driscoll: Tell them! Edgar, we’re out of time. If you’re gonna do something, do it now.

Edgar: Marwan was an engineer on the project. He must have modified the override to do this.

Sarah: The NRC screen is showing the meltdown stages already beginning.

Driscoll: Edgar, do something.

Edgar: Curtis, there must be a hot key.

Curtis: Yeah, there’s a lot of keys, Edgar. I can’t just try around the combinations. It’ll take too long.

Edgar: Press the function keys one at a time. The status line on the bottom will light up when you get to an active one.

Curtis: F5.

Edgar: Good. Hold it down and press Escape.

Curtis: Nothing.

Edgar: Try F5, Shift, Escape.

Curtis: OK, responding.

Edgar: Good. Set it to channel 11. Hurry up.

Sarah: Edgar, now they have three plants in meltdown initiation.

[Edgar does what he can on his end.]

Driscoll: Did you get it?

Edgar: I hope so.

[The reactors finally respond and begin to retreat on meltdowns.]

Curtis: It’s starting to respond.

Edgar: Yes! Yes!

Sarah: The temperature is dropping in all remaining power plants.

Curtis: Good work.

Heller: Congratulations, Edgar.

[Heller and the CTU staff cheer for Edgar.]

Heller: Great work, Erin.

Driscoll: Thank you, sir. Excuse me.

[Driscoll hurries to the clinic.]

Driscoll: Maya? Where is she? Maya?

[Driscoll finds Maya dead on the ground. Blood seeps from Maya’s wrists and a broken piece of mirror is in her hands.]

Driscoll: Oh, baby… Oh…

[Driscoll cries in grief and sorrow.]

------------------------

[Heller notifies the President that CTU stopped the meltdown.]

Heller: It’s over, sir. We’ve stopped the meltdown.

Man: Congratulations, Mr. President.

------------------------

[Jack pursues Marwan throughout the hallways, and he radios the agents.]

Jack: This is Bauer. We got a man down. Marwan is in the northwest stairwell headed to ground level. Does anybody read me?

Castle: Jack, it’s Castle. I’ll get a man up there.

[Jack finds a CTU agent’s body on the ground. The man’s uniform has been removed.]

Jack: Son of a bitch.

[Jack radios to the team.]

Jack: All CTU agents, Marwan is impersonating a CTU officer. I repeat: the suspect is impersonating a CTU officer.

[Solarz turns to the agent behind him, but it is Marwan wearing the helmet and vest. Marwan shoots Solarz.]

Jack: Solarz, do you read me? Solarz, do you read me? 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Jack: There are five nuclear power plants ready to melt down. All I care about right now is making sure that that doesn’t happen. Your name is on a lease in a building that was used by the terrorists to plan today’s attack. That makes you a prime suspect.

Paul: I don’t know anything about some building in Chatsworth.

Jack: I don’t believe you.

Audrey: Jack, please don’t.

Paul: I don’t… I don’t know the specific building you’re talking about. I… I can find out.

Jack: How?

Paul: My corporate records are stored on my laptop. Yeah, here it is, it’s Harris Barnes.

------------------------

Sarah: Interpol back-traced the name and provided a list of four nationals who’ve used it in the past.

Jack: Who used it most recently?

Sarah: A man named Habib Marwan.

Jack: OK. We need to find him.

Sarah: I think we already have.

------------------------

Jack: Are you OK?

Curtis: Yeah. I overheard a phone conversation between Marwan and one of his men. We have less than 15 minutes.

Jack: Have your men secure the floor. Curtis and I are going after the override.

------------------------

Jack: Stay down! Stay down! Marwan is impersonating a CTU officer. I repeat: the suspect is impersonating a CTU officer.

------------------------

Driscoll: Edgar! Line 1, it’s Curtis. He has the override.

Edgar: Is the override logged in?

Curtis: Yes.

Edgar: Good. Send it to channel 11. Hurry up.

Curtis: It’s starting to respond. It’s working, Edgar.

Edgar: Yes! Yes!

Sarah: The temperature is dropping in all remaining power plants.

Heller: Congratulations, Edgar.

------------------------

Nurse: Ms. Driscoll, it’s about your daughter, Maya. You better go down to the clinic right away.

Driscoll: Maya? Oh! Oh, baby… No!

------------------------

The following takes place between 6:00 P.M. and 7:00 P.M.

Edgar: Curtis, I got some new Intel.

Curtis: What is it?

Edgar: We found out that the man you’re looking for, Habib Marwan, works for McLennan Forster.

Curtis: But they’re the ones that made the override. How’s that possible?

Edgar: He’s working under the alias, Harris Barnes. They had no reason to suspect him because his clearance has checked out. He must have positioned himself inside the company so he can use their technology.

Curtis: Call McLennan Forster. Tell them to freeze Marwan’s personal files.

Edgar: I did. You want me to send a comm team over?

Curtis: No. We’re closer. Jack and I’ll go.

Edgar: Sure.

[Curtis hangs up.]

Jack: OK, we know Marwan was in the building within the last 15 minutes. I want two tac perimeters set up here, roadblocks in every direction.

Castle: Got it.

Jack: OK.

Curtis: Jack, I just got off with CTU. It turns out this guy Marwan was working for McLennan Forster under an alias, Harris Barnes. I told CTU we’d check it out.

Jack: OK. I’ll check it out. I want you to take Paul and Audrey back to CTU. I’m gonna be reachable on my cell. Castle’ll stay in charge here. If this guy is still in the area, our teams will pick him up. Curtis is gonna take you both back to CTU.

Audrey: What about you?

Jack: I have to go to McLennan Forster.

Paul: Why there?

Jack: It turns out the man we’re looking for works there.

Paul: Need to get into their computer system?

Jack: Yeah.

Paul: OK. I’ll go with you.

Jack: Why?

Paul: My company sold them their IT system. I used to be a systems analyst. I designed their databases in code of a military security.

Jack: McLennan Forster has personnel on board. They’re gonna help us get into his files.

Paul: Yeah, well, I can get you in backdoors those people don’t even know about.

Jack: Fine. You go with me. Audrey, I want you to stay with Curtis. I’ll be on my cell. Let’s go.

------------------------

[The doctor is about to put Maya’s body in a body bag.]

Driscoll: Stop.

[The doctor leaves Driscoll alone with her daughters body.]

Driscoll: Goodbye, babygirl.

------------------------

Sarah (over the phone): OK. I’ll let everyone here know. Yeah. Thanks, Matt.

Edgar: Let everyone know what?

Sarah: Driscoll’s daughter committed suicide in our clinic.

Edgar: Committed suicide? How did she do that?

Sarah: She slit her wrists.

Edgar: It doesn’t make any sense. She was being watched.

Sarah: I don’t know, Edgar, I wasn’t there!

Edgar: I was just thinking out loud. You don’t have to be so hostile.

[Sarah goes over to Heller in the conference room.]

Sarah: Excuse me, Mr. Secretary.

Heller: Where’s Driscoll? The President’s about to come on.

Sarah: Something terrible just happened, sir.

Heller: What’s that?

Sarah: Ms. Driscoll’s daughter, Maya, committed suicide in out clinic about 15 minutes ago. Apparently, the doctor walked in and she…

[Sarah and Heller notice Driscoll standing at the door.]

Heller: Erin. Sarah just told me. I am so sorry.

[Heller hugs Driscoll.]

Driscoll: Thank you, sir. Go back to the floor, Sarah.

Sarah: Yes, Ma’am.

Heller: Erin, you do not need to be here.

Driscoll: Where should I be, sir? We’re still in crisis mode. Habib Marwan is still out there and we have no idea how many other cells he might be trying to activate.

Heller: For God’s sakes, Erin.

Driscoll: Our systems are in a transition state that require my constant attention. I’m not in denial about my daughter’s death, nor am I in shock. I can perform my duties until you find a suitable replacement for me.

[The intercom rings.]

William: Secretary Heller, Ms. Driscoll. The President’s coming on now.

Driscoll: Thank you, William.

Keeler: Jim, Erin. First, I wanna express my deep gratitude for what you’ve accomplished so far today. Resting back control of the override has saved thousands of American lives. The latest NRC report is that the San Gabriel Island meltdown is now under control.

Heller: That’s great news, Mr. President, but has your staff informed you that we still have a few problems to deal with?

Keeler: Yes, and that’s why I’m calling. I understand the man responsible for today’s attack is still at large.

Heller: Yes, sir, he is. His name is Habib Marwan. He’s been a long-term employee of a major Defense Contractor.

Keeler: Yes, I heard. McLennan Forster. This Habib Marwan. Do you believe that the melting down of the reactors was his end game, or do you think he’s planning something else?

Heller: As long as he’s still out there, we have to assume it’s not over.

Keeler: Erin, exactly where are we on apprehending this man?

Driscoll: All our resources are being deployed to that in right now, Mr. President. I’ll have more information in a few minutes, once I’ve been briefed by my staff, but we know Marwan’s in Los Angeles, and we will find him.

------------------------

[Marwan sheds the CTU gear and escapes onto a city bus.]

------------------------

[In the staff briefing, Edgar pulls up the McLennan-Forster employment file for Marwan.]

Edgar: Using the alias Harris Barnes, Marwan worked at McLennan Forster for the last two years as a Senior Engineer. His most recent project there was the design and the development of the override.

Driscoll: And before that?

Tony: Well, here’s a timeline we’ve pieced together; He went to graduate school in England, then worked for several years for a company outside of London. Now, it’s not clear whether he was radicalized there or before then, but the one thing we do know is that from the day he arrived in the US, everything he did was about today.

Driscoll: What were his other duties at McLennan Forster?

Sarah: We don’t know yet. We’re taking a first pass at his records now. I’m looking into the possibility that he may have used McLennan Forster as a base to recruit his sleeper cells.

Tony: And that brings up another issue. At the present time, we have over 80 percent of field personnel looking for Marwan. I’m just wondering if we shouldn’t divert a part of that manpower trying to route out some of his other cells.

[Driscoll is distracted and he doesn’t say anything.]

Tony: Erin?

Driscoll: I’m sorry, Tony. What was the question?

Tony: Do you think we should reduce the field load on Marwan? How about we take some of our people off Marwan, but still keep a floor of 60 percent looking for him? Would that work?

Driscoll: Yes. That would work.

Tony: OK.

[Driscoll walks out of the meeting.]

Tony: Edgar, I want you to relocate personnel.

Edgar: Based on what?

Tony: Keep the people who have come in the last six hours working on Marwan. I want our most alert people focused on him.

Sarah: Are we gonna ignore what just happened here?

Edgar: What do you mean?

Tony: She’s talking about Erin Driscoll.

Sarah: She can’t focus. She shouldn’t be running this place.

Edgar: Her daughter died a few minutes ago. Give her a little more time.

Sarah: More time? Edgar, since when do we have the luxury of time?

Edgar: She’s not stupid, Sarah. She knows what’s at stake here.

Tony: You’re right, Sarah. We don’t have the luxury of time. We have work to do, and our work does not include deciding Erin Driscoll’s fate.

Sarah: I think we have to tell Secretary Heller.

Tony: No, we don’t. Not yet. Now, let’s get back on it.

------------------------

[Curtis and Audrey arrive at CTU. Audrey’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Hey, it’s me. Where are you?

Audrey: Curtis and I just arrived at CTU.

Jack: Listen, I want you to get a security detail and go back to the hotel and just get some rest.

Audrey: Jack, I can’t leave, not now. My father still needs my help. Are you at McLennan Forster yet?

Jack: Almost.

Audrey: Jack, can you make me a promise?

Jack: What?

Audrey: Take care of Paul. He’s not like you. Please, Jack, promise me that you will look after him.

Jack: Yeah, I will.

Audrey: Thank you.

Jack: Yeah, OK. I’ll talk to you later.

Audrey: All right. Bye.

[They both hang up.]

Paul: Look, uh… I don’t resent you.

Jack: Well, I wouldn’t blame you if you did.

Paul: No, uh… you didn’t steal my wife. We were separated, that’s a fact. But I’m not… gonna let you take her from me.

Jack: I don’t think that’s really up to you. Or me.

Paul: No, maybe it isn’t. But she still has feelings for me. I can hear it in her voice, and I’m gonna fight to keep those feelings alive.

Jack: Paul, you’re gonna have to do what you gotta do.

------------------------

[Tony, Heller and Driscoll discuss the current situation.]

Tony: None of our field agents at the Rockland building have been able to pick up a thread on Marwan. It’s starting to look like he might have escaped, so I think we have to assume that the first thing he’s gonna try to do is activate some of his sleeper cells.

Heller: I agree. They’ll most likely launch a strike right away; create fear that we’re still vulnerable.

Driscoll: You’ll have to excuse me, I’m not felling very well.

[Driscoll gets up to leave the room, but faints. Tony grabs her before she falls.]

Heller: Erin. Sit down.

Tony: Are you all right?

[Tony dials the clinic.]

Nurse: Clinic.

Tony: Get me medical up here right away. Erin Driscoll needs assistance.

Nurse: Yes, sir.

Driscoll: No, I’m… fine. I don’t need anybody. I just got a little light-headed for a second there.

[A medic arrives at the office.]

Medic: Ms. Driscoll.

Driscoll: No, I don’t need you here. It’s all right. I was dizzy, but I… I feel better.

Heller: We’ll take a break, get something to eat. Take Ms. Driscoll down and get her some food. I can handle the situation here while you rest. Come on.

Driscoll: All right. That’s probably a good idea.

[Driscoll leaves with the medic.]

Heller: She’s gonna need to be relieved of duty. Contact Division. Alert them to the situation and tell them to send someone.

Tony: I ran this office for two years. I could take over for Erin on a provisional basis.

Heller: Forget for the moment that you technically don’t even work here. You’ve been away quite a while. You’re not fluent with the new systems.

Tony: With all due respect, sir, you don’t need a programmer. What you need is a decision-maker who knows how to stack up protocols.

Heller: And you can do that?

Tony: Yes, sir, I can.

Heller: Fine. Affective immediately, you’re the Interim Director of CTU Los Angeles under my authority. I still wanna contact District; have them send someone on a more permanent basis.

Tony: I understand, sir.

------------------------

Curtis: Sarah, do you have the abstract on McLennan Forster yet?

Sarah: One second. I’m finishing it now. All right. McLennan Forster was a principal contractor in the design of the override. And Marwan – under the alias of Harris Barnes – had full security access on that project.

Curtis: And you ran FBI checks on the others that were involved in the project?

Sarah: Yes. They came up clean.

Curtis: So would anyone of the terrorists had inside access to a defense contractor?

Sarah: Actually, more than that, Curtis. McLennan Forster, in addition to being a weapons manufacturer, trains their clients to use those weapons.

Curtis: International clients?

Sarah: Yes. Several countries in the Balkans, Asia and the Middle East. This is a massive situation. When Jack gets to McLennan Forster, he’s gonna have to get into those company records and find out exactly who Marwan dealt with.

Curtis: It’s not gonna be that easy. This reflects on the company. They’ll be reluctant to give up an incriminating information, even if Marwan were the only guilty party.

------------------------

[McLennan Forster CEO Gene McLennan is briefed by another executive, John Reiss.]

Reiss: Mr. McLennan, we need to talk seriously before CTU gets here.

McLennan: What’s the problem?

Reiss: It was more than a coincidence that one of our products, the override, was stolen and used in today’s terrorist attack.

McLennan: What do you mean, “more than a coincidence”?

Reiss: The entire operation, everything from Secretary Heller’s kidnapping to the meltdown of San Gabriel Island was organized by one of our own employees.

McLennan: What are you talking about?

Reiss: One of our engineers, a man who we now know is a terrorist named Habib Marwan, was running his own covert organization from within our company.

McLennan: When did you find this out?

Reiss: A couple of minutes ago they called and said that one of our employees, Harris Barnes, was actually Habib Marwan.

McLennan: Who else knows about this?

Reiss: Just the two of us… and Conlon.

------------------------

[The Head of Security, Dave Conlon, greets Jack and Paul as they arrive at McLennan Forster headquarters.]

Conlon: Gentlemen. I’m Dave Conlon, the Head of Internal Security.

Jack: Jack Bauer, CTU. This is Paul Raines.

Conlon: Jack, Paul. How can I help you?

Jack: I need to speak with your CEO, Gene McLennan.

Conlon: Well, Gene’s in a meeting with a couple of directors right now and he asked me to assist you. I have access to everything in the building.

Jack: I’m sorry, but maybe my office didn’t make itself clear. This is a matter of national security. I need to speak with Mr. McLennan now.

Conlon: I understand. Let me see what I can do.

[Conlon leaves. Jack becomes suspicious.]

Paul: What’s the matter?

Jack: Something’s not right. 

------------------------

McLennan: John, I’m not gonna keep this a secret. We have to let the government know. Right away.

Reiss: Sir, if you do this it will, with a hundred percent certainty, be the end of this company. Now, you built McLennan Forster from scratch. Everything you have is tied up in it. If this comes out, your name will be synonymous with what happened today – terrorism, treason…

McLennan: Well, what do you want me to do, John? Lie to the government?

Reiss: Look, if I knew 24 hours ago what I know now, I would have done whatever it took to stop today’s attack. But there’s nothing we can do now, except protect ourselves and keep this company from going under, which it will do if CTU finds out the truth about Marwan.

McLennan: John, CTU will soup in on the file. They will find out the truth.

Reiss: No, they won’t, Gene. I promise you. Conlon and I can deal with this, if you let us.

McLennan: I don’t like the sound of this.

Reiss: Mr. McLennan, we implicitly violated national security procedure. This could mean prison time. We’ve got to protect ourselves.

------------------------

[Conlon takes Jack and Paul into McLennan’s office.]

Conlon: Did you get the latest casualty figures of the San Gabriel Island?

Jack: No, not yet.

Paul: Which version of the Datalink security system are you currently running?

Conlon: Excuse me?

Paul: One of my companies produces fieldwork for Datalink. They’re stored on your system. You’re 3.4 or 3.5?

Conlon: Uh… 3.5. Will that work for you?

Paul: Yeah. Thanks.

[Conlon, Jack and Paul enter McLennan’s office.]

Reiss: Dave, com on in. John Reiss, Chief Technology Officer.

Jack: That’s right, you helped us identify the override earlier. Jack Bauer.

Reiss: It’s good to meet you in person.

McLennan: And I’m Gene McLennan. I’m, uh… sorry I was delayed.

Jack: Thank you for your time, sir.

McLennan: So how can I help CTU?

Jack: One of your employees, a Harris Barnes, is actually Habib Marwan, one of the terrorists responsible for today’s attack and the theft of the override device. We need you to take your IT systems offline, so Paul can look into his directory.

McLennan: We can do that, can’t we, John?

Reiss: Absolutely. Follow me.

Jack: Thank you, sir.

McLennan: Certainly.

------------------------

[Heller comforts Driscoll.]

Heller: Maybe you should go home.

Driscoll: I’m afraid to.

Heller: When my wife Susan died, I didn’t deal with it at all. Actually, I went to work the next day. I remember thinking to myself, “that’s life. Quit feeling sorry for yourself. Get over it, get on with it.” A few weeks later, I answered a call from an old friend of Susan’s who did not know she had died. And when I heard myself saying “Susan has passed away”, when I actually said those words, it hit me. All the pain I was trying to shut out just overwhelmed me. Erin, you can’t keep it inside. You cry, you blame God, you blame yourself, and then you cry some more. And all the while you let your friends help you. It’s pretty simple. Very painful. And I am so, so sorry for you.

[Audrey comes in the room.]

Audrey: Dad, I just wanted… Oh, um… I… I’m sorry, I… I just wanted to let you know that I was back.

[Audrey leaves.]

Driscoll: I will go home. You should go and make sure your daughter’s OK.

Heller: If you need me, I’ll be on the floor.

[Heller leaves and heads for the floor.]

Curtis: Excuse me, sir. Tony just told me you put him in charge of CTU.

Heller: That’s correct.

Curtis: That doesn’t make any sense. He just got reinstated and I’m second in command.

Heller: Tony had Erin’s job for two years. He has experience running the CTU, you don’t.

Curtis: With all due respect, Mr. Secretary…

Heller: Relax, Curtis. It’s provisional till District finds someone else.

Curtis: For the record, I don’t like it.

Heller: What did you hear from Bauer?

Tony: He just arrived at McLennan Forster a few minute ago. He’s gonna call into comm if he picks any threads there.

------------------------

[Reiss leads Jack and Paul to Marwan’s office. Conlon and McLennan watch this from a surveillance monitor.]

Reiss: OK, that was Marwan’s workstation in the corner. His computer is tied into the engineering subnet.

Paul: What about the rest of the network? Did he get into it from his account?

Reiss: Yeah, I think there’s a way to do that. All right, you got two windows; one shows you his files in the system and the other will get you outside the subnet.

Paul: Thanks.

Reiss: Let me know if you need anything.

Jack: Thanks for your help.

McLennan: This guy looks like he knows his way around our system.

Conlon: Don’t worry, I’d be able to control things from here. He won’t find a thing.

Paul: Marwan purged a lot of files.

Jack: When?

Paul: Deletion dates aren’t coming up.

Jack: That means they could have been deleted today.

Paul: Marwan wasn’t here today. He was at Rockland with the override.

Jack: Maybe someone else deleted the files. There.

Paul: All right. Let me see what I can find.

[Reiss phones Conlon.]

Conlon: Yeah?

Reiss: I had to open up a socket for him.

Conlon: I can see it.

Reiss: You think he’ll be able to find anything?

Conlon: As long as I can see where he’s looking and stay ahead of him, I should be able to delete the incriminating files.

Reiss: All right. I’m coming up.

[Reiss hangs up.]

McLennan: What if you can’t stay ahead of him? What happens then?

Conlon: There are other options.

McLennan: What other options?

Conlon: We’ll set off an EMP.

McLennan: A pulse bomb? Are you out of your mind? It’ll destroy every piece of hardware we have in this building. It’ll cripple us electronically.

Conlon: That’s the point.

------------------------

[Driscoll hands over her files and pass codes to Tony.]

Driscoll: This is the handover sequence for comm. I’d have the default password in place. You can reset it as soon as we’re done here.

Tony: All right.

Driscoll: Here are all the access codes to CTU and Division.

Tony: Thanks.

Driscoll: If any of my personal stuff gets in your way, you just have someone box them and put them into storage.

Tony: All right.

[Driscoll takes her daughter’s photo and puts it in her bag.]

Driscoll: If you need anything, ask Curtis. And if he can’t help you, you can always call me at home.

Tony: Thanks.

[Driscoll leaves CTU.]

------------------------

[Tony addresses the CTU staff.]

Tony: Could I have everybody’s attention please? By now you all know that I’ve taken over Erin Driscoll’s command on a purely provisional basis. All protocols remain the same, but I want updates from all department heads every 15 minutes. Other than that, I’m just here to support you. So let’s get back to work.

[Tony approaches Edgar.]

Tony: Did you hear from Jack?

Edgar: He and Paul Raines are looking for Marwan’s files now.

Tony: Any promising leads?

Edgar: Nothing yet.

Tony: All right. Look, Edgar. Before Erin left, she told me the one person I should rely on is you.

Edgar: She said that?

Tony: Yes, she did. So if anything comes across your desk you think is important, I want you to bring it to me directly, all right?

Edgar: You got it.

Tony: All right. Thanks.

[Tony leaves and Curtis approaches Edgar.]

Curtis: Edgar. Have you scanned all the satellite imagery around the Rockland building?

Edgar: Yeah. Everything since the takedown of the override.

Curtis: All right. I want you to try a different search of channels on that satellite.

Edgar: Manually?

Curtis: Yeah. That’s the only way we can be sure to see it all.

Edgar: You’re gonna have to talk to Tony about that. I’m supposed to be backing up Jack and Paul at McLennan Forster.

Curtis: Put somebody else on that. This is more important.

Tony: What’s more important?

Curtis: We’ve got 75 percent of our people on McLennan Forster. I need Edgar to help me find a thread on Marwan.

Tony: No, we don’t have much of a chance to finding anything on Marwan by satellite. Our best chance of picking up a thread is through those files at McLennan Forster. Stay on that.

Curtis: We can’t afford one security grade analyst run over imagery?

Tony: Yeah, one, but not Edgar. Put somebody else on that.

Curtis: Tony. Are we trying to accomplish the same thing here, or is this about you establishing position?

Tony: I don’t have to establish position, I’ve already got it. Now, what do you say we stop wasting time arm-wrestling here? I respect your opinion, but we’re gonna disagree from time to time and when we do, we’re gonna do it my way.

Curtis: Fine. But I suggest you put more manpower into a data search for Marwan.

Tony: All right. Grab a couple of people from image-processing. Work the satellites with them. Curtis. Don’t worry. I’m gonna be out of here when this crisis is over, but in the meantime, I want the same thing you do. I wanna find Habib Marwan, all right?

------------------------

[Marwan waits in a dark alley as a car pulls up. A man named Yosik gets out of the car.]

Yosik: Is everything all right? I heard you had a problem.

Marwan: CTU got to the override before the other nuclear plants melted down.

Yosik: Well, at least you’re safe.

Marwan: For now. But they know who I am. They’ll be tracking me with everything they’ve got.

Yosik: Does that affect our scheduling?

Marwan: It doesn’t. Stay on task. Make sure everything at the air force base is ready when I give the order.

Yosik: I checked in with everyone as of ten minutes ago. We’re gonna make this thing happen, Habib.

Marwan: Now, remember - when you’re done, get in touch with Praudo. He’ll get you out of the country.

Yosik: And you?

[Marwan doesn’t say anything. The men hug.]

Marwan: Go.

[Yosik gets inside the car and drives away.] 

------------------------

[Paul uses backdoors built by the software designers to rebuild the deleted files from the empty directories.]

Paul: Good.

Jack: What?

Paul: I can rebuild the files from these empty directories.

Conlon: Dammit.

Reiss: What’s he doing?

Conlon: He’s trying to rebuild the files I deleted.

Reiss: How can he do that?

Conlon: I don’t know. It’s not a documented function of the system. He must be using some hook-lift embedded designer.

McLennan: They’re gonna find evidence we sold arms to terrorists.

Conlon: Not necessarily. The pulse bomb – we have to use it. Now.

[Conlon dials the phone.]

Technician: Research.

Conlon: Set it off.

Technician: Sir, we weren’t scheduled for a test today.

Conlon: This isn’t a test. Open up the safety chamber and set it off now.

Technician: Yes, sir.

McLennan: If we set off this EMP, CTU will know we’re trying to hide something.

Reiss: Not necessarily. Marwan’s their suspect. They’ll assume he was behind it.

McLennan: What about the damage it’ll do to the rest of the infrastructure?

Conlon: A lot better than destroying the entire company. It’ll take some time, but we can rebuild.

[The technician activates the EMP. He calls to notify Reiss.]

Reiss: Yeah?

Technician: The EMP has been activated, sir. The shield doors are open.

Reiss: OK, good. It’s been activated. It’ll take ten minutes to charge up before it’s released.

------------------------

[Sarah notices that their phone taps at McLennan-Forster are not working.]

Sarah: Edgar.

Edgar: What?

Sarah: The phone taps that you asked me to put in place at McLennan Forster aren’t holding.

Edgar: What do you mean, “Not holding”?

Sarah: The connection keeps drifting. I have to reset the patterns. Is there a problem on our end?

Edgar: Check their power supply. It could be their PBX.

Sarah: Oh, my God. Look at this thing. The amplitude’s flocculating like crazy.

Edgar: I thought you checked that before you set the taps.

Sarah: I did. It was fine then.

Edgar: Let me call Jack.

[Edgar tries to call Jack.]

Message on phone: The cellular costumer is out of range.

Edgar: That’s weird. “Costumer out of range”?

[Edgar calls McLennan Forster.]

Woman: McLennan Forster.

Edgar: Yes, I need to speak with Jack Bauer. He’s a CTU agent working in Harris Barnes’ office.

Woman: I’ll transfer you. Hold on one moment.

Edgar: Hello? Hello?

Tony: What’s going on?

[Edgar hangs up.]

Edgar: It’s strange. All cell and land lines around McLennan Forster are out.

Tony: Can we use their network to message him?

Edgar: Yes. So far, the computers haven’t been affected.

Tony: All right. Open up a window for me, would you?

[Tony types a message to Jack over the system. Jack and Paul see the message.]

{Tony’s message: Jack, are you there? Tony.}

Paul: What the hell is this?

Jack: I don’t know.

[Jack tries to call CTU but finds that his phones are all down.]

Jack: Something’s wrong. I gotta respond. Can you pipe that window over to this computer?

Paul: Yeah, just give me an internet address.

Jack: 6EFF3239.

[Paul opens a socket for Jack to respond to the message.]

{Jack’s message: I’m here. Radio frequency is out.}

{Tony’s message: Outside your building too.}

Paul: I’ve almost got those files rebuilt.

{Jack’s message: Fixed radius?}

Tony: Sarah, do we have any data points outside that building?

Sarah: I’m online with the phone company now. They’re getting complaints as far as eight blocks from the McLennan Forster building.

{Tony’s message: No. It’s growing.}

Jack: Have you still got a connection?

Paul: Yeah, I got it. Look at this.

Jack: Son of a bitch, it’s encrypted. That’s it, print it out, now. Now!

Conlon: Dammit. They’ve got something.

Reiss: What?

Conlon: I can’t read it. How much longer till this thing goes off?

Reiss: Any second now. We should be fine.

Conlon: We’re not fine, he’s printing it.

McLennan: What are you going to do now?

Conlon: Take care of it.

[Conlon runs out.]

Jack: I don’t believe this. We’re dealing with an EMP. McLennan Forster were leading in the way of developing a non-lethal weapon for the military.

Paul: What is it?

Jack: An electro-magnetic pulse bomb. Once it goes off, everything within its radius that has electrical components gets fried. Lights, cars, computers – every piece of electronic data just disappears, vanishes forever.

Paul: How long have we got?

Jack: I don’t know. Its compositors are still charging. Come on.

Paul: The printer’s worming up.

[Jack writes another message to Tony.]

{Jack’s message: It’s an EMP. We found something and they must be on to us.}

{Tony’s message: We know. Trying to identify source.}

Tony: Sarah, do we have any choppers in that area?

Sarah: Yeah, one.

Tony: If that chopper’s in the area when the EMP goes off, it’s gonna knock out its whole electrical system and that chopper’s going down. Get them out of the area, now. Edgar, where’s this coming from?

Edgar: McLennan Forster. I’m trying to get a position now.

Sarah: CTU-3, do you hear me? CTU-3, do you copy?

Paul: All right, this is coming through.

[Jack gets another message from Tony.]

{Tony’s message: EMP is on first floor. Room 12.}

Jack: OK, they found it. I’m gonna try and stop it. If I don’t, I want you to take the hard copy, try to meet me in the front of the building.

[Jack runs out to find it. Reiss sees this from the surveillance feed.]

Reiss: Dave, Bauer ran out. He must have found out about the EMP.

Conlon (over radio): The CTU agent’s heading out toward you. Don’t let him anywhere near it.

[Conlon arrives in the office.]

Paul: Mr. Conlon. Is everything all right?

Conlon: As you can see, we’re having some problems with the electricity.

Paul: Jack just went to check it out.

Conlon: I saw you were printing something.

Paul: How’d you know that?

Conlon: Well, we were searching the systems the same time you were trying to help you guys out. Mind if I take a look?

Paul: Sure. It’s uh… just in the printer.

[The printer is empty. Paul runs with the printouts. Conlon pulls out his gun and chases after him. Paul hides in a dark office, and Conlon doesn’t see him.]

Man (over radio): Conlon, this is Barnett. Do you copy?

Conlon (over radio): Yeah.

Man (over radio): I’m moving in three.

Conlon (over radio): All right.

[Jack comes upon the room where the EMP is and knocks out the three guards keeping watch. Jack takes one of their pass cards and enters the EMP room.]

[He sees a heavy metal door begin to slowly close the safety chamber housing the EMP bomb.]

Jack: Oh, my God. It’s not gonna stop.

[Jack uses all his strength to try to prevent it from shutting. Paul hides out by a window, where only the moonlight from outside illuminates him. He notices the lights from the city skyline begin to black out. Jack grabs a flashlight from one of the guards and tries to find his way out of the building. Meanwhile, Paul makes it to the front entrance but is stopped by an armed Conlon.]

Conlon: You have nowhere to go now. The doors are locked. Where’s the printout? Where is it? Come on.

------------------------

[Edgar gets word that one of CTU’s choppers just crashed.]

Edgar: One of our choppers are down.

Tony: Send medical in now. Call all field teams outside the perimeter of the blast. We have to find Jack and Paul.

[Tony goes to Heller with an update on the EMP bomb.]

Heller (over the phone): I’ll get back to you. OK. All right.

[Heller hangs up.]

Tony: Sir, we have a problem. Someone set of an EMP blast in the McLennan Forster building. We believe Jack and Paul are still inside.

Heller: I assume that’s a response to our presence there. Someone does not want us to get a hold of Marwan’s files.

Tony: Jack was able to pull some information before the blast, but we don’t know whether it was Marwan or somebody else who set it off.

Sarah (over intercom): Excuse me, sir. Ms. Driscoll’s replacement arrived. She just passed through security.

Heller: Thank you.

Tony: That was fast.

Heller: We got lucky. Division had someone available with the appropriate qualifications and CTU experience.

Tony: I understand.

Heller: Tony, I wanna thank you for filling in, and I’d like you to stick around and assist Ms. Dessler.

Tony: I’m sorry. Who?

Heller: Michelle Dessler. Do you know her?

[Tony turns around. He is shocked to see Michelle walk into CTU.]

Tony: I used to be married to her. 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Driscoll: Here are all the access codes to CTU and Division.

Tony: Thanks.

Driscoll: I’m probably gonna be gone for a while. If you need anything you can always call me at home.

------------------------

Sarah (over intercom): Excuse me, sir. Ms. Driscoll’s replacement arrived.

Heller: Tony, I wanna thank you for filling in, and I’d like you to stick around and assist Ms. Dessler.

Tony: Who?

Heller: Michelle Dessler. Do you know her?

Tony: I used to be married to her.

------------------------

Jack: I have to go to McLennan Forster.

Paul: Why there?

Jack: It turns out the man we’re looking for works there.

Paul: Need to get into their computer system?

Jack: Yeah.

Paul: OK. I’ll go with you.

------------------------

McLennan: So how can I help CTU?

Jack: One of your employees, a Harris Barnes, is actually Habib Marwan, one of the terrorists responsible for today’s attack and the theft of the override device. We need you to take your IT systems offline, so Paul can look into his directory.

------------------------

McLennan: CTU will soup in on those files. They will find out the truth.

Conlon: Dammit.

Reiss: What’s he doing?

Conlon: He’s trying to rebuild the files I deleted.

Paul: Look at this.

Jack: Son of a bitch, it’s encrypted. That’s it, print it out, now. Now!

McLennan: They’re gonna find evidence we sold arms to terrorists.

Conlon: The pulse bomb – we have to use it. Now.

------------------------

Jack: We’re dealing with an EMP. Once it goes off, everything within its radius that has electrical components gets fried. I’m gonna try and stop it. If I don’t, I want you to take the hard copy, try and meet me in the front of the building.

Conlon (over radio): The CTU agent is heading out near you. Don’t let him anywhere near it.

Jack: Oh, my God.

------------------------

The following takes place between 7:00 P.M. and 8:00 P.M.

Curtis (over the phone): Are any electronic devices working in the area?

Agent (over the phone): Only the most basic battery-power devices.

Curtis (over the phone): How many square miles were affected by the blackout?

Agent (over the phone): Approximately eight, including the southeast quadrant of downtown.

Curtis (over the phone): OK. Hold your position until the reading stabilizes.

Agent (over the phone): Copy that.

Audrey: Any word from Jack or Paul?

Curtis: No. Once the pulse bomb went off, we lost all communication with them.

Audrey: What was the last word we heard from them?

Curtis: Jack and Paul found something. It seems that it must have been incriminating to McLennan Forster.

Audrey: So that’s why they set off the EMP, to destroy the evidence.

Curtis: That would be my guess.

Audrey: This doesn’t make sense. The fact that McLennan Forster is taking aggressive action is evidence against them.

Curtis: Yeah, but it’s not proof.

Audrey: Curtis, could Jack or Paul have been injured from the detonation?

Curtis: No. Any EMP damage hits electronics. But it doesn’t mean they’re safe.

------------------------

[Conlon’s guards beat up Paul, who refuses to divulge any information.]

Conlon: We know you printed a document before the EMP detonated. Where is it? It’s up to you. You decide when the pain stops. Call me when he talks.

Guard: Yes, sir.

[Conlon leaves. The men continue beating Paul up. Suddenly, Jack storms in and shoots one of the guards. The other guard takes Paul hostage.]

Guard: Drop the gun or I’ll kill him. I said drop it.

[Paul tilts his head to the side and Jack takes a shot at the man. The man dies.]

Jack: Paul, where is the data printout?

Paul: I hid it in an office down the hallway.

Jack: I know you’re hurt, but we’ve gotta get it and get out of here. Let’s go.

[Jack and Paul go to the office where Paul hid the printout. Conlon walk in the room and sees the dead guards. He doesn’t see Paul and runs out to look for him.]

Paul: It’s here.

Jack: Take a seat. Where is it?

Paul: Bottom drawer, under some folders. I hid it because I thought I might be captured.

[Jack is looking for the printout and finds it.]

Jack: This is it?

Paul: Yeah, it’s encoded. I couldn’t make any sense out of it.

Jack: We need to get it back to CTU.

[Jack takes the document.]

Paul: I don’t think I could hold on much longer.

Jack: You did great. Let’s go.

[Jack helps Paul escape.]

------------------------

[Heller introduces Michelle to the CTU staff as the new CTU Director.]

Heller: For those of you who don’t know, this is Michelle Dessler. She’ll be taking over as acting Director of CTU affective immediately. Tony, I appreciate you carrying the ball until Michelle got here. Why don’t you bring her and everyone else up to speed?

Tony: Yes, sir. Less than an hour ago we discovered that the man responsible for planning today’s attacks, Habib Marwan, has been a long-term employee of McLennan Forster, the third largest Defense Contractor in the country. Now, we know that Marwan’s been using the alias Harris Barnes. What we don’t know yet is how he managed to evade their security checks. Marwan knows we’re looking for him, so he’s probably gone dark, but his association with McLennan Forster has become our primary focus. Jack Bauer and Paul Raines went to the company to inspect his computer files. But as they were doing so, an electro-magnetic pulse bomb was detonated, wiping out the company’s entire database.

Sarah: It also fried every electrical device within an eight-mile radius. Street lights, computers, cars, cell phones – everything.

Michelle: Were Jack and Paul able to find anything before detonation?

Tony: Yeah, but we haven’t been able to contact them since the blast. We have to assume whoever detonated the EMP thinks Jack and Paul found something and wants them eliminated.

Michelle: Have rescue teams been sent into the area?

Tony: Not yet. Once we’ve confirmed that the effects have subsided, we’ll send two teams in with fully functional electronics. The only problem is, until we find Jack and Paul, they’re not gonna be able to do much.

Michelle: We wanna do everything we can to find Jack Bauer and Paul Raines, but the priority is to retrieve any information they found at McLennan Forster. That’s all.

[Tony starts walking away. Michelle stops him.]

Michelle: Tony. I need the access codes for CTU and Division.

[Tony hands Michelle the access codes.]

Michelle: Thank you.

Tony: What do you want me to do?

Michelle: Division’s sending over a supplemental list of terrorists who supposedly had contacts with Habib Marwan. I want you to check any names that have been flagged by other agencies, including overseas.

Tony: Given to what’s happening right now, it doesn’t seem like the best use of my time.

Michelle: It has to be done, and I’d like you to do it.

[Audrey sees this.]

Tony: Michelle, Jack and Paul have information that could be vital to ending this crisis. I should be helping to find them. Michelle.

Michelle: The last time I saw you, you couldn’t stay sober long enough to keep a job.

Tony: That was six months ago.

Michelle: This is what I need you to do. If you don’t like it, you can resign.

Tony: I’m gonna need a security clearance.

Michelle: I’ll make sure you get a level-3.

Tony: Level-3? I used to have a 6.

Michelle: Right now, all you need is 3.

[Michelle walks away.]

Audrey: Is there a problem with agent Almeida?

Michelle: Not at all.

Audrey: It’s just that Secretary Heller is very sensitive to personal conflicts on the job. I know your history. I know that you guys were married, and that he sacrificed his career to save your life, but if this is gonna be a problem, I…

Michelle: His being here will not affect my work. I won’t let it. Now, if Secretary Heller wants to speak to me about it, I’ll be more than glad to.

------------------------

[Curtis and Edgar watch a news report.]

News Reporter on TV: We are receiving preliminary reports from LAPD indicating that there is widespread looting going on in the blackout zone. A number of cars have been set on fire and stores ransacked. Witnesses report shots were heard. There may even be casualties, we just don’t know at this time.

Edgar: “Shots were heard”? That could be the same people who are after Jack. I don’t get it. What information could Jack have found that would be worth setting off a pulse bomb?

Curtis: Something that implicates McLennan Forster. Anything they’re doing now is insignificant if there’s proof that they helped Marwan with today’s attacks.

------------------------

[Marwan enters his restaurant hideout and calls a man named Mitch Anderson.]

Anderson: This is Anderson.

Marwan: It’s time for you to go.

Anderson: Marwan, your face is all over the news.

Marwan: Don’t worry about it. Things will proceed as planned. Are you ready?

Anderson: Yes, of course.

Marwan: How long will it take you to get there?

Anderson: Less than 30 minutes.

Marwan: I’ll inform the others.

[Marwan hangs up. Anderson pulls out an Air Force uniform from his closet.]

------------------------

[On her monitor, Sarah spots a helicopter heading to McLennan-Forster that won’t respond to any of CTU’s requests. It is not a police or rescue chopper.]

Sarah: A helicopter’s heading to McLennan Forster, and is not responding to any of our ID requests.

Curtis: Are you sure?

Sarah: Yeah, I’m positive.

Curtis: Michelle.

Michelle: Excuse me.

Curtis: This chopper’s flying through the dead zone, not one of ours.

Michelle: Police?

Sarah: No, not one of theirs either. I checked.

Curtis: We wouldn’t have picked it up if it wasn’t for its electronic signature.

Michelle: Where’s it going?

Curtis: Straight for McLennan Forster.

Sarah: Is it possible that it can be some sort of corporate rescue chopper?

Curtis: No, they would have given the police their call sign.

Tony: No, it’s on a search and destroy mission. A chopper that size carries 20 men, fully armed.

Sarah: Who would have sent it?

Tony: Whoever set off the EMP. They’re going after Jack and Paul. McLennan Forster’s been training mercenaries for years.

[Michelle throws a look at Tony for interceding in her authority.]

Michelle: Contact our field teams in the air. Let them know about the intruding chopper.

Curtis: You got it.

------------------------

[Outside the building, Jack and Paul try to avoid the beam of the chopper as it lands.]

Paul: Jack, I can’t do this.

Jack: You don’t have a choice. Come on.

[Conlon comes out of the building with photos of Jack and Paul.]

Conlon: Get me some gear. These are the two men we’re looking for. They have a document, a computer printout that’s encoded. We need to erase these two men and recover the document. You must be aware. One of them is a CTU field agent.

Man: You want us to kill a Federal Agent?

Conlon: I’ll take care of him personally. He went bad. Tried helping the terrorists and dragging the company into it.

Man: LAPD has been getting a respond of this area. I’m gonna have to do this quickly if you wanna stay off their radar. Use that to keep in touch.

[The man hands Conlon a two-way.]

Man #2: Sir, we just spotted two men headed east on Edison.

Conlon: Deploy your men in the flanking position a mile down the road, and then start moving in. We’ll fan out and come in from behind.

Man: You got it. Give me a chopper back on the northwest corner. Let’s move!

------------------------

[Jack carries Paul through the darkened streets to a sporting goods store in search of weapons.]

Jack: Come on, this way. This way.

Paul: Why are we going here?

Jack: Weapons and ammunition.

[As they approach the store, a gunshot fires through the front door. Two Arab American brothers are huddled inside. They have just had their store looted.]

Man: Get away from here!

Jack: Paul, get down!

Man: Get out of here!

Jack: I’m a Federal Agent!

Man: Sure you are! Get away from here!

Jack: Look, we need your help.

Man: Go, now!

Jack: Just relax. I’m leaving. OK? I’m leaving.

[Jack bursts into the store and apprehends both men.]

Jack: Drop the weapon. Now! Get the gun over to me. Paul!

Paul: Yeah?

Jack: Get in here.

[Paul comes inside the store.]

Jack: Pick up that gun. My name is Jack Bauer. I am a Federal Agent.

[Jack flashes his badge.]

Man #1: Well, you should have been here to help us to stop the looting.

Jack: You still have any rifles? We need to get them too.

Man #2: Behind the counter here.

Jack: Show me.

[The man leads Jack to the rest of the ammunition.]

Man #2: Look, we’re the first to be hit because everyone knows we’re Arabs. I mean, we’re good citizens. We had nothing to do with what happened today.

Man #1: Be quiet, Safay, he doesn’t care. Look, take what you need, but leave us two guns. We chased the looters once but they’ll be back.

[Jack lowers his gun.]

Jack: Just stay there. Give me the keys.

[One of the brothers hands Jack the keys.]

Man #1: What are you guys doing here?

Jack: We needed to take cover.

Man #1: What do you mean? Who’s after you?

Jack: It has to do with the terrorist attacks. I have critical evidence that I need to get to the authorities. The men that are chasing us are responsible for this blackout. They detonated a device called an electro-magnetic pulse bomb. It destroys all electrical activity within an eight-mile radius.

Man #2: So everything that’s happened to us tonight – the looting, the blackout – it’s all because of the terrorists?

Jack: Yes, and the evidence that I have can help prevent further attacks from happening.

Paul: Jack, commandos will be here any minute.

Man #1: Commandos?

Jack: He’s right. You both need to leave this store. Right now, we’re their target. You’re not safe here with us.

Man #1: Why don’t you leave? This is our store.

Jack: If I had a choice, I would, but you have weapons and shelter. Right now, there’s no other place for us to be.

Man #2: Can I talk to my brother for a second?

Jack: Stay where I can see you.

[The brothers speak in the corner.]

Paul: What’s the plan?

Jack: CTU knows we’re in trouble. They also know we can’t contact them. They can view this area with satellite infrared. McLennan Forster commandos arrived in a military helicopter. CTU had to see that on satellite. If we can initiate a large enough firefight, we can force their commandos to use radio frequency to communicate their positions.

Paul: And CTU will pick up the signal?

Jack: Yes.

Paul: So you wanna engage a McLennan Forster army, just the two of us?

Jack: We have a positional advantage. And we’ll only have to hold out till CTU gets here.

Man #1: All right.

Man #2: All right.

Man #1: My brother and I talked about this. We’re staying.

Jack: I can’t force you to leave your own property, but this is not just a bunch of looters. It’s a very dangerous situation. I cannot guarantee your safety.

Man #2: You don’t understand. For years, we’ve been blamed for the attacks by these terrorists. We grew up in this neighborhood. This country’s our home.

Man #1: If you’re finding the people who caused today’s bloodshed, then we’ll help you.

------------------------

Heller (over the phone): I agree. The President should stay in the air at least another hour, if not longer. If he wants to speak to the nation, he should do it from Air Force One.

Man (over the phone): All right.

Heller (over the phone): Keep me informed.

Man (over the phone): Yes, sir.

[Heller hangs up as Audrey gets inside the office.]

Audrey: I have an update on the damage from the San Gabriel Island meltdown. It’s not quite as bad as we have feared.

Heller: How are you doing? Sit down. Any word from Jack or Paul?

Audrey: No.

Heller: I can’t imagine how hard this must be for you. There’s something else, isn’t there?

Audrey: A couple of hours ago, when we thought that Paul was somehow involved with the attacks, Jack questioned him, and Paul has his pride, so he resisted, but…

Heller: Jack was pretty rough.

Audrey: Very.

Heller: That’s his job. He had to make sure. You have to believe that Jack had no choice.

Audrey: I know. I guess it was just a shock to see it. Somehow he seemed like a different person.

[Audrey starts crying.]

Heller: We need people like that, Audrey.

Audrey: Jack is an incredible man. It’s just…

Heller: But you’re not sure you feel the same way as you did before, is that it?

Audrey: Something like that.

------------------------

[Sarah goes over to Michelle to let her know that Driscoll had promised her a raise after being falsely accused.]

Sarah: Can I speak to you for a moment? It’s important.

Michelle: OK. Um… I don’t have much time.

Sarah: You’re aware I was falsely accused of leaking information earlier today?

Michelle: Yes, I saw the report.

Sarah: Erin Driscoll didn’t talk to you about it or leave a memo?

Michelle: Her daughter died today. I think she has other thing on her mind.

Sarah: I understand, but there are some things that still need to be handled.

Michelle: What things?

Sarah: Well, she promised the accusation would be expunged from my record, and I’d be bumped up two pay grades as compensation, so I just wanna make sure that will still happen.

Michelle: I’ll look into it, but not today.

Sarah: What happened to me was an outrage! If you don’t do something to resolve it right now, I’ll go directly to Secretary Heller.

Michelle: Secretary Heller doesn’t run CTU. I do. And I am ordering you to go back to work.

Sarah: Not until you assure me the false accusation will be expunged and my pay grade changed.

[Michelle picks up the phone and calls security.]

Michelle: I need security to station 1.

Sarah: Security? What for?

Michelle: I need people whose minds are on their jobs. Yours isn’t.

Sarah: Oh, so you’re firing me? You can’t do that. You need me. I’m juggling active protocols.

Michelle: We’ll manage. Please escort Miss Gavin out of the building. Make sure you get her access card.

Sarah: You’ll be sorry for this. I promise you will.

[Sarah is escorted out of CTU. Tony sees this.]

------------------------

[As Conlon and his men approach the sporting goods shop, Jack has the store owners prepare to defend themselves.]

Jack: Put one of these in each window. Have extra ammunition standing-by. Then I want you to get two hunting-vests. Fill all the pockets with empty clips. Go.

------------------------

[Michelle explains the situation to Curtis and Edgar.]

Michelle: Miss Gavin won’t be working with us anymore. I’ll need the two of you to divide her workload.

Curtis: We’re already stretched pretty thin as it is. Everyone on the floor is either up to their necks already or not qualified to replace Sarah. You may wanna reconsider.

Michelle: No. I don’t trust her.

Curtis: And what about agent Almeida? Michelle, we can use the help. And he’s already proved himself useful today.

[Michelle dials the phone.]

Michelle (on speaker): Agent Almeida, please come to station 6.

[Tony does as Michelle asked.]

Tony: Yeah?

Michelle: You’ll be working with agents Stiles and Manning for the rest of the day. Edgar, I need you to call up Sarah’s protocols, check the configuration, make sure their accurate.

Edgar: OK.

Curtis: I’ll advise internal stations of the personnel change as well.

Michelle: Give me an update first.

Curtis: The zone’s still pretty quite, except for emergency vehicle chatter. There is no sign of Jack or Paul. CTU tac teams are standing-by, but the best we can do is to spread them around the perimeter and wait for some sign of Jack.

Tony: I think that’s a mistake. We should consolidate our teams, be ready to meet strength with strength.

Curtis: And where would you place them?

Tony: At the McLennan Forster building. Jack won’t be far from there. Look, he knows we won’t be able to find him without help. He’s gonna help us by starting a firefight. I know the way he thinks. Now, the hostiles would have to break radio silence when they attack. When they do, we can follow the signal straight to where he is.

Curtis: He is gonna deliberately engage an entire team of commandos?

Tony: It’s the most efficient way to be found, and he’s gonna expect us to be ready for it.

Michelle: Stick with the original plan. Cover the perimeter.

Tony: Michelle.

Michelle: If we send all our teams to one location and you’re wrong, Jack and Paul won’t survive an attack. But if we cover the perimeter, we may have a chance to save them. Do it.

[Curtis dials the phone.]

Curtis: Castle, you go ahead as planned. Be ready to move.

------------------------

[Jack sees the McLennan-Forster commandos advancing, and he readies his crew with their weapons.]

Jack: Here’s one of them. It’s time. No one fires until I give the order.

Man #1: OK.

[Jack fires one shot, deliberately missing a mercenary. Just as Jack suspected, the commando radios his forces for backup. Jack and his team wait.]

Spector (over radio): Team leader, this is Spector. I was just shot at. I’m on the northwest corner of Stringer, between Flower and Third.

Man (over radio): Copy that.

Paul: He’s not returning fire.

Jack: Because he’s alone. He’s calling for backup now.

Paul: And… and what do we do?

Jack: Wait for them to come full force. Just stay ready.

------------------------

Michelle: Audrey.

Audrey: Yes?

Michelle: Could you let DOD know that we’ve piggybacked on to local law enforcement channels in the blackout zone? I told them earlier we might need to use their feeds.

Audrey: So you don’t need it anymore?

Michelle: No.

Audrey: All right. No problem.

Michelle: Um… Look, I didn’t mean to be confrontational before, it’s just… when you walk into a hailstorm you have to be decisive.

Audrey: I understand. And I know where you’re coming from. I think that you’re making the right decisions, but…

Michelle: But what?

Audrey: I think that you should revaluate your professional opinion of Tony.

Michelle: Why’s that?

Audrey: This morning Jack had nowhere to turn, and he went to the one person that he knew would come through for him, and that was Tony. Tony saved our lives.

Michelle: I didn’t know that.

Audrey: After that, we just spent a couple of hours with him. It’s true, Tony does have a lot of issues, but he is good at what he does and I think that we could use him on a day like today.

Michelle: Fair enough.

Audrey: And business aside, he still cares about you.

[Michelle walks away. She approaches Tony.]

Tony: I got you those perimeter teams you asked for ready to go.

Michelle: Thanks. Tony, look, I just want you to know that just because I overruled you a few minutes ago doesn’t mean that I don’t value your input.

Tony: Don’t patronize me, Michelle.

Michelle: I’m not. Look, you ran CTU for two years. Anything that you have to say, I will consider seriously.

Tony: Don’t worry. I’m gonna tell you what I think whether you wanna hear it or not. All right?

Michelle: Good.

------------------------

Jack: Are you scared? Are you sure you both wanna do this?

Man #2: Yeah. My brother and I are more angry about these attacks today than you are. So we’re gonna stand up, and we’re gonna try to be a part of the solution.

Jack: I’m sorry this had to happen to your store.

Man #2: Yeah. My father left us his business when he died. He worked his whole life to make a good name for himself in the community. This store is his legacy. But if he were here right now, he’d be standing next to you, just as we are.

Jack: Just stay low and do what I tell you.

Paul: Thank you. For saving my life.

Jack: Yeah. They’re here.

------------------------

Audrey: Tony. Michelle just said that you were doing a search on possible ties to Marwan. May I help?

Tony: Do you have a sign on for the server?

Audrey: In Washington?

Tony: Yeah, it would save me time if I could use it on the search.

Audrey: Yeah.

[Audrey types in her password for Tony.]

Audrey: There you go.

Tony: Thanks.

Audrey: Anything else?

Tony: Well, it should kick off a few names. You can help me write them down once it’s done searching.

Audrey: OK, great.

Tony: So, um… did you tell Michelle what happened today?

Audrey: I said that Jack called you.

Tony: Anything else?

Audrey: Well, I didn’t say that you were living with anyone, if that’s what you mean.

Tony: She probably already knows that and I’m sure she couldn’t care less. So, uh… how are you and Jack fairing with him out in the field today?

Audrey: It’s different. A lot different than Washington.

Tony: Yeah, it is different. To tell you the truth, I couldn’t believe it when I heard that Jack had taken a desk job at DC.

Audrey: He said he was happier this way.

Tony: Uh-ha. Well, you’ve gotten the chance to see him in both worlds today. You think he’ll go back to wearing a suit?

Audrey: After the hell Jack’s been through today, you think he’ll wanna come back to this?

Tony: Some people are more comfortable in hell.

Audrey: Are you talking about Jack or yourself?

Edgar: I think we found them. See all those signals on the ground? Each one’s a radio, all using the same frequency.

Tony: That’s because they’re planning an attack.

Edgar: They converge on their location on Flower and Third, about a quarter mile from McLennan Forster.

Curtis: You were right. He’s actually drawing them in.

------------------------

[The commandos get into position outside the sporting goods store.]

Spector: The sporting goods store, across the street.

Conlon: Let’s move.

Spector: Bravo-1, move in.

[The commandos begin firing at the store. Jack and his cohorts shoot back. Edgar gets infrared proof that there is automatic gunfire at the spot of the radio transmission.]

Edgar: Infrared’s picking up automatic weapon fire outside of the radio transmission.

Audrey: How much longer before our teams get there?

Curtis: The ground teams are closest. They’ll get there first.

Audrey: When?

Curtis: At least five or six minutes.

[Michelle looks around, sheepish. She knows that her decision was wrong. Conlon becomes aware that civilians are helping Jack.]

Conlon: Who’s helping them?

Spector: I don’t know. They gotta be civilians.

Conlon: We need to end this quickly and get that document. Is that understood?

Spector: Yeah, I understand.

Conlon: Go.

[Jack and his team continue to fire back.]

Man #2: Hey, Naji! Hey, Naji! Hey. Hey. Hey, Naji. Are you OK? Naji?

Man #1: They hit the clip.

Jack: Fall back!

[Jack and his men retreat into the back of the store. The commandos blow the store’s entrance open and raid the premises.]

Jack: Hurry, take my shotgun. OK, because of their night vision goggles if they get within ten feet of you, shine your flashlight in their eyes. It’ll blind them.

Man #2: OK.

[The gunfire stops.]

Paul: Jack. Jack.

[Edgar sees that the gunfire has stopped. They suspect that Jack and Paul could have been captured, along with the incriminating evidence they were protecting.]

Edgar: The gunfire stopped.

Curtis: Are the teams on the site?

Edgar: Not yet.

Curtis: McLennan Forster commandos could have taken over the location.

Michelle: Which means they might have taken the information back from Jack and Paul.

Curtis: I’ll get in touch with our teams.

Michelle: I’ll update Division.

Audrey: If McLennan Forster won the firefight, what about Jack and Paul?

Tony: There’s no way to tell.

------------------------

[CTU teams get to the location, but they have no verification on Jack and Paul.]

Edgar: CTU personnel are approaching the location.

Castle: CTU, this is Castle. We’re about to engage.

Curtis: How many hostiles have been sighted?

Castle: Six down outside, unknown number inside.

Tony: Lee, it’s Tony. Are Jack and Paul still alive?

Castle: Unknown at this point.

Tony: All right, look, the hostiles cannot be allowed to leave the area with the information Jack took from McLennan Forster, do you understand?

Castle: We’ll do the best we can.

Tony: No, Lee, listen to me. Failure is not an option. That information is what this whole thing’s about.

Castle: Roger that.

------------------------

[Conlon moves in with his night goggles, and Jack flashes the light on him and shoots him down. Jack doesn’t notice that Conlon is still alive. The SWAT team arrives.]

Castle: Jack?

Jack: Yeah. I’m here.

Castle: Are you and Raines safe?

Jack: Yeah.

Castle: All hostiles are down. We’re clear.

[Castle radios his men.]

Castle (over radio): This is Castle. Get me CTU.

Man (over radio): Stand by.

Curtis: Curtis.

Castle: Curtis, this is Castle.

Curtis: Yeah, Lee. What’s your status?

Castle: The location is secure, Jack and Raines are safe.

Curtis: What about their information?

Castle: Unknown at this point.

Curtis: All right. Keep this line open. Jack’s OK. The team secured the store.

Audrey: What about Paul?

Curtis: Yeah, he’s with him.

Tony: Does Jack have anything from McLennan Forster?

Curtis: We don’t know yet. They’re still cleaning up the area. Stay in touch with the team. Whatever they get from Jack, be ready to work up.

Edgar: You got it.

[Tony goes up to Michelle’s office.]

Michelle (over the phone): Yeah, Dean.

Dean (over the phone): Do you want our people to help process?

Michelle (over the phone): No, no. My people will take care of that when we sift through the data.

Dean (over the phone): All right. Are you sure no involvement?

Michelle (over the phone): Yeah.

Dean (over the phone): All right. We’ll wait for your confirmation.

Michelle (over the phone): Yeah, OK.

[Michelle hangs up.]

Tony: Jack and Paul are OK.

Michelle: What about the information?

Tony: We don’t know if Jack has it yet, but even if he does, we don’t know that it’s gonna bring us closer to finding Marwan.

Michelle: Well, we know that McLennan Forster’s involved. That should yield some leads.

Tony: Well, that’s gonna have to be worked up here because McLennan Forster’s computers were all knocked up by the EMP.

Michelle: You wanna head that up?

Tony: No, you know what? You should probably let Curtis handle that.

Michelle: All right. I will. I shouldn’t have said that earlier about your drinking. That was out of line. I’m sorry.

Tony: You don’t owe me an apology. My life right now… let’s just say that I’ve been better and, uh… quite frankly, seeing you here today has only made things worse. Uh… Look, I’m gonna leave, get out of here and let you do your job, all right?

Michelle: No. We can’t afford to lose you. Not today.

Tony: You’re sure?

Michelle: Yes. Yes, I’m sure.

Tony: All right.

------------------------

Jack: I’m gonna make sure you get some help putting the store back together.

Man #2: I appreciate that.

Jack: Thank you. Thank you.

[Jack and the brothers shake hands. Without Jack noticing, Conlon reaches for a gun.]

Jack: Lee, I need you to get this to CTU. It needs to get decoded immediately. I also want you to set up a detail, five of your best men; nothing happens to this document, do you understand me?

[Jack hands the encrypted document to Castle. Paul sees Conlon rise up and aim his gun at Jack.]

Paul: Jack, look out!

[Paul pushes Jack out of the way, taking the bullet instead. Jack kills Conlon once and for all.]

Jack: Paul?

[Paul falls to the ground.]

Jack: Paul? Paul! Medic!

[Jack tries to keep Paul conscious.]

Jack: Just stay with me. Come on, Paul, stay with me. No, no. Paul. Paul, stay with me, come on. Look at me. Look at me. There you go. Look at me.

Paul: I owed you.

Jack: You don’t owe me anything, just stay with me, OK?

Agent: Jack? OK, the medic’s here. Jack, let the medics do their work.

[The medics try to save Paul.]

------------------------

[Wearing his uniform, Anderson calls Marwan from an Air Force base.]

Marwan: Any problems?

Anderson: No. I’m here. Are we on schedule?

Marwan: Yes.

Anderson: What about you?

Marwan: I’m leaving now. The President of the United States is on a tight schedule. We can’t be late. 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Conlon: We know you printed a document before the EMP detonated. Where is it? You decide when the pain stops.

Guard: Drop the gun or I’ll kill him.

Jack: Paul, where is the data printout?

Paul: I hid it.

Jack: Is this it?

Paul: Yeah, it’s encoded. I couldn’t make any sense out of it.

Jack: We need to get it back to CTU.

------------------------

Heller: Tony, I appreciate you carrying the ball until Michelle got here. Why don’t you bring her and everyone else up to speed?

Tony: The man responsible for planning today’s attacks, Habib Marwan, has been a long-term employee of McLennan Forster. Jack Bauer and Paul Raines went to the company to inspect his computer files but as they were doing so, an electro-magnetic pulse bomb was detonated, wiping out the company’s entire database. We have to assume whoever detonated the EMP thinks Jack and Paul found something and wants them eliminated.

------------------------

Paul: Why are we going here?

Jack: Weapons and ammunition.

Man: Get away from here!

Jack: I’m a Federal Agent! Look, we need your help.

Man: Who’s after you?

Jack: It has to do with the terrorist attacks. I have critical evidence that I need to get to the authorities.

Man: If you’re finding the people who caused today’s bloodshed, then we’ll help you.

Jack: It’s time.

------------------------

Castle: Jack?

Jack: I’m here.

Castle: Are you and Raines safe?

Jack: Yeah. I need you to get this to CTU. It needs to get decoded immediately.

Paul: Jack, look out!

Jack: Paul? Paul! Get me a medic!

------------------------

Marwan: It’s time for you to go. Are you ready?

Anderson: Yes, of course.

Marwan: Proceed as planned. The President of the United States is on a tight schedule. We can’t be late.

------------------------

The following takes place between 8:00 P.M. and 9:00 P.M.

[Jack flies with Paul on the medic helicopter back to CTU.]

Medic: He’s bleeding out. Tell them on the ground we need two liters of A-positive.

Man: Roger that.

Jack: Come on, Paul, stay with us. We’re almost there.

[Jack calls Audrey.]

Audrey: Hello?

Jack: Audrey, it’s me.

Audrey: Oh, Jack. Thank God you’re all right.

Jack: Audrey, I need you to listen to me. Paul’s been shot. Audrey? Audrey?

[Audrey becomes upset.]

Audrey: How bad is it?

Jack: The medics are working on him. We’ll be there in a few minutes.

Audrey: Jack, how did this happen?

Jack: We were securing the area. One of the gunmen tried to shoot me. Paul pushed me out of the way. He saved my life. Audrey?

Audrey: I’m here, just… Jack, I don’t know what to say.

Jack: You don’t have to say anything. The surgeons have been notified. They’re standing by. I want you to know that we’re gonna do everything that we have to, do you understand that?

Audrey: Yeah, I understand.

Jack: I’m sorry.

Audrey: I gotta… I gotta go.

Jack: See you in a minute.

Audrey: Yeah, OK.

------------------------

[Heller updates the President about Marwan’s plan.]

Heller: Mr. President, all the evidence we’ve gathered confirms that this one man Habib Marwan is directly responsible for everything that’s happened today; the train derailment, my abduction, the sabotage of the nuclear power plants.

Keeler: Does any of your evidence suggest that he’s planning more attacks?

Heller: I’m afraid so. NSA is reporting a spike in chatter. They’re sifting through the Intel now, trying to determine potential targets and timeframes.

Keeler: Trying is not good enough. We need to preempt any further attacks.

Heller: I understand, sir. Our best chance of doing that is by capturing Marwan.

Keeler: How close are you?

Heller: Jack Bauer recovered a document we believe contains contact data on Marwan’s network. CTU is using it to track Marwan.

Keeler: And if that fails?

Heller: Mr. President, we just have to hope that it doesn’t.

Keeler: Jim, if today’s events are continuing to generate an unprecedented level of fear, I’m not sure the social and civil fabric of this country can withstand another attack. We need to make provisions.

[Heller goes outside of the CTU building to wait for the chopper carrying Jack and Paul. Audrey is there too.]

Heller: Provisions?

Keeler: A civil unrest that I believe is inevitable in the event of another terrorist strike.

Heller: Are you saying we should impose martial law?

Keeler: I’ve asked General Wakefield to meet with you in Los Angeles to discuss our options.

Heller: When?

Keeler: Now. His plane landed. He’ll be calling you to confirm a secure location. And Jim, keep this between us.

Heller: Of course, Mr. President.

[Heller hangs up. The chopper lands on the CTU grounds. The medics carry Paul on a gurney to the CTU clinic.]

Medic: Get him prepped. I need ten cc’s of adrenaline, no compression, let’s go.

[Audrey runs to Paul.]

Audrey: Paul! Paul, can you hear me? Paul?

Medic: Excuse me, ma’am. We gotta get him to surgery now. Let’s go.

Jack: I’m sorry.

Audrey: Please tell me he’s not gonna die.

Jack: Come here.

[Jack hugs Audrey and tries to console her.]

Audrey: Please. Jack, tell me.

Jack: We don’t know. We just don’t know.

[Heller and Audrey head back inside CTU. Tony and Michelle approach Jack.]

Michelle: Jack, are you OK?

Jack: Yeah, I’m fine.

Tony: Listen, we were able to decode and pull a name off the list you sent us.

Jack: Who is it?

Michelle: Someone on our watch list, but we had no idea he was connected to Marwan.

Tony: Come on inside, we’ll talk you through it.

[Jack, Tony and Michelle go back inside CTU. Paul is wheeled into surgery.]

Medic: I’m sorry, Mrs. Raines, You need to stay out here while your husband’s prepped for surgery.

Audrey: Wait, please, can I just talk to him for a second? Paul, hey. Hey, it’s Audrey. Listen to me. I just want you to know that I’m here, OK? I’m here.

Medic: We need to prep him now.

Audrey: And I will be here when you get out of surgery, do you understand me? Paul?

------------------------

[Tony and Michelle brief Jack on the latest discovery.]

Tony: His name’s Joseph Fayed, an Associate Professor at Green University, chemical engineering. Came to the US in 1985 to get his graduate degree.

Michelle: We’re sending in a tactical team to pick him up now.

Jack: That’s a mistake.

Michelle: Why?

Jack: For everything that we’ve seen today, Marwan’s vetted his inner circle very carefully. Their men will die before he says anything.

Tony: You’re probably right, Jack, but what can we do besides arrest Fayed?

Jack: Send someone in undercover. Take a chance. That might lead you to Marwan.

Tony: Come on, Jack. You know we don’t have the time to put one of our own people undercover.

Jack: I’m not talking about one of our people; Dina Araz.

Michelle: She’s already made her deal, Jack. We granted her son immunity. We have nothing left to offer her.

Jack: Maybe, maybe not. Let me talk to her while you mobilize a tactical team. If I can’t get her to cooperate by the time they’re ready, send them in, but it’s simple; we either find Marwan or we will not be able to stop what he’s planning next.

------------------------

[Marwan meets Mitch Anderson.]

Marwan: Meet them at the hotel, Holdover Road, half a kilometer from the base.

Anderson: When?

Marwan: Leave now.

Anderson: I’ll need his entire flight package, including clearance and identification codes.

Marwan: You’ll have whatever you need.

[Anderson leaves for the hotel.]

------------------------

[An Air Force pilot is in a hotel room with his girlfriend.]

Girlfriend: Is that all you’ve got?

Air Force pilot: For now it is.

Girlfriend: Come on, I haven’t seen you in two weeks.

Air Force pilot: Yeah, I’ve gotta get to the base. I’m flying tonight. Damn, I’m gonna be late as it is.

[The pilot picks up his uniform.]

Air Force pilot: Oh, look at me, I’m all wrinkled.

Girlfriend: I wouldn’t worry about that.

[A cell phone rings. His girlfriend takes the call.]

Girlfriend: Hello?

Woman: Can I talk to John?

Girlfriend: It’s for you.

John: What?

Girlfriend: It’s your wife.

John: But it’s your cell phone.

[John takes the call from his wife.]

John: Dory.

Dory: They’ve got guns, John. They say they’ll kill the children unless you do what they want.

[Masked gunmen have Dory and their children hostage.]

John: What’s going on, Dory? Who’s there?

Dory: I don’t know.

John: Listen to me, Dory, who’s ever there, you put them on the phone.

Dory: Please, John, don’t let them hurt the children!

[One of the men takes the phone from Dory and hangs up the call.]

John: Dory? Dory, put…

[John turns around to find his girlfriend pull out a gun on him.]

Girlfriend: Put your clothes on, John.

------------------------

Michelle: Curtis is prepping the tactical teams, which means you have five minutes to do this.

[Jack enters the holding room. He shows Dina the photo of Fayed.]

Jack: Do you recognize this man?

Dina: No.

Jack: He’s connected to Marwan.

Dina: I don’t know him. I already told the other agent. Marwan doesn’t permit communication between cells.

Jack: His name is Joseph Fayed. He’s a professor at Green University.

Dina: You know more about him than I do.

Jack: He’s also our only way to reach Marwan. We can’t do that without your help.

Dina: Why should I help you? I’ve already gotten all I’m going to get for cooperating.

Jack: That’s not necessarily true.

[On the computer, Jack has a live video feed of Behrooz in another holding room.]

Jack: I know you love your son. You’ve already shown me that today. But unless you help us get to Fayed, that’ll be the last time you’ll see him for the rest of your life.

[In the observation room, the phone rings.]

Michelle: This is Dessler.

Agent: All our teams are in place.

Michelle: All right. Have them stand-by.

[Michelle hangs up.]

Michelle: The tactical teams are ready. We can be at Fayed’s house in ten minutes.

Tony: Just give him another minute.

Jack: I’m offering you your freedom, Dina. You and Behrooz will be put in a witness protection program. You’d be given new names, identities, everything. This is what you told me you wanted. I’m offering you a life with your son. Right now the only question is which life do you want?

[Dina doesn’t say anything.]

Jack: We’re out of time.

[Jack gets up to leave.]

Dina: What do you need me to do?

Jack: I need you to go to Fayed and tell him that you need to speak to Marwan.

Dina: He won’t let me through his front door, let alone get near Marwan.

Jack: He will when you tell him that you’ve got a hostage that can help him.

Dina: A hostage? Who?

Jack: Me.

------------------------

John: So what’s this all about? What are you doing?

Woman: I’m delivering you to someone.

John: Who?

Woman: I don’t know.

John: You don’t know who you work for?

Woman: I work for myself.

John: Somebody’s paying you.

Woman: I don’t ask them who they are and they don’t tell me. It’s how I stay alive.

[The woman looks out of the window with her back turned to John.]

Woman: All right. It’s time.

[John puts up a fight with the woman holding him captive. She quickly apprehends him.]

Woman: If you don’t cooperate, your family will die. Do you understand?

[Suddenly, there’s a knock on the door. The woman opens the door for Anderson. Anderson comes in and pulls his gun out on John. He then hands the woman a bag full of cash. She opens the bag to check its content.]

Anderson: It’s all there. Get out of here.

[The woman leaves.]

Anderson: Get your things. We got a plane to catch.

------------------------

Michelle: Increased chatter indicates that Habib Marwan is planning another strike. It is imperative that we locate him before he’s able to trigger this. We are mounting an undercover operation that we hope will lead us to him through this man, Joseph Fayed. We’ve struck a deal with Dina Araz to work undercover for us and approach Fayed.

Curtis: But Marwan knows we had Dina Araz in custody.

Michelle: We’re trying to use that to our advantage. Jack will run us through the cover story we’ve fabricated.

Jack: The cover story goes as follows; An hour ago I was transporting Dina Araz to the Federal Detention Center when my vehicle was attacked by the surviving members of the terrorist cell ran by Navi Araz at the intersection of Sepulveda and National. I managed to kill or wound all of the attackers, but during the engagement Dina Araz secured one of the weapons and took me hostage. She’ll take me to Fayed. Hopefully, he’ll take me to Marwan.

Curtis: And if Marwan takes the bait we track you to him?

Jack: Yeah.

Tony: And we have to assume they’re gonna search both Jack and Dina, which is gonna make tracking and surveillance devices a problem.

Jack: We’re gonna have to handle this passively. We’re gonna use satellite parabolics and laser aggregators.

Curtis: Yeah, but what about Dina Araz? You’ll think she’ll be able to play this convincingly?

Jack: Well, she’s managed to live here in the United States for the past five year while part of a terrorist cell undetected. Yes, she’s an expert at deception.

Curtis: How do we know she doesn’t deceive us?

Michelle: Right now this is our best and only chance at finding Marwan, but no matter how well we fabricate this story, Jack will be in extreme and immediate danger. We have to be able to move in at the first sign of trouble. There is zero tolerance for error. Thank you.

Jack: Good luck, everyone.

Michelle: Curtis. The detainees from McLennan Forster have been taken over to Division. I want you to run the interrogation.

Curtis: You got it.

Michelle: Thank you.

Tony: Edgar, I want you to call LAPD and caltrans. We need their logs to reflect that the ambush on Jack took place.

Edgar: I need an exact time window.

Tony: He just finished telling us, an hour ago.

Edgar: I know. I just didn’t know if there was an updated scenario.

Tony: No, Edgar, you weren’t paying attention. Look, we can’t afford for you to be losing focus at a time like this, all right?

Edgar: I’m sick of people talking to me like I don’t know what I’m doing. Especially people who don’t really work here.

Michelle: Is there a problem with Edgar?

Tony: Well, his mother was caught in the contamination zone at the San Gabriel reactor. She took her own life. Up until now, he’s been handling it pretty well, but uh, I think it might be catching up with him.

Michelle: Do you think he’s in good enough shape to run the comm part of this operation?

Tony: Based on what just happened? No.

Michelle: Where’s Chloe? I didn’t see her on the active roster.

Tony: Yeah, well, Driscoll forced her to resign.

Michelle: Why?

Tony: Well, apparently Chloe went against Driscoll’s orders, sided with Jack. Turns out Jack was right.

Michelle: Thank you.

Tony: Yeah.

[Michelle calls Chloe.]

Chloe: Hello?

Michelle: Chloe, it’s Michelle Dessler.

Chloe: Are you calling me from Division?

Michelle: Uh, actually, I’m back at CTU. Secretary Heller asked me to take Erin Driscoll’s place.

Chloe: She got fired? That’s too bad. Listen, could you tell Edgar to upgrade the Langley pattern recognition software? It gets a little overwhelmed sometimes.

Michelle: Yeah, I’ll make sure he takes care of that.

Chloe: Thanks.

Michelle: Listen, Chloe. You’re better at what you do than anyone I’ve ever worked with. I need you here.

Chloe: Thank you for saying that, but I think I’ve had enough for today.

Michelle: Chloe, this would be for Jack, not just for CTU.

Chloe: What are you talking about?

Michelle: He’s about to go undercover in a high-risk operation. We need to mount massive surveillance in very little time. I don’t have confidence that Edgar can do this on his own.

Chloe: Well, there’s nothing I can do about that.

Michelle: Chloe, I just need a few hours of your time and then you can move on. I just wanna do everything I can to ensure Jack’s safety.

Chloe: Fine, but it’s just for today.

Michelle: Thank you, Chloe.

Chloe: You’re welcome.

[Chloe hangs up.]

------------------------

Jack: They’re setting cars up at the ambush site in case Marwan wants to verify. We’re using the dead bodies of terrorists from Heller’s rescue.

Tony: All right. The follow team will stay as close as they can but to tell you the truth, Jack, you’re flying without a net on this one. If a hostile decides to take you out without warning… there’s nothing we can do.

Jack: I know.

Tony: Look, Audrey’s still at the clinic. There’s time, if you wanna say goodbye.

Jack: She got a lot on her mind right now.

Tony: Jack, she should know what you’re about to do.

Jack: She’s been through enough today.

[Jack and Tony enter the holding room where Dina is held.]

Tony: I want you to look over the timeline. We’ll talk through the details.

Dina: I’m not doing anything until I see my son.

Tony: We don’t have time for that right now.

Dina: Seeing my son in non-negotiable.

Jack: Tony.

[Tony leaves the holding room.] 

Jack: You need to learn every aspect of the cover story. Your life depends on it.

Dina: Don’t worry about me.

Jack: You can see your son, but only for a minute. That’s all. Let’s go.

[Jack takes Dina to see Behrooz.]

Behrooz: Mom. They wouldn’t tell me where you were. I thought I was never gonna see you again.

Dina: We’re going to be together.

Behrooz: What are you talking about? They wouldn’t let you come with me.

Dina: Everything has changed. I agreed to do something for them and they’ll let me go with you.

Behrooz: What do they want you to do?

Dina: Help them find Marwan.

Behrooz: It’s too dangerous.

Dina: Oh, I can handle Marwan.

Behrooz: Please, mom. No.

Dina: Don’t worry. I’ll be fine.

Behrooz: Please, mom.

Jack: Mrs. Araz, it’s time.

[Dina kisses Behrooz and then leaves with Jack.]

------------------------

Michelle: Is field surveillance in place yet?

Tony: We have audio. There might be a few dead spots, but we should be able to hear inside the house, that’s assuming we’d get that far.

Michelle: OK, thank you.

Tony: Yeah.

Edgar: Come on. Come on. Why aren’t you going through? Dammit.

Chloe: Use the danziger filter. You can download it internally if you know what you’re doing. There, you’re in.

Edgar: Chloe, what are you doing here?

Chloe: Michelle thought you could use some help. Offload you task lists to me at station 12. I’ll cover your overflow.

Edgar: I can handle my assignment.

Chloe: Well, obviously you can’t, otherwise Michelle wouldn’t have called me in.

Michelle: Edgar. I meant to tell you before Chloe got here.

Edgar: Look, Miss Dessler, I can do my job. I don’t need any help.

Michelle: I’m not saying you can’t, but I’m not taking any chances either.

Edgar: Look, I know we got off to a rocky stop, but…

Michelle: Edgar. This isn’t a debate, it’s an order. Now, brief Chloe so she can run satellite with you, and do it fast. Jack’s approaching the staging area now.

------------------------

[The phone rings.]

Byron: This is Byron.

Michelle: This is Dessler. We’re set on our end. Satellite and surveillance teams are in place. Go in at your discretion.

Byron: Roger that. We’ll leave this line open.

[Jack and Dina arrive at Fayed’s house. Still inside the car, Jack instructs Dina how the operation will go down.]

Dina: We are going in alone?

Jack: Our agents are conducting audio surveillance with mobile parabolics.

Dina: What does that mean?

Jack: Acknowledge that you can hear me. Copy that.

[Jack pulls out his knife. He aims it at his own stomach.]

Dina: What are you doing?

Jack: I have to make it look like I was injured during the attack.

[Jack plunges the knife into his stomach. He then loads his gun with bullets and hands it to Dina.]

Jack: Take my gun. This has to look as convincing as possible. Take my gun.

Dina: You must know that I want to kill you.

Jack: Yes. But you won’t because of Behrooz.

[Dina takes Jack’s gun.]

Jack: Let’s go.

[Jack and Dina get out of the car and approach Fayed’s house.]

Byron: They’re going in.

Michelle: We’re standing by.

Dina: What if Fayed doesn’t believe us?

Jack: Then we’re both dead.

[Inside, Fayed is watching a news report on TV.]

News Reporter on TV: …as people were evacuating the San Gabriel island area. As you can see here from footage that was shot earlier, there was a hundred mile radius as people trying to evacuate…

[Dina knocks on Fayed’s door. Fayed shuts down the TV and takes a gun from one of the drawers.]

Fayed: Who is it?

Dina: Joseph, it’s Dina Araz.

Fayed: Who?

Dina: Dina Araz. I’m a friend. My husband is Navi. He’s been killed.

Fayed: I don’t know what you’re talking about. Please, go away.

Dina: I need to speak to Marwan.

Fayed: I don’t know any Marwan.

Dina: Yes, you do.

Fayed: Go away before I call the police.

Dina: You won’t call the police, and we both know why.

Fayed: What do you want?

Dina: I have a hostage. Someone Marwan will want. His name is Jack Bauer. He’s a CTU agent. Now, please, let me in before someone sees me!

[Fayed opens the door and pins Jack to a wall.]

Fayed: Close the door! Put your gun over there. Do it!

[Dina does as Fayed asked. Fayed searches Jack for weapons and then knocks him out with the back of his gun.]

Fayed: How did you find me?

Dina: My husband told me.

Fayed: I don’t know your husband.

Dina: He knew you.

Fayed: Tell me what happened.

Dina: My husband was killed and I was arrested. They were transporting me to CTU. I heard an explosion and the van we were driving crashed. It was our people. They came to rescue me. Everyone fell, except Bauer and me. He was wounded and I managed to get his gun.

Fayed: Where did this happen?

Dina: At the intersection of Sepulveda and National, half a mile from here.

Fayed: Don’t move.

[Fayed nervously calls Marwan.]

Marwan: What is it?

Fayed: This is Fayed. A woman named Dina Araz came to me.

Marwan: How did she find you?

Fayed: She claims her husband told her.

Marwan: What does she want?

Fayed: She wants to bring you a hostage. A CTU agent named Jack Bauer.

Marwan: Jack Bauer?

[Chloe can’t tap into Fayed and Marwan’s phone conversation because the signal is scrambled.]

Michelle: Can you break into the other side of the conversation?

Chloe: No, the call’s being piped through a satellite switcher. The signal’s scrambled.

[Jack regains consciousness. Fayed doesn’t notice this.]

Fayed: As she was being transported, our people ambushed their vehicle at the intersection of Sepulveda and National. Everyone was killed, but she managed to escape with Bauer. What do you want me to do?

Marwan: Bring them to me. I will call you back in five minutes with the details. Be ready. Do you understand?

Fayed: Yes, I understand.

[Fayed hangs up.]

Fayed: Marwan wants to see you.

Michelle: Byron, it’s a go.

Byron: I heard. Set a follow grid and we’ll coordinate from our end.

------------------------

[The Air Force pilot anxiously enters the base.]

Guard: Evening, sir.

John: Evening.

Guard: Pop the trunk for me, sir.

John: Since when are you searching officers’ cars at the gate, Sergeant?

Guard: Alleviated threat level.

[The guards search John’s car. They don’t see Anderson hiding inside the collapsed backseat.]

Guard: OK. You’re good to go, sir.

John: Thank you.

[John drives the car inside the base. Anderson radios Marwan.]

Anderson: I’m on base.

Marwan: Proceed as planed.

John: OK, I got you on base. Let me talk to my family.

Anderson: Open the trunk, John.

John: Let me talk to my wife.

Anderson: I said open the trunk.

John: Please, let me talk to my family.

Anderson: Your family is dead, and so are you.

[Anderson shoots John and puts him inside the trunk. Anderson takes the man’s pass card and identification. He then snips the thumb off the body with a pair of pliers.]

------------------------

[The CTU doctor explains to Audrey and Heller that he called in a neurosurgeon to remove a bullet lodged near Paul’s spine.]

Doctor: Mrs. Raines, your husband sustained bullet wounds to his chest and abdomen. Now, we were able to extract one of the bullets, but I called a neurosurgeon in from seeders to help extract the second bullet.

Heller: Why a neurosurgeon?

Doctor: Well, the bullet is lodged against his T-5 vertebra and we wanna be careful to avoid any further spinal trauma.

Audrey: I can’t believe this is happening.

Doctor: I’ll let you know as soon as I get any news on his condition.

Heller: Thank you.

[Audrey cries.]

Audrey: Dad, I don’t think I realized how much I care for Paul until now.

Heller: I know this is terrible timing, but the President has called and I have to leave. You’ll be able to reach me on my number. The doctors will keep me up to speed.

Audrey: OK.

Heller: I love you, Audrey. And I’m proud to be your dad.

Audrey: I love you too. Be careful.

------------------------

[Chloe tracks on satellite as Fayed has Dina drive the car. Jack is in the backseat.]

Jack: Where are you taking me?

Dina: Shut up. How far are we going?

Fayed: It won’t be long.

Dina: You look nervous.

Fayed: What do you expect?

Dina: I wouldn’t have contacted you if I felt I had a choice.

Fayed: And as a result, I have no choice.

Dina: We do whatever we have to for the cause, so what’s the problem?

Fayed: There is no problem.

Chloe: He’s approaching the intersection. They’re turning off Olympic.

Edgar: Move into next sub channel.

Michelle: He’s turning on to a side street. Collier Avenue. Hold that distance.

Byron: Understood.

Tony: He’s heading towards the Broad street Tunnel.

Michelle: He’s slowing down. Byron, drop back. We can’t afford to have him spot the tail.

Byron: We’re backing off. Turning into the tunnel.

Michelle: Maintain your distance.

Byron: That’s too far ahead for the parabolic. We’re not gonna be able to hear what’s going on in there.

Chloe: The tunnel is 400 yards long. They’ll be out of satellite view for approximately 20 seconds.

Fayed: Pull in front of this truck.

Dina: What’s going on?

Man: Get out of the car.

Dina: What are you doing?

[Terrorists dressed as construction workers grab Jack and Dina from the car. One of the men hands Fayed a briefcase.]

Man: From Marwan.

Fayed: Yes.

[Fayed drives off. Jack and Dina are loaded into another van which goes out the opposite way.]

Tony: This is taking too long.

[CTU sees Fayed’s car but they realize that Jack and Dina are not inside.]

Edgar: We got them. They’re out of the tunnel.

Michelle: Do you have a visual?

Byron: That’s it. We got them up ahead.

Edgar: Fayed’s turning out to Nepean.

Michelle: Nepean loops back around to Olympic.

Tony: Because he just spent the last five minutes driving in a circle.

Edgar: Maybe he’s trying to detect surveillance.

Tony: Chloe, can you switch to infrared?

Chloe: Hold on. There’s only one person in the car.

Michelle: He made a switch in the tunnel. Byron, the covert part of the operation is over. All teams, move in on the target car.

Byron: Alpha team, cut him off at the bridge. We’re right behind.

Michelle: Establish the perimeter around the area. Stop and search all vehicles. Chloe, do you have anything on satellite?

Chloe: Nothing around the immediate area of the target’s car.

Tony: Go back into archives and find out what happened.

Chloe: Yeah, it’s gonna take a few minutes.

Tony: Do it.

Michelle: Byron, what’s your status?

Byron: We’re closing in now. We got him surrounded on the bridge. I’ll take the lead.

Agent: Get out of the car and put your hands up now!

Agent #2: Out of the car!

Agent: Go! Go! Go!

[As the agents approach the car, Fayed sets off the bomb in the briefcase. CTU watches in horror over satellite.]

Chloe: Oh, my God.

Michelle: Marwan’s had us up.

------------------------

[A CTU agent calls CTU from the scene of the explosion.]

Tony: Almeida.

Agent: This is Delevan, agent Byron’s dead, so is Fayed. Is there any sign of Jack?

Tony: No, not yet. Any other hostiles in the area?

Delevan: The area looks secure.

Tony: OK. I’ll get you another backup team as soon as I can.

[Tony hangs up.]

Chloe: I have the archives satellite footage.

Michelle: Play it back.

Chloe: OK. During the time Fayed’s car is in the tunnel, three vehicles exit.

Michelle: Check the van.

Tony: Can you get me a license number on that?

Chloe: Not from the satellite. Let me check the traffic cameras. Edgar, get me the caltrans interface.

Edgar: We have a socket open. Logging in. Done.

Chloe: OK. There’s a camera at the entrance to the tunnel. Looking for the right frame. Got it.

Michelle: Send this out to all the field teams. I want interagency support on setting up a grid.

Tony: I’m on it. We have an ID on a vehicle. White Chevy van, late 90’s, license plate: Charlie-Victor-Alpha-3-2-2.

------------------------

[The men driving the van stop the car and take Jack and Dina to Marwan.]

Marwan: You’ve caused me a lot of trouble.

[Marwan kicks Jack to the floor.]

Marwan: Sorry for your loss, Dina. Navi was a good man. I hope my men weren’t too rough with you. It was necessary, in case you were under surveillance.

Dina: I understand, but we weren’t followed. I was careful.

Marwan: You’re a good liar, Dina.

Dina: What?

Marwan: Fayed martyred himself. The men who were following you are dead.

Dina: What men?

Marwan: Enough with the lies!

[Marwan pulls a gun on Dina.]

Dina: Marwan, please believe me, I did not betray you.

[Marwan looks at Jack.]

Marwan: Prove it to me. Kill him.

[Marwan hands Dina his gun. She takes it. Dina aims the gun at Jack’s head. At the last second, she turns the gun on Marwan and pulls the trigger. The chamber clicks empty.]

Marwan: Just what I thought. Get him out of here.

[Marwan’s men kill Dina and take Jack away. Anderson enters the high security area of the Air Force base. He presses the pilot’s severed thumb to the keypad for verification. The door opens and he goes into the airplane hangar.] 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Paul: Jack, look out!

Jack: Paul! Get me a medic! Medic!

Medic: He’s losing pressure. I need ten cc’s of adrenaline, no compression.

Jack: It happened so fast, he was hit before I could do anything.

Audrey: How bad is it?

Jack: We don’t know. We just don’t know.

Audrey: Please tell me he’s not gonna die.

------------------------

Dina: Why should I help you?

Jack: I’m offering you your freedom, Dina. You and Behrooz will be put in a witness protection program. You’d be given new names, identities, everything.

Dina: What do you need me to do?

Jack: I need you to go to Fayed and tell him that you need to speak to Marwan.

Dina: He won’t let me through his front door, let alone get near Marwan.

Jack: He will when you tell him that you’ve got a hostage that can help him.

Dina: Who?

Jack: Me.

Dina: What if Fayed doesn’t believe us?

Jack: Then we’re both dead.

Fayed: Close the door! Put your gun over there. Do it!

Marwan: What is it?

Fayed: A woman named Dina Araz came to me.

Marwan: What does she want?

Fayed: She wants to bring you a hostage. A CTU agent named Jack Bauer.

------------------------

Marwan: You’ve caused me a lot of trouble, Mr. Bauer. Kill him. Just what I thought.

------------------------

Marwan: Meet them at the hotel.

Anderson: I’ll need his entire flight package, including clearance and identification codes.

Marwan: You’ll have whatever you need.

Anderson: Get your things. We got a plane to catch.

------------------------

John: Let me talk to my family.

Anderson: Your family is dead, and so are you.

------------------------

The following takes place between 9:00 P.M. and 10:00 P.M.

Michelle: Edgar, have you found any way to locate Jack?

Edgar: We’re trying, but Marwan wasn’t stupid. He covered his tracks.

Chloe: Michelle.

Michelle: What do we have, Chloe?

Chloe: Local PD found the van that Jack and Dina were in.

Michelle: Where?

Chloe: It was abandoned at an industrial warehouse at the far end of San Fernando road. Dina’s body was in it.

Michelle: OK. Tell local police to look for witnesses. We need a license plate, something to follow. Edgar, pull up satellite from 8:45 to 9:00 O’clock.

Edgar: I’m on it.

Michelle: All right, everyone, listen up. Jack Bauer is missing. There’s a good chance he’s being held by our primary target, Habib Marwan. Because we believe Marwan is preparing for another domestic attack today we need to pull all our resources to find him. All com teams coordinate with Edgar. Thank you.

------------------------

[Jack wakes up in the back of another van. Marwan’s cell phone rings. Jack listens as Marwan takes the call.]

Marwan: Yes?

Anderson: There’s a problem.

Marwan: What?

Anderson: I got into the base through both layers of security using the pilot’s ID. Just as I was about to do a pre-fly check they grounded the plane.

Marwan: Why?

Anderson: Checking the trouble sensor. They might have to swap out a defective part.

Marwan: How long will it take?

Anderson: I don’t know yet.

Marwan: Resolve this now. It’s time to hand your money, Mr. Anderson. The window of opportunity on the target closes in an hour.

Anderson: I understand.

[Anderson hangs up. He approaches a mechanic to find out more about the plane’s situation.]

Anderson: Excuse me.

Mechanic: Yes, sir?

Anderson: You’re working on the Phoenix?

Mechanic: Yes, Captain. Sent me down from Hawkins. You’re taking her up?

Anderson: That’s the plan. What’s the ETA on getting me into the air?

Mechanic: Well, the trouble sensor was correct, sir. There was an aniline fracture on one of your strut pins, but, uh, replacement won’t be until morning.

Anderson: Is that the only problem? Strut pin?

Mechanic: Well, yes, sir, but it’d be one hell of a problem when you try to land. We were assembling with the sin gram impact. The only way out would be to parachute out and hope the jet doesn’t come down on anyone.

Anderson: Did you make your report to the Chief Mechanical Officer?

Mechanic: I was just about to head over there right now, Captain. And then I’m gonna head over to Ventura for a little R & R.

Anderson: It sounds great. Don’t let me hold you up.

Mechanic: Thanks, sir.

[The mechanic turns around to leave. Anderson shoots him in the head.]

------------------------

Tony: Thanks. ME says Dina’s been dead for less than 30 minutes. We can only assume that that’s when Marwan grabbed Jack.

Michelle: What’s the search range on Jack and Marwan?

Tony: Fifteen hundred square miles, but it’s increasing by the minute.

Michelle: What about chatter?

Tony: Well, I filtered through everything that came from Langley, NSA and Interpol. None of it’s correlating right now.

Michelle: And volume?

Tony: It’s actually slowing down, which may mean that we’ve incurred all the damage we will today.

Michelle: Or could be the calm before the storm.

Tony: Yeah. The one thing we know for sure is that if Jack’s alive, he’ll find a way to contact us.

Michelle: We jut have to wait until we pick up a thread on Marwan.

Tony: Yeah.

Michelle: Tony.

Tony: Yeah?

Michelle: So I heard Jack called you earlier today.

Tony: Yeah.

Michelle: And that you saved his life.

Tony: Well, we both know I owed him one, right? Look, Audrey’s been waiting for her husband to get out of surgery. I think we should tell her about Jack.

Michelle: Why?

Tony: They’re involved.

Michelle: She’s married.

Tony: Separated.

Michelle: Well, then I prefer not to tell her anything.

Tony: Why?

Michelle: Because we may have to make a very tough call on how Jack’s capture plays out.

Tony: Well, Michelle, she’s a professional. She knows that’s a possibility. I think it’d be wrong to keep it from her.

Michelle: I don’t want her interfering.

Tony: I think she has a right to know. But, hey, you’re the boss. It’s your call.

Audrey: Excuse me.

Tony: How’s Paul doing?

Audrey: He’s still in surgery. I won’t know until he gets out. Have you heard anything from Jack?

Michelle: Jack is missing.

Audrey: Missing?

Michelle: We think he was taken by Habib Marwan.

Audrey: Oh, my God. What are we doing to get him back?

Michelle: Everything we can.

Audrey: How did this happen? I thought we were tracking him. He’s supposed to be protected.

Michelle: No one is fully protected in the field.

Audrey: Who was in charge of this operation?

Michelle: I was.

Audrey: Get him back, Michelle.

------------------------

[Marwan and his men bring Jack to their hideout and chain him to a pipe.]

Marwan: I have a few simple questions. If you answer them, there’s a chance you might survive today.

Jack: Don’t waste your time.

Marwan: You located me through a man named Joseph Fayed, who you might be interested to know, has since martyred himself. It would help me if I knew he was the only link you had to me.

Jack: Whatever you’ve planned next is going to fail, just like everything else you’ve tried today.

Marwan: Fail? Almost 40 dead in the train crash, many more near the San Gabriel island nuclear plant.

Jack: That wasn’t really your plan, was it? We managed to stop the other 103 power plants from melting down. That’s what America will remember, that we stopped you.

Marwan: No. They’ll remember the image of Secretary of Defense Heller held hostage on your own soil, and it will burn in their psyches. This country will forever be afraid to let their leaders again public.

Jack: For all the hatred that you have for this country, you don’t understand it very well. Whatever you throw at us, I promise you, that’ll never happen.

[Marwan leaves and enters an adjacent room where on of the guard approaches him to alert him of a problem.]

Guard: Marwan, we have a problem.

Marwan: What is it?

Guard: The family of the pilot that we killed.

Marwan: What about them? We’ve disposed of the bodies, right?

Guard: Yes, yes, but a relative showed up at the house and became suspicious when no one was home. He called the police and they’re now looking into it.

Marwan: Has it gotten to CTU yet?

Guard: No, but this man was a military pilot. If it will be flagged by other agencies, it’ll get to CTU within the hour. What do you think we should do?

Marwan: We have to make sure CTU is too busy to realize its significance. Distract them.

Guard: How?

[Marwan goes back to the room where Jack is being held.]

Marwan: Tell me about the boy.

Jack: What boy?

Marwan: Behrooz Araz.

Jack: What do you care about him for?

Marwan: Does CTU have him in custody?

Jack: Yes, he’s safe.

Marwan: You answered the question. Are you telling me the truth?

Jack: Call CTU. Ask them yourself.

[Marwan leaves the room again. Jack notices a telephone panel box in proximity to his chained hands.]

------------------------

[Chloe can’t get into the central server. She calls Edgar for the password.]

Edgar: Edgar Stiles.

Chloe: Edgar, what’s the new password for the central server?

Edgar: I’ll get you on.

Chloe: No, don’t get me on, just give me the password so I can access it whenever I want to.

Edgar: It’s not your area anymore.

Chloe: What are you talking about? You work for me.

Edgar: No, I worked for you. Worked, with an ed at the end, past tense.

Chloe: Edgar, I’ve been reinstated, so quit being territorial and just give me the password.

Edgar: No.

[Chloe gets up and approaches Curtis.]

Chloe: Curtis, could you please explain to Edgar that I’ve been rehired to resume my position as Head of Comm?

Curtis: Things have changed, Chloe. Edgar took over for you. You’ll be working for him now.

Chloe: You’re kidding. Michelle called me in because things were falling apart here under Edgar. Now give me my command or I walk.

Curtis: You’ll have equal authority. Just on paper it has to look like you work for him.

Chloe: Well, I’m not gonna do that as a matter of principal.

Curtis: You’ll be bumped up to a term-4 analyst. That’s 35 percent of your present salary, plus bonus.

Chloe: Well, I should be getting that anyway, and that’s not my point. Edgar works for me.

Curtis: Not today, Chloe.

Chloe: Fine. What’s the password to the central server?

Curtis: CIS15A.

Chloe: Thanks.

[Chloe goes back to her workstation.]

Edgar: Curtis. A man who says he’s Habib Marwan is on line 1. He wants to speak to the Director of CTU.

Curtis: Put it through a high-res filter, activate all tracers and recorders.

Curtis: Michelle. Someone who claims to be Habib Marwan’s on line. He wants to talk to you.

Michelle: Are you prepped for the call?

Curtis: Yeah. Take it there.

Michelle: Put him through. This is Michelle Dessler, Director of CTU. To whom am I speaking?

Marwan: This is Habib Marwan. Jack Bauer is alive and in my custody.

Michelle: I’ll need to speak to him.

Marwan: I’ll return him to you unharmed in exchange for Behrooz Araz. I will give you ten minutes to secure clearances with your people.

Michelle: I need more time before I can agree to that.

Marwan: Ten minutes. I will call you then with exact details on how the exchange is to proceed.

[Marwan hangs up.]

Michelle: Did you get a trace?

Edgar: No.

Michelle: All right, confirm Marwan’s identity off voice, and process Behrooz Araz. We may need to move him.

Edgar: Got it.

Curtis: Why is Behrooz Araz worth trading for Jack?

Michelle: I don’t know. Have all tactical teams meet me in the situation room.

Curtis: Yeah.

------------------------

Marwan: Have the local police sent the report about the pilot and his missing family to CTU yet?

Guard: I don’t think so, but our contact at LAPD says that the report has been flagged. It will go out to all the agencies within the next 15 minutes.

Marwan: If CTU gets a hold of it even a minute too soon, they’ll be able to stop us. You need to tell me the second that report gets released.

Guard: Yes, Marwan.

------------------------

Michelle: Marwan wants to exchange Jack Bauer for Behrooz Araz. The obvious question is why.

Tony: The way I see it, there are two possibilities; One, there’s a personal connection. Two, Behrooz has information that can damage Marwan.

Michelle: I agree. Edgar, have your team sift through everything we have on Behrooz Araz. Go back as far as you can and see if there’s a family link between him and Marwan. Did the initial interrogation reveal that Behrooz knew anything that might make him valuable to Marwan?

Tony: No, but the main focus was on the mother. We really didn’t push him very hard.

Michelle: Curtis, push harder. See what you can find, but do it now. My guess is Marwan will wanna make this exchange within the hour. Tony, monitor him from the observation room. Chloe, what do we have on audio?

Chloe: I was able to get some voice memos from McLennan Forster. The voice print matched – it was Marwan.

Tony: So how are you gonna handle this?

Curtis: The kid thinks his mother made a deal to protect him. The first thing we have to do is let him think that deal’s off.

Tony: No, we can’t use a psychological approach. It’s too slow.

Curtis: What are you suggesting?

Tony: Well, I think he’s just gonna drag us feet unless we put some physical pressure on him.

Curtis: He’s just a scared kid. I’m pretty sure he’s given us everything he knows.

Tony: You’re pretty sure?

Curtis: I’ll call Richards.

Audrey: Tony.

Tony: Go ahead. I’ll catch up.

[Curtis leaves.]

Audrey: Have you heard anything on Jack?

Tony: Yeah, we just got some information a couple of minutes ago.

Audrey: Why didn’t you let me know?

Tony: I’m sorry, Audrey, but things are going pretty fast here. Look, Jack’s alive. He is being held by Marwan.

Audrey: How did you confirm that?

Tony: Marwan contacted us.

Audrey: He contacted you? Why would he do that?

Tony: He wants to make a trade – Jack for Behrooz.

Audrey: When is that gonna happen?

Tony: Well, we don’t know if it is gonna happen.

Audrey: What do you mean?

Tony: Look, if he wants to make this trade, it means that Behrooz has tactical value. If that’s the case, then we may have to hold onto him. Look, there’s a lot of stuff we have to go over before anything happens. I’ll keep you posted, but right now I have to get in that room with Behrooz, all right?

Audrey: Thank you.

------------------------

Curtis: All right. Keep it that level. Let me know if the reading’s fluctuating.

Tony: Remember, he doesn’t know that his mother’s dead.

Curtis: I know.

[Curtis enters the holding room.]

Curtis: Hello, Behrooz.

Behrooz: How much longer do I have to stay here?

Curtis: These things take time.

Behrooz: Where’s my mother?

Curtis: She’s still in the field.

Behrooz: With Jack Bauer? Is she OK?

Curtis: Yeah, she’s fine.

[Curtis gets physically forceful with Behrooz.]

Curtis: Tell me about Habib Marwan.

Behrooz: Why are you doing this?

Curtis: Habib Marwan. Your mother gave us a little information. She said you could give us some more.

Behrooz: You promised you wouldn’t hurt me, please, get this guy away from me!

Curtis: Look over here. We’re just gonna have a little talk.

Behrooz: Marwan’s the leader, that’s all I know. I heard my parents talk about him, that’s it.

Tony: Go ahead.

[Richards enters the holding room.]

Behrooz: What are you gonna do? What is he gonna do to me?

Curtis: I’m sorry, Behrooz, we just don’t have a lot of time.

Behrooz: No! No! No! Please, let go of me! Please, no!

------------------------

Marwan: This is Marwan. Get me Michelle Dessler.

Edgar: Ms. Dessler, it’s Marwan.

Michelle: Everyone on this! This is Dessler.

Marwan: Union conduit dam, north entrance, 30 minutes.

Michelle: I need to know Jack Bauer is still alive.

Marwan: Very well. Michelle Dessler wants to make sure you’re alive.

[Marwan puts Jack on the phone.]

Jack: I’m being held in an abandoned warehouse, somewhere downtown.

[Marwan quickly pulls the phone away from Jack.]

Marwan: Satisfied?

Michelle: I don’t know if I can make this happen in 30 minutes.

Marwan: You’ll find a way.

Michelle: Wait, I…

[Marwan hangs up.]

Michelle: Dammit.

Jack: CTU will never go through with the exchange. I’m expendable.

Marwan: Yes, you are.

Jack: If Behrooz is a value to you, he’s a value to them. They’ll never let you have him back.

[Marwan goes to the other room.]

Guard: Marwan. The police report file has been distributed. In the next few minutes CTU will be alerted that the military pilot and his family are missing.

Marwan: All right.

------------------------

[Edgar receives an hourly report log from LAPD and calls Chloe.]

Edgar: Chloe, the hourlies from LAPD are here. What do you usually do with them?

Chloe: I go through them and promote any flagged items at the annalist.

Edgar: I can’t do that now. I have to get ready for the call with Marwan.

Chloe: Well, I can’t do it either. I’m working on tracking Behrooz, but I’d get on those hourlies if I were you.

Edgar: Well, you’re not me. I’ll hand it off to Meg, tell her to sift through it and deal with any flagged items when we’re done with the exchange.

Chloe: OK, boss.

Meg: This is Meg.

Edgar: Meg, the hourlies from local law enforcement just came in. Chloe and I need you to sift through them.

Meg: Do you know how back damped we are down here?

Edgar: Yeah, well, it’s worse up here. Just do it, OK?

Meg: fine, send it to 4.

------------------------

[Dressed in the dead mechanic’s overalls, Anderson approaches the chief mechanical officer.]

Anderson: The Phoenix is ready to go.

Officer: I thought we were waiting on a part.

Anderson: It’s a good thing they called me in for a second opinion. The abstract’s fine, it was just a faulty trouble sensor.

Officer: Are you sure?

Anderson: Absolutely, I triple-checked it. It’s just a false alarm. Here’s my report.

Officer: All right. I’ll clear it for takeoff.

[The chief mechanical officer calls to clear the plane for takeoff.]

Officer: This is Hoarder. Yeah, Phoenix is cleared for takeoff. All right.

------------------------

Michelle: Were you able to narrow it down?

Edgar: So far, nothing.

Michelle: We need to get this out to all departments.

------------------------

[Chloe brings Audrey some paperwork to sign.]

Audrey: Chloe, what’s wrong?

Chloe: Nothing. I mean, there’s no bad news about Jack yet, if that’s what you’re asking. Since Jack and your father aren’t here, you’re the official DOD representative, so these are some standard non-disclosures. Read them whenever you get a chance. I flagged where you need to sign.

Audrey: I’ll do that now.

Chloe: I’m really sorry about your husband.

Audrey: Thank you.

Chloe: I can’t imagine how I’d be feeling right now if I were you.

Audrey: I’m feeling like someone who’s afraid of losing her husband.

Chloe: No, I meant, you know, you and your husband are separated, and then you fall in love with Jack, I guess… And then they end up together and your husband ends up taking a bullet that saves Jack’s life. What do you do with that?

Audrey: I can’t think about that right now, Chloe, OK? I just need Paul to pull through this.

Chloe: I mean, what about Jack? You just assume that the terrorists aren’t gonna kill him?

Audrey: Chloe. I don’t wanna talk about it. Here.

Chloe: I was inappropriately blunt, wasn’t I? I do that a lot. Sorry. Sorry, I’m gonna go. I have a… field meeting anyway.

------------------------

[Curtis tries to get information on Marwan from a drugged Behrooz.]

Curtis: When you said your father spoke to Marwan, was that on the phone or did he come to your house?

Behrooz: Both.

Curtis: Did you ever speak to Marwan alone away from your parents?

Behrooz: No.

Curtis: And when they made the preparations for today’s attacks, were you in the room?

Behrooz: I told you, they didn’t want me in there.

[Tony’s phone rings.]

Tony: Almeida.

Agent: Tony, the briefing’s about to start.

Tony: All right, I’ll be right there. If he produces something relevant, let me know. I’ll be in the briefing.

Agent: Yes, sir.

[Tony leaves.]

------------------------

[The phone at Chloe’s workstation rings. She answers it.]

Chloe: O’Brian.

Meg: Chloe, is anything you’re doing up there yielding a military connection?

Chloe: No, why?

Meg: It may be nothing, but the county hourlies contain an incident report that might be worth looking at.

Chloe: What is it?

Meg: An air force pilot’s wife and kids were reported missing as of two hours ago.

Chloe: Two hours ago? How can someone be missing in two hours?

Meg: I don’t know, Chloe, I’m just telling you what it says here. Should I run it?

Chloe: No, we have to do it up here.

Meg: Then why did you send it down here in the first place?

Chloe: That was Edgar’s executive decision.

Meg: Shall I give it to you?

Chloe: No, I’m the primary tactical in the trade for Jack. Give it to Edgar.

Meg: He said he’s too busy.

Chloe: Just run it through county and get it to him.

Meg: OK.

[Meg burns the information onto a disk. Chloe calls Edgar.]

Chloe: Edgar.

Edgar: What?

Chloe: Meg found something in the hourly. She’s gonna get it to you. I need you to look at it. I’m preparing for this briefing.

Edgar: Can’t Meg do it?

Chloe: No, it’s the job of the lead tactical. Isn’t that what you think you are?

Edgar: I don’t need your sarcasm, OK? I’ll take care of it.

Chloe: Fantastic.

------------------------

Audrey: Hey. Is this briefing about the trade for Jack?

Tony: Yeah. Marwan called us again.

Audrey: Has a decision been made whether to go through with it or not?

Tony: No, that’s gonna be decided in this meeting.

Audrey: By whom?

Tony: Division. Look, the assessor went down to run point.

Audrey: Is Division thinking about not going through with this exchange?

Tony: Honestly, it could go either way, but I don’t need to tell you that Jack would want us to do what’s best for the operation and this country, not what’s best for him.

Audrey: I know.

Tony: I’ll let you know what’s going on as soon as I can.

Audrey: All right. Thanks, Tony.

Michelle: Were you able to get anything out of Behrooz?

Tony: I don’t think he knows anything, but Curtis is still trying.

Michelle: OK. Bill, are you up to speed?

Buchanan: Yeah. I got briefed on the way here.

Michelle: All right, everyone. Listen up. This is Bill Buchanan from Division. He’ll be overseeing the operation. All department heads, run everything through him. Bill.

Buchanan: in less than half an hour, Habib Marwan wants to make an exchange at the union conduit dam - Behrooz Araz for Jack Bauer. Now, before we decide whether or not to go forward, I need to know a few things. Why does Marwan want the boy? What’s his value?

Michelle: We were unable to find any evidence that Behrooz had any critical information.

Buchanan: Did you push him?

Tony: Yeah. I don’t think the kid knows anything.

Buchanan: Who’s running backgrounds?

Chloe: Me. There’s nothing that specifically ties these two people together. The parents - yes, Behrooz - no.

Buchanan: Could Behrooz have had something implanted in his body? Something neither he nor his parents knew about?

Tony: No. We had him scanned when he was brought in.

Buchanan: Did you get an MRI?

Tony: Yeah.

Buchanan: I don’t like giving something up unless I know its value. Let’s talk about what happens if we don’t agree to the exchange.

Chloe: We don’t get Jack Bauer back, for one thing.

Buchanan: That can’t be the decidal factor here.

Michelle: Well, most importantly, if we don’t go through with this exchange we may lose an opportunity to trap Marwan.

Buchanan: Marwan has to know that’s what we’re thinking. The chances of him actually being present at the exchange are small.

Michelle: I agree, but we could put a tracer on Behrooz. He might lead us to Marwan.

Buchanan: We tried to trace Dina Araz and Jack an hour ago. They grabbed Jack and killed Dina.

Edgar: We’ll take a different approach. Use tracers, two of them. One for Marwan to find, the other subcutaneous.

Buchanan: There’s no guarantee he won’t find that one too.

Michelle: No, sir, there are no guarantees, period. But the fact is we have no viable leads on Marwan. We have to run with every chance we get.

Buchanan: Have tactical finish up the profiles in five minutes. Let’s get field teams on their way to the dam now.

Tony: How do you wanna approach the site?

Buchanan: We’ll figure that out when Marwan calls back with the details of the exchange. Go.

------------------------

[Marwan calls Anderson.]

Anderson: Yeah?

Marwan: What’s your status?

Anderson: I should be airborne in 30 minutes.

Marwan: Very well.

[Marwan hangs up.]

Marwan: Get Bauer.

[Jack, meanwhile, has twisted the wires in the telephone panel box to cause sparks. Marwan’s thugs enter the room. While still handcuffed to the pipes, Jack knocks both of them down with his feet. This effectively distracts them from the box. The men subdue Jack and lead him out.]

------------------------

[Meg brings Edgar a disk with verification on the Air Force pilot family’s missing person report.]

Edgar (over the phone): No, we have to have the satellite repositioned before the exchange takes place.

Meg: Edgar. Chloe wants you to take a look at this when you have the time.

Edgar (over the phone): Hang on, I’m gonna write that down. (To Meg) Just put it right there. Thank you. (Over the phone) Yeah, OK. Got it.

[Edgar hangs up. He is too busy to look at the hourlies.]

------------------------

[Audrey is still at the clinic, waiting for Paul to get out of surgery.]

Nurse: Mrs. Raines. The Doctor wanted me to tell you that your husband should be out of surgery within the next hour.

Audrey: How is it going?

Nurse: That’s all he said.

Audrey: Thank you.

[Tony enters the room.]

Tony: Audrey. Any word on Paul?

Audrey: We still don’t know yet.

Tony: Look, I thought you’d wanna know. We have decided to go ahead with the exchange. We’re getting Behrooz ready right now.

Audrey: It’s not gonna be as simple as that, is it?

Tony: These things are never simple, but, uh… if Marwan really wants this kid, he’s got no reason to hurt Jack.

Audrey: And if he doesn’t and it’s just a trap?

Tony: We’ll be prepared. Our field agents will have the area fully covered.

Audrey: Tony, will you be there?

Tony: No, I’m gonna be running point from here, but Curtis will be on the ground.

Audrey: Is the operational objective to get Jack?

Tony: No, it isn’t. Audrey, we have to consider Jack expendable. This whole thing’s about creating an exposure point for Marwan.

Audrey: I know. Thank you for being straight with me, Tony.

Tony: Look, Jack’s about the only friend I have left, so I’m gonna do everything I can to keep him safe. All right? OK.

------------------------

[Curtis preps Behrooz for the exchange.]

Behrooz: What are you doing? Where are you taking me?

Curtis: Habib Marwan offered to exchange one of our operatives for you. We accepted that offer.

Behrooz: What are you talking about? What does he want with me?

Curtis: We don’t know, but we’ll be behind you every step of the way and we’ll cover you as soon as possible.

Behrooz: Does my mother know about this?

Curtis: Yes.

Behrooz: You made a deal with her, to put us both in witness protection.

Curtis: And we’ll do everything to abide by that deal.

Behrooz: Then don’t do this!

Curtis: That’s not an option. Now, put this watch on.

Behrooz: No.

[Curtis puts the watch with the transmitter on Behrooz.]

Behrooz: Get off of me.

Curtis: These devices will help track you, and I give you my word, I’ll do everything in my power for you. Hang on, this is gonna sting.

[An agent injects another transmitter into the back of Behrooz’s head.]

Curtis: It’s a micro tracker implanted under your skin.

Behrooz: You don’t care about me or your word. You’re just using me.

Agent: Let’s go.

------------------------

[Edgar is just about to go through the hourlies when Tony interrupts.]

Tony: Edgar, I need you to sterilize a video feed to Curtis’ van.

Edgar: Tony, I’m stacked up. I got teams that need tactical uploads. These hourlies need to be looked at, they’re 30 minutes past due. And now I gotta put video together?

Tony: The video’s a priority. I’ll take care of the uploads.

Edgar: What about the hourlies?

Tony: Get on them as soon as the link’s in place.

[Edgar puts Meg’s disk aside. Chloe monitors the two tracking devices on Behrooz.]

Tony: Is that tracker working?

Chloe: The red dot is the decoy. When they find the watch and remove it, we can still trace the tracker in the back of his neck.

Tony: All right. Edgar, make sure all cellular stations in that area are put on auto trace.

Edgar: Got it.

Buchanan: When our vehicles get within two miles off the dam on the west, have them hold. Nobody goes into that area until we hear from Marwan again.

Tony: All right, Castle and his team will be there as soon as possible. Behrooz is on his way, the tracers are in place.

Michelle: We don’t have time to send in sweep teams. Make sure it’s not a trap.

Buchanan: We don’t have a choice.

[The phone rings.]

Edgar: CTU, Edgar Stiles.

Marwan: This is Marwan. Get Dessler.

Edgar: Miss Dessler, it’s Marwan.

Michelle: This is Dessler.

Marwan: I’m going to give you final instructions now. Make sure you follow them implacably. Are you ready?

Michelle: Go ahead.

Marwan: How are you transporting Behrooz?

Michelle: In one of our tactical vehicles.

Marwan: Good. Now, approach via the frontage road. Pull up at the back gate of the dam and have Behrooz get out by himself and walk toward the gate. A van will be there to pick him up.

Michelle: What about Jack Bauer?

Marwan: He’ll be in the van.

Michelle: That doesn’t work for me. I wanna see Jack before I give up Behrooz.

Marwan: That’s acceptable.

Michelle: And I want him unharmed.

Marwan: Your boy scout is just fine.

Michelle: OK.

Marwan: Remember, Behrooz gets out by himself. If any of your agents interfere, Bauer dies.

Michelle: Understood.

Marwan: Don’t be late.

Michelle: Our vehicle’s five minutes away.

Marwan: Then we’ll see you in five minutes.

[Marwan hangs up.]

Marwan: That should keep them busy.

Guard: What do you want to do about Bauer?

Marwan: As soon as we have Behrooz, we kill Bauer.

------------------------

[Curtis and Behrooz are on the way to the meeting point.]

Behrooz: Who’s going to protect me?

Curtis: We are. That’s why we put trackers on you.

Behrooz: You don’t think Marwan will find them? He will.

Curtis: Hopefully it won’t come to that, Behrooz.

Behrooz: What does that mean?

Curtis: We’re gonna have the area surrounded. We will protect you.

Behrooz: Why would you protect me? I’m nothing to you people. You think I’m a terrorist.

Curtis: I don’t believe you are.

Behrooz: If Marwan is going to be there, why don’t you just grab him when we get there?

Curtis: He’s probably not gonna be there. We need you to lead us to him.

Behrooz: Oh, God.

Curtis: It’s gonna be all right.

Behrooz: It’s not.

------------------------

Sniper: I’m in position.

Marwan: Does CTU have anyone there yet?

Sniper: No, but Rashid has spotted vehicles at the edge of the access road. We think that it might be them.

Marwan: OK. Wait until the exchange, then I’ll give you the word to take out Bauer.

Sniper: All right.

Guard: Once the trade is made, how much longer do we need to keep CTU distracted?

Marwan: Ideally, until we hit the target. In any event, as long as possible.

Guard: And what should my men do with Behrooz once we have him?

Marwan: I haven’t decided yet.

------------------------

[The CTU van arrives near the dam. Marwan’s cell phone rings.]

Marwan: Yes?

Sniper: They are here.

Marwan: Good. Send in the van.

[Curtis walks Behrooz out of the car.]

Behrooz: I don’t wanna do this, please. I’m afraid.

Curtis: I told you, Behrooz. We’ll be behind you every step of the way.

Behrooz: What good will that do if he wants me dead?

Curtis: He’s not going through all of this just so he can kill you, all right?

[Marwan’s van arrives.]

Curtis: All right, the van’s here.

Guard (to Jack): Come on, move it.

Curtis: All right, I see Jack.

Tony: This might be all we’re gonna get. We could converge on him now.

Michelle: Edgar, is there any indication that Marwan has other personnel or vehicles in the area?

Edgar: No, just the van.

Michelle: Marwan’s not gonna be there.

Buchanan: If we close in now, they could take the van out themselves. We’ll proceed.

Michelle: Curtis, it’s a go.

Curtis: All right. I’m sending Behrooz. Go ahead. It’s all right.

Guard (to Jack): Go.

[Behrooz walks toward Jack as the exchange takes place.]

Behrooz: Is my mother in the van? She was working with you. Where is she?

Jack: I don’t know.

Behrooz: I don’t wanna die.

[Marwan’s men grab Behrooz and put him in the van.]

Sniper: They’ve got Behrooz. I’ve got Bauer in my sight.

Marwan: Take him out.

[Suddenly, a CTU sniper takes out Marwan’s sniper first. The field ops grab Jack and throw him in the van.]

Jack: Why’d you give that kid? Why’d you give the kid?

Curtis: It’s OK, he’s being double tagged, we’ll be tracking him. All right, you two, secure the area. You two, let’s go.

[Jack calls Tony.]

Tony: Almeida.

Jack: Tony, it’s Jack.

Tony: Yeah, Jack, I got Buchanan and Michelle here. I’m putting you on speaker.

Jack: OK.

Tony: Are you OK?

Jack: Yeah, I’m fine. Look, Tony, I need you to pick up a phone main tracks within a 20 mile radius of the dam.

Tony: What are you thinking?

Jack: I managed to short circuit some phone lines in the building that I was being held. Look, if you can find two service obstructions at the same coordinates, we can get to Marwan.

Tony: I’m opening up an interface with the phone company right now.

Jack: Tony, we don’t have a lot of time. Marwan was at the building when they moved me, but he’s not gonna stay there for long.

Tony: We have tactical teams ready to go. Once we get a location, I’ll position them for assault.

Jack: OK, I know the layout, I’ll run point.

Tony: Copy that.

------------------------

Chloe: The van’s heading west on center. Both trackers are registering so far.

Curtis: Good. Let me know if anything changes.

Chloe: OK, I will.

[Meanwhile, Behrooz is in the van with Marwan’s men.]

Man: Marwan, we have the boy.

Marwan: I know they will have placed tracking devices on him. Find them.

Man: We are looking for them now.

Marwan: When you’ve destroyed them, report back to me.

Man: Very well.

[Marwan’s men spot the tracking device on Behrooz’s watch and remove the watch.]

Behrooz: Where’s my mother?

Man: Your mother is dead.

Behrooz: No. I don’t believe you.

[Marwan’s men also find the injected transmitter in Behrooz’s neck and carve it out with a knife.]

Behrooz: What are you gonna do to me? No! No…

[Chloe calls Curtis.]

Curtis: Curtis.

Chloe: We lost one of the tags. They found the decoy.

Curtis: All right. How’s the injected device looking?

Chloe: Still tracking. Wait. No, it’s not. They must have found it.

Curtis: Dammit. All right, can you get me a visual on the van?

Chloe: Hold on.

[Chloe calls Edgar, who just started sifting through the hourlies.]

Edgar: Yeah, Chloe?

Chloe: We need the satellite pumped into the tactical server.

Edgar: Chloe, I got something you should see.

Chloe: OK, I’ll get to it. Right now we need that satellite to find Behrooz Araz before they kill him.

Edgar: I’m on it.

[Edgar pulls the hourlies CD out again and puts it aside.]

------------------------

[From the phone records, Tony gets the coordinates on Marwan’s location.]

Tony: We have a location from the phone company. I repeat, we have a location where Marwan was holding Jack. Edgar, download these coordinates to tactical right now.

------------------------

[Marwan is on the phone with Anderson.]

Marwan: Our window is closing. We will only have this one opportunity. You’ve gotta get into the air now.

Anderson: No problem. I’m ready and on the move.

[Anderson is in the cockpit of an F-117A stealth fighter jet as it rolls out onto the tarmac.] 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Jack: Whatever you’ve planned next is going to fail, just like everything else you’ve tried today.

Marwan: Almost 40 dead in the train crash, many more near the San Gabriel island nuclear plant.

Jack: We managed to stop the other 103 power plants from melting down. That’s what America will remember, that we stopped you.

Marwan: No. This country will forever be afraid to let their leaders again public.

Jack: For all the hatred that you have for this country, you don’t understand it very well.

------------------------

Rafique: Marwan. The police report file has been distributed. In the next few minutes CTU will be alerted that the military pilot and his family are missing. What do you think we should do?

Marwan: We have to make sure CTU is too busy to realize its significance. Jack Bauer is alive and in my custody. I will return him to you unharmed in exchange for Behrooz Araz.

------------------------

Michelle: This is Bill Buchanan from Division. He’ll be overseeing the operation.

Buchanan: Let’s talk about what happens if we don’t agree to the exchange.

Chloe: We don’t get Jack Bauer back, for one thing.

Buchanan: That can’t be the decidal factor here.

Michelle: Well, most importantly, if we don’t go through with this exchange we may lose an opportunity to trap Marwan.

------------------------

Behrooz: Is my mother in the van? She was working with you. Where is she?

Jack: I don’t know.

Behrooz: I don’t wanna die.

Jack: Why’d you give that kid?

Curtis: It’s OK, he’s being double tagged, we’ll be tracking him.

Jack: I managed to short circuit some phone lines in the building that I was being held. If you can find two service obstructions at the same coordinates, we can get to Marwan.

Tony: We have a location where Marwan was holding Jack.

------------------------

Marwan: Yes?

Anderson: There’s a problem. Just as I was about to do a pre-fly check they grounded the plane.

Marwan: Resolve this now.

------------------------

Anderson: Did you make your report to the Chief Mechanical Officer?

Mechanic: I was just about to head over there right now.

Anderson: Don’t let me hold you up.

------------------------

Anderson: It’s just a false alarm.

Officer: All right. I’ll clear it for takeoff.

------------------------

The following takes place between 10:00 P.M. and 11:00 P.M.

[Tony and Michelle brief President Keeler, who has been circling in Air Force One for twenty hours.]

Tony: We placed multiple trackers on Behrooz Araz, but those are no longer transmitting, which means that Marwan’s men found and destroyed them.

Keeler: Are you close to finding Marwan?

Tony: We may be, sir. Jack Bauer managed to tag the location where he was being held. We’re preparing to mount a raid on that location as we speak.

Keeler: I want Marwan found, now. I’ve asked Secret Service to secure a landing site so I can be on the ground to address the nation before the 11:00 O’clock news.

Tony: Sir, we believe that you’re safer in the air right now.

Keeler: I have been flying for twenty hours. The American people need to hear from me now, not tomorrow.

Michelle: Then may I suggest you do it from Air Force One? It may not be optimal, but at least you’ll get your message across.

Keeler: I appreciate your concerns, but I’m going to give my speech when I get to Los Angeles. I’ll inform the press core, give them enough time to notify their oblates.

Michelle: Yes, Mr. President.

Keeler: Just make sure I’m briefed on Bauer’s progress before I go on the air.

Michelle: Of course.

[The president hut the video feed off.]

Michelle: What’s Jack’s status?

Tony: His team just arrived at Marwan’s location. They should be in place in a few minutes.

------------------------

[Jack calls CTU to report that he’s at Marwan’s hideout.]

Chloe: CTU, Com.

Jack: This is Bauer. Strike teams are moving into final position. We’re about five minutes out. How are you on your end?

Chloe: We’re coordinating backup teams, and the building plans are online.

Jack: Chloe?

Chloe: Yeah, it’s me. Michelle brought me back in.

Jack: Good. Are the satellites in position?

Chloe: Yes. We’ve been monitoring the area for the past five minutes, but there’s been no activity.

Jack: How’s Paul Raines doing? Is he still in surgery?

Chloe: No, he just got out.

Jack: Chloe, I’m glad to have you back. We’re gonna need your help. Look, is Audrey there?

Chloe: I think so.

Jack: Let me speak to her.

Chloe: Hold on.

[Chloe calls Audrey on her cell phone.]

Audrey: Hello?

Chloe: Audrey, I have Jack on the line. Are you there?

Audrey: Yeah, I’m here.

Chloe: Hold for Jack.

Audrey: OK.

[Chloe puts Jack through to Audrey.]

Jack: Audrey?

Audrey: Jack. Are you OK?

Jack: Yeah, I’m fine. How’s Paul doing?

Audrey: They just finished operating. They said he’s gonna make it. I’m waiting to talk to the doctors.

Jack: Good, I’m glad. Look, Audrey. I know we have to talk about how I handled everything with Paul.

Audrey: Yeah, we do. It’s just… it’s really hard right now.

Jack: Yeah, I… I understand.

Audrey: Are you still out in the field?

Jack: Yeah, we’re getting ready to move on Marwan.

Audrey: Be careful.

Jack: Yeah, I’ll call you as soon as it’s done.

Audrey: Yeah. Right.

[Jack hangs up.]

------------------------

[Michelle and Chloe brief Buchanan.]

Buchanan: I just got off the phone with DOD. They wanna know what our status is.

Michelle: Jack’s team has been deployed to Marwan’s location. He should begin the assault any minute.

Buchanan: Did you get a read on how many hostile are inside?

Chloe: Based on the infrared scan, we count eight.

Buchanan: Did we pick up voice transmission that could indicate that one of them is Marwan?

Chloe: No, but we know he was there 25 minutes ago, when Jack left the building.

------------------------

[Marwan speaks to Nicole, the woman who lured the Air Force pilot into bed to get his passcards.]

Marwan: If the information on that hard drive is discovered by the Americans, it’ll jeopardize the next phase of our plan.

Nicole: Well, it’s not here.

Marwan: No, you haven’t looked hard enough.

Nicole: I’ve been searching for almost an hour.

Marwan: Aziz told one of his men he hid a backup copy of those files in his apartment.

Nicole: Well, why didn’t Aziz tell you where he hid it?

Marwan: Because he was killed before he could tell me.

Nicole: Look, Anderson shared this apartment with Aziz, maybe Anderson knows where the hard drive is.

Marwan: Keep looking. I’ll try to contact him.

[Anderson, meanwhile, has taken the stealth bomber into the air.]

Anderson: Robert-three-niner in the air, heading 5-5-2.

Tower: Roger, Robert-three-niner, you are clear for a 3-5 thousand feet.

Anderson: Robert-three-niner, I’m setting it to 3-5 thousand feet.

Tower: Copy that.

[Anderson’s phone rings.]

Anderson: I’m in the air. I’ll reach the target in 45 minutes.

Marwan: We have a problem.

Anderson: What kind of problem?

Marwan: Aziz. He hid a backup copy of his files in your apartment on hard drive. We haven’t been able to find it.

Anderson: Ask Aziz.

Marwan: Aziz is dead.

Anderson: I don’t know about a hard drive.

Marwan: You have no idea where he might have kept it?

Anderson: If I knew where it was, I’d tell you.

[Marwan notices sparks on the phone wiring that Jack configured.]

Anderson: Let’s not get myself killed.

Marwan: I’ll get back to you.

[Marwan hangs up. He becomes suspicious, and secretly arms a detonator remote. Outside, Jack and his team get ready for the raid.]

Jack: OK. In order to flush Marwan out I want you to lead your men down the main corridor. He’ll try and escape through the left flank. That’s where I’ll find him.

Castle: Tac teams are ready to go in on your word.

Jack: Have they set the charges on the door?

Castle: Yes.

Jack: Gentlemen, we are a go.

Castle: We’ve got a green light. Teams A and B, move into position. All teams, move in on the target.

Radio: All teams, all teams, it’s a go.

Jack: Prepare to ignite charges on my mark. Three, two, one. Blow the door.

[Jack and his SWAT team blow open the door of the hideout and raid the premises.]

Rafique: Go, go, move, move, move! Delete the files! Delete everything!

[Marwan runs up a set of stairs as Jack sets out to find him. The agents take out a number of cell members.]

Jack: Hold your fire!

Castle: Clear!

Jack: Marwan’s not here. Notify the perimeter.

Castle: Team 1 and team 2, come in. Marwan is not in the building. Maintain your perimeter.

[Jack approaches a computer that is self-deleting.]

Jack: Come on! I can’t stop this thing from deleting.

[From the outside, Marwan get ready to set the bomb off with a remote control.]

Jack: This doesn’t make sense.

[Jack sees a red light flash.]

Jack: This room’s hot, get your men out of here. Get your men out of here!

[As they run, a small bomb goes off and all the computers in the compound explode. CTU hears the explosion.]

Michelle: Jack, what’s happening? What’s going on over there?

Jack: Are you OK?

Castle: Yeah, I think so.

Jack: Check your men.

Michelle: Jack, if you can hear me, respond.

Jack: Michelle, Marwan’s escaped. He just blew off the hard drive to all his computers. He’s trying to cover his tracks. I’m going off com. If you want be I’m gonna be on my cell.

Michelle: Chloe, get data forensics in there now, and start a high-target search for Marwan.

[Jack sees that one of Marwan’s key aides is still alive.]

Jack: Get me a medic! Medic!

Rafique: You can’t stop it.

Jack: Stop what?

Rafique: Within the hour.

Jack: What’s gonna happen within the hour? What’s gonna happen within the hour?

[Rafique dies.]

------------------------

[The surgeon comes to let Audrey know about Paul’s situation.]

Doctor: Mrs. Raines.

Audrey: Yes?

Doctor: Your husband’s in recovery.

Audrey: How is he?

Doctor: He’s stable, but one of the bullets did some damage to his spine. Right now he’s paralyzed from the waist down.

Audrey: Is it permanent?

Doctor: It’s too early to tell. It’ll take weeks, maybe months before we fully understand the extensive damage to his spine.

Audrey: So it’s possible he could regain the use of his legs?

Doctor: It’s possible, yes.

Audrey: But not likely.

Doctor: Again, it’s too early to tell. We can go over the details later, but I’d be lying to you if I told you I was optimistic. A lot depends on his attitude, his support system - emotional as well as medical.

Audrey: Does he know?

Doctor: Yes. I just told him. I’m sure he’d like to see you.

Audrey: Thank you.

[Audrey goes in to see Paul.]

Audrey: Excuse me. Can you give us a minute, please?

Nurse: Mm-hm.

Audrey: Thank you.

[The nurse leaves.]

Paul: Oh, no. Don’t you even think of feeling sorry for me. Whatever they say, I’m gonna walk again.

Audrey: I know you will.

Paul: So where is Jack?

Audrey: He’s still out in the field. He called a little while ago, wanted to know how you were doing. He knows that bullet was meant for him.

Paul: I was just trying to push him out of the way. I didn’t expect to get shot myself.

Audrey: What you did was very… very brave, Paul.

[Audrey takes Paul’s hand and kisses him on the hand.]

------------------------

[Buchanan admonishes Michelle for letting Marwan escape, but Tony defends CTU’s actions.]

Tony: LAPD’s widening the search perimeter, but so far they’re coming up empty.

Michelle: Jack said something might happen within the hour. If we don’t find Marwan…

Tony: We’re gonna find him.

Buchanan: Did you secure Marwan yet?

Michelle: No. He must have slipped through the perimeter.

Buchanan: How the hell could you let that happen?

Tony: It doesn’t matter how it happened. What matters is that he’s gone and we’re doing everything we can to find him.

Buchanan: What exactly are you doing?

Michelle: We’ve widen the perimeter, set up a search grid. State Police and LAPD are conducting a sweep.

Edgar: Jack’s on line 2. He says he’s got something.

Buchanan: Put him on speaker.

Michelle: Jack, it’s Michelle. You’re also on with Tony and Bill Buchanan from Division.

Jack: OK, look. Marwan had an area set up for forging documents. Some of them made it through the explosion. We managed to secure a number of names and faces. Agent Castle’s uploading them to your server now. I want you to cross reference them with the watch list.

Buchanan: We’ll get on it right away.

Jack: Get back to me if you got a match.

[Jack hangs up.]

Michelle: Edgar.

Edgar: I’m initializing the facial recognition software now.

Michelle: Good.

Buchanan: Michelle. Listen, um… I’m sorry if I snapped.

Michelle: It’s OK. We’re all under a lot of pressure.

Buchanan: You’re holding up?

Michelle: I’m fine.

[Buchanan gently touches Michelle’s shoulder. Tony notices this.]

Michelle: Edgar, how’s that uplink?

Edgar: Coming up.

Tony: Chloe, how long has Buchanan been in Division?

Chloe: I don’t know. It took him a while to fill Chappelle’s position. Six months.

Tony: Where was he before then?

Chloe: Seattle, I think.

Tony: Seattle?

Chloe: Yeah, that’s where Michelle was posted while you were in jail, right?

Tony: Yeah. Thanks.

[Tony formulates his own conclusion.]

Edgar: Got a match.

[Michelle calls Jack.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Michelle: Jack, we have a match on one of those photos. He’s on the FBI watch list. His name is Mitch Anderson.

Jack: What have we got on him?

Michelle: Ex-military, arrested for drug possession, served time in military prison, was dishonorably discharged four years ago. Since then he’s been hired as a mercenary in a number of conduits around the world. Came back to the US about a year ago.

Jack: Is he on our active investigation?

Michelle: He was moved up the list when we raised the alert but he wasn’t made a priority. The Bureau sent an agent over to check out his apartment.

Jack: Has the agent checked back in yet?

Michelle: They still may be in transit.

Jack: OK, I want you to get me an address on Anderson. Start digging up as much information as you can, and get me a contact number for the FBI agent.

Michelle: I’m on it.

[Jack hangs up.]

------------------------

[FBI Agent Drake arrives at Anderson’s apartment. She knocks on the door. Nicole is still inside the apartment.]

Agent Drake: FBI. I’m looking for Mitch Anderson. This is FBI agent Drake, please open the door.

[Agent Drake opens the door herself and enters the apartment. Nicole shoots her from upstairs. Drake’s cell phone rings and Nicole answers it.]

Nicole: Agent Drake.

Jack: Hi, my name is Jack Bauer. I’m working with CTU. I’m looking for a man named Mitch Anderson. Your office said you were investigating him.

Nicole: I just got to his apartment a few minute ago.

Jack: What do you mean? He’s not there?

Nicole: No. Why is CTU involved? Is there any new information about Anderson?

Jack: We have evidence connecting him to a man named Habib Marwan. Marwan’s been responsible for all the terrorist activities earlier today. We also have reason to believe he’s planning another attack.

Nicole: Well, how is Anderson involved?

Jack: I’ll advise you when I get there.

Nicole: How far away are you?

Jack: I’m about ten minutes out.

Nicole: I’ll be here.

Jack: Thank you.

------------------------

[Marwan hides in an alley and gets in a car that has come to pick him up. He calls an accomplice of his.]

Man: Yes?

Marwan: We had a slight delay. I’m heading over there now.

Man: What about Anderson?

Marwan: He’s in the air, on his way to the target. Everything’s on schedule. Are your people in place?

Man: Yes. We’re ready to deploy.

Marwan: Good. I’ll see you when we arrive.

[Marwan hangs up.]

------------------------

[Aboard Air Force One, the President goes through the speech he’s gonna give to the nation.]

Keeler: I’m sorry, but this just isn’t cutting it. The tone is all wrong.

Robert: Sir, maybe I could give the speech writers a clear idea of what you want.

Keeler: This is one of the most traumatic days in the history of this country. What I want is a speech that is equal to the occasion. Give me a few minutes, will you, Robert? Let me think about this a little while longer.

Robert: Of course, Mr. President.

Keeler: And Robert, ask my son to step in, will you?

Robert: Yes, sir.

[Robert leaves the room. The President’s son, Kevin, enters.]

Kevin: Dad.

Keeler: Well, a quick trip to Mexico, a low-key state visit, and then we’d finally have some time to spend together.

Kevin: It’s OK. The press core’s been keeping me entertained.

Keeler: You know, ever since your mother died I promised myself I’d be there for you.

Kevin: You’re doing what you had to do.

Keeler: I could use your help right about now. I’m gonna be addressing the nation in about one hour. I still don’t have a speech that I’m happy with.

Kevin: I’m no speech writer

Keeler: No, I know. But you’ve got a level head and you’re about the most decent person I know. As far as I’m concerned, you represent the very best this country has to offer. So… what do you wanna hear the president say when he addresses you tonight?

Kevin: The truth.

Keeler: We’ve been attacked by terrorists. Americans are dead. The man responsible is still at large, and we are by no means certain that we can catch him before he strikes again. What happened earlier may be nothing compared to what happens next. That’s the truth, Kevin. Is that what you think I should say?

Kevin: I don’t know.

Keeler: Neither do I. But the fact remains – I have to say something.

Kevin: You want me to help you figure it out?

Keeler: Absolutely.

------------------------

[Jack arrives at Anderson’s apartment with another CTU agent. Jack and the agent enter the apartment carefully.]

Jack: Agent Drake?

[Jack and the agent pull out their guns.]

Jack: Agent Drake?

[Nicole appears with her gun drawn at Jack.]

Jack: Drop the weapon! Drop the weapon now!

Nicole: Are you agent Bauer?

Jack: Yes. Now, holster your weapon!

Nicole: I need to see your ID.

Jack: I don’t have identification. I’m working with CTU on a provisional basis. I talked to you ten minutes ago. You can call Division and confirm.

Hart: Agent Drake, just take it easy. He’s with me. Agent Hart, CTU. Now, I’m gonna holster my gun and I’m gonna show you my credentials.

[The agent shows Nicole his ID. Nicole puts down the gun.]

Nicole: I’m sorry. But with everything that happened today, you can’t be too careful.

Jack: I understand.

Nicole: Agent Bauer, we just intercepted a call indicating that Anderson was in possession of computer files that could tell us Marwan’s next target.

Jack: What the source on the intercepted call?

Nicole: I’m still waiting for the details.

[Jack looks around the apartment and sees the mess Nicole made trying to find the hard drive.]

Jack: Did you find the apartment in this condition?

Nicole: No. My A sac thinks that Anderson may have hidden a backup copy of the files here. I was trying to find it.

Jack: Right now Anderson’s our only lead. We’re gonna stay here and help you finish the job. Do the cabins, I’ll take upstairs.

[Jack goes upstairs.]

------------------------

[Anderson calls Marwan to confirm that his cover has been taken care of.]

Marwan: Where are you?

Anderson: I’m almost in position.

Marwan: What’s the problem?

Anderson: Is my cover in place?

Marwan: I’ve told you before; yes, you’ll be 100 percent safe.

Anderson: Marwan, they have to believe I’m dead.

Marwan: They will. My people have taken care of this.

Anderson: They’d better. Because once this is done, the entire world is gonna be looking for me.

------------------------

Chloe (over the phone): I understand. Yeah, I’ll tell him. Thanks, Ruben.

[Chloe approaches Edgar.]

Chloe: Edgar.

Edgar: Yeah?

Chloe: I have some bad news. Do you want me to tell you here or somewhere private?

Edgar: What?

Chloe: I just got off the phone with Ruben Weiss from OSHA, and he said they’re not gonna be able to get in the area where your mother died for a few weeks, maybe months.

Edgar: Why not?

Chloe: Think about it. Half-life, radiation.

Edgar: What does that mean?

Chloe: Well, he didn’t spell it out, but I think that means you’re gonna have to have a funeral without the body. Of your mother.

Edgar: I can’t deal with this right now, Chloe. Michelle needs prioritized list for Marwan’s pursuit plan.

Chloe: Oh. OK, good. Do you want me to do that for you?

Edgar: No.

[Edgar tries to hide his feelings.]

------------------------

Michelle: LAPD has locked down the area where Marwan was last seen. I need you to review the search grid.

Tony: All right.

Michelle: OK. Thanks.

Tony: Michelle. When were you planning on telling me?

Michelle: About what?

Tony: About you and Buchanan.

Michelle: Never, because it’s none of your business.

Tony: Michelle. Before you worked with him at Division, you worked with him in Seattle in Homeland Security restructuring, right?

Michelle: Yeah.

Tony: We were still married then.

Michelle: Legally, yes.

Tony: Did you sleep with him while we were married?

Michelle: No, I didn’t.

Tony: But you are now.

Michelle: Like I said, it’s none of your business.

[Michelle goes over to Edgar.]

Michelle: Edgar, where are those updates?

Edgar: Coming right up.

[Chloe notices that Edgar has made a mistake.]

Chloe: Edgar, what are you doing?

[Edgar pulls a CD out and goes over to hand it to Michelle. Chloe intercedes before Edgar can say anything.]

Edgar: Ms. Dessler.

Chloe: Edgar, wait.

Edgar: What?

Chloe: Wait. Before you turn that in, I made a mistake. I used Rom-major format instead of Com-major.

Michelle: Why would you do that, Chloe? You know Rom-major isn’t compatible with our software. It’ll bring all our processors to a crawl.

Chloe: I know. It was a mistake. I thought it was going to Division.

Michelle: Well, fix it.

[Chloe goes over to her workstation.]

Edgar: Chloe. That was my mistake. Why did you cover for me?

Chloe: You’re welcome.

Edgar: You’d have had your job back if you let me hand her the disk.

Chloe: I thought you had a lot on your mind.

------------------------

[Hart comes inside the apartment and goes upstairs, where Jack is. Nicole is downstairs, still searching for the hard drive.]

Hart: Agent Bauer.

Jack: Yeah?

[Knowing that Anderson has been a civilian for four years, Jack is suspicious when he finds a recent military medal in the closet.]

Hart: I checked with the neighbors. Nobody’s seen Mitch Anderson today.

Jack: Did you talk to the manager?

Hart: Yeah. Anderson kept him settled. Paid his run on time, the ideal tenant.

Jack: OK, thanks. Agent Drake.

Nicole: Yes?

Jack: Anderson was Ex-military, dishonorably discharged. This badge is from Vanguard Mills, they manufacture medals for the armed forces. There’s a date stamp on it. Three months old. Anderson left the military four years ago.

Nicole: You think he’s currently posing as military?

Jack: It’s a distinct possibility. I want you to let your people know. We’ll do the same. Have this scanned. (Jack hands Hart the medal.) Send it over to Chloe at CTU.

Hart: You got it.

[Nicole pretends to call this in.]

Nicole: This is Special Agent Drake. Can you put me through to Dalson, please? Thank you.

[Jack calls CTU.]

Tony: CTU, Almeida.

Jack: Tony, it’s Jack. We just found some evidence that indicates that Anderson may be posing as military. I want you to update the profile, see if anything comes back.

Tony: All right, I’m on it.

Jack: OK, thanks.

Nicole: Yeah, this is Drake. Listen, I just found credible evidence suggesting that Anderson is disguised as military. That’s right. Yes. Fine. Yes. No, that’s not a problem. Good. All right. Thanks. I’ll let you know if we find anything else.

[Nicole “hangs up”.]

Hart: Hey, I found something. It’s the external hard drive. This is exactly what we’re looking for.

Nicole: It’s good work.

[Nicole kills the agent and takes the hard drive. She pulls out her gun. From upstairs, Jack sees Hart’s body. He pulls his gun out.]

Jack: Drop the weapon!

[Nicole fires at Jack and he fires back, killing her. Jack goes down the stairs. He takes out the hard drive.]

Jack: Son of a bitch. Come on.

[With a laptop, Jack finds that everything on the hard drive is locked. He calls Edgar for help accessing it.]

Edgar: Edgar Stiles.

Jack: Edgar, it’s Jack. Where’s Chloe?

Edgar: She’s busy doing a system’s update.

Jack: OK. I need you to tell Michelle and Tony that the FBI agent that I met at Anderson’s apartment was an imposter working for Marwan. I killed her, but not before she took out my backup. CTU is to send out a team, lock down the apartment and initiate an investigation.

Edgar: Do you wanna tell them yourself?

Jack: No, you can tell them in a second. Right now I need you to help me pull some data off a hard drive. The directory’s locked. Hold on one second, I’m gonna put you on speaker phone. I’m set. Go ahead.

Edgar: Can you get into the root?

Jack: Yeah, but I can’t open the files.

Edgar: OK, hold down tab arrow until the manufacturer’s code appears.

Jack: OK, I got it.

Edgar: What are the last three digits on the part code?

Jack: R-2-5.

Edgar: Escape out and enter pass code CT-IS-8-3-R. That should backdoor you into the files.

[Jack unlocks the schematics for a stealth bomber and a flight simulator.]

Jack: Oh, my God.

Edgar: Jack, did it work?

Jack: Yeah, I’m in. I need to speak to Michelle and Tony now.

Edgar: Hold on, I’ll get them. Jack’s on the line.

Michelle: Jack, what is it?

Jack: I pulled some data off a hard drive that we found hidden in Anderson’s apartment. On it is a flight simulator and full schematics to an F-117A stealth fighter.

Michelle: Anderson’s an experienced pilot.

Jack: I know. I also think he’s posing as military. I believe Mitch Anderson’s trying to steal a stealth fighter.

------------------------

[Jack drives back to CTU. He calls Tony.]

Tony: Almeida.

Jack: Tony, I’m on my way in. Have you gotten anything from the air force?

Tony: Hang on, it’s coming through. Central Air Command reports that an F-117A stealth fighter took off on a scheduled mission about 40 minutes ago. The pilot did not call in on schedule. That was about six minutes ago. All attempts to contact that pilot have failed.

Jack: OK, that’s it. We have to assume Anderson’s flying that plane.

Tony: Yeah, I agree.

Jack: Is the aircraft armed?

Tony: Yeah, a standard 9 nuclear ordinates.

Jack: We’re gonna have to work up a list of obvious possible targets.

Tony: Yeah. Right, I’m working that up right now.

Michelle: Wait. Air Force One is headed to LA.

Tony: Jack, did you hear that?

Jack: Yeah. What’s the ETA?

Tony: 11:00 P.M.

Jack: Oh, my God. They’re going after the President.

Michelle: I’ll call Air Force One.

Jack: Tony, we don’t have a lot of time. I need you to get me the recall frequency for that plane’s quadrant. And send Anderson’s bio over to my screen.

Tony: Yeah, I’m on it.

Jack: Where’s Buchanan?

Tony: He’s in tactical, talking directly to the military.

Jack: Tell him he’s gonna have to tell the joint chiefs of staff that we believe the likely target is President Keeler aboard Air Force One.

------------------------

Keeler: You really have been helpful, Kevin. I think this speech strikes just the right note.

[Robert enters the room with a phone.]

Robert: Mr. President, I’m sorry to interrupt. It’s Michelle Dessler at CTU. She says it’s urgent.

[Keeler takes the call.]

Keeler: Yes? What is it, Ms. Dessler?

Michelle: Mr. President, we have reason to believe that a stealth fighter has been stolen by a terrorist, and is in your airspace as we speak.

Keeler: This plane is due to land shortly, and I’m about to address the country. Just how sure are we about this?

Michelle: It’s a near-certainty, Mr. President. We’ve informed your pilot. He’s preparing to combine evasive action with immediate descent. You’re clear to land in Palm Springs.

Keeler: I’m sure my escort fighters are perfectly capable of protecting Air Force One.

Michelle: Mr. President, this is a stealth aircraft, invisible to radar. If he finds you, he may be on you before your fighter escort can react.

Keeler: What are the chances he’ll find us?

Michelle: We can’t be sure, Mr. President. But the radar signature for 747 and fore fighter planes is unmistakable.

Keeler: You’re telling me that this stolen stealth plane will attempt to shoot me down?

Michelle: It looks that way, Mr. President.

Keeler: I see.

[Keeler hangs up.]

Kevin: Dad?

Keeler: It’s gonna be OK. It seems our plane may come under attack. We’re gonna take some precautions. Get me the Vice President on the phone.

Robert: Yes, sir.

------------------------

[Tony sends Jack a photo and bio of Anderson and calls Jack.]

Tony: All right, Jack. It should be coming through right now.

Jack: Yeah, I got it.

Tony: There’s not much to go on. Parents deceased, has a sister named Alicia. It looks like they might have lived together at the same address for a number of years, so they might be close.

Jack: Any recent contact information?

Tony: No. Let me see if I can find that for you.

Jack: No, we don’t have any time. Have you got the recall frequency?

Tony: Yeah.

Jack: Get ready to patch me through to Anderson.

Tony: Copy that.

[Chloe sees on her screen that Air Force One will soon touch down.]

Chloe: Air Force One is descending to 20,000 feet. The fighters have formed a protective shield.

Michelle: How long before it touches down?

Chloe: Nine minutes.

Michelle: And the fighters report no sign of stealth aircraft?

Chloe: Not yet.

Michelle: Maybe it’s not there.

Chloe: It’s there, we just can’t see it. We’re being beaten by our own technology.

[Tony gets the recall frequency in order to get through to the stealth bomber.]

Tony: Jack, you’re set. When you hit your intercom buzzer, you’ll be patched through to the stealth fighter.

Jack: Copy that.

[Tony patches Jack through to the stealth’s radio system.]

Jack: Mitch Anderson, can you hear me? Captain Anderson, do you read me?

[Anderson doesn’t respond.]

Jack: My name is Jack Bauer. I’m a Federal Agent. We know who you are. We know what you’re trying to do. Sir, I know you can hear me. Nothing you’ve done so far can’t be undone. All you have to do is change your vector to heading 115 southeast. That’ll put you on a fast track to Edwards Air Force base. Once you touch down, then we can discuss how you wanna handle this. Please, just talk to me. Explain to me what you’re trying to do, what you’re trying to accomplish. Why?

[Anderson still doesn’t respond. Jack turns to Anderson’s bio.]

Jack: I’ve been going over your service record. It’s very impressive. Graduated at the top of your class, Air Force Academy, highly decorated for your service in Desert Storm, including Air Force Silver Star. What happened to you? Explain it to me. Because what you’re trying to do right now – I don’t think that’s who you are. I don’t think that’s how you wanna be remembered.

------------------------

[Keeler talks to his Vice President, Charles Logan, over the phone.]

Keeler: If I go down, you have to stay the course, do you understand?

Logan: Mr. President, I’m sure it won’t come to that.

Keeler: Charles, you’re the Vice President. The nation will be relying on you. If the worst happens, think of me as a casualty of war. Don’t waste time. Just pick up the torch and move forward.

Logan: Yes, sir, Mr. President.

[Keeler hangs up.]

Robert: Mr. President, we think CTU is in communication with the pilot of the stolen aircraft.

Keeler: Patch it through.

[Robert patches through the call so the President can hear it.]

Jack: Sir, I’ve just been notified by the FBI that they’ve contacted your sister Alicia. They’ve advised her of what’s happening. She’s scared. She wants to talk to you. All you have to do, Captain Anderson, is respond to me and I’ll put her right through.

[Anderson is affected, but turns the receiver off.]

Jack: Captain Anderson? Captain Anderson? Chloe, I think we’ve been cut off. Is there an override channel?

Chloe: He’s cut off all communication circuits. I don’t think there’s anything we can do.

Jack: Dammit!

[Hearing the call end, President Keeler hugs his son.]

Kevin: Dad. I’m scared.

[Anderson fires from the stealth. An explosion erupts in Air Force One.]

Chloe: Oh, my God.

Jack: Was Air Force One just hit? Was Air Force One just hit?!

Chloe: Escort pilots report Air Force One has suffered an indirect hit by an air-to-air missile. Pieces are falling to the ground over the desert.

[Everyone is horrified.] 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Marwan: We have a problem. If the information on that hard drive is discovered by the Americans, it’ll jeopardize the next phase of our plan.

Nicole: Well, it’s not here.

Marwan: Keep looking.

------------------------

Jack: Agent Drake? Drop the weapon! Drop the weapon now!

Edgar: Jack’s on the line.

Michelle: Jack, what is it?

Jack: I pulled some data off a hard drive that we found hidden in Anderson’s apartment. I believe Mitch Anderson’s trying to steal a stealth fighter.

------------------------

Michelle: Mr. President, we have reason to believe that a stealth fighter has been stolen by a terrorist. He’s in your airspace as we speak.

Keeler: Just how sure are we about this?

Michelle: It’s a near-certainty, Mr. President. This is a stealth aircraft. If he finds you, he may be on you before your fighter escort can react.

------------------------

Jack: Mitch Anderson, we know who you are. We know what you’re trying to do. Captain Anderson? Captain Anderson? Chloe, I think we’ve been cut off. Is there an override channel?

Chloe: He’s cut off all communication circuits. I don’t think there’s anything we can do.

------------------------

Kevin: Dad. I’m scared.

[Anderson fires from the stealth. An explosion erupts in Air Force One.]

Escort Pilot: Air Force One has been fired on. I repeat, Air Force One has been fired on.

Chloe: Oh, my God.

Jack: Was Air Force One just hit? Was Air Force One just hit?!

Chloe: Escort pilots report Air Force One has suffered an indirect hit by an air-to-air missile. Pieces are falling to the ground over the desert.

------------------------

The following takes place between 11:00 P.M. and 12:00 A.M.

[As Air Force One plunges to the ground, CTU listens as the pilot radios in a distress call.]

Pilot: This is Air Force One. We are declaring an emergency. Repeat, Air Force One is declaring an emergency.

Man: Copy, Air Force One. What is your condition? Over.

Pilot: Extensive damage to the port side wing and fuse lines. We’ve lost our pressurization, losing fuel pressure. Low hydraulics.

Michelle: Chloe, are those the coordinates?

Pilot: We’re losing altitude fast.

Chloe: Yeah. They’re 20 knot of the miles northeast to the city of Indio.

Michelle: Edgar. Contact local PD and EMS. Alert them of the situation with Air Force One.

Edgar: On it.

Pilot: No fuel pressure at all. We’re not gonna make it.

Michelle: Tony, do we have any CTU support teams in the area?

Tony: The Las Vegas office has two satellites search and rescue teams available. I’m gonna dispatch Air Force One’s coordinates to all of the search and rescue teams over in LA and Vegas so they can start for the landing site now.

Michelle: Edgar, pull up satellite on the National Park. Pinpoint any possible landing scenarios. Chloe, what’s happening?

Chloe: We’ve lost the signal. They’re still moving fast and losing altitude.

Michelle: Change the frequency.

Tony (over the phone): This is Tony Almeida at CTU. I need you to report the following coordinates of Air Force One to LA and Vegas search and rescue teams.

Chloe: OK, I’ve got it.

Pilot: Reaching 6 knots. Going through 7500 and 210 knots.

Man: Roger, 210 knots.

Michelle: Chloe, are you still waiting coordinates?

Chloe: Yeah, they’re making a turn.

Pilot: Roger, I’m close to a stall. Yeah, I’m putting you down now. Don’t get redeployed, we are still hard and fast.

Man: Roger that, Air Force One.

Michelle: Air Traffic Control, This is CTU. We are sending EMS, Police and rescue teams to the site ASAP.

Man: Copy that, CTU.

Pilot: This is Air Force One, descending through 5500, 169…

Michelle: Chloe, what’s showing on radar?

Pilot: Going in.

Michelle: Chloe!

Chloe: Air Force One is down.

Man: Air Force One? Air Force One, do you read? Air Force One is down.

Audrey: I just got a confirm of scattered ground flashes from DOD satellite.

Michelle: Edgar, bring that up.

[Jack runs into CTU.]

Jack: What’s the status of Air Force One?

Buchanan: It’s down.

Jack: What’s its crash signature like?

Buchanan: It was a rough landing, radio’s down. We don’t know if there are any survivors.

Michelle: Match your coordinates to the satellite. Send it to all agencies.

Edgar: Got it.

Jack: Anybody tried sub-channel com-sat?

Michelle: No.

Jack: Secret Service has at least five personnel on board; all of them have private channels.

[Jack accesses the sub-channels of the Secret Service agents aboard the plane.]

Operator: Com-sat 3 operator.

Jack: This is Jack Bauer. Log in password: F-H-Ralfie-4.

Operator: Go ahead.

Jack: I want you to flood all AF1 channels with an acknowledge signal.

Operator: Copy. This is com-sat 3 operator, calling AF1 channels 1 through 5, please acknowledge. AF1 channels 1 through 5, please acknowledge.

Peterson: This is channel 3.

Jack: Who’s this?

Peterson: Peterson. We’re down.

Jack: What is the status of the President?

Peterson: I don’t know. I can’t move yet.

Jack: Agent Peterson, my name is Jack Bauer. I’m with CTU. Rescue units are on route. What else can you tell me?

Peterson: I see some bodies. I… I think we have some survivors.

------------------------

[In Washington, senior advisor Mike Novick informs Vice President Charles Logan about Air Force One’s status.]

Mike: Mr. Vice President, I just received confirmation. Air Force One sustained an indirect hit from an air-to-air missile fired from a stolen stealth fighter.

Logan: Is the President alive?

Mike: We don’t know at this time.

Logan: When will we know?

Mike: Hopefully within the next few minutes. Charles, we’ve known each other for 15 years. If I can offer some advice?

Logan: Of course.

Mike: We all hope President Keeler is alive, but even if he is, it’s very likely he won’t be in any shape to run the country. You need to make arrangements to be sworn into office as soon as possible, and the media should provide live coverage. The American people need to be reassured that their leadership is intact.

Logan: It’s good advice, Mike. I’ll take it under consideration, but I don’t wanna act prematurely.

Mike: I understand. Well, we have to get to the White House. I’ve arranged for a security briefing with the Pentagon.

Logan: That’s great.

------------------------

Buchanan: By now, you all know that Air Force One has been shot down. The escort pilots following Air Force One managed to get a visual of the stealth fighter used to commit the act, pilot engaged, then shot down the stealth. The status of the President is unclear at this time. Rescue teams are minutes away. We’ll know very soon.

Michelle: The man responsible for what has transpired today, Habib Marwan, is still out there, and most likely planning further attacks. I want every one of you to rededicate yourselves to finding Marwan. I don’t want a single lead ignored or a shred of evidence missed. Let’s get back to work.

Jack: Michelle, let me talk to you. I want you to uplink all curtainlies to a station, so you and I can start working on a priority list. We might not know exactly where Marwan is, but he has to be within a 15 mile radius…

Audrey: Jack. I’m sorry to interrupt you, but I just got off the phone with the Secretary of Defense, and right now there’s a higher priority than finding Marwan.

Jack: What is it?

Audrey: Recovering the Nuclear Football.

Michelle: Didn’t it go down with Air Force One?

Audrey: Not exactly. The missile inflicted enough damage that the plane left a trail of debris as it went down. A lot of things were sucked out, including the Football. There’s a transponder embedded in the casing, so we know its exact location.

Jack: Well, good, then the retrieval team should have no problem recovering it.

Audrey: The Secretary wants you to head up that team, Jack.

Jack: Why?

Audrey: It’s his top priority. That case contains the codes and locations of out entire nuclear arsenal. Nothing is more critical than getting it back, and as quickly as possible.

Jack: Fine.

Michelle: I’ll organize your team, mobilize the units.

Jack: Thanks.

[Michelle leaves.]

Jack: What’s the location of the Football?

Audrey: Forty miles northeast of here, in the middle of the desert.

[Audrey turns to leave.]

Jack: Hey. Hey. What’s wrong? What else is happening?

Audrey: Paul may have to go back into surgery. Apparently the bullet did more damage than they thought.

Jack: I’m sorry.

Audrey: I keep thinking if I had handled things differently, if I had trusted him more, that…

Jack: Audrey, you are not responsible for this. I, and I alone, made the decision on how to handle Paul. If you wanna remain affective, be able to do your job, you have to let it go.

Audrey: Jack, that’s your gift. You’re able to block things out. I can’t do that.

Edgar: Jack, the chopper’s waiting.

Jack: I have to change and get ready.

Audrey: All right.

------------------------

[Jason and Kelly are camping out in the Mojave Desert.]

Kelly: Honey. What’s wrong?

Jason: I don’t know. Something woke me up. It sounded like some kind of an explosion or something.

Kelly: Explosion? Nearby?

Jason: I’m not sure.

Kelly: It was probably just a bad dream.

Jason: Yeah.

Kelly: You’re still stressed, aren’t you? I want you to try and forget about work, OK? Just focus on what we came out here for – to relax, and to make a baby.

[They kiss. Jason spots the fire from Air Force One.]

Jason: Look.

Kelly: What?

[They approach the landing site.]

Jason: Watch your step.

Kelly: Oh, my God.

Jason: Kelly!

Kelly: What is it?

[Jason and Kelly are startled when they see the debris of the wreckage from Air Force One.]

------------------------

Buchanan: If the President is unable to fulfill his duties, Vice President Logan will have to assume office, at least on temporary basis. Cabinet members will need to be briefed on the circumstances surrounding the crash.

Tony: Yeah, I’ll take care of it.

Buchanan: Not all Cabinet members are equal. State and Defense need more detail than say, Aviculture and Treasury.

Tony: Yeah, I can handle it.

Buchanan: I just wanna make sure that the transition is smooth.

Tony: I understand, but uh… I do know what to do.

Buchanan: All right. Tony. I’ve noticed a little hostility on your part. If it’s because of me and Michelle…

Tony: It’s none of my business. As far as the hostility goes, I can promise you – it’s over with.

Buchanan: Whatever you say. One more thing; I think the world of Michelle, love working with her. Outside work, we never got off the ground, she never said why but it didn’t take a genius to figure it out – she cared about you. If you ask me, she still does.

Chloe: Mr. Buchanan, rescue teams are inside Air Force One. We’re picking up the live feed now.

[Everyone at CTU watches a live feed of the rescue workers as they scan the crash site.]

Rescue team member #1: Go ahead. Check to see if he’s alive.

Rescue team member #2: All right.

Rescue team member #1: Check him. See if he’s alive. What have we got here? She’s dead too.

Radio: Rescue 1, the President should be in the conference room.

Rescue team member #1: Copy that. They said he was in the conference room.

Rescue team member #2: We got a survivor.

Rescue team member #1: I’m going in. Looks like the President’s son. He’s dead. Where’s the President? This may be him. Wait, hold on. This may be him. Mr. President? He’s still alive. I repeat, the President is alive. We need medivac teams in here ASAP. Did you read that? We need medivac teams in here.

------------------------

[Buchanan calls Vice President Logan with the good news.]

Mike: Novick.

Woman: I have Agent Buchanan for the Vice President.

Mike: Yes, he’s right here. Bill Buchanan.

Logan: Bill.

Buchanan: Mr. Vice President. I’m in direct contact with the rescue teams at the crash site of Air Force One. President Keeler is alive.

Logan: Thank God.

Buchanan: Yes, sir. But he’s in critical condition. He is unconscious, he’s lost a lot of blood, there’s no chance he’s going to be able to lead this country, certainly not for a few days, and probably much longer. Mr. Vice President?

Logan: Yes, I’m here. This is all confirmed?

Buchanan: The President is being medivaced to the nearest emergency center as we speak. Sir, I recommend you invoke the 25th amendment, and take control of things as soon as possible.

Logan: I understand. Thank you, Bill.

[Vice President Logan hangs up the phone.]

Logan: President Keeler is alive but he’s incapacitated. We should, uh… we should probably contact the Cabinet members.

Mike: Actually, sir, I’ve already put that in motion. Most of the Cabinet members are standing-by. The others will be very soon.

Logan: You did without my permission?

Mike: I… You had enough to worry about, sir. I thought it’d be best to be prepared.

Logan: Yes. All right. Thank you.

Mike: Shall I begin the process of collecting votes?

Logan: Yes, go ahead.

------------------------

Kelly: I can’t get a signal.

Jason: Try up here.

[Among the debris, Jason finds the Nuclear Football.]

Kelly: Got it.

Jason: Kelly. Look at this.

Kelly: what is it?

Jason: I’m not sure, but if it’s what I think it is… I read this article once; I think it’s got a funny name, umm… I can’t remember, but it’s got our nuclear codes. It goes everywhere the President goes, and he can launch an attack from it. We gotta call somebody.

Kelly: Who are you gonna call?

Jason: I’ll start with the police, I guess. They’ll put us through to the right people.

[Jason calls the police.]

------------------------

[Jack’s on his way to the crash site.]

Pilot: The Football transponder’s signal’s still strong.

[Jack calls Audrey.]

Audrey: Hello?

Jack: Hey, it’s me.

Audrey: Hey.

Jack: Look, when I walked away from you at CTU, I felt like you didn’t understand what I was trying to say. I’m not telling you that you shouldn’t care. I care. I care about you. I care about what happened to Paul, I feel completely responsible for it. But right now this country is under attack, and I’ve got a job to do, and I don’t have a choice.

Audrey: Jack, I understand. What you have to do is very important.

Jack: I just didn’t want us to leave things like that.

Audrey: I’m glad. Me neither.

[Jack gets a waiting call.]

Jack: Audrey, hold on a second. I gotta take this call.

Audrey: Wait, Jack. Take the call. Stay focused on what you have to do.

Jack: Yeah, I’ll talk to you in a little while.

Audrey: OK.

Jack: Bye.

[Jack takes the call.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Tony: Jack, it’s Tony. I got a guy on the line the police put through. He’s in the desert, says he found a case. Jack, this guy found the Football.

Jack: OK. Let me speak to him.

Tony: All right. His name’s Jason Gerard. We’re running a background check as we speak. I’m patching him through right now.

Jack: OK. Tony, stay on the other line.

[Tony patches the call through to Jack.]

Jack: Mr. Gerard?

Jason: Yeah. Hey, call me Jason. I’m with my wife Kelly. Who’s this?

Jack: Jason, my name is Jack Bauer. I’m a Federal Agent with the Department of Defense. My colleague Agent Almeida says you found what we refer to as “the Football”.

Jason: Yeah, it sure looks that way. I mean, I don’t know very much about this sort of thing. My wife and I are just out here on a camping trip.

Jack: OK, fine. Why don’t you just describe to me what you found?

Jason: Sure. It’s a black-leather briefcase; it’s got a number paneling over by the handle. It was in a protective case that had the Presidential seal on it.

Jack: Well, that sounds like it. Right now I’m in a helicopter. I’m about 20 minutes away from you. Look, I just want you to hang out there and wait for me.

Jason: I think someone beat you to the punch. I see headlights.

Jack: How far away?

Jason: Uh, it’s hard to tell. A few miles?

Jack: OK, just hold on a second, Jason.

[Jack gets back to Tony.]

Jack: Tony. This kid Jason says he’s got headlights headed towards him. Do we have any ground units in his vicinity?

Tony: No.

Jack: How about patrol park rangers, anything?

Tony: No, nobody.

Jack: How can that be?

Tony: We’re spread thin, Jack. All state agencies are still assisting with the evacuation.

Jack: Son of a bitch. Jason, are the headlights headed straight for you?

Jason: Yeah. They’re pretty much coming this way.

Jack: Dammit. This situation just got a lot more complicated than we thought.

Jason: What do you mean?

Jack: The Football has a transponder. It’s a tracking device that allows anyone to pinpoint its exact location, as long as they’ve got the right frequency.

Jason: Do you think someone got a hold of the frequency, who’s not supposed to have it?

Jack: Right now we’re gonna have to make that assumption.

Jason: Well, who do you think it is?

Jack: The terrorists who carried out today’s attacks. Listen, if I’m right we don’t have a lot of time. I need you to remove the transponder and take the Football, and get away from there as far as you can.

Jason: Uh… All right. Flashlight. Get your light. OK, uh… Go ahead.

Jack: The transponder’s tiny, and it’s hidden in the surface of the case. It’s designed not to be found.

Jason: Then how am I supposed to find it?

Jack: Do you have a compass and a flashlight?

Jason: Uh, yeah. Get the compass.

Kelly: OK.

Jack: OK, I want you to move the compass over the surface of the case slowly. The transponder puts out an electromagnetic field. It’s not very strong, but it should move the needle. Just move the compass over the surface of the case slowly, and watch the needle.

Jason: Here, here, here. Get the beam of the compass.

Kelly: OK.

[Jason moves the compass over the surface of the briefcase. The needle moves.]

Jason: I think I got it. I found it. I found it.

Jack: OK, good. Take a knife or a sharp rock, and start scratching the surface hard.

[Jason scratches the surface of the case.]

Kelly: Hurry.

Jason: Dammit.

Kelly: Jason, they’re coming.

Jack: Come on, Jason, talk to me.

Jason: I’m working on it. OK, I think I got it.

Jack: OK, I want you to take the compass, put it over the scraped area and tell me, is the needle moving?

Jason: No, no, it’s not.

Jack: OK, you’ve disabled it. Good work. How far away is the vehicle?

Jason: Not far.

Jack: OK, I need you to take the Football and start moving. I don’t care which direction, just start moving now. I’ll get back to you.

[Jack hangs up the call with Jason. Jason and Kelly take the Football and run off into the desert night.]

Jason: We gotta go. We gotta go now.

[Jack gets back to Tony.]

Jack: Tony, I’m gonna need surveillance of the entire area put up to my screen.

------------------------

[Marwan and his henchmen stop their Jeeps in the desert.]

Marwan: Why are we stopping?

Henchman: We’ve lost the signal.

Marwan: How is that possible?

Henchman: I don’t know. Maybe it was damaged on impact.

Marwan: And it just happens to malfunction now that we’re getting closer? Scan the area for cell phones, active and passive signals.

------------------------

[Jason and Kelly are on the run. Jason’s cell phone rings.]

Jason: Yeah?

Jack: Jason. OK, we found a reserve power station about a half a mile north of you.

Jason: Yeah, that’s right. I remember it from the map.

Jack: OK, I want you to go there now.

Jason: It’s OK. Yeah. Yeah, we’ll get there.

Jack: The station’s a large unmanned facility. I want you to break in and find a place to hide. I want you to avoid using your flashlight, and as soon as you hang up, I want you to take your cell batteries out.

Jason: The batteries?

Jack: Yeah, to prevent something called passive triangulation. In other words, it’ll stop you from being followed.

Jason: What if I need to contact you?

Jack: If you need to contact me, put the batteries back in, but only if you have to. Now, I’m gonna give you my direct line. Have you got a pen?

Jason: Yeah. Hold on. Go ahead.

Jack: 310-597-3781.

Jason: OK, yeah, I got it.

Jack: Start moving now.

Jason: OK.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jason: He said to take the battery out of the cell phone. Come on.

------------------------

[Marwan’s associate notes a brief cell signal that went out.]

Henchman: I had a cell phone signal for a few seconds. It’s moving, but it’s gone now.

Marwan: Did it move enough to yield a vector?

Henchman: Wait. Yes, it was headed a few degrees west of north, just before we cut off.

Marwan: Check the map. See if there’s anything near there.

Henchman #2: There’s a reserve power plant. A kilometer away, maybe less.

Marwan: Whoever has the Football, that’s where they’re heading.

------------------------

[Jason and Kelly run to the power plant.]

Jason: This is it. Stay back.

[Jason breaks into the power plant. He and Kelly go inside.]

Kelly: We’re not in any danger, right? I mean, how can anyone even know that we’re here?

Jason: We’re just being safe. Not a relaxing weekend in the desert, just like I said…

[They hear vehicles pull up.]

Jason: They’re here. I gotta call Jack. Come on. Come on.

[Jason calls Jack.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Jason: It’s Jason. These terrorists you talked about? They’re here.

Jack: How many?

Jason: I just saw two jeeps.

Jack: Where are you?

Jason: Just inside the power plant. When are you going to get here?

Jack: Soon, just stand-by.

[Jack calls Tony. Jason is still on the other line.]

Jason: Go, Kelly, go, go. Would you get moving?

[Jason and Kelly look for a place to hide inside the power plant.]

Jack: Tony, it’s Jack. We’re out of time. We need the schematics for the power plant now.

Tony: Yeah, it should be on your screen in a few seconds.

Jack: OK, I got it. Thanks.

[Jack hangs up and gets back to Jason.]

Jack: Jason, you’re still with me?

Jason: Yeah, I’m with you.

Jack: Which side of the building did you enter?

Jason: Uh… The, the south side.

Jack: This is a large facility. I want you to go to the lower level, southeast corner. I’ll find you there as soon as we land.

Jason: OK, all right. Hey, hey, Agent Bauer? Please hurry.

Jack: We are.

[Jack hangs up.]

------------------------

[Marwan and his men spread out through the plant to find the Football.]

Marwan: Find them.

Jason: There’s got to be stairs somewhere. Here they are, here they are.

Kelly: Wait. What if it’s a dead end?

[One of Marwan’s men shoots at Jason and Kelly, who bolt for the stairs.]

Henchman: There’s a man and a woman.

Marwan: Where are they?

Henchman: This way. They were down here.

Marwan: Follow them and flush them out. Go around and cut off the exits.

[The men lose Jason and Kelly in the darkness. Jason and Kelly keep running.]

Jason: Come on. Go up there, go up there. Come on, come on, come on.

Kelly: OK.

Marwan: Anything?

Henchman: Nothing.

[Marwan hears the helicopter land outside.]

Marwan: Helicopter. Intercept it.

[Jack and another agent get out of the chopper, which takes off. Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Jason.

Jason: Where are you?

Jack: We just landed. We’re approaching the building. Where are you?

Jason: We’re inside the plant, on the lower level.

[The other agent is killed by the gunfire. Jack fires back at the shooters.]

Jason: Jack? Jack?

Jack: Jason, you’re still there?

Jason: I’m here. They’re inside the building. We cannot keep hiding. They are gonna find us.

Jack: I know. You gotta keep moving. I’ll get back right back to you.

[Jack calls CTU.]

Edgar: Edgar Stile.

Jack: Edgar, it’s Jack. I need to speak to Audrey Raines now.

Edgar: Ms. Raines, Jack’s on line one.

Audrey: Jack.

Jack: Audrey, I’m taking fire. The other agent’s been killed. I need the latch code for the Football now.

Audrey: All right. Hang on.

[Jason and Kelly keep running from the terrorists.]

Jason: Take the Football, take the Football! Come on. Come on.

[Jack keeps firing at the shooters.]

Audrey: Jack. *76114.

Jack: I got it.

[Jack calls Jason again.]

Jason: Hey.

Jack: Jason, I need you to open the case. The combination is *76114.

Jason: Why? Where does that plant us?

Jack: Just do it. *76114.

Jason: He wants us to open the briefcase. *76114.

[Kelly opens the briefcase.]

Jason: OK, it’s open.

Jack: OK. Inside should be a phone, a control board and a book with colored pages. It’s called the Playbook. I want you to remove the Playbook. Give the case with the control board back to your wife. The two items need to stay separated.

Jason: Why?

Jack: Because the control board is useless without the Playbook. I need you and your wife to split up.

Jason: He wants us to split up.

Kelly: I can hear him.

Jason: I am not leaving my wife.

Jack: You have to.

Jason: Forget it.

Jack: Jason, please listen to me. I know how scared you are, but if this man gets what he wants, he’s gonna kill both of you. Right now the only chance you have to survive is to separate, do you understand me?

Kelly: It’s OK, Jason. He’s kept us alive this far. Let’s just do what he says.

Jason: Just get here as fast as you can.

Jack: I will.

[Jason and Kelly kiss goodbye. He sends her in the opposite direction with the cell phone and the briefcase.]

Kelly: I love you.

Jason: I love you. Give me the Playbook. That’s it. Here, you take the phone.

Kelly: OK.

Jason: I want you to go to that top wile over there, all right? I’m gonna stay down here. You just find a place to hide, all right?

Kelly: OK.

Jason: Go, go, go, go. Go. Hide, hide.

------------------------

Jack: Hey.

[Jack kills the terrorist who is shooting at him and runs into the plant.]

------------------------

[One of Marwan’s henchmen finds Jason. He pulls out his gun on him.]

Jason: Don’t!

Henchman: I’ve got him!

[The man searches Jason for weapons. Marwan takes Jason’s bag and searches it.]

Henchman: He’s clean.

Marwan: Where’s the control board?

Jason: I… I don’t know what you’re talking about.

[Marwan shoots Jason in the shoulder.]

Marwan: Tell me what I want to know.

Jason: I swear, I don’t know what you’re talking about. Please.

[Marwan shoots Jason in the knee. Kelly hears Jason’s screams, and she sees her husband held captive.]

Marwan: It doesn’t have to be this painful.

[Kelly calls Jack.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Kelly: They’ve got my husband. They’re hurting him.

Jack: Where are you? I’m on the lower level.

Kelly: We had to leave. We’re on the second floor. I don’t know where.

Jack: OK, I’m on my way.

Kelly: They’re gonna kill him.

Jack: Kelly, stay on the phone. Keep talking to me.

Kelly: I can’t.

Jack: Kelly!

[Kelly hangs up.]

Jason: Please…

Marwan: Where is the control board?

[Suddenly, Kelly emerges from the darkness.]

Kelly: Stop. I have what you want.

Marwan: Give it to me.

Kelly: First, you let my husband go.

[Marwan trains his gun at Jason’s temple.]

Kelly: No!

[Jack hears Kelly’s cry and runs towards it.]

Kelly: OK. OK. I’ll give it to you if you promise not to kill us.

Marwan: I won’t kill you. I promise.

Kelly: It’s over there. It’s behind the pillar.

[A henchman goes to get the briefcase.]

Henchman: It’s locked.

Marwan: What is the code?

Kelly: It’s uh… *76114.

[The henchman opens the briefcase.]

Henchman: It’s here.

Marwan: Let’s go.

[The men take the Football and leave.]

Marwan: Kill them.

[Jack appears and shoots the man before he can fire at Jason and Kelly.]

Jack: This is Jack Bauer. I need a medic. Second level, north end of the building.

Radio: Roger.

Jack: It’s all right. He’s gonna be OK. Help is on the way. Where is the Football?

Kelly: They have it. They went out that door. I’m sorry.

Jack: Don’t be. You did great. Thank you. Air support, two hostiles just left the building. I do not have possession of the Football. I repeat, I do not have possession of the Football.

[Jack goes off after Marwan.]

------------------------

[Jack runs out of the plant and sees one of the men load the Football into a Jeep. He radios air support.]

Jack: Air support, the Football is in the lead jeep headed north. Take it out. I repeat, take it out.

[The chopper drops down and shines its headlight on the Jeep, which causes it to flip over into an embankment. Jack runs to it.]

Jack: Put your hands where I can see them!

[Jack shoots the driver.]

Jack: Air support, I cannot see the Football in the vehicle. Shine your spotlight on me and follow.

[Jack spots the Football on the ground. He opens the briefcase.]

Jack: Air support, I’m in possession of the Football. Go after the other jeep.

[Jack calls Tony.]

Tony: Almeida.

Jack: Tony, it’s Jack. I’m in possession of the Football. Three hostiles are down, one escaped. I’m not positive, but I think it was Marwan. I’m sorry, but I had to make a choice.

Tony: Marwan gave us the Football to buy his freedom?

Jack: Yeah, that doesn’t sound right to me either.

Tony: What are you thinking?

Jack: I don’t know.

Tony: Let me ask you something; Is anything missing?

Jack: No. All the components are here. Hold on one second.

[Jack checks the Football again and realizes that a section of pages are missing from the Playbook.]

Jack: Tony, I was wrong. There are some pages missing.

Tony: All right, look, Jack, the sections are color-coded. What’s missing?

Jack: Red Chapter, Section Three. Get Audrey.

Tony: All right. We’ll call you right back.

------------------------

Mike: Take care of this.

Aide: Yes, sir.

Cummings: You’re worried about him.

Mike: I am. He seems unsure of himself.

Cummings: No, Mike, trust me. He spent his whole life preparing for this. He’s just being cautious, feeling his way along. He’ll be fine.

[Walt’s phone rings.]

Cummings: Yeah?

Man: The votes just came in. They’re all in favor.

Cummings: All right, thanks.

[Walt hangs up.]

Cummings: Well, the vote was unanimous. The 25th amendment’s been officially invoked.

Mike: Tell the press we’re ready. Let’s get this done. Mr. Vice President, the 25th amendment is in effect.

Logan: Any descending votes?

Mike: None, sir.

Logan: Well, we should proceed with the sworning then.

Mike: Yes, sir. The sworning will only take a minute, and then we’ll take a short break and you can address the nation.

Logan: I’m still not entirely certain that a live address makes much sense this time of night.

Mike: After what’s happened today, sir, an awful lot of people are wide awake. I’m sure they’d like to hear from you directly.

Logan: Yes, of course.

Aide: We’re ready, sir.

[Logan goes out to a throng of waiting reporters.]

Logan: Please. Please. Thank you very much, ladies and gentlemen.

------------------------

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Yeah?

Tony: Jack, it’s Tony.

Jack: Is Audrey there?

Audrey: Jack, I’m here.

Jack: Tell me what the contents are of the missing pages.

Audrey: Jack, it’s the Red Section which contains warhead locations and activation codes.

Jack: But we started canceling all the activation codes as soon as Air Force One went down.

Audrey: Yes, but there are thousands of warheads. It’s gonna take an hour to clear the slate. Jack, in the meantime, if they get a hold of a warhead and a matching activation code, we will not be able to stop them.

Jack: Copy that. I’ll get back to you.

[Jack hangs up and calls Mike Novick.] 

Woman: Mr. Novick’s office.

Jack: Let me speak to Mike Novick.

Woman: Yes, sir, right away.

------------------------

[Logan is sworn into office before the cameras.]

Logan: I soundly swear that I will faithfully execute the office of the President of the United States, and will, in the best of my ability, preserve, protect and defend the constitution of the United States.

Man: Mr. President, I appreciate it.

Cummings: Ladies and gentlemen, I appreciate you coming at this late hour.

[Mike’s cell phone rings.]

Cummings: As most of you know, it’s not…

Mike: Novick.

Jack: Mike, it’s Jack. We got a problem.

Cummings: …to take this oath under tragic circumstances. Words cannot express the sense of sadness…

Jack: Part of the Football’s been compromised.

Mike: Yes, I’ll tell him.

[Mike hangs up.]

Cummings: President Keeler is unconscious and in critical condition from the injury he sustained during the crash of Air Force One. He is in our prayers, as well as our hearts and minds.

[Mike takes Logan aside.]

Mike: Mr. President.

Cummings: President Logan has asked me to assure you all…

Mike: I just received a phone call from CTU.

Logan: Yes?

Cummings: …determination to lead this country…

Mike: I’m sorry to tell you, sir, but it appears that part of the Nuclear Football has fallen into the hands of terrorists. 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Pilot: This is Air Force One. We are declaring an emergency. We’re not gonna make it. I have to put it down now.

Michelle: Chloe, what’s happening?

Man: Air Force One, do you copy?

Michelle: Chloe!

Chloe: Air Force One is down.

------------------------

Rescue team member: This may be him. Mr. President? He’s still alive. I repeat, the President is alive.

------------------------

Jack: Marwan has to be within a 15 mile radius…

Audrey: Jack. There’s a higher priority than finding Marwan.

Jack: What is it?

Audrey: Recovering the Nuclear Football.

Michelle: Didn’t it go down with Air Force One?

Audrey: The missile inflicted enough damage that the plane left a trail of debris as it went down. A lot of things were sucked out, including the Football. That case contains the codes and locations of our entire nuclear arsenal.

Jack: What’s the location of the Football?

Audrey: Forty miles northeast of here, in the middle of the desert.

------------------------

Jack: Air support, the Football is in the lead jeep headed north. Take it out. I’m in possession of the Football. Three hostiles are down, one escaped. I’m not positive, but I think it was Marwan. There are some pages missing. Tell me what the contents are of the missing pages.

Audrey: Jack, it’s the Red Section which contains warhead locations and activation codes. If they get a hold of a warhead and a matching activation code, we will not be able to stop them.

------------------------

Buchanan: Mr. Vice President, President Keeler is alive, but he’s in critical condition. Sir, I recommend you invoke the 25th amendment, and take control of things as soon as possible.

Cummings: You’re worried about him.

Mike: I am. He seems unsure of himself.

Logan: I soundly swear that I will faithfully execute the office of the President of the United States, preserve, protect and defend the constitution of the United States.

Mike: Mr. President, I just received a phone call from CTU. Part of the Nuclear Football has fallen into the hands of terrorists.

------------------------

The following takes place between 12:00 A.M. and 1:00 A.M.

Buchanan: Vice President Logan has been sworn into office. He is now President of the United States. His office called. They want an update from us in fifteen minutes.

Michelle: We’re working on several protocols related to the plane crash. What is he gonna wanna focus on?

Buchanan: He’s gonna wanna know how a stealth fighter was stolen from one of our air bases, and more to the point, how it was able to take down Air Force One with one of our own missiles.

Michelle: Has he been briefed on Marwan?

Buchanan: He knows Marwan is the mastermind behind today’s events, yes, but he’s gonna want more specifics on the Football. Where are we on that?

Tony: Jack’s at the debris field outside Indio. He’s trying to reconstruct the Red Chapter of the Playbook that was stolen by Marwan.

Buchanan: How is he doing that?

Tony: He’s working with Fred Loudon from the Department of Defense. He wrote the codes, so he’ll know what’s missing.

Buchanan: Good.

Michelle: Who’s going to run point on this update?

Buchanan: You and Tony.

Michelle: All right, everyone. We don’t have a lot of time, so we’re gonna have to fast-track this. Double-source all Intel through Homeland Security and CIA. Skip the usual request procedures. Tie into their data directly.

[The intercom rings.]

Michelle: Yes?

Woman: Ms. Dessler, I’ve got Jack Bauer on the line.

Michelle: Put him through.

Woman: Go ahead, Jack.

Jack: Michelle, are you still in briefing?

Michelle: Yes, Jack. You’re on speaker. What have you found?

Jack: Fred Loudon and I just finished the rough reconstruction of the Red Chapter. We’re getting that over to you now.

Buchanan: Jack, it’s Bill Buchanan. Summarize our exposure. What information exactly does Marwan now have in his possession?

Jack: Well, the Red Chapter lays out the location of our domestic nuclear arsenal. The inventory is in the thousands, many of the weapons are in transit as part of our standard shift operations.

Buchanan: Why can’t DOD just secure these weapons?

Jack: Because a number of the weapons are in between checkpoints. It’ll take over an hour to account for all of them. Listen everyone, we’ve gotta remember Marwan only needs one.

Buchanan: All right, Jack. We’ll get on this immediately. Get back here as soon as you can and help Audrey liaison with DOD. We need to account for every single weapon documented in that chapter.

Jack: I’m on my way.

------------------------

Marwan: The coordinates for the Fed-1-R: latitude, 37 degrees, 14 minutes. Longitude, 115 degrees, 21 minutes.

Henchman: There it is. Jefferson city, Iowa.

Marwan: When is the warhead due to arrive?

Henchman: 7:00 A.M., local time. Five hours from now.

Marwan: That puts it somewhere 200 miles east. It’s still in Illinois.

Henchman: We can intercept it anywhere from this point to here.

Marwan: All right. Let’s put our people in place.

------------------------

Tony: The warheads are in transit because of the daily shift and the hide operations causing this problem.

Michelle: We can verify military traffic on the coastal areas from here. Why don’t we find out what DOD has in mid-west?

Tony: Yeah, that’s already underway. Audrey says she should have them in a few minutes.

Michelle: Look, Tony…

Chloe: Am I interrupting something?

Michelle: No, Chloe. What is it?

Chloe: Are you logged on to Division 3?

Michelle: Yeah.

Chloe: Look at this. Fifteen minutes ago the credit card of Eric Murphy was used at Western gas station in Torrance.

Tony: Who is Eric Murphy?

Chloe: His real name is Yosik Khatami. He’s a terrorist affiliated with Marwan.

Michelle: How do we know that?

Chloe: From a watch list. We’ve put on a net asking for anybody connected to the name Habib Marwan. We didn’t expect to get any hits so soon.

Michelle: Why was he so careless?

Tony: Maybe he wasn’t. Maybe he’s some sort of decoy.

Chloe: Well, he wouldn’t be much of a decoy because we don’t know where he is or which direction they’re traveling in. This was a mistake.

Michelle: Did the gas station have a surveillance camera?

Chloe: Yes. He’s driving a black Lexus L-S-430.

Michelle: Are we hooked into satellite?

Chloe: Yes. We’re monitoring them now. If this guy’s still on the road, we’ll find him.

Michelle: Who do we have in the area to run point?

Tony: Curtis just left Division. He’s headed over here right now.

Michelle: Divert him to the Western gas station. Have Field-ops meet him there.

Tony: All right.

------------------------

[Jack calls Audrey from a helicopter as he heads back to CTU.]

Audrey: This is Audrey.

Jack: Hey, it’s me.

Audrey: Hey. Are you on your way back here?

Jack: Yeah. How much of the weaponry has been accounted for so far?

Audrey: 72 percent. We’re having problems getting confirmations from the mid-west.

Jack: Why?

Audrey: There are several convoys shipping weapons to be dismantled in the coordinates where the arms reduction’s treated. A lot of them were rerouted after the train bombing this morning.

Jack: Just use local channels. All weapon transports have to check in with regional substation. Just call them directly.

Audrey: All right. I’ll do that.

Jack: How are you holding up?

Audrey: I’m OK.

Jack: What have the doctors told you about Paul?

Audrey: They’re having a hard time keeping him stable.

Jack: Just hang in there. He’ll fight through it.

Audrey: Yeah.

Jack: Tell Michelle I’ll be there in twenty minutes.

Audrey: All right. Will do. Bye.

------------------------

[Yosik calls Marwan from the road.]

Marwan: Yes?

Yosik: Marwan, it’s me.

Marwan: Is everything all right?

Yosik: No. No, it’s not. I… I made a stupid mistake. They’re gonna find me.

Marwan: What happened?

Yosik: I stopped to get gas. While I was driving away, I realized I… I used the wrong credit card, the one with the name Eric Murphy. The one you gave me.

Marwan: I told you to get rid of that one.

Yosik: I was in a hurry, Habib. I had to make arrangements so they’d deliver you the warhead.

Marwan: When that transaction gets flagged, they’ll be searching the highways.

Yosik: I know. That’s why I’m not on the highway anymore.

Marwan: Where are you?

Yosik: Englewood. I’m on my way to Prado’s now.

Marwan: You’re closer to the Marina. Go straight there, I’ll have him meet you. Prado will help you get out of the country.

Yosik: Thank you, Habib. Thank you.

------------------------

[President Logan heads to the Bunker.]

Mike: Mr. President, it may be precipitous moving to the bunker now. Working from the Oval Office might exhibit a greater sense of confidence in our abilities to handle this crisis.

Logan: The purpose of the bunker is to protect the President in the times of crisis, is it not?

Mike: Yes, sir.

Logan: Well, I feel it is always wiser to take the proven course. Am I gonna be able to function at a hundred percent down here, Mike?

Mike: Absolutely, Mr. President.

Logan: What kind of protection does this bunker afford?

Mike: Total. You’re 200 feet below the surface. If the White House suffers a direct hit, everyone in the bunker would be safe, as would the communication infrastructure to the rest of the country.

Logan: Let’s hope that’s not needed.

Mike: Yes?

Man: Mr. Buchanan is on the line.

Mike: Mr. President. Bill Buchanan from CTU is on the line.

Logan: Hello, Bill. What do you have for me?

Buchanan: Mr. President, I’m here with Michelle Dessler, Director of CTU Los Angeles and Tony Almeida, heading up tactical.

Logan: Good. Let’s get started. Have all of our armaments referenced in the Red Chapter been secured?

Michelle: Not completely, Mr. President, but we’re working with DOD on that.

Logan: What else do we know?

Michelle: The man who choreographed today’s events, Habib Marwan, is still at large. Most likely, he is in possession of the Red Chapter.

Logan: What are we doing to find him?

Tony: We just picked up a thread, sir. We have a location where one of Marwan’s associates was detected twenty minutes ago.

Logan: That sounds promising. What else?

Michelle: We’re sifting through all our Intel now. We’re hoping to put together a pursuit scenario soon.

Logan: So you’re pretty confident you’ll be able to catch this terrorist, this… this Habib Marwan, before he strikes again?

Michelle: It’s not an exact science, sir. All we can do is maximize the probability for success. There are no guarantees.

Logan: Of course, I understand that! We need to get control of the situation. I can’t run the government from down here indefinitely, but I’m not going upstairs until it’s safe.

Mike: Sir, I think their time is better spent working up what they have. I recommend we let them get back to it.

Logan: OK, Bill. Call us when you have something more concrete.

Buchanan: Yes, sir, I will.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Buchanan: All right. Let’s get back to work.

Tony: Wait a second. Does anybody else feel uneasy about what we just heard here?

Buchanan: In what way?

Tony: Logan’s supposed to be the man who speaks to the people of this country and exudes confidence, not fear.

Buchanan: Air Force One was just attacked. President Keeler is in critical condition. Logan was just sworn in. Give him time.

Tony: We don’t have time.

Chloe: We’ve got Yosik Khatami. A traffic cam picked him up heading towards the coast. We have him on satellite.

Michelle: Link this up to Curtis. I want him running point on this takedown.

Buchanan: Tell Curtis to remain discreet. I wanna know what Khatami is doing, who he’s meeting, before we take him down.

------------------------

Tony: Michelle. I was out of line a couple of hours ago about you and Bill. It’s your life and I’ve got no right to judge you.

Michelle: I appreciate that.

Tony: Whatever tension there is between us, I wanna apologize for my part in it. I’d like it if we could just let it go so we can do our jobs. Leave the past in the past and move on.

Michelle: It sounds good.

Tony: All right.

------------------------

Buchanan: Thank you.

Man: Yes, sir.

Edgar: Curtis just called in. He’s about to arrive at the Marina. We’re set up.

Buchanan: Good. Set up a satellite. Also patch in an audio link.

Edgar: I’ll take care of it now.

Buchanan: Thanks, Edgar.

Tony: Do you want me to run point on that?

Michelle: No. Bill and I will do that, but I want you in on this.

Tony: To do what?

Michelle: I’d like your tactical input.

Tony: Fine, I’ll have Edgar transfer everything over to the situation room.

[Tony goes over to Edgar.]

Tony: Edgar.

Buchanan: I get the feeling Tony’s not entirely comfortable with the configuration here today.

Michelle: We hadn’t seen each other for a very long time. It’s uncomfortable for both of us.

Buchanan: The difference is you seem to be able to stay on point. I’m not so sure about him.

Michelle: I am. He’ll be fine.

------------------------

[Curtis and his team arrive at the Marina and see Yosik waiting alone on the dock.]

Curtis: He’s alone.

Buchanan: What’s he doing?

Curtis: It looks like a meet. He’s waiting for someone.

Buchanan: Is the Marine unit in place?

Tony: Yeah, they’re behind the jetty.

[A man approaches Yosik.]

Curtis: Looks like the man Yosik’s meeting just arrived. He’s walking towards him.

Michelle: Is it Marwan?

Curtis: I can’t tell.

Buchanan: Remember, Curtis, we need them both alive.

Curtis: I copy. All right, all teams, I’ll close up for the pier. Keep them contained, but do not shoot to kill. Repeat: do not shoot to kill.

[Curtis sees someone else near Yosik and Prado.]

Curtis: Dammit. Teams, respond. Who is that?

McAllen: This is McAllen at point 3. It looks like a private patrol.

Curtis: All right, hold your positions.

Prado: Yosik.

Yosik: Prado. You’re late. I’ve been standing here, waiting for you.

Prado: I’m here now. Let’s go.

[Prado starts walking. Yosik doesn’t move.]

Prado: Come on. What are you waiting for?

Yosik: Wait.

Prado: What’s the matter?

Yosik: Someone’s here.

Prado: It’s OK. It’s just Harbor Security.

Yosik: No. Something’s wrong. They’re on to us.

Prado: Yosik, now!

[Yosik relents and follows Prado into a boat.]

Curtis: The man he’s meeting is not Marwan.

Tony: Is there anybody else there besides the two of them?

Curtis: Not unless there’s someone else on the boat. Harboring units, move into position. All teams, move in.

Prado: We’re OK. I think we should just get out of here.

Yosik: There was a police officer out there!

Prado: I told you, that’s Harbor Security. They stop by all the time.

[Prado looks out from the boat and sees the impending raid.]

Prado: Who the hell is that?

[Yosik calls Marwan.]

Curtis: This is CTU. We have you completely surrounded. Step out of the boat!

Marwan: Yes?

Yosik: They found us.

Marwan: Where are you?

Yosik: It doesn’t matter. It’s over. They’re gonna get us.

Marwan: Yosik, you can’t let that happen. You cannot allow yourself to be captured.

Yosik: I understand.

Marwan: Also, you have to kill Prado. He knows too much.

Yosik: I’ll do what you say.

[Yosik reaches for his gun, but Prado kills him first. Marwan hears this over the cell. Prado exits the cabin to the throng of agents. Marwan is still on the line.]

Marwan: Yosik! Yosik!

Curtis: Shots fired! Shots fired! Move in! Come out with your hands up! You’re completely surrounded, there’s no escape!

Prado: Coming out!

Curtis: Drop the gun!

Prado: I’m putting the gun down! I’m putting the gun down!

Curtis: Step out of the boat. Get out of the boat!

Prado: There’s a man inside. I shot him. He was gonna kill me. He was trying to steal my boat. It was self defense.

Curtis: Put your hands on your head. Who are you? Who are you?

Prado: My name’s Joe Prado. I’m innocent. I have nothing to hide.

Curtis: Where’s Yosik?

Agent: He’s dead. His phone was lying next to him.

[The agent hands the phone over to Curtis. Marwan has been disconnected.]

Curtis: Get him out of here.

Agent: Let’s go.

Curtis: Secure the boat.

Agent: Yes, sir.

Curtis: Yosik’s dead. We have the man he was meeting. He says his name is Joe Prado.

Michelle: Bring him in.

Curtis: Will do. We also recovered Yosik’s cell phone. We’ll try and pull something off of it. I’ll report you on the route.

Michelle: Good work, Curtis. We’re standing-by.

------------------------

Man: What do you wanna do?

Marwan: Control the situation. Make sure Prado doesn’t talk to the authorities. He can hurt us.

Man: How do we get to him?

Marwan: We can’t. Not directly.

[Marwan dials his cell phone.]

Man: Hello?

Marwan: This is Marwan.

Man: Yes, Marwan?

Marwan: Can you reach Amnesty Global at this hour?

Man: What do you need?

Marwan: An attorney.

Man: What for?

Marwan: Tell them that an innocent man is being held without charges, and is about to be tortured at CTU Los Angeles.

------------------------

[Everyone at CTU watches the television as Logan addresses the nation.]

Logan: By God’s grace, President Keeler survived, but more than 75 others did not. I share in your grief and anger over this tragedy. My family and I feel no differently than each and every one of you. We are shocked, saddened and maybe a little afraid. These terrorists have displayed once again their indifference toward human life. They will pay for what they have done, I assure you.

Audrey: Bill, excuse me.

Logan: However, we must…

Audrey: There’s a convoy missing.

Buchanan: What?

Audrey: It was headed from Illinois to Jefferson City, Iowa. It disappeared just inside the boarder.

Buchanan: Disappeared?

Edgar: They are due to call in with their checkpoint every twenty minutes. They didn’t. I tried to reach them on com-sat, there was no reply.

Buchanan: How about satellite?

Audrey: Nothing showing up.

Buchanan: What was on the trucks?

Audrey: A nuclear warhead.

Logan: …Our faith and our resolve will prevail.

------------------------

[Edgar gets Prado’s photo and fingerprints from Curtis for a background check.]

Curtis (over the phone): Edgar, use the files I sent. Have Prado’s information waiting for me as soon as I get back to CTU.

Edgar (over the phone): OK. We’ve got the fingerprints. I’ll run them through our databases.

Curtis (over the phone): Thanks.

[Edgar hangs up.]

Michelle: What do we know about the prisoner Curtis is bring in?

Edgar: Just the name he gave, Joe Prado. Curtis just uploaded his picture and prints. I’m running through them now.

Michelle: Prep holding so Curtis can begin interrogation as soon as they arrive. I want this man broken in minutes, not hours.

[Michelle has the rest of the staff focus on finding the warhead.]

Michelle: Clear all directories. Put all resources into finding this warhead.

------------------------

[Mike complains to Buchanan that the President won’t be happy that the statement he just made has become invalidated.]

Buchanan: Believe me, Mike, I wish I had known about this sooner too.

Mike: Look, I’m not pointing fingers here. I’m on your side, but the President is not going to be happy that the statement he made could be invalidated.

Buchanan: I don’t know what to tell you. We’re putting everything we’ve got into finding this missing warhead.

Mike: All right, let me get back to you.

[Mike hangs up.]

------------------------

[At the site of the torched, ambushed convoy, a group of men put the crated warhead onto their flatbed truck and throw a tarp over it.]

Man: Move! Inside, let’s go. Move, move, move!

Driver (over the phone): We have it. We’re heading out now.

[The men drive off.]

------------------------

Logan: General Thomas just told me we’re missing a nuclear warhead.

Mike: Yes, I just heard some of the details from Bill Buchanan.

Logan: When did this happen?

Mike: It disappeared somewhere between 1:45 A.M. and 2:15, Central Time.

Logan: And none of our satellites was able to pick this up?!

Mike: It was at night. Our people are analyzing the imagery now, but it’s going to be hard to find.

Logan: What are we gonna do if we don’t find this man, Marwan?

Mike: Our people are doing everything they can to contain him to the Los Angeles area. It’s going to be difficult for him to leave.

Logan: Yeah, well, it’s difficult to shoot down Air Force One with one of our own stealth fighters, but he managed to do that. Who knows what else they’re planning? I’m sure he’s gonna come after me next.

Mike: Mr. President, there’s no indication that’s his plan.

Logan: You don’t know that, I don’t know that! We don’t have enough information to know what his plan is!

Mike: Head of Secret Service is on his way over now. He has a revised plan. I’m certain it’ll ease your mind about your safety.

------------------------

[Curtis and the agents lead Prado into CTU.]

Edgar: That’s the bastard Curtis found at the Marina, the one who’s helping the terrorists.

Chloe: I guess.

Edgar: I’d like to get him in a room for a few minutes.

Chloe: What?

Edgar: He’d talk to me about two seconds.

Chloe: Oh, you wanna hurt him to get revenge for your mother dying.

Curtis: Did Michelle have a chance to look at this?

Chloe: I can understand that.

Curtis: I need him processed immediately. Take him to holding. Did Edgar run the prints I sent?

Tony: Yeah, the name checks out. Joseph Prado, Ex-Marine. No criminal record, but over the last five years he’s got no record of employment either.

Curtis: Which means he’s a criminal or a mercenary.

Tony: That’s right.

Curtis: I’ll find out if he knows anything about the missing warhead.

Tony: All right.

Chloe: Tony.

Tony: What do you got?

Chloe: We found the convoy. I just got off with Iowa highway patrol. Military transport was ambushed. Everyone’s dead.

Tony: What about the warhead?

Chloe: Gone.

Tony: All right. Find out what kind of vehicle they needed to transport it. Also, tell local law enforcement to put up perimeters. I want you to check for any airstrips or a remote clearance where they might be able to put down a chopper.

Chloe: Yeah.

------------------------

[Curtis gets ready to interrogate Prado.]

Michelle: Remember, he’s an Ex-Marine. He won’t cave easily.

Curtis: I just need to establish that even though we’re in a government building, I’m willing to go as far as it takes.

Michelle: How are you gonna start?

Curtis: I’ll use Richards.

Michelle: OK.

[Curtis enters the interrogation room. Richards follows.] 

Prado: I told you I’m not talking to you, Pal. I’m not being charged with anything. I haven’t done anything wrong. I killed that man in self defense. He was trying to steal my boat.

Curtis: We both know that’s a lie, so let’s not waste each other’s time. What do you say, Joe?

Prado: I’m not saying anything to you.

Curtis: Highly unlikely.

[Curtis gives Richards the go. Prado is shocked when Richards unsheathes his torture needles.]

Prado: What the hell is this?

Curtis: Tell us what you know.

Prado: You’re insane.

[Outside, at the observation room, the phone rings.]

Michelle: Yes?

Buchanan: Michelle, where is Curtis?

Michelle: He’s just about to start with Prado.

Buchanan: Tell him to stop.

Michelle: What?

Buchanan: That’s an order. Both of you, come to the floor now.

Prado: It was self defense!

[Michelle buzzes Curtis on the intercom.]

Michelle: Curtis.

Prado: You can’t do this to me!

Michelle: Curtis.

Curtis: What?

Michelle: Buchanan wants to see us before you start.

Curtis: Wait till I get back.

[Curtis steps out of the interrogation room.]

Curtis: What’s this about?

Michelle: I don’t know.

[Michelle and Curtis go to the floor to meet with Buchanan.]

Buchanan: We have a problem. This is David Weiss from Amnesty Global.

Weiss: And I have a signed court order here protecting the rights of one Joseph Prado whom you have in custody. His US Marshall is here to assure that I am taken to the prisoner immediately.

Curtis: That’s ridiculous.

Weiss: That’s your opinion, but Mr. Prado’s rights will not be violated. Take me to him now.

Buchanan: We have no choice, Curtis. Do what he says.

Curtis: There’s a nuclear warhead missing. This is our only lead, Bill.

Buchanan: I’ll get into this with the Justice Department. In the meantime, do what he says.

------------------------

Buchanan (over the phone): When can I expect his call? It’s extremely important. Yes, I understand that, but I need to talk to the judge personally. Please have him call me back.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Edgar: Mr. Buchanan?

Buchanan: Edgar, do you have those hourlies for me?

Edgar: No, I don’t, but I’m here on another matter.

Buchanan: What?

Edgar: I heard the interrogation of Prado has been put on hold.

Buchanan: That’s right.

Edgar: Why?

Buchanan: Edgar, you have a job to do. Please get back to it.

Edgar: I know I’m not supposed to be interfering in matters of policy, but considering what I’ve been through today – my mother dying because of these terrorists… I wanna know why we’re letting some slimy lawyer protect a dirtbag like Prado.

Buchanan: We’re not happy about that either and we’re gonna fix it, but it’s gonna take some time.

Edgar: That’s time we don’t have!

Buchanan: Edgar, stop. I’m trying to cut you some slack here, but you need to get back to your job. You need to put all that other stuff on hold for a while, please.

Edgar: Yes, sir.

[Buchanan’s cell phone rings.]

Buchanan: Buchanan.

[Edgar goes back to work.]

Buchanan: Yes, I’ll hold for the judge.

Chloe: What was that about? You’re supposed to be doing the hourlies.

Edgar: I know. I don’t know why everybody keeps telling me what I’m supposed to be doing. I have a photographic memory, in case you forgot.

Chloe: How can I forget? You tell me like every other day.

Edgar: I don’t like what’s happening here. We have some prissy lawyer holding us up from doing our job.

Chloe: Your job is to do the hourlies. You’re holding yourself up.

------------------------

[Jack enters CTU.]

Jack: Chloe.

Chloe: Have you heard about the missing warhead?

Jack: Yeah. FBI linked up with Highway Sheriff’s Department yet?

Chloe: Yes, I’m sharing both databases.

Jack: OK, good. Who’s questioning the prisoner?

Chloe: You mean Joe Prado, the guy that Curtis brought in?

Jack: Yeah.

Chloe: No one.

Jack: What are you talking about?

Chloe: An attorney came in from Amnesty Global with a court order saying we weren’t allowed to be alone with Prado. Buchanan’s on the phone with the judge who signed the order now.

Buchanan: …you know that’s not the case here…

Jack: I’ll be right back. I don’t believe this.

Buchanan: I disagree with you, your honor. This does not fall outside the boundary of the petrianact. Yeah, all right, thanks.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Jack: What the hell’s going on here? You’ve got a key witness on a missing warhead. We should be pressing this guy with everything we’ve got.

Buchanan: Judge Norm won’t budge. If we wanna appeal, we have to wait till 7:00 A.M., take it to an appellant judge.

Jack: Does he know what the stakes are?

Buchanan: He does, but he’s feeling if Prado’s got no record, he shouldn’t be treated like a terrorist.

Jack: What about the fact that he was caught meeting with a known terrorist in the middle of the night on a pier?

Buchanan: Circumstantial.

Jack: Bill, we need to interrogate this person and I don’t care what court order they’re waving at you.

Buchanan: I agree, but he’s got his attorney with him and a U.S. Marshall protecting his rights.

Jack: Where is his attorney?

Buchanan: In holding with Prado.

[Jack goes to the interrogation room.]

Buchanan: Jack, don’t make it worse.

Jack: I just wanna talk to him.

Prado: How much longer do I have to stay here?

Weiss: I’m trying to get you out as soon as I can. My office is in the process of filing a complaint.

Prado: They have nothing on me. I was standing alone on my boat. I don’t even know this man that they were going after.

[Jack enters the interrogation room with Curtis.]

Jack: Come in with me now.

Weiss: Who are you?

Jack: My name is Jack Bauer, Department of Defense. And you are?

Weiss: David Weiss, Amnesty Global.

Jack: Curtis, why is the suspect not in his restrains?

Curtis: Amnesty Global’s order supersedes our authority.

Weiss: Mr. Bauer, my client is cooperating. He’s not trying to go anywhere. All he wants is to be treated like any other US citizen.

Jack: Your client aided and abetted the people who attacked the President of the United States today.

Weiss: You don’t know that.

Jack: As a matter of fact, we do.

Weiss: Then charge him.

Jack: May I speak with you privately? Get the door.

[Jack and Weiss speak outside the interrogation room.]

Jack: You and I both know that your client isn’t clean, and that he conspired to steal a US nuclear warhead.

Weiss: All my client wants is due process.

Jack: Mr. Weiss, these people are not gonna stop attacking us today until millions, and millions of Americans are dead. Now, I don’t wanna bypass the constitution, but these are extraordinary circumstances.

Weiss: The constitution was born out of extraordinary circumstances, Mr. Bauer. This plays out by the book, not in a back room with a rubber hose.

Jack: I hope you can live with that.

[Jack lets Weiss back into the interrogation room and starts to leave.]

Guard: Sir, can I help you?

Jack: No, it’s all right.

[Jack runs back inside the interrogation room.]

Jack: How’d you get here so fast?

Weiss: What?

Jack: Who asked you to represent Mr. Prado?

Weiss: I don’t have to give you that information.

Jack: Curtis, from the time of his arrest, did the suspect have time to call a lawyer?

Curtis: No.

[Jack and Curtis leave the room.]

Jack: Marwan called Amnesty Global. This is his play.

Buchanan: That means Prado definitely knows something Marwan doesn’t want us to hear. We still can’t get around that court order.

Jack: We need to call the President now.

------------------------

Logan: We cannot have any leaks regarding this missing warhead.

Mike: I’ve contacted General Wilson in Iowa. He’s sealing off the roads while we clean up the ambushed convoy.

Logan: What about those highway patrol officers who discovered it?

Mike: Wilson’s already brought them in and he’s explaining the situation. The good news is this is happening in the middle of the night. Most of the country’s still asleep.

[The intercom rings.]

Mike: Yes?

Woman: CTU Los Angeles is on the line for President Logan. They say it’s urgent.

Logan: Thank you, gentleman, that’ll be all. Walt, stay. Put them through.

Woman: Go ahead, please.

Buchanan: Mr. President, this is Bill Buchanan. I’m here with Jack Bauer.

Logan: Yes, Bill? What do you have for me?

Buchanan: Sir, in the process of trying to track down this missing warhead we brought in a prime suspect for questioning.

Logan: What have you learned?

Buchanan: Well, that’s the problem, sir. Right now, our hands are tied. Amnesty Global has interceded on his behalf.

Logan: Interceded on what grounds?

Buchanan: He’s a US citizen with no previous record.

Logan: Why is he a suspect?

Buchanan: We found him with Yosik Khatami, the man who’s linked to today’s terrorist events.

Logan: I don’t understand. It doesn’t violate any law to question a suspect.

Mike: Mr. President, if I may?

Logan: Go ahead, Mike.

Mike: Jack, it’s Mike Novick.

Jack: Hi, Mike.

Mike: Am I corrected assuming that this suspect is unlikely to respond to the kind of Q&A his lawyer would permit?

Jack: That’s correct, Mike. If we wanna procure any information from this suspect, we’re gonna have to do it behind closed doors.

Logan: You’re talking about torturing this man?

Jack: I’m talking about doing what is necessary to stop this warhead from being used against us.

Logan: Give us a moment, Bill. Mike, what do you think?

Mike: I think we need to do whatever it takes to find Marwan.

Logan: Walt? Way in.

Cummings: Well, this makes me nervous.

Logan: Why?

Cummings: Should this man be innocent as he claims he is, your first act as President is to sanction his torture. That’ll forever haunt your presidency.

Logan: All right, gentleman. Here’s what I’ll agree to. I’ll call a special session with members of the Justice Department and we’ll discuss this. I’ll have an answer for you in twenty minutes.

Jack: Mr. President, this thing could be over in twenty minutes.

Logan: It’s as far as I’m willing to go right now.

Jack: with all due respect, sir, please let us do our jobs.

Logan: I’ll get back to you as soon as I can.

[Logan hangs up.]

Buchanan: I’ll have Curtis stop the interrogation of Prado.

Jack: You and I both know we can’t afford to be wasting time like this.

Buchanan: You heard the President. He’s not gonna let us touch this guy.

Jack: The President’s not here, you are.

Buchanan: If I authorize this, they’ll know in ten minutes. We’ll all be out the door.

Jack: What if I can find another way to handle this that wouldn’t implicate anyone else but me?

Buchanan: I’m not gonna authorize that, Jack.

Jack: You don’t have to.

Buchanan: What do you mean?

Jack: Accept my resignation.

Buchanan: And if I do that, what then?

Jack: Release the suspect.

Buchanan: Release him?

Jack: We don’t question him, we don’t charge him, we just let him go. He won’t need a lawyer or a Marshall.

Buchanan: You’re gonna take him on as a private citizen.

------------------------

[Marwan calls the driver of the truck holding the nuclear warhead.]

Driver: Yes?

Marwan: How far away are you?

Driver: 92 miles.

Marwan: When you get there, you’ll meet with Morris.

Driver: Is he the one who’s gonna configure the detonation?

Marwan: Yes. I’ve given him the codes.

Driver: OK.

Marwan: You have to follow the plan exactly, Sabir. We cannot give the Americans time to start an evacuation.

Driver: Yes, Marwan, I understand.

Marwan: No delays.

Driver: It will be done.

[Marwan hangs up.]

------------------------

[Audrey comes upon Jack, who hurriedly packs up a taser gun.]

Audrey: Hey. When’d you get back?

Man (hands Jack a bag): Here you go.

Jack: A few minutes ago. Thanks.

Audrey: Good. I could use your help on the DOD interface.

Jack: I can’t help you right now, Audrey. I’m sorry.

Audrey: What are you doing?

Jack: I’ll tell you when I get back.

Audrey: Jack.

[Jack walks away from Audrey in a rush.]

Audrey: Jack!

Jack: Audrey, please.

------------------------

[Tony and Curtis let Prado out of custody.]

Prado: What the hell are you trying to pull here? First you wanna torture me and now you’re throwing me out?

Curtis: That’s right.

Weiss: It’s OK, Joe. I’m sure they tried to fight the restraining order, then realized they couldn’t.

Prado: No, that’s not what this is. They’re doing something.

Tony: Don’t be so paranoid. I’m just not interested in you anymore.

Prado: I want protection when I get out of here.

Weiss: The Marshall can escort you back wherever you wanna go.

Prado: No, no, no! You know what? Change of plan. I don’t wanna leave here until I know I’m safe for the next few days.

Curtis: If you don’t leave, I’m gonna have to arrest you for trespassing a secured government building. Once that happens, not even your attorney can protect you. Correct me if I’m wrong, David.

Weiss: He’s right.

[Prado reluctantly leaves CTU with Weiss and the Marshall. Edgar is incensed that Prado is being released.]

Edgar: What’s going on? Where are they taking Prado?

Chloe: He’s been released.

Edgar: Why?

Chloe: I don’t know. It came from Buchanan.

Edgar: Mr. Buchanan, why are you letting him go?

Buchanan: Edgar, not now, please.

Edgar: But he’s working with the people that killed my mother.

Edgar: Not now.

[Outside CTU, the lawyer leaves Prado.]

Weiss: Cheer up, Joe, you’re a free man.

Prado: Yeah, right.

Weiss: The Marshall’s gonna take you home.

Prado: No, are you kidding me? I can’t go home. I gotta go somewhere public, like a hotel.

Weiss: Fine. Tell him where you wanna go. Don’t let anyone know you’re there. Here’s my card. You call me if anyone from CTU tries to bother you.

Prado: Yeah, OK.

Weiss: You’re gonna be fine.

[A U.S. Marshall accompanies Prado to a government car. After the attorney pulls out of the lot, Jack tasers the Marshall. Jack pulls out his gun on Prado.]

Jack: Make a sound and I will blow your brains out all over the windshield. Handcuff your left arm to the dashboard, now.

[Prado handcuffs his left hand to the dashboard.]

Jack: Now we’re gonna talk.

[Jack gets inside the car.]

Jack: Now, you and I both know your heart isn’t in this. You just wanted the money. I don’t want you. All I want is Marwan.

Prado: I don’t know any Marwan. I don’t know what you’re talking about.

Jack: Yeah. Well, I’m running out of time here, so why don’t we just cut to the chase?

[Jack breaks Prado’s fingers one by one.]

Jack: Where’s Marwan?

Prado: I don’t know!

Jack: Where is Marwan? Where’s Marwan?

Prado: I don’t know! I swear, I don’t know!

[Jack pulls out a knife and threatens to slit Prado’s throat.]

Prado: OK, OK. OK. Marwan’s… Marwan’s gonna be at a place called “The Hub” tonight.

Jack: Where is it?

Prado: It’s just… it’s just…

Jack: Where is it?!

Prado: It’s just east of downtown! Just east of downtown…

Jack: This will help you with the pain.

[Jack knocks Prado out with a punch.] 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Audrey: There’s a convoy missing. It was headed from Illinois to Jefferson City, Iowa. It disappeared just inside the boarder.

Buchanan: Disappeared?

Edgar: They are due to call in with their checkpoint every twenty minutes. They didn’t. I tried to reach them on com-sat, there was no reply.

Buchanan: What was on the trucks?

Audrey: A nuclear warhead.

------------------------

Yosik: They found us.

Marwan: Where are you?

Yosik: It doesn’t matter. It’s over. They’re gonna get us.

Marwan: You have to kill Prado. He knows too much.

Curtis: Drop the gun!

Prado: I’m putting the gun down! I’m putting the gun down!

Curtis: Who are you?

Prado: My name’s Joe Prado. I’m innocent.

------------------------

Weiss: Mr. Prado’s rights will not be violated. Take me to him now.

Buchanan: We have no choice, Curtis. Do what he says.

Curtis: There’s a nuclear warhead missing. This is our only lead, Bill.

Jack: What the hell’s going on here? You’ve got a key witness on a missing warhead. We should be pressing this guy with everything we’ve got.

------------------------

Mike: Jack, it’s Mike Novick.

Jack: Mike, if we wanna procure any information from this suspect, we’re gonna have to do it behind closed doors.

Logan: You’re talking about torturing this man?

Jack: I’m talking about doing what is necessary to stop this warhead from being used against us.

Logan: All right, gentleman. I’ll have an answer for you in twenty minutes.

Jack: Mr. President, this thing could be over in twenty minutes.

------------------------

Jack: What if I can find another way to handle this that wouldn’t implicate anyone else but me?

Buchanan: I’m not gonna authorize that, Jack.

Jack: You don’t have to.

Buchanan: What do you mean?

Jack: Accept my resignation.

Buchanan: And if I do that, what then?

Jack: Release the suspect.

------------------------

Prado: Now you’re throwing me out?

Curtis: That’s right.

Jack: Make a sound and I will blow your brains out all over the windshield. Where is he?

Prado: I don’t know!

Jack: Where is he now? Where’s Marwan?

Prado: OK, OK. OK. Marwan’s… Marwan’s gonna be at a place called “The Hub” tonight.

Jack: Where is it?

Prado: It’s just… it’s just…

Jack: Where is it?!

Prado: It’s just east of downtown!

Jack: This will help you with the pain.

------------------------

The following takes place between 1:00 A.M. and 2:00 A.M.

[At CTU, a medic treats Prado’s hand and head wounds. Buchanan dials his phone.]

Woman: Yes, sir?

Buchanan: Put me through to the White House.

Woman: President Logan?

Buchanan: No, not the President, Mike Novick.

Woman: One moment, please.

[Audrey enters the clinic.]

Woman: I’m sorry, we’re still trying to locate Mr. Novick.

Buchanan: Call me when you get him on the line.

Woman: Yes, sir.

[Buchanan hangs up the phone.]

Audrey: What happened?

Buchanan: Prado talked.

Audrey: Who did this?

Buchanan: Audrey.

Audrey: I’m a representative of DOD. I have a right to know, Bill. Did Jack do this?

Buchanan: Yes, he did. It was the only way to get him to give up Marwan’s location.

Audrey: So President Logan gave Jack the authority to use force?

Buchanan: No, Audrey. The President didn’t.

Audrey: Where’s Jack now?

Buchanan: He’s prepping a team to apprehend Marwan.

[Audrey leaves.]

------------------------

[Curtis and his SWAT team suit up in a locker room.]

Jack: Curtis. Lawson told me you wanted to utilize LAPD.

Curtis: I’m having them lockdown a ten block perimeter.

Jack: I don’t think that’s the right call. Marwan’s people are coming and going. We lockdown that area, we just give them a heads-up.

Curtis: All right, we’ll stay invisible.

[Audrey comes in.]

Jack: Excuse me for one second. What is it?

Audrey: I just came from the clinic where they’re treating Prado for multiple injuries.

Jack: Audrey, what’d you expect me to do? Marwan has a nuclear warhead, and he’s gonna use it unless we find him first.

Audrey: I understand the situation, Jack.

Jack: Then you know what I did was absolutely necessary. At least now we know where he is.

Audrey: Logan gave you a direct order not to use extreme interrogation method without his authorization. Jack, you are acting against the President.

Jack: I know.

[Curtis comes out of the locker room.]

Curtis: Jack, we’re set.

Jack: I’ll be right there.

Curtis: All right, everyone. Let’s move out.

Jack: Look, I’ve gotta go.

Audrey: Jack, you can’t keep walking outside the line and not expect consequences.

Jack: Trust me, no one understands the consequences better than me. No one.

Audrey: Jack…

[Jack leaves with Curtis.]

Curtis: Are you OK?

Jack: Yeah, I’m fine. Why?

Curtis: Just asking.

Jack: I’m sorry. I’m fine.

Curtis: Look, for whatever it’s worth, you did the right thing with Prado.

Jack: Thanks.

------------------------

[Novick battles with the President about how to handle the Prado interrogation.]

Logan: Authorizing the torture of a foreign national’s one thing, but torturing a U.S. citizen… I can’t…

Mike: Sir, this man, Prado, has information on the whereabouts of a nuclear warhead.

Logan: We don’t know that for sure, Mike.

Mike: No, sir, we don’t because you’re not letting CTU do what they need to do.

Logan: I’m gonna wait till the Attorney General gets back to me with an opinion.

Mike: Mr. President, we are running out of time.

Logan: Walt. You were the first one to raise an objection to this. What do you think now?

Cummings: I think you need to make a decision, sir, and sooner rather than later.

[Mike’s secretary enters.]

Woman: Mr. Novick? Bill Buchanan’s on the phone from CTU. He’s called twice. He says it’s urgent.

Mike: I’ll be right there.

Woman: Yes, sir.

[The woman leaves.]

Mike: What should I tell him? Mr. President…

Logan: Stop pressing me for an answer I’m not ready to give! I need more time.

[Mike leaves. He takes the call from Buchanan.]

Mike: I’m sorry for the delay, Bill, but the President is still working through his decision.

Buchanan: The President won’t have to make that call, Mike.

Mike: What are you talking about?

Buchanan: Prado gave up Marwan’s location.

Mike: I thought Prado claimed he didn’t know anything.

Buchanan: He did. He changed his mind.

Mike: You mean Bauer physically coerced him? Tell me what happened, chapter and verse.

Buchanan: Mike, Bauer got the information we needed. I think it’s best if I insolate you from the details.

Mike: The President gave explicit orders. You should have restrained Bauer.

Buchanan: With all due respect, restraint is a luxury we can’t afford right now.

Mike: What am I supposed to tell the President?

Buchanan: Convince him to sign off on the extreme interrogation, and we’ll cheat the timeline in the official record.

Mike: I made a mistake of deceiving one president. I won’t make the same mistake twice.

Buchanan: Even though we both know Bauer was right? Mike, someone out there has one of our nuclear warheads. May I speak off the record?

Mike: Go ahead.

Buchanan: I’m worried about President Logan.

Mike: Worried? Why?

Buchanan: His behavior over the last few hours. I’m concerned about his ability to lead us through this crisis.

Mike: I understand.

[Mike hangs up the phone.]

------------------------

[From a Los Angeles nightclub, Marwan phones his associate Robert Morrison, who has just arrived at a secret Iowa location with the warhead.]

Morrison: Yes?

Marwan: Where are you?

Morrison: I’m at the location. We just arrived with the package.

Marwan: Has Sabir done the compatibility check?

Morrison: Not yet.

Marwan: Call me as soon as he’s finished, then I’ll have the next payment wired to your account.

[Sabir confirms for Morrison that the warhead will be made compatible within an hour.]

Morrison: Is it compatible?

Sabir: I’ll need to reconfigure the trigger mechanism.

Morrison: Is it compatible?

Sabir: Yes.

Morrison: How long will that take?

Sabir: An hour, maybe less.

Morrison: Then you should start.

[Sabir’s cell phone rings.] 

Sabir: My girlfriend.

Morrison: She’ll leave a message.

Sabir: She’s already left three messages. I don’t want her calling around for me.

Morrison: Take the call, but hurry up.

[Sabir takes the call.]

Sabir: Nabila?

Nabila: Where are you, Sabir?

Sabir: It’s the middle of the night.

Nabila: I asked you where you are.

Sabir: At the hotel.

Nabila: Stop lying to me. I called. You never checked in. tell me what you’re doing.

Sabir: Nabila, I can’t talk about this now. Get some sleep and I’ll explain everything tomorrow.

Nabila: You mean after you’ve had time to come up with another lie? I found something on your computer, Sabir. A bookmark. Do you have something to do with what’s been happening today?

Sabir: How can you ask that?

Nabila: Are you working with these terrorists?

Sabir: Of course not! You know I’m not a violent man.

Nabila: I know your politics.

Sabir: Nabila, enough! Stop talking nonsense.

Nabila: Is it nonsense?

Sabir: Like I said, I’ll explain things tomorrow.

Nabila: Sabir, listen to me.

[Sabir hangs up.]

Sabir: She’s fine. Don’t worry.

------------------------

Buchanan: I want schematics on the nightclub, options for a staging area, and let county know when you’ve traffic control. Thank you.

Audrey: Bill. How could you let Jack torture Prado?

Buchanan: Audrey, it had to be done.

Audrey: The President made it very clear that he didn’t want Prado’s rights violated.

Buchanan: That’s right, he did make it clear, and he was wrong.

Audrey: We can’t just break protocol because we think it’s right at the time, and expect to get away with it.

Buchanan: Normally, I’d agree with you, but in this case I’d rather ask for forgiveness and permission.

Audrey: What kind of answer is that?

Buchanan: The answer is it worked. We got Marwan’s location. Audrey. With all due respect, this is not Washington DC. Policy and politics do not always work on the front line, which is where we are today.

Audrey: Yes, well, Charles Logan is a politician, and he is not gonna give you forgiveness. I hope this does not come back to haunt you or Jack.

Buchanan: If what we did gets us to Marwan, we’ll live with it.

------------------------

Logan: What is it?

Mike: CTU located Marwan. They sent a tactical team to grab him.

Logan: That’s good news. But I’m curious how they obtained Marwan’s location. Did they use force?

Mike: Yes, sir, I believe force was used, but I’m sure I don’t need to remind you that this is an extremely sensitive situation.

Logan: Who’s responsible, Mike? I’m asking you a question, Mike. Who did this?

Mike: Jack Bauer.

Logan: I’m the President of the United States. I can’t allow this kind of insubordination to go unanswered, especially at a time of crisis! I want Bauer arrested.

Mike: I agree, that should happen, sir. But I think we should wait until we have Marwan in custody.

Logan: No. I want him arrested now.

Mike: Sir, Bauer is heading the field operation.

Logan: Jack Bauer is not the only man who can do the job! Put someone else in charge!

Mike: Mr. President…

[Logan dials the phone.] 

Logan: Get me Secret Service.

Woman: Yes, Mr. President.

------------------------

Buchanan (over the phone): Has Jack set the robotic camera in position?

Curtis (over the phone): We’re still a few minutes out, Bill.

Buchanan (over the phone): We’re set to receive. Thanks, Curtis.

[Buchanan hangs up. He hands a disk to an agent.]

Buchanan: Get this to Audrey Raines and have her stream it to DOD, please.

[Buchanan’s cell phone rings.]

Buchanan: Buchanan.

Mike: Bill, it’s Mike Novick. I just got out of a room with President Logan. He knows how we got the information from Prado.

Buchanan: How did he find that out?

Mike: He’s not a stupid man, Bill. I’m not gonna lie to him.

Buchanan: Well, you’ll just have to convince him to leave it alone.

Mike: I tried. He’s not going to leave it alone.

Buchanan: Fine. Tomorrow he can bring charges against me. Right now I have to get back to the business of finding Marwan.

Mike: It’s not tomorrow and it’s not you.

Buchanan: What does that mean?

Mike: He wants Jack Bauer arrested.

Buchanan: Arrested? Mike. Jack is heading up the team that’s trying to bring in Marwan.

Mike: We’re aware of that. Logan’s adamant. He wants this dealt with immediately. Anything less he will take as a personal repudiation of his presidency.

Buchanan: OK, what’s more important, the President’s feelings or capturing the man who’s responsible for everything that’s happened today?

Mike: I hear what you’re saying, Bill, but Logan’s already called the Secret Service. They’re on their way to take Jack into custody. I suggest you warn him immediately.

[Mike hangs up.]

------------------------

[Jack and Curtis arrive at the nightclub near downtown.]

Curtis: Before moving, we need confirmation Marwan’s inside.

Jack: I’ll send in the remote camera, see if we can get a visual.

Curtis: All right. What’s your point of entry?

Jack: The ventilation shaft.

[Jack calls Chloe.]

Chloe: O’Brian.

Jack: Chloe, it’s Jack. Can you get the schematics for the AC configuration for the building? Send it over to my PDA.

Chloe: I’m on it, Jack. I’ll end it to you a soon as I can.

Jack: OK, the camera’s working.

[The SWAT team gets into position.]

------------------------

[Chloe’s phone rings.]

Chloe: O’Brian.

Man: We got a Los Angeles woman reporting suspicious activities. 

Chloe: Cross referenced an ID match?

Man: She seems to be who she says she is.

Chloe: OK, send her information to my screen and put her through.

Man: There you go.

Chloe: This is Chloe O’Brian. How can I help you?

Nabila: I was just telling the man on the phone I’m not sure who exactly I should be talking to.

Chloe: I’m an analyst at CTU Los Angeles. Why don’t you start at the beginning?

Nabila: I’m calling about my boyfriend.

Chloe: What’s his name?

Nabila: You need to understand I’m not sure if this means anything…

Chloe: You were about to tell me his name?

Nabila: Sabir Ardakani. We’ve been going out since grad school.

Chloe: Can you spell that?

Nabila: Ardakani; A-r-d-a-k-a-n-i.

Chloe: Where’d you go to grad school?

Nabila: Berkeley Tech. we were both studying engineering. He’s been traveling a lot lately; business trips, he said. I’m not sure why I looked, probably because of everything that’s been going on today, but I found something on his computer.

Chloe: Tell me.

Nabila: I think Sabir may have become involved with radical groups.

Chloe: You mean terrorists?

Nabila: Yes.

Chloe: Where is Sabir now?

Nabila: He said he was going to Arizona for a client meeting, but the hotel has no record of him.

Chloe: When you looked through his computer files, tell me what you found, specifically.

Nabila: Most of his files were encrypted, but there was one document in the recycle bin that’s a schematic for a microchip, a type I’ve never seen before.

------------------------

[Jack sends a remote camera inside the building’s ventilation shaft for a visual.]

Curtis: Jack, do you copy?

Jack: Yeah.

Curtis: Buchanan wants to talk to you.

Jack: Now?

Curtis: He says it’s urgent.

Jack: Fine.

Curtis: Go ahead, Bill.

Buchanan: Jack, we got a problem. Secret Service is on their way over there now to arrest you.

Jack: What are you talking about?

Buchanan: Logan knows we violated his order when you went after Prado.

Jack: Bill, we can’t interrupt this mission. You gotta stall them.

Buchanan: Jack, I’ve been on the phone for the last ten minutes. There’s nothing I can do from here. You have to get Marwan before Secret Service gets there.

Jack: Curtis, did you copy that?

Curtis: Yeah. I’ll run interference.

Jack: Give me a couple of minutes. I’ll bury the transmit.

Curtis: Jack, we’re ready.

------------------------

[Marwan and his men prepare to record a taped speech to a video camera in a backroom.]

Man: Excuse me, Marwan. I just talked to Abad in New York. As soon as you’re done, I’ll upload the tape.

Marwan: Good. I want this delivered to television stations by dawn on the east coast.

Man: It won’t be a problem. You wanna cover your face?

Marwan: No. I want the American people to know who did this. Ready.

[The man starts filming.]

Marwan: People of America, you wake up today to a different world. One of your own nuclear weapons has been used against you. It’ll be days and weeks before you can measure the damage we’ve caused, but as you count your dead, remember why this has happened to you. You have no understanding for the causes of the people you strike down or the nations you conquer. You choose to meddle in their affairs without respect. You follow your government unquestioning toward your own slaughter. Today you pay the price for that ignorance.

------------------------

[Jack feeds a robotic camera into the nightclub’s air vent. He sends the visual back to CTU.]

Jack: The camera is in the vent.

[The camera gets to the main room.]

Jack: I’ve got a visual on the main room. Approximately 50 civilians. Marwan won’t be here. He’s gonna wanna stay out of sight. Hold on, I’ve got a possible sentry. A second possible sentry at the window looking down on the street.

Curtis: Hey, Michelle, can you get a frame grab?

Michelle: We’re working on an ID.

Chloe: I’m sending a freezed frame to the facial recognition software.

Michelle: Jack, we have a match. He’s a known associate of Marwan.

Tony: That confirms that Prado gave us a legitimate address.

Buchanan: But not that Marwan is in the building. We can’t risk exposing ourselves till we know he’s in there.

[Castle’s cell phone rings.]

Castle: Castle.

Man: Secret Service is approaching your position.

Castle: Jack, Secret Service has arrived.

Jack: Did Marwan’s people see them approach?

Castle: No, they came out through the rear alley.

Jack: Moving over to the next room.

[Marwan’s men are still recording at the backroom.]

Marwan: Unless you renounce your policies of imperialism and intervention in these activities, this attack will be followed by another and another after that.

[The camera gets to the room where the video is being taped.]

Jack: I got a visual on people, what looks like a storage unit.

Curtis: How many?

Jack: Five. But they’re talking to someone else out of my sightline.

Curtis: All right, copy. All right, stand-by, Jack. What’s going on?

Moorefield: Secret Service. I’m agent Greg Moorefield. This is agent Frank Wells. We know this is a highly irregular situation, but we have orders to take Jack Bauer into custody.

Jack: Curtis, let me talk to them.

Curtis: Go ahead, Jack.

Jack: This is Jack Bauer. Right now we are trying to confirm that Habib Marwan is in this building. He is the terrorist in possession of a stolen nuclear warhead. I cannot oppress upon you how sensitive this mission is.

Moorefield: The President was specific, sir. We need to pull you off this now.

Jack: I don’t think you understand. I am in a concealed position. You pull me out now, you put this whole operation in jeopardy. As soon as this is over I give you my word, I will go with you.

Moorefield: I’m sorry, agent, if you don’t come out, we’re gonna have to come in and get you.

Buchanan: Local Secret Service Command has confirmed the order, Jack. There’s nothing I can do about it.

Curtis: Jack, we don’t have a choice. We’re gonna need to replace you.

Castle: Jack, this is Castle. I’m heading out to you.

Jack: Approach the sound side of the building.

Castle: Got it.

Agent: We’re on the move.

Curtis: All right, careful.

------------------------

[Marwan’s men spot the Secret Service cars outside.]

Man: Marwan, the police are here. Asir saw an officer outside.

Marwan: Start packing.

Jack: Hold on, I got a visual on Marwan. I have a visual on Marwan. He is in the building.

[Marwan sees the remote camera in the vent.]

Marwan: Let’s go.

Jack: Dammit, they know we’re here. Everybody, move on the building.

Curtis: Our cover’s blown. Everyone, go, go, go, go, go!

[Jack moves into the nightclub to find Marwan, who has slipped out down a flight of stairs. Jack chases after him, as Curtis and the SWAT team follow from the main room.]

Curtis: Get down! Everybody, get down! Get down now!

[Marwan and his crew go into an underground tunnel. Jack comes up behind them and kills one of the men bringing up the rear.]

Jack: Freeze!

Curtis: I got him, Jack.

Jack: Marwan’s men have escaped through a whole in the outer basement wall.

Tony: Set up a two mile perimeter. Cover all utility access points.

[Jack sees that they’ve activated a bomb, and he and the agents run out as it explodes.]

Jack: Bomb! Bomb!

Michelle: Jack, what happened? Curtis! Curtis!

Curtis: Jack, are you OK?

Jack: Yeah. Check out your men. Michelle, it’s Jack. We can’t pursue. They blew the tunnel off behind them. It’s completely blocked. Have LAPD tighten up the perimeter. Get them to tell us where this tunnel fits into now.

Curtis: Yeah.

[Secret Service agents enter the underground area.]

Curtis: Jack.

Moorefield: Agent Bauer. Agent Moorefield, Secret Service. I’m sorry, but I’m here to take you into custody. Hand over your weapon, please.

[Jack hands his weapon over to Moorefield. Moorefield searches Jack for weapons.]

Jack: You blew this mission.

Moorefield: I’m sorry, sir, I’m just following orders.

[Moorefield handcuffs Jack.]

------------------------

[Curtis discusses the situation with Tony and Michelle over the phone.]

Curtis: Has anyone asked President Logan what the hell he was thinking arresting Jack in the middle of the operation?

Michelle: Look, Curtis, we still have to focus on finding Marwan. We pulled up city records. The building is directly adjacent to a sewer line.

Curtis: How many street level degrees points are there?

Michelle: At least 30.

Curtis: Which means Marwan’s probably gone past our perimeters already.

Tony: Yeah, well, we still have to keep looking. LAPD and FBI will set down a grid down there. I want you to coordinate your men with them.

Curtis: We just found a video tape on a man we shot. It’s been damaged, but we should be able to recover most of what’s on it.

Michelle: We’ll have one of your men come back here with the video tape. Edgar’s repositioning the satellite. We’ll let you know if we find anything.

Curtis: You got it.

------------------------

[Buchanan has to explain to Novick and President Logan that Marwan escaped because of the Secret Service’s breach.]

Logan: How did Marwan get past your men?

Buchanan: They had to move in before they were ready.

Logan: Why?

Buchanan: Secret Service showed up to take Bauer into custody, which compromised one of our positions.

Logan: I didn’t mean… That’s not what I meant to have happen.

Buchanan: With respect, sir, your orders were explicit.

Mike: What other search protocols are you running?

Buchanan: None, Mr. Novick. We’re essentially without a lead.

Mike: Bill, give us a few minutes. We’ll get right back to you.

Buchanan: Standing-by.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Logan: This is not my fault. None of this would have happened if Jack Bauer hadn’t disobeyed my orders in the first place!

Mike: I’m sorry, sir, but if you’re asking me to agree with that assessment, I can’t. If it wasn’t for Jack, we wouldn’t have located Marwan. CTU’s waiting for us to call them back with a directive. What would you like me to tell them, Mr. President?

Logan: I have no idea. And that’s the problem, isn’t it? It is my fault we lost him. This man, Marwan, has a nuclear warhead and I allowed him to escape.

Mike: Mr. President…

Logan: Stop. I don’t even know if I deserve to be called that.

Mike: Whatever I call you won’t change the fact you are President of the United States.

Logan: I shouldn’t be. For the good of this country, I should resign.

Mike: That’s not an option, sir. Not without destroying the public’s confidence, which is already at its limits. Free presidency as many hours will be devastating.

Logan: Then what should I do, Mike? Tell me what to do.

Mike: There’s someone who can advise you better than I can. You should consider bringing him in here to help you through this.

Logan: Who?

------------------------

News reporter on TV: President Keeler is in critical condition after Air Force One crashed in the Mojave Desert a few hours ago.

[The phone rings.]

News reporter on TV: A White House spokesperson reports that the President was taken to an undisclosed military hospital following the crash. The details are still forthcoming, but what we know is…

Secret Service Agent: Sir, there’s a secured call coming through for you.

[The agent hands Palmer the phone.]

Palmer: Thank you, Alex.

[Palmer takes the call.]

Palmer: Hello?

Mike: Mr. President.

Palmer: Mike?

Mike: Yes, sir. I’m sorry to disturb you so late.

Palmer: No, I’ve been up all night following the news. This is a tragic day for our country.

Mike: Yes. May I ask when you received your last intelligence briefing?

Palmer: Three hours ago. Why?

Mike: Since then, the terrorist behind today’s events, Habib Marwan, has taken possession of a nuclear warhead.

Palmer: Oh, my God. How?

Mike: Well, he recovered the Football from the wreckage of Air Force One, and he used it to track and steal a warhead. President Logan feels he needs help.

Palmer: What kind of help?

Mike: Substantial.

Palmer: I’m not sure what you’re asking me to do.

Mike: President Logan is requesting you run the effort to recover the stolen weapon and be in place to make whatever decisions need to be made. A crisis is looming. Hard choices may need to be made. By the President’s own admission he feels he may not be up to the task. This county is very possibly about to face the worst terrorist act in its history. We need your leadership.

Palmer: Before I do anything, I wanna speak to President Logan face to face.

Mike: Fair enough. I’ll notify your Secret Service detail to bring you to the White House.

Palmer: All right, Mike.

Mike: Thank you, Mr. President.

------------------------

[Outside the nightclub, Jack is released by the Secret Service.]

Curtis (over the phone): Secret Service resented the order. Yeah, they’re releasing Jack now. All right. Yeah.

Moorefield: Please step out of the car, Agent Bauer.

[Still handcuffed, Jack gets out of the car.]

Jack: What’s going on?

[A Secret Service Agent takes Jack’s handcuffs off.]

Moorefield: President Logan realized this was a mistake. You’re free to go. I am genuinely sorry about all this.

[Moorefield hands Jack his gun back.]

Jack: It doesn’t really help us with our situation, does it? We had Marwan. Any sign of him?

Curtis: We have people all over the tunnels. So far, nothing.

Jack: We had him. Dammit, we had him!

Curtis: They’re not finished searching the tunnels.

Jack: If you haven’t found him yet, you’re not going to. Too many ways in, too many ways out. CTU have any new leads on Marwan or the warhead?

Curtis: No.

Jack: Great. Load everybody up, we’re going back to CTU now.

Curtis: All right, everyone, let’s go!

------------------------

Chloe: Edgar.

Edgar: I’m busy, Chloe.

Chloe: I need you to release your system.

Edgar: Why?

Chloe: It’s the only one with the random sequence search.

Edgar: You’re gonna have to wait.

Chloe: It can’t wait. Someone called a lead in, and now that Marwan’s escaped, I need to pursue this.

Edgar: This is more important. I have agents out there looking for Marwan. I need to reconfigure the perimeter for them.

Chloe: You don’t need your system to do that. Just tell them to use the profiles we loaded onto their panels.

Edgar: That won’t be good enough. Things are changing every minute.

Chloe: They’re field agents, they have guns. They don’t need you to cuddle them.

Edgar: You know, that’s a pretty rood attitude.

Chloe: I need your system.

Edgar: No.

[Chloe goes over to Tony.]

Chloe: Tony.

Tony: What?

Chloe: A woman called in and she thinks her boyfriend may have had something to do with today’s terrorist attacks.

Tony: Did you verify it?

Chloe: No, that’s the problem. I need to use Edgar’s system.

Tony: Why?

Chloe: Her evidence involves data that she got from her boyfriend’s computer. It’s in preparatory format.

Tony: Well, what’s Edgar doing?

Chloe: He’s screwing around, moving agents that Jack and Curtis don’t need.

Tony: Edgar!

Edgar: Yeah?

Tony: Let Chloe into your system.

Edgar: What about tactical I’m running? I still got guys out there.

Tony: Marwan’s long gone. Most of those agents you can call back in.

Chloe: Excuse me.

[Chloe sits at Edgar’s system.]

------------------------

Sabir: All right.

[Morrison calls Marwan, who is in an underground sewer tunnel.]

Marwan: Yes?

Morrison: This is Morrison. Is there a problem? I haven’t heard from you.

Marwan: CTU found the club.

Morrison: How’d they know you were there?

Marwan: Must have been Prado. Has the warhead been reconfigured?

Morrison: Yes.

Marwan: Then our timetable remains unchanged.

Morrison: Marwan. We may have a potential security breech here.

Marwan: Who?

Morrison: The technician, Sabir. His girlfriend’s getting suspicious.

Marwan: But it’s being taken care of?

Morrison: Of course. It’s being handled.

Marwan: Let me know when it’s done.

[Marwan hangs up. Marwan climbs out of the tunnel through a manhole cover.]

------------------------

[Chloe updates Tony and Buchanan on what Nabila found on Sabir’s computer.]

Chloe: Tony.

Tony: Yeah?

Chloe: The woman with the phone tip, who is suspicious about her boyfriend panned out.

Tony: What’d you find?

Chloe: She sent us a schematic of a microchip that we did analysis on. It’s used exclusively in Legacy nuclear warheads.

Buchanan: Does this include the warhead Marwan has control of?

Chloe: Yes. This is the design of the chip that controls the trigger on the stolen warhead.

Tony: What do we know about the man whose computer we found this on?

Chloe: His name is Sabir Ardakani. According to his girlfriend, he’s recently become radicalized.

Buchanan: I want his picture and ID on an all-agency distribution list, highest priority.

Chloe: She thinks he’s out of state, but she has no idea where.

Tony: Well, if he’s in this with Marwan, he’s probably somewhere in the Iowa region with the warhead.

Buchanan: This woman who gave you the tip, is she local?

Chloe: Yes, Las Vilas. She says that the rest of the files on his hard driver are locked. If that’s the case, we’re gonna need a specialist.

Tony: We’re gonna need to sent a team over there as soon as possible, see what else we can dig up on him.

Buchanan: All right. Chloe, I want you over there.

Chloe: What?

Buchanan: Take a team with you, let’s get on this.

Chloe: Oh, I’m not a field agent. I don’t do that.

Buchanan: Chloe. We need a specialist on this. You’re the only one who can get those files off that hard drive. I wanna know what Ardakani is doing and where he is. Chloe, I’m giving you an order. Go.

------------------------

[Chloe calls Edgar from the car to make sure he has everything covered.]

Chloe: Edgar, it’s Chloe. Does my panel have a live link to the tactical network?

Edgar: Not yet.

Chloe: What are you waiting for?

Edgar: We don’t do that until the agents are on site.

Chloe: I’m not an agent.

Edgar: I know that, but you’re attached to a mobile unit, Chloe. I’m just trying to do things by the book. Isn’t that always what you tell me to do?

Chloe: Why do you have to be so contrary? I’m just not comfortable out here. I wanna make sure you have everything covered.

Edgar: Fine. You have your live link. What else?

Chloe: Trunk my audio in with Bergin and White. I wanna make sure that I can monitor the two-way between them and CTU.

Edgar: Done.

Chloe: OK. I can’t think of anything else right now, but if I do, I’m gonna call you, but I really hope you don’t give me so much resistance next time.

Edgar: Chloe, I know you’re scared, and I’ll make sure everything is covered on this end.

Chloe: Why did they ask me to do this? I really hate it.

Edgar: While you were prepping, I asked Buchanan if I can go instead of you. He wouldn’t let me. He said you were the best analyst we have. He’s right.

Chloe: I know. I’ll call you if I can think of anything else.

Edgar: OK.

[Edgar hangs up.]

------------------------

[Chloe and two other agents arrive at Nabila’s house.]

Chloe: Hi. I’m Agent O’Brian. These are Agents Bergin and White. You’re Nabila Argamila?

Nabila: Yes.

Chloe: Where’s the computer?

Nabila: Please come in.

Chloe: These men need to search the house. Did Mr. Ardakani keep records other than on his computer?

Nabila: There are some papers in the bedroom.

Chloe: This is the computer you found the chip schematic on?

Nabila: Yes, but like I told you before on the phone, the rest of his files are encrypted.

Chloe: Are you sure?

Nabila: Yes. I ran a check on the builder subroutine to confirm. I have a doctorate in computer sciences.

Chloe: OK, let’s see. You’re right. They used Blowfish Algorithm.

Nabila: How can you tell?

Chloe: By the tab on the file headers.

Nabila: Can you decrypt it?

Chloe: CTU has a proprietary Algorithm. It shouldn’t take that long. We’ll start by trying to hack the password. Let’s start with the basics. Write down nicknames, birthdays, pets, anything you think he might have used.

Nabila: OK. What was that?

Chloe: I don’t know.

[A gunman kills the two CTU agents. Chloe takes the computer and she and Nabila run and hide inside another room.]

Chloe: Go. Go!

Nabila: In here!

[With no weapon, Chloe barricades the door and calls Edgar for help.]

Man: Your men are dead. Open the door!

Nabila: Do you have a gun?

Chloe: I work with computers.

Man: Open the door!

Edgar: Edgar Stiles.

Chloe: Edgar, it’s Chloe, this is an emergency. We’re being shot at!

Edgar: Where are you?

Man: Open the door!

Chloe: The Las Vilas location. We need help.

Edgar: OK, all right. Jack, Curtis, Chloe’s in the field, she’s under fire.

Jack: What’s her location?

Edgar: 1482 Franklin, Las Vilas.

Jack: Curtis, how far out are the closest tac teams?

Curtis: I’m on it.

Jack: Chloe, it’s Jack. What’s your situation?

Chloe: I barricaded us in the laundry room.

Jack: Who are you with?

Chloe: Our informant. Bergin and White were with me. Bergin’s down. I don’t know where white is. I’ll call you back.

Jack: Chloe, don’t hang up the phone.

[Chloe hangs up.]

Jack: Get her back on the line, now.

[Chloe and Nabila escape through a window out of the house.]

Jack (over the phone): This is Jack Bauer. I need an LAPD response at 1482 Franklin. We have two agents down, one under fire.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: Where are the tac teams?

Curtis: About 15 minutes.

Jack: It’s too long.

[Chloe and Nabila get inside the CTU car.]

Chloe: We’re opening the door… We’re opening… Where are the keys? Where are the keys? Where are the keys?

[Chloe calls CTU again.]

Edgar: Jack, it’s her!

Jack: Put her on speaker.

Chloe: Jack, how far away is help?

Jack: At least ten minutes.

Chloe: Ten minutes is too long!

Jack: Chloe, just try to stay calm. Tell me where you are now.

[The man gets out of the house and starts to shoot at the bulletproof car.]

Chloe: He’s shooting at us! The glass is bulletproof.

Jack: Chloe, I need you to tell me where you are.

Chloe: We’re in the CTU car. He’s shooting at us from outside. I don’t… I don’t have the keys. Can I hotwire this?

Jack: No, it’s secure, but there should be weapons stored inside the vehicle.

Chloe: There’s a rifle in the back. It’s locked. I need the combination.

Curtis: I’m on it.

Nabila: He’s going. Where is he going?

Chloe: Wait. I think he’s leaving.

[The gunman gets in his car.]

Jack: Have we got the combination?

Curtis: Not yet.

Chloe: He’s gonna ram us!

[The man rams his car and the CTU vehicle.]

Nabila: Oh, God!

Chloe: What’s taking so long, Jack?

[The man rams his car and the CTU vehicle again.]

Curtis: Got it. It’s 3143.

Jack: Chloe, did you get that?

Chloe: 31…

[Hearing all the noise from outside, one of Nabila’s neighbors gets out of his house.]

Man: What’s going on here? What are you doing?

[The gunman shoots him dead.]

Chloe: Go. Get out! Get out! Get out!

[Chloe and Nabila exit the car, and Chloe fires an automatic rifle at the gunman. She kills him.]

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Logan: I want Bauer arrested.

Mike: Bauer is heading the field operation.

Logan: Jack Bauer is not the only man who can do the job! Put someone else in charge!

------------------------

Buchanan: Jack, we got a problem. Secret Service is on their way over there now to arrest you.

Jack: Bill, we can’t interrupt this mission. You gotta stall them.

Buchanan: There’s nothing I can do from here. You have to get Marwan before Secret Service gets there.

------------------------

Marwan: People of America, you wake up today to a different world.

------------------------

Jack: I have a visual on Marwan. He is in the building. Dammit, they know we’re here. Everybody, move on the building.

Curtis: Our cover’s blown. Everyone, go, go, go, go, go!

Jack: Bomb!

------------------------

Moorefield: President Logan realized this was a mistake. You’re free to go.

Jack: We had Marwan. Dammit, we had him!

------------------------

Logan: This man, Marwan, has a nuclear warhead and I allowed him to escape.

Mike: Mr. President…

Logan: Stop. I don’t even know if I deserve to be called that.

Mike: There’s someone who can advise you better than I can.

Palmer: I’m not sure what you’re asking me to do.

Mike: President Logan is requesting you run the effort to recover the stolen weapon and be in place to make whatever decisions need to be made.

------------------------

Morrison: Is it compatible?

Sabir: I’ll need to reconfigure the trigger mechanism.

Marwan: Has the warhead been reconfigured?

Morrison: Yes. We may have a potential security breech here.

Marwan: Who?

Morrison: The technician, Sabir. His girlfriend’s getting suspicious.

------------------------

Nabila: I think Sabir may have become involved with radical groups.

Chloe: You mean terrorists?

Nabila: Yes.

Chloe: The woman with the phone tip, who is suspicious about her boyfriend panned out. She sent us a schematic of a microchip that was used exclusively in Legacy nuclear warheads.

Buchanan: Take a team with you, let’s get on this.

------------------------

Nabila: What was that?

Chloe: He’s gonna ram us!

------------------------

The following takes place between 2:00 A.M. and 3:00 A.M.

[David Palmer enters the White House. His former Secret Service protector, Agent Aaron Pierce, escorts him to the bunker.]

Pierce: It’s good to have you back, Mr. President.

Palmer: Thank you, Aaron.

Pierce: This way, sir.

Palmer: President Logan’s not working out of the West Wing?

Pierce: No, sir. Since the strike on Air Force One he’s been in the bunker.

Palmer: How is your son?

Pierce: Very well, sir. Thank you for asking.

Palmer: Still in the service?

Pierce: Yes. In fact, he just re-upped.

Palmer: Good for him.

Pierce: I’m highly proud.

Mike: Mr. President, thank you for coming.

Palmer: Mike. Is there an update on President Keeler’s condition?

Mike: No, he’s still unconscious.

Palmer: Is the long term prognosis still in place?

Mike: Yes.

Palmer: How’s President Logan?

Mike: Looking forward to seeing you.

Palmer: Thank you, Aaron.

[Palmer enters the room where Logan is waiting.]

Palmer: President Logan.

Logan: David. I appreciate you coming here so quickly.

Palmer: Tell me how I can help you.

Logan: David, I wasn’t prepared to have all this thrust upon me so suddenly. What I’m trying to say is I made mistakes. This crisis could have ended an hour ago if I hadn’t interfered with the CTU operation that would’ve… would’ve captured Habib Marwan.

Palmer: Punishing yourself for a mistake is something we can’t afford right now.

Logan: What I can’t afford and what this country can’t afford is another mistake. Every decision I make affects the lives of millions of Americans.

Palmer: I understand the pressure you’re under.

Logan: I know you do. When you were in office you dealt with this kind of situation more than once. That’s why I want you here.

Palmer: I still don’t understand what it is I can do to help you.

Logan: Sit. The warhead that was stolen is an S series. That’s one of the most powerful nuclear weapons in the arsenal. Wherever it’s detonated, it will wreak unthinkable devastation. Help me find it. I will give you full authority to act as my proxy whenever you think it’s necessary.

Palmer: Charles, how do you want this to work?

Logan: I’ll call Bill Buchanan at CTU, and I’ll let him know that he’ll be dealing directly with you.

Palmer: All right.

Logan: Thank you, David. Mike will fill you in.

Palmer: We will get through this, Mr. President.

Logan: Umm… I’ll be in conference room B, working on the morning statement for the press.

Mike: I’ll keep you apprised of any developments, sir.

Logan: Thank you, Mike.

[Logan leaves the room.]

Mike: Mr. President, I know you believe my actions during your term in office amounted to a personal and political betrayal.

Palmer: It’s not something I believe. It’s a fact. Get to your point.

Mike: If my presence here makes it more difficult for you, say the word and I’ll leave.

Palmer: Mike, you’re wired into this administration, and I have no doubt that you had this country’s best interest at heart. So for now let’s let bygones be bygones and get to work.

Mike: Thank you, Mr. President. I appreciate that.

Palmer: I reviewed the briefing materials on the way here. Have army reserve supplement the search teams looking for the warhead in Iowa, and have DOE and DOD coordinating our crisis response in case it’s detonated.

Mike: Yes, sir.

Palmer: CTU is heading up the search for this man who stole the warhead, Habib Marwan?

Mike: Yes. They’ve recovered a damaged video tape from Marwan’s last known location. They’re in the process of restoring it. But Marwan is not CTU’s only lead on the warhead now.

Palmer: What other leads do we have?

Mike: A CTU analyst named Chloe O’Brian secured a hard drive belonging to one of Marwan’s associates. This hard drive may contain information that could lead us to the warhead.

------------------------

[Chloe and Nabila are being checked by medics outside the house.]

Chloe: I told you I’m not hurt. I did the shooting. Now, please leave me alone so I can do this.

[The medic leaves Chloe and she continues to tap into the laptop.]

Chloe: OK, the hard drive is unlocked.

Jack: Chloe, the hard drive belonged to someone who had no previous experience with nuclear weapons. He had to get that information from someone.

Chloe: The E-mails I’m decrypting look like exactly that: weapon schematics, designs of nuclear triggers - all from the same person.

Jack: Who?

Chloe: The E-mail address itself is shielded under a false domain name.

Jack: What is it?

Chloe: MEM4XP.

Jack: OK. Chloe, I want you to forward all the E-mails to us. Edgar.

Edgar: I’m gonna trace it to find the point of origin.

Chloe: These E-mails came from a domestic server. Whoever sent this is in this country.

Jack: OK, Chloe, thank you. Hold on.

[Jack picks up the phone to talk to Chloe in private.]

Jack: Hey. How are you holding up?

Chloe: I’m not used to the idea that I just killed someone, if that’s what you’re asking, but I’m doing my job.

Jack: Fair enough. Get back as soon as you can, OK?

Chloe: OK.

[Jack hangs up.]

Edgar: I got a hit. The man who sent the E-mails’ name is Lee Jong.

Buchanan: Is he in our database?

Edgar: He’s a Chinese national. A research scientist who worked on China’s nuclear weapons program. He was accused of falsifying research data and fired by their government in 2001.

Buchanan: Is it possible China’s providing Marwan with support for this attack?

Jack: No. The Chinese wouldn’t use someone that could be traced back to them so easily. He’s selling his services as a freelance operator.

Curtis: If he’s helping Marwan reconfigure or redeploy the warhead, most likely we’ll not find him.

Buchanan: Check with the INS. See if Lee was out of the country in the last week.

Edgar: Sure.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: Excuse me. This is Bauer.

Doctor Basin: Jack. Doctor Basin. You wanted me to give you an update on Paul Raines. He’s still in recovery, but you can see him now just let you in to a visit for a few minutes.

Jack: Thank you, Doctor.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: Get back to me if you find anything.

Buchanan: Where can I find you?

Jack: I’ll be in Medical.

------------------------

[Audrey is on the phone trying to get past the FAA restrictions on air travel in order to get Paul to a spinal hospital.]

Audrey: Yeah, I understand.

[Audrey hangs up. She goes inside the clinic to see Paul.]

Audrey: Hey. Doctor Basin wants to move you to Emhart’s General Spinal Program, but the FAA still has a ban on air travel. I am trying to get you an exemption.

Paul: Well, if anyone can get an exemption, you can.

[Audrey strokes Paul’s arm.]

Audrey: Listen, I’ve thought a lot about this and I wanna go with you to Massachusetts.

Paul: With me?

Audrey: Yeah. You need to get better, and you shouldn’t have to do that alone.

Paul: I can take care of myself. I don’t need your charity.

Audrey: It’s not about charity, Paul. It’s what I wanna do.

Paul: What about Jack? You said you were in love with him.

Audrey: I know.

[Jack enters the clinic to check on Paul, and he senses the tension with Audrey.]

Jack: Sorry. I didn’t mean to interrupt. I’ll come back later.

Paul: That’s all right. Come in.

Jack: I thought you’d be at the DOD briefing.

Audrey: Yeah, it ended early.

Jack: Oh. I… I just wanted to come down and see how you’re doing. I’ve been trying to get down here since you got out of surgery. Listen, Paul…

Paul: Please, you don’t have to say anything.

Jack: Yeah, I do. You saved my life.

Paul: I was at the wrong place at the wrong time. That’s all.

Jack: You pushed me out of the way.

Paul: Honestly, I wasn’t even thinking. It just happened.

[Paul gasps in pain.]

Audrey: Paul, are you all right?

[Buchanan knocks on the door for Jack to come outside.]

Jack: I’ll check back on you later.

[Jack leaves.]

Paul: Does he know? That you wanna come with me?

Audrey: Not yet.

[Buchanan briefs Jack outside.]

Jack: What is it?

Buchanan: We found Lee Jong.

Jack: Where is he?

Buchanan: At the Chinese Consulate.

Jack: Dammit, he must know we were coming for him. He took refuge.

Buchanan: He got there about an hour ago. The Consulate’s a solvent territory. It’s the one place we can’t get to him, but we’re gonna try. David Palmer for you.

[Buchanan hands Jack a phone.]

Jack: David Palmer?

Buchanan: Frankly, President Logan’s been a little overwhelmed by what’s been happening. He enlisted Palmer to help us directly.

Jack: Good.

[Jack takes the call.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Mike: Hold for the President. Sir.

Palmer: Thank you, Mike. It’s nice to talk to you again, Jack.

Jack: It’s nice to talk to you too, Mr. President.

Palmer: I assume Bill told you about Lee Jong.

Jack: Yes, sir.

Palmer: I’m about to call the Chinese consul and explain the situation. I’d like it if you personally took Lee into custody and brought him back to CTU for interrogation.

Jack: And you think the consul will be cooperative?

Palmer: He’s a reasonable man.

Jack: And what if the political approach doesn’t work?

Palmer: I’ll leave it to you to make the necessary preparations. Whatever it takes, we need this man, Lee, in custody.

Jack: I understand, Mr. President.

Palmer: Thank you, Jack.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: Do you have a Chinese interpreter?

Buchanan: She’s just arrived. She’s very good.

Jack: OK. I need her, Curtis and one of is agents ready to move on the Consulate now.

------------------------

[The phone at Edgar’s workstation rings.]

Edgar: Edgar Stiles.

Man: We got a partial.

Edgar: OK. I’m opening a window now. Send it through.

[Edgar hangs up.]

Edgar: Miss Dessler. Division just called. The video tape they were trying to restore – I’m only able to reconstruct part of it. They send it to my workstation as we speak.

Michelle: Bill.

[Edgar plays the part of the tape Division just sent him.]

Marwan: People of America, you wake up today to a different world. One of your own nuclear weapons has been used against you. It’ll be days and weeks before you can measure the damage we’ve caused, but as you count your dead, remember why this has happened to you.

Buchanan: “Wake up today to a different world.”

Michelle: Do we take that literally? That he’ll set off the warhead before dawn?

Buchanan: We have to look at the worst case scenario. What time is sunrise on the east coast?

Edgar: 7:02. Less than two hours from now.

Marwan: Unless you renounce your policies of imperialism and intervention in these activities, this attack will be followed by another and another after that.

------------------------

Mike: The Chinese consul in Los Angeles. A man named Koo Yin.

[Mike hands Palmer the phone.]

Palmer: Mr. Koo. This is David Palmer.

Yin: It’s an honor to speak with you, Mr. President.

Palmer: I’m calling on behalf of President Logan. The situation today has forced him to direct his attention to other equally urgent matters.

Yin: I understand, and my government extends its sympathy for these terrible attacks on your country. We stand ready to help in any way we can.

Palmer: Thank you. The fact is you can help us. There’s a man in your consulate by the name of Lee Jong.

Yin: Yes. He arrived here earlier tonight.

Palmer: We have evidence connecting him to the terrorist behind today’s attacks. We need to take Mr. Lee into custody immediately to question him.

Yin: Mr. Lee expected suspicion to fall on him. He says there’s been a mistake – he has no connection to terrorists.

Palmer: We believe he’s helping the terrorists to detonate a nuclear device on our soil. Many lives are at stake, Mr. Koo.

Yin: President Palmer, I would very much like to help, but Mr. Lee is a Chinese citizen, and the Consulate is Chinese territory. I can’t just hand him over to you without going through channels.

Palmer: Then I urge you to contact the Premier immediately and explain the situation. Tell him speed is of the essence. Tell him cooperation will be regarded as an extraordinary act of friendship on the part of his nation, and our nation will respond in kind.

Yin: Mr. President, I’ll do my best. I’ll get back to you as soon as I can.

Palmer: Thank you, Mr. Koo.

[Palmer hangs up.]

Palmer: The consul’s gonna try to make something happen.

Mike: How long will it take?

Palmer: I don’t know.

------------------------

Michelle: Anything new?

Tony: Yeah. The White House just authorized adding IO army reserved unites to the ground search.

Michelle: Have they widened the perimeter?

Tony: Yeah, they locked down a sixty mile radius around the area where the warhead was stolen, but I’m concerned that Marwan’s people might have managed to sneak it outside of the perimeter.

Michelle: Well, we closed all major roads and the air traffic immediately, but there is a chance he got it through.

Tony: Homeland Security is faxing over a casualty projections based on that possibility.

[A fax arrives.]

Michelle: It’s probably them right now.

Tony: Yeah. I’ll get it.

[The phone rings. Michelle picks it up.]

Michelle: CTU.

Jen: I’m calling for Tony Almeida. Who’s this?

Michelle: This is Michelle Dessler, a colleague of his. May I ask who’s calling?

Jen: The woman he happens to be living with. Is he there?

Michelle: Yeah. Hold on. It’s for you.

Tony: Who is it?

Michelle: The woman you’re living with.

Tony: Jen.

Jen: I’ve been calling everyone we know going crazy looking for you. Then finally I thought maybe Jack Bauer took you back there. Do you have any idea how worried I’ve been?

Tony: Yeah, I’m sorry. I should have called earlier, but I’ve been very busy.

Jen: Really busy with Michelle Dessler?

Tony: I’m working, Jen.

Jen: For CTU?

Tony: On a provisional basis, yeah.

Jen: I thought you hated that place.

Tony: Things have changed a little.

Jen: Yeah. I guess they have.

Tony: Look, Jen, we can talk about this later. Right now I… I gotta go, all right?

Jen: Tony, what’s your ex-wife doing there?

Tony: Jen, I’m sorry, but I gotta go.

[Tony hangs up.]

Tony: Michelle, umm… I’m sorry you had to find out like that.

Michelle: It’s really none of my business.

Tony: Yeah, it is. I should have told you I was living with somebody else.

Michelle: I don’t wanna talk about this right now.

Tony: Yeah, well, I do. Listen to me. When you left, everything fell apart. Jen happened to be there for me.

Michelle: You don’t have to make excuses for your relationship.

Tony: I’m not making excuses. I’m just telling you how it is.

Michelle: Do you love her?

Tony: No.

Edgar: Miss Dessler, the new protocols from DOD just came in. Shall I send them to your screen?

Michelle: Send them to station 16. Thank you, Edgar.

------------------------

[Chloe returns to CTU and Edgar approaches her.]

Edgar: Are you OK?

Chloe: I’m fine.

Edgar: Is there anything I can do?

Chloe: I said I’m fine. I’m trying not to think about what happened. I’m gonna process it later, OK?

Edgar: Sure, fine.

Chloe: Edgar. I appreciate your concern. I really do. It’s just that when I shot that guy, I thought I’d go all fiddle position, but the truth is I didn’t feel anything. At all. I hope I’m not some kind of a psychopath.

Edgar: Well, he was trying to kill you.

Chloe: Yeah, but still…

Edgar: Maybe it’s a delayed reaction kind of thing. Maybe you’ll freak out about it in a few days.

Chloe: I hope so.

------------------------

[Palmer is talking to two aides.]

Palmer: Let me know if anything…

[Mike enters the room holding a phone.]

Mike: Sir.

Palmer: No matter how trivial…

Mike: Sir. Bill Buchanan.

[Mike hands Palmer the phone.]

Palmer: Thank you.

[The two aides leave the room.]

Palmer: Yes, Bill?

Buchanan: Mr. President, we’ve just seen a tape recorded by Habib Marwan. On it he says we’ll be, quote: “waking up to a different world”. We can’t be sure what that means, but it may indicate that the warhead will be detonated before dawn on the east coast.

Palmer: Thank you, Bill.

[Palmer hangs up.]

Palmer: CTU thinks that the warhead may be detonated before dawn. Get me Mr. Koo.

[Mike calls the consul.]

Yin: This is Koo Yin.

Mike: Please hold for President Palmer, sir. I have the consul, sir.

[Mike hands Palmer the phone.]

Palmer: Mr. Koo.

Yin: President Palmer, I didn’t expect to hear from you quite so soon.

Palmer: Has the Premier been made aware of the situation?

Yin: Yes, Mr. President. He’s considering it very carefully.

Palmer: There’s no time for that. I’ve just learned that the terrorists may detonate a nuclear device within the next two hours.

Yin: Mr. Palmer, we understand the urgency of the situation, and without making any promises, I have every expectation of giving you a favorable answer.

Palmer: When?

Yin: I know I’ll be speaking with him again in two to three hours.

Palmer: I told you that is not soon enough.

Yin: I’m sorry, Mr. President, it’s the best I can do.

Palmer: Thank you, Mr. Koo, for your efforts. Please keep me informed.

Yin: Of course, Mr. President.

[Palmer hangs up.]

Palmer: He thinks Mr. Lee will be handed over to us, but not before two or three hours. Now, from their point of view, that’s moving very fast for something like this. From ours, not nearly fast enough.

Mike: What do we do?

------------------------

[Jack and his team are staked outside the Chinese Consulate building. Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Palmer: Jack, are you at the Consulate yet?

Jack: Yes, sir. We’ve taken our position across the street. They agreed to release Lee?

Palmer: Not quickly enough, and I just learned that the nuclear device may be set off at any moment. Jack, is there any doubt in your mind that Lee is working with Marwan?

Jack: No, sir. The E-mails he sent left no room for doubt.

Palmer: Then we have to get Lee out now and find out what he knows.

Jack: Yes, sir.

Palmer: No one connected with the government can admit to knowing anything about this. Ever. If you’re caught, you’ll be tried at a Chinese court under Chinese law.

Jack: I understand.

Palmer: Jack, if it was anyone else, I’d ask if you were sure about this. With you, I already know the answer. God bless you. Good luck.

Jack: Thank you, Mr. President.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: We’re on. We’re going in to get him.

Curtis: All right.

[Jack calls Tony.]

Tony: Almeida.

Jack: Tony, this is Jack. I’m at the Consulate. I need you to get me real time infrared satellite coverage.

Tony: I’m on it. What’s going on, Jack?

Jack: The consul’s not gonna release Lee in time. We have to go in and get him.

Tony: Who knows about this?

Jack: we have authorization from the White House. Tony, this is covert operation. You’re the only person at CTU who can know. I need you to spoof the satellite logs and make sure that the mainframes aren’t monitoring your station. Tony, there can’t be any record that this ever took place, do you understand?

Tony: Yeah.

Jack: OK, thanks.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: Let’s suit up.

------------------------

[Using infrared, Tony sees the bodily activity in the Consulate building and passes this on to Jack.]

Jack: Tony, it’s Jack. I’m on com.

Tony: All right, Jack. I’m uploading a picture of Lee to you right now. Also, I just got a hold of the building schematic.

Jack: Can you overlay the infrared?

Tony: Coming now. Looks like the bulk of the people are on the first floor residential area, most of them not moving, probably asleep.

Jack: Try the second floor offices.

Tony: Grabbing data on the second floor. All right, we got people moving.

Jack: OK. By the way they’re gathering around that third room, that’s probably where Lee is.

Tony: Yeah, I think you’re right.

Jack: I’ll get back to you as soon as I’m moving.

Curtis: How do you wanna deploy?

Jack: I want Melissa Rabb to stay in the van until I need her to translate. You both can cover the perimeter. I’m going in alone.

Curtis: Jack.

Jack: My orders are to make this mission completely deniable. If I get caught, I have to be able to say I was acting alone.

Curtis: All right. What do you want us to do?

Jack: Just cover the perimeter. You both can reengage as soon as I leave the Consulate. But I don’t wanna nock over bases, masks on, non-lethal force, you understand?

Curtis: We’ll be here. 

Jack: Tony, I’m going in. Any change on infrared?

Tony: Negative. We’ll continue monitoring in real time.

[Wearing a mask, Jack enters the Consulate building as Tony guides him to the guards’ locations.]

Jack: The alarm system’s a Cambria model 3. I’m doing relays on the door now.

Tony: Roger that.

[Jack manages to get the door open. He enters the building.]

Tony: All right, Jack, stop. We have somebody approaching from your west side. I repeat, your west side. OK. He’s moving away.

Jack: Give me the status on the other four guards.

Tony: Jack, you’re right on top of them. We have someone approaching from your north side. OK, you’re clear.

[Jack climbs up to an inside balcony and shoots a tranquilizer gun into the neck of a Chinese guard, who drops to the floor. Jack silently takes down guards who man the room where Lee is. Jack knocks out Lee and carries him.]

Jack: I got him.

Tony: Roger that. People moving towards you on both floors.

Jack: Exiting the Consulate, hostiles in pursuit. Bring up the van. I repeat, bring up the van now.

Curtis: Go, go, go, go.

[Jack runs as the guards fire at him. Koo comes out and is accidentally shot by his own guards. Curtis and the agents run to the entrance to help Jack, and a Chinese guard briefly unmasks an agent named Bern. Bern recovers and puts his mask back on.]

Curtis: Let’s go. Let’s go.

[Jack throws Lee in the van and they realize that Lee’s been shot in the back.]

Jack: He’s been hit. Pass me the medical bag. Now!

Curtis: We’re in.

Jack: Go, go!

[The van speeds away.]

Tony: Jack, give me a status.

Jack: We’re away. Lee is in custody. He’s been shot in the back. No exit wound.

Tony: How bad is it?

Jack: I can’t tell yet. The bleeding doesn’t look too severe. We’re on our way to you. We’re about fifteen minutes out.

Tony: All right. I’ll have medical ready.

[Lee yells something in Chinese.]

Melissa: He says not to touch him. He doesn’t want you to touch him.

Jack: Tell him I’m just trying to help him. I need to check his wounds.

[Melissa explains Lee what Jack just told her. Lee is still resistant.]

Jack: Hold him down. Hold him down now! I need to calm him down so that I can talk to him. We’ve got medical assistance waiting for him. This shot is only going to help him, he’s in pain.

[Melissa tries to calm Lee down.]

Jack: Does he understand?

Melissa: Yes.

[Jack gives Lee the shot.]

------------------------

Audrey (over the phone): Mm-hm. That’s great. Thank you very much.

[Audrey hangs up.]

Audrey: Hey. The FAA has cleared us to leave at 8:00 O’clock on a medical transport plane. Doctor Basin’s agreed to accompany us.

Paul: That’s great news.

Audrey: As soon as you settle in I’ll start looking for an apartment.

Paul: I don’t know what to say. I’m gonna get through this.

Audrey: I know you will.

[Audrey’s cell phone rings.]

Audrey: Raines.

Man: I have your flight information.

Audrey: Yeah.

Man: A medivac will be there to pick you up at 06:00.

Audrey: All right, so you’re gonna take care of the transportation?

Man: Yes, Ma’am, that’s correct.

[Suddenly, Paul has trouble breathing.]

Audrey: I gotta call you back.

[Audrey quickly hangs up the phone.]

Audrey: Paul? Paul, what is it? Paul? Doctor Basin! Please, someone come quickly!

[The doctor runs inside the clinic.]

Audrey: OK, OK, OK, it’s OK. He’s right here.

Doctor Basin: 10 milligrams of aspersing.

Audrey: He just started gasping, I don’t know what’s going on.

Doctor Basin: I barely hear his heart. We need to do an ultrasound, but all signs point to a cardio temping off.

Audrey: What does that mean?

Doctor Basin: The sac around his heart is filling up with blood, we can drain off some of the fluid, but we gotta get him back to surgery now.

Audrey: Paul, it’s OK, I’m right here.

Doctor Basin: If we don’t stop the bleeding, his heart will not be able to function.

Audrey: It’s OK. It’s OK.

Doctor Basin: I need a pair of cardio CT’s now.

------------------------

Jack: I need to pull him on his back. Tell him we know that he helped Habib Marwan with the missing warhead, and now we need him to help us find Marwan and stop him before he can detonate it. We know he’s involved, tell him we can prove it with his E-mails.

[Melissa translates this to Lee.]

Melissa: He doesn’t deny it. He says he knows where Marwan is, and he will tell you if you agree to his terms.

Jack: What are they?

[Melissa asks Lee for his terms.]

Melissa: He says he went to the Consulate to gain protection from our government as well as Marwan. He believes Marwan wants to kill him to prevent him from talking. He wants our guarantee of protection.

Jack: Tell him if the information that he provide us leads us to the warhead in time, he will be immune from prosecution in this country and I will take him back to the Chinese Consulate or wherever he wants to go.

[Melissa translates this to Lee.]

Melissa: He says this is acceptable, but he wants a guarantee of this in writing from the President.

Jack: Tell him I understand him, and I will get that for him, I give him my word, but I need the information now.

[Melissa explains this to Lee.]

Melissa: He says he must have this guarantee before he will tell you.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: No, that’s not good enough. One minute.

[Jack takes the call.]

Jack: This is Ba…

[Jack takes the com earpiece out of his ear.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Mike: Jack, I have President Palmer.

Jack: Put him through.

Palmer: Jack. Buchanan told me you’ve got Lee Jong in custody, and that he was wounded.

Jack: Yes, sir.

Palmer: Is he talking?

Jack: He wants to help us, but he won’t till he has a written guarantee that he won’t be prosecuted in this country. We also have to provide safe travel to a destination of his choosing. His guarantee has to be signed by the President.

Palmer: Jack, CTU believes the detonation of this warhead is imminent. Can you force him to talk immediately?

Jack: I don’t think so. I think the fastest way to make this happen – get him what he wants.

Palmer: OK. I’ll get the guarantee from Logan, and have it waiting for you at CTU.

Jack: Thank you, sir.

[Palmer hangs up. Mike enters the room.]

Palmer: What is it?

Mike: Su Ming, the Deputy Chinese Consul. They didn’t waste any time.

Palmer: I can’t blame them. They have to know we’re behind the attacks.

Mike: What should I tell him?

Palmer: I’ll take the call. We have to start fencing with them sooner or later. Might as well be now. Mr. Lee won’t talk unless he has a guarantee of immunity and safe transport. Get that from Logan, will you?

[Palmer takes the call with Su Ming.]

Palmer: Mr. Su.

Ming: Yes. Is this President Palmer?

Palmer: Yes. Has the Premier responded to the consul’s request to have Mr. Lee turned over to us?

Ming: Mr. President, the consul is dead.

[Palmer is shocked to hear that Koo was killed during the raid.]

Palmer: What?

Ming: He was shot when armed men broke into this building and took Mr. Lee with them by force.

Palmer: I’m shocked and deeply sad. Please convey that to your government on behalf of mine.

Ming: Mr. President, is it your position that you have no knowledge of this operation? That the timing of your call and this abduction is entirely coincidental?

Palmer: The Consulate is a solvent territory of the people’s republic of China. I can’t believe anyone connected with this country had a hand in it.

Ming: I’m sure you understand the political ramifications if you are incorrect.

Palmer: And I’m sure you understand the ramification of unproven accusations.

Ming: No accusations have been made, Mr. President, but I can assure you, there will be an investigation.

Palmer: Your government will have my complete cooperation.

Ming: Thank you, Mr. President. I’m sure you’ll be hearing from us again very soon.

[Ming hangs up.]

------------------------

Mike: President Logan will provide Lee with a written guarantee as long as it remains covert. Sir? What’s wrong?

Palmer: Koo Yin was killed in the course of the abduction.

Mike: My God. By one of our own people?

Palmer: No. It must have been from their fire, but it really doesn’t matter. If they’re able to find proof that we were involved, in the long run the repercussions will be as serious as those we’re facing from the terrorists.

------------------------

Buchanan: Tony. I just heard that Lee Jong is on his way here and he’s been shot. How did this happen?

Tony: The Chinese weren’t gonna give Lee up in time, so Jack and his team had to extract him.

Buchanan: Jack went into the Consulate? On whose authority?

Tony: The White House.

Buchanan: Why is this first I’m hearing about this?

Tony: This operation needed to be kept off the books, to make sure it was deniable.

Buchanan: But you know about it.

Tony: Yes, I did. I ran tactical from here.

Buchanan: It is absolutely unacceptable I was kept out of the loop on this!

Tony: That’s the way Jack wanted to play it.

Buchanan: You don’t work for Jack, you work for me! A situation frankly I wish I’d been consulted on in the first place.

Tony: Meaning?

Buchanan: Meaning I thought it was a mistake to reinstate you, and now I’m certain of it.

Tony: Look, I understand you don’t appreciate being kept in the dark, but I think this is about something else.

Buchanan: Well, you’re wrong about that too, and you are way out of line!

[Buchanan leaves in anger.]

------------------------

Jack (over the phone): OK, thank you.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: Tell him we’re almost there. The medical assistance that we promised him and the guarantee are waiting for him.

[Melissa tells Lee about this.]

Melissa: I don’t understand him.

Jack: Ask him if he’s in pain.

Melissa: He says he’s cold, very cold.

[Jack listens to the man’s chest and realizes that his lungs are filling with fluid.]

Curtis: What’s going on, Jack?

Jack: He must have severe internal bleeding. Dammit, his lungs are filling up with fluid.

Curtis: I’ll alert CTU.

Jack: Mr. Lee. Mr. Lee. Tell me where Habib Marwan is. Please, tell me where he is now. Dammit, we’re losing him.

Curtis: All right. Stand-by with a gurney. We’re coming in hot.

------------------------

[Audrey watches through the window as the doctor performs surgery on Paul in the CTU ward. Suddenly, Jack bursts into the operating room with a gurney.]

Audrey: Jack. Jack, what’s going on? Jack.

Doctor Basin: You can’t come in here.

Jack: He’s dying!

Doctor Basin: So is he. Get out of here, I just started this operation.

Jack: This man is our only connection to a stolen nuclear warhead. You gotta save him now.

Doctor Basin: I’ll get to him as soon as I can.

Jack: He’s not gonna make it.

Doctor Basin: I already have a patient.

Jack: Curtis.

[Jack pulls his gun on the doctor.]

Jack: You have a new one.

Doctor Basin: Are you crazy?

Jack: Maybe you didn’t understand me. This is the only man that can help us find the missing warhead and stop it from being detonated. If you don’t save him, millions of people will die, do you understand that? Millions of people. Start working on him now!

Audrey: Jack, what are you doing?

Doctor Basin: If I walk away from Mr. Raines now, he will die.

Jack: You don’t know that for sure.

Audrey: Jack!

Jack: Do it. Now!

[Audrey is stunned as Paul is abandoned.]

Doctor Basin: More valium.

Nurse: Yes, Doctor.

Audrey: Jack, please. Please, don’t do this.

Nurse: I’ll make half of the syringe. Prep me the needle.

Nurse #2: All right. I’ll have it standing-by.

Doctor Basin: His lungs are damaged. He’s lost a lot of blood.

Jack: All I need you to do I stabilize him so I can talk to him. Can you do that?

Doctor Basin: Maybe.

Jack: Then do it.

Doctor Basin: Debra, I need you over here.

Debra: What about Mr. Raines?

Doctor Basin: Have one of the agents give him chest impressions if his pressure drops.

Curtis: I got it.

Doctor Basin: Put some gloves on.

Audrey: Jack. Jack!

Jack: I have my orders, I’m doing my job! I’m sorry!

Audrey: You’re sorry? You’re letting him die! Stop, Jack!

[Audrey starts to become violent.]

Jack: Get her away from me, now!

[Agents pull Audrey out of the operating room.]

Audrey: Stop it, Jack! Jack, stop! He saved your life, Jack! Stop it!

Doctor Basin: We have to relieve the pressure immediately. Get me a trace 2.

Audrey: Stop! Let go of me! Stop it! Let go of me! Jack, listen to me. Please, stop this. Jack, please. Please, I’m begging you, Jack, stop it! OK, let go of me! Please! Let go of me.

[Paul’s blood pressure crashes.]

Curtis: Jack, his pulse crashing. Starting CPR.

Jack: What can we do for him?

Doctor Basin: He’s in v-fib. Use a defibrillator.

Jack: Charging. Clear.

[Jack hits Paul with the paddles.]

Audrey: Come on.

Doctor Basin: Hit him again, Jack.

Jack: Charging. Clear.

[Jack hits Paul with the paddles one more time.]

Jack: He’s still flatlining.

Doctor Basin: Give him a shot of epinephrine.

Jack: Where is it?

Doctor Basin: It’s on the tray, second syringe to the left.

Curtis: Got it.

Doctor Basin: Inject in the IV.

Curtis: It’s in.

Audrey: Come on.

[Jack tries furiously to pump Paul’s chest, but Paul dies.]

Curtis: Jack. Jack, he’s dead. Jack.

Jack: No.

Curtis: Jack!

Jack: No!

Curtis: Jack! He’s gone.

[Audrey cries.]

Audrey: Oh, God. Oh, my God.

[Audrey attacks Jack with punches.]

Audrey: You son of a bitch, Jack! You son of a bitch! You killed him! He saved your life.

Doctor Basin: Get her out of here now.

[Jack just stands there in shock. Audrey screams at Jack as she is carried out of the operating room.]

Audrey: How could you? You killed him! I hate you, Jack! You killed him! How could you do this? You killed him, Jack! You killed him! Let go of me! Get of off me! Let go of me!

Jack: Is he gonna make it?

Doctor Basin: I’m doing the best I can.

[The doctor continues to operate on Lee.] 

____________________ 
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Previously on 24:

Marwan: People of America, you wake up today to a different world. One of your own nuclear weapons has been used against you.

Buchanan: “Wake up today to a different world.”

Michelle: Do we take that literally? That he’ll set off the warhead before dawn?

------------------------

Mike: A CTU analyst named Chloe O’Brian secured a hard drive belonging to one of Marwan’s associates. This hard drive may contain information that could lead us to the warhead.

------------------------

Logan: I will give you full authority to act as my proxy whenever you think it’s necessary.

------------------------

Palmer: Mr. Koo, there’s a man in your consulate by the name of Lee Jong. We need to take Mr. Lee into custody immediately to question him.

Yin: But Mr. Lee is a Chinese citizen. I can’t just hand him over to you without going through channels.

------------------------

Palmer: Jack, is there any doubt in your mind that Lee is working with Marwan?

Jack: No, sir. The E-mails he sent left no room for doubt.

Palmer: Then we have to get Lee out now and find out what he knows.

Jack: Yes, sir.

Palmer: No one connected with the government can admit to knowing anything about this. Ever.

------------------------

Jack: I got him. Hostiles in pursuit. Bring up the van.

------------------------

Ming: Mr. President, the consul is dead. He was shot when armed men broke into this building and took Mr. Lee with them by force.

------------------------

Jack: Mr. Lee, tell me where Habib Marwan is. Dammit, we’re losing him.

------------------------

Audrey: Paul, what is it?

Doctor Basin: I can drain off some of the fluid, but we gotta get him back to surgery now.

------------------------

Audrey: Jack. Jack, what’s going on?

Jack: This man is our only connection to a stolen nuclear warhead. You gotta save him now.

Doctor Basin: I already have a patient.

Jack: You have a new one. If you don’t save him, millions of people will die.

Audrey: Jack.

Jack: I have my orders, I’m doing my job!

Curtis: His pulse crashing. Jack, he’s dead.

Audrey: Jack, you son of a bitch, you killed him.

------------------------

The following takes place between 3:00 A.M. and 4:00 A.M.

[Paul’s body is wheeled out of the operating room as the doctor works on Lee.]

Doctor Basin: Gauze.

Nurse: Gauze.

Jack: Is he gonna make it?

Doctor Basin: We’re doing the best we can.

Jack: I just need him coherent long enough to get the information about Marwan and the missing warhead.

Doctor Basin: I know, Jack. You already made me aware of that when you forced me to sacrifice Paul Raines’ life. One milligram atropine.

Jack: What is it?

Doctor Basin: Jack, I don’t have time right now.

Curtis: Jack, we need to leave. Let them do this.

Doctor Basin: Gauze.

Jack: I’ll be right outside.

[Jack goes out to find Audrey crying.]

Jack: I’m sorry. I’m so sorry.

Audrey: How could you? How could you kill him, Jack? How could you do it?

[Jack hugs Audrey, but she pushes him away from her.]

Jack: Come here.

Audrey: No… No… No. I can’t. I can’t… be near you right now.

Jack: Please, Audrey. Just tell me what you want me to do.

Audrey: Leave. I want you to leave, Jack.

[Jack leaves Audrey alone.]

------------------------

Buchanan: Jack, you need to call the white house right away. Mike Novick needs to speak with you. It’s urgent.

Jack: OK, fine.

[Buchanan senses something’s wrong.]

Buchanan: What?

Jack: Paul Raines just died. There was only one doctor and I had to make a choice between Lee’s life and Paul’s… and I chose Lee.

Buchanan: You did the right thing, Jack. Are you OK?

Jack: No, I’m not OK. I’m sorry. Just tell me when Lee’s out of surgery.

Buchanan: I will.

[Jack calls Mike.]

Woman: Mike Novick’s office.

Jack: This is Jack Bauer for Mike Novick.

Woman: Please hold.

Mike: Hello, Jack. Have you gotten anything useful out of Lee yet?

Jack: No, he’s still in surgery.

Mike: How’s that coming along?

Jack: Not great, but he’s hanging in there.

Mike: I don’t have to tell you we took a huge risk getting this guy under the assumption that he can help us find the nuclear warhead.

Jack: Trust me, Mike, I know.

Mike: We also have a new situation.

Jack: What is it?

Mike: When you broke into the Chinese consulate, Koo Yin, the consul, was shot.

Jack: That’s not possible. My men never fired their weapons.

Mike: Then he was accidentally hit by one of his own people.

Jack: How badly was he hurt?

Mike: He died, Jack.

Jack: Oh, my God.

Mike: I want you to talk to the members of your team. Make sure that each one of them has an alibi for where they were during the ambush.

Jack: OK.

Mike: This is an extremely incendiary situation. I’m about to talk to President Palmer now. We’re trying to avoid a serious confrontation with China.

Jack: We’ll handle it from here. Thanks, Mike.

------------------------

[Chloe discovers that someone on the outside is trying to jam the CTU satellite servers.]

Chloe: How did this happen?

[Chloe goes over to Buchanan.]

Chloe: Mr. Buchanan, the network security module lit up. Someone on the outside is trying to jam our satellite servers.

Buchanan: Could this just be a high network load?

Chloe: No, it’s definitely a denial of service attempt. What do you want me to do?

Buchanan: Did they do any damage yet?

Chloe: No, the Cisco system is self-defending.

Buchanan: All right, have one of your people use the security auditor tool. Maybe it’ll lead us to Marwan’s network.

Chloe: That was my point from the start.

Buchanan: Chloe. We’re in an active code. We don’t have time for your personality disorder. Do you understand me? Chloe. Yes or no?

Chloe: Yes, sir.

------------------------

[Marwan calls Yasir.]

Yasir: This is Yasir.

Marwan: Is the warhead in place?

Yasir: Yes, but we have a problem. I can’t jam their satellite.

Marwan: You assured me that you could handle it.

Yasir: CTU must have just installed new software. This wasn’t in place last week.

Marwan: We’re gonna have to move our schedule forward by an hour.

Yasir: There won’t be as many casualties if people aren’t at work.

Marwan: If you can’t jam their satellite signal, they’ll find us. We can’t let that happen.

Yasir: I understand.

------------------------

Mike: How long are we gonna keep the President in the dark? Eventually he’s going to find out that you authorized a raid on the Chinese consulate.

Palmer: We have to keep it from him as long as we can. Were you able to find Jack?

Mike: Yes. He’s back at CTU. The man they grabbed at the consulate, Lee Jong, is still in surgery.

Palmer: Was he able to tell us anything about the warhead?

Mike: No.

Palmer: What did Jack have to say about the Chinese consul’s death?

Mike: It wasn’t our people who fired the shot.

Palmer: The Chinese won’t care. He died as a result of our trespass. We have to start constructing a scenario that doesn’t implicate the United States government.

Mike: They must know we did this. We called the consulate about Lee Jong half an hour before the abduction.

Palmer: The Chinese don’t want a confrontation any more than we do. If we can create a scenario of plausible deniability, they may play along.

Mike: How do we do that?

Palmer: Call CTU. Have them find out which anti-Chinese factions have attacked their embassies or consulates in the last five years.

Mike: Most of these groups you’re talking about are Asian extremists. I’m sure Bauer’s team was predominately Americans.

Palmer: Bauer’s team was masked. No one saw their faces.

------------------------

[Cheng, the head of security at the Chinese Consulate, goes over the surveillance footage.]

Cheng: They were all masked?

Man: Yes.

Cheng: Wait. His mask was lifted. Use the image processing filters.

[The man gets a clearer picture of the unmasked man.]

Cheng: Send this image to Beijing and Shanghai. Have them cross-reference it with our intelligence databases. Find out who this man is.

Man: I will.

------------------------

[Jack regroups his ambush team and explains the problem with the Chinese Consul.]

Jack: Curtis, come here. Listen up. The Chinese consul was shot and killed during Lee’s extraction.

Curtis: How? We never got a shot off.

Jack: I know, I know. It must have been friendly fire. But look, we’ve gotta make sure all our alibis cross-check. No one outside of this operation is to know that we were anywhere near the Chinese consulate tonight, understood?

Bern: Jack, what’s gonna happen? Are we gonna be brought into this?

Jack: I don’t know yet. All I do know is now that the consul’s been killed, everything has changed. It’s our responsibility to make sure that the United States government is never implicated in this operation.

Curtis: Don’t worry, Jack. Everyone here gets it.

Jack: OK. Curtis, you advise the rest of the team.

Curtis: You got it.

[Agent Bern is a little uneasy.]

------------------------

Marwan: Yasir.

Yasir: They’re ready for you to make the changes. Do you think they’ll find it before we launch?

Marwan: Not if I move up the launch time. They’re looking for the warhead in their cities. They have no idea that it’s gonna be delivered by a missile.

[Marwan talks to Morrison over the phone.]

Marwan: Morrison.

Morrison: Yes, sir?

Marwan: Open up the guidance firmware. I’m going to upload a new instruction set.

Morrison: Yes, sir.

[Morrison opens the guidance firmware for Marwan.]

Morrison: OK, go ahead.

[Marwan uploads the new instruction set.]

Morrison: All right, you’ll be ready to start the launch sequence as soon as I reprogram the onboard.

Marwan: Good.

------------------------

Buchanan: Jack, prep all your databases. When Lee comes to, we’re gonna have to move quickly.

Jack: What about the warhead?

Buchanan: We’re meeting on it now.

Jack: Chloe, I need you to free up a server for a large DOD Block transfer. It’ll be coming through a locked channel from Heller’s office.

Chloe: Has that been authorized?

Jack: No, not yet. I still have to talk to Audrey.

Chloe: That’s gonna be weird.

Jack: What?

Chloe: Talking to Audrey. I mean, you had to do what you did and her husband died. It’s probably destroyed your relationship with her.

Jack: Chloe, please. Just free up the server.

Chloe: OK. Jack, I just want you to know that if you ever need anyone to talk to as a friend, I’m here for you. Not now, but later, when things calm down.

[Jack looks at Chloe incredulously.]

Jack: Thanks.

[Jack goes over to Audrey.]

Jack: Audrey, I’m sorry to bother you. I need you to call Marcy, authorize a block transfer. I need all pertinent DOD databases sent over here to CTU.

Audrey: Were you able to keep Lee alive?

Jack: Yeah, he’s stabilized.

Audrey: All right. I’ll call Marcy.

Jack: Thank you.

[There is tension between Jack and Audrey.]

------------------------

[The CTU team meets.]

Curtis: All right, the warhead was stolen here, in eastern Iowa. We don’t yet know how it’s being transported.

Buchanan: Are we monitoring air traffic?

Curtis: Yes, and so far nothing’s been picked up.

Tony: Well, if they have to stay on the ground, how far could they have gone?

Curtis: Based on our latest information, 300 mile radius, which includes three metropolitan areas.

Tony: Have those cities been alerted?

Buchanan: The President wants to keep that information restricted for the time being.

Curtis: We have raised local alert levels, but haven’t mentioned specifics.

Buchanan: Marwan and his people have control of a nuclear warhead. We have to figure out when and where he’s gonna set it off. I want you looking at everything; from satellite to local police. We have a small window. It’s still the middle of the night. If Marwan leaves a trail, it’s gonna be a hell of a lot easier to follow it now than in two hours when people start going to work. Let’s get to it.

------------------------

Man: We think this is the man you asked us to find.

Cheng: But you’re not sure.

Man: There was a good match on a lot of the available characteristics.

Cheng: Howard Bern. Member of a tactical unit for CTU Los Angeles.

Man: What are you going to do?

Cheng: Talk to him.

Man: How? CTU won’t let you anywhere near him.

Cheng: They’ll have to. It would be a diplomatic mistake for them not to cooperate under the circumstances.

[Cheng makes a phone call.]

Cheng: Get me the head of CTU Los Angeles.

------------------------

Michelle: There’s a program at Division you can filter those markers through. It’ll tell you which ones are good.

[The phone rings.]

Edgar: Yeah?

Man: I’ve got a Mr. Cheng from the Chinese consulate who wants to speak to Michelle.

Michelle: This is Michelle Dessler.

Cheng: Ms. Dessler, my name is Cheng Dou, Head of Security for the Chinese consulate. I’m sure your office is aware of the incident that happened here earlier tonight.

Michelle: Yes, we were very sorry to hear about it. Is there anything we can do to help?

Cheng: I would like to come over and discuss this matter with you.

Michelle: Of course. My office would be more than glad to make an appointment with you in the morning.

Cheng: No, I need to do that right now.

Michelle: I’m afraid that’s impossible. You must know we’re in the middle of a national security crisis.

Cheng: The murder of a Chinese consul on Chinese soil could be construed as an act of war.

Michelle: What does that have to do with us?

Cheng: I believe your agency stormed the consulate and kidnapped Lee Jong.

Michelle: That is an outrageous accusation.

Cheng: Just an hour earlier, your government called and asked for permission to speak to Lee Jong. Thirty minutes later we were attacked. It is unlikely these two events are unrelated.

Michelle: I’m sorry, Mr. Cheng. I can’t help you.

Cheng: I suggest you cooperate voluntarily. Otherwise, I’ll be forced to go above you on this.

Michelle: I’m sure you’ll do what you have to. I mean no disrespect, but I do have to get back to work.

Cheng: Very well, Ms. Dessler. You’ll be hearing from me soon.

[Cheng hangs up.]

Cheng: Get me Secretary of State Taylor. Tell him it’s an urgent matter.

------------------------

[Jack cautiously approaches Audrey.]

Jack: Com just confirmed that we got the data from Marcy. Thank you.

Audrey: You’re welcome.

Jack: Yeah. Audrey, you should get some rest.

Audrey: With everything that’s going on, I can’t.

Jack: You could go back to the hotel.

Audrey: Jack, please don’t tell me what to do. What? Jack, what do you want from me? You made a choice that killed Paul, and I’m trying to deal with it. We both have a job, let’s just do it.

[Audrey leaves.]

Buchanan: Jack. Michelle says the Head of Security of the Chinese consulate just called.

Jack: What?

Buchanan: He made it sound like he has evidence linking CTU to the abduction of Lee.

Jack: What kind of evidence?

Buchanan: He didn’t say, but he wants to come down here and talk to us.

Jack: They don’t have any evidence, they’re bluffing. Bill, we don’t have time to deal with them right now.

Buchanan: I agree, but we don’t have much choice. I need you to help me figure out how to deal with this, Jack.

Jack: I need to check on Lee’s condition first. I’ll get back to you.

Buchanan: All right

------------------------

Mike: CTU just sent this over. These five groups have all made attempts to attack or sabotage Chinese targets around the globe in the last two years. This group here…

Palmer: “The People’s Freedom Coalition”?

Mike: They have actually made speeches where they have referenced Lee Jong’s involvement with the Chinese nuclear program.

Palmer: So an attack on the Consulate and the grab of Lee Jong by this group would be plausible.

Mike: It would allow the Chinese to save face.

Palmer: And if the Chinese can’t provide proof that we entered the Consulate, saving face may be all they need.

Mike: If you want, I can start leaking it to the media.

Palmer: Do it.

[President Logan storms in the room.]

Mike: Mr. President.

Logan: David, what have you done?

Palmer: Excuse me, sir?

Logan: I just got a call from the Secretary of State telling me about a covert action against the Chinese consulate in Los Angeles.

Palmer: That’s correct. I sanctioned it.

Logan: Why would you have done such a thing?

Palmer: It was the only option at the time.

Logan: Don’t you know how fragile our relationship with China is right now? You authorized an attack on their consulate! That’s a military engagement.

Palmer: It was a covert operation, not dissimilar to those carried out by countries on a routine basis around the world.

Logan: Don’t give me a social studies lesson, David. We marched onto Chinese soil, we kidnapped one of their nationals, and in the process the Chinese consul was killed.

Mike: We were unlucky, sir.

Logan: Unlucky? Ha-ha. Yeah, I would say that we were unlucky. That’s the kind of thing that could start a war! Now, how am I supposed to be able to fight terrorists while I’m provoking a nuclear superpower?

Palmer: I would advise you to calm down, sir, if we are gonna get through this day. We didn’t bring this crisis on ourselves, but we’re gonna be the ones to settle it. This is a dirty business, and we’re gonna have to get our hands dirty to clean it up. Now, please, Mr. President, you brought me here to help you. Let me do it.

------------------------

Michelle (over the phone): All right. Yes, sir.

------------------------

Buchanan: Tony, what’s the latest on Lee?

Tony: He’s out of surgery. Doctor Basin thinks he’ll be able to respond to questions soon.

Buchanan: All right. When that happens, I want everyone from com on standby. Whatever information Lee gives us on the warhead I want worked up without any time lags.

[Tony and Buchanan enter Michelle’s office. Michelle’s still on the phone.]

Taylor: We’re clear about this, correct?

Michelle: Yes, sir.

Taylor: Good.

[Michelle hangs up.]

Michelle: That was Secretary of State Taylor. He just authorized the Head of Security of the Chinese consulate to come here and question us about the raid.

Tony: What? In the middle of all this?

Buchanan: All right. This breaks down very simply. They wanna prove that we attacked the Consulate tonight. We have to make sure they can’t do that.

Tony: Well, that ambush has gotta land on someone.

Buchanan: Mike Novick’s working on that from Washington. We just have to make sure all our bases are covered here. Finding that nuclear warhead is our number one priority. I’m gonna go over the strategy with Jack. When Cheng gets here, send him to the situation room, make sure all our visible screens are masked.

Michelle: OK.

[Buchanan leaves.]

Tony: This situation with the Consulate is dragging us down. We shouldn’t be diverting resources away from finding that warhead.

Michelle: Hopefully this will just be a formality and we can get rid of him quickly. If we don’t get information from Lee, Audrey’s husband will have died for no reason.

Tony: What is she still doing here?

Michelle: I think she wants to stay busy so she doesn’t have to think about it.

Tony: It’s funny. When I met Audrey this afternoon, it seemed like she and Jack were totally together. A few hours later, everything’s changed. Michelle. I hate being without you.

Michelle: I never wanted it to be this way.

[The phone rings.]

Curtis: Mr. Cheng’s here.

Michelle: Send him to the situation room. Buchanan and Jack are waiting there for him.

Curtis: Shouldn’t we keep him more isolated than that?

Michelle: No. We have to give the impression we have nothing to hide.

Curtis: All right.

------------------------

Curtis: Mr. Cheng.

Cheng: Yes.

Curtis: I’m Curtis Manning.

Cheng: Hello, Mr. Manning.

Curtis: Our Regional Director’s waiting for us in the situation room. If you follow me.

Cheng: Good.

[Curtis leads Cheng to the situation room.]

Buchanan: Mr. Cheng. Bill Buchanan. Pleasure to meet you in person. My condolences for the loss of your consul.

Cheng: Thank you.

Buchanan: This is Jack Bauer from the Department of Defense. He’s working for us today.

Jack: Mr. Cheng, please take a seat.

Cheng: I know of Mr. Bauer, of course, from his previous service to this country. We knew you were in Los Angeles today. When did you arrive?

Jack: I flew in from Washington a couple of days ago with Secretary Heller.

Cheng: I assume that secretary Heller is still here.

Jack: No. For security reasons, he’s at our District office.

Cheng: Why aren’t you with him?

Jack: We felt under the circumstances today I could be more helpful here at CTU with Bill.

Cheng: That’s odd.

Jack: Not really. As you know, I used to run this office.

Cheng: So if there’s anyone capable of leading a covert operation under short notice, you would be the ideal candidate.

Buchanan: Mr. Cheng, this kind of unfounded…

Jack: That’s all right, Bill, I’ve got it. Mr. Cheng, I can assure you that neither CTU nor I had anything to do with the terrible events that took place at your Consulate tonight.

Cheng: I assume you know this man, Howard Bern. One of your field agents. This was taken by one of our surveillance cameras tonight.

Jack: This photograph has been altered.

Cheng: Just to make it clearer.

Jack: Or to set up a scenario that you can utilize for political propaganda.

Cheng: No, Mr. Bauer. We ran this image through our database. The computer picked Mr. Bern as a near perfect match.

Jack: Did you take the time to cross-reference your database to include members of the “People’s Freedom Coalition”? Because according to our information, they’re the group most likely behind this attack.

Cheng: That would be pointless, wouldn’t it? This man is not Asian.

Jack: Mr. Cheng, you and I both know that the PFC has initiated terrorist activity around the globe utilizing European mercenaries, half a dozen of which are a closer match to this photograph than agent Bern.

Cheng: I take it then Mr. Bern is not available to question?

Buchanan: No, he’s not here tonight.

Cheng: Of course.

Jack: Mr. Cheng, you must know that it would not be in America’s best interest to provoke the Chinese government.

Cheng: Then what are we playing these games for? Thirty minutes before we were attacked, you asked our consul to give up Lee Jong. Before our government can comply, the consulate was attacked, Lee Jong disappeared. Now you tell me you don’t have Lee Jong, Howard Bern is not available to be questioned. What are you trying to hide?

Buchanan: We’re not trying to hide anything, sir. We’re just extremely busy.

[Jack notices agent Bern talking to Chloe on the floor. He has his cell phone ring.]

Jack: Excuse me. I’m sorry.

[Jack takes the fake call.]

Jack (pretending to be talking over the phone): This is Bauer.

Buchanan: We are faced with unprecedented terrorist attacks on American soil.

Jack (pretending to be talking over the phone): Are we positive? OK.

Buchanan: All of our resources and attention are focused on trying to stop those attacks.

Jack (pretending to be talking over the phone): Thank you. We have confirmation on Marwan’s last location.

Buchanan: Follow up on that. I’ll handle the rest of Mr. Cheng’s questions.

[Jack quickly walks out of the room.]

Cheng: I’d like to see the hourlies for Mr. Bauer.

Buchanan: I’ll see what I can do.

[Jack calls Chloe.]

Chloe: O’Brian.

Jack: Chloe, it’s Jack. Have Bern meet me in the east corridor. Get a chopper ready now.

Chloe: I will. Meet Jack in the east corridor now.

[Chloe dials the phone.]

Chloe: This is Chloe O’Brian. Jack Bauer’s requesting a helicopter standing by for immediate departure.

Man: OK, done.

Chloe: Thank you.

------------------------

Jack: Come on, follow me.

Bern: What’s going on?

Jack: A security camera at the Chinese consulate picked up your face.

Bern: That’s impossible. I was wearing my mask.

Jack: Trust me, I saw the freeze frame. It was you.

Bern: Jack, the guy ripped the mask from my face for one second. I pulled it right back down. I can’t believe a camera picked that up. I had no idea.

Jack: You’re gonna have to leave the city. We’re working on a scenario. In a couple days, you’re gonna have to answer questions from the Chinese.

Bern: I didn’t think anyone saw me. That’s why I didn’t bring it up earlier.

Jack: Don’t worry, we’re gonna handle it.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Bern: I’m sorry, Jack.

Jack: You gotta go. There’s a chopper waiting for you.

[Agent Bern leaves. Jack takes the call.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Curtis: Jack, Lee Jong’s coming out of anesthesia. He should be ready for questioning now. Agent Rabb’s already there.

Jack: I’m on my way.

[Jack runs to the operating room.]

Jack: Are you ready?

Chloe: All my databases are active.

Jack: OK, good. Doctor, that’s enough. He’s mine now. Thank you. Tell him he’s in critical condition. He still needs medical attention. I’m gonna ask him a few questions. When he answers them, I’ll let the doctor continue to treat him.

[Melissa explains this to Lee.]

Melissa: He understands.

Jack: Tell him I know that he worked with Marwan on the warhead. Now he needs to tell us where it is.

Melissa: He doesn’t know. But he knows where Marwan might be.

Jack: What do you mean, where he might be? In the van he told me he knew where he was.

Melissa: Because of what he’s doing, Marwan’s been moving around.

Jack: Where?

Melissa: There are three locations he knows of that Marwan’s using today.

Jack: What are they?

Melissa: The Rockland building.

Jack: We know about that one.

Melissa: A bar downtown.

Jack: We know about that one too.

Melissa: A factory on Sixth.

Jack: Where on Sixth?

[Melissa asks Lee where exactly.]

Lee: Alameda.

Melissa: Sixth and Alameda.

Jack: Give me an exact address, that’s the one we’re looking for. (To Chloe) I need you to assemble a team, make sure Curtis is on it. They need to be ready to move now.

Chloe: Yeah.

------------------------

[Curtis lets Audrey know that Cheng wants to question her.]

Curtis: Audrey.

Audrey: Yes?

Curtis: The investigator from the Chinese consulate wants to talk to you.

Audrey: Why does he wanna talk to me?

Curtis: In order to protect Jack’s cover, we put together some new hourlies for him to look at. They show you and Jack working together at the time of the ambush.

Audrey: Buchanan wants me to lie to the Chinese to protect Jack?

Curtis: Not to protect Jack. To protect the United States government. Is that gonna be a problem?

Audrey: Where are the hourlies?

Curtis: Edgar’s sending them to your system.

Audrey: I’m not sure I’m comfortable with this, Curtis.

Curtis: I understand. Well, whatever you decide, you’re still gonna have to talk to Cheng.

------------------------

Audrey: What’s happening?

Jack: Lee gave us a probable location on Marwan. We’re getting ready to move on it now.

Audrey: I’m being called in for questioning.

Jack: By whom?

Audrey: Cheng, from the Chinese consulate.

Jack: Come here. Why you?

Audrey: Buchanan modified the hourlies so that it’d look like you were working here with me during the abduction.

Jack: I’m sorry, but whatever Buchanan laid out, you gotta stick to it. We need to sideline Cheng now.

Audrey: Why? Now that Lee Jong’s incriminated himself, the Chinese government’s not gonna try to protect him.

Jack: That’s not what this is about. The Chinese consul was killed during Lee’s extraction. The United States government cannot be held responsible for that.

Audrey: Jack, what are you doing? You have broken every major protocol set by CTU and the DOD. For what? Is any of this working?

Jack: You’re still alive, your father’s still alive, and we managed to stop all but one of the power plants from melting down. Yeah, it’s working. We have to fight to keep it working. Do what you have to, Audrey. I’m sorry, I’ve gotta go.

[Audrey enters the room with Cheng.]

Audrey: Thank you. Hello.

------------------------

Edgar: Mr. Buchanan, I’ve got Jack’s approach to Marwan’s location ready.

Buchanan: Good. Upload it to the teams. Send a copy to Tony’s station. He’s running point on this end.

Edgar: You got it.

------------------------

Cheng: I am surprised that after you were kidnapped that you stayed on to work here. That must have been very difficult for you.

Audrey: Well, I wasn’t physically hurt, and I wanted to try and help find the people who had planned these attacks.

Cheng: Very admirable. Now, I looked through the hourlies for Mr. Bauer, your associate from the Defense Department. I noticed from 1:00 a.m. to 3:00 a.m., you and he were working on some data-processing tasks.

Audrey: Yes, that’s correct.

Cheng: And what analyst did you give this information to?

Audrey: Edgar Stiles. Why does that matter?

Cheng: They go through all this trouble to reenlist a man who used to run this place, Jack Bauer, and he’s doing data-processing?

Audrey: Well, it’s much more subtle than it sounds. There are hundreds of lists that had to be cross-referenced, and with Mr. Bauer’s experience, we were able to narrow the search.

Cheng: I am surprised.

Audrey: Why is that?

Cheng: Meaning no disrespect, the log shows that your husband, Paul Raines, was at the clinic during the same hours. And unfortunately, he passed away.

Audrey: What’s your point?

Cheng: I don’t believe you were with Jack Bauer, mining data. That you were waiting for your husband while he was in surgery, and that you’re lying to me now to cover for Mr. Bauer.

Buchanan: Mr. Cheng. I’m not going to allow you to stand there and accuse my people of lying.

Cheng: No. And I’m not gonna stand here to endure half-baked alibis.

Audrey: You can believe whatever you want, but my answers stand. Now, if we are done, I do have to get back to work. If you’ll excuse me.

------------------------

[Jack and Curtis are on the way to Marwan’s location. Curtis’ phone rings.]

Curtis: Manning.

Mike: President Palmer for Jack.

Curtis: It’s the White House.

Jack: This is Bauer.

Palmer: Jack, this is David Palmer.

Jack: Mr. President.

Palmer: CTU tells me you got something from Lee.

Jack: We got a location on Habib Marwan. We’re on route with tactical teams now. We’re hopeful we can put an end to this soon.

Palmer: I hope you’re right, Jack. This warhead can detonate any moment now.

Jack: We know, sir.

Palmer: Jack, tell me about the representative from the Chinese consulate, Cheng. Is he still at CTU?

Jack: He was there when we left.

Palmer: Are we OK there?

Jack: They have a surveillance photo of one of my team members. We told them that we didn’t think the photo was clear enough to be conclusive evidence. That’s gonna hold them off for a while.

Palmer: I see. Thank you, Jack.

Jack: Thank you, Mr. President.

Palmer: And good luck.

Jack: Thank you, sir.

[Palmer hangs up.]

Palmer: All right, mike. I’m gonna need you to advise the President that Cheng has to leave CTU now.

Mike: President Logan was clear that he wanted Cheng to have access there.

Palmer: And he has. But now Cheng is slowing them down. He’s got to go. CTU needs to be able to do their job without the added pressure of a cover-up. You think you can get President Logan to sign off on that?

Mike: I’ll see what I can do.

[Mike goes into the President’s office.]

Logan (over the phone): Yes. No, not now, Keith. I have too many things to deal with first. Yes, you do that. Thank you.

[Logan hangs up.]

Logan: What is it, Mike?

Mike: Mr. President, the Chinese Security Officer, Cheng, is still at CTU, and he seems to be slowing things down.

Logan: He wouldn’t be there at all if Palmer hadn’t authorized an attack on his consulate.

Mike: It’s too late to change that now, sir.

Logan: Yes. Yes, it is. If we order Cheng to leave CTU now, it’ll look like we’ve got something to hide, and we’ll just be giving the Chinese all the justification they need to escalate this crisis.

Mike: Mr. President, if we don’t find that warhead before it’s deployed, ten million Americans could face annihilation.

Logan: And we could be at war with a billion Chinese.

Mike: My advice, sir, is to worry about the Americans now and the Chinese later.

Logan: Your advice or David Palmer’s advice?

Mike: Both of ours.

Logan: When I agreed to let you bring Palmer in, it wasn’t so the two of you could form an alliance against me.

Mike: Sir, that’s not what’s happening.

Logan: No? Why don’t you tell me what’s happening. You and David Palmer are running this country while I’m taking phone calls from mid-level staffers.

Mike: Would you like me to ask President Palmer to leave?

Logan: No. Call CTU. Tell Bill Buchanan to escort Mr. Cheng out of the building.

Mike: Yes, Mr. President.

------------------------

[Jack and Curtis pull up to the location.]

Jack: Curtis, put Michaels in play now.

[Jack radios Chloe.]

Jack: Chloe, this is Jack. We’re at the perimeter outside the factory. Our men are getting into position. Can you confirm that Marwan’s in the building?

Chloe: I can’t say for sure, but I’m detecting a microwave uplink to the building.

Jack: Can you intercept it?

Chloe: No. It’s got encryption.

Jack: OK, thanks. Are we ready?

Curtis: Yeah. How are we gonna confirm Marwan’s inside there?

Jack: We don’t. We’re out of time. We move now. Give all teams a go.

Curtis: All right. All teams, it’s a go.

------------------------

[Buchanan escorts Cheng out of the building.]

Cheng: So you know, Mr. Buchanan, this matter will be pursued. I will return with a formal order for a more extensive investigation.

Buchanan: I understand. In the meantime, if I were you, I’d focus my attention on the “People’s Freedom Coalition”. I’m quite sure they are your perpetrators. We’ll do everything we can to help you.

Tony: Sir.

Buchanan: Excuse me.

Tony: Jack’s team is at the staging area outside the building.

Buchanan: I’ll be right there. Mr. Cheng, excuse me, please. I have to get back. My men will escort you from the building.

Cheng: Thank you.

[As Cheng being led out of the building he hears someone address Edgar, and approaches him.]

Woman: Edgar.

Cheng: Excuse me. Edgar Stiles, Communication Analyst, right?

Edgar: Yeah. I’m busy.

Cheng: I forgot to ask Mr. Buchanan one last thing. Maybe you could help me.

Edgar: I can’t help you. You should ask him.

Cheng: It’s not classified. Audrey Raines had mentioned to me that you were helping her earlier with some DOD files.

Edgar: Yeah, until she was called down to the clinic.

Cheng: So it was just you and Jack then?

Edgar: What?

Chloe: Edgar, come here.

Edgar: I have to go. Bye.

Cheng: Thank you.

Chloe: You idiot.

Edgar: What?

Chloe: Just keep your mouth shut.

Edgar: I didn’t say anything.

[Cheng makes a phone call.]

Cheng: The man who led the attack on our consulate was Jack Bauer. Pull up all his files. I want to look at them when I get back.

------------------------

Jack: Michaels, are you in position?

Michaels: Roger that.

Jack: He’s at your two O’clock. Take him out.

Michaels: Copy that.

[Marwan orders the sequence to start. As the countdown begins, he shuts down the computer and leaves with his men.]

Morrison: We’re ready.

Marwan: Start the sequence. We’re done here. Get the car.

[Jack and the SWAT team stealthily enter the building. They take out Marwan’s guards.]

Jack: He’s cornered in this room. Counter-flank and push him back to me.

Curtis: Copy.

[Marwan tries to escape.]

Curtis: Freeze.

[Curtis pushes Marwan to Jack.]

Jack: I’ve been waiting for this.

Marwan: You’re too late.

[Jack shoots Marwan in the arm, and he falls to the ground.]

Jack: That hurts, doesn’t it?

[Jack is about to kill Marwan.]

Curtis: Jack. Jack, what are you doing? We still need him.

Marwan: Go ahead, kill me. That won’t stop the missile.

Jack: What are you talking about? What are you talking about?

[Curtis goes over to the computer.]

Curtis: Jack, we got a problem. Come here and look at this.

Jack: Secure the prisoner.

[Jack sees a live feed of a missile on the computer.]

Jack: Oh, my God, they’ve got a missile. Have you got your com unit? Patch it through to the computer. Tony, it’s Jack. Can you hear me?

Tony: Yeah, Jack. What’s going on?

Jack: I’m looking at a live feed of the warhead. It’s been mounted on a missile.

Tony: A missile? How can that be?

Jack: I don’t know. We’re trying to get the feed over to you now. Hold on.

Man: Logging on. We got it. Put it up on the screen.

Jack: Have you got it?

Curtis: Yeah.

Jack: How much time have we got?

Curtis: 51 seconds.

Jack: Tony, can you see this?

Tony: Yeah.

Jack: Can you get a source of the transmission?

Tony: Hang on a second. No, Jack. It’s on an encrypted uplink. There’s no way to trace it.

Jack: Do a geographic scan. See if you can pull a location.

Tony: Chloe, anything specific on the visual?

Chloe: It looks like a forest area, trees, a structure.

Jack: Tony, we’re out of time.

Tony: We’re trying, Jack. We can’t ID the location. It’s too general.

Buchanan: Edgar, see if you can pick up a heat signature from the point of ignition.

Edgar: I’ll try, but it’s a wide radius.

Chloe: There’s not gonna be enough time to stop this launch.

Tony: Chloe, do you have anything?

Chloe: I’m trying the four band satellite, but it’s not working either.

[The missile fires and leaves its launch pad, carrying the warhead to an unknown location.] 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Logan: David, what have you done?

Palmer: Excuse me, sir?

Logan: I just got a call from the Secretary of State telling me about a covert action against the Chinese consulate in Los Angeles.

Palmer: That’s correct. I sanctioned it.

Logan: You authorized an attack on their consulate! That’s a military engagement.

Palmer: It was a covert operation.

Logan: We marched onto Chinese soil, we kidnapped one of their nationals, and in the process the Chinese consul was killed.

Mike: Mr. President, if we don’t find that warhead before it’s deployed, ten million Americans could face annihilation.

Logan: And we could be at war with a billion Chinese.

------------------------

Jack: Is he gonna make it?

Doctor Basin: We’re gonna do the best we can.

Jack: I just need him coherent long enough to get the information about Marwan and the missing warhead.

Doctor Basin: I know, Jack. You already made me aware of that when you forced me to sacrifice Paul Raines’ life.

------------------------

Jack: I’m so sorry.

Audrey: You made a choice that killed Paul, and I’m trying to deal with it. We both have a job, let’s just do it.

------------------------

Jack: I know that he worked with Marwan on the warhead. Now he needs to tell us where it is.

Melissa: He doesn’t know. But he knows where Marwan might be. A factory on Sixth.

------------------------

Marwan: They’re looking for the warhead in their cities. They have no idea that it’s gonna be delivered by a missile. Start the sequence. We’re done here. They can’t stop us now.

Jack: I’ve been waiting for this.

Marwan: You’re too late. Kill me. That won’t stop the missile.

Jack: Tony, can you see this?

Tony: Yeah.

Jack: Can you get a source of the transmission?

Tony: No, Jack. It’s on an encrypted uplink. There’s no way to trace it.

------------------------

The following takes place between 4:00 A.M. and 5:00 A.M.

[Since it has stealth technology, the missile can’t be traced.]

Jack: Tony, it’s Jack. Have you got a lock on the missile?

Tony: No, we’re still trying to find it, Jack. What are you gonna do with Marwan?

Jack: We’re gonna scan the building one more time, then I’m gonna bring him into CTU. I want you to prep a holding room. Tony, I’m going off of com. If you need me, get me on my cell.

Tony: All right, you got it.

[Jack pulls the earpiece out of his ear.]

Jack: I want you to try and decode his files. I’m gonna go prep a team to scan the building.

------------------------

Buchanan: Unbelievable. How the hell did they manage to assemble a missile capable of carrying a nuclear warhead?

Michelle: S-series cruise missile, stealth technology. They must have smuggled it in piece by piece and then assembled it onsite.

Buchanan: If it’s stealth, we can’t track it by radar. What about the targets?

Michelle (to Edgar): Pull it up. An S-series has a range of 18,000 miles, which means the warhead could be delivered from the Midwest to anywhere in the continental United States.

Tony: This missile’s traveling at a speed of 600 miles an hour, which means it can hit the target in either coast in under three hours.

Buchanan: That’s assuming it’s headed for the coast. If it’s not, it could hit its target at any time.

------------------------

Curtis: There are no files on this. He just used it to unscramble down like.

Jack: What else did you find?

Curtis: Nothing, it was clean. Just the laptop and the cell phone.

Jack: OK. Take the sim card out of the phone, upload it to CTU, see if any of it’s traceable.

Curtis: You got it.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Logan: Jack, this is President Logan. I’ve just been told a cruise missile was launched containing the nuclear warhead.

Jack: Yes, sir, that’s correct. Our millitary tracking devices are doing everything they can to find the trajectory of the missile, but we don’t have a lot to go on.

Palmer: What about Marwan, Jack? You think he’ll break?

Jack: That won’t be easy, sir. He’s planned and organized everything that’s happened today. He’s committed to his cause. He’s prepared to die.

Palmer: I know you’ll do your best. Keep me posted.

Jack: Yes, sir, I will.

[They hang up the call.]

Palmer: Let the Joint Chiefs know of the situation, but tell him that this should be limited to the intelligence community only.

Mike: Sir, if a nuclear missile has been launched, we have to assume that Washington is its target.

Logan: What are our options?

Mike: We don’t have many. Our first priority is to establish a continuative government and start a quiet evacuation of government personnel in the city.

Palmer: Bring the cabinet members and the speaker of the house to the bunker. The Congress and the Pentagon should be taken to the mountain safety facility.

Mike: Right.

Palmer: Mike, let them know that this is category one emergency. Tell them nothing more. We can’t afford an information leak.

Logan: David, the public needs to be warned, cities need to be evacuated.

Palmer: Not yet. Let’s see what Bauer comes up with first.

------------------------

Curtis: He’ll die before he talks to us.

Jack: I know.

[With time slipping away, Jack confronts Marwan to find out what he had hoped to accomplish.]

Jack: Stand down. You and I both know all I wanna do right now is to kill you. But I have my orders. We’ve ran out of time. You win. I’ve been instructed to ask you what you want.

Marwan: What I want is already happening.

Jack: The death and destruction of innocent life is a means to an end. Why don’t we just skip to the end?

Marwan: To the end?

Jack: Everything that you did today, you did for a reason - for your people. What do you want to change?

Marwan: I have no interest in having a political discussion with you.

Jack: I am in a unique position to make things happen. I have the ear of the President of the United States right now. You have the power to make any kind of deal that you want, and I promise you - you’ll do more for you and your people if you cooperate with me than if you let that missile hit its target. You tell me where the missile’s headed, you help me to stop it, and I guarantee you that you’ll talk to the President and he will listen to you, he has no choice. Right here, right now. You have the chance to get what you want.

Marwan: I already have, agent Bauer. After this day every elected official and citizen of America will know that America cannot intervene in our lives or countries with impunity. Besides, your President sees me in only one dimension - evil.

Jack: As you see us.

Marwan: Yes, and vulnerable.

------------------------

[Edgar shows Chloe calls pulled up on Marwan’s cell phone.]

Edgar: Chloe, come here.

Chloe: What?

Edgar: You’re never gonna believe what I just found. I got names off some calls received on Marwan’s cell phone. Take a look.

Chloe: Richard Heller?

Edgar: That’s right, Secretary of Defense Heller’s son called Marwan a week ago.

Chloe: Did you tell anyone yet?

Edgar: No, just you.

Chloe: I’ll let Buchanan know.

[Chloe tells Buchanan and his staff about the connection with Richard Heller.]

Buchanan: With every minute that passes, the missile’s target zone widens. We need to get updates from regional teams.

Chloe: I’m sorry to interrupt, but you need to hear this. Edgar just pulled a name off Marwan’s cell phone. It was from a call he received last week.

Buchanan: Who called him?

Chloe: Richard Heller.

Buchanan: Are you sure?

Chloe: Yeah. We ran the number and it came up as originating from Richard Heller’s cell phone.

Tony: That must be how Marwan knew where Secretary Heller was gonna be yesterday morning.

Chloe: You think Richard helped to plan his own dad’s kidnapping?

Tony: I don’t know.

Buchanan: Where is he now?

Chloe: Well, it’s 4:00 A.M. He’s at home asleep, I guess.

Buchanan: Where does he live, Chloe?

Chloe: Van Nuys.

Buchanan: Do we have field teams in the area?

Chloe: I don’t know. I’ll pull it up on the IP phone. Yes, we do.

Buchanan: Dispatch them. I’ll call Secretary Heller, tell him his son’s being brought back in.

Tony: Chloe, does Audrey know about this?

Chloe: No. It’s more of a management conversation, don’t you think? (Over the phone) This is O’Brian. Your team has been issued new orders. You are to dispatch immediately to van Nuys.

[Tony goes over to Audrey.]

Tony: Audrey, you got a minute?

Audrey: Yeah, sure. What is it?

Tony: It’s about your brother, Richard.

Audrey: Is he all right?

Tony: I assume he is, yeah.

Audrey: What do you mean?

Tony: We just found out that Habib Marwan got a call from Richard’s cell phone a week ago.

Audrey: I’m sorry, but that’s absurd.

Tony: We don’t know what it means yet, but Buchanan is sending a team over to pick Richard up right now.

Audrey: Tony, my brother was already brought in once today and he was cleared.

Tony: Yeah, I know. But this call definitely connects him to Marwan and the missile.

Audrey: Look, I don’t know how he got mixed up in this, but my brother is not a terrorist.

Tony: Audrey, Richard’s phone number was found on a received registry of Marwan’s sim card.

Audrey: Does my father know about this?

Tony: Buchanan’s calling him right now.

Audrey: All right.

Tony: I’m sorry.

------------------------

Curtis (over the phone): All right. I’ll tell him. Yeah.

[Curtis hangs up.]

Curtis: Jack, we got something.

Jack: What?

Curtis: Richard Heller called Marwan a week ago.

Jack: We’re sure about this?

Curtis: Yeah, they’re bringing him to CTU.

Jack: I wanna question this kid myself. We need to get back there now. Put the suspect in the vehicle. We’re headed back to CTU now.

Marwan: It doesn’t matter where you take me.

Jack: Yeah, we’ll see about that.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Buchanan: Jack, were you able to get anything out of Marwan?

Jack: No, we’re gonna take him back to CTU. We got a better chance of breaking him there. We’re about ten minutes out.

[As the agents load Marwan into the SUV, a rocket-propelled grenade streaks past Jack and explodes one of the CTU cars. The agents fire back at the snipers above]

Jack: Curtis, are you OK?

Curtis: Yeah.

[A terrorist climbs into the SUV that Marwan is in and peels out.]

Jack: Can you see the shooters?

Curtis: They’re on the roof behind us.

Jack: Go! Notify the perimeter we no longer have Marwan in custody!

Curtis: Perimeter teams, Marwan’s escaped! He’s headed towards the southwest sector.

------------------------

Buchanan: Chloe, what have you got on Marwan?

Chloe: Nothing. He already ditched the transport vehicle. We can’t find him on satellite.

Buchanan: How did his people get into that area?

Chloe: They didn’t; they must have been there before us. Marwan secured the location.

Buchanan: All right, have perimeter teams cover nearby buildings for remaining hostiles, then shift personnel to tracking the missile.

Tony: We lost him, Jack.

Jack: Dammit, Tony, how?

Tony: They dumped their vehicle on the freeway. In the chaos, Marwan must have gotten into another car and driven off. We’re trying to analyze the satellite right now, but the images are too noisy.

Jack: How does Buchanan wanna handle this?

Buchanan: I’m here, Jack. Finding Marwan is becoming less likely. With that missile in the air, we have to follow primary leads only; Right now that’s Richard Heller.

Jack: Has he arrived yet?

Buchanan: No, our team’s on the way to get him. He’ll be back here momentarily.

Jack: Bill, I wanna interrogate this kid myself.

Buchanan: I understand. I’ll have him ready for you.

Jack: OK, we’re on our way in.

[Jack hangs up.]

Jack: Curtis, we need to get back to CTU. They lost Marwan. We’re gonna have to track him from there.

Curtis: What did Buchanan say?

Jack: Richard Heller’s at first position. We’re gonna interrogate him.

------------------------

[The President addresses the Cabinet assembled in the White House bunker on the nuclear missile threat.]

Man: Mr. President.

Logan: Please, everybody, be seated. I would like to apologize for the abruptness of your removal from your homes and your offices. Please know that every precaution had to be taken to ensure the secrecy of your arrival. The U.S. has been thrown into a category one emergency. A cruise missile containing a nuclear warhead has been launched and is now headed for, we believe, a major U.S. city, very possibly Washington D.C. Now, all branches of the military have been alerted and they’re doing everything in their power to locate the missile and to intercept it.

Ashton: Excuse me, sir. You’re saying that not only do we not know what the missile’s target is, but you don’t even know where the missile is?

Logan: That’s correct.

Ashton: When do you plan to inform the public?

Logan: As of this time, we feel that informing the public wouldn’t be in the country’s best interest.

Ashton: “We” meaning who, Mr. President?

Logan: I feel that way, Mr. Speaker.

Ashton: Doesn’t the public have a right to know the truth?

Logan: That’s all I have for now. When I know more, an update will be given. Thank you.

[Logan turns to leave.]

Logan: Gentlemen. 

Ashton: Mr. President.

Logan: Yes, Don?

Ashton: Sir, I do not wish to question your decision in front of the cabinet, but I think that you’re making a grave mistake in not alerting the public.

Logan: Look, I’ve thought a lot about this and I’m certain it’s the right course.

Ashton: Well, if I may say so, sir, you do not seem certain.

Logan: It’s a difficult day for all of us, Don. Now, if you’ll excuse me.

[Logan leaves to confer with Palmer, and Ashton notices the body language between the two men. It’s clear that Palmer is in the dominant, confident position to Logan.]

Ashton: Mike, what’s going on here?

Mike: Meaning what?

Ashton: Logan was sworn in a few hours ago, we’re under a massive terrorist attack. He needs all the help he can get.

Mike: He understands that and he’s seeking advice from everywhere.

Ashton: Not from his cabinet or the congressional leadership.

Mike: Give it time, Don. Give it time.

------------------------

Tony: Tactical’s at Richard’s house. They’re going through his things right now.

Michelle: What about Jack?

Tony: Jack and Curtis are on their way back.

Michelle: Someone has to tell Audrey that Jack’s going to be interrogating her brother.

Tony: Audrey’s not gonna wanna let Jack near her brother.

Michelle: It can’t be helped. I mean, if Richard knows something about that missile…

Tony: It’s funny, this morning Jack and Audrey were planning their future. Now he’s responsible for her husband’s death, and he may have to torture her brother.

Michelle: And yet every move he’s made has been the right one.

Tony: Not if he wanted to be with her. Look, Michelle… Everything that’s happened here today, it’s been hard going through it with you again.

Michelle: It’s been hard for me too.

Tony: And I look at what this job does to the people in our positions, and I realize I want us to be together again, but it’s gotta be away from all of this.

Michelle: You want us to leave our jobs? We’ve spent the last twelve years of our lives doing this. Where would we go? What would we do?

Tony: I don’t care. People start over every day if it’s important to them.

Michelle: You’re asking me to leave the only thing I’ve ever done.

Tony: Yes, I am.

[Richard Heller creates a scene as he is dragged into CTU.]

Richard: This is beyond belief! I cannot be brought here! Audrey, you gotta get me out of here. These guys broke into my house. This is so illegal.

Audrey: All right, Richard, listen. Just calm down, OK? Listen to me. Your phone number came up on the cell phone of a terrorist, all right?

Richard: That’s what they said. That’s insane, and you know that, Audrey.

Buchanan: Audrey. Audrey.

Audrey: Listen, OK? Just listen…

Buchanan: Audrey. Audrey.

Audrey: Yes?

Buchanan: They have to get him into holding now.

Richard: Audrey! Audrey, don’t let them do this! Don’t let them do this to me!

Audrey: Who’s interrogating him?

Buchanan: Jack.

Audrey: What?

[Jack enters CTU and Audrey approaches him.]

Audrey: You are not gonna do this. You are not gonna torture my brother.

Jack: I’ll be right in there. I don’t wanna hurt Richard, but we’re out of time. He knows something, and I’m gonna find out what it is.

Audrey: And what if he doesn’t?

Jack: You’re aware that he called Marwan. It came up on his cell phone.

Audrey: There has gotta be an explanation for that. Let me talk to him.

Jack: You honestly believe that you can interrogate your own brother?

Audrey: It’s because he’s my brother, maybe I can get something out of him that you can’t, Jack. Please, just give me five minutes. Please.

Jack: Take five minutes.

Audrey: Thank you.

------------------------

[Congressman Ashton tries to get information out of Novick about Palmer’s role as advisor.]

Ashton: Mike.

Mike: Don.

Ashton: How’s President Logan managing?

Mike: Given the circumstances, he’s doing very well.

Ashton: I noticed that ex-President Palmer’s here with him.

Mike: Yes, he brought the former President in to advice.

Ashton: Yeah, well, that’s probably a good idea. Palmer’s been at the helm in this kind of crisis before. He knows how to lead.

Mike: President Logan doesn’t have any problem leading, if that’s what you’re getting at.

Ashton: Oh, no, not at all. It’s just that if he’s not going to ask his cabinet for help or the leadership, it comforts me, somewhat, that he’s in good hands.

Mike: Is there something else you wanted to say, Don?

Ashton: Yeah, yeah, there is. The people elected John Keeler to run this country. In his absence, Logan is expected to take over. But if he’s not up to the task, Mike, it is I, Speaker of the House, and not David Palmer, who steps up.

Mike: Understood. And let me assure you that’s not the case. Logan is in complete control. Excuse me, Don, I gotta get back.

Ashton: Sure.

[Mike enters the President’s office.]

Mike: Excuse me, Mr. President. We may have a problem.

Logan: What is it?

Mike: Don Ashton. He’s been asking a number of questions and raising concerns as to President Palmer’s role here.

Logan: That’s too bad. We have more important things to worry about at the moment.

Mike: Sir, as Speaker of the House, he can create problems which you don’t need right now.

Palmer: Mike’s right, sir. Don’s very ambitious. Now that he’s next in line to the presidency, he’ll look to exploit any angle he can.

Logan: He won’t put his ambition in front of national security.

Palmer: No, he won’t see it in those terms, sir. In his eyes, national security and his personal ambition are one and the same.

Logan: What do we do?

Palmer: Show him who’s in charge.

------------------------

Jack: Everything set up?

Curtis: Yeah, he’s ready.

Jack: Let’s do this.

[Audrey goes inside the interrogation room with Richard.]

Audrey: Hey.

Richard: Audrey. Get me out of here, please. Tell them I didn’t do anything.

Audrey: Richard, I want you to listen to me very carefully, OK? A missile carrying a nuclear warhead was launched by this man, Habib Marwan. Tell me what you know about him.

Richard: Look, I don’t know what you’re talking about.

Audrey: CTU has proof that you called him last week. Last Tuesday at 4:00 in the morning.

Richard: I don’t know any Habib Marwan or anything about a missile. You have got to believe me, Audrey.

Audrey: Richard, that missile is in the air right now, heading toward a city. Please, Richey, just tell me what you know.

Richard: Look, I told you, I don’t know anything.

Audrey: Why’d you make that phone call last week?

Richard: I didn’t make a phone call, Audrey.

[Heller enters the observation room.]

Heller: What’s happened with my son so far?

Jack: We decided to let Audrey talk to him first. They just got started.

Heller: Has he confessed to anything yet?

Jack: No, sir.

Audrey: Richard, it’s not making sense. That call was made.

Richard: Look, I don’t know where you get your information, Audrey, but it’s all bull.

Curtis: His readings are spiking. He’s holding something back.

Audrey: Richard… Richey, I am begging you to talk to me, all right? If you don’t, there is a man who will come in here and he will get the information from you. I saw him torture someone today. It’s what he’s trained to do. He won’t stop hurting you until you tell him the truth. Please.

Richard: Don’t let them do this to me.

Audrey: Tell me what you know and they won’t.

Richard: I don’t know what you want from me. I don’t.

Audrey: Richey, look at me, look at me. We have a chance to fix this.

Richard: Audrey…

Heller: This is not working. We don’t have time to coddle him. Open up.

Richard: Don’t let them do this to me…

Heller: I don’t care if he is my son, he’s playing games now.

[Heller enters the interrogation room.]

Heller: All right, Richard, this has gone far enough. Either you tell us what we wanna know, or I will let them use every piece of equipment they have to drag it out of you. You understand that?

Audrey: Dad, don’t…

Heller: Audrey, leave the room.

Richard: Please…

Audrey: Dad, please…

Heller: Now! I mean it.

Audrey: Richey, I want you to tell them everything you know, please.

Richard: Don’t let them do this to me…

[Audrey leaves.]

Heller: Now what’s it gonna be, Richard?

Richard: Go to hell. I didn’t do anything wrong, I don’t have to tell you anything.

Heller: There’s a nuclear warhead gonna detonate somewhere over this country. Those lost lives will be on your head! You will be a murderer!

Richard: I didn’t mean to do anything wrong. I swear.

Heller: What did you do, Richard? Tell me what you did!

Richard: A week ago, I was… I was at a bar and… and there was this girl and her boyfriend… OK? 

Heller: Right. What were their names?

Richard: I don’t know. They wanted to party and I… we… we went back to my place. We got high… and then… I guess there was time for one of them to make a call on my phone.

Heller: How?

Richard: When we were in bed.

Heller: So while you were in bed with her, he used your phone in the other room.

Richard: He wasn’t the one in the other room, dad. I was with him. She must have been the one that made the call.

Heller: So you were set up?

Richard: Yeah. I guess so, dad.

Heller: Did they leave you with a number or an address?

Richard: No.

Heller: What kind of a car were they driving?

Richard: They didn’t have one. I drove.

Heller: Where did you drop them off afterwards?

Richard: I didn’t. They took a cab.

Heller: Do you remember the name of the cab company?

Richard: No, dad, I don’t.

Jack: Get in touch with every cab company that works in the area. I want their log books. Get me a sketch artist now.

Curtis: I’ll run it. Take over.

Richard: So now you know. I suppose you’re even more disgusted with me, huh, dad?

Heller: This is not about how you choose to live your life, son. This is about how you’ve put this country in jeopardy. If you had told us this information yesterday, maybe these terrorist attacks would not have occurred.

Richard: No, don’t you put that on me, dad. ‘Cause yesterday I didn’t know that that night had anything to do with these attacks.

Heller: You should have told us everything.

Jack: I’ll wait outside.

Heller: You made a profound mistake today, Richard.

[Heller leaves Richard alone in the interrogation room.]

------------------------

Jack: Based on this information here, we can start to develop a contingency plan.

Buchanan: You got the cab company?

Chloe: Better than that. We got the cab driver. He dropped the couple off at an apartment complex in panorama city called the Mercerwood.

Buchanan: Did you talk to the apartment manager?

Chloe: Yes, we gave him a description of the guy and the girl. He says he knows what unit they’re in.

Buchanan: OK, Jack, you take this.

Jack: I’m gonna need our best field ops. I want Curtis and castle.

Buchanan: I’m gonna need Curtis here with me.

Jack: Then you gotta give me Tony.

Buchanan: All right.

Buchanan: What about the phone call to Marwan?

Edgar: I used our digital com software to analyze Richard’s phone. The phone call to Marwan activated a listen-in. He was able to hear all of Richard’s calls after that night.

Curtis: That’s why Marwan knew that secretary Heller was visiting Richard off book yesterday.

Buchanan: Anything on the missile?

Chloe: We’ve been running military protocol, but so far nothing.

Curtis: Do we know if President Logan’s gonna make an announcement?

Buchanan: As of now, the President still thinks that would do more harm than good.

------------------------

[President Logan greets his Cabinet and explains that he asked Palmer in as an advisor.]

Logan: Please, as you are, everybody. Be seated. Gentlemen and ladies, considering the crisis that we face today, I felt it prudent to enlist the assistance of ex-President Palmer.

Ashton: In what capacity, sir?

Logan: Excuse me.

Ashton: Sir, everybody in this room has a title and specific function. Exactly what position will President Palmer be occupying?

Palmer: I’m here solely as an advisor. Not only to the President, but to anyone here who requests my counsel.

Logan: President Palmer’s outside the chain of command, if that’s what you’re asking me, Don.

Ashton: Asking for a clarification, sir.

Logan: The missile carrying the nuclear warhead was launched from a location in central Iowa. It’s becoming more and more likely that the target is on or near one of the coasts.

Jenny: It’s clearly going to be new york or D.C. Why aren’t we evacuating those two cities?

Palmer: I disagree, Jenny. It’s not clear, and if you start to evacuate these two cities, then you may have an unauthorized mass exoduses of Boston, Philadelphia, Baltimore, Atlanta. That’s a situation I don’t think the President should be dealing with.

Ashton: Maybe the President should be telling us that himself.

Logan: Please, Mr. Speaker, I’ve discussed this option with a number of domestic experts including President Palmer, and that’s my assessment as well.

Ashton: What about air defense? Are we gonna stand by and let the airspace over these cities remain undefended?

Palmer: We have a limited number of F-18 interceptor jets at our disposal. They need to be augmenting the search for this missile, and not deployed in a wait-and-see mode.

Ashton: Mr. Palmer, I’m sure that we all appreciate your desire to help, but the constitution has determined who the decision makers should be at this time. I think you’re overstepping your bounds.

Palmer: In the first place, it’s “Mr. President”, Don. And it is the content of my statements you should be addressing.

Logan: David. It’s true, you are to be addressed as President. It’s an expression of respect, but not a functional title.

Palmer: I understand that, sir. But you have to understand, I’ve been through this crisis before.

Logan: Yes, but we are here now. The appointed and the lawful representatives of the people of the United States.

Palmer: Mr. President…

Logan: David, there will be no more discussion on this matter. Your point has been taken. However, Ashton has made a good point, and I wanna address his concerns.

Palmer: Perhaps it’s best if I excused myself.

Logan: Perhaps.

Palmer: Ladies, gentlemen…

Logan: Mr. Speaker, I think you’re right. We’re gonna put those jets over D.C. and New York.

[Palmer walks into another office, where Novick has watched the Cabinet meeting.]

Palmer: Did you see it on the inside feed?

Mike: Yes. It went exactly as you’d hoped. We won’t have any more problems with Don Ashton today.

Palmer: I hope you’re right.

------------------------

[Tony prepares to go out into the field with Jack.]

Michelle: We’ll be monitoring everything on three.

Tony: All right. Make sure LAPD’s there when we land. We’re gonna need transport to the site.

Michelle: They’ve already been called.

Tony: OK.

Michelle: Tony, wait. I can’t… I can’t spend another day without you. I’m ready to leave here. I’m ready to go with you.

[Tony kisses Michelle. He then turns to leave.]

Michelle: Tony. Be careful.

[Tony smiles at Michelle and then leaves CTU.]

------------------------

Heller (over the phone): Right.

[Heller hangs up.]

Heller: They’re setting up a remote feed. Richard’s gonna help Jack identify the suspects when they get onsite.

Audrey: Then what?

Heller: Then they’ll let him go. His motives certainly weren’t seditious.

Audrey: Dad, I feel so lost.

Heller: I know, sweetheart.

Woman: Ms. Raines?

Audrey: Yes?

Woman: Jack Bauer’s on line two for you.

Audrey: Thank you.

Heller: You take it, sweetheart. I’ll be on the floor.

[Heller leaves the office and Audrey takes Jack’s call.]

Audrey: Hello?

Jack: Audrey, it’s Jack. I know you don’t wanna talk to me right now, but there are a few things I need to say.

Audrey: All right.

Jack: Look, I know with everything that’s happened today, you’ve seen me do things that before now you thought were unimaginable.

Audrey: I would have been happy to skip today.

Jack: Yeah, me too. But the truth of it is ,Audrey, I never believed you could ever really love me if you’d known about everything I’ve done.

Audrey: Jack, I can’t…

Jack: Audrey, please, let me finish. These were the things that I was running away from. That’s why I moved to D.C. That’s why I stopped doing field work. That’s why I don’t work at CTU.

Audrey: All I know is that you’re back in it, and it’s too much for me, Jack.

Jack: I know. I know. The last thing I ever wanted to do was push you away from me. God, Audrey, I love you. But this is how the job has to be done. I just want you to know how sorry I am that it had to involve you and the people you care about. Look, you don’t have to say anything now. Please, just promise me, as soon as this is over we can talk about everything that’s happened. Audrey, please.

Agent: Jack.

Jack: I gotta call you back later, OK?

Audrey: All right.

Jack: Yeah?

Castle: Jack, tactical’s just got the schematics ready.

Jack: What are the approach perimeters?

Castle: They want us to go in from the west.

------------------------

Curtis: Edgar. This is the composite the sketch artist made based on Richard Heller’s description. Get it to Jack and Tony.

Edgar: Will do.

[Edgar sends Jack the composite sketch based on Richard’s descriptions.]

------------------------

[In the Mercerwood complex, a couple finishes having sex.]

Gary: Now can we go?

Mandy: We still have plenty of time to get to Marwan.

Gary: Look, I don’t like cutting it this close.

[Suddenly, Mandy hears helicopters outside.]

------------------------

[Jack briefs the SWAT team in the chopper using the composite sketches sent from CTU.]

Jack: This is a sketch of the guy that Richard Heller described. He and the girl are our only leads to finding Marwan, so once we identify the suspects, it is vital that we take them alive.

[Curtis’ cell phone rings.]

Curtis: Manning.

Jack: Curtis, it’s Jack. We’re getting ready to land. Is everything set?

Curtis: Yeah, we’re all set. Richard’s ready to make a positive ID.

Jack: Copy that. I want you to stay on this channel.

Curtis: You got it.

Jack: We’re a go.

[The chopper lands.]

Jack: I need you to make sure that no LAPD units go inside our established perimeter. Am I clear?

Agent: Yes, sir.

Jack: OK, let’s go!

------------------------

[Mandy dresses and loads her weapons.]

Gary: Are you ready?

Mandy: They found us.

Gary: What are you talking about?

Mandy: A helicopter just landed a block away.

Gary: So what?

Mandy: So, they found us.

Gary: Dammit!

Mandy: Hey. We can’t go together.

Gary: Why not?

Mandy: Because one of us has to stay here in the apartment.

Gary: Why?

Mandy: Because if they think that we’re still here, then it gives the other a chance to escape.

Gary: You’ve gotta be joking. One of us is gonna get caught to save the other?

Mandy: Exactly. It’s gonna be you.

[Mandy shoots Gary.]

------------------------

Tony: Jack, what do you wanna do? Move in on the apartment immediately?

Jack: No, I want you and castle to take up positions here on the roof of the main building in the center of the complex.

Tony: All right.

Jack: Teams B and C, acknowledge when you’re in position.

Agent: Team A set.

Agent: Team C in position.

Jack: Copy that. Let’s go.

Tony: OK.

Jack: LAPD, I need the entry code for the south gate.

Officer: It’s *4763458.

[Jack enters the building through the main gate.]

Jack: I’m in. OK, I’ve got a visual on the apartment. There’s activity inside. McAllen, meet me at the front door of the apartment. Have your people cover us.

McAllen: On the way. Go. Go.

[Jack and another agent break into Mandy’s apartment.]

Jack: Pick it.

McAllen: OK.

Jack: Put your hands where I can see them. Put your hands where I can see them now!

[Jack finds Gary’s dead body slumped in a chair.]

Jack: He’s dead. Get a picture of him. Send it back to CTU.

McAllen: Got it.

Jack: Tony, this is Jack. Has anybody reported any outside movement?

Tony: No. Why?

Jack: The man is dead. The girl is no longer in the apartment.

Tony: She couldn’t have gotten past the perimeter teams.

Jack: I know, but there are plenty of other places to hide. I want all teams to maintain their positions until we have time to search the other apartments.

Tony: Roger that. All teams, hold position.

Agent: Copy that.

[Mandy climbs up to the rooftop and shoots Agent Castle in the arm. She brings Castle out at gunpoint to Tony.]

Mandy: Drop your gun.

[Tony doesn’t drop his weapon. Mandy shoots Castle again in the leg.]

Tony: All right. All right.

[Tony relents and drops his gun.]

Mandy: Kick it away.

Tony: Look, he’s injured. Why don’t you let him go? You can take me instead.

Mandy: Your two-way.

[Tony drops the two-way on the ground.]

Mandy: Turn around. On your knees, hands on your head. (To Castle) Cuff him.

[Castle handcuffs Tony. Mandy then kills Castle.]

Mandy: Get up.

[Mandy leads Tony out.]

------------------------

Agent: Curtis, you should have it.

Richard: Whoa.

Curtis: Is that him? Is that him?

Richard: Yeah, yeah.

Curtis: Jack, that’s him. Richard gave us a positive ID on the picture.

Jack: OK, thank you, Curtis. Tactical, this is Bauer. I need five teams of two to initiate a search of the complex. Start with the outer buildings along the perimeter, move your way in.

Agent: Copy that, all teams deployed now.

Jack: Tony, this is Jack. We’re initiating the search. Tony, do you copy? Castle, why is Almeida not on com?

[Jack runs up to the roof.]

Jack: Tony, do you copy? Tony, come in.

[Jack gets to the roof. He finds Castle’s body.]

Jack: All teams, this is Bauer. Castle is down, Almeida is missing. I repeat, Almeida is missing and possibly a hostage. Our communications have been compromised. Move over to secondary frequency. CTU, I need more tactical personnel now. Michelle, did you copy that? Michelle!

[Michelle listens from CTU with fear.]

Michelle: You heard him, people. Shift profiles. We may have a hostage situation. Move. Now! 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Logan: I’ve just been told a cruise missile was launched containing the nuclear warhead.

Jack: Yes, sir, that’s correct.

Palmer: What about Marwan, Jack? You think he’ll break?

Jack: That won’t be easy, sir. He’s planned and organized everything that’s happened today.

------------------------

Logan: Now, how am I supposed to be able to fight terrorists while I’m provoking a nuclear superpower? We marched onto Chinese soil, we kidnapped one of their nationals, and in the process the Chinese consul was killed.

------------------------

Cheng: The murder of a Chinese consul on Chinese soil could be construed as an act of war. I assume you know this man, Howard Bern. One of your field agents.

Jack: A security camera at the Chinese consulate picked up your face.

Bern: That’s impossible. I was wearing my mask.

Jack: Trust me, I saw the freeze frame. It was you.

Bern: I’m sorry, Jack.

Jack: You gotta go. There’s a chopper waiting for you.

------------------------

Marwan: It doesn’t matter where you take me. What I want is already happening.

Jack: Go! Notify the perimeter we no longer have Marwan in custody!

------------------------

Curtis: Richard Heller called Marwan a week ago. They’re bringing him to CTU.

Jack: This is a sketch of the guy that Richard Heller described. He and the girl are our only leads to finding Marwan.

------------------------

Gary: One of us is gonna get caught to save the other?

Mandy: It’s gonna be you.

[Mandy shoots Gary.]

------------------------

Michelle: Tony, wait. I can’t spend another day without you. I’m ready to leave here. I’m ready to go with you.

[Tony kisses Michelle.]

Michelle: Be careful.

------------------------

Jack: Tony, this is Jack. Has anybody reported any outside movement?

Tony: No. Why?

Jack: The man is dead. The girl is no longer in the apartment. Tony, do you copy? Tony, do you copy? Castle, why is Almeida not on com? All teams, this is Bauer. Castle is down, Almeida is missing. I repeat, Almeida is missing and possibly a hostage.

------------------------

The following takes place between 5:00 A.M. and 6:00 A.M.

Buchanan: Jack, have you apprehended her?

Jack: No, we do not have the female hostile in custody. She’s hiding somewhere here in the apartment complex. She killed agent Castle and I believe she’s taken Tony Almeida as a hostage.

Michelle: Is there any way she slipped the perimeter?

Jack: No, the perimeter’s air-tight, but there’s over 600 apartments in the complex. We have to search them room by room. Listen, we need more personnel here.

Buchanan: Jack, we’re running low on manpower.

Jack: Dammit, Bill, there’s a missile in the air carrying a nuclear warhead. This is our best shot at taking it out before it hits its target.

Buchanan: The White House has us running point with DOD to find the missile. We’re stretched-thin.

Michelle: Jack, we’ll have LAPD send more men, and we’ll send Curtis and another tac team to the location.

Jack: OK, fine. We’ve already initiated the search starting with the buildings nearest the perimeter, working our way in, but we need LAPD here now.

Buchanan: Keep us posted.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Buchanan (to Michelle): Contact Division, see if they can spare more men. I’ll call our liaison at LAPD.

------------------------

[Audrey explains to Novick over the phone that she hasn’t found the missile on the satellite.]

Audrey: We’ve almost completed our second satellite pass over the current flight radius of the missile.

Mike: And no sign of it yet?

Audrey: No, not so far.

Mike: What do you think our realistic chances are of being able to locate the missile?

Audrey: I don’t think they’re very good. This missile’s an S-class. It uses elements of stealth technology. It was designed to evade detection.

Mike: I’m aware of that, but it will still have a heat signature.

Audrey: Yes, but the lower the missile flies to the ground, the harder it is to pick up.

Mike: How much longer until you’ve completed the second satellite pass?

Audrey: Less than twenty minutes.

Mike: Get back to me as soon as you have the results.

Audrey: All right.

------------------------

Michelle (over the phone): I don’t care. We need every available agent there now.

Man: But they’re not cleared for field work.

Michelle: Bump up their security level on provisional basis if you have to.

Man: Yes, Ma’am.

Michelle: Call me back with the exact number when you have it.

Man: Yes, Ma’am.

[Michelle hangs up.]

Buchanan (over the phone): All right, coordinate that with Edgar Stiles here at com. Thanks, Rick.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Michelle: What did LAPD say?

Buchanan: They’re keeping certain units in reserve and…

Michelle: But they’re sending more patrolmen to help Jack, right?

Buchanan: They’re sending nine over there now, and they’re gonna try to pull another twelve from the east round.

Michelle: Nine? That’s not nearly enough. We’ll have to reassign our people. Send them over there now.

Buchanan: I’m taking care of that, Michelle.

Michelle: When? We need people there now. This woman has to be captured.

Buchanan: Michelle. Everyone understands what’s at stake here. We’re gonna do our best to find this woman, but we have to remain calm, or everything will spiral out of control.

Michelle: You’re right, I’m not being objective. I’ll admit it; I’m worried about what this woman might do to Tony, but I will not lose sight of the big picture.

Buchanan: The big picture is that we have to apprehend this hostile, alive. Nothing else matters.

------------------------

[Tony is bound and gagged in a vacant apartment. He’s stripped of his shirt. Mandy researches Tony’s background on a laptop. She sees a story on the web about his dismissal from CTU and his connection to Michelle. Mandy’s cell phone rings.]

Mandy: What is it, Marwan?

Marwan: You’re late. You were supposed to check in.

Mandy: I know. There was a hitch, nothing serious. I am gonna be there.

Marwan: What kind of hitch?

Mandy: There was a problem in the apartment, and I’m dealing with it.

Marwan: I’m leaving in one hour. I’m not waiting for you.

Mandy: I know, and I’m gonna be there.

[Marwan hangs up.]

Mandy: Well, we don’t have much time. They’re very close to finding us, and that would be very very bad for both of us. So tell me, Tony, two years ago you put Michelle Dessler’s life ahead of national security. You let a suspect escape, and you committed treason. Is she gonna do the same for you?

------------------------

Audrey: Mike, it’s Audrey Rains.

Mike: Yes, Audrey. What have you got?

Audrey: Well, the second satellite pass is complete. We were unable to detect the missile with thermal imaging. There’s just too much radiant heat from ground sources.

Palmer: Ms. Raines, this is President Palmer. Is there a chance another satellite pass will find the missile?

Audrey: Well, the more data we have, Mr. President, the better, but a more intensive pass will take two to three hours.

Palmer: And we expect the missile to find its target before then.

Audrey: Yes, sir, we do.

Palmer: All right. Make sure FBI is on a real time link with all local emergency channels.

Audrey: All right, I’ll get that done right now.

Palmer: I also want you to compile disaster scenarios for the urban centers within range of the missile.

Audrey: Sir, that’s twenty of the largest cities in this country.

Palmer: I’m aware of that. I want death rates, fallout patterns, emergency response and predictions laid out for all of them.

Audrey: Yes, sir, I’ll take care of that right now.

Palmer: Thank you, Ms. Raines.

------------------------

Michelle: As additional teams arrive on site, assign them sections of the grid. We do not want people bumping into each other.

Edgar: If the subject is spotted, what’s the approach protocol?

Michelle: We maximize for capture. There can be no lack time.

Edgar: Do you wanna evaluate the formation since she’s got Tony hostage?

Michelle: We proceed as if there is no hostage. There is only one operational objective, and that is to capture this woman. Make sure that’s the profile you send out to all the teams. Understand?

Edgar: Yes.

[Michelle’s cell phone rings.]

Michelle: Dessler.

Mandy: Why don’t you get somewhere private, where we can talk?

Michelle: Who is this?

Mandy: I’m sending you the answer.

[Mandy sends Michelle a photo message of Tony to prove that he’s alive.]

Michelle: Tony.

Mandy: Now do you know who this is? And don’t bother trying to triangulate the call. It’s scrambled.

Michelle: Please, don’t hurt him.

Mandy: He’s OK for now, but he won’t be unless you do everything that I say, Michelle.

Michelle: I understand.

Mandy: I need your help getting out of here.

Michelle: What kind of help?

Mandy: You’re hesitating.

Michelle: I’m not, I’m not. I just need to know what you want me to do.

Mandy: Your men are between me and my exit. I need to know what their search patterns are, and how many men there are.

Michelle: OK, OK, I’ll find out.

Mandy: You’ll tell me right now.

Michelle: I have to go downstairs and talk to my tactical team.

Mandy: No, Michelle, you’re stalling. How many men are there, total?

Michelle: Upwards of thirty, not including LAPD, and reinforcements are on the way.

Mandy: You will need to remove your men from the northeast driveway of the complex.

Michelle: I don’t know if I can do that.

Mandy: You will redeploy your men by the time I call you back, or Tony dies.

Michelle: When are you calling back?

Mandy: Soon. Get moving, Michelle.

[Mandy hangs up.]

Mandy: Well, she still loves you. The question is how much?

------------------------

[Michelle calls Edgar.]

Edgar: Edgar Stiles.

Michelle: Edgar, send the deployment group to my screen.

Edgar: It’s updating. You want the last version, or do you wanna wait?

Michelle: Just send it.

[Edgar sends the deployment group to Michelle.]

Michelle: Are LAPD reinforcements there yet?

Edgar: Some are on site now, some will be there in about fifteen minutes. Do you want me to send the updated grid when it comes in? Ms. Dessler?

Michelle: Yes. Yes. Do that.

------------------------

Buchanan (over the phone): No, no, we can’t eliminate the Mid West or any region within the missile’s flying range. Yes, that’s what I’m trying to tell you. This warhead could hit anywhere. We’re putting together the projective casualty numbers. They’re gonna be high. Yeah.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Buchanan: Where are we on the search of the apartment complex?

Michelle: Nothing so far.

Buchanan: LAPD there yet?

Michelle: They’re on their way.

Buchanan: I’ll be at com.

[Buchanan turns to leave.]

Michelle: I can’t do this.

Buchanan: You can’t do what?

Michelle: I can’t… sacrifice the lives of all those people if this warhead goes off. She called me.

Buchanan: Who? Who called you?

Michelle: The hostile who has Tony.

Buchanan: When? What did she say?

Michelle: A couple of minutes ago. She said to redeploy our men so she can get away, or Tony dies.

[Buchanan dials his phone.]

Woman: Yes, sir?

Buchanan: Patch me through to Jack Bauer’s com.

Woman: Right away.

------------------------

Jack: Take your team. Start working the second floor, building 11.

Buchanan: Jack, you read me?

Jack: Yeah, I copy.

Buchanan: We’ve got something. The suspect contacted Michelle. She confirms she’s holding Tony hostage. She’s trying to use him as leverage against Michelle to open up an escape route.

Jack: Is Michelle there?

Michelle: I’m right here, Jack.

Jack: Do we have any idea where she is?

Michelle: She wants me to clear a path in the northeast driveway. She’s going to call to confirm that I did it.

Jack: When?

Michelle: I don’t know. It could be any second.

Jack: Michelle, I want you to make her believe that you’re still cooperating with her. I need you to draw her into the open. I promise you that we will do everything we can for Tony.

Michelle: OK.

Jack: Stay ready for her call. Bill, I’m gonna pull all units out of the northeast driveway, put them in concealed positions outside the complex.

Buchanan: It’s still possible she’ll change her mind at the last minute and try another escape route.

Jack: I know, and we’ll be ready for that, but if she doesn’t, I want her to believe that Michelle’s still complying. As soon as she’s fifty yards outside of the complex, and can’t reenter – that’s when our teams will converge.

Buchanan: Let me know when your men are ready to redeploy.

Jack: Copy that.

Buchanan: Are you gonna be all right?

Michelle: Yeah. I was gonna do what she wanted.

Buchanan: Michelle…

Michelle: I didn’t call you right away. All I could think of at first was saving Tony’s life.

Buchanan: It’s OK. It’s done.

------------------------

Jack: All designated teams, prepare moving to your secondary positions on my command.

[Curtis arrives on the scene.]

Jack: Curtis.

Curtis: What do you need me to do?

Jack: Some of the residents aren’t cooperating with this search. I want you to have LAPD units start arresting anybody that’s giving us a problem.

Curtis: You got it. Why don’t we pull some of the resources off the search? We have a better chance of finding the hostile through her communication with Michelle.

Jack: No, the hostile’s gonna be looking for any sign that Michelle’s betrayed her. We have to follow procedures if we have no idea they’ve been in contact.

Curtis: Understood.

Jack: As soon as you’re done with LAPD, I need you with me.

Curtis: You got it.

Jack: Bill, this is Jack. Do you copy?

Buchanan: Yeah, Jack?

Jack: We’re ready to go down here. Any new communication with the hostile?

Buchanan: No, Michelle’s still waiting for her call. Have you been able to make any kind of ID on scene?

Jack: Forensics tried to pull prints from her last known position, but they came up with nothing.

Buchanan: Same result here. No match on the voiceprint. She’s managed to stay completely out of the radar.

Jack: We’re gonna have to hope that because how fast this is moving she slips up and makes a mistake, otherwise we’re in trouble.

Buchanan: Proceed when ready, Jack. We’re standing by.

Jack: Copy that. All northeast driveway teams, move into secondary positions. We’re a go.

[Mandy watches through binoculars as the police vehicles move out from the area that she had cleared with Michelle. She then tasers Tony and he passes out. Mandy applies lipstick and goes outside the apartment. Mandy knocks on a neighbor’s door.]

Mandy: Hey.

Woman: What are you doing? You’re supposed to stay in your apartment. There’s some crazy person who lives in the building.

Mandy: Yeah, I know, I know. Hey, man.

Man: Hey.

Mandy: Where’s Chaz?

Woman: He just got up.

Mandy: Can you just get him? ‘Cause I just need to talk to him. Something happened.

Woman: Chaz!

Man: What’s going on?

Mandy: Nothing, just weird stuff.

Man: What?

Mandy: Nothing.

Man: Why don’t you just tell me?

Mandy: No, it’s cool.

Chaz: Hey, what’s going on, neighbor?

Mandy: Hey, man. How are you?

[Mandy pulls out her gun and shoots Chaz.]

Mandy: Shh. Not a sound.

------------------------

Logan: I just got off a very disturbing phone call from the Chinese foreign Secretary.

Palmer: So they’re still pressing us on the attack on their consulate?

Logan: It’s much worse than that, David. The fallout from that attack you authorized is escalating. They’re determined to pin this on us. If they manage to confirm that this is one of our men, I don’t have to tell you what kind of disaster that would be.

Palmer: No, sir, you don’t. But this alone is not conclusive enough for the Chinese to turn this into an international incident.

Logan: But if they find corroborating evidence?

Palmer: CTU is doing whatever they can to prevent that from happening, including getting this agent out of sight until it blows over.

Logan: I know I gave you the authority to make the decision, but you never should have ordered that assault.

Palmer: If we hadn’t carried out the raid, sir, we’d be nowhere on stopping the missile.

Logan: And where are we, David? Is there some progress I don’t know about?

Palmer: CTU is closing in on one of Marwan’s associates. If they apprehend her in time, they feel that they can use her to find Marwan.

Logan: Do you know how speculative that sounds? My God, we’re never gonna find it in time!

Palmer: Don’t say that! We will stop it, but you must believe that, if you’re gonna lead today.

Logan: How am I gonna believe that? Every second that passes brings that missile closer to its target, which for all we know, is us!

Palmer: We are not sitting on our hands, Mr. President. We are using every resource at our disposal to find this missile. We will prevent the warhead from going off.

Logan: I wish I was as confident as you are.

Palmer: You need to be. Remain Presidential. Demand nothing less than success from your people, and you will get it.

Logan: All right. All right. What do I tell the Chinese foreign Secretary when I talk to him next?

Palmer: You don’t. Let Mike handle this. He’ll tell them unless they have proof of our involvement, you don’t wanna hear from him today.

------------------------

[Bern, the agent in the surveillance photo at the Chinese Consulate, calls Buchanan.]

Woman: Mr. Buchanan, agent Bern on 6.

Buchanan: Send it to my cell phone.

Woman: Yes, sir.

Buchanan: Buchanan.

Bern: It’s agent Bern, sir. I got a message to call you as soon as I land in San Diego.

Buchanan: Are we on a secure line?

Bern: Yes, sir. It’s an encrypted cell.

Buchanan: The Chinese are continuing to press the case that we were involved in the assault on their consulate.

Bern: Have they managed to find evidence beyond the surveillance video of me?

Buchanan: No, and we have to make sure they don’t. I want you to start fabricating an alibi with CTU in San Diego. I want you to make it look like you were working there during the assault.

Bern: My transport’s arriving right now, sir. I’ll get right on it.

Buchanan: The alibi has to withstand careful scrutiny. San Diego phone logs, roasters and mainframe records – all have to back it up.

Bern: It’ll be air-tight, sir.

Buchanan: It has to be.

Bern: Sir, about my family… you think there’s any chance that the Chinese will try to get to them?

Buchanan: They can’t. We’ve already contacted your wife and we’ve moved her and your kids to a hotel for the time being. I’ll be in touch, agent Bern.

Bern: Thank you very much, sir.

[The accompanying agent leads Bern to a car, but Cheng, the head of security for the Consulate, is inside. Bern struggles and the men hold him at gunpoint. The real CTU agents are tied up outside the hangar.]

Cheng: Drive.

Bern: What the hell is this?

Cheng: I think you already know what this is. CTU sent a team into our consulate just a few hours ago. You were on the team, and our Consulate General was killed. You’re gonna tell me who’s responsible.

Bern: I don’t know what you’re talking about.

Cheng: Really? Then why were you being transported here by a helicopter from CTU Los Angeles?

Bern: You don’t know where I came from.

Cheng: Actually, I do. Before entering CTU earlier tonight, we turned our satellite on their location. While I was questioning superiors, our satellite picked up someone being taken away by helicopter.

Bern: So what? It wasn’t me.

Cheng: No, it was you! The Chinese government insists that someone take responsibility for the death of our consul.

Bern: What does that mean, “take responsibility”? 

Cheng: I believe you were only following orders. Tell us who gave the orders, and I’ll let you go.

Bern: I’m not telling you anything.

Cheng: I believe you’re gonna change your mind.

------------------------

[Mandy calls Michelle.]

Michelle: Yes?

Mandy: Have you redeployed all your men?

Michelle: Yes, I have.

Jack: Bill, it’s Jack. Uplink is on.

Mandy: Are you sure they followed your instructions?

Michelle: I’m sure.

Curtis: It’s starting to rain pretty hard, Jack.

Mandy: Michelle, do you love Tony?

Michelle: Yes, I love him.

Mandy: Good. Because if I find out that you’re trying to play me, the very first thing I’m gonna do is blow his brains out, and don’t think there’s anything you can do to stop it, because there’s not. You understand?

Michelle: OK, I understand.

Mandy: Good. Stay by the phone.

[Mandy hangs up.]

Buchanan: All com analysts, clone that call and filter it through all our servers.

Michelle: Do you have multiple source on audio?

Edgar: No, just on Talco feed, low-res.

Michelle: No, I know the configuration, Edgar. I need to know if we can multiplex. Pull some background noise off. We need to pinpoint the source.

Edgar: I was gonna do that.

Michelle: When? This is happening now! I shouldn’t have to walk you through this, dammit!

Edgar: You don’t have to walk me through this. I’m setting it up now.

Chloe: Go to Delta 2, Edgar. It’s all there.

Michelle: I will not let this thing fall apart because of technical incompetence.

[Buchanan and Chloe notice Michelle’s growing anxiety.]

------------------------

[The CTU teams hide in the area near the apartment exit.]

Curtis: All right, I’ve got confirmation. All our visible forces have been pulled away from this street all the way to Western.

Jack: OK, good.

Agent: Jack.

[As the rain falls, Jack spots a woman and a man walking under an umbrella.]

Jack: We’ve got something. Building 3, west entrance.

Buchanan: Edgar, video feed.

[Edgar puts the feed up on the screen. Mandy calls Michelle.]

Michelle: Yes?

Mandy: OK, Michelle, we’re on our way.

Jack: OK, it’s them.

Mandy: I’ve got a gun on Tony. My finger’s on the trigger, if I move it, he’s gonna die.

Michelle: I told you, I moved my men.

Jack: She’s completely in the open. She’s running a huge risk exposing herself like that.

Mandy: So far, so good.

Jack: She’s crossing the street.

Buchanan: She gets in near the car. She can’t stay on top of them. That’s our opportunity.

Jack: She’s moving towards the black Jag.

Curtis: All teams, hold your position.

Mandy: OK, here’s the deal. As soon as we’re in the car and I’ve cleared the area, I’m gonna call you, and I’m gonna tell you where you can find Tony.

Michelle: OK.

Curtis: All right, move, move. Everybody, go!

Jack: No! Not yet! All teams, stand down!

[As the couple approaches a parked car, Mandy spots the agents who are about to descend upon them.]

Mandy: I see your men, Michelle. You lied to me, you bitch. You are not gonna take me alive, got it?

[The car explodes.]

Michelle: No! No!

[Michelle watches from the video monitors and screams in horror. Jack runs out to the flaming wreck.]

Jack: Bill, they’re gone. She blew herself up in the car. She took Tony with her. They’re gone.

------------------------

[Buchanan calls the President and Palmer to explain that their only lead killed herself with Tony.]

Logan: I understand Bill Buchanan requested a conference call.

Mike: Yes, sir, we were waiting for you to begin. Bill, we’re all here. Go ahead.

Buchanan: I’m afraid that Marwan’s associate – the woman we hoped would help us locate the missile – has killed herself and one of our agents.

Logan: Oh, my God.

Palmer: Bill, did she leave behind any physical evidence that can help us?

Buchanan: It doesn’t appear so.

Logan: So what is CTU gonna do now to find the missile?

Buchanan: Mr. President, at this point CTU no longer has any reason or expectation of finding the missile before it reaches its target.

Logan: This is it. It’s going to happen. What do we do?

Palmer: At this point we have no choice but to alert all State and Federal agencies, and focus all our resources on managing the aftermath.

Logan: But we don’t even know the missile’s target.

Palmer: I know. We can assume it will be a major city, but no matter what the target is, there will be widespread panic across this country. We need to mobilize the army and the National Guard, and every state can draw up a declaration of martial law.

Logan: Yes, we need to do that.

Mike: Bill, all Federal agencies need to prepare for the aftermath of a nuclear attack. CTU’s priority should be disaster management. Redeploy your people now.

Buchanan: Understood.

[Buchanan hangs up and calls Edgar.]

Edgar: Edgar Stiles.

Buchanan: Edgar, tell Jack the field operation is over. Have him bring his people back here immediately.

Edgar: Got it.

------------------------

[Logan blames Palmer for allowing the worst disaster in American history.]

Logan: The worst disaster in American history is taking place under my watch. I gave you the responsibility to stop this. You failed me, David. And you failed your country.

[Palmer is stunned at Logan’s ingratitude.]

------------------------

[Buchanan consoles Michelle.]

Buchanan: I can’t even imagine what you must be feeling. I know a part of you is second guessing your decision, but you couldn’t place Tony’s life before the lives of potentially millions of people. You made exactly the decision Tony would have wanted you to make. That’s our job. It’s what we signed on.

Michelle: We decided we were gonna leave this. Go somewhere and start again.

Buchanan: Michelle…

Michelle: I wanna get back to work. We still have to find this missile.

Buchanan: No. I want you to go home.

Michelle: I’ll be OK, Bill.

Buchanan: It’s not advice, it’s an order.

------------------------

[Buchanan’s cell phone rings.]

Buchanan: Buchanan.

Edgar: Sir, Jack says he’s not pulling his men out yet.

Buchanan: Did you tell him we have orders from the White House?

Edgar: Yeah, but he says he’s not ready.

Buchanan: Put him on a videophone at the situation room.

[Jack replays the last phone call, trying to find an answer.]

Mandy: You lied to me, you bitch. You are not gonna take me alive, got it?

Jack: Play it again. Give me more damn volume on the phone call.

Curtis: Jack, we need to redeploy.

Jack: Just do it!

Curtis: Jack. Tony’s gone.

Jack: I’m sorry, Curtis. Just play it again, please.

Curtis: Yeah. Jack, you’ve got a phone call.

Jack: This is Bauer.

Buchanan: Jack, why haven’t you redeployed? The operation’s over. The hostile killed herself.

Jack: Because it doesn’t make any sense, Bill. Everything that we know about this woman tells us that she’s a professional, not a fanatic. We had her cornered. Her next move was to try and negotiate for her freedom, not kill herself.

Buchanan: In theory, I agree with you, but you saw what I saw.

Jack: All I saw were two darkened figures in the rain, concealed by an umbrella and an explosion, and I saw that from half a block away.

Buchanan: Jack, you’ve got to focus now. Nobody here is holding you responsible for Tony’s death. You gotta let this go.

Jack: Bill, you’re not listening to me. All I want…

Buchanan: Jack, we reviewed the tactical feed. There’s nothing that suggests we were deceived. Look, I know Tony was your friend, and you probably feel responsible for getting him involved today.

Jack: This is not about Tony. This is about her, and until I can absolutely confirm that she is dead, I am maintaining this perimeter, and I am gonna continue this search.

Buchanan: Jack, I’m under orders from the White House. You have ten minutes, then I want you to move out.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Jack: Can you enhance the image from here?

Curtis: Not in the field.

Jack: Play it again.

Mandy: OK, Here’s the deal. As soon as we’re in the car and I’ve cleared the area…

Jack: I still can’t hear the audio properly. Get me a headset.

Mandy: I’m gonna call you, and I’m gonna tell you where you can find Tony. I see your men, Michelle. You lied to me, you bitch. You are not gonna take me alive, got it?

Jack: Play back the last fifteen seconds.

Curtis: What are you seeing, Jack?

Jack: It’s not what I’m seeing. Come on, play it back.

Mandy: I see your men, Michelle. You lied to me, you bitch. You are not gonna take me alive, got it?

Jack: It’s pouring rain. You see it bouncing off the car. You can’t hear it on her side of the phone call.

Curtis: She’s making that call from somewhere else, indoors.

Jack: She’d want a position that’d give her a clean line of sight to the car. That would put her in the building that the couple exited from. Get the teams ready, we’re moving in now.

Curtis: All right, all teams, we’re gonna converge on building 11.

[All the teams start moving into the building. Mandy sees this.]

Mandy: Well, they’re heading back in. Looks like my neighbors died for nothing.

Tony: They know you’re still in here.

Mandy: Put out the palm of your hand. Here are the keys. Take off your cuffs. Put this on. We’re getting out of here.

[Tony takes off the handcuffs, and dresses in another outfit.]

Mandy: OK, now cuff yourself back up. Let’s go.

[Mandy leads Tony out at gunpoint. Tony sees broken glass on the floor. He purposefully steps on it and grinds his bare feet in. As he walks, he leaves a trail of blood.]

------------------------

[Jack and Curtis look through every hall in the complex.]

Curtis: We’ve gotten every way in and out covered. We’ve got men on every floor, going room by room.

Jack: We need to take her alive.

Curtis: Everyone’s aware.

Agent (over radio): Agent Bauer?

Jack: Yeah.

Agent (over radio): We found fresh blood outside an apartment.

Jack: Where?

Agent (over radio): 208.

Jack: Stand down until we get there.

Agent (over radio): Copy that.

[Jack and Curtis run to the apartment.]

Jack: Curtis, take the door.

[Jack sees the trail of blood Tony left behind.]

Jack: Curtis, they went this way.

[Mandy takes Tony to an underground parking garage. He ducks under her gun and slams her into a column. She fights back, but Tony manages to kick and head butt her with his cuffed hands. Mandy regains her weapon and Tony gives in.]

Mandy: Turn around. Move.

[Jack appears and trains his weapon on Mandy.]

Jack: Don’t move! Drop the gun. It’s over.

Mandy: Take one more step and I’ll kill him.

Tony: Do it, Jack. Do what you have to do.

Mandy: Shut up. Do you really have what it takes to let me kill him while you’re looking him in the eye?

Jack: Yes.

Mandy: I believe you. So what’s to stop me from shooting him? You can’t kill me, can you? You need me.

[Jack sees Curtis come from behind Mandy.]

Jack: Tony.

[Tony ducks as Curtis grabs Mandy. She is apprehended.]

Jack: Hostile is down. I repeat, the hostile is down. Get a medic down here. I want her conscious as soon as possible.

[Jack helps Tony get up.]

Jack: Look at me. Are you OK? Are you OK?

Tony: Yeah.

Jack: Get me that medic now.

Curtis: He’s on his way.

Tony: Does Michelle know I’m alive?

Jack: No, not yet. I’ll call CTU on my cell so you can talk to her privately.

Tony: Thanks.

[Jack calls CTU.]

Buchanan: Buchanan.

Jack: Bill, this is Jack.

Buchanan: Jack, what’s going on? Have you redeployed back to CTU?

Jack: No, we just apprehended the hostile.

Buchanan: What?

Jack: She’s unconscious, but she’s unharmed. Tony’s OK too.

Buchanan: Thank God. I’ll alert the White House.

Jack: OK, good. Bill, Tony wants to talk to Michelle. Can you put her on the line?

Buchanan: She’s not here. I sent her home. I’ll… I’ll find her and patch her through to your cell.

Jack: Thanks.

[Michelle is sitting in her car in the CTU parking lot. She is crying. Her cell phone rings.]

Michelle: Hello?

Buchanan: Michelle, it’s Bill. Tony’s alive.

Michelle: What?

Buchanan: He wasn’t in the car. He’s OK. I’ll let Tony explain it to you. Hold on the phone.

[Buchanan patches through Jack’s call to Michelle.]

Tony: Michelle, it’s me.

Michelle: Tony. Oh, my God.

Tony: It’s OK, sweetheart.

Michelle: Oh, my God. What happened?

Tony: She made somebody else wear my clothes. She needed to keep me alive until she got out. Jack figured it out. He was able to save me.

Michelle: I don’t know what to say.

Tony: Look, you don’t have to say anything, sweetheart. I’m coming to CTU right now. I’ll see you in a few minutes. Michelle, I love you.

Michelle: I love you, Tony.

------------------------

Jack: Get President Palmer patched through. We’re gonna have to structure a deal.

Curtis: Yeah, all right.

Medic: She’s conscious.

Jack: Pick her up. Call the White House now.

[Jack grabs Mandy by the throat.]

Jack: Where is Marwan? That’s what I thought. We’re both professionals. You know that I can force this information out of you, but I’m running out of time. We never get second chances in our line of work, but I’m gonna give you one. I have the power to give you a deal signed by the President of the United States that grants you immunity for past and present crimes. In exchange, you’re gonna help me find Marwan and stop this warhead from hitting its target, do you understand? Do you understand? You are either gonna help me now, or I will kill you.

Mandy: Show me the deal.

------------------------

[Bern is held in a warehouse by Chinese henchmen. Cheng shows Bern the surveillance photo of him.]

Cheng: You were part of a covert team that mounted the assault on our consulate, an operation that resulted in the death of our consul. Who led the mission? Who was responsible for what happened?

Bern: I don’t know what you’re talking about.

Cheng: Please, Mr. Bern. You’re wasting time. Give us a statement, and we’ll release you.

Bern: I’m telling you the truth, and you’re gonna have to release me as soon as CTU realizes what’s happened to me.

Cheng: Actually, Mr. Bern, no one will ever know. No one will ever tell them.

Bern: What are you talking about?

Cheng: The China Queen container ship is at the port of San Diego. If you don’t give us our statement, we’ll put you on board and you will arrive in eighteen days in the port of Hon Dough. Then we will transport you 28,000 miles to Sin Jan, where you will be remanded to the maximum security labor camp on the boarder with Siberia.

Bern: You wouldn’t do that.

Cheng: Why wouldn’t we, Mr. Bern? We want justice. If you’re not gonna tell us who’s ultimately responsible for the situation at the consulate, that leaves you. You’re wife and your two daughters will not be notified. The U.S. government will not be notified. Therefore, there will be no chance for prisoner exchange. There will be positively no chance of escape for the rest of your life. Decide, Mr. Bern. The China Queen is on a tight schedule.

Bern: I don’t know.

Cheng: All we want is a name. A recorded statement naming the person responsible for what happened at the consulate.

Bern: Then what happens?

Cheng: You will walk right out of that door.

Bern: No, I meant… to him.

Cheng: As I said, all we want is justice.

Bern: His name is Jack Bauer. 

____________________
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Previously on 24:

Buchanan: The Chinese are continuing to press the case that we were involved in the assault on their consulate.

Bern: Have they managed to find evidence beyond the surveillance video of me?

Buchanan: No, and we have to make sure they don’t.

Cheng: You were part of a covert team that mounted the assault on our consulate. If you’re not gonna tell us who is ultimately responsible, that leaves you.

------------------------

Buchanan: It’s stealth. We can’t track it by radar.

Tony: This missile’s traveling at a speed of 600 miles an hour, which means it can hit the target in either coast in under three hours.

Buchanan: That’s assuming it’s headed for the coast. If it’s not, it could hit its target at any time.

------------------------

Logan: What is CTU gonna do now to find the missile?

Buchanan: At this point CTU no longer has any reason or expectation of finding the missile before it reaches its target.

Logan: I gave you the responsibility to stop this. You failed me, David. And you failed your country.

------------------------

Jack: Drop the gun. It’s over.

Tony: Do it, Jack.

Mandy: Do you really have what it takes to let me kill him while you’re looking him in the eye?

Jack: Yes.

[Jack sees Curtis come from behind Mandy.]

Jack: Tony.

[Tony ducks as Curtis grabs Mandy. She is apprehended.]

Jack: I have the power to give you a deal signed by the President of the United States. In exchange, you’re gonna help me find Marwan and stop this warhead from hitting its target.

Mandy: Show me the deal.

------------------------

The following takes place between 6:00 A.M. and 7:00 A.M.

[As Mandy is held captive, Jack calls Buchanan to find out about the Presidential pardon.]

Buchanan: Buchanan.

Jack: Bill, this is Jack. Has the President signed the pardon yet?

Buchanan: Any minute now. I don’t like that we’re cutting this woman a deal, Jack. We can’t verify she’s telling the truth until it’s too late.

Jack: We don’t have a choice. Right now she’s the only person who can lead to Marwan, and Marwan’s controlling the missile.

------------------------

[President Logan prepares to sign the pardon.]

Logan: Has the Attorney General reviewed this immunity agreement?

Mike: Yes, sir. We should be getting his final approval any minute now.

Pierce: Mr. President. I’m sorry to interrupt, but there’s something you might wanna see. It may affect the immunity agreement.

Palmer: What is it, Aaron?

Pierce: The woman you’re about to pardon - I’m pretty certain you’ve met her before.

Palmer: Explain.

Pierce: May I?

Palmer: Absolutely.

Pierce: On the right is the hostile we have in custody. On the left is news footage from four and a half years ago in Los Angeles, moments before the attempt on your life.

Palmer: You’re telling me the woman we’re about to cut a deal with tried to assassinate me?

Pierce: Yes, sir.

[Mike’s cell phone rings.]

Mike: Novick.

Man: The agreement is in order, sir.

Mike: All right. Thank you.

[Mike hangs up the call.]

Mike: Mr. President, the Attorney General says the immunity agreement is in order, ready to be signed.

Logan: If I read this document right, it grants immunity not only for what this woman has done today, but for any crimes she’s ever committed in the past.

Mike: That is correct, sir.

Palmer: Sign it.

------------------------

Jack: We’re trying to get you the deal, but we will pull it if the missile hits first.

Mandy: I will talk when my representatives confirm my immunity, not before.

[The phone rings.]

Curtis: Manning.

Man: This is Tom Bridges. Let me speak to my client.

Curtis: Yeah, she’s right here.

Mandy: I’m listening.

Man: I’ve just seen the document signed by the President.

Mandy: Is the paperwork in order?

Man: Yes, they granted you total immunity.

Mandy: Good.

Jack: Where’s Marwan?

Mandy: The Global Center. A helicopter is waiting for him on the roof that will be taking him to a ship.

Curtis: If he flies long enough, he’ll evade radar.

Jack: When is he leaving?

Mandy: Now.

Jack: Get the chopper ready.

Curtis: Alpha 4, it’s Manning. Get the chopper ready. We’re on the move.

Jack: She stays here until we verify this.

[Jack warns his team not to use lethal force, even in self-defense. They need Marwan alive.]

Jack: Capturing Marwan alive is our only chance of stopping this warhead from hitting its target. We are not to use lethal force, even in self defense, am I clear?

Curtis: Got it.

Jack: Let’s go.

------------------------

[Marwan and an associate go up to the roof of the Global Center. He tries calling Mandy but she doesn’t answer her phone.]

Marwan: She’s not answering her phone. She should have been here already.

Man: She said she was delayed.

Marwan: We’re not waiting. How long before we get to the ship at international waters?

Man: Ten minutes.

Marwan: Something’s wrong.

[Marwan and his associate get into the chopper.]

------------------------

[As Jack heads downtown, Edgar gives him the location of Marwan’s helicopter from satellite imagery.]

Jack: Edgar, it’s Jack. We’re almost there. Have you got confirmation on the target?

Edgar: We’re just repositioned the satellite. The images are coming through now. There, on top of the Global Center. I see a chopper. Southeast corner.

Jack: Copy that. I want you to take a southeast approach. Stay below the building.

Pilot: Yes, sir.

------------------------

Marwan: The missile’s still on the target. We gotta get out of here.

Man: Just a few minutes until we’re up to speed.

[Jack’s chopper comes up on top of the building. Marwan sees this.]

Pilot: Roger that, we have visual on the building. Approaching northwest.

Jack: OK, come on top of the building now.

Pilot: Yes, sir.

Jack: Don’t let him take off. Stay above him!

Marwan: Go! Go!

Man: He’s right on top of me.

[Jack fires at Marwan’s helicopter and hits the rotor engine. Smoke starts to erupt and they are unable to fly.]

Marwan: No! The engine’s out.

Jack: Put me in a position to bail.

[Marwan pulls a digital device out of his pocket and fires two rounds into it. The device lies in ruin on the floor. The CTU chopper lets the agents off onto the roof of the building. Marwan flees.]

Jack: There he is.

Curtis: I got you covered.

Jack: Clear.

[Jack, Curtis and another agent chase after him into a parking garage. Marwan fires back, killing the third agent and wounding Curtis. Jack hides under a car and shoots Marwan’s ankle. Marwan goes down and fires the remaining bullets in his chamber. He crawls to an open wall in the building. Jack sprints toward him. Just as Marwan hurls himself over the side of the building, Jack grabs his arm and holds him from falling. He tries to pull Marwan up.]

Jack: Tell me where the missile is. Tell me where it is. Tell me where it is.

[With his free hand, Marwan draws a knife and slices Jack’s hand. Jack winces in pain but doesn’t let go. As Jack’s strength decreases, Marwan’s hand slides from his grasp. Marwan falls several stories down to his death.]

Jack: No. No! No!

------------------------

[President Logan yells at Palmer for the botched mission that allowed Marwan to be killed.]

Logan: I don’t understand. Bauer had orders to take Marwan alive.

Palmer: I’m sure Jack did whatever he could.

Logan: That’s not good enough, David!

Palmer: CTU is searching Marwan’s helicopter, trying to find something that will help them locate the missile.

Logan: We’re out of time.

Palmer: Not yet.

Mike: Mr. President… I’m sorry to add to an already difficult situation, but the acting Chinese Consul Su Ming is on teleconference. He says it’s urgent.

Logan: Put him through.

[Mike puts the call through.]

Ming: Gentlemen, as we discussed earlier, our consulate in Los Angeles was attacked three hours ago. A Chinese citizen was abducted, and our consul killed.

Palmer: We’ve already given you our assurance that we had no knowledge of this reprehensible attack.

Ming: Which is strange, since one of your agents has confessed his direct involvement and implicated his superior as well.

Palmer: What are you talking about?

[Ming plays a video of Agent Bern reading a statement.]

Bern: My name is Howard Bern. I’m a federal agent with the Counter Terrorist Unit in Los Angeles, speaking of my own free will, under no duress. I participated in an unlawful assault on the Chinese Consulate in Los Angeles. I was acting under the orders of Special Advisor to the Secretary of Defense, Jack Bauer.

Ming: Mr. Bern provided details which leave no doubt that he is telling the truth. The full tape will be forwarded to you immediately.

Palmer: Putting aside the question of how this so-called confession was obtained, what does your government expect us to do?

Ming: Mr. Bauer committed a crime at our consulate, which is Chinese territory. If he was acting without your approval, he should be turned over to our government to be tried and sentenced according to our laws.

Logan: Mr. Su, we’ll get back to you.

[Logan hangs up the call.]

Logan: Dammit, David, you said this would be handled!

Mike: I’m sure the Chinese don’t want war.

Walt: No. But they do want to embarrass us, take the moral high ground in the court of world opinion. Well, we need to take the least damaging course of action.

Mike: Unfortunately, then there’s only one option.

Logan: Which is?

Mike: We hand Bauer over to the Chinese.

Palmer: Unacceptable.

Walt: Besides, if we turn him over, he’ll implicate this administration. The Chinese made Bern talk. They’ll do the same with Bauer eventually.

Palmer: Jack Bauer would never compromise National Security.

Logan: As much as I’d like to believe that, everyone breaks.

Palmer: What you believe is irrelevant.

Walt: There is another option, Mr. President.

Logan: Go on.

Walt: Suppose something happens to Bauer? Suppose he has an accident.

Palmer: That’s an obscene suggestion.

Walt: It solves a lot of problems.

Palmer: Mr. President!

Logan: This administration does not condone murder. And it never will. Is that clear?

Walt: Yes, sir. I’m sorry, sir.

------------------------

Curtis: Did you find anything on Marwan’s body?

Jack: We’re still looking. Are you OK?

Curtis: I’ll be a lot better once we take this missile down.

McAllen: Sir, we might have found something in here.

Jack: What is it?

McAllen: It’s been shot up pretty badly, but one of the drive platforms is intact. It’s some kind of tracking or navigation program with a GPS node. Adams is uplinking whatever’s left to CTU.

Jack: OK, thanks.

[Jack calls CTU.]

Buchanan: Buchanan.

Jack: Bill, it’s Jack. Forensics found something. They sent it over…

Buchanan: Chloe’s got it. She and Edgar are trying to download the interface.

Jack: Put her on.

Buchanan: I’ll put you on speaker. You’re on, Jack.

Jack: Chloe, have you got anything on that program?

Chloe: Nothing yet. Give us a second, Jack.

Edgar: It’s totally random. I can’t make any sense of it.

Chloe: Maybe try a correlation matrix.

Edgar: What’s that gonna do?

Chloe: Just do it, Edgar.

Edgar: I told you it wasn’t gonna work.

Chloe: That’s because you didn’t expand the parameter. See?

Jack: What have you got?

Chloe: Two parallel columns, but the data points are badly damaged.

Jack: What do you mean, parallel columns?

Edgar: They could be a flight path. I’ll try plotting them over the USGS map. It’s working.

Chloe: If that’s a flight path, it’s headed due west, over Nevada. It’s Los Angeles. It’s gotta be. It’s coming towards Los Angeles.

Jack: Chloe, run a time analysis.

Chloe: Assuming the missile travels at 600 miles per hour, it puts it within this 30-mile segment.

Buchanan: I’ll get those coordinates to the Air Force.

[Buchanan calls Air Force.]

Clarke: Clarke.

Buchanan: Captain Clarke, Bill Buchanan, CTU. The missile’s heading for Los Angeles. We’ve narrowed the possible coordinates. We’re uploading them to you now. OK, thanks.

[Buchanan hangs up.]

Buchanan: They have planes ready in the air now. If our projections are correct, they should be able to find it quickly.

Chloe: They’d better, since the casualty figures of an L.A. air strike would be over a million lives lost, including ours.

Buchanan: Put the military channel on speaker.

Agent: Yes, sir.

Pilot: Delta One, I’m approaching the designated segment.

Pilot #2: Roger that, Delta One. Still no joy target. Searching.

Edgar: Jack, if the missile gets shot down, could the warhead detonate?

Jack: No, the warhead is specifically designed not to blow up until it hits its designated target.

Edgar: But the force of the impact could trigger the arming mechanism, right?

Jack: It’s unlikely.

Edgar: But it is possible, right, Jack?

Jack: Yes, it’s possible, but we don’t have a choice; we’re out of time here.

Man (over radio): Delta Two, this is Air Control. We have a contact at 3846 degrees north, bearing 120. Respond.

Pilot: Closing in on those coordinates. Possible contact. Breaking left. Delta One, I’ve got tally on the target, 12:00 O’clock.

Pilot #2: Missile checks good. I’m armed.

Air Control: Delta Two, cleared to lock on target. Target acquired. Good luck. Repeat, good luck.

Pilot: Delta Two is in range. Requesting clearance to engage.

Air Control: Delta Two, target confirmed. Cleared to engage.

Pilot: I’ve got good tone. Fox two. Missile away.

[The F-18 pilot spots the missile and fires.]

Air Control: Splash one. That’s a direct hit, Delta One. The target is down. I repeat, the target is down.

[The target is shot down. The staff at CTU cheers. Jack is relieved.]

------------------------

Agent: Miss Dessler, here’s the report so far. No nuclear radiation was emitted when the missile was destroyed. Debris hit the ground and there was some damage and several injuries, but no loss of life as far as we know.

Michelle: We’ll pick this up later.

[Tony enters CTU and Michelle runs to his arms.]

Michelle: When they told me you were dead…

Tony: I know. It’s all right.

Michelle: Oh, I love you. I didn’t realize how much until I thought I lost you.

Tony: What is it?

Michelle: When that woman called and she told me that she…

Tony: Hey, hey, hey… you did what you had to do.

Michelle: But I didn’t do what you did. You chose me, and I chose…

Tony: Look, we did the best we could, all right? Now it’s over.

[Tony and Michelle kiss.]

------------------------

[Audrey is on the phone discussing the transport of Paul’s body when she sees Jack come in.]

Woman (over the phone): Did you get the information that I sent you?

Audrey (over the phone): No, commercial flights are still grounded. I’m… I’m trying to get Paul back on a military transport.

Woman (over the phone): Please let me know if there’s anything I can do for you.

Audrey (over the phone): Yeah, I haven’t taken care of his funeral arrangements yet. I still need to call his mother. Listen, I’m gonna… I’m gonna have to get back to you. There’s something that I need to deal with.

[Audrey hangs up and approaches Jack.]

Jack: Hey.

Audrey: Hey.

Jack: Your father said you’re going to Washington tomorrow.

Audrey: Yeah, I have to take care of Paul’s funeral.

Jack: Yeah. And after that? I’m sorry, I… I know this isn’t the right time to talk about everything. Maybe tomorrow before you catch your flight, we could… we could get together.

Audrey: Jack, I don’t think that’s a good idea.

Jack: I thought we agreed that we… wouldn’t make those kinds of decisions today.

Audrey: I know, it’s just…

Jack: Audrey… I love you. I wanna spend the rest of my life with you. That’s all I want.

Audrey: We both know that you belong here, Jack. At CTU, doing what you do best. And thank God there are people like you who can deal with that world… But I can’t.

Jack: Please don’t say that.

Audrey: Oh, Jack. Oh, Jack. I love you. But after today, it’s just… It won’t work. I’m sorry. I’m sorry.

[Audrey gives him one last kiss and walks away. Jack is stranded in her wake, devastated. His cell phone rings.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Palmer: Jack, it’s David Palmer.

Jack: Yes, Mr. President.

Palmer: Words cannot express the debt this country owes you.

Jack: Thank you, sir.

Palmer: Jack, this is hard for me, but I don’t seem to have a choice. The Chinese have proof that you led the assault on their consulate.

Jack: What kind of proof?

Palmer: Howard Bern made a full confession. He identified you as the agent in charge.

Jack: And now the Chinese want me.

Palmer: That’s right. And we have no choice but to comply.

Jack: I see.

Palmer: But what they really want is for you to implicate the government.

Jack: Mr. President, that will never happen.

Palmer: I know that. They’ll put you on trial, propagandize about American arrogance… then put you in prison.

Jack: I understand.

Palmer: Jack, this is unfair, to say the least, and I’m ashamed of my part in it. But I promise you this: I will make it my life’s purpose to bring you back to American soil as soon as humanly possible.

Jack: I know you’ll do what you can, sir.

Palmer: Secret Service is sending over an agent to CTU. He’ll place you under house arrest, but you’ll have some time to put your affairs in order. Jack, my friend, I wish there was something else I could say.

Jack: Mr. President, you’re doing what has to be done. So will I.

Palmer: I know you will. Thank you, Jack.

Jack: Thank you, sir.

------------------------

[Cummings speaks with Secret Service Agent Dale Spaulding, who is on his way to CTU, over the phone.]

Walt: This is a messy situation. Even if Bauer doesn’t implicate the President in the attack on the consulate, there are other problems. Bauer is Special Advisor to the Secretary of Defense, which makes him a high-value prisoner. A gold mine of information. The Chinese could squeeze him dry.

Spaulding: You’re right.

Walt: Plus, the Chinese could share the information with any intelligence agency in the world. Eventually, what they get out of Bauer could find its way into the hands of terrorists. This could set us back years.

Spaulding: So the bottom line is…

Walt: Oh, I don’t think you need me to spell that out for you.

Spaulding: I assume this isn’t coming from President Logan.

Walt: Absolutely not. He’s expressly forbidden it. But that doesn’t mean he’d be sorry if it happened.

Spaulding: So any investigation into Bauer’s death…

Walt: Will be brief and superficial. I’ll see to it personally.

Spaulding: Fine. I’ll take care of it.

Walt: Good.

[Cummings does not notice that Novick has overheard his entire conversation with Spaulding.]

------------------------

Palmer: The President ordered Jack be extradited, not murdered.

Mike: Cummings wants Bauer dead so the Chinese can’t question him.

Palmer: President Logan shut him down. We were both there.

Mike: It was a weak rebuke, at best.

Palmer: This is still conjecture on your part, based on one side of a conversation.

Mike: I know what I heard, and I know Cummings. You don’t.

Palmer: You really think he’s capable of doing something like this?

Mike: He’s been doing Logan’s dirty work for the last 15 years. Logan’s gotten used to looking the other way. I’d tell the President myself, but he won’t listen to me. If you don’t intervene now, it may be too late.

[Logan and his aides are in his office.]

Aide: And the Prime Minister is offering to host a conference in London for improving the flow of intelligence information among nations.

Logan: Tell him I accept his gracious offer.

Aide: Maybe you should tell him yourself, sir. I think he wants to congratulate you personally for steering the country so effectively in its time of crisis.

Logan: Set up a call.

Aide: Yes, sir.

[Palmer comes in to see Logan.]

Logan: David. I have been overwhelmed by the outpouring of goodwill from heads of state around the world.

Palmer: Well-deserved, Mr. President.

Logan: You played a role, David. You played a role.

Palmer: Thank you, sir.

Logan: So… What can I do for you?

Palmer: Would you excuse us? I’d like a moment alone with the President.

Aide: Yes, sir.

[The aides leave the office.]

Palmer: Sir, I have reason to believe that your Security Chief may be preempting your decision to hand Jack Bauer over to the Chinese.

Logan: Preempting me how?

Palmer: By killing him before they can take custody.

Logan: Oh, for God’s sake, David, Cummings was just speaking hypothetically. You can’t take that at face value. Besides which, I told him it wasn’t an option.

Palmer: All I’m asking you to do, sir, is to talk to Cummings, and make sure he understands your order.

Logan: David, I can’t indulge some half-baked conspiracy…

Palmer: I think I’ve earned the privilege of having my concerns taken seriously.

Logan: You have. But it’s also no secret that your presidency was infected with a certain level of paranoia and scandal. I won’t allow that in my administration. Questioning my Security Chief would not only undermine his authority, it would compromise mine, as well.

Palmer: Hear no evil.

Logan: I beg your pardon?

Palmer: You heard me.

Logan: David, thank you again for your assistance today, but it’s time for you to go back to civilian life and let me do my job.

[Palmer leaves Logan’s office.]

------------------------

[Tony is in the CTU locker room as Jack enters.]

Tony: Hi, Jack.

Jack: Hey.

Tony: I just found out that Logan’s gonna make you take the fall for everything that happened at the Chinese consulate.

Jack: No one’s making me do anything. The President didn’t have a choice.

Tony: Yeah? Well, that doesn’t make it fair, does it?

Jack: It is what it is.

[Jack’s cell phone rings.]

Jack: This is Bauer.

Palmer: Jack, are you still at CTU?

Jack: Yes, sir. Tony Almeida’s just about to debrief me.

Palmer: Listen to me very carefully. Do not turn yourself in. The man they sent to take you into custody has orders to kill you.

Jack: Orders from who?

Palmer: Someone in Logan’s camp. They think the Chinese will break you.

Jack: Logan authorized this?

Palmer: Not directly, but he won’t do anything to stop it. Now, listen to me. Get out of there now.

Jack: Thank you, sir.

------------------------

Buchanan: Bill Buchanan, Regional Director of Division, Los Angeles.

Spaulding: Dale Spaulding, Secret Service. You’ll have to sign this before I take Bauer.

Buchanan: What is it?

Spaulding: Chain of custody authorization.

Buchanan: I’m not signing anything till Bauer’s been debriefed. When that happens, he’s all yours.

Spaulding: Fair enough.

Buchanan: We’d be burying a million Americans right now if it wasn’t for Jack Bauer. He’s a hero.

Spaulding: I’m sure he is. I’m just following orders.

Buchanan: I want him treated with the respect he deserves.

Spaulding: Of course.

[An alarm goes off.]

Chloe: Tony’s on line one. He says it’s urgent. Something to do with Jack.

Buchanan: Buchanan.

Tony: Bill, it’s Tony. Jack escaped.

Buchanan: Escaped?

Tony: He took me by surprise. There was nothing I could do.

Buchanan: Dammit.

Tony: Look, he’s still inside the building, somewhere in Section C. I’m the one who ordered the lockdown.

Buchanan: I’ll be right there.

Tony: All right.

Buchanan: Bauer’s trying to get away.

------------------------

Michelle: Jack disabled the surveillance feed a minute ago.

Buchanan: Were you able to make visual contact before that?

Chloe: Yes, he’s still in Section C.

Buchanan: Jack was willing to turn himself over to the Chinese. What happened?

Tony: I can’t say for sure, but he did get a phone call.

Buchanan: Who from?

Tony: I don’t know. I was waiting for him to finish up, the next thing I know I’m on the ground. He cold-cocked me.

Spaulding: Does Bauer have a weapon?

Tony: Yeah.

Spaulding: How many entrances and exits?

Tony: Four. They’re all blocked off.

Spaulding: We’ll try to punch through them.

Tony: Yeah, but I have two guards posted at each point.

Spaulding: I’m not taking any chances.

Buchanan: What are you doing?

Spaulding: Going after him.

Buchanan: Wait a second.

Spaulding: I’ve got orders to take Jack Bauer into custody. I intend to execute those orders.

Buchanan: This building is my jurisdiction.

Spaulding: You lost jurisdiction when you lost Bauer. If you want me to stand down, call the President. Otherwise, stay out of my way.

Tony: Then I’m going with you.

Spaulding: No, you’re not. I’m doing this alone.

Buchanan: Either you take Tony, or you’re not going in.

Spaulding: Follow me.

[Tony and Spaulding enter Section C, and Jack fires at them. Tony calls out to Jack, who hides.]

Tony: Jack, it’s Tony. Are you in here? Come on, let’s talk! It doesn’t have to go down like this! Jack, give it up!

Spaulding: Stay out of my way.

Tony: This is over! I’m gonna go bring Jack out. You wanna stop me, you can shoot me in the back. Jack, I’m putting my weapon down. I’m coming in.

[Tony puts his weapon down and approaches Jack’s location.]

Tony: Jack? Jack!

[Tony finds Jack lying on the ground with a pool of blood at his head. Spaulding checks Jack’s pulse and confirms that Jack is dead.]

Tony: He’s dead. You killed him.

Spaulding: He was shooting at us.

Tony: He was aiming wide. He was laying down cover fire. If he wanted to hit us, he’d have hit us!

[Buchanan, Michelle and Chloe come in and are shocked.]

Chloe: Oh, my God, Jack.

[Tony lashes out at Spaulding in anger.]

Tony: You killed him, you son of a bitch! You killed him!

Buchanan: Get him out of here! Take him to the Situation Room. I’m sorry.

Michelle: Oh, God, Jack.

[Buchanan follows Spaulding out.]

Tony: Give me the epinephrine.

[Michelle gives a syringe of epinephrine to Tony, who injects it into Jack’s heart.]

Chloe: I hope it’s not too late. He really looks dead.

Michelle: That was the idea, Chloe.

Chloe: How fast is it supposed to take effect?

[Jack doesn’t respond to the shot. Tony panics.]

Tony: Come on, Jack! Come on, man!

[Tony starts pumping furiously at Jack’s chest.]

Michelle: Tony…

Tony: Come on, Jack! Dammit!

[Suddenly, Jack gasps for air and wakes up.]

Tony: Hey, hey, hey. Can you hear me? You know where you are?

Jack: Yeah.

Tony: All right, Chloe, I need you to run interference with the local coroner until we can switch bodies. Make sure their database synchs up with Jack’s information.

Chloe: That won’t cover the autopsy.

Tony: There’s not gonna be an autopsy. They wanted Jack dead. Now he’s dead.

------------------------

Audrey: Bill… I just talked to my father. He said that Jack was being handed over to the Chinese government?

Buchanan: He was supposed to be, but he, uh… tried to escape.

Audrey: I don’t understand.

Buchanan: Neither do I.

Audrey: No.

Buchanan: Audrey…

Audrey: No, don’t say it. No.

Buchanan: I’m sorry.

[Audrey figures out what happened and she is stunned. A tear falls down her cheek.]

------------------------

[Tony drives Michelle in her car out of the CTU parking lot. Jack hides in the backseat.]

Tony: All right, we’re clear.

Michelle: Are you sure you’re OK, Jack?

Jack: Yeah, I’m fine. You both need to get back to CTU before anyone gets suspicious. Tony, you can drop me off anywhere up there.

Tony: All right. We’ve secured you a new identity. It should help you get across the border.

Jack: OK. Did you get me a clean phone?

Michelle: Yeah. Here’s a scramble filter. You can talk up to one minute undetected.

Jack: I can’t thank you both enough for everything.

[Michelle and Tony are too sad to look at Jack.]

Jack: You gotta get going.

[Jack gets out of the car with a bag they have prepared for him.]

Tony: Jack… Be careful.

Jack: Yeah. You too. Thank you both for everything.

[Jack shakes Tony’s hand and smiles at Michelle. Tony and Michelle drive off. Jack hides behind some crates and dials Palmer.]

Palmer: Palmer.

Jack: Mr. President, it’s Jack Bauer.

Palmer: You threaded the eye of the needle.

Jack: I had some help, sir. I wanted to thank you for advising me of the situation. Mr. President, you saved my life.

Palmer: I’m only sorry it came to this.

Jack: Me too, sir. I just wanted to let you know that I was out.

Palmer: I’m glad. This is probably the last time we’ll ever speak. Jack, you do understand when you hang up, for all intents and purposes, Jack Bauer’s dead.

Jack: I understand that, sir. Mr. President, it’s been an honor.

Palmer: Same for me, my friend.

[Jack hangs up the call. As the sun rises, Jack puts on a pair of sunglasses and 
Bijlage 3:  Tijdsplanning

Week 06

	Maandag 08-02-2010
	Onderzoeksvoorstel inleveren

	Dinsdag 09-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken

	Woensdag 10-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken

	Donderdag 11-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken

	Vrijdag 12-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken

	Zaterdag 13-02-2010
	

	Zondag 14-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken


Week 07

	Maandag 15-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken

	Dinsdag 16-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken

	Woensdag 17-02-2010
	Afspraak feedback onderzoeksvoorstel

	Donderdag 18-02-2010
	Introductie verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Vrijdag 19-02-2010
	Introductie verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Zaterdag 20-02-2010
	

	Zondag 21-02-2010
	Introductie verder uitwerken/verbeteren


Week 08

	Maandag 22-02-2010
	Introductie verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Dinsdag 23-02-2010
	Introductie verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Woensdag 24-02-2010
	Introductie verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Donderdag 25-02-2010
	Introductie verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Vrijdag 26-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Zaterdag 27-02-2010
	

	Zondag 28-02-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren


Week 09

	Maandag 01-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Dinsdag 02-03-2010
	Introductie afgerond

	Woensdag 03-03-2010
	Afspraak feedback proces (introductie afgerond)

	Donderdag 04-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Vrijdag 05-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Zaterdag 06-03-2010
	

	Zondag 07-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren


Week 10

	Maandag 08-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Dinsdag 09-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Woensdag 10-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Donderdag 11-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Vrijdag 12-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie 

	Zaterdag 13-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie

	Zondag 14-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie


Week 11 

	Maandag 15-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie

	Dinsdag 16-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie

	Woensdag 17-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie

	Donderdag 18-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie

	Vrijdag 19-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie

	Zaterdag 20-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie

	Zondag 21-03-2010
	Wintersportvakantie


Week 12

	Maandag 22-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Dinsdag 23-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Woensdag 24-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Donderdag 25-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Vrijdag 26-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Zaterdag 27-03-2010
	

	Zondag 28-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren


Week 13

	Maandag 29-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Dinsdag 30-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Woensdag 31-03-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Donderdag 01-04-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Vrijdag 02-04-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren

	Zaterdag 03-04-2010
	

	Zondag 04-04-2010
	Theoretisch raamwerk verder uitwerken/verbeteren


Week 14

	Maandag 05-04-2010
	Uitloop theoretisch raamwerk / Methodologie uitwerken

	Dinsdag 06-04-2010
	Uitloop theoretisch raamwerk / Methodologie uitwerken

	Woensdag 07-04-2010
	Uitloop theoretisch raamwerk / Methodologie uitwerken

	Donderdag 08-04-2010
	Uitloop theoretisch raamwerk / Methodologie uitwerken

	Vrijdag 09-04-2010
	Uitloop theoretisch raamwerk / Methodologie uitwerken

	Zaterdag 10-04-2010
	

	Zondag 11-04-2010
	Uitloop theoretisch raamwerk / Methodologie uitwerken


Week 15

	Maandag 12-04-2010
	Methodologie uitwerken

	Dinsdag 13-04-2010
	Methodologie uitwerken

	Woensdag 14-04-2010
	Methodologie uitwerken

	Donderdag 15-04-2010
	Methodologie uitwerken

	Vrijdag 16-04-2010
	Methodologie uitwerken

	Zaterdag 17-04-2010
	

	Zondag 18-04-2010
	Methodologie uitwerken


Week 16

	Maandag 19-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Dinsdag 20-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Woensdag 21-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Donderdag 22-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Vrijdag 23-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Zaterdag 24-04-2010
	

	Zondag 25-04-2010
	Data-analyse


Week 17

	Maandag 26-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Dinsdag 27-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Woensdag 28-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Donderdag 29-04-2010
	Data-analyse

	Vrijdag 30-04-2010
	Koninginnedag 

	Zaterdag 01-05-2010
	

	Zondag 02-05-2010
	Data-analyse


Week 18

	Maandag 03-05-2010
	Data-analyse

	Dinsdag 04-05-2010
	Data-analyse

	Woensdag 05-05-2010
	Data-analyse

	Donderdag 06-05-2010
	Data-analyse

	Vrijdag 07-05-2010
	Data-analyse

	Zaterdag 08-05-2010
	

	Zondag 09-05-2010
	Data-analyse


Week 19

	Maandag 10-05-2010
	Uitloop data-analyse / resultaten verwerken

	Dinsdag 11-05-2010
	Uitloop data-analyse / resultaten verwerken

	Woensdag 12-05-2010
	Uitloop data-analyse / resultaten verwerken

	Donderdag 13-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren

	Vrijdag 14-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren

	Zaterdag 15-05-2010
	

	Zondag 16-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren


Week 20

	Maandag 17-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren

	Dinsdag 18-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren

	Woensdag 19-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren

	Donderdag 20-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren

	Vrijdag 21-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren

	Zaterdag 22-05-2010
	

	Zondag 23-05-2010
	Resultaten formuleren


Week 21

	Maandag 24-05-2010
	Conclusie schrijven

	Dinsdag 25-05-2010
	Conclusie schrijven

	Woensdag 26-05-2010
	Conclusie schrijven

	Donderdag 27-05-2010
	Conclusie schrijven

	Vrijdag 28-05-2010
	Conclusie schrijven

	Zaterdag 29-05-2010
	

	Zondag 30-05-2010
	Conclusie schrijven


Week 22

	Maandag 31-05-2010
	Reflectie/discussie schrijven

	Dinsdag 01-06-2010
	Reflectie/discussie schrijven

	Woensdag 02-06-2010
	Reflectie/discussie schrijven

	Donderdag 03-06-2010
	Opmaak einddocument onderzoek

	Vrijdag 04-06-2010
	Opmaak einddocument onderzoek

	Zaterdag 05-06-2010
	

	Zondag 06-06-2010
	Opmaak einddocument onderzoek


Week 23

	Maandag 07-06-2010
	Onderzoek printen / inbinden

	Dinsdag 08-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Woensdag 09-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Donderdag 10-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Vrijdag 11-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Zaterdag 12-06-2010
	

	Zondag 13-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop


Week 24

	Maandag 14-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Dinsdag 15-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Woensdag 16-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Donderdag 17-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Vrijdag 18-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop

	Zaterdag 19-06-2010
	

	Zondag 20-06-2010
	Reservedag- uitloop


Week 25

	Maandag 21-06-2010
	Conceptversie onderzoek inleveren

	Dinsdag 22-06-2010
	

	Woensdag 23-06-2010
	

	Donderdag 24-06-2010
	

	Vrijdag 25-06-2010
	

	Zaterdag 26-06-2010
	

	Zondag 27-06-2010
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